Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients

A Clinician's Handbook Stefan Rauh *Editor*



Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients

Stefan Rauh Editor

Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients

A Clinician's Handbook



Editor Stefan Rauh Medical Oncology Centre Hospitalier Emile Mayrisch Esch, Luxembourg

ISBN 978-3-030-78647-2 ISBN 978-3-030-78648-9 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Acknowledgements

I would like to very warmly thank all my co-authors for their extra ordinary and remarkable work. Thanks to Prakash Jagannathan and Springer's editing team for their assistance. My profound gratitude goes to Francoise Meunier, a European pioneer in the research and promotion of survivorship care, and a very supportive advisor since the beginning of this book's project.

Thanks to all my patients for sharing their lives with me, making me somewhat part of their families, and teaching me on their survivorship needs.

A very warm hug goes to a wonderful empowered cancer survivor, Nathalie (my wife), as well as her "informal caregivers" Adrien and Lea (our children) - and many friends who have proven so very supportive and helpful.

Stefan Rauh

Introduction

In 2020, there have been close to 3 million new cancers diagnosed in Europe, and 1.3. million deaths due to cancer. More than one out of three citizens facing the diagnosis during his lifetime. A majority of patients (62%) is at least 65 years old at diagnosis [1].

Over time, mortality rates have decreased due to advances in detection and treatments – and will hopefully continue to do so in the future. It is estimated that there was a 5% decline in overall mortality from 2015 – 2020, with particularly important better outcomes in breast, prostate and gastric cancers for most countries of the European Union [2]. Half of those diagnosed with cancer may today expect to live 10 years or longer [3]. These are excellent news, but for cancer patients, the good news does not come alone. Cancer survivors face sequelae from their malignant disease as well as treatment -related effects and co-morbidities, which may or may not wane off over time. In addition, they face challenges such as maintaining or restoring their psycho social relationships, keeping up with credits and costs of living and getting back to work, just to name some.

I am a medical oncologist and have started to train in 1991. Compared to today, treatments were often badly tolerated, and did not necessarily achieve long survivals. Those "who made it", the survivors, were not in the main focus of a busy oncologist's work schedule, apart from regular recurrence screening. As time went by, as more of my patients came back for longer follow-up periods – and more and more expressed their needs beyond the confirmation to stay in remission, I have gained awareness concerning the need for true survivorship care and its complexity. This has also led to an enriching experience around a survivorship patient guide in 2017 [4].

Survivorship has already been identified a major challenge in 1985 [5]. The concept of survivorship care has been proposed for implementation into every cancer patient's journey as of 2006 by the American Institute of Medicine (IoM) [6]. But even in 2021, 15 years after IoM's call for action, much has still to be done. Throughout Europe, there is no common approach to survivorship care, worse: Conceptual survivorship care is still even absent in many places. There is still much to be known about the optimal survivorship care through dedicated research.

This handbook's aim is to provide a manual for clinicians, which should give a detailed overview of the multiple aspects of contemporary survivorship care. You should also be able to use it as a manual to look up a specific chapter for your daily

needs or to construct or further develop your local survivorship care project (this is also the reason why some chapter introduction may have redundant features).

I am very grateful to all my wonderful and great co-authors of this handbook.

I hope you will find whatever information and inspiration you need for your daily work with cancer survivors.

References

- 1. https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/news/2020-cancer-incidence-and-mortality-eu-27-countries accessed March 5th 2021.
- 2. Carioli G, Bertuccio P, Bolfetta P et al. European cancer mortality predictions for the year 2020 with a focus on prostate cancer. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(5):650–8.
- 3. Lagergren P, Schandl A, Aaronson NK, et al. Cancer survivorship: an integral part of Europe's research agenda. Mol Oncol. 2019;13(3):624–35.
- 4. Mitsoponas N, Rauh S. ESMO ECPC patient guide on survivorship 2017, https:// www.esmo.org/for-patients/patient-guides/survivorship downloaded March 8th 2021.
- Mullan F. Seasons of Survival: Reflections of a Physician with Cancer. N Eng J Med. 1985; 313:270–3.
- 6. Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. National Academies Press; 2005.

Esch, Luxembourg

Stefan Rauh

Contents

1	Definition of Survivorship Care Florian Strasser	1
2	Goals of Survivorship Care Francesco De Lorenzo, Kathi Apostolidis, Adela Maghear, Stefano Guzzinati, Luigino Dal Maso, Enkeleint A. Mechili, and Nikolaos Mitsimponas	23
3	"There is Life after Cancer": The Medical, Psychological, Social and Financial Challenges of Cancer Survivors at the End of the Active Treatment Grazia Scocca and Françoise Meunier	41
4	Follow-Up of Cancer Patients:Who is in Charge, why, when, and how: Introduction:The Evolution from "Surveillance" to "Survivorship Care"Stefan Rauh	55
5	Models of Long-Term Follow-up for Cancer Patients:From Children to Adults, from Simple to Multi-ModalClaire Berger and Charlotte Demoor-Goldschmidt	61
6	Who Should Be in Charge of Survivorship Care? Stefan Rauh	71
7	Identifying the Cancer Survivors' Needs inDaily Practice: Do we Have a (Survivorship) Plan?Stefan Rauh	93
8	Follow-Up after Cancer Treatment—Evidence Gaps and Trends in Survivorship Care Beverley Lim Høeg, Pernille Envold Bidstrup, Susanne Oksbjerg Dalton, and Lena Saltbæk	105
9	Rehabilitation: Definition, Goals, and Timing Georgia Schilling	119

10	Symptoms and Symptom Management inSurvivorship PatientsGilles Klein and Daniel Jodocy
11	Management of Cancer-Related Fatigue
12	Fertility and Sexuality in Cancer Survivors
13	Description and Management of Radiotherapy-Induced Long-Term Effects
14	Evidence-Based Screening for Recurrence
15	Survivorship Follow-Up: Update About Evidence-Based Screening for Secondary Cancers
16	Specific Issues of Children and Young Adults in Survivorship Care 329 Pierre Contant and Charlotte Demoor-Goldschmidt
17	Psychological Issues and Care of Cancer Survivors
18	Nutrition in Survivorship Care
19	Survivorship and Palliative Care: First the One,Then the Other?Stefan Rauh
Ind	ex

Definition of Survivorship Care

Florian Strasser

Definition of Survivorship Care

The number of humans confronted with cancer disease and cancer treatments is increasing rapidly and steadily, also associated with the evolution of modern oncology. To accompany these human fellows to live the best possible and happy lives, common definitions of survivor, cancer survivorship, and survivorship care may serve to coordinate initiatives.

Evolution of Term in Pubmed

The first article in Pubmed mentioning the term "cancer survivors" was in 1947 (Pubmed articles with the term cancer start from 1784). The focus of approx. 1400 papers until 1985 were on 5-year survivors and atomic bomb survivors tackling frequencies of relapsing tumors and secondary neoplasm. From the late 70s, the focus widened with publications describing long-term toxicities and functional impairments however mainly addressing the population of survivors of childhood cancer. The term "cancer survivorship", in contrast to the term survivor, yielded two papers from 1956 to 1985, until March 2021 approx. 3000 papers. The term "survivorship *care*" and cancer appeared in 2002, with approx. 1400 papers until March 2021. Both terms together yield 3750 papers, with 50% of papers published since 2018 and over 99.99% after 1985. That means that "cancer survivorship" and "survivorship care in cancer" are overlapping but not identical terms blooming after 1985.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_1



1

¹

F. Strasser (🖂)

Cancer Survivorship Fatigue Clinic, c/o location Onkologie-Schaffhausen and Cantonal Hospital, St. Gallen, Schaffhausen, Switzerland

Brief History

The distinct birth of "cancer survivorship" may be in 1985, when a physician wrote about his experiences being a cancer patient undergoing the trajectory of a cancer patient from diagnosis to anticancer treatment to being tumor-free but not free of sequelae. Dr. Mullan wrote, "Seasons of Survival: Reflections of a physician with cancer" [1]. One year later, in 1986, the National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship (NCCS) [2], a cancer advocacy group was founded with Dr. Mullan as one (prominent) founding member [3]. In 1996 NCI established an Office of Cancer Survivorship (OCS).

Another milestone was the 2006 report of the Institute of Medicine (IOM) and National Research Council written by the Committee on Cancer Survivorship ("lostin-transition") [4], with a preparatory period of a few years, commented by Renee Twombly 2004 [5]. The Cancer Journal dedicated in 2008 a full issue (Vol. 14 Issue 6) on Cancer Survivorship, lead by the guest editor Kenneth D Miller [6]. He and others reflected about Mullans' seasons, which they propose shall be revisited [7]. One reason for clarification was the importance to strengthen the collaboration of primary care and specialist oncologist providers, as summarized in 2010 by Grunfeld and Earle [8]. In 2012, the American Cancer Society (ACS) published a concept of various characteristics of cancer survivors. The NCCN published in 2014 Guidelines on Cancer Survivorship [9]. Surbone and Tralongo, 2016 [10], supported the importance of categorizing cancer survivors (acute vs chronic vs long-term vs healed), building on own [11, 12] and others work [13] requesting a change of culture and focused interventions. The year 2016 was the Anniversary of three milestones: 30 years NCCS, 20 years NCI-OCS, and 10 years of the IOM-Report Lost-in-Transition. Nekhlyudov L et al. summarized in 2017 these anniversaries and discussed critically and hopeful the progress made on the 10 IOM recommendations in the last decade [14]. Again, the importance of categorization of cancer survivors by risk-stratification was subsequently debated [15, 16]. Also in 2017 a systematic review summarized and discussed all available definitions on who is a cancer survivor [17]. The European Society Medical Oncology (ESMO) launched in 2017 together with the European Cancer Patient Coalition (ECPC) and the International Psycho-Oncology Society (IPOS) a Patient Guide on Survivorship [18]. In 2018, Park et al. emphasized the importance of categorization on the grounds of different patients' needs at different phases of illness [19]. Also in 2018, Charles Shapiro wrote a landmark review in the NEJM on cancer survivorship [20]. The ESMO discussed in 2018 palliative and supportive in a position paper [21], emphasizing "patient-centered care" including key issues and interventions delivered by various (supportive or palliative) services, focusing on integration and collaboration, not on separation. Survivorship care was in this position paper not specifically defined but a natural and self-evident component of excellent patientcentered care. Likewise, MASCC (Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer) [22] mentions the survivorship phase, but does understand the issue needsbased without an own sharp definition. In 2019, a well-renowned oncologist experienced metastatic (prostate) cancer and advocates-together with another patient living with metastatic sarcoma, the fourth tumor in her life-to perform research and develop clinical programs to tackle key issues in *metastatic* cancer survivorship [23]. The term metasurvivorship was proposed by one group of authors from the US,

supported by a conceptual framework [24]. Early integrated cancer palliative care offers needs-based therapeutic and networking interventions for patients dealing with metastatic cancer disease [25]. The suitability of the application of key palliative care principles (focus on QoL, biopsychosocial symptom management, holistic perspective of the illness experience) on survivorship care was discussed in 2021 [26], also other authors emphasized the potential of palliative care competencies in survivorship care [27]. In 2021 NCI published the results of a workshop held in 2019, which convened cancer survivorship researchers, advocates et al. for a 1 day meeting, followed by consultation of the wider survivorship community to identify evidence gaps and research priorities [28]. NCI acknowledges a need for expanded research on metastatic survivorship [29]. Currently, emphasis is given to research (see above), personalized survivorship care pathways [30], and survivorship care plans [31]. Also, the oncology community demands the routine integration in survivorship issues in cancer-specific guidelines. ESMO describes in the Guidelines Methodology under Standard Operating Procedures on paragraph 4.4.6 Follow-up, long-term implications and survivorship that "recommendations for patient follow-up and information on long-term toxicities of [anticancer] treatment, second tumours, psychosocial implications, rehabilitation and any other issues related to survivorship" shall be emphasized [32]. Several ESMO supportive and palliative care guidelines [33] tackle survivorshipspecific issues, but ESMO does not provide (by March 2021) a specific "survivorship guideline."

In summary, the history shows, that increasingly patient needs getting recognized, characterization of different patient situations guide tailored interventions and that routine integration of survivorship issues in cancer-specific guidelines may contribute to more awareness among oncology professionals.

Definitions

Until 1985 the usual definition of "cancer survivor" was "someone who had been free of any sign of the disease for five years." People who were not "cancer survivors" were often called "cancer victims." This definition did not take into account symptomatic or psychosocial issues but applied Battlefield or violence victim's analogy.

The initial concept for survivorship of Dr. Mullhan 1985 included bio-medical (e.g., secondary tumors, long-term effects of [anticancer] treatment, rehabilitation, reproductive health, and long-term health maintenance) and psychosocial (e.g., community acceptance of cancer patients, insurance discrimination, barriers to employment, education of youth about cancer). Interestingly (from a 2021 perspective) the author did not mention psychosocial issues such as fear of recurrence, post-traumatic distress and growth, social withdrawal, and depression. He proposed already three different survivor-periods, which he called *seasons of survival*:

- Acute survival (diagnosis and initial anticancer treatment).
- Extended survival (watchful waiting and surveillance, maybe maintenance treatment).
- Permanent Survival (long-term remission).

These three seasons are characterized by different sets of patient needs.

The **"acute survival"** starts at the diagnosis of the cancer disease. The main challenges arise from diagnostic and therapeutic interventions. Patients experience anxiety, trauma, and uncertainty, important and also constant features of this phase.

The **"extended survival"** begins when the patient has finished the initial anticancer treatment, often delivered in an intensive way. In this phase, active surveillance may take place including repeated diagnostic interventions or also maintenance or consolidation anticancer treatment. In this phase (or season) fear of recurrence is an, if not to say "the" key emotion. Patients also experience physical limitations associated with side effects/toxicity of anticancer treatments. Deconditioning, fatigue, or specific disabilities are now manifest barriers and challenges in the process back to normal-as-possible life at home, the community, and the workplace.

The "**permanent survival**" is the phase, when the patient is considered as "cured", which means that the likelihood of recurrence is considerably low; however, there is no consensus below which probability of recurrence of the word cured may be applied. Patients experience challenges with employment and insurance but also many issues of long-term survivors such as chronic heart, lung or kidney disease, neurological complications, psychological burden including PTSD, anxiety or depressive reactions, and so on.

The National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship (NCCS) [2] is the cancer advocacy group which was founded in 1986 [3] by F. Mullan and others. NCCS defined cancer survivorship as "the experience of living with, through, and beyond a diagnosis of cancer." Another beautiful wording is used:

From the time of diagnosis and for the balance of life

Important also to NCCS is to state, that there are many types of survivors, including those humans living with cancer and those humans living free of cancer. With this term, it is possible to capture a population of humans with a history of cancer rather than to provide a label that may or may not resonate with individuals. Also, family members, friends, and caregivers are impacted by the survivorship experience too and are therefore included in this definition. This initiative of NCCS to redefine the term survivor was (Quote from NCI) "part of a transformation in how people with cancer talked about their experiences. It provided hope for the newly diagnosed, and empowered patients to be active participants in their care."

The concept of survivorship was further developed in 1989 [34] by the description **of several potential cancer survival trajectories**:

- Live cancer-free for many years.
- Live long cancer-free, but die rapidly of late recurrence.
- Live cancer-free (first cancer), but develop second primary cancer.
- Live with intermittent periods of active disease.
- Live with persistent disease.
- Live after expected death.

This broad concept including both the short- and long-term consequences of cancer disease and treatment paved the road to vocalize the cancer survivors' changes in self-concepts and personal horizons, modifications in social relation-ships, and considerations of costs of treatment and follow-up.

The **NCI**¹ created the phrase "cancer survivorship" to describe (Quote) "*this* broad experience on the cancer continuum—living with, through, and beyond a cancer diagnosis." It was recognized that the attribution of the posttreatment period was obscured by advances in anticancer treatment, namely adjuvant or (later) maintenance treatments. The consequences of cancer screening further complicate the definition of survivor.

NCI adapted its 2004 definition of cancer survivorship [35] from NCCS as follows:

"An individual is considered a cancer survivor from the time of diagnosis, through the balance of his or her life." Family members, friends, and caregivers are also impacted by the survivorship experience and are therefore included in this definition.

The *landmark* **Committee on Cancer Survivorship** report (limited to adult cancer) from the **IOM** (Institute of Medicine) and National Research Council [4] in **2006** recognized that (Quotes) "*The transition from active treatment to post-treatment care is critical to long-term health*" and "*the importance of addressing unmet needs of the large and growing number of cancer survivors during this phase of care.*" Concerning the survivors' needs the committee states (Quote): "*Although the population of cancer survivors is heterogeneous, with some having few late effects of their cancer and its treatment, others suffer permanent and disabling symptoms that impair normal functioning. Psychological distress, sexual dysfunction, infertility, impaired organ function, cosmetic changes, and limitations in mobility, communication, and cognition are among the problems faced by some cancer survivors."*

As definition, the IOM-committee applied the NCI 2004 definition (see above). In addition, the IOM-committee elaborated, based on the President's Cancer Panel 2004, on the issues around "*who is a Cancer Survivor*" as follows (Quotes):

Among health professionals, people with a cancer history, and the public, views differ as to when a person with cancer becomes a survivor. Many consider a person to be a survivor from the moment of diagnosis; in recent years, this view has become increasingly prevalent. Some, however, think that a person with a cancer diagnosis cannot be considered a survivor until he or she completes initial treatment. Others believe a person with cancer can be considered a survivor if he or she lives 5 years beyond diagnosis. Still others believe survivorship begins at some other point after diagnosis or treatment, and some reject the term "survivor" entirely, preferring to think of people with a cancer history as fighters, "thrivers," champions, patients, or simply as individuals who have had a life-threatening disease. A considerable number of people with a cancer history maintain that they will have survived cancer if they die from another cause.

¹https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/ocs/ 2014

In essence, the definition shall cover a) the individual, personal experience of the human confronted with cancer disease and anticancer treatment and b) the understanding that a cancer survivor, and also proxies of this human of all kinds, are challenged by and have to deal with many somatic, intellectual, psychological, social, vocational, or existential issues impacting the health and happiness of the person.

The professional approach to address these needs was named Survivorship Care. The IOM-Committee proposed "Essential Components of Survivorship Care"

- 1. Prevention of recurrent and new cancers, and of other late effects;
- Surveillance for cancer spread, recurrence, or second cancers; assessment of medical and psychosocial late effects;
- 3. **Intervention** for consequences of cancer and its treatment, for example, medical problems such as lymphedema and sexual dysfunction; symptoms including pain and fatigue; psychological distress experienced by cancer survivors and their caregivers; and concerns related to employment, insurance, and disability;
- 4. **Coordination** between specialists and primary care providers to ensure that all of the survivor's health needs are met.

In 2008 Cancer Journal special edition a proposal was made to revise the "seasons of survival" [7], to acknowledge different patient or survivors' needs.

Seasons of Survival Revisited

- Acute.
- Transitional.
 - transition from active treatment to careful observation and the emotional, social, and medical adaptations that occur.
- Extended.
 - Remission maintained: complete remission that requires ongoing therapy.
 - Cancer-Free Permanent: complete remission and with a favorable prognosis.
 - Living with cancer: requiring ongoing treatment for recurrent, active, and often advanced disease.
- Permanent.
 - Cancer-free but "not free of cancer."
 - Cancer-free but continue to have significant "fall-out" from cancer and its treatment including psychosocial, medical, financial, or legal sequelae.
 - Development of second cancers which may be unrelated to first cancer or its treatment, or may be more likely due to genetic or environmental factors.
 - Development of cancers that are secondary to the initial treatment.

In the same issue of The Cancer Journal a list of common Long-Term Sequelae of Cancer as "medical issues" was presented [36], highlighting the many—somatic needs of cancer survivors in the various seasons (*list adapted by FS*).

- Cardiovascular.
 - Cardiomyopathy.
 - Valvular heart disease.
 - Coronary artery disease.
- Pulmonary.
 - Pulmonary fibrosis.
 - Interstitial lung disease.
 - Strictures/obstruction.
- Gastrointestinal.
 - Malabsorption.
 - Second malignancies.
- Rheumatologic.
 - Osteopenia/osteoporosis.
 - Osteonecrosis.
- Lymphedema.
- Endocrine.
 - Panhypopituitarism.
 - Hypothyroidism.
 - Adrenal insufficiency.
 - Diabetes mellitus.
- Renal.
 - Chronic kidney disease.
- Sensory/neurologic.
 - Hearing loss.
 - Visual changes.
 - Neuropathy.

Another article in the same issue [37] highlighted psychological and emotional issues experienced by cancer survivors.

Negative psychological reactions in survivors

- Fear of recurrence.
- Overall increased sense of vulnerability.
- Feelings of uncertainty, concern, and worry.
- Post-traumatic stress disorder (often subsyndromal) with symptoms of increased arousal, intrusive thoughts, and avoidance-numbing.
- Decreased sexual activity, interest, or satisfaction.
- Changes in body image and sense of being sexually attractive.
- Site-specific physical side effects and dysfunctions.
 - Discomfort with eating in public (after head-and-neck cancer).
 - Lymphedema.

Positive emotional and psychosocial reactions to having survived cancer.

- Finding meaning and purpose in life.
- Experiencing positive changes in outlook.
- Having an increased sense of spirituality and faith.
- Having greater appreciation in life.

These two lists may be expanded in the era of modern oncology with many forms of available immunotherapy, targeted drugs, and multimodal and sophisticated surgical and radiooncological therapies. However, the key somatic and emotional issues are probably comparable to 2008, most important is to be aware of these issues and act.

The American Cancer Association (ACS) also used in 2012 the beautiful NCCS definition:

A cancer survivor is any person who has been diagnosed with cancer, from the time of diagnosis through the balance of life.

ACS also emphasized the **range of cancer experiences and trajectories**, including:

- Living cancer-free for the remainder of life.
- Living cancer-free for many years but experiencing one or more serious, late complications of treatment.
- Living cancer-free for many years, but dying after a late recurrence.
- Living cancer-free after the first cancer is treated, but developing a second cancer.
- Living with intermittent periods of active disease requiring treatment.
- Living with cancer continuously without a disease-free period.

While the definition of a cancer survivor was more or less consensual (and gave hope to a change in culture [12]), as well as key areas or priorities² for survivorship research [38], the importance to **classify** or characterize **cancer survivor popula-tions** was again raised in 2016 [10]. The authors (**Surbone and Tralongo**) argue (Quote): "a proper categorization of persons now broadly defined as cancer survivors can provide support to risk-based survivorship care, new clinical and organizational approaches, and improved follow-up and surveillance recommendation and guidelines". Also, "communication with patients and families and patient adherence to clinical recommendations could be improved, as well as effectiveness of survivorship care in different delivery contexts". Finally, "the application of categories of survivorship might help us avoid the infliction of psychological burdens of overmedicalization and potential social stigmatization on some of our patients and foster adequate follow-up, surveillance and global care for others."

²Gaps in the contemporary study of survivorship: predominance of breast cancer studies, limited research on older survivors, persistent research dearth of long-term (5 years) survivors, lack of intervention studies on young survivors, and areas of deficiency in research objectives, such as biologic or genetic components and care delivery

Categories of Patients with and Survivors of Cancer Category Description

- Acute Patients/survivors at first diagnosis or relapse, who require acute intervention.
- Chronic Patients/survivors with cancer that slowly progresses or alternates between phases of remission and relapse, often accompanied by acceptable quality of life.
- Long-term Patients/survivors in clinical remission for long periods of time or for their entire life, who remain at risk for distant relapse or second tumors and who potentially can experience late treatment-related medical and psychosocial sequelae.
- Cured Disease-free patients/survivors whose cancer-specific mortality and life expectancy years after years diagnosis equal that of sex- and age-matched members of the general population.

This proposal of acute, chronic, long-term, and cured categories is both a simplification (compared to ACS 2012 and seasons of survival revisited 2008) in four categories and a specification, compared to just "one" type of cancer survivor. However, the patients living with incurable, metastatic cancer disease are not well picked up in these four categories. In the state-of-the-art review in NEJM 2018 by Shapiro, he focuses also mainly on long-term and cured survivors with their needs and burdens, emphasizing explicitly the older population and the childhood cancer survivors [20].

The importance to categorize cancer survivors better who live with (incurable, metastatic) cancer as own category was raised in 2018 by authors representing the oncology, hematoncology, supportive and palliative areas of modern oncology in their article "Shades of Survivorship." The key point is to guarantee adequate awareness of supportive and palliative needs of these cancer survivors and the reduction of confusion around prognosis. The authors argue that patients living with cancer may feel psychological pressure to (Quote) "embody the term survivor and perpetuate an image of strength, which may conflict with their feelings and perspectives on their disease." Also, the authors state that (Quote) "Patients receiving active cancer therapy and those living with cancer may feel ambivalent about being labeled a survivor."

Shades of Survivorship Describes Three Categories

- Patients newly diagnosed receiving active therapy with curative intent.
- Patients who have completed active therapy with curative intent (on or off maintenance therapy).
- Patients living with cancer.

These three (Quote) "more nuanced terms to describe patients during these phases may provide a more realistic and individualized approach to addressing these needs" and "would honor and capture the essence of their experiences."

Supportive and palliative care needs of patients in the three categories ³			
Patients newly diagnosed	Treatment of <i>symptom burden</i> due to cancer and acute side effects		
Receiving active therapy	of therapy (e.g., nausea, anxiety, fatigue, diarrhea, and infections)		
with curative intent	Help with substantial (existential) distress associated with a new		
	diagnosis of cancer disease		
	Coordination support for frequent visits with oncology and		
	adjustment to treatment schedule and work schedule changes		
	Communication focused on understanding illness and		
	anticancer treatment and on (initial) decision-making process		
Patients who have completed	Treatment of symptom burden due to long-term side effects of		
active therapy with curative	cancer therapy (e.g., fatigue, menopausal symptoms due to		
intent (on or off maintenance	hormonal therapy, weight gain, changes in bowel or bladder		
therapy)	function, and cognitive dysfunction)		
	Support for dealing and coping with the <i>fear of recurrence</i> and		
	<i>depression</i> , and for coping with a "new normal"		
	Coordination support for transition to fewer visits with		
	oncology and more ongoing care with primary care physician		
	Communication focused on late effects of anticancer treatment		
	and advice and support for <i>rehabilitative</i> and <i>self-management</i>		
	interventions to boost recovery		
	Focus on <i>health maintenance</i> and cancer prevention, advise for		
	<i>lifestyle</i> change (e.g., food, exercise, stress, and sleep)		
	Screening for <i>late effects</i> and <i>emerging morbidities</i> of cancer		
	therapy (a high priority) and tumor recurrence		
Patients living with cancer	Treatment of <i>complex symptom burden</i> due to metastatic		
	disease and ongoing cancer-directed therapies		
	Treatment of <i>depression, anxiety</i> , and <i>spiritual and existential</i>		
	distress regarding terminal illness		
	Ongoing visits with oncology and involvement of cancer		
	palliative care team (established benefits)		
	Communication focused on understanding of illness and		
	prognosis		
	End-of-life planning		

The importance to focus on clinical care and survivorship research also on the needs of metastatic cancer survivors, as promoted by Park, Peppercorn, and Al-Jawahri 2018, was emphasized and further refined by two survivors, one being himself an oncologist [23]. They (Langbaum and Smith) compare key issues (physical, emotional, sexual, screening for recurrence and screening for preventable conditions, coexisting illnesses, potential for inheritance, caregiver, financial, and care coordination) faced by cancer survivors whose disease is cured or in remission with those key issues faced by survivors with metastatic cancer. Important differences include

- that metastatic survivors experience ongoing physical, emotional, financial, caregiver-related, and care coordination key issues (in contrast to cured survivors with typical decreasing burdens),
- guidelines are often lacking in metastatic survivors for key issues such as sexual issues or screening for preventable conditions (e.g., heart disease).

³Table from Park ER, Peppercorn J, El-Jawahri A. JNCCN 2018, adapted by FS

Interestingly, the authors also discuss not only needs but also among key issues the available guidelines and care models for cancer survivors. A key message is that guidelines and evidence for metastatic survivorship care are far less existent than for survivors in remission or cure.

However, the patient needs and clinical issues of **metastatic survivors** are largely overlapping with those described vastly in the literature (on patient needs [39] and symptom burden [40] as well as interventions) and guidelines [41] of **early integrated cancer palliative care** [21]. An important development is therefore to utilize the workforce of double-boarded palliative care and oncologist, who deliver *cancer* palliative care by integrating oncology-specific and palliative care-specific interventions, in metastatic survivorship care. The **ESMO designated centers of integrated oncology and palliative care** may serve as a role model for clinical care (65% of the centers had double-boarded palliative oncologists) and may engage more explicit in survivorship care [42]. ESMO does not provide specific survivorship guidelines, but guidelines on supportive and palliative care covering main top-ics relevant in survivorship care.

The definition of cancer survivorship in the **ESMO patient guide** [18] includes metastatic survivors but limits patients living with cancer to (Quote) "*people with well controlled disease and few symptoms, who receive treatment to manage cancer as a chronic disease.*" Also the acute phase (see above) is excluded in the definition, the definition states (Quote) "Survivorship focuses on health and the physical, psychological, social and economic issues affecting people after the end of the primary treatment for cancer."

ESMO and European Cancer Patient Coalition Categories of Cancer Survivors (Who Are all Post-Treatment)

- people having **no disease** after finishing treatment,
- people who continue to receive treatment to reduce the risk of cancer coming back,
- people with well-controlled disease and few symptoms, who receive treatment to manage cancer as a chronic disease.

Key issues, according to the ESMO and ECPC Patient guide, **in survivorship care** are issues related to **follow-up care**, the management of late **side effects** of treatment, the improvement of **quality of life**, and psychological and emotional health. Survivorship care includes also future anticancer treatment where applicable. Family members, friends, and **caregivers** should also be considered as part of the survivorship experience.

To round up the summary of definitions of a cancer survivor, a **systematic review of published definitions** [17] concludes that (Quote) "there is not a unique definition of who is a "cancer survivor" and what is "cancer survivor-ship"", but also that (Quote) "the most widely used definition sees cancer survivorship as a process that begins at the moment of diagnosis and continues through the balance of life."

In conclusion, the **definition of cancer survivorship** and **who is a survivor** shall strengthen the identity and belonging of the cancer patient, support compassionate and efficient communication, support holistic needs-based care, and foster tailored survivorship care program development.

Considering the medical landscape in many parts of the world with quite well established (a) acute care facilities with integrated support services such as psychooncology, social work, supportive care consultants, acute rehabilitation, and so on and (b) palliative care services run by multiprofessional teams and providing adequate expertise in oncology, a survivorship definition covering both (a) the acute phase and (b) the complex metastatic and close to end-of-life phase may overstretch the definition.

Therefore, **the joint ESMO and ECPC definition** of a survivor with (1) cured patients without anticancer treatment, (2) the patients undergoing adjuvant anticancer treatment in curative intent, and (3) patient with incurable but well-controlled tumor with or without anticancer treatment is a quite suitable definition. In these three situations, the **emphasis of care is needs-based** and **not driven by anticancer treatment topics or** by **complex medical and psychological complications** as typical for cancer palliative care. In other words, when the oncological situation is **stable** either in cure, or adjuvant/maintenance treatment, or well-controlled metastatic situation then the patient is challenged to deal with side effects and (long-term) toxicities of anticancer treatment, readaptation of life to new normality and meaning, go on a healing path to cure traumas and fears, and adapt to often only partially improvable disabilities (e.g., musculoskeletal, fatigue, CINP, lymphedema, stoma). To raise awareness of all these issues and provide professional and peer support, the ESMO-ECPC definition is indeed helpful and may guide oncology professionals to actively assess and listen to these patients and proxies.

Evidence-Based Survivorship Care Interventions

In survivorship care, several programs developed in the last decades, stimulated substantially by the IOM-report 2006.

Survivorship Care Plan

One key recommendation of the IOM-report was the implementation of an individualized survivorship care plan. Many institutions picked this up, also the ESMO-ECPC patient guide contains major elements of a survivorship plan (SCP). SCPs are documents given to the patient after a consultation with a health care professional, providing basic information on the cancer survivor's cancer diagnosis (stage, etc.), past or current anticancer treatments, follow-up visits to detect cancer recurrence, progression or second primary cancer, advice on secondary prevention of cancer and of (new) morbidities, information on potential late side effects of anticancer treatment. In addition to follow-up care and surveillance to detect recurrence, progression, or secondary cancer, important topics (like content from the ESMO-ECPC patient guide) include (a) Support in coping with the new reality—Who can help me?, (b) Life after initial treatment—How can I get my normal life back?, (c) Preventive health—What lifestyle changes can I make to achieve optimal physical and emotional health, and (d) Detection and management of treatment—or tumorrelated symptoms and comorbidities.

However, even though SCP in cancer is in many clinics standard-of-care, their effect is unclear. A recent meta-analysis and systematic review report that the SCPs are ineffective [31]. The authors included eight articles for the meta-analysis (n = 1286 survivors) and 50 for the systematic review (n = 18,949 survivors; n = 3739 health care professionals). The authors conclude as implications for practice (Quote): "although SCPs appear to be feasible and may improve health care professionals' knowledge of late effects and survivorship care, there is no evidence that SCPs affect cancer survivors' patient-reported outcomes. In order to justify the ongoing implementation of SCPs, additional research should evaluate SCP implementation and the research design of comparative effectiveness studies. Discussion may also be needed regarding the possibility that SCPs are fundamentally ineffective."

Oncologist Versus Primary Care Provider

Whether primary care physicians can provide survivorship care remains controversial. Primary care is often involved in the management of cancer patients' needs, symptoms, and comorbidities, especially in the older population. The core values of primary care, coordination, and continuity of care, make primary care suitable to improve survivorship care. But the role of primary care may depend on the setting and the care context (e.g., gatekeeping models such as the UK). A systematic review analyzing 16 studies conclude that survivorship care by primary care is feasible, but needs education for GP's and advanced health care systems [43].

Models of Cancer Survivorship Health Care

Currently, several models are developed and promoted depending on the setting of care and the living situation of the survivor. Examples are the risk-stratified shared care model of cancer survivors (from a US academic cancer center), the United Kingdom National Health Service breast and lung cancer pathways, and a Community Solution for Cancer Survivorship Care [13]. A systematic review assessed 25 studies exploring different survivorship care models [44]. The authors conclude (Quote): "The reviewed survivorship model studies were comprehensive but were limited by a lack of existing rigorous evaluation efforts to assess their effectiveness." Important results of the review were (a) the awareness of the crucial role of care coordination which often required improvement and (b) the importance of obtaining data on the effectiveness of these survivorship models to ensure satisfactory quality of life and health outcomes.

These discussed models provide a few important points:

- (a) **risk-assessment** of survivors for recurrence of cancer, debilitating (late) side effects (physical, emotional, social, vocational) and toxicities, and comorbidities,
- (b) utilization of the **oncology cancer treatment pathway** methodology with preplanned timepoints of follow-up, amended by survivor's needs screen,
- (c) involvement of primary care and community professional resources in detecting debilitating long-term toxicities and comorbidities and promoting a healthy and secondary-preventive lifestyle in a motivating, social context. In the community cancer survivor support and/or peer-groups may become an important resource, can contribute to promote a new perspective and self-confidence, and also allow discussion of sensitive issues such as changes in relationships and in family, dealing with children and fertility, and sexual life. The community is also the "right" place to tackle issues around return-to-work and finances, finding new interests and hobbies suitable for the physical and psychological situation/disability as a cancer survivor, and engage in a healthy lifestyle with physical activity, nutrition and management of weight, stress, and dependence from nicotine or alcohol.
- (d) Importance of structured and proactive care coordination.
- (e) Agreement on key outcomes for evaluation of survivorship care models. Currently, the standardization of assessment methods, outcome classification, and severity grading of morbidity and symptoms of survivors are underdeveloped as the large variation in assessments and definitions show. A systematic review tackling childhood cancer survivors pleas for global collaboration [45].

Quality of Cancer Survivorship Care Framework

To contribute to new standards of quality of cancer survivorship care, suitable for clinical settings, research, and policy a group of federal employees and academics, partially liaised to the Office of Cancer Survivorship, National Cancer Institute, developed a framework [46]. The framework defines quality domains and proposes indicators for (a) issues pertaining to cancer and its treatment, (b) general health care including comorbidities and prevention, and (c) health care delivery.

Cancer and its Treatment

Prevention and Surveillance for Recurrence and New Cancers.

- · Assessment of risk predisposition including family history
- Referral and receipt of recommended genetics evaluation
- · Recommendation for adjuvant and/or risk-reducing strategies
- Assessment of adherence with recommended adjuvant and/or risk-reducing strategies
- · Clinical surveillance visits recommended and completed per guidelines
- · Laboratory surveillance testing recommended and completed per guidelines
- · Imaging surveillance recommended and completed per guidelines

Surveillance and Management of Physical Effects.

- Assessment of **symptoms** and/or **conditions** via history, physical examination, and/or standardized instruments, tailored by cancer type and treatment exposure:
 - Visual (e.g., cataracts, visual impairment, dry eyes).
 - Hearing (e.g., ototoxicity, tinnitus, hearing loss).
 - Oral/dental (e.g., loss of teeth, dry mouth, trismus).
 - Ear/nose/throat (e.g., dysphagia, sinusitis).
 - Endocrine (e.g., central endocrinopathies, hypothyroidism, hypogonadism, growth hormone deficiency, osteopenia, osteoporosis).
 - Cardiac (e.g., dyspnea, coronary artery disease, valvular disease, congestive heart failure).
 - Pulmonary (e.g., fibrosis, restrictive lung disease, shortness of breath, oxygen dependence, cough).
 - Gastrointestinal (e.g., diarrhea, proctitis, gastroesophageal reflux, bowel obstruction, bloating, eructation, hernia, small bowel obstruction).
 - Hepatic (e.g., hepatitis, fibrosis, cirrhosis, focal nodular hyperplasia).
 - Genitourinary (e.g., urinary toxicity, urinary incontinence, hematuria).
 - Immunological (e.g., asplenia, immunodeficiency, graft versus host disease).
 - Male genital (e.g., anorgasmia, azoospermia, dry ejaculate, penile shortening/ curvature, retrograde ejaculation).
 - Gynecological (e.g., vaginal dryness, pain with intercourse, uterine insufficiency, vaginal stenosis, pelvic floor dysfunction).
 - Musculoskeletal (e.g., scoliosis, pain, post-mastectomy pain, postthoracotomy pain, bone fractures).
 - Dermatological (e.g., dry skin, graft versus host disease manifestations, skin color changes, skin texture changes, loss of hair).
 - Neurological (e.g., neurotoxicity, peripheral neuropathy, imbalance, spasticity).
 - Neurocognitive (e.g., memory changes, behavioral changes, concentration).
 - Vasomotor (e.g., hot flashes, irritability).
 - Vascular (e.g., carotid stenosis, aneurysms, cerebrovascular accident, moyamoya).
 - Body composition (e.g., sarcopenia, cachexia).
 - Frailty.
 - Reduced exercise tolerance.
 - Overall burden of physical symptoms.
- Referral and **receipt of recommended evaluation** including, as indicated, laboratory, imaging, and/or specialty care
- Recommendation and **receipt of appropriate treatment**, such as medication, therapy, and/or exercise
- Recommendation for **risk-reducing strategies** (e.g., weight loss, exercise, pharmacological treatment)
- Assessment of adherence to recommended treatment and/or risk-reducing strategies
- **Reassessment** of symptoms and/or conditions at defined intervals and/or treatment phase

Surveillance and Management of Psychosocial Effects

- Assessment of symptoms and/or conditions using history or validated instruments, general and tailored by cancer type and/or treatment exposure.
- Psychological
 - Fatigue.
 - Stress.
 - Post-traumatic stress.
 - Post-traumatic growth.
 - Distress.
 - Anxiety.
 - Fear of recurrences.
 - Sleep disturbance.
 - Coping.
 - Worry.
 - Illness intrusiveness.
 - Cognitive changes.
 - Educational problems.
 - Social withdrawal.

• Financial and/or employment

- Financial toxicity.
- Underemployment, unemployment, return-to-work.
- Work productivity.
- School productivity.
- Insurance status.
- Interpersonal
 - Sexuality and/or intimacy.
 - Fertility.
 - Family and/or caregiver relationships.
- Recommended evaluation provided (e.g., laboratory testing, imaging, referral to specialty care)
- Treatment provided (e.g., medication, therapy, exercise)
- Assessment of adherence to treatment completed
- **Reassessment** of symptoms and/or conditions at defined intervals and/or treatment phase

General Health Care and Prevention

Surveillance and Management of Chronic Medical Conditions

- Evaluation and treatment of **noncancer medical conditions** (e.g., hypertension, diabetes, depression) using disease-specific indicators
- Medication reconciliation

Health Promotion and Disease Prevention

- **Prevention-focused visits** and testing (e.g., screening for diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia)
- Age- and gender-appropriate **cancer screening** (e.g., Pap smear, mammogram, colonoscopy), recommendation, referral, and receipt of screening
- Assessment of **lifestyle** behaviors, referral, and treatment (e.g., smoking, alcohol, sun protection)
- Assessment of **weight** management (e.g., obesity, physical activity, diet), referral, and treatment
- **Vaccination** advise and assessment of vaccination rates (e.g., influenza, pneumonia, meningococcal, shingles, particularly among those who may be chronically immunocompromised)
- Screening for exposure to **infectious exposures** (e.g., HIV, hepatitis B, hepatitis C)

Health Care Delivery

Clinical Structure.

- Type of **health care delivery environment** (e.g., primary care office, oncology office, survivorship clinic, academic medical center/community-based hospital, urban/rural)
- Status of cancer survivorship providers' education and/or training
- Availability of needed **specialty care** (e.g., cardiology, nephrology, endocrinology)
- Availability of needed **health care professionals** (e.g., psychology, art, music therapy, nutrition, social work, physical therapy, sexual health)
- Access to care enabled (e.g., availability of appointments, financial counseling, navigators)
- Availability and functionality of **health information systems** (e.g., electronic medical records, telehealth)
- Opportunities for research participation offered

Communication/Decision-Making

- **Information/education** provided and understanding assessed while taking into account **health literacy** (e.g., survivorship care plan may serve as a tool, *but consider that the effect of SCP is still unsure*)
- · Assessment of self-management skills and support and/or advice provided
- Advance care planning discussion and/or documentation
- Discussion of **sensitive topics** (e.g., sexual activity, continence, end-of-life care, children, literacy, racial issues)
- Cancer care team involves family members or friends in discussions

- Involvement in **shared decision-making** (e.g., assessment of risk perception, values, decision support)
- Respectful communication with patient
- Care consistent with patients' goals of care

Care Coordination

- Discussion with patient about **care planning**, **documentation**, **and sharing** with patient and care team (e.g., survivorship care plan as tool may be considered)
- Evidence of communication between **oncology specialists** and **primary care providers**
- Evidence of communication between **other health care professionals**, oncology team, and primary care providers
- Providers aware of important information about patient's **medical history** and/or ongoing care
- Patient and cancer care team office talked about all **prescription medications** the patient was taking

List adapted from Box 2; Nekhlyudov L, et al. J Natl Cancer Inst 2019 Nov 1;111(11):1120–1130.

COMMENTARY.

In summary, this list provides key quality indicators both for specific survivorship care and general health care, but also of "common good cancer care" (e.g., respectful communication, shared decision-making, good communication among providers).

Evidence Gaps and Research Priorities

A recent workshop, guided by NCI, provides information on current evidence gaps and research priorities [28].

Surveillance for Recurrence and New Cancers

- Identify optimal evidence-based schedules for surveillance of recurrence and new cancers.
- Generate better estimates of risk and potential benefits of surveillance testing.

Management of Long-Term and Late Physical Effects

- Incorporate, in a consistent manner across studies and existing data resources, data collection using common data elements for symptoms, functional status, and comorbid conditions.
- Examine the natural history and **biosignatures** of late and **long-term effects** by cancer type and treatment.
- Utilize theoretical models, such as the chronic disease model, to frame intervention development for preventing and mitigating long-term and late physical effects.

Management of Long-Term and Late Psychosocial Effects

- Conduct population-level surveillance for psychosocial sequelae.
- Examine psychosocial consequences of or contributors to living with advanced/ metastatic disease, recurrence, second malignancies.
- Greater uptake of **screening for psychosocial risk** concomitant with cancer diagnosis, treatment, and/or follow-up care.
- Identify social functioning needs of aging long-term cancer survivors.

Health Promotion

- Conduct multilevel research studies addressing health behaviors in survivorship care in both oncology and primary care settings.
- Integrate existing and emerging digital technologies for tailored health promotion into survivorship care.
- Combine basic science with human studies to identify mechanisms and targets for interventions.

Care Coordination

- Define key outcomes and measures to assess care coordination.
- Develop algorithms for risk-stratification and implement tailored care pathways for survivors based on levels of needs.
- Evaluation of the role of **telehealth** in coordinating comprehensive survivor-ship care.

Financial Hardship

- In longitudinal studies, characterize risk factors for financial hardshipemployment disruption, and other economic effects of cancer and evaluate financial hardship outcomes such as on daily functioning, clinical outcomes, quality of life, and health care utilization.
- Leverage existing data sources and novel data linkages to study the economic effects of cancer.
- Develop technology to streamline the collection and use of **economic data** to support financial navigation interventions.
- Interventions to mitigate the economic effects of cancer should address issues at the patient, provider, health system, employer, and policy levels.

Cross-Cutting Needs

- Understand and address disparities by including understudied, underserved, and vulnerable populations in studies.
- Conduct longitudinal as well as longer term follow-up studies (>5 years).
- Incorporate implementation science expertise in interventions to translate findings from observational studies and efficacy trials into practice.
- Develop career development, **training and mentoring** programs, and other strategies to support cancer survivorship scientists.
- Leverage existing studies (both observational and interventional) for cancer survivorship research.

List adapted from Box1. 2019 National Cancer Institute Cancer Survivorship Workshop Research Priorities.

In summary, this list provides important insight into the myriad of open issues in survivorship care, including the plea to monitor more systematically survivor's needs and morbidities and develop and monitor effective interventions, taking advantage of the modern world (e.g., telehealth).

Conclusion

The definition of a cancer survivor seems to be most useful when people confronted with cancer after acute, intensive anticancer treatment and in the metastatic setting with well-controlled tumors are included. The reason for this is that the focus is on patient and proxies needs, dealing with disabilities, return to and define new with often new meaning the best possible life including health promotion. Currently, the evidence base for overall survivorship care is scarce, whereas for specific interventions to detect recurrence, promote healthy lifestyle, or management of specific functional deficits or symptoms sufficient or good evidence is available. Currently, the evidence to promote ubiquitous survivorship care plans (SCP) is not available, probably the SCP integrated into risk-adapted and community-based care may gain importance. The key to survivorship care is to be aware of the myriads of burdens cancer survivors are confronted with, the importance of listening as professional and proactively coordinate care.

References

- 1. Mullan F. Seasons of survival: reflections of a physician with cancer. N Engl J Med. 1985;313(4):270–3.
- 2. https://canceradvocacy.org/defining-cancer-survivorship/
- NCCS (National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship) 1996. Imperatives for quality cancer care: access, advocacy, action, and accountability. Clark EJ, Stovall EL, Leigh S, Siu AL, Austin DK, Rowland JH. Silver Spring, MD: NCCS.
- National Research Council. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2006. https://doi.org/10.17226/11468.
- 5. Twombly R. What's in a name: who is a cancer survivor? J Natl Cancer Inst. 2004;96(19):1414–5.
- 6. Miller KD. Cancer survivors, late and long-term issues. Cancer J. 2008;14(6):358-60.
- 7. Miller K, Merry B, Miller J. Seasons of survivorship revisited. Cancer J. 2008;14(6):369-74.
- Grunfeld E, Earle CC. The interface between primary and oncology specialty care: treatment through survivorship. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2010;2010(40):25–30.
- Denlinger CS, Carlson RW, Are M, Baker KS, Davis E, Edge SB, Friedman DL, Goldman M, Jones L, King A, Kvale E, Langbaum TS, Ligibel JA, McCabe MS, McVary KT, Melisko M, Montoya JG, Mooney K, Morgan MA, O'Connor T, Paskett ED, Raza M, Syrjala KL, Urba SG, Wakabayashi MT, Zee P, McMillian N, Freedman-Cass D. Survivorship: introduction and definition. Clinical practice guidelines in oncology. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2014;12(1):34–45.
- 10. Surbone A, Tralongo P. Categorization of cancer survivors: why we need it. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(28):3372–4.
- 11. Tralongo P, Annunziata MA, Santoro A, Tirelli U, Surbone A. Beyond semantics: the need to better categorize patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(20):2637–8.

- 12. Surbone A, Annunziata MA, Santoro A, Tirelli U, Tralongo P. Cancer patients and survivors: changing words or changing culture? Ann Oncol. 2013;24(10):2468–71.
- Oeffinger KC, Argenbright KE, Levitt GA, McCabe MS, Anderson PR, Berry E, Maher J, Merrill J, Wollins DS. Models of cancer survivorship health care: moving forward. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. 2014:205–13.
- Nekhlyudov L, Ganz PA, Arora NK, Rowland JH. Going beyond being lost in transition: a decade of progress in cancer survivorship. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(18):1978–81.
- Tralongo P, McCabe MS, Surbone A. Challenge for cancer survivorship: improving care through categorization by risk. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(30):3516–7.
- Nekhlyudov L, Ganz PA, Arora NK, Rowland JH. Reply to P. Tralongo et al. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(30):3517.
- Marzorati C, Riva S, Pravettoni G. Who is a cancer survivor? A systematic review of published definitions. J Cancer Educ. 2017;32(2):228–37.
- https://www.esmo.org/content/download/117593/2061518/file/ESMO-Patient-Guide-Survivorship.pdf
- 19. Park ER, Peppercorn J, El-Jawahri A. Shades of survivorship. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2018;16(10):1163–5.
- 20. Shapiro CL. Cancer survivorship. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(25):2438-50.
- Jordan K, Aapro M, Kaasa S, Ripamonti CI, Scotté F, Strasser F, Young A, Bruera E, Herrstedt J, Keefe D, Laird B, Walsh D, Douillard JY, Cervantes A. European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) position paper on supportive and palliative care. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(1):36–43.
- Olver I, Keefe D, Herrstedt J, Warr D, Roila F, Ripamonti CI. Supportive care in cancer-a MASCC perspective. Support Care Cancer. 2020;28(8):3467–75.
- Langbaum T, Smith TJ. Time to study metastatic-cancer survivorship. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(14):1300–2.
- Tometich DB, Hyland KA, Soliman H, Jim HSL, Oswald L. Living with metastatic cancer: a roadmap for future research. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12(12):3684.
- Hui D, Kim YJ, Park JC, Zhang Y, Strasser F, Cherny N, Kaasa S, Davis MP, Bruera E. Integration of oncology and palliative care: a systematic review. Oncologist. 2015;20(1):77–83.
- MacDonald C, Theurer JA, Doyle PC. "Cured" but not "healed": the application of principles of palliative care to cancer survivorship. Soc Sci Med. 2021;275:113802.
- Janah A, Bouhnik AD, Touzani R, Bendiane MK, Peretti-Watel P. Underprescription of step III opioids in French cancer survivors with chronic pain: a call for integrated early palliative care in oncology. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2020;59(4):836–47.
- Gallicchio L, Tonorezos E, de Moor JS, Elena J, Farrell M, Green P, Mitchell SA, Mollica MA, Perna F, Gottlieb Saiontz N, Zhu L, Rowland J, Mayer DK. Evidence gaps in cancer survivorship care: a report from the 2019 National Cancer Institute Cancer Survivorship Workshop. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2021;23:djab049.
- Mollica MA, Tesauro G, Tonorezos ES, Jacobsen PB, Smith AW, Gallicchio L. Current state of funded National Institutes of Health grants focused on individuals living with advanced and metastatic cancers: a portfolio analysis. J Cancer Surviv. 2021;15:370.
- Biddell CB, Spees LP, Mayer DK, Wheeler SB, Trogdon JG, Rotter J, Birken SA. Developing personalized survivorship care pathways in the United States: existing resources and remaining challenges. Cancer. 2020;127:997.
- Hill RE, Wakefield CE, Cohn RJ, Fardell JE, Brierley ME, Kothe E, Jacobsen PB, Hetherington K, Mercieca-Bebber R. Survivorship care plans in cancer: a meta-analysis and systematic review of care plan outcomes. Oncologist. 2020;25(2):e351–72.
- 32. https://www.esmo.org/guidelines/esmo-guidelines-methodology
- 33. https://www.esmo.org/guidelines/supportive-and-palliative-care
- Welch-McCaffrey D, Hoffman B, Leigh SA, Loescher LJ, Meyskens FL Jr. Surviving adult cancers. Part 2: psychosocial implications. Ann Intern Med. 1989;111(6):517–24.
- About Survivorship Research: Survivorship Definitions. [Online]. from http://dccps.nci.nih. gov/ocs/definitions.html [Retrieved April 9, 2004].

- Miller KD, Triano LR. Medical issues in cancer survivors—a review. Cancer J. 2008;14(6):375–87.
- Meyerowitz BE, Kurita K, D'Orazio LM. The psychological and emotional fallout of cancer and its treatment. Cancer J. 2008;14(6):410–3.
- Jacobsen PB, Rowland JH, Paskett ED, et al. Identification of key gaps in cancer survivorship research: findings from the American Society of Clinical Oncology survey. J Oncol Pract. 2016;12:190–3.
- 39. Schmidt EB, Blum D, Domeisen Benedetti F, Schlögl M, Strasser F. Tools for guiding interventions to address patient-perceived multidimensional unmet healthcare needs in palliative care: systematic literature review. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2020; bmjspcare-2020-002495
- 40. Vogt J, Beyer F, Sistermanns J, Kuon J, Kahl C, Alt-Epping B, Stevens S, Ahlborn M, George C, Heider A, Tienken M, Loquai C, Stahlhut K, Ruellan A, Kubin T, Dietz A, Oechsle K, Mehnert-Theuerkauf A, van Oorschot B, Thomas M, Ortmann O, Engel C, Lordick F, Arbeitsgemeinschaft Palliativmedizin (APM) of the German Cancer Society (DKG). Symptom burden and palliative care needs of patients with incurable cancer at diagnosis and during the disease course. Oncologist. 2021;26:e1058.
- 41. Ferrell BR, Temel JS, Temin S, Alesi ER, Balboni TA, Basch EM, Firn JI, Paice JA, Peppercorn JM, Phillips T, Stovall EL, Zimmermann C, Smith TJ. Integration of palliative care into standard oncology care: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(1):96–112.
- 42. Hui D, Cherny N, Latino N, Strasser F. The 'critical mass' survey of palliative care programme at ESMO designated centres of integrated oncology and palliative care. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(9):2057–66.
- Vos JAM, Wieldraaijer T, van Weert HCPM, van Asselt KM. Survivorship care for cancer patients in primary versus secondary care: a systematic review. J Cancer Surviv. 2021;15(1):66–76.
- 44. Ke Y, Ng T, Chan A. Survivorship care models for breast cancer, colorectal cancer, and adolescent and young adult (AYA) cancer survivors: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer. 2018;26(7):2125–41.
- 45. Streefkerk N, Fioole LCE, Beijer JGM, Feijen ELAM, Teepen JC, Winther JF, Ronckers CM, Loonen JJ, van Dulmen-den Broeder E, Skinner R, Hudson MM, Tissing WJE, Korevaar JC, Mulder RL, Kremer LCM. Large variation in assessment and outcome definitions to describe the burden of long-term morbidity in childhood cancer survivors: a systematic review. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2020;67(11):e28611.
- 46. Nekhlyudov L, Mollica MA, Jacobsen PB, Mayer DK, Shulman LN, Geiger AM. Developing a quality of cancer survivorship care framework: implications for clinical care, research, and policy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2019;111(11):1120–30.



Goals of Survivorship Care

2

Francesco De Lorenzo, Kathi Apostolidis, Adela Maghear, Stefano Guzzinati, Luigino Dal Maso, Enkeleint A. Mechili, and Nikolaos Mitsimponas

Cancer Survivorship Care

Cancer survivor is defined as anyone with a diagnosis of cancer and who is still alive [1]. In recent years cancer survivorship has increased significantly and around 25% of people surviving after a cancer diagnosis have the same life expectancy as the general population. In Europe and in the United States, the number of individuals

F. De Lorenzo

Italian Federation of Cancer Patients Organizations, Rome, Italy

K. Apostolidis (🖂) European Cancer Patient Coalition - ECPC, Brussels, Belgium

Hellenic Cancer Federation, Athens, Greece e-mail: kathi.apostolidis@ecpc.org

A. Maghear European Cancer patient Coalition (ECPC), Brussels, Belgium e-mail: adela.maghear@ecpc.org

S. Guzzinati Registro Tumori Veneto, Azienda Zero, Padova, Italy e-mail: stefano.guzzinati@azero.veneto.it

Department of Healthcare, Faculty of Public Health, University of Vlora, Vlora, Albania e-mail: mechili@univlora.edu.al

N. Mitsimponas HYGEIA Hospital, Athens, Greece

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. Rauh (ed.), *Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_2

European Cancer Patient Coalition - ECPC, Brussels, Belgium

L. Dal Maso Epidemiologia Oncologica, Centro di Riferimento Oncologico (CRO), IRCCS, Aviano, Italy e-mail: dalmaso@cro.it

E. A. Mechili Clinic of Social and Family Medicine, School of Medicine, University of Crete, Crete, Greece

living after a cancer diagnosis (i.e., cancer prevalence) is growing by approximately 3% annually. They currently represent more than 5% of the overall population in high-income countries (i.e., at least 20 million in Europe and 17 million in the USA) [2–4].

A recent study has estimated population-based indicators of cancer cure in Europe by type, sex, age, and period [5]. The study used information from the EUROCARE-5 dataset, including 7.2 million cancer patients (42 population-based cancer registries in 17 European countries) diagnosed at ages 15–74 years in 1990–2007 and at least 18 years of follow-up. Cure fraction was defined as the proportion of cancer patients having the same mortality rates as those observed in the general population of the same sex and age.

The cure fraction of European cancer patients increased in the 10 years examined, in both sexes (Fig. 2.1) reaching 39% among men and 51% among women, for all cancer types combined, diagnosed in 2000 at all ages (15–74 years). The cure fraction was 94% in men, when the diagnosis was testicular cancer, 76% in men and 86% in women with skin melanoma, 70% in men and 87% in women with thyroid cancer, 67% in men and 75% in women with Hodgkin lymphomas. Cure fraction was also 76% for patients with cancers of corpus uteri, 66% for those with cancer of the breast, 64% for those with cancers of the cervix uteri, and 63% for those with cancers of the prostate. On the other hand, the proportion of cure was very low (below 15%) when the diagnosis was a cancer of the pancreas, liver, esophagus, lung, brain, chronic leukemia, and myelomas.

Notably, two-thirds of cancer patients, diagnosed at age 15–44 years (65% in men and 69% in women), were expected to be cured, while the proportion was approximately one-third for patients aged 65–74 years (33% in men and 38% in women).

Further studies explored other indicators of cancer cure [6, 7]. In particular, an Italian study [7] reported that, up to 2010, 27% of all prevalent cases (20% in men and 33% in women) could be considered as "already cured cancer patients" since their life expectancy (mortality rates) had become indistinguishable from that of the general population of the same age and sex. Assuming similar proportions for the European population, people living after a cancer diagnosis in 2020 who can be considered as already cured are at least five million, 1% of the overall population.

These results confirm the need to reconsider the current paradigm of survivorship as a never-ending experience. To recognize the increasing number of patients who will reach or have already reached a life expectancy similar to that of the general population provides an opportunity to improve quality of life by changing the way "former" patients view themselves, and it allows patients to return to their regular lives. The European Commission has recently acknowledged this need through the "Mission on Cancer" and "European Cancer Plan," currently under approval. Currently, it is more important than ever to develop a concrete plan for the support of cancer patients after treatment. At the moment they will be considered free of disease (i.e., cured), we need to have a roadmap for future follow-up, if needed, and rehabilitation.





Domains of Cancer Survivorship Care

According to the National Academy of Medicine report, titled "From Cancer Patient to Cancer Survivor: Lost in Translation" a cancer survivor's experience entails the entire range of the cancer pathway, i.e., diagnosis, treatment, remission, surveillance, after-cancer care, and end of life. As a definition and provision of care, survivorship pertains to the problems that are related to the capacity of a patient to obtain healthcare and follow-up treatment, late effects of treatment, second cancers, and quality of life. In the same report, it is highlighted that the essential goal of survivorship care is to shift cancer care from a model of illness to one of wellness.

For the delivery of survivorship care, the National Academy of Medicine defines four different components of healthcare provision to cancer survivors:

- Cancer surveillance and screening: In this level, surveillance is performed in order to identify possible recurrence of the primary malignancy and evaluate the likelihood of any second cancer.
- Late effects and side effects management: Regarding the late effects' management, there is ongoing research both for childhood and adult patient's types of cancer. The main aim of this research is to identify the potential late effects of cancer treatment and provide clinicians and caregivers with the tools to identify them promptly, and support more efficiently cancer survivors. The relevant body of research monitors the level of health maintenance and vital organs function that may be related to each treatment received.
- Risk reduction and cancer prevention: Regarding the risk reduction and prevention of future cancer occurrence, various behavioral interventions are suggested, in order to promote lifestyle changes, that have the possibility to reduce cancer incidence, but also several other illnesses, such as smoking cessation, healthy living, energy balance, and dietary changes.
- Psychosocial functioning: The psychosocial and economic consequences of surviving cancer treatments are equally important with the aforementioned, physical late effects. Cancer survivors and their families have to address many challenges, including economic burden, loss or interruption of social relationships, as well as emotional suffering that can last for a long time after a therapy is completed [8].

As someone can understand from the components, the healthcare support that is needed for cancer survivors requires the involvement of many different disciplines. Even more, depending on the age, cancer survivors may need support from even a more complex web of different healthcare services and practicians. Among elderly people, we can have the existence and interaction between multiple chronic conditions and different medications, occasionally the absence of social support, as well as particular goals of therapy (e.g., aggressive—and many times more effective types of therapies are not suitable for this cohort of cancer survivors). Survivorship care needs to be a healthcare service that will continuously evolve to adapt to older adults' health needs. According to the summary of evidence by Halpern et al., there are various models describing the delivery of such survivorship care [9]. These different models of survivorship care can be disease-specific or general, dependent on different types of cancer care professionals, as well as focusing on the care provided in separate survivorship clinics where cancer treatment was received or focusing on integrating survivorship care into a broader oncology practice.

Depending on whom among the clinicians (e.g., oncologists, primary care providers (PCP), or a combination of both) is managing survivorship care, a cancer survivor may get different types and intensity of care. Primary care providers and cancer specialists may have different priorities and scope on how they deliver cancer survivorship care; they may also have differing knowledge and clinical skills. In a similar fashion, cancer survivors may have different views about the importance of their various healthcare providers. In this manner, the models of survivorship that have been proposed were primary care-based (e.g., a primary care provider manages the survivorship care), specialty care-based (e.g., joint management and responsibility of survivorship care).

Among these, the shared care model has been suggested to be the best way to optimize care for cancer survivors and guarantee high-quality care. Shared care allows for flexibility in providers' roles and responsibilities over time. It can also be flexible and efficient to the different needs of cancer survivors, which are dependent on time since diagnosis and completion of treatment, as well as recurrence status, and presence of other chronic conditions. It is noteworthy to mention, that a successful shared care model needs a tailored integration of primary care and specialty multidisciplinary healthcare providers with expertise in oncology, as well as in geriatric care for older cancer patients. The follow-up of cured and disease-free cancer patients will be at best delivered within cancer centers or oncological hospitals but separately from the oncology department to avoid that the specialized human resources are diverted from treating cancer patients in the acute phase of treatment. A crucial element of the shared care model is the need to have an established, interactive communication channel (e.g., with the use of well-designed e-health interventions) between primary care and specialty care providers. Many diseases such as nutritional and metabolic problems are common for cancer patients. Many oncologists seem to focus just on the disease (cancer) treatment while neglecting other health issues [10].

Finally, another model of cancer survivorship care delivery is risk-stratified care. In this model, the frequency of encounters with cancer specialists is directly related to patients' clinical needs, including the risk of recurrence and their late effects. For example, an older woman diagnosed with early-stage breast cancer treated with excision alone might not need to see a medical oncologist for ongoing care. Instead, she could transition to being managed exclusively by her PCP unless she experiences a recurrence for which she will receive specialty care. Integration of both psychosocial and somatic rehabilitation for cancer survivorship is clearly proposed under the fourth pillar of the Europe Beating Cancer Plan. Provision of patientcentered services from a multidisciplinary team and focusing on education, increase
of patient involvement in research, and dissemination of information should be at the core of survivorship care strategy. The active involvement of patients in their care is critical to better understand their needs, wishes, and preferences.

Cancer Survivorship Care Plan and Rehabilitation Targets

Cancer Survivorship Care Plan

In Recommendation 7, the Mission on Cancer calls for an "EU-wide research programme and policy support to improve the quality of life of cancer patients and survivors, family members and careers, and all persons with an increased risk of cancer" [11].

Such a program should aim to:

- develop a methodology to assess the health-related quality of life;
- develop tools to enable patient involvement in decision making;
- establish comprehensive programs at the international level based on patientreported outcomes to monitor the physical and psychosocial needs of cancer survivors (e.g., return to work, fertility, sexuality, reconstruction surgery, dental health, cognitive functioning, fear of recurrence, etc.);
- support research to close the knowledge gaps regarding the negative consequence that a cancer diagnosis or treatment has on a patient's physical, mental, and social health, both in the short and long term;
- develop long-term follow-up programs to better understand the needs and challenges of pediatric and young cancer patients;
- initiate research to assess the discrepancies and discrimination that cancer survivors face in different countries, including their access to legal and financial services (e.g., loans, mortgages, life insurance);
- support research into prediction models for the side effects of cancer therapies;
- assess the efficacy of the survivorship care programs initiated by different heath systems;
- develop research to assess both the direct and indirect economic consequences that cancer survivors and their relatives have to cope with [12].

Cancer survivors are a vulnerable population that requires medical and nonmedical interventions and is particularly at risk not only of having a low quality of life due to the long-term side effects of treatment with consequences for patients' physical, mental, and social health but also, as the majority of cancer survivors are above 65 years of age, they are at risk of developing another cancer. Other factors that influence the quality of life of cancer survivors are the cancer-related comorbidities, reaction to stress, stigmatization, the survivor's socioeconomic status, and access to quality healthcare and rehabilitation services [13].

For many people it is very difficult to remember all the details of cancer treatment, to record the needs that are rising during the treatment, and afterward to have steadily on mind the plan of the follow-up care [14]. This need of survivorship care can be fulfilled with the existence of a structured and detailed survivorship care plan. Keeping a personal healthcare record can be useful and facilitate all the process.

Using this tool in survivorship care can facilitate the everyday life of cancer survivors and can reduce the pressure and the amount of work from the healthcare professionals.

Survivorship care plan should be individualized to the needs of each patient. The survivorship care plan should be customized to the needs of each cancer survivor, and should include basic information about the cancer type, the type of therapy received (biologic therapy, chemotherapy, surgery, radiotherapy, etc.), the possible side effects experienced from the therapy/ies and the other needs that possibly can arise during the period of therapy and afterward.

Furthermore, the essential role of survivorship care plan can be highlighted through the fact that survivorship care plan can be a useful tool for the oncology team of each cancer survivor as for the other healthcare professionals that are related with the cancer survivors. Healthcare professionals can use the survivorship care plan in order to carry out a structured and detailed follow-up [14].

Summary of cancer treatment consists of details about the personal medical history of the patient, the family medical history and a possible genetic counseling, information about the time of diagnosis, and the kind and sequence of treatment/s. The main contributors to the cancer treatment are basically the oncology team (medical oncologist, radiation oncologist, surgeon, nurses).

The after-treatment care plan includes the follow-up care plan (when should patient perform the suitable follow-up exams like computer tomography or laboratory exams, or other tests) and taking advice from your care team about tasks of the everyday life like sleep, exercise, sunscreen, immunizations, healthy weight programs, and helping to quit with smoking. Moreover, in the after-care plan are included other issues like providing psychosocial support to those who need it, financial planning, money and job problems, and problems in the relationship with friends and family. All the abovementioned parts of survivorship care plan are aspects of everyday life, that strongly concern most of the cancer survivors and that probably seek to be resolved [14–22].

Rehabilitation Targets

Cancer and its treatment produce a multidimensional impact on patients' lives, affecting the physical, sensorial, cognitive, psychological, family, social, and spiritual functional level of each individual cancer survivor. The problems that can arise through this situation can affect the daily activities or the procedure of returning back to work or even have a long-lasting effect on the health of cancer survivors. Cancer rehabilitation is one of the most important milestones in cancer survivorship care. It can help cancer survivors cope in a comfortable way with the problems that can arise through and after the cancer treatment or problems that can arise through the disease itself and it can help cancer survivors in optimizing the quality of life and recovering the normalcy of their lives.

Rehabilitation programs can be organized as separate outpatient programs delivered by a multidisciplinary team of healthcare professionals within cancer centers or oncological hospitals or can be delivered by specialized clinics. The goal of such rehabilitation programs is mainly to help as many people as possible to recover from the physical or psychological problems, that can be caused during the cancer trajectory and through the phase of the main treatment and support patients to become as productive and independent as possible.

Rehabilitation is useful not only for the patient's life but also for their families. Provision of psychological support for the entire family and the patient is a crucial aspect in survivorship. Such support can contribute to better management of different emotions and can improve quality of life. To achieve this, accredited infrastructures should be built, with geographical distribution, such as the Comprehensive Cancer Centers (CCCs) [1]. The 34 CCCs that currently are in operation in Europe cannot cope with the present demand for cancer care, and, therefore, measures should be taken to ensure that such centers will be established in all countries, while in bigger countries there should be one CCC per five million inhabitants. Structuring the collaboration between accredited CCCs will support innovation and cover the entire cancer research continuum for both cancer care and early detection methods. This impacts early translational research, clinical trials, outcomes research, and health economics [1].

- As a milestone of cancer survivorship care cancer rehabilitation has multidimensional targets, which consist of many aspects of the everyday life of cancer survivors such as:
- Overcoming as soon as possible the side effects that can be caused through the cancer treatment or learning to manage possible side effects and coping with them.
- Improving physical and psychological conditions in order to offset any limitations caused through the cancer trajectory.
- · Getting back a good physical condition in order to return to everyday life.
- Improving or even regaining self-confidence and self-awareness.
- Learning to manage and whenever it is possible to overcome mobility problems (getting out of a chair, walking, getting dressed, etc.) or cognitive problems (difficulty thinking clearly, memory problems, etc.).
- Becoming more independent and less reliant on physicians and reducing the number of hospitalizations.
- Learning how to adopt healthy everyday habits like exercise, balanced and healthy diet, and preserving or achieving a healthy weight.
- Getting advices and ideas on how to cope with problems like family issues, problems in the relationship with friends, partner, or kids.

The goal of cancer rehabilitation at the end of the day is to help cancer survivors stay as active as possible in order to go back to work and to regain the most if not every aspect of the everyday life before cancer, to improve the quality of life, to reduce the possible side effects and symptoms of cancer or its treatment, and to help the cancer survivors to be more independent and confident. Toward this direction establishment of survivorship cancer clinics could help significantly. These clinics should include a multidisciplinary staff that can provide person-centered services. This is of paramount significance because patients after the acute care are usually left. These centers except those that can be used for further survivorship research can also help in provision of psychosocial interventions and rehabilitation. Additionally, patient empowerment can take place in these comprehensive clinics [13].

Despite the high number of cancer patients who survive, most of the EU countries have a lack of integrated rehabilitation policies. On the one hand, we have the lack of knowledge and experiences of healthcare personnel on cancer patient rehabilitation while on the other hand research data lacks on late effects of cancer and its treatment [14–23].

The Different Needs for Survivorship Care

Cancer survivors range from cured people, free of disease 5 or 10 years after completion of treatment, to people who continue to receive treatment to reduce the risk of recurrence, and people with well-controlled disease and few symptoms, who receive treatment to manage cancer as a chronic disease. Cancer survivors can be people from all age groups including kids, adolescents and young adults, adult, and elderly people.

Survivorship care covers issues related to follow-up care, to the management of late side effects of treatment, to the improvement of quality of life, psychological, and emotional health. Survivorship care includes also future anticancer treatment where applicable. Family members, friends, and caregivers should also be considered as part of the survivorship experience.

Following the policy recommendations on cancer survivorship of the EU Joint Action on Cancer Control [20, 23], the European Cancer Patient Coalition-ECPC has collaborated with the European Society of Medical Oncology-ESMO in developing the Patient Guide on Survivorship. The Guide offers to patients and their familys information in coping with the new reality of survivorship, on preventive health, follow-up care and most importantly, it includes the Survivorship checklist, care plan, and treatment summary that each oncology specialty clinician should fill in at the completion of each acute treatment modality for cancer patients free of disease (Fig. 2.2).

The collaboration of ECPC with ESMO was also extended to the clinical guidelines thus new and revised guidelines include also survivorship information that helps oncologists understand that cancer care after acute treatment enters a new phase: survivorship with its own requirements for care and follow-up.

Different key factors can explain the heterogeneity of needs among cancer survivors. The time of the survivorship caregiving, the type and stage of cancer, and the

Symptoms and side officers that have continued after finishing treatment: Eaclywared intermation YES N Institute Flags Curage in moder depression Pain artible fight state Eaclywared intermation Surgers Surgers Rease and verning Rease and verning Rease and verning Reacy in moder depression Pain article and the fight state and verning Surgers Surgers Rease and verning Rease and verning Reacy and verning Reacy and verning Surgers Surgers State and profement Displaye problement Displaye problement Readown of the curve and breader and verning Surgers Surgers State and profement Readown of the curve and breader and the curve and problement Readown of the curve and produce and the curve and breader and the curve and produce and the curve and produce and the curve and the curve and produce and the curve and the curve and produce and the curve and t	Survivorship			Survivorship check	k list, care	plan and treatme
Filippe Charge in mode obgension Pain or toteofing when intrimation Tax. And careful and and profession Tax. And careful and profession Tax. And careful and and profession Tax. And careful and and profession Tax. And careful and ca	Symptoms and side effects	that have continued after finish	ing treatment:		100	
Nates and vonling Feas and to motiop Teas and to motiop Surgery Pain and projental reunophy Lang problems University University Surgery Stars dottor and projental Dipetitive problems Dipetitive problems Surgery Surgery Stars dottor Dipetitive problems Memory a concentration loss Scala problems Surgery data: Surgery Stars dottor Law mile boot cell count Deexity counting Memory accuration loss Scala problems Surgery data: Change in weight Law mile boot cell count Deexity counting Deexity congressing Memory accuration loss Scala problems Surgery data: Change in weight Internote and motion loss Deexity congressing Deexity congressing Median data: Change in weight Internote and social aspects in saminary staticts Bodian data: Median data:	Faligue	Change in mood or dispression	Pain or bleeding when uninating	Background information	TES NU	Ireatment
Pin and projetral transport Lung problems Oppositive problems Surgical transport Start profession Difficulties with breatming Menograsts problems Events Start problems Menograsts problems Events Surgical transport Start problems Menograsts problems Events Surgical transport Load disprite Load disprite Events Events Load disprite Levents Cherge in weight Matorianter Cherge in weight Metcloses Cherge in weight Matorianter	Nausea and vomiting	Fears and/or anxiety	Unine incontinence	Family history of cancer		Surgery
Step doorders Difficulties with breating Meropusite problems Meropusite problems Skie and soft frace problems Wernow yer concentration loss Sexual problems Exect consuling Loss of apprinte Lew with bood cell count One Device consuling Residence problems Law of apprinte Lew with bood cell count One One Device consuling Residence problems Change in weight Interloors One One One Device consuling Residence problems First/bry in weight Interloors One One One Device consuling Residence problems	Pain and peripheral neuropathy	Lung problems	Digestive problems	Genetic/hereditary risk tactor, predisposit	ng conditions:	Surgical location, findings:
Skin and sufficient pobliens Memory er concentration loss Social problems Connecting Earlier connecting Earl	Steep disorders	Difficulties with breathing	Menopausal problems			
Los di apetite La methododi confisendi Thomboendoic eet termo estato conformed estato	Skin and soft fissue problems	Memory or concentration loss	Sexual problems			
Heart problems Low white blood cal count Other Constitution of the Radio of Heart Providence Construction of the Radio of Heart Providence Construction Interface Addition Alexander Addition Alexander Interface Addition Alexander Addition Addition Alexander Addition Add	Loss of appetite	Low red blood cell count (areamia)	Thromboembolic event	forest conserved		Surgery case.
Carage in weight Intertors Address and secial aspects in surrivership Ferlify cropersonation I Address and secial aspects in surrivership	Heart problems	Low white blood cell count	Other	Genetic testing results:		Radiation therapy:
Psychological and social aspects in survivurship	Change in weight	Intections				Radiation date:
Psychological and social aspects in survivorship				Fertility: cryopreservation		Radiation area:
	Psychological and social at	spects in survivorship				Chest Abdomen P

Psychological sopport Family Friends Psychologicityschahids Cancer sopport groups Social workers Mailh care professionals Other

Rehabilitation programme	YES	NO What concerns do you have as you
Rehabilitation programme		your survivorship experience?
Psychological		Emotional and psychological status
Serual	=	Weight changes
Cognitive		Falgue
Nutritional		Self confidence
Dther		Life priorities
Duration of rehabilitation programme:		 Body image Physical strength Going back to work
Charges in family relationships.		Financial advice Parenting Retationships issues
Changes or difficulties by returning back to	nork	Servual health and desire Fertility Strophing smoking
Wish to extend tamily:		Pain Coner

Fig. 2.2 Survivorship checklist, care plan, and treatment summary from the ESMO Survivorship Patient Guide (© ESMO)

Bucknessed Information	VEC NO	Trachuse			VEC UN	Next for angoing subpartic) treatment for cancer. End of main treatment.		
Family history of cancer		Surgery						
Genetic/hereditary risk tactor, predispos	ng conditions:	Surgical loc	ation, findings:			Sign or symptoms to tell the blocks about right away.		
Canadia e numeralitare		Cumaru Ath						
Genetic testing results:		Radiation th	erapy:			SLISH AN INTER A TROUBS		
		Radiation di	äte.			Becter's same	The strict	
Fertility: cryopreservation		Radiation ar	14 14					
Missense je		Heada	ADDOREN LESS	Previc area	of Axella			
Creation and looking		Othera	srea (Le. extremities)					
when the set		Systemic th therapy, imr	erapy (Chemotherapy nunotherapy, targeter	hormonal therapies)			TERMET FREE PROFILE OF BUT IN	100
Date of diagnosis (year):		Type of thes	apr.			And the second standard to compare the second standard s	Internet and support in addition	
Sage I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	NOT APPLICABLE	Chemo	therapy Hormo	Vqradtherapy		1.000		
Method of diagnosis:		Combi	nation			Circuir exervitrice-up visit	Radologic examinations (spech)	t on
Imaging tests		Name of	dant	Decapy and date	Therapy	Boothats norths 🔤 norths		
Laeoratory tests Biopsy Site of biopsy.						Other (sec/))	Endoscopy (spechy) nontre	
				1				
Symptoms and side effects de	ring therapy					Test Consistent	No	had
Falgue	Nausea and Vomiti	8	Pain and peript	eral neuropat				
Steep disorders	Skin and soft tissu	e problems	Loss of appetity					
Heart problems	Change in weight		Change in moo	or depressio				
Lung problems	Difficulties with bri	athing	Memory or con	centration los				
Low red blood cell court (anaemia)	Low while blood of	il count	Intections					
Pain or bleeding when uninating	Urine incontinence		Digestive probi	SII.				
Menopausal problems	Sexual problems		Thromboembol	Cevent				

F. De Lorenzo et al.

status of treatment and in many cases the different age between cancer survivors are some of these factors. Furthermore, in the needs of survivorship care should be included the needs of family caregivers.

The role of a supportive network around the cancer patient cannot be emphasized enough: family, friends, colleagues, and community can play a significant role in managing emotional problems and assist patients to return to normal life. Some patients find it easier to discuss their concerns with people who experienced same cancer. A critical issue for this is patient empowerment which should be a role of healthcare professionals.

The type and stage of cancer and the consequent therapeutic procedures can significantly affect the type of needs, that a cancer survivor can have. Patients at the end of acute care treatment worry about the possible current or future side effects of their treatments. Furthermore, they possibly worry about the return to their normal habits and normal life.

People who completed their treatment and are considered cured after 5 or 10 years from the end of their treatment have different concerns and needs, like maintaining a healthy lifestyle, making their regular annual screening, returning to work, assuring their financial sustainability, regaining control of their life. People, who cope with cancer as a chronic disease, have different worries and different priorities focused on keeping the disease under control, maintaining the quality of life, and assuring the possibility to work [14].

Among cancer survivors, there are different views concerning essential needs of survivorship care. Some consider physical rehabilitation and regaining of the physical strength that they may have had before the cancer diagnosis, as the goals of the survivorship care. Others consider essential the psychological aspects of their lives that were affected by cancer and seek solutions through survivorship care. Others may have employment or financial issues as their main priority and as a result, their needs in the survivorship period will be heavily affected.

Cancer incidence is higher in the population around +65 years; however, cancer affects also children, adolescents, and young adults. Cancer is experienced differently by patients in different age groups which, consequently, have different needs during cancer survivorship.

Children and their parents may have worries about how cancer can affect their relationship with brothers, sisters, and friends. Young adults most often may have concerns about sexual life, relationship status, their education and job finding, as well as fear of recurrence.

Family caregivers are also a crucial part of the cancer pathway and of the survivorship experience and their needs are most often overlooked. Caregivers' needs differ depending on their age, employment status, their own health condition, and depending on whether the patient is in the acute phase of treatment or in survivorship status. Former caregivers (caregivers of patients who are in remission) could have different needs from current caregivers or bereaved caregivers. Former caregivers' basic needs consist of issues like managing interpersonal relationships or reintegration to family and social life and work. Current caregivers could have as main concerns issues like meeting patients' complex demands, maintaining

intimacy with partners, balancing own and patient's needs, and making decisions in the context of uncertainty. On the other hand, bereaved family caregivers have different needs like managing psychological distress and managing the loss of the patient, often struggling with financial issues that the disease has generated. Research into survivorship issues that will examine the variety of needs that can arise during the survivorship period will contribute to improving survivorship care [1, 24–29].

The Impact of National Disparities on Survivorship Care

Disparities in access to survivorship care are evident and are based on gender, age, ethnicity, geographical location, health status, etc. [30–32]. Different strategies exist for merging these disparities and they have been presented in official documents [33, 34]. Among European countries, different inequalities (between and within countries) exist in early detection, diagnosis, management, treatment, rehabilitation, adequate information, and bureaucratic issues that cancer patients have to deal with [34]. These inequalities are reflected in cancer outcomes, with the underprivileged having worse health outcomes due to worse access to healthcare services during and after the disease.

During the last decades, significant improvements have been achieved in health technology, which have impacted significantly in health outcomes. However, the rate of cancer incidence increases annually. Around 20% and 16.7% of male and female world population respectively will develop cancer in their lifespan and 12.5% and 9% of them will die of cancer [35].

Cancer inequalities, as highlighted in "Challenging the Europe of Disparities in Cancer-A Framework for Improved Survival and Better Quality of Life for European Cancer Patients" [35, 36] divide Europe from East to West and from North to South. Such disparities must be addressed to ensure that the provisions of the EU Beating Cancer Plan can be met and that they can benefit all European citizens.

Western and Northern countries are doing much better than the Southern and Eastern countries [37]. The Western and Northern European countries have better healthcare systems and provide better access to early detection programs and services and try to decrease the financial impact of the disease [38]. In Bulgaria for instance, only 6% of cancer diagnosis was the result of screening programs while the 94% was the result of a medical appointment for another health problem [39]. These disparities exist not only at the screening or diagnosis level but also with cancer treatment. After being disease-free, patients lack sufficient rehabilitation, psychosocial support services, and continuity of care. Cancer survivors report lower health status than before cancer experience, less health information, as well as that their family members do not look for information on cancer and that their income is low [40]. Inequalities in cancer are also illustrated by the fact that survival rates are also much lower in the Southern and Eastern European countries compared to the Northern and Western ones.

Survivorship research is of paramount importance to address the gaps and inequalities in survivorship care. As A. Berns et al. (2020) mention, we need first of all the appropriate infrastructure to translate research into actions. Many times, research just remains in published papers and is not implemented to respond to the needs of people. Involvement of different actors (stakeholders, policymakers, patient coalitions, etc.) in research is a key component of implementation. Implementation of clinical and prevention trials that would include also health economics, therapeutic interventions, and tertiary prevention measures should be a high priority of both researchers and policymakers.

In order to eliminate inequalities, different actions have been undertaken by CDC [41], while the EU Joint Action on Cancer Control (CanCon) has made clear recommendations in this area [42]. Some of the key recommendations proposed by the Joint Action on Cancer Control (CanCon)are [42]:

- 1. Embed equity within the cancer prevention and control policies in all European Union Member States.
- 2. Align cancer prevention and control policies with a Health in all Policies approach.
- 3. Adopt a Health Equity Impact Assessment framework.
- Engage and empower communities and patients in cancer prevention and control activities.
- 5. Support the development of European research programs that help deliver equity in cancer prevention and control in all European Union Member States.
- 6. Improve equitable access and compliance with cancer screening programs.
- 7. Ensure equitable access to timely, high-quality, and multidisciplinary cancer care.
- Ensure equitable access to high-quality surgical care in all European Union Member States.
- 9. Ensure that all patients have timely access to appropriate systemic therapy.
- 10. Develop national cancer rehabilitation and survivorship policies, underpinned by an equity perspective.

The Cancer Stigma and Cancer Advocacy

Despite the improvements in diagnosis, treatment, technology, and life expectancy, cancer continues to be seen as a stigmatizing disease. Stigma relates to cancer as a life-threatening condition [43–45]. Thinking about the disease can remind patients about their feelings at the time of diagnosis and treatment, such as fear, stress, depression, awkwardness, self-criticism, shame, guilt, and low self-esteem. [46, 47]. These feelings emerge because of still prevailing beliefs that a cancer diagnosis is a death sentence [48]. However, stigma does not affect only cancer patients themselves, but it also permeates into and impacts society.

The Joint Action on Cancer Control (CanCon) has paved the way toward reducing the cancer burden within the European Union by proposing policy recommendations aimed at improving the delivery of cancer care and the quality of life of cancer patients and survivors. The policy recommendations coupled with the policy papers that accompany the main deliverable can support EU member states to prioritize cancer on their health agendas and to plan and implement high-quality rehabilitation and survivorship care for their citizens [49].

The focus points proposed by the Joint Action on Cancer Control cover the following aspects:

- 1. The need for a personalized follow-up program for each cancer survivor that includes the management of late effects and foresees the patient's needs for tertiary prevention; such programs should be implemented with the active involvement of survivors and their relatives.
- 2. The need to rethink the early detection of patients' needs and to improve their access to rehabilitation, psychosocial, and palliative care services.
- 3. The need for an integrated and multidisciplinary care framework that would enable the implementation of a survivorship care plan that can enhance patient empowerment and quality of life.
- 4. The need to foresee and address the late effects of cancer and its associated treatments pose to children, adolescents, and young adult survivors.
- 5. The need for enhanced research in survivorship in order to provide data on late effects and to assess the impact and cost-effectiveness of supportive care, rehabilitation, palliative, and psychosocial care interventions [50].

On the other hand, survivorship features high on both current European Commission emblematic initiatives: the European Cancer Plan and the Cancer Mission in Horizon Europe. The EU Cancer Plan was published in February 2021 and aims to deal with the whole disease pathway. The policy document focuses on four core areas, on which the European Commission will concentrate its efforts: prevention, early detection, diagnosis, cancer treatment and quality of life. The EU Cancer Plan aims to foster European collaboration and support EU member states to strengthen their national cancer plans as well as to be better prepared for future challenges. The EU Cancer Plan focuses more on new approaches to cancer with a specific focus on new technologies, research, and innovation, in order to provide better patient-centered services [51]. Patient-centeredness is also closely connected with the "Cancer Mission", the new research and innovation program in health, included in Horizon Europe [52].

To impact society at large, the Mission on Cancer aims at bringing countries together to achieve a significant reduction of the enormous EU cancer burden and improve the quality of life of patients by promoting cost-effective, evidence-based best practices in cancer prevention, treatment, and care [1]. The main goal for the implementation of a mission-oriented approach to cancer in Horizon Europe was to achieve a 10-year cancer-specific survival for three-quarters of the adult patients diagnosed in the year 2030 in the Member States with a well-developed healthcare system [1, 12]. However, achieving this goal poses significant medical, socioeconomic, legal, and political challenges.

Positioned as the last component of the cancer research continuum and an integral part of translational research, survivorship research can influence the assessment of multiple patient outcomes, including the health-related quality of life and the socioeconomic factors impacting survivorship. Any data collection from cancer survivors may be useful to detect and reduce long-term side effects of treatment, as well as to improve rehabilitation and psychosocial services [49].

The development of pertinent strategies, aiming to address the long-term effects of cancer treatment and to improve the health-related quality of life of cancer patients, should pay particular attention to the gaps between research and cancer care and prevention that can be found in areas such as psychosocial oncology, supportive care, rehabilitation, palliative care, and survivorship. Outcomes research is key for both therapeutic interventions and the effectiveness of public health services and interventions. A high-quality cancer care requires multidisciplinary expertise and adequate resources, together with high-quality data. Furthermore, due to the expansion of new evidence for diagnostics and therapy, innovation is essential and should be tailored to the individual needs of patients. Integrating cancer care and prevention with research and education will boost innovation and deliver a comprehensive multidisciplinary cancer care framework [1, 11, 12, 35, 36, 46–55].

Concluding Remarks

Europe counts currently 20 million cancer survivors and cured patients who, in most EU member states, do not receive any rehabilitation and survivorship care. The EU Cancer Plan sets an ambitious goal to be reached by 2030: a 10-year survival of 75% for cancer patients and living well after cancer.

Improvement of research and decrease of health inequalities in cancer care by improving cancer screening, early detection, equal access to treatment, and followup care are key strategies for European countries to reach the above goal. Provision of patient-centered services that focus on research, empowerment, education, and multidisciplinary care delivery should be the standard cancer care approach. Synergies among patients, researchers, civil society, stakeholders, and policymakers can help in establishing the patient-centric approach in the years to come, which is our key recommendation, which is also the core of the EU Cancer Plan.

Despite the high incidence of cancer, and abundant literature on health-related quality of life, patient-centricity, patient involvement in their care, there is a lack of concrete policies to ensure rehabilitation and lifelong survivorship care. Establishment of survivorship clinics in cancer centers, where multidisciplinary teams provide services can help in better rehabilitation and reintegration in social life and work. The multidisciplinary teams of these clinics can empower patients and provide tertiary prevention. Adaptation of patients to a healthier lifestyle can improve survivorship and health-related quality of life. Provision of detailed information and self-management education will decrease stress and make patients feel more confident and relying more on information from their medical team rather than from various Internet sources. The cancer survivorship care plan offering information about the patient's diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up care [14] should become integrated into the discharge instructions of cancer patients across Europe. It will help any healthcare provider whom the cancer survivor will consult to have a clear picture of the patient's prior cancer experience, adverse events, and follow-up care. Digital health can play an important role, particularly in cancer supportive care settings, aiming to offer to cancer patients and survivors tools and assistance to cope with cancer care issues, and at the same time, improving the efficiency of the healthcare system and liberating health professionals time for taking care of patients in the acute phase [1, 2, 7]. Survivorship research and care will become increasingly important in the following years, as a result of the increasing numbers of "cured" patients and cancer survivors.

References

- Berns A, Ringborg U, Celis JE, Heitor M, Aaronson NK, Abou-Zeid N, Adami HO, Apostolidis K, Baumann M, Bardelli A, Bernards R. Towards a cancer mission in Horizon Europe: recommendations. Mol Oncol. 2020;14(8):1589–615.
- 2. Guzzinati S, Virdone S, De Angelis R, et al. Characteristics of people living in Italy after a cancer diagnosis in 2010 and projections to 2020. BMC Cancer. 2018;18:169.
- Colonna M, Boussari O, Cowppli-Bony A, et al. Time trends and short term projections of cancer prevalence in France. Cancer Epidemiol. 2018;56:97–105.
- 4. National Cancer Institute. https://www.cancer.gov Accessed on 6 March 2021.
- Dal Maso L, Panato C, Tavilla A, et al. The cure of cancer in Europe: results from the EUROCARE-5 study for 32 cancer types. Int J Epidemiol. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/ dyaa128.
- 6. Dal Maso L, Guzzinati S, Buzzoni C, et al. Long-term survival, prevalence, and cure of cancer: a population-based estimation for 818,902 Italian patients and 26 cancer types. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:2251–60.
- AIRTUM Working Group. Italian cancer figures, report 2014. Prevalence and cure of cancer in Italy. Epidemiol Prev. 2014;38(Suppl 1):S1–S144. https://www.registri-tumori.it/cms/ pubblicazioni/i-tumori-italia-rapporto-2014-prevalenza-e-guarigione-da-tumore-italia
- 8. Forum NC, National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Long-Term Survivorship Care After Cancer Treatment: Proceedings of a Workshop.
- Halpern MT, Viswanathan M, Evans TS, Birken SA, Basch E, Mayer DK. Models of cancer survivorship care: overview and summary of current evidence. J Oncol Pract. 2015;11(1):e19–27.
- de Lorenzo F, Apostolidis K. The European Cancer Patient Coalition and its central role in connecting stakeholders to advance patient-centric solutions in the mission on cancer. Mol Oncol. 2019;13(3):653–66.
- 11. European Commission. Conquering cancer: mission possible. 2020.
- 12. Celis JE, Pavalkis D. A mission-oriented approach to cancer in Europe: a joint mission/vision 2030. Mol Oncol. 2017;11:1661–72.
- Berns A, Ringborg U, Celis JE, Heitor M, Aaronson NK, et al. Towards a cancer mission in Horizon Europe: recommendations. Mol Oncol. 2020;14:1589–615.
- 14. ESMO Patient guide on survivorship. European Society of Medical Oncology.
- 15. Survivorship. Doctor approved patient information from American Society for Clinical Oncology.
- 16. Survivorship Care Plans. American Cancer Society.
- 17. Cancer treatment & survivorship facts & figures. American Cancer Society.
- 18. Ganz PA, Casillas J, Hahn EH. Ensuring quality care for cancer survivors: implementing the survivorship care plan. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2008;3(24):208–17.

- Stout NL, Silver JK, Alfano CM, Ness KK, Gilchrist LS. Long-term survivorship care after cancer treatment: a new emphasis on the role of rehabilitation services. Phys Ther. 2019;99(1):10–3. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/pzy115.
- 20. Survivorship and Rehabilitation from CanCon (Cancer Control Joint Action).
- Dennett AM, Elkins MR. Cancer rehabilitation. J Physiother. 2020;66(2):70–2. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jphys.2020.03.004. Epub 2020 Apr 11
- Hunter EG, Gibson RW, Arbesman M, D'Amico M. Systematic review of occupational therapy and adult cancer rehabilitation: part 1. Impact of physical activity and symptom management interventions. Am J Occup Ther. 2017;71(2):7102100030p1-7102100030p11. https://doi. org/10.5014/ajot.2017.023564.
- 23. Albreht T, Andrés JB, Dalmas M, De Lorenzo F, Ferrari C, Honing C, Huovinen R, Kaasa S, Kiasuwa R, Knudsen AK, Ko W. Survivorship and rehabilitation: policy recommendations for quality improvement in cancer survivorship and rehabilitation in EU Member States. European Guide on Quality Improvement in Comprehensive Cancer Control. Scientific Institute of Public Health, National Institute of Public Health, Brussels. 2017.
- Mayer DK, Nasso SF, Earp JA. Defining cancer survivors, their needs, and perspectives on survivorship health care in the USA. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(1):e11–e18. https://doi.org/10.1016/ \$1470-2045(16)30573-3. PMID: 28049573.
- 25. Ganz P. Survivorship: adult cancer survivors. Prim Care Clin Office Pract. 2009;36:721-41.
- 26. Cancer treatment & survivorship facts & figures 2016–2017. American Cancer Society.
- Shakeel S, Tung J, Rahal R, Finley C. Evaluation of factors associated with unmet needs in adult cancer survivors in Canada. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(3):e200506. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.0506. PMID: 32142127; PMCID: PMC7060489
- Jacobsen PB, Nipp RD, Ganz PA. Addressing the survivorship care needs of patients receiving extended cancer treatment. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. 2017;37:674–83. https://doi. org/10.1200/EDBK_175673.
- Kim Y, Carver CS, Ting A. Family caregivers' unmet needs in long-term cancer survivorship. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2019;35(4):380–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2019.06.012. Epub 2019 Jun 20. PMID: 31230929; PMCID: PMC6660396
- 30. National Research Council. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. National Academies Press; 2005.
- Yabroff KR, Lawrence WF, Clauser S, Davis WW, Brown ML. Burden of illness in cancer survivors: findings from a population-based national sample. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2004;96(17):1322–30.
- Weaver KE, Geiger AM, Lu L, Case LD. Rural-urban disparities in health status among US cancer survivors. Cancer. 2013;119(5):1050–7.
- 33. US Department of Health and Human Services. National Prevention Council, National Prevention Strategy. Washington, DC: US Office of the Surgeon General; 2011.
- European Cancer Patient Coalition (2015) Challenging the Europe of disparities in cancer. http://www.ecpc.org/ activities/policy-and-advocacy/policy-initiatives/europeof-disparities (accessed 6 March 2021).
- 35. Lawler M, Le Chevalier T, Murphy MJ, Banks I, Conte P, De Lorenzo F, Meunier F, Pinedo HM, Selby P, et al. A catalyst for change: the European cancer patient's bill of rights. Oncologist. 2014:1–8.
- 36. Challenging the Europe of disparities in cancer—a framework for improved survival and better quality of life for European cancer patients on behalf of the Europe of disparities in cancer— Working Group (Chair: Lawler M, Members: Apostolidis K., Banks I., Florindi F., Militaru M., Price R., Sullivan R., de Lorenzo F.
- De Angelis R, Sant M, Coleman M, Francisci S, Baili P, Pierannunzio D, et al. Cancer survival in Europe 1999–2007 by country and age: results of EUROCARE-5-a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(1):23–34.
- Solar O, Irwin A. A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health. Geneve: World Health Organization; 2010.

- 39. Euractive. Tackling disparities in cancer care across the central and eastern European region. https://www.euractiv.com/section/health-consumers/opinion/tackling-disparities-in-cancercare-across-the-central-and-eastern-european-region/#_blank Accessed on 6 March 2021.
- Jung M, Ramanadhan S, Viswanath K. Effect of information seeking and avoidance behavior on self-rated health status among cancer survivors. Patient Educ Couns. 2013;92(1):100–6.
- Smith JL, Hall IJ. Advancing health equity in cancer survivorship: opportunities for public health. Am J Prev Med. 2015;49(6):S477–82.
- 42. Peiró Pérez R, Molina Barceló A, De Lorenzo F, et al. Policy paper on tackling social inequalities in cancer prevention and control for the European population. https://cancercontrol.eu/ archived/uploads/PolicyPapers27032017/Policy_Paper_4_Tackling.pdf.
- 43. Yılmaz M, Dissiz G, Usluoğlu AK, Iriz S, Demir F, Alacacioglu A. Cancer-related stigma and depression in cancer patients in a middle-income country. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs. 2019;7(1):95–102. https://doi.org/10.4103/apjon.apjon_45_19.
- 44. Ernst J, Mehnert A, Dietz A, et al. Perceived stigmatization and its impact on quality of life results from a large register-based study including breast, colon, prostate and lung cancer patients. BMC Cancer. 2017;17:741. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-017-3742-2.
- 45. Williamson TJ, Choi AK, Kim JC, Garon EB, Shapiro JR, Irwin MR, Goldman JW, Bornyazan K, Carroll JM, Stanton AL. A longitudinal investigation of internalized stigma, constrained disclosure, and quality of life across 12 weeks in lung cancer patients on active oncologic treatment. J Thorac Oncol. 2018;13(9):1284–93.,ISSN 1556-0864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtho.2018.06.018.
- 46. Vrinten C, Gallagher A, Waller J, Marlow LA. Cancer stigma and cancer screening attendance: a population based survey in England. BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):1.
- Margetic BA, Kukulj S, Galic K, Zolj BS, Jakšić N. Personality and stigma in lung cancer patients. Psychiatr Danub. 2020;32(4):S528–32.
- 48. Agustina E, Dodd RH, Waller J, Vrinten C. Understanding middle-aged and older adults' first associations with the word "cancer": a mixed methods study in England. Psycho-Oncology. 2018;27(1):309–15.
- Cancer Control Joint Action (CanCon), 2017. https://www.cancercontrol.eu/, Accessed on 6 March 2021.
- European Guide on Quality Improvement in Comprehensive Cancer Control, Chapter 7– Survivorship and Rehabilitation, 2017.
- 51. European Commission. Communication from the commission to the European parliament and the council Europe's beating cancer plan. Brussels, 3.2.2021.
- 52. European Commission. Horizon Europe. The Commission's proposal for Horizon Europe, strategic planning, implementation, news, related links. https://ec.europa.eu/info/horizon-europe_en, Accessed on 6 March 2021.
- 53. Sontag S. Illness as metaphor and AIDS and its metaphors. Macmillan; 2001.
- 54. Dumas A, Allodji R, Fresneau B, Valteau-Couanet D, El-Fayech C, Pacquement H, Laprie A, Nguyen TD, Bondiau PY, Diallo I, et al. The right to be forgotten: a change in access to insurance and loans after childhood cancer? J Cancer Surviv. 2017;11:431–7.
- 55. Lagergren P, Schandl A, Aaronson NK, Adami H-O, de Lorenzo F, Denis L, Faithfull S, Liu L, Meunier F, Ulrich C. Cancer survivorship: an integral part of Europe's research agenda. Mol Oncol. 2019:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/1878-0261.12428.



3

"There is Life after Cancer": The Medical, Psychological, Social and Financial Challenges of Cancer Survivors at the End of the Active Treatment

Grazia Scocca and Françoise Meunier

Introduction

The proportion of cancer survivors is increasing by 3% every year and in 2018 more than 12 million cancer survivors have been estimated in Europe.

Furthermore, in 2040, data predict an increasing number of oncological diseases will affect the European population, with +36% of diagnosis prior to the age of 69.

These data highlight the concerns about cancer diseases as an issue to tackle across the domains of medical science, policymakers, legislators, and the private sector.

In the last decades, important progress has been accomplished to strengthen prevention and ensure early detection as well as more effective therapies. Along with increasing knowledge about cancer disease, these developments remarkably improved cancer survival in the last years. To date, about half of patients who are diagnosed with cancer will survive for 10 years or more [1, 2].

The increase in the prevalence of cancer calls for the need for continuous monitoring of prevalence indicators to properly plan and allocate resources to cancer care, aiming to improve the quality of life of cancer survivors.

Whether being cured (disease-free) or not, cancer survivors do experience late and long-term effects of treatment, emotional distress, and fear of tumor recurrence. These effects represent challenges for health care systems, which have to ensure appropriate follow-up care and to promote optimal quality of life: moving from "how long" patient live after diagnosis to "how well" survivor can expect to live from diagnosis onward [3].

G. Scocca (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

European Cancer Patients Coalition (ECPC), Brussels, Belgium e-mail: grazia.scocca@ecpc.org

F. Meunier Member of the Royal Academy of Medicine of Belgium, Brussels, Belgium

Member of the Scientific Committee of ECPC, Brussels, Belgium e-mail: doctormeunier@fmeunier.eu

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_3

For this purpose, the contribution wants to promote an investigation on the main issues concerning the medical, psychological, social, and financial aspects of life after cancer. The analysis aims to highlight the needs in terms of research along with the political and legal measures to implement, necessary to improve the quality of life and social rehabilitation of cancer survivors in the European area.

The structure of the article includes a preliminary focus on the notions of the quality of life and rehabilitation, and which will be at the basis of the argumentation to tackle the main challenges to promote the rights of cancer survivors.

The analysis will move then to analyze the issues linked to the late effects of the treatments, the psychological aspects, and the impact of socioeconomic life of cancer survivors.

Life after Cancer and the Notion of the Quality of Life

Cancer prevalence rates are still increasing in the European Union, leading to a growing population of people living with or beyond cancer. The concept of survivorship goes beyond patients who are fully cured and encompasses various situations patients have to face after the completion of the active treatment period. This may include former patients in remission or fully cured and who would need to return to normal activity; along with patients with recurrence after a prolonged period of remission who may receive new courses of treatment with curative intent. Survivorship also includes patients who live with incurable cancer as a "chronic disease" and receive life-prolonging treatment or palliative care.

Whether being cured (disease-free) or not, cancer survivors do experience late and long-term effects of treatment, emotional distress, and fear of tumor recurrence.

Therefore, the challenges for health care policy and cancer survivorship planning need to incorporate both the objective of "how long" a patient lives after diagnosis as well as "how well" the patient can expect to live from diagnosis onward. Consequently, the focus is progressively shifting toward the expectations for the quality of survival both after curative treatment and while living with recurrent disease.

The Council of the European Union invited the Member States to "take into account the psycho-social needs of patients and improve the quality of life for cancer patients through support, rehabilitation, and palliative care" [4].

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines the quality of life as "individuals' perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns. It is a broad-ranging concept, incorporating in a complex way individuals' physical health, psychological state, level of independence, social relationships, personal beliefs, and their relationships to salient features of their environment" [5].

Quality of life is a multidimensional construct, individual-centered because the individual must evaluate his or her functioning across several domains [6]. According to the definition provided, quality of life encompasses physical functioning, emotional functioning, social functioning, role functioning, and overall quality of life. Against this background, physical functioning refers to the impact of physical health on daily activities such as self-care and ambulation. Emotional functioning describes depression and anxiety. In cancer-related measures, this also includes fears about illness and recurrence. Social functioning refers to the ability to engage in meaningful social interactions, activities, and relationships. Role functioning indicates the degree to which individuals can carry out their usual roles at home, school, work, and in the community. Finally, the overall quality of life refers to individuals' global assessment of functioning in all domains of life [6].

In the aim to assess late effects and health-related quality of life (HRQL) of cancer survivors, the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) having a long tradition of Quality of life research has developed a cancer survivorship assessment strategy. It consists of a survivorship core questionnaire that can be used as a stand-alone questionnaire or in combination with a cancer sitespecific (survivorship) module [7]. The project is also the most recent study collecting data about the quality of life of cancer survivors.

The study identified 116 generic survivorship issues, and on average, 26 sitespecific survivorship issues per tumor site. It confirms as relevant issues for cancer survivors experienced the feelings of uncertainty about the future, fears related to recurrence of cancer, fears and worries concerning family members, feelings of depression and anger, feelings that others do not understand the impact of cancer, positive impact on social relationships, positive changes in (perception of) life, negative body image, cognitive problems, fatigue, sleeping problems, pain, sexual problems, and dealing with the chronic physical consequences of cancer. Over 30% of the issues were related to physical functioning, including chronic physical effects of cancer and its treatment, like Raynaud symptoms, neuropathy, joint pain, and muscle cramps. These issues receive relatively little attention [7].

Against this background, cancer rehabilitation plays a crucial role. Dietz has classified cancer rehabilitation according to cancer patients' physical and individual needs into four categories: preventive, restorative, supportive, and palliative [8]. Based on these categories, the effectiveness of rehabilitation has been reported for each stage of cancer treatment. In view of these situations, Dietz has pointed out that it will be necessary to focus on a concept of care that asks, "What is the best support that can be provided to enable cancer patients to readapt to society" [9]. On the other side, DeLisa has stated that "now that cancer patients" survival rate has increased, attention should be turned to maintaining cancer patients "QOL and prolonging it" [10]. In other words, a shift to an approach that aims to maintain the QOL of patients at a high level and not just improve their function and prognosis has become necessary. More recently, Silver et al. defined cancer rehabilitation as "medical care that should be integrated throughout the oncology care continuum and delivered by trained rehabilitation professionals who have it within their scope of practice to diagnose and treat patients' physical, psychological and cognitive impairments in an effort to maintain or restore function, reduce symptom burden, maximize independence and improve quality of life in this medically complex population" [11].

Dealing with survivorship and rehabilitation service requirements is a relatively new notion in cancer policy and several countries are still grappling with the issues of starting to develop policy and strategy stances of how to respond to these "new" demands. Emerging knowledge and demonstrated good practice are recommending several strategies to help address the complex issues associated with cancer survivorship [3].

Improving the Medical Dimension of Survivorship Care

As already mentioned, the end of cancer treatment does not signal the end of cancer care. In the survivorship phase, all aspects of the individual's well-being must be considered, including long-term physical effects of treatment, together with psychological, social, and economic needs.

Focusing on the first ones, in particular, cancer survivors have multiple medical conditions, often related to the late and long-term effects of their initial cancer treatment as well as conditions related to premature aging (e.g., fatigue, cognitive changes, decreased physical functioning) [12]. More specifically, the physical after-effects of cancer can be divided into two categories: long-term effects and late effects.

Long-term effects of treatment are those that arise during initial treatment and persist after treatment ends. This category includes pain, physical limitations, fatigue, cognitive difficulties, and sexual problems.

Late effects of treatment are usually experienced as new health problems, appearing months to years later. The latter can include lymphedema, hypothyroidism, cardiac or respiratory problems, or secondary malignancies [13]. Despite an outcome of positive prognosis from the treatment of primary cancer these effects often contribute to increased morbidity for cancer survivors.

In this sense, according to the growing number of cancer survivors, the promotion of long-term health needs to be a central goal of survivorship care, ensuring surveillance and preventive interventions necessary to reduce and manage those health risks [12].

Screening for long-term effects can allow for earlier intervention and management of these concerns as well as risk stratification for intervention. Routine followup care should include standardized symptom assessments to facilitate earlier intervention in those with persistent difficulties.

Early inclusion of rehabilitation services represents another important component of survivorship care. Rehabilitation may benefit high-risk patients (e.g., frail, elderly, and those undergoing complex surgery), and specialized rehabilitation can help survivors in their physical recovery from primary treatments [14]. Rehabilitation services are especially appropriate for the management of the physical needs of survivors, including pain and symptom control.

The design and implementation of models of care require approaches that are not only disease-focused but take a holistic approach to survivorship care by addressing patients' physical, psychosocial, and spiritual needs.

In this context, cancer survivors need to be educated about expectations after their treatment ends and how they should be monitored for the late effects of cancer treatment. This must be facilitated by ensuring that their clinicians, including the full spectrum of primary care providers and specialists, as well as allied health professionals, have comprehensive education and training about the long-term and late effects of cancer and its treatment [12].

The same approach has been recommended in the recent update on the ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline on the management of cancer-related fatigue (CRF), released by the European Society for Medical Oncology. The document provides key recommendations on the management of cancer-related fatigue, advising on shared decision-making between patients and health care professionals. The guidelines stress the role of education and counseling as essential for helping cancer patients anticipate and cope with fatigue that may be associated with their disease or related to their cancer treatments [15].

Europe has no formalized indications on how survivorship care should be organized. There are many recommendations and policy efforts, but no generic practical approach has been established yet.

Recently the debate has been focused on the necessity of specialized cancer survivorship clinical structures within or outside the Comprehensive cancer centers (CCCs), to address the need for infrastructures/facilities for long-term follow-up and support of cancer survivors [16].

The challenge is to decide how survivorship care should be organized, whether in specialized survivorship clinics as in the United States, in rehabilitation clinics as in Germany, or according to an entirely different approach [16].

Long-term follow-up is particularly relevant for pediatric and young cancer patients. In the Netherlands, all seven pediatric oncology centers have established a survivorship clinic for survivors of childhood cancer. Care focuses on education, early detection of late effects, and coordination of care for all 5-year survivors of childhood cancer. Risk-based surveillance is based on the Dutch Children's Oncology Group Long-Term Follow-Up Guidelines [17, 18].

In the same context, the PanCareFollowUp is an ongoing EU Founded project aimed at improving the care of young adults who have survived childhood cancer [19].

Large differences persist in health care systems and culture concerning health care between the European countries. However, all European Union citizens should have equal access to optimal survivorship care [20].

Survivorship care needs to be accessible, affordable, and equitable. In this sense further efforts to accelerate the pace at which evidence-based knowledge is translated into improved clinical practice are needed [12].

The Psychological aspects of Survivorship Cancer Care

Cancer and its treatment have a significant impact on the quality of life of patients and their families and carers.

Experiencing cancer has positive effects on a significant portion of individuals, including strengthened relationships, a sense of gratitude or empowerment, and an increased appreciation for life [21]. On the other side, a substantial proportion of

cancer patients and survivors can experience high levels of cancer-related distress and may develop more serious mental health problems such as adjustment disorders, anxiety disorders, and depression [22, 23]. Studies on childhood cancer survivors confirm largely similar findings [24–27].

Distress can result from the fear of recurrence or death, or secondary to physical, social, or practical problems. Indeed, as many as 19% of survivors meet the criteria for post-traumatic stress disorder [21].

The mentioned conditions can negatively impact the well-being and quality of life of cancer survivors and may require specialized psychosocial care. Psychosocial problems also affect the patient's family with a consequent increase in emotional distress among the patient's caregivers.

The impact of psychosocial disorders for patients and families is of paramount importance in oncology since psychiatric morbidity is associated with the reduction of quality of life, impairment in social relationships, longer rehabilitation time, poor adherence to treatment and abnormal illness behavior, and possibly shorter survival [28–30]. Significant levels of burden and emotional distress have been also reported to affect family members and there is evidence that unrecognized and unmet psychosocial needs are an important predictor of psychological morbidity in caregivers in every phase of the illness [28–30].

Patients' and their family supportive care needs must be an important component of quality comprehensive cancer care [31].

Historically, psychosocial support has been neglected in cancer treatment [32, 33]. Access to psychological intervention during survivorship can be difficult, either because of patients' reluctance or because insufficient care is offered [3, 34].

Over the past years, the collaboration between the associations of oncologists, surgeons, radiation oncologists, anesthesiologists, psychiatrists, and other mental health professionals have provided the implementation of guidelines on psychosocial care in cancer in many different countries, included in Europe, the United States, Canada, and Australia [28, 35–37].

According to what is mentioned, recommendations regarding screening, assessment, and intervention to psychiatric and psychosocial disorders are considered mandatory in every cancer center, institute, hospital, including primary care and a key component of the health care system [28].

However, social inequalities still exist, in part because of the lack of resources in several areas of the world as well as the significant economic constraints within the health systems of many countries, including in Europe [3].

The Impacts of Cancer in the Socioeconomic Lives of Cancer Survivors

The fight against cancer can be a broad experience of leaving that goes beyond the cancer diagnosis. One-third of cancer survivors in Europe are of working age and they face several challenges in the social reintegration into society after beating cancer [38]. Deterioration of physical, mental, and social quality of life in

survivorship is strongly connected to precarious situations (e.g., low income, unemployment, and other socially disadvantageous positions) [3, 39].

The main difficulties in the socioeconomic lives of cancer survivors are related to stigma and discrimination, which prevent the effective rehabilitation and social reintegration of former patients. These new challenges have been highlighted during the three consecutive EORTC cancer Survivorship summits in 2014 [40], 2016 [41], and 2018 [42] with the aim to increase awareness of the societal problems. In light of what is mentioned the next section will focus on two main examples of social issues related to life after cancer. The latter concern the return to work and access to loans, mortgages, and life insurances.

Return to Work after Cancer

A total of 2.7 million new cases of cancer (excluding non-melanoma skin cancers) are diagnosed yearly in Europe. More than half of patients experience a cancer diagnosis in working age when career and employment-related issues play an important role in individual and family life [43, 44].

Thanks to the improvements in early diagnostic methods and effective therapeutic strategies, survival rate of cancer patients is growing, reaching 54.2%, 5 years after the diagnosis of a malignant tumor [45]. Of this latter, more than one-third are cancer survivors of the working age [38].

Return to work has a key role in the strategic approach of rehabilitation for cancer survivors, and an increasing number of data is addressing the difficulties of being back to work as a cancer survivor [38, 46].

Several review articles from both the United States and the European Union have summarized return-to-work studies, reporting average return-to-work rates of approximately 64%, with a wide range between 24% and 94% [47–50]). As a result, return to work rates may differ significantly from one country to another and from the employment status either as an employee or as a self-employed [51].

Research shows that the risk of unemployment among cancer survivors is 1.4 times higher than among people who have never been diagnosed with cancer [52]. Overall, studies have indicated a steady increase in return to work with increasing time intervals after a cancer diagnosis [53].

Return to work for a cancer survivor is a major goal, and a very important achievement to succeed in being back to normal life, recovering his/her social role and personal identity with positive effects also on health. Social psychologists have documented how work is important to one self-concept, esteem, and quality of life [54].

However, many cancer survivors face long-term symptoms and impairments after treatment ends. The most frequently reported symptom was a diminished level of energy, described as chronic fatigue or exhaustion, and emotional strain due to the ongoing battle with cancer. This is common across cancer types [55, 56]. The next most reported consequences were other physical, mental, and cognitive health implications [57].

These symptoms and impairments can affect the workability of survivors, making it more difficult to remain in or reenter the job market. According to the main experiences reported, patients have been fired or forced to quit because of their cancer diagnosis or treatment. Others experienced denied promotion, denied employment as a result of their cancer, and inability to obtain health insurance. In these contexts, on several occasions, the employer lacks empathy and may be resistant to adjust job responsibilities to accommodate the employees needs [57].

Some other former patients noticed issues between coworkers' attitudes toward colleagues as cancer survivors [57].

Differences are reported by some studies, stating that manual work, selfemployment, and working in the private sector were factors that negatively affect the return to work of cancer survivors. Studies also revealed that the workload, as assessed by cancer survivors was an important factor that negatively affects their return to work [56].

Some studies also state that being female negatively affected the resumption of work [54]. In addition, having children and/or living with a partner seems to act as protective factors while, being single, widowed, or divorced negatively influenced employment status [54].

Perceived employer accommodation for cancer-related and treatment-related symptoms and side effects, long-term or late effects, and follow-up medical visits has been identified as a strong predictor of return to work [47, 53, 55]. In cancer survivors, a return-to-work meeting with the employer as well as advice from a physician about work, flexible working conditions, counseling, miscellaneous training services, job replacement services, job search assistance, and other relative support were factors significantly associated with a greater likelihood of being employed among cancer survivors in both the United Kingdom and the United States [53, 58]. Studies from European countries, such as Finland, Germany, and the Netherlands, identified younger age, higher levels of education, absence of surgery, fewer physical symptoms, shorter duration of sick leave, male gender, and Caucasian ethnicity as variables that were predictive of or associated with return to work [48, 59, 60].

Against this background, the return to work support should be integrated early into the cancer care pathway, exploring the feasibility of adequate or progressive resumption of work, and raising awareness of employers about working conditions [61–63]. In this respect, keeping in touch with colleagues at work helped cancer survivors to return to work (even partially) quicker. It also allowed a better understanding of colleagues regarding the cancer survivors' limitations and helped cancer survivor limitation and helped them to tailor their work adequately [56, 64].

Supporting cancer survivors in employment-related issues with psychosocial interventions is particularly important, ideally immediately after diagnosis and during treatment [65]. The process should be oriented to a person-centered approach, taking into account determinants, such as diagnosis and prognosis, medical and nonmedical treatments, intra- and interpersonal factors, patient values, aspirations and priorities, the attitude of colleagues, job demands, and so on [3].

Strategies of resumption of work for cancer survivors can be oriented to employees or the work environment and employers. The first approach aims at ensuring the employability of cancer survivors. Work environment-directed interventions aim at adapting workplace environment, equipment, tasks, and working time patterns to the needs of the cancer survivor [3]. Regarding employment and return-to-work issues, there are some good examples of regulations for the protection of cancer survivors and their relatives.

As an example, in 2003 and then in 2007 Italy approved a law stating on the right for cancer patients (working in the private and the public sector) to switch from fulltime to part-time positions while under treatment, and to reverse to full-time according to their needs and capability [66, 67]. Within the same legal framework, relatives (caregivers) of cancer patients are given priority over part-time applications as long as there are positions available [68].

The CanCon Guide reported 78 good practice examples of returning to work support policies, systems, programs, and instruments for people diagnosed with cancer. The examples were collected from 13 EU countries, the USA, and Australia. The initiatives showed that return to work is influenced by the institutional context of a country, especially the length of paid sick leave. Besides, the early intervention or paying attention to return to work early in the illness process appeared to be important in every program. Although, the analysis confirms the need for cooperation between different stakeholders, including the cancer survivor and his/her family, the employer, health care professionals, and occupational rehabilitation experts, as an important element for a positive impact on the resumption of the work process.

In this context, another important instrument is the "Rehabilitation and return to work after cancer—instruments and practices" project, commissioned by the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA) [55]. The project studied the issues surrounding rehabilitation and return to work after a cancer diagnosis, and the problems encountered by workers affected by cancer and their employers in the EU area. Furthermore, the final report has been published in 2018, including recommendations for instruments, practices, policies, and interventions to successfully support the return to work of workers affected by cancer.

Access to Financial Instruments and the Right to Be Forgotten

Socioeconomic issues experienced by cancer survivors Europe are also related to obstacles to access to financial services, such as mortgages, loans and life, or travel insurance.

Having a history of cancer often represents an obstacle for former patients to access the mentioned instruments. According to the experiences reported by cancer survivors, the main issues noticed rely on the denial directly from the bank, or the need to contract life insurance to ensure the credit [42, 69, 70]. Also in those circumstances, no insurer may agree to provide a contract, other than through charging an additional insurance premium or the warranty exclusion provision.

Bankers and insurers have difficulties assessing the risks associated with such a complex disease and its risk of relapse. As the progress of cancer treatments is rapidly improving the prognosis of many patients, up-to-date information is still often lacking, and risk assessments are made on outdated data or models.

The inadequacy of specific criteria uniformly applied by private actors contributes to generating a fragmented assessment practice, mainly self-regulated by the same companies, with a lack of transparency and monitoring control. The exclusion of cancer survivors to contract life insurance and the other financial instruments, make property ownership difficult or even impossible in some countries. This situation can induce a double penalty feeling for cancer survivors, hindering many of them from coming back to a normal life. Beyond successful treatment, social and professional reintegration is important to restore a sense of normalcy after surviving cancer, which is key to a patient's remission.

In this regard, further studies and investigation should be performed to investigate the impact of those denials as indirect issues connected to the financial stress faced by cancer survivors and their families [71].

To face this issue, in the last years, France, Belgium, Luxembourg and the Netherlands adopted legislative initiatives recognizing a Right to be forgotten for cancer survivors. The latter have in common the principle to ensure access to financial instruments for cancer survivors once they achieve complete remission.

The provisions state that in the context of the mentioned financial instruments, the period beyond which no medical information relating to the previous cancerous disease can be collected or taken into consideration by insurance organisms may not exceed ten years after the end of treatment. The laws also include a list of exceptions for cancers with an excellent prognosis having shorter delays to recognise the Right to be forgotten. Besides France, Luxembourg and the Netherlands introduced a reduced delay for cancers diagnosed before the age of eighteen (in Luxembourg) or twenty-one years old (in France and the Netherlands) benefit of the Right to be forgotten five years after the end of the active treatment, with the condition of no relapse all along the same period.

Recently, the Portuguese Parliament voted on a draft proposal that could lead to implementing the Right to be forgotten in Portugal by summer 2022.

Concerns about the socioeconomic issues experienced by survivors of cancer across Europe have been raised also at the EU level. In this regard, an important step forward was the inclusion of the Right to Be Forgotten as a priority to tackle in Europe's Beating Cancer Plan, presented by the EU Commission in February 2021 [72, 73]. Lately, the Interim Report of the Mission Board for Cancer included the Right to be forgotten among the recommendations to the EU Member States to counteract discrimination and to ensure equality [72, 73].

Against this background, a pan-European solution based on the implementation of the Right to be forgotten is the best approach to tackle the issue. The EU Action would provide a common regulatory framework among the Member States to avoid discrimination and ensuring equality among EU citizens who experienced cancer.

Conclusion

In the aim to highlight the need to prioritize cancer survivorship issues in the European area, the contribution examined some key aspects related to the challenges of life after cancer. Describing data, research, and the main policies ongoing, the analysis provided an overview of the complexity of a health care strategy, with a multidisciplinary approach and patient-centered orientation.

Facing the increasing number of cancer survivors, improvements in cancer care are needed to ensure the highest standard of quality of life, promoting equality, social inclusion, and the dignity of cancer patients and cancer survivors.

As part of the rehabilitation approach, the societal issues (such as access to work, education, insurance, loan, mortgage, and financial toxicity) faced by long-term cancer survivors should be evaluated and prioritized in the survivorship research agenda.

Besides, early implementation and good communication between all relevant stakeholders are essential for effective rehabilitation interventions, and cancer survivors' care programs.

Another important aspect concerns the need to increase the collection of data and further research, to assess the effective status of cancer survivors in Europe and share good practices between the EU Member States.

Against this background, the Interim Report of the Mission Board for Cancer confirmed the necessity to develop an EU-wide research program and policy support to improve the quality of life of cancer patients and survivors, family members and carers, through cross-sector interventions, including regulatory and social measures. Moreover, the initiative stressed the need for a common EU project to collect and share data for cancer research [72, 73].

Recently, the European Academy of Cancer Sciences (EACS) and several European organizations provided a list of recommendations for the implementation of a mission-oriented approach to cancer in Horizon Europe. The document included the necessity to improve survivorship research as a key element to develop effective survivorship care models [16].

Among these initiatives, it is important to mention the release of the European Code of Cancer Practice [74]. The document is a citizen and patient-centered manifesto of the core requirements for good clinical cancer practice, to improve outcomes for all of Europe's cancer patients. The Code focuses on informing and assisting cancer patients at all stages of their cancer journey. The quality of life, together with cancer survivorship and rehabilitation are among the 10 key overarching rights that patients should expect from their health system. The initiative has its origins in the European Cancer Patient Bill of Rights, and it represents an example of a bottom-up policymaking measure, empowering cancer survivors and improving cancer health care and rehabilitation for their better quality of life.

References

- 1. Allemani C, et al. Global surveillance of trends in cancer survival 2000–14 (CONCORD-3): analysis of individual records for 37 513 025 patients diagnosed with one of 18 cancers from 322 population-based registries in 71 countries. Lancet. 2018;391:1023–75.
- De Angelis R, et al. Cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007 by country and age: results of EUROCARE--5-a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:23–34.
- 3. Albreht, et al. European guide on quality improvement in comprehensive cancer control. Ljubljana: National Institute of Public Health; 2017.
- Council of the European Union. Employment, Social Policy, Health and Consumer Affairs, Council meeting: conclusions on reducing the burden of cancer: http://www.eu2008.si/en/

News_and_Documents/Council_Conclusions/June/0609_EPSCO-cancer.pdf (accessed 10 June 2020) 2008.

- WHO, WHOQOL: measuring quality of life: https://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/whoqolqualityoflife/en/index1.html (accessed on 20 June 2020).
- 6. Jacobsen PB, Jim HSL. Consideration of quality of life in cancer survivorship research. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2011;10:2035–41.
- 7. van Leeuwen M, et al. Understanding the quality of life (QOL) issues in survivors of cancer: towards the development of an EORTC QOL cancer survivorship questionnaire. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2018;16:114.
- 8. Diez JH Jr. Rehabilitation of the cancer patients. Med Clin North Am. 1969;53:607-24.
- 9. Dietz JH Jr. Rehabilitation of the cancer patients: its role in the scheme of comprehensive care. Clin Bull. 1974;4:104–7.
- 10. DeLisa JA. A history of cancer rehabilitation. Cancer. 2001;92:970-4.
- 11. Silver JK, et al. Cancer rehabilitation and palliative care: critical components in the delivery of high-quality oncology services. Support Care Cancer. 2015;23:3633–43.
- Kline RM, et al. Long-term survivorship care after cancer treatment summary of a 2017 National Cancer Policy Forum Workshop. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2018;12:1300–10.
- 13. Stein KD, et al. Physical and psychological long-term and late effects of cancer. Cancer. 2008;112:2577–92.
- 14. Silver JK, et al. Impairment-driven cancer rehabilitation: an essential component of quality care and survivorship. CA Cancer J Clin. 2013;635:295–317.
- Fabi A, et al. Cancer-related fatigue: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis and treatment. Ann Oncol. 2020;31:713–23.
- Berns A, et al. Towards a cancer mission in horizon Europe: recommendations. Mol Oncol. 2020;14:1589–615.
- Dutch Childhood Oncology Group: DCOG-LATER guidelines. 2017. http://later.skion.nl/ (access on 12 August 2020).
- 18. Tonorezos, et al. Models of care for survivors of childhood cancer from across the globe: advancing survivorship care in the next decade. J Clin Oncol. 2018;21:2223–30.
- 19. PanCareFollowUp Project, website: https://pancarefollowup.eu/about/ (Access on 12 August 2020).
- Lawler M, et al. The European cancer patient's bill of rights, update and implementation 2016. ESMO Open. 2016;1:1–5.
- Denlinger CS, et al. Survivorship: introduction and definition. Clinical practice guidelines in oncology. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2014;12:34–45.
- 22. Carlson LE, et al. High levels of untreated distress and fatigue in cancer patients. Br J Cancer. 2004;12:2297–304.
- Mitchell AJ, et al. Depression and anxiety in long-term cancer survivors compared with spouses and healthy controls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14:721–32.
- 24. D'Agostino, et al. Comorbid symptoms of emotional distress in adult survivors of childhood cancer. Cancer. 2016;122:3215–24.
- 25. Li HCW, et al. The impact of cancer on the physical, psychological and social Well-being of childhood cancer survivors. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2013;17:214–9.
- Rourke MT, Kazak AE. Psychological aspects of long-term survivorship. In: Schwartz CL, Hobbie WL, Constine LS, Ruccione KS, editors. Survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer. Pediatric oncology. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2005.
- Zeltzer LK, et al. Psychological status in childhood cancer survivors: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:2396–404.
- Grassi L. Psychiatric and psychosocial implications in cancer care: the agenda of psychooncology. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2020;29:1–3.
- Grassi L, Riba M, editors. Clinical psycho-oncology: an international perspective. Chichester: Wiley; 2012.
- Newell SA, et al. For the NSW cancer council cancer education research program, systematic review of psychological therapies for cancer patients: overview and recommendations for future research. JNCI. 2002;94:558–84.

- Martin-Moreno JM, et al. European guide for quality national cancer control programmes. Slovenia: National Institute of Public Health, Ljubljana; 2015.
- 32. Coleman MP, et al. Responding to the challenge of cancer in Europe. Ljubljana: Institute of Public Health of the Republic of Slovenia; 2008.
- Holland JC, Reznik I. Pathways for psychosocial care of cancer survivors. Cancer. 2005;104:2624–37.
- 34. Grassi L, Travado L. The role of psychosocial oncology in cancer care. In: Coleman MP, et al., editors. Responding to the challenge of cancer in Europe. Ljubljana: Institute of Public Health of the Republic of Slovenia; 2008. p. 209–30.
- 35. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Psychosocial Services to Cancer Patients/Families in a Community Setting; Adler NE, Page AEK, editors. Cancer Care for the Whole Patient: Meeting Psychosocial Health Needs. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2008.
- 36. Canadian Association of Psychosocial Oncology (CAPO). Standards of Psychosocial Health Services for Persons with Cancer and their Families, 2010.
- 37. National Breast Cancer Centre & National Cancer Control Initiative. Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Psychosocial Care of Adults with Cancer. National Breast Cancer Centre: Camperdown, NSW, Australia, 2003.
- Ferlay J, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: source, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:359–86.
- 39. Pisu M, et al. Dealing with the financial burden of cancer: perspectives of older breast cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer. 2014;22:3045–52.
- Moser EC, Meunier F. Cancer survivorship: a positive side-effect of more successful cancer treatment. EJC Suppl. 2014;12:1–4.
- 41. Liu, et al. Cancer in Europe: death sentence or life sentence? Eur J Cancer. 2016;65:150-5.
- 42. Saul H, et al. Call for action to end discrimination against cancer survivors. J Cancer Policy. 2018;17:1–3.
- 43. de Boer AG. The European Cancer and Work Network: CANWON. J Occup Rehabil. 2014;24:393–8.
- 44. ECIS European Cancer Information System From https://ecis.jrc.ec.europa.eu (accessed on 03 August 2020).
- 45. Baili P, et al. Age and case mix-standardised survival for all cancer patient in Europe, 1999-2007: results of EUROCARE-5, a population based study. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51:2021–9.
- Stergiou-Kita M, et al. The "Big C"- Stigma, cancer, and workplace discrimination. J Cancer Surviv. 2016;10:1035–50.
- 47. Spelten ER, et al. Factors reported to influence the return to work of cancer survivors: a literature review. Psychooncology. 2002;11:124–31.9
- Mehnert A. Employment and work-related issues in cancer survivors. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2011;77(2):109–30.
- Steiner JF, et al. Returning to work after cancer: quantitative studies and prototypical narratives. Psychooncology. 2010;19:115–24.
- Taskila T, Lindbohm ML. Factors affecting cancer survivors' employment and work ability. Acta Oncol. 2007;46:446–51.
- EUROSTAT 2017, Europe 2020 indicator-employment. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php/Europe_2020_indicators_-_employment (access on 3 August 2020).
- de Boer AG, et al. Cancer survivors and unemployment: a meta analysis and meta regression. JAMA. 2009;301:753–62.
- 53. Mehnert A, et al. Employment challenges for cancer survivors. Cancer. 2013;119(Suppl 11):2151–9.
- 54. Paltrinieri S, et al. Return to work in European cancer survivors: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer. 2018;9:2983–94.
- 55. Braspenning I, et al. Rehabilitation and return to work after cancer—instruments and practices. Luxembourg: EU-OSHA; 2018.
- 56. Mbengi K, et al. Barriers and opportunities for return to work of cancer survivors. Syst Rev. 2016;5:1–10.
- 57. Schultz PN, et al. Cancer survivors work related issues. AAOHN J. 2002;5:220-6.

- Pryce J, et al. Cancer survivorship and work: symptoms, supervisor response, co-worker disclosure and work adjustment. J Occup Rehabil. 2007;17:83–92.
- 59. Amir Z, et al. Return to paid work after cancer: a British experience. J Cancer Surviv. 2007;1:129-36.
- 60. Verbeek J, et al. Return to work of cancer survivors: a prospective cohort study into the quality of rehabilitation by occupational physicians. Occup Environ Med. 2003;60:352–7.
- 61. Grunfeld EA, et al. Cancer survivors' and employers' perceptions of working following cancer treatment. Occup Med. 2010;60:611–7.
- 62. Bains M, et al. Helping cancer survivors return to work: what providers tell us about the challenges in assisting cancer patients with work questions. J Occup Rehabil. 2012;22:71–7.
- 63. Feuerstein M. Introduction: the world challenge of work disability. J Occup Rehabil. 2005;15:451–2.
- 64. Kennedy F. Returning to work following cancer: a qualitative exploratory study into the experience of returning to work following cancer. Eur J Cancer Care. 2007;16:17–25.
- 65. Fong CJ, et al. Psychological interventions to facilitate employment outcomes for cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Res Soc Work Pract. 2015;28:84–98.
- Decree-law no. 276/2003, article 46 (as amendment of decree law n° 61/2000, article 12 bis), 10 September 2003.
- 67. Law no. 247/2007, article 1, subsection 44, 24 December 2007.
- De Lorenzo F, et al. Improving European policy to support cancer survivors. J Cancer Policy. 2018;15:72–5.
- 69. Massart M. A long-term survivor's perspective on supportive policy for a better access to insurance, loan and mortgage. J. Cancer Policy. 2018;15:70–1.
- 70. Youth Cancer Europe, White Paper on the Needs of Young People Living With Cancer, (2018). https://www.youthcancereurope.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/10/YouthCancerEurope_ Brussels_2018_WhitePaper-sm.pdf (access on 10 August 2020).
- 71. Scocca G, Meunier F. A right to be forgotten for cancer survivors: a legal development expected to reflect the medical progress in the fight against cancer. J Cancer Policy. 2020;25:1–4.
- European Commission. Europe's Beating Cancer Plan, 2021: https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/ default/files/non_communicable_diseases/docs/eu_cancer-plan_en.pdf. (Accessed online 24 June 2021).
- 73. European Commission. Conquering cancer: mission possible. Luxembourg: European Union; 2020b.
- European Cancer Organization, European Code of Cancer Practice. https://www.europeancancer.org/2-standard/67-about-the-european-code-of-cancer-practice (Accessed online 27 October 2020) 2020.



4

Follow-Up and Long-Term Follow-Up of Cancer Patients: Who is in Charge, why, when, and how...: Introduction: The Evolution from "Surveillance" to "Survivorship Care"

Stefan Rauh

Cancer patients are not only steadily rising in number across Europe, but they also have a much higher probability to live longer. This is particularly true for childhood cancers, which can be cured in 75–95% of cases [1]. Since the beginning of this century, adult cancer patients have been shown to expect at least a 60% 5-year survival, while 30–40% survive 20 years or more [2]. The decline in mortality and rise in long-term survival are continuing. 2020 has seen a significant decline in cancer mortality in the United States, mainly due to a sharp decrease in lung cancer mortality [3]. These advances are due to early detection, more efficient treatment strategies both in active treatment and in supportive care [4]. Surveillance for cancer recurrence and secondary malignancies also has the aim to prolong survival and cure through rapid reintervention. The underlying evidence remains however scattered and overall low [5]. Still, these endpoints remain paramount in patients' and physicians' beliefs of the importance of early follow-up and surveillance [6].

As more and more patients better survive their cancers, late treatment effects become of greater concern. Secondary leukemia may arise between 5 and 10 years after certain chemotherapies, while solid malignancies may start occurring 10 years after the initial radiotherapy. Cardiotoxicity after anthracyclines or irradiation also occurs late [7–10]. Oncologic surgery may induce lymphedema, neuropathy, or organ dysfunction (e.g., incontinence, erectile dysfunction) at distance from the intervention [11, 12].

The recognition of both treatment sequelae and secondary malignancies has led to the concept of "Long-Term Follow-Up" (LTFU) of cancer patients. LTFU should

S. Rauh (🖂)

Medical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Emile Mayrisch, Esch, Luxembourg

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_4

assess the patient's general health condition, timely screening for late effects and secondary malignancies, and provide adequate treatment for these whenever possible [13]. LTFU was originally developed and proposed in childhood cancers, who face a higher rate of morbidities, secondary cancer, more rapid aging, and a lower life expectancy as adults, even when cured [14–16]. These patients were and still are mostly followed-up in highly specialized cancer treatment centers for years—and often even after becoming adults, questioning a reasonable timing and degree of transition to regular medical care and surveillance by a primary care physician. In Europe, there is an estimate of 300000–500000 childhood and young adult survivors [17].

Today, more adult cancers are cured or face chronic cancer conditions with significantly prolonged life expectancies. In the United States, an estimate of 15, five million cancer survivors have been estimated for 2016, and more than 26 million are expected in 2040 [18]. Thus, the concept of LTFU has also increasingly applied to this much larger population.

General post-treatment follow-up (FU) or *surveillance* was traditionally mainly focused on the early detection of recurrence and early treatment sequelae with an estimated interval of 5 years after active treatment. This was performed by a specialist, often an oncologist (medical, radiation, or surgical). Research in survivorship is replacing habits with evidence. The therapeutic landscape of cancer treatments evolves rapidly. Thus, surveillance has undergone continuous changes, but still remains often difficult to define in its benefits according to proven endpoints [5].

Side effects arising during treatment may remain chronic conditions with variable extension and resolution in time ("long-term side effects"). They may also arise with variable latency after the end of treatment ("late effects"). Genotype, age, comorbidities, treatment combinations and sequences, and other factors may lead to individually different presentation, amplitude, and timing of these effects [19]. As a consequence, there is no clear transition from the follow-up to long-term follow-up, neither a clear distinction in tasks.

Ever after the seminal report of the Institute of Medicine in 2006 and the emergence of a holistic approach towards the Cancer survivor, the range of items included in FU/LTFU has largely risen [20] with the addition of preventive measures concerning a healthy lifestyle, as well as psychosocial and community aspects (including professional reintegration, etc.) [21–23].

The terms of follow-up and long-term follow-up may be used synonymously with survivorship care in many publications—whenever they do not allude to selected endpoints compatible with the more traditional surveillance.

Here are some definitions for FU LTFU and survivorship care:

Definition of Follow-Up

"Monitoring a person's health over time after treatment. This includes keeping track of the health of people who participate in a clinical study or clinical trial for a period of time, both during the study and after the study ends." [24].

Definition of Surveillance

"In medicine, closely watching a patient's condition but not treating it unless there are changes in test results. Surveillance is also used to find early signs that a disease has come back. It may also be used for a person who has an increased risk of a disease, such as cancer. During surveillance, certain exams and tests are done on a regular schedule. In public health, surveillance may also refer to the ongoing collection of information about a disease, such as cancer, in a certain group of people. The information collected may include where the disease occurs in a population and whether it affects people of a certain gender, age, or ethnic group." [24].

Definition of Long-Term Follow-Up

"Long-term follow-up for children's cancer survivors typically begins when patients are in remission and fully recovered from the immediate effects of treatment. Often, this is about 2 years after completion of treatment. In long-term follow-up, the goal is to help former patients stay as healthy as possible and to do well in school and eventually at work. It is important for all survivors to continue to have regular medical care for life. This is often called survivorship care" [25].

LTFU in a research context: "Long-term follow-up begins when the protocol treatment is discontinued, treatment toxicities have resolved, and the response to therapy has been determined. The purpose of long-term follow-up is to assure continued medical surveillance and allow meaningful end-results reporting. Study endpoints are dependent on having meaningful data on items such as recurrence, disease status, survival, long-term adverse events or new malignancies." [26].

Definition of survivorship *care*: "Prevention of new and recurrent cancers and other late effects, surveillance for cancer spread, recurrence, or subsequent cancers, assessment of late psychosocial, physical, and immunologic effects, intervention for consequences of cancer and treatment (e.g., medical problems, symptoms, psychologic distress, financial, and social concerns), coordination of care between primary care providers and specialists to ensure that all of the survivor's health needs are met, planning for ongoing survivorship care" [27].

In common communication between different caregivers and patients, "followup" remains a commonly used term with more or less clearly defined content, probably according to the caregiver's own judgment and willingness to encompass and the follow-up framework.

References

- Gatta G, Corazziari I, Magnani C, et al. EUROCARE. Childhood cancer survival in Europe. Ann Oncol. 2003;14:119–27.
- Talback M, Stenbeck M, Rosen M, et al. Cancer survival in Sweden 1960–1998 developments across four decades. Acta Oncol. 2003;42:637–59.
- American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2020. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society; 2021. cancer.org
- Miller KD, Siegel RL, Lin CC, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66:271–89.
- Høeg BL, Bidstrup PE, Karlsen RV, et al. Follow-up strategies following completion of primary cancer treatment in adult cancer survivors (review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019:11.
- Lewis RA, Neal RD, Hendry M. Patients' and healthcare professionals' views of cancer follow-up: a review. Br J Gen Pract. 2009; https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgpX4535766.
- Meinardi MT, Gietema JA, van Veldhuisen DJ, et al. Long-term chemotherapy-related cardiovascular morbidity. Cancer Treat Rev. 2000;26:429–47.
- 8. Lund MB, Ihlen H, Voss BM, et al. Increased risk of heart valve regurgitation after mediastinal radiation for Hodgkin's disease: an echocardiographic study. Heart. 1996;75:591–5.
- 9. Bokemeyer C, Berger CC, Kuczyk MA, Schmoll HJ. Evaluation of long-term toxicity after chemotherapy for testicular cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14:2923–32.
- 10. Green DM, Hyland A, Chung CS, et al. Cancer and cardiac mortality among 15-year survivors of cancer diagnosed during childhood or adolescence. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:3207–15.
- Lilleby W, Fossa SD, Waehre HR, et al. Long-term morbidity and quality of life in patients with localized prostate cancer undergoing definitive radiotherapy or radical prostatectomy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;43:735–43.
- Erickson VS, Pearson ML, Ganz PA, et al. Arm edema in breast cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2001;93:96–111.
- Landier W, Bhatia S, Eshelman DA, et al. Development of risk-based guidelines for pediatric cancer survivors: the Children's Oncology Group Long-Term Follow-Up Guidelines from the Children's Oncology Group Late Effects Committee and Nursing Discipline. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:4979–90.
- Mertens AC, Yasui Y, Neglia JP, et al. Late mortality experience in five-year survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer: the childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:3163–72.
- Oeffinger KC, Hudson MM. Long-term complications following childhood and adolescent cancer: foundations for providing risk-based health care for survivors. CA Cancer J Clin. 2004;54:208–36.
- Hudson MM, Mertens AC, Yasui Y, et al. Health status of adult long-term survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. JAMA. 2003;290:1583–92.
- 17. Hjoerth L, Haupt R. Skinner et al: survivorship after childhood cancer: PanCare: a European network to promote optimal long-term care. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51(10):1203–11.
- 18. Shapiro C. Cancer survivorship. N Engl J Med. 2018;379:2438–50.
- Radivoyevitch T, Sachs RK, Gale RP, et al. Defining AML and MDS second cancer risk dynamics after diagnoses of first cancers treated or not with radiation. Leukemia. 2016;30:285–94.
- 20. Institute of Medicine and National Research Council. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition: an American Society of Clinical Oncology and Institute of Medicine Symposium. The National Academies Press; Washington, DC, 2006.
- Carver JR, Shapiro CL, Ng A, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical evidence review on the ongoing care of adult cancer survivors: cardiac and pulmonary late effects. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:3991–4008.
- Grunfeld E, Earle CC. The interface between primary and oncology specialty care: treatment through survivorship. JNCI Monogr. 2010;40:25–30.

- 23. Mayer DK, Nasso SF, Earp JA. Defining cancer survivors, their needs, and perspectives on survivorship health care in the USA. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:e11–8.
- 24. nih.gov.
- 25. childrensoncologygroup.org.
- 26. SWOG oncology research professional manual 2020.
- 27. National Cancer Center Network, Survivorship version 2:2020, July 14, 2020, nccn.org.



5

Models of Long-Term Follow-up for Cancer Patients: From Children to Adults, from Simple to Multi-Modal

Claire Berger and Charlotte Demoor-Goldschmidt

Regular care through the early detection of possible sequelae, therapeutic education, and management of psychological difficulties could have a positive impact on the quality of life and long-term health of former patients cured of cancer. However, not all patients benefit from it and, when considering CCS, up to two-thirds do not return for long-term follow-up (LTFU) consultations when offered [1-3]. There is an added problem in CCS follow-up which occurs when the patient has to transfer from pediatric to adult health services, which means a change in the specialists treating them.

In developed countries, the rate of survival after childhood cancers has reached up to 80%, compared to 87% following cancers in adolescence and young adulthood. However, the late-onset effects of their early cancers and associated treatments concern adult survivors [4]. It is currently estimated that one young adult (between the ages of 20 and 39 years) in 530 has had cancer during childhood [5]. In all the population, a combination of increased cancer incidence and improved cancer treatments has led to a growing population of people living with, and beyond, cancer. However, the downside of this is that therapies are sometimes very aggressive in terms of complications. Cancer survivors are at high risk of early mortality, chronic morbidity, and secondary cancers, when compared to the general population. Adults cured of pediatric cancer, identified in the international literature as "childhood cancer survivors" (CCS), are at higher risk because of a higher

C. Berger

C. Demoor-Goldschmidt (⊠)

Pediatric Immuno-Hemato-Oncology Unit, Angers University Hospital, Angers, France

Department of Radiation Oncology, Centre François Baclesse, Caen, France

Pediatric Immuno-Hemato-Oncology Unit, Saint-Etienne University Hospital, Saint-Etienne, France

Cancer and Radiation Group, Center for Research in Epidemiology and Population Health, INSERM U1018, Paris Sud-Paris Saclay University, Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_5

sensitivity to treatments and a longer life expectancy [6, 7]. Nevertheless, adult cancer survivors also have to face complications and sometimes these complications can occur later in life [8, 9].

If, at first glance, we focus on the physical dimension, it is because the potential somatic sequelae of cancer and its treatments are frequent, extremely varied in type and intensity, likely to affect all organs, more particularly the cardiovascular, endocrine, renal, musculoskeletal, cutaneous, and neurocognitive spheres. Despite undeniable progress, cancer remains very worrying, being cured of cancer remains a source of morbidity and mortality [10, 11]. Concerning CCS, an original article in the New England Journal of Medicine published in 2006 is still a reference. It analyses, with an average hindsight of 17.5 years, more than 10,000 former patients cured of pediatric cancer, compared to their healthy siblings. More than 60% of these patients had at least one chronic complication and in 27.5% of cases it was a severe, life-threatening, or fatal complication (so-called grade 3 and 4 sequelae) [12]. For the moment, the state of health of adults cured of childhood or adolescent cancer does not improve with time. In fact, the prevalence of physical complications continues to increase throughout the lifetime of individuals, without reaching a plateau [13]. In other words, the increasing distance from oncologic treatment does not reduce the risk but amplifies it, which justifies life-long follow-up of this "at risk" population. Similarly, the significantly increased risk of a second primary cancer must also be taken into consideration, since it is estimated to affect 36% of cancer survivors [14–16], justifying prevention and screening measures specially adapted to this population.

This increased survival rate has led to a greater importance of potential long-term sequelae, and to the interest and importance of survivorship. In 2020, 327 articles were found in the Pubmed database with "cancer" and "survivorship" in the title, versus approximatively 108–136 between 2015 and 2018, under 100 in the years before, with less than 60 up to 2010 and less than 10 before 2006.

Even if all the complications of cancer and its treatment cannot be prevented, many of these can be early diagnosed and can be effectively treated in the same way as certain classic complications. Such conditions include breast cancer complicating mediastinal radiotherapy during childhood [17] or young adulthood [18, 19]; anthracycline heart disease [20]; and osteoporosis or early menopause induced by chemotherapy and/or hormone therapy, frequently used for breast or prostate cancer, or during corticosteroid therapy [21–24]. Early counseling and early screening can improve morbidity and mortality. With this aim in mind, several scientific societies developed recommendations for childhood cancer survivors and an effort is made to harmonize them.

Psychological or psychosocial complications are less known, and less understood. After childhood cancer, real post-traumatic stress states were found long after the end of the illness [25, 26]. These data were confirmed by other teams [27, 28]. The social, educational, sexual, and fertility dimensions were also explored in relation to the quality of life [29–31]. These sequelae are also found among adult cancer survivors, but their characteristics are often different as cancer may have been diagnosed and treated when the patient already has a job and a family [32–35]. Fatigue is another frequent and insiduous complication as it is not palpable but it significantly decreases the quality of life [36–40].

Regular care through the early detection of possible sequelae, therapeutic education, and management of psychological difficulties could have a positive impact on the quality of life and long-term health of former patients cured of cancer. However, not all patients benefit from it and, when considering CCS, up to two-thirds do not return for long-term follow-up (LTFU) consultations when offered [1-3]. There is an added problem in CCS follow-up which occurs when the patient has to transfer from pediatric to adult health services, which means a change in the specialists treating them.

To date, cancer survivorship is not organized in all countries, and particularly not for adult cancer survivors. Some specific programs do exist for certain conditions, for example, after Hodgkin disease, breast cancer [32], head and neck cancer [41], and pelvic cancer [42–44], mainly under the form of a trial. This sort of organization is able to provide support to patients after specific cancers and is easier to organize as the difference between each patient is limited and the follow-up plan care is harmonized. Some clinics have developed LTFU for adult cancer survivors, but this is still quite rare [45].

The first models of LTFU care have been developed for childhood cancer survivors and they are actually well developed in several countries [46]. To date, most LTFU of CCS has been done by pediatric oncologists [47, 48]. For many people, and also for patients, the clinician responsible for their initial treatment continues to see them, but at a decreasing frequency. As the risk of disease recurrence falls, more emphasis is placed on LTFU.

For all these cancer survivors, the place of the general practitioner has been raised [2, 49, 50], more and less with a nurse with a central role in therapeutic education, coordination [51–53]. The place of dedicated LTFU clinics, in terms of interest and costs, is also frequently questioned.

Models of LTFU care for CCS have been driven by the patient, general practitioner (GP), nurse, or medical specialist and conducted either in a LTFU clinic or in physician offices [48, 52, 54–62]. LTFU in specialized late-effect clinics offers optimal and standardized care for CCS, based on current guidelines, recommendations, and research trials [63–71].

Two general models have involved either the GP conducting follow-up without sustained contact with a primary cancer treatment center or late-effect clinic (GP only), or the GP working in close collaboration with practitioners in such facilities (shared care) [56]. Some authors have proposed that the primary care physician should take over follow-up care once the risk of intermediate-term late effects and cancer recurrence are low. In the shared care model, the GP cares for the individual, but the oncologist or LTFU center remains available for consultation [72]. Very close collaboration is essential for survivors with a high risk of developing late effects and who might need to visit the cancer center regularly. The role of the GP increases as oncologists always have new patients actively suffering from cancer and because the number of survivors is still increasing. In several places, there are no LTFU consultations and the GP alone is required to organize the follow-up.

Every cancer survivor and their primary care provider should receive a summary of the disease and treatments received, as well as an individualized survivorship care plan, following the curative treatment. Even with these documents, studies show that it is not enough to be sure that personalized screening and follow-up are done. Some of the barriers are as follows: not enough time; patients do not regularly visit their GP and when they have a consultation, it is when they have a problem (this is mainly reported in young adults); GPs and patients do not remember the survivorship care plan; and there may be difficulties in organizing the different follow-up exams [73]. Advanced practice nurse and telephone counseling can increase adherence, with little or no cost per additional survivor [74].

As a typical example, we present the results of a French study which evaluated the level of satisfaction of CCS and their GPs, with a LTFU consultation process that involved joint consultations between survivor, pediatric oncologist and adult internal medicine specialist. The aim of this joint consultation was to organize transition between child and adult health services and to establish the passport for LTFU. Of the 150 survivor participants in the LTFU, 120 (80%) completed the satisfaction form, with 107 (89%) reporting satisfaction. As a consequence of the consultation, 48 participants (32%) expressed a strengthening in their follow-up. Of the 79 survivors who sent recommendations, 76 (96%) reported reading them, most (n = 68, 86%) found them useful, and 56 (71%) followed the recommendations. Of the 107 GPs of the survivors, 82 (77%) reported that they had been poorly informed about the long-term complications for their patients after chemotherapy, and 93 (88%) appreciated having a hospital contact available for these patients [2].

Several studies have suggested scores to screen patients with specific needs (based on specific treatments, such as radiation therapy, anthracycline, bone marrow graft, or specific diseases, such as cerebral tumors) [45, 65, 75]. Several guidelines recommend risk-stratified LTFU for CCS survivors [53], but none of them are able to include the risk of psychological distress.

New models are developed using the informatics like a web-based intervention for pediatric brain tumors targeting psychosocial functioning and late effects [76], educational personalized and online course linked with data recorded in the childhood cancer register (submitted article) [Berger C, Casagranda L, Sudour-Bonnange H, Massoubre C, Dalle JH, Teinturier C, Martin-Beuzart S, Guillot P, Lanlo V, Schneider M, Dal Molin B, Dal Molin M, Mounier O, Garcin A, Fresneau B, Clavel J, Demoor-Goldschmidt C. Personalized Massive Open Online Course for Childhood Cancer Survivors: Behind the Scenes. Appl Clin Inform. 2021 Mar;12(2):237-244. doi: https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0041-1,725,185. Epub 2021 Mar 24. PMID: 33763845; PMCID: PMC7990573]. Other groups propose a shared post-cancer medical record with interface for the patient and her/his different doctors [77, 78] with more and less a reminder function of the tests to be performed addressed to the patient and her/his registered doctor (software which is actually tested in Western France) or dedicated applications and web informations [77, 79, 80]. These are useful tools, but they do not remove all the barriers [81]. The use of teleconsultations has also received a positive response in some survivors who were not able to attend LTFU consultations [82].
There is a lack of evidence for the best way to organize LTFU care. The different traditional approaches found in the literature are as follows:

- Care delivered at the initial cancer center.
- LTFU clinic care. This may be for all survivors or for survivors of specific cancers as part of dedicated programs.
- Shared care between the initial cancer center or LTFU clinic and local hospital or primary care physician.
- Care from a specialist nurse.
- Self-management with professional shared care.

Survivors are all different and face LTFU differently. Several models were proposed to organize LTFU based on the risk of developing severe or multiple sequelae, but these are not able to predict some complications, such as fatigue, psychological distress, and social and intimacy difficulties. A common point that emerges from all these studies is the need for a personalized follow-up that depends on the sequelae already present and the risk of subsequent complications. This requires many health professionals. On a purely medical level, the professionals most in demand are cardiologists, endocrinologists, and fertility doctors, followed by orthopedic specialists, gynecologists, dermatologists, ear, nose, and throat specialists, nephrologists, respiratory specialists, neurologists, dentists and stomatologists, and rheumatologists. From this non-exhaustive list, it can be seen that almost all specialists can be involved. However, this may not be sufficient to meet the needs of patients who, depending on their time of life, may also need the support of a psychologist, a social worker, a physiotherapist or an accompaniment for an adapted sports activity, a dietician, an occupational therapist, a neuropsychologist, a speech therapist, or a sexologist [83-85].

From all the different experiences with different survivors (different ages, from child to adult, different cancers, and different organizations), no evidence-based guidelines exist on how to organize LTFU care [53]. However, the same conclusion is reached: the critical need for a multidisciplinary approach for cancer survivors, and the need for an aware professional who is (1) knowledgeable about the lateonset effects of cancer treatment and (2) able to deliver a global analysis, who can be, for example, an oncologist, a general practitioner, an internist or any physician who is interested [2, 45]. No single organization has shown its superiority over another, even if some studies suggest that CCS knowledge is better in LTFU clinics [86, 87]. It seems evident that for some patients, because of the severity of sequelae or the number of complications, that a specialized and dedicated LTFU consultation is necessary and many countries have already adopted this model, particularly for CCS survivors [53]. However, distance to the clinic for survivors has often been raised as a problem with this approach [88]. Here, for some patients, teleconsultation may be useful to deliver specialized recommendations which can then be followed by the patient, with the help of their GP. The literature indicates that follow-up based only on GP support is not feasible for all survivors. There is a need for a place where they can get specialized advice or assistance, and where they can be referred to benefit from the expertise. Moreover, knowledge is not static and further studies are necessary, whether on the means of follow-up (such as screening method and frequency) or on treatments used in the case of discovery of complications, or as preventive measures. These studies can only be carried out under the impetus of a dedicated team. While dedicated LTFU may not be indicated for all the survivors and might be too expensive, its presence is necessary for at least some specific survivors therefore research should continue on this theme.

To date, in many countries, LTFU care is organized by individual centers, rather than via a national, cooperative effort. This leads to geographical disparity in care. Improved solutions are needed, with an emphasis on transitioning survivors to appropriate care beyond the pediatric age. Nevertheless, patient needs are different, even after the same disease. The nonmedical determining factors found are patient age, socio-professional integration, and place of residence [82]. Due to the diverse needs of cancer survivors, decision-makers must consider this when considering a homogenization of practices, and they should allow a certain flexibility in LTFU organization throughout the lifespan of the patient.

In conclusion, and in line with the recent review of the literature from a panel of engaged international professionals in LTFU care for CCS [53], a successful model of LTFU for CCS and adult cancer survivors must fit certain criteria. It must be multidisciplinary to cater to the different needs of survivors (medical and paramedical professionals) and have the flexibility to adapt to the different survivors and coordination of care. For good adherence over time, the roles of the different professionals need to be well-defined. The value in the addition of a key worker or online tools requires further study, particularly into the financial costs of this global LTFU care. The last key component is the education of survivors and professionals, to increase their knowledge about the risks of late-onset cancer and treatment-related effects. Lack of it is often found as a barrier to LTFU care and screening. Patient empowerment and awareness are important factors on which we can act, to allow survivors to take over responsibility for their health.

References

- 1. Rebholz CE, et al. Follow-up care amongst long-term childhood cancer survivors: a report from the Swiss childhood cancer survivor study. Eur J Cancer. 2011;47(2):221–9.
- 2. Berger C, et al. Long-term follow-up consultation after childhood cancer in the Rhone-Alpes region of France: feedback from adult survivors and their general practitioners. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2017;6:524.
- 3. Daly A, et al. Survivor clinic attendance among pediatric- and adolescent-aged survivors of childhood cancer. J Cancer Surviv. 2019;13(1):56–65.
- 4. Gatta G, et al. Survival of European children and young adults with cancer diagnosed 1995-2002. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45(6):992–1005.
- 5. Ward E, et al. Childhood and adolescent cancer statistics, 2014. CA Cancer J Clin. 2014;64(2):83–103.
- Reulen RC, et al. Long-term cause-specific mortality among survivors of childhood cancer. JAMA. 2010;304(2):172–9.

- 7. Berger C, et al. Second malignant neoplasms following childhood cancer: a study of a recent cohort (1987-2004) from the childhood cancer registry of the Rhone-Alpes region (ARCERRA) in France. Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2011;28(5):364–79.
- Miller KD, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66(4):271–89.
- 9. Miller KD, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin. 2019;69(5):363-85.
- Yeh JM, et al. A model-based estimate of cumulative excess mortality in survivors of childhood cancer. Ann Intern Med. 2010;152(7):409–17. W131-8
- Yeh JM, et al. Life expectancy of adult survivors of childhood cancer over 3 decades. JAMA Oncol. 2020;6:350.
- 12. Oeffinger KC, et al. Chronic health conditions in adult survivors of childhood cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(15):1572–82.
- Landier W, et al. Surveillance for late effects in childhood cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(21):2216–22.
- Friedman DL, et al. Subsequent neoplasms in 5-year survivors of childhood cancer: the childhood cancer survivor study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(14):1083–95.
- Jegu J, et al. The effect of patient characteristics on second primary cancer risk in France. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:94.
- 16. Moitry M, et al. Development of a model to predict the 10-year cumulative risk of second primary cancer among cancer survivors. Cancer Epidemiol. 2017;47:35–41.
- Mulder RL, et al. Updated breast cancer surveillance recommendations for female survivors of childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer from the international guideline harmonization group. J Clin Oncol. 2020;JCO2000562.
- 18. Keegan THM, et al. Second primary malignant neoplasms and survival in adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(11):1554–7.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt C, et al. Clinical and histological features of second breast cancers following radiotherapy for childhood and young adult malignancy. Br J Radiol. 2018;91(1086):20170824.
- Visscher H, et al. Cardiovascular and pulmonary challenges after treatment of childhood cancer. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2020;67(6):1155–70.
- 21. Marcucci G, et al. Bone health in childhood cancer: review of the literature and recommendations for the management of bone health in childhood cancer survivors. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(6):908–20.
- 22. Noonan EM, Farrell TW. Primary care of the prostate cancer survivor. Am Fam Physician. 2016;93(9):764–70.
- Han JW, et al. Poor bone health at the end of puberty in childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2015;62(10):1838–43.
- Hill DA, et al. Long-term risk of medical conditions associated with breast cancer treatment. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2014;145(1):233–43.
- Bagur J, et al. Psychiatric disorders in 130 survivors of childhood cancer: preliminary results of a semi-standardized interview. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2015;62(5):847–53.
- Abadie A, et al. Prevalence of psychiatric complications in young adults after childhood cancer treatment: results of the long-term follow-up studies in oncology. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2020;9(2):247–55.
- Daniel LC, et al. Sleep, emotional distress, and physical health in survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. Psychooncology. 2019;28(4):903–12.
- Michel G, et al. The long-term impact of cancer: evaluating psychological distress in adolescent and young adult cancer survivors in Switzerland. Psychooncology. 2019;28(3):577–85.
- Barrera M, et al. Educational and social late effects of childhood cancer and related clinical, personal, and familial characteristics. Cancer. 2005;104(8):1751–60.
- 30. Dumas A, et al. Educational and occupational outcomes of childhood cancer survivors 30 years after diagnosis: a French cohort study. Br J Cancer. 2016;114(9):1060–8.

- 31. Thouvenin-Doulet S, et al. Fecundity and quality of life of women treated for solid childhood tumors between 1948 and 1992 in France. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2018;7:415.
- Vuksanovic D, et al. Unmet needs in breast cancer survivors are common, and multidisciplinary care is underutilised: the survivorship needs assessment project. Breast Cancer. 2020;28:289.
- Gallego A, et al. Cancer survivors referred to a long-term survivorship outpatient service within academic medical oncology: descriptive study. J Cancer Surviv. 2020;
- Fervaha G, et al. Psychological morbidity associated with prostate cancer: rates and predictors of depression in the RADICAL PC study. Can Urol Assoc J. 2020;
- 35. Ver Hoeve ES, et al. Patient-reported financial toxicity, quality of life, and health behaviors in insured US cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer. 2021;29(1):349–58.
- 36. Martin E, et al. A qualitative evaluation of the use of interventions to treat fatigue among cancer survivors: a healthcare provider's view. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2020:e13370.
- 37. Vannorsdall TD, et al. Interventions for multidimensional aspects of breast cancer-related fatigue: a meta-analytic review. Support Care Cancer. 2020;29:1753.
- Cohen M, et al. Low physical activity, fatigue and depression in breast cancer survivors: moderation by levels of IL-6 and IL-8. Int J Psychophysiol. 2020;158:96–102.
- 39. Schmidt ME, et al. Prevalence and severity of long-term physical, emotional, and cognitive fatigue across 15 different cancer entities. Cancer Med. 2020;9(21):8053–61.
- 40. van Deuren S, et al. Fatigue-related cognitive-behavioral factors in survivors of childhood cancer: comparison with chronic fatigue syndrome and survivors of adult-onset cancer. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2020;10:92.
- 41. Sterba KR, et al. Evaluation of a survivorship needs assessment planning tool for head and neck cancer survivor-caregiver dyads. J Cancer Surviv. 2019;13(1):117–29.
- 42. Lokich E. Gynecologic cancer survivorship. Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am. 2019;46(1):165-78.
- Pfaendler KS, et al. Cervical cancer survivorship: long-term quality of life and social support. Clin Ther. 2015;37(1):39–48.
- Wenzel LB, et al. Resilience, reflection, and residual stress in ovarian cancer survivorship: a gynecologic oncology group study. Psychooncology. 2002;11(2):142–53.
- 45. Choi Y, et al. The Johns Hopkins Primary Care for Cancer Survivor Clinic: lessons learned in our first 4 years. J Cancer Surviv. 2020;14(1):19–25.
- 46. Signorelli C, et al. Models of childhood cancer survivorship care in Australia and New Zealand: strengths and challenges. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 2017;13(6):407–15.
- 47. Taylor A, et al. Long-term follow-up of survivors of childhood cancer in the UK. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2004;42(2):161–8.
- Oeffinger KC, et al. Programs for adult survivors of childhood cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(8):2864–7.
- 49. Stewart TP, et al. Results of engineering, primary care, oncology collaborative regarding a survey of primary care on a re-engineered survivorship care plan. J Cancer Educ. 2020;
- 50. Ducassou S, et al. Impact of shared care program in follow-up of childhood cancer survivors: an intervention study. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2017;64:11.
- 51. Kozul C, et al. Breast cancer survivor symptoms: a comparison of physicians' consultation records and nurse-led survivorship care plans. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2020;24(3):E34–42.
- Berger C, et al. Objectives and organization for the long-term follow-up after childhood cancer. Bull Cancer. 2015;102(7–8):579–85.
- 53. Michel G, et al. Evidence-based recommendations for the organization of long-term followup care for childhood and adolescent cancer survivors: a report from the PanCareSurFup Guidelines Working Group. J Cancer Surviv. 2019;13(5):759–72.
- 54. Bhatia S, Meadows AT. Long-term follow-up of childhood cancer survivors: future directions for clinical care and research. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2006;46(2):143–8.
- 55. Blaauwbroek R, et al. Shared care by paediatric oncologists and family doctors for long-term follow-up of adult childhood cancer survivors: a pilot study. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(3):232–8.
- Singer S, et al. General practitioner involvement in follow-up of childhood cancer survivors: a systematic review. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(10):1565–73.

- Heirs M, et al. A systematic review of models of care for the follow-up of childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(3):351–6.
- Hudson MM, et al. A model of care for childhood cancer survivors that facilitates research. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs. 2004;21(3):170–4.
- McClellan W, et al. A collaborative step-wise process to implementing an innovative clinic for adult survivors of childhood cancer. J Pediatr Nurs. 2015;30(5):e147–55.
- 60. Eshelman D, et al. Facilitating care for childhood cancer survivors: integrating children's oncology group long-term follow-up guidelines and health links in clinical practice. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs. 2004;21(5):271–80.
- Eshelman-Kent D, et al. Cancer survivorship practices, services, and delivery: a report from the children's oncology group (COG) nursing discipline, adolescent/young adult, and late effects committees. J Cancer Surviv. 2011;5(4):345–57.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt C, et al. Long-term follow-up after childhood cancer in France supported by the SFCE-force and weakness-current state, results of a questionnaire and perspectives. Br J Radiol. 2018;91(1084):20170819.
- 63. Skinner R, Wallace WH, Levitt G. Long-term follow-up of children treated for cancer: why is it necessary, by whom, where and how? Arch Dis Child. 2007;92(3):257–60.
- 64. Mulder RL, et al. The critical role of clinical practice guidelines and indicators in high-quality survivorship after childhood cancer. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2020;67(6):1069–81.
- 65. Gebauer J, et al. Guidelines for long-term follow-up after childhood cancer: practical implications for the daily work. Oncol Res Treat. 2020;43(3):61–9.
- 66. Janss AJ, Mazewski C, Patterson B. Guidelines for treatment and monitoring of adult survivors of pediatric brain Tumors. Curr Treat Options in Oncol. 2019;20(1):10.
- 67. Clemens E, et al. Recommendations for ototoxicity surveillance for childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer survivors: a report from the international late effects of childhood cancer guideline harmonization group in collaboration with the PanCare consortium. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(1):e29–41.
- Campbell KL, et al. Exercise guidelines for cancer survivors: consensus statement from international multidisciplinary roundtable. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2019;51(11):2375–90.
- Springfield S, et al. Adherence to American Cancer Society and American Institute of Cancer Research dietary guidelines in overweight African American breast cancer survivors. J Cancer Surviv. 2019;13(2):257–68.
- Skinner R, Oeffinger KC. Developing international consensus for late effects screening and guidance. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care. 2013;7(3):303–8.
- 71. Kremer LC, et al. A worldwide collaboration to harmonize guidelines for the long-term follow-up of childhood and young adult cancer survivors: a report from the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(4):543–9.
- Freyer DR, Brugieres L. Adolescent and young adult oncology: transition of care. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2008;50(5 Suppl):1116–9.
- 73. Donohue S, et al. Cancer survivorship care plan utilization and impact on clinical decisionmaking at point-of-care visits with primary care: results from an Engineering, Primary Care, and Oncology Collaborative for Survivorship Health. J Cancer Educ. 2019;34(2):252–8.
- Cox CL, et al. Increasing cardiomyopathy screening in childhood cancer survivors: a cost analysis of advanced practice nurse phone counseling. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2016;43(6):E242–50.
- 75. Rajala S, et al. Use of electronic patient data storage for evaluating and setting the risk category of late effects in childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2020:e28678.
- Raj SP, et al. Development of a web-based psychosocial intervention for adolescent and young adult survivors of pediatric brain tumor. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2018;7(2):187–95.
- Williamson R, et al. Predictors of successful use of a web-based healthcare document storage and sharing system for pediatric cancer survivors: cancer SurvivorLink. J Cancer Surviv. 2014;8(3):355–63.
- Sharp LK, et al. Electronic personal health records for childhood cancer survivors: an exploratory study. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2014;3(3):117–22.

- Williamson RS, et al. Meaningful use of an electronic personal health record (ePHR) among pediatric cancer survivors. Appl Clin Inform. 2017;8(1):250–64.
- Fang SY, et al. Long-term effectiveness of an E-based survivorship care plan for breast cancer survivors: a quasi-experimental study. Patient Educ Couns. 2020;103(3):549–55.
- 81. Smith KC, et al. Comparing web-based provider-initiated and patient-initiated survivorship care planning for cancer patients: a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Cancer. 2016;2(2):e12.
- 82. Dyer G, et al. What they want: inclusion of blood and marrow transplantation survivor preference in the development of models of care for long-term health in Sydney, Australia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2016;22(4):731–43.
- 83. Hahn T, et al. Ascertainment of unmet needs and participation in health maintenance and screening of adult hematopoietic cell transplantation survivors followed in a formal survivorship program. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;23(11):1968–73.
- McCallum M, et al. Supportive care needs after gynecologic cancer: where does sexual health fit in? Oncol Nurs Forum. 2014;41(3):297–306.
- 85. Trotter K, et al. Innovation in survivor care: group visits. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2011;15(2):E24-33.
- 86. Signorelli C, et al. The impact of long-term follow-up care for childhood cancer survivors: a systematic review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2017;114:131–8.
- Ganju RG, et al. The effect of transition clinics on knowledge of diagnosis and perception of risk in young adult survivors of childhood cancer. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2016;38(3):197–201.
- Essig S, et al. Follow-up programs for childhood cancer survivors in Europe: a questionnaire survey. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):e53201.



6

Who Should Be in Charge of Survivorship Care?

Stefan Rauh

What Does Survivorship Care Mean?

Traditionally, medical, but also radiation and surgical oncologists were (and often still are) in charge not only for the active treatment but also for follow-up care of their cancer patients. Often depending on the oncologist's motivations, willingness, and capacities at the end of active treatment or a more or less short phase of surveillance, patients returned to their primary care physicians, often without the necessary guidance and coordination of follow-up [1]. This harmful gap in the continuity of care was well described in the seminal report: "Lost in Transition" which was published by the US Institute of Medicine in 2006 [2]. The report has also defined the multimodality of survivorship care and initiated a search for sustainable and holistic survivor care models.

Change in the general policies towards transition and share of responsibility in cancer survivor care is however imperative due to limited specialist resources facing a growing number of cancer survivors. Scarcity of human resources is a motor in the share of survivorship care among different disciplines and modalities [3–5]. Research in the field of survivorship care has also tried to determine whether one model of care was superior over the other—or whether models were comparable in outcomes while more convenient or less expensive on the other hand.

Cancer follow-up refers to the process of care delivered after the completion of primary cancer treatment, with the main objective being surveillance and prompt detection of recurrence or new cancers, in order to optimize further treatment outcomes [6]. As explained in the introduction, the definition of follow-up care (survivor care) should include more dimensions:

Secondary objectives of follow-up programs include identifying and managing side and late side effects of cancer and its treatment, providing informational and

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_6

S. Rauh (🖂)

Medical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Emile Mayrisch, Esch, Luxembourg

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

psychological support, and relevant referrals to rehabilitation and other healthcare services [7].

From the patient's perspective, follow-up is also meant to give reassurance, help with coping and enable involvement in survivorship care [8].

I will use the terms of long-term follow-up (LTFU)/follow-up (FU) and survivor care (SC) synonymously in this chapter, mostly using the term FU as it is the term used in most publications.

As explained in the previous chapter, there are a variety of FU models (oncologistbased, primary care provider (PCP)-based, specialized nurse-based, survivorship clinic-based, patient self-managed, or a combination of several, which share certain features and have possible advantages and disadvantages.

In current practice, it will mostly be an oncologist (medical, radio, or surgical oncologist) who will initiate the follow-up. Traditionally, he will also pursue FU care. Less often a general surgeon, organ specialist (gynecologist, gastroenterologist, etc.) will carry out follow-up care. This includes consultation of the patient with a physical exam, prescription of diagnostics, referral to (other) specialists, and as well as—when detected—treatments in case of long-term or late effects. Sometimes, the oncologist will also manage non-oncological comorbidities "along the line" as they remain the caretaker scheduling their patients for visits in regular intervals [8–11].

A Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End-Results (SEER) analysis of follow-up of breast cancer patients covered by Medicare in the United States revealed that follow-up was managed in 80% of the time by medical oncologists, 46% of the time by a surgeon and 39% of the time by radiation oncologists. Whereas medical oncologists were predominant as follow-up providers in patients with locally advanced disease and a history of chemotherapy, frail and older patients had a higher probability of non-specialist follow-up care [11]. This might reflect a reasonable pattern to individualize follow-up according to the probability of recurrence and need of systemic treatment on the one hand, and the patient's improbability to benefit from further treatment on the other. This study did however not detect a systematic pattern of combined or single specialist follow-up. There was also no homogeneity concerning the frequency of scheduled follow-up visits [11]. An update 4 years later did not detect any difference to these results [12].

Who Fares Better?—Perceptions of Oncologists, Primary Care Physicians, and Patients

Most studies confronting perceptions have compared oncologist/specialist with primary care physician FU.

Medical Oncologists' Perception of FU

Oncologists in specialized treatment centers have traditionally provided FU care [13]. In several surveys, oncologists consider they should be in charge of the followup of their cancer patients. During active treatment, oncologists often have developed a close relationship with their patients. Based on their knowledge in internal medicine, they also will have often initiated treatments for non-oncologic disorders, as they arise along with antineoplastic therapy. In certain cases, they will already continue to provide treatment beyond the "active" treatment phase (i.e., endocrine treatment in breast cancer). They believe patients to prefer follow-up to be provided by them as specialists rather than general practitioners, whom they do not consider knowledgeable enough to take over [14-18]. They also consider themselves to offer specific skills for follow-up [12]. Thus, they are often reluctant to delegate patients to PCPs or others for FU [19]. This is particularly true for the first 5 years of follow-up [20]. Oncologists acknowledge a role for general practitioners, particularly in psychosocial domains. Interestingly, handling diabetes, hypertension, or other aspects of internal medicine are considered within the oncologists' management skills and provided so as to avoid unnecessary traffic for the patient between different physicians, as they are seen by the specialist in regular tight intervals, anyway [1]. Medical specialists consider PCP important in sharing the management of psychosocial concerns [19, 21-24]. There is no clear pattern of over- and under-prescription in both specialists and PCPs when compared to guideline-oriented FU. Different studies come to different conclusions. Prescription behavior seems rather based on individual caregivers than on specialty [11, 25–27].

Primary Care Providers' (PCPs') Perception of FU

As the number of cancer patients and cancer survivors continue to rise, a continued follow-up by an ever more limited oncology workforce is increasingly unfeasible [28, 29]. Some FU need specialist care (e.g., cystoscopies for bladder cancer), many may however safely be performed by other caregivers [1].

This has led to a shift in follow-up towards primary care physicians at the end of active treatment, which has in some European countries become systematic. In the United Kingdom and the Netherlands, the PCP is the main health provider for secondary care [30]. In a French study on Hodgkin's disease survivors, PCPs were significantly more solicited during the first 4 years of follow-up, even outside of the context of systematic follow-up care [31]. In a Dutch trial, cancer survivors also significantly had more primary care contacts within the first 5 years of follow-up. Interestingly, this was especially the case in younger patients without chronic diseases [30]. In current guidelines, regular assessment of cancer patients is proposed by either an oncologist, a PCP, or both [32–34].

The shift towards PCPs is not just a logical evolution of the oncologist's workload with increasing cancer patients and their rising life expectancy. As oncologists mainly follow-up for recurrence and treatment sequelae [35], many specific needs such as cardiovascular or diabetic conditions (cancer treatment-related or not) or lifestyle issues are better recognized and more often handled by primary care physicians [36].

Some studies have examined whether standards of follow-up care have been respected, according to underlying national guidelines. In a Canadian cross-sectional survey, 21 "need-to-know" breast cancer guidelines were rated by 82

PCPs and nurse practitioners as implemented, aware of but not regularly implemented or unaware of. Only less than half of the guideline recommendations (46.4%) were regularly implemented. Screening for prevention and recurrence had better scores, whereas knowledge and practice gaps were highest concerning recommendations on screening and management of late-term effects [37].

Primary care physicians do not necessarily feel comfortable with the role as main follow-up provider, with no formal education concerning follow-up care provided in current curriculums. In a survey among PCP, 82% believed that primary care guidelines for adult cancer survivors were not well-defined, and 47% complained of inadequate preparation and lack of formal training in cancer survivorship [38, 39]. Some studies found little more than half of the participating PCPs felt comfortable participating in FU, while a same percentage did not wish to manage FU entirely [24, 40–42].

Lacks of time, compensation (including reimbursement issues and patient trust) are other barriers to shift FU to the hands of PCPs [41, 43, 44]. Delays in re-referrals to specialists and rapid access to diagnostic procedures in case of need of exams are a major concern for patients if FU is managed by PCPs [45]. General practitioners reported to have largely relied on "learning by doing" and "hit and miss," with highly variable individual knowledge gaps [44]. In a Canadian survey, PCPs declared being overwhelmed trying to keep up to date through the mass of data and guidelines among all the other primary care topics. They expressed anxiety over dealing with cancer survivors instead of experts. Time constraints and additional workload due to the shift of responsibility were of concern. PCPs felt being taken "out of the loop" while their patients were treated in cancer units and expressed the desire for posttreatment protocols. Providers were interested in empowering survivors to share responsibility or to coordinate their own care, and suggested that guidelines or care plans be provided to patients and providers alike [46]. This survey however did not compare outcomes with a comparable group of specialists. Among 227 general office or clinic-based general internists implicated in follow-up care, four areas of survivorship care were asked (monitoring for cancer recurrence, managing late side effects, sexual function, and mental health). Multidimensional follow-up was only provided by 24% of the participants [38]. Another survey in 298 breast cancer patients from Colorado and Arizona did not find a significant difference in the implementation of the ASCO (American Society of Medical Oncology) guidelines (with items checked however largely limited on recurrence screening [47]. In a large US-based survey, a significant number of PCPs lacked awareness concerning late side effects such as late cardiac toxicity, fertility, neuropathy, or secondary malignancies after exposure of frequently used cytotoxics in contrast to oncologists. Clear guidance from the oncologist to the PCP was considered essential in case of transition of FU [48]. Professional training programs and the development of "Onco-Generalists" have also been proposed [49]. Today, a range of educational tools for PCPs willing to specialize in follow-up care exist, mainly in the Anglo-Saxon language [50–52].

Patients' Perception of FU

Patients' definition of survivorship care varies strongly, as do expectations on the contents and value of follow-up visits.

At least during the first years of FU, patients' major concerns and anxiety stem from the fear of recurrence. FU visits are seen to reassure, provide confirmation of remission or early detection of recurrence (in the perspective of improving survival) [53-57]. The role of intervals between FU visits varies as some patients find longer intervals reassuring while others do not seem to see an influence on their level of anxiety while yet others see their anxiousness increased [53-55]. Clinical tests provide temporary reassurance, with a rebound in anxiety after a certain time or before the next FU date [53-55, 58-60].

Patients tend to attribute the capacity to provide surveillance with qualified information on prognosis rather to oncologists then to general practitioners [61, 62]. Professional interpretation of test results and information on prognosis of their neoplastic condition are valued in specialists and hospital-based follow-up [58, 59, 61]. Patients express their need for rapid access to exams and expertise when needed and their interpretation by professionals [55, 58–60]. Surprisingly, in some studies concerning FU, patients declared no increase of anxiety due to regular consultations, and a low level of anxiousness in case of frequent exams. Stress and anxiety were reported to be minimal when compared to the follow-up benefits received by routine surveillance visits. Patients declared deep satisfaction to hear confirmation of their ongoing remission. They also expressed however their wish to be informed of negative test results or recurrence, and incurable disease [61, 62].

In a lower number of studies, patients declared dissatisfaction with unmet expectations in the exchange of information concerning prognosis, or treatment sequelae, including a lack of being asked relevant questions or receiving satisfactory answers concerning their quality of life [61, 63]. Patients noted the absence of emotional support. Anxiety over tests and consultation was highest early in FU, in younger patients and particularly in patients with young children [61, 64].

In a large survey among early breast cancer survivors from a SEER database, a majority of patients expressed a preference for PCP concerning the handling of comorbidities and general preventive care, whereas they attributed the task of cancer follow-up and screening for recurrence and other cancers to their oncologist. However, a large proportion of women with higher education preferred that oncologists be in charge of all services [36]. The authors concluded that patient education about different competencies of PCP and oncologist was needed. In a Dutch study, patients expressed high satisfaction with specialist (surgeon) led follow-up and expressed higher willingness for a transition to PCP-led follow-up only in the case of low risk of cancer recurrence [65].

In several studies, FU by specialized nurses has been compared with physicians. Results showed no significant differences in endpoints, but a trend towards higher patient satisfaction concerning psychosocial support, support in coping with the disease, improved access to care, continuity and time as compared with physicians (mainly PCPs) [66–71]. In a randomized study in colorectal cancer survivors, survivors in the experimental group receiving nurse-led survivorship care were more satisfied with care and empathy. Psychosocial issues were rather discussed with a clinic-based specialized nurse than a PCP [66, 72].

Some patient perceptions were independent of the caregiver:

Psychosocial support is seen as important, even though patients acknowledge that providing comprehensive integration into routine FU is difficult in the context of time constraints [55, 73].

No matter who the responsible caregiver is, a long-term relationship with one correspondent as caregiver correlates with higher confidence and satisfaction of FU consultations. This also includes a good relationship and continuity in FU care [58, 63, 74, 75].

Patients with regular follow-up expressed higher satisfaction as compared to patients with infrequent consultations. Patients wish emotional reassurance from follow-up visits. "Confidence" and "trust" in their caregiver are often expressed values motivating the desire for follow-up care [61, 62].

Some patients mentioned parking facilities, distance from home, or less expensive visits as reasons for their preference, others the length of consultation [76, 77].

In summary, patients expected expert follow-up related to the reassurance of persisting remission, early recurrence, and professional information on prognosis, while expressing need for holistic management of their health issues with psychosocial support from a caregiver with close relationship—also providing sufficient time during consultation. Rapid access to consultations and exams without unnecessary delays are a concern when shifting FU from oncologists/specialists to other caregivers.

Who Fares Better? Evidence

Survival Benefit According to the Chosen FU Model

There are few studies providing data on overall survival (OS) differences in specialist-led versus PCP- or nurse-led follow-up. One large study on breast cancer patients [78] and colon cancer patients [79] showed in a pooled Cochrane metaanalysis no significant difference in OS, still favoring specialist-led follow-up [80]. Importantly, in both studies PCPs (as well as specialists) were provided guidance through a follow-up protocol. (the use of the follow-up protocol for colon cancer patients was not compulsory).

Overall survival (OS) is an ambitious study endpoint: due to the higher cure rates and longer follow-up duration, a need for high patient numbers and strong homogeneity of the comparative groups, the endpoint may be difficult to reach. Overall evidence was considered of low certainty in a Cochrane review [80]. Outcomes may be difficult to compare as follow-up varies according to the type of cancer and the detailed circumstances of follow-up provided.

Progression Free Survival and Early Detection of Recurrence

Progression-free survival and early detection of recurrence have been compared in various studies between models of FU.

Recurrence was compared in a Swedish randomized study in 264 early breast cancer patients (stage I and II) comparing "routine follow-up" by physicians compared with "specialist nurse intervention with check-ups on demand." No significant difference in the rate of recurrence was found both in locoregional recurrence and in distant metastases. Survival estimates were similar at 3 and 5 years with event numbers too small to draw conclusions [67].

In a study of 203 patients with resected colon cancers stage Dukes A, B, and C patients were randomized between follow-up by a surgeon and the PCP. In both groups' patients received 3 monthly follow-ups and a yearly fecal occult blood test. Time and number of recurrences were secondary study endpoints after 2 years of follow-up. Recurrence rates were statistically equal, as was time of recurrence detection (with 8 months slightly lower in the surgeon group than the 9.5 months in the PCP group [79]. Again, evidence was of low certainty [80].

Follow-up of colon or early breast cancer, which represents most studies may not allow to generalize conclusions for survival or recurrence in other cancer types.

Other Endpoints

Quality of life, depression, anxiety, and costs have been compared between specialist and PCP FU. In a pooled analysis, there were no significant differences between the approaches with broad confidence intervals and overall low-certainty evidence [80].

Cost-effectiveness has been examined in several settings. The main endpoint for efficiency was the detection of recurrence. PCP-provided FU seeming more cost-efficient as compared to oncologists [81], nurse-led FU seems more cost-efficient than PCP-led FU [82]. Remote FU is even less expensive [83, 84].

Many questions still remain open, as studies with a high level of evidence are still lacking. Many studies have different endpoints and different methodologies of measurement. Shared-care models have not been compared in high evidence studies concerning endpoints.

Current/Existing Models of Survivorship Care

The rising number of cancer survivors and the limited specialist task force have led to progressively consider PCPs for FU [85]. Research has established that while there was no significant difference in outcomes such as overall survival between FU, oncologists, and PCPs have different strengths and weaknesses as well as patient preferences (as pointed out earlier in this chapter). This led to new models of shared care. But the supply of PCP's as a workforce is also ever more limited [86],

and the identified needs of survivors have become more complex. This has brought interest to alternatives such as specialized nurses or PCP's with distinct training. Here are the main current models of survivorship care [87, 88] (Fig. 6.1).

Oncologist-led FU and **PCP-led FU** have already been mentioned earlier. As there is no complex underlying concept, these will not be discussed (again) in detail here. The take-home message is that they have not shown significant differences in randomized studies comparing endpoints such as overall or progression-free survival or quality of life [80]. As already stated, emphasis of oncologist FU rather remains surveillance and detection of treatment sequelae, while PCP FU deals more in depth with non-cancer morbidities, prevention, and psychosocial aspects [89–94].





in a multidisciplinary clinic hospital survivorship department

by a

- oncologist
- organ specialist
- specialized nurse
- onco-practitioner



In hospital /office by the

oncologist or organ specialist (gynecologist, surgeon, etc)



by the primary care physician (PCP) (office)



by a specialized nurse (hospital-based, remote, at home)



eHealth, mHealth, self-managed

Shared Models

Shared-care models are generally well accepted and implemented in a variety of fields of medicine, such as diabetes, renal disease, or anticoagulation [95–97].

The importance of a shared follow-up between oncologists and primary care physicians has been recognized in 2006 with the notion of a transition gap in information and care between the handover from a specialist "back" to the general practitioner, anywhere after the first years of follow-up care after active treatment [1, 2]. There is evidence that cancer patients received less care for non-oncologic matters than healthy controls when treated mainly by an oncologist. Likewise, they (benefitted from more preventive care when treated by PCPs. Elderly patients may particularly benefit from general practitioners' competencies in handling geriatric morbidities [89–94].

The highest possible level of care was provided in a shared-care model. Shared responsibilities also mandated a continuous flow of information between caregivers. Transfer of information between the oncologist and the PCP should be bilateral [1, 89].

Survivors considered oncologists and PCP for different aspects at different timepoints. As fear of recurrence and the need for reassurance play a major role for cancer survivors after completion of active treatment, oncologist FU is favored initially, as they are considered more knowledgeable. Parallel psychosocial support from PCPs is appreciated. Symptom management may be more easily obtained through PCPs between consultations with the oncologist. Within the following years, these issues, as well as concerns in general health bring a shift in the patient's main caregiver towards his PCP, while often after a 5-year follow-up, the role of the oncologist in LTFU fades [1, 49, 62]. There is no sound evidence that shared models provide better overall survival, progression-free survival nor better scores in quality of life and relief of anxiety or depression [80] (Fig. 6.2).



Fig. 6.2 Different actors in survivorship follow-up

Shared Models with Risk-Stratified Individualized Survivorship Follow-Up

Most studies of follow-up care have been made in breast and colorectal cancer survivors. Studies in other cancer types, such as melanoma, seminoma, or non-small cell lung cancer are rare. Risk of recurrence, overall prognosis, and the possibility of life-prolonging interventions do not only vary according to different types of cancer but also on the initial stage of disease, initial treatment, and the general shape of the patient including age, performance status, and comorbidities. Some survivors need complex multidisciplinary management or specific invasive tests in FU, while others only require regular consultations with or without minimal diagnostics. Rare cancers may need highly specialized FU and care in dedicated centers. Identifying the risk of recurrence and secondary malignancies is a major component of survivorship care [98]. Therefore, FU should be tailored individually and shared between oncologists, other specialists, PCPs, or other caregivers. FU frequency and intensity should be based on the patient's risk of recurrence [1, 99, 100], as well as evidence of benefit of a high-intensity approach. The United Kingdom National Survivorship Initiative has already proposed a risk-based FU approach in 2012, implementing all available resources from specialist care to PCP and nurse-led FU as well as remote and patient-empowered self-managed FU [98].

In the classical risk model, survivors are stratified into three risk group models, derived from a depression scale for primary care. The risk group defines whether survivors will be followed-up primarily by oncologists, PCP, or both and to what intensity [101].

According to stratification,

- Low-risk survivors have common cancers (breast, colorectal, prostate) in early stage, and receive standard treatment. These patients are directed for main FU to the PCP, in particular in presence of high non-malignant comorbidities.
- High-risk cancer survivors have rare cancers or more advanced stages of malignant disease, complex treatments with high risk of late and long-term effects. These are considered to require integrated constant specialist FU care (including the option of an "onco-generalist") in a shared model.
- Intermediate risk survivors have fewer common cancers or rather advanced stages, multimodal treatments, and a moderate non-cancer chronic condition burden. These patients may require more expertise than provided by regular PCPs suggesting specially trained general practitioners ("onco-generalists") or management in clinics. As an alternative, these patients might benefit from FU by caregivers in a survivorship clinic-like structure [49, 98, 99].

Nurse Practitioners in FU

Specialized nurses are increasingly commissioned for follow-up of cancer survivors. Models range from consultations in a (hospital-based) survivorship clinic to home visits and telephone-based FU [102–110]. In the United Kingdom, Canada,

and other countries, nurse practitioners (NPs) or specialized nurses are primarily responsible for hospital follow-up. This means that the patient has to visit the nurse for consultation in the hospitals [102, 103]. Other, more recent models include telephone-based consultations or even home visits [107]. Nurse-led FU has been reported to be safe and equivalent to physician-led FU in study endpoints such as survival, recurrence detection, quality of life, or patient satisfaction [104–110]. Patients seem highly satisfied with nurse-led FU as nurses "were easier to talk to and had more time." They were described as being accessible, had a personalized approach, and were attentive towards psychosocial needs. The lack of specialist knowledge and skills was addressed as a disadvantage of nurse-led follow-up [57, 70, 101].

Telephone-based care has proven to be a feasible alternative to traditional clinical FU. This may be especially advantageous for older and frail patients with comorbidities and difficulties leaving their home for hospital visits. Since it does not require face-to-face visits, patients need less traveling time and efforts as well as less expenses. In the literature, telephone-based follow-up is most commonly carried out by nurses [108–112].

Virtual Follow-Up

More recently, video-assisted consultations via smartphone or personal computer [113–118] have emerged. Video consultations (VC) offer the advantages of telephone-based consultations in terms of costs, patient's efforts to present at the hospital. As compared to telephone consultations, they may be particularly interesting when visual diagnostic decision-making is of interest [114]. Also, in case where emotions need to be better captured—both in the case of delivery of good news as well as bad news. In comparison, VC provided higher diagnostic accuracy, less medication errors, and better decision-making when compared with telephone consultations alone [114, 116].

eHealth and eMedicine in Survivorship Care FU

The rapidly evolving communication technologies and ever broader use of computers, tablets smartphones, and other devices as well as the explosion in the development of applications broadly used all over the globe have continued to give rise to ever newer and more perfectioned forms of telecommunications, live as well as through automated algorithms, in every aspect of everyday life, including medicine, in forms of eHealth and mHealth [119, 120]. In the following I will use the following definitions:

"eHealth" refers to the broad use of health information and communication technologies and networks to enhance patient-centered care delivery. Other terms commonly used interchangeably with eHealth include telehealth, telemedicine, and teleoncology. "mHealth" refers to the use of mobile and wireless devices (e.g., computers, tablets, and smartphones) with health applications that support patient care, education, and research. We also include health information technologies, which refer to technologies that support the collection, aggregation, and management of health information (e.g., electronic health records and online portals) [119].

eHealth and mHealth shift the primary intention from the caregiver (oncologist, PCP, nurse, etc.) towards the patient himself.

Applications are multiple: eHealth and mHealth technologies are "home-based" and allow access to survivorship care in remote areas or for patients with physical disabilities or frailty, which make institution-based consultations difficult. A major advantage is to provide rapid access to specialized care in this survivorship population [118]. Other strengths are efficient connection within treatment networks and patients [120, 121], symptom control, establishment of individualized survivorship care plans, and patient education [119].

eHealdh and mHealth greatly facilitate documenting and treating patient-related outcomes (PRO) which are increasingly recognized as essential in the supportive FU of cancer patient during treatment [122–124]. PRO provide information deriving directly from patients without interpretation or amendment from caregivers thus avoiding the risk of underreporting and under-recognition by caregivers [122]. eHealth devices may enhance collection of PROs, spread communication among multidisciplinary teams in real-time, and even permit patient self-management through decisional algorithms. Their implementation in survivorship is raising increasing interest and is subject to various ongoing research projects [119, 125]. Telemedicine interventions are generally well accepted by patients and highly costefficient [126, 127]. They are also advantageous since they are easily deployable in countries and areas with low population density or/and limited resources [128, 129]. Remote surveillance programs using on-demand consultations, emails, and videoconferences in the FU of genito-urinary and breast cancers in the UK and Canada have been shown to be safe with comparable outcomes, less costly, and favored by patients [126, 130].

Remote patient management through eHealth and mHealth have gained recently an even higher importance as they allow increased patient's safety during the COVID19 pandemic [131].

eHealth and mHealth technologies may alleviate pressure from overloaded caregivers through patient empowerment and increased self-management [125]. Artificial intelligence and more sophisticated algorithms may provide survivorship care in a more pluri-dimensional, individualized, and holistic approach: "What works for whom in which circumstances?" [132, 133].

Though highly promising, high-level evidence of benefits and comparisons with other models are still often lacking. Implementation within an already busy workflow for caregivers, universality in use for all patients, and compliance are issues.

Age, patient education, medical literacy, and access to the Internet are major determinants for the implementation and use of eHealth and mHealth in cancer [134, 135].

Patient Self-Management

60–90% of recurrences are detected by the patients themselves in between regular follow-up visits [136, 137]. Evidence of a measurable benefit in survival, early diagnosis of recurrence is lacking for many surveillance models. The traditional form of regular face-to-face FU consultations with test prescription for surveillance has also been challenged in this context, as patient empowerment through education and patient-centered access to care are becoming increasingly available through eHealth and mHealth [138–140].

In consequence, a further alternative to traditional FU is patient empowerment and self-managed FU care, mainly supported with remote and virtual tools [125, 141]. Self-management and self-referral with the aid of survivorship care plans are even more seducing concepts in the face of shortages of the oncologic workforce. Patient care can be provided through telephone FU or technology-aided FU through applications, video consultations, e-mailing, or their combination [119, 125].

Patient empowerment through education and intensified contacts, either by phone or electronically have been compared in numerous settings. Studies integrating symptom education and monitoring varied in methodology and endpoints (which did not include overall survival or early recurrence detection). There is so far no proven and confirmed advantage of this intensified approach over usual FU care [80]. A shift towards more self-management seems however a logical consequence of the ever more limited resources of specialized caregivers and individualized patient care. Therefore, superiority as compared with a control group might not be a necessary endpoint to favor these approaches. In fact, self-managed FU care seems at least equivalent as compared with traditional FU in some studies. Patient-led and self-managed FU has been shown to be well accepted, cost-efficient, and comparable in safety and guidelines compliance in various studies, at least in a low-risk population [142–145]. Self-management and empowerment need guidance and support to succeed, raising the importance of survivorship plans [146]. Telemedicine has greatly advanced self-management strategies [88, 116].

Europe and Survivorship Care

The United States Commission on Cancer has established a framework defining standards in survivorship care for patients treated in curative intent for stages I–III, who have completed active therapy (other than long-term hormonal treatment). Its implementation is mandatory for accreditation as a recognized cancer center [147]. Unfortunately, effective survivorship care is highly heterogenous in its availability and form throughout Europe. Survivorship programs, whenever present, are mainly established by individual institutions, rather than nationwide or on a regional level. Healthcare providers and systems vary with different available workforce resources, health service providers, and budgets, differently defined responsibilities among caregivers and reimbursement schemes. There are multiple stakeholders involved in

survivorship care issues. Distance and access to care may differ greatly for patients depending on their geographic location [148].

Past and present initiatives on national and European levels tend to provide equal access to survivorship care to patients across Europe [149–152].

Conclusion

Ever since survivorship care was identified as a major need for cancer patients after active treatment by the Institute of Medicine and the call for a structured approach [1, 2], the definition of its contents and the involved caregivers has changed and diversified over time in parallel both due to caregiver's and patients' perceptions and needs.

As a limited workforce encounters ever more cancer survivors living longer, the traditional model of specialist follow-up, derived from pediatric oncology FU, is unsustainable. Thus, responsibilities for surveillance have been progressively shifted from specialists to general practitioners, nurses, or other caregivers. This has generally been proven to be safe, with certain advantages and disadvantages linked to each model (expert knowledge, prevention, comorbidities, etc.). Lately, eHealth and mHealth provide even further tools to rationalize workforce and expenses while providing more intensive follow-up options with high patient satisfaction.

As cancer survivors live longer, their needs also change over time: The concern for recurrence diminishes, comorbidities may increase—and some sequelae or risks of treatment-related late effects last. This has led to the appraisal of shared models between specialists and general practitioners or other caregivers.

At the same time, ever more complex needs have been identified in cancer survivors, which vary according to cancer type, stage, and comorbidities, but most of all to the individual patient. These are also increasingly identified and listed by patients themselves, who aim at more empowerment and participation in management issues. Comparably to active treatment, survivorship care has evolved—at least in theory in personalized medicine with individualized care.

As follow-up care has gradually evolved from pure surveillance to survivorship care, holistic management clearly requires a multidisciplinary approach which has to accompany patients in their everyday life. This can only be provided by a multidisciplinary team and needs continuous access rather than cumbersome convocations within lengthy intervals.

So, who should be the provider for follow-up care? Most probably, many different models exist and can be considered. In a heterogenous landscape, it may very well be a different person or setting in one country, region, or institution than in another. For some, treatment-intense and complex types of cancer, such as head and neck cancers, the general FU considerations are insufficient: multidisciplinary and specific survivorship FU has to be planned [153].

Today, we define far better the needs of our patients in survivorship care, and our empowered patients wish increasingly to actively participate in their care management, also articulating far better their needs. Taking into account the evidence stated in this chapter, it seems to the author, that the best model for the individual patient will be the one which realistically best covers his needs in his environment.

This implies a well-managed transition from active treatment to survivorship care with clearly defined tasks for the participating caregiver(s) and one identified "key contact" person [154]. One proposed method to achieve this is a survivorship plan [2].

CanCon resumes as follows

- GPs or a primary care team should play a relevant role in patients' follow-up;
- the follow-up model should provide a rapid reentry to specialized cancer care, if required; and
- a health care professional should assume the role of a coordinating case manager by being a point of reference and contact for the patient and the team [155].

References

- 1. Oeffinger KC. McCabe: models for delivering survivorship care. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:5117–24.
- Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. National Academies Press; 2005.
- 3. Erikson C, Salsberg E, Forte G, et al. Future supply and demand for oncologists. J Oncol Pract. 2007;3(2):79–86.
- Campbell NC, MacLeod U, Weller D. Primary care oncology: essential if high quality cancer care is to be achieved for all. Fam Pract. 2002;19(6):577–8.
- 5. Lichtenfeld L. Cancer care and survivorship planning: promises and challenges. J Oncol Pract. 2009;5(3):116–8.
- Collins LG, Nash R, Round T, Newman B. Perceptions of upper-body problems during recovery from breast cancer treatment. Support Care Cancer. 2004;12(2):106–13.
- Rose PW, Watson E. What is the value of routine follow-up after diagnosis and treatment of cancer? Br J Gen Pract. 2009;59(564):482–3.
- Margenthaler JA, Allam E, Chen L, et al. Surveillance of patients with breast cancer after curative-intent primary treatment: current practice patterns. J Oncol Pract. 2012;8(2):79–83.
- Neuman HB, Rathouz PJ, Winslow E, et al. Use of a novel statistical technique to examine the delivery of breast cancer follow-up care by different types of oncology providers. J Eval Clin Pract. 2016;22(5):737–44.
- Weaver KE, Aziz NM, Arora NK, et al. Follow-up care experiences and perceived quality of care among long-term survivors of breast, prostate, colorectal, and gynecologic cancers. J Oncol Pract. 2014;10(4):e231–9.
- Neuman HB, Weiss JM, Schrag D, et al. Patient demographic and tumor characteristics influencing oncologist follow-up frequency in older breast cancer survivors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(13):4128–36.
- Neuman HB, Schumacher JR, Schneider DF, et al. Variation in the types of providers participating in breast cancer follow-up care: a SEER-medicare analysis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:683–91.
- Grunfeld E, Gray A, Mant D, et al. Follow-up of breast cancer in primary care vs specialist care: results of an economic evaluation. Br J Cancer. 1999;79(7/8):1227–33.
- Murchie P, Norwood PF, Pietrucin-Materek M, et al. Determining cancer survivors' preferences to inform new models of follow-up care. Br J Cancer. 2016;115(12):1495–503.
- Hugh-Yeun K, Kumar D, Moghaddamjou A, et al. Young adult cancer survivors' follow-up care expectations of oncologists and primary care physicians. J Cancer Surv. 2017;11(3):295–301.

- Chubak J, Aiello Bowles EJ, Tuzzio L, et al. Perspectives of cancer survivors on the role of different healthcare providers in an integrated delivery system. J Cancer Surviv. 2014;8(2):229–38.
- 17. Hudson SV, Miller SM, Hemler J, et al. Adult cancer survivors discuss follow-up in primary care: 'not what I want, but maybe what I need'. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10(5):418–27.
- Hudson SV, Ohman-Strickland PA, Bator A, et al. Breast and prostate cancer survivors' experiences of patient-centered cancer follow-up care from primary care physicians and oncologists. J Cancer Surviv. 2016;10(5):906–14.
- Cheung W, Noone AM, Potosky AL, et al. Physician preferences and attitudes regarding different models of cancer survivorship care: a comparison of primary care providers and oncologists. J Cancer Surviv. 2013;7(3):343–54.
- Cheung W, Neville BA, Cameron DB, et al. Comparisons of patient and physician expectations for cancer survivorship care. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(15):2489–95.
- Earle CC, Grunfeld E, Coyle D, et al. Cancer physicians' attitudes toward colorectal cancer follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2003;14(3):400–5.
- Forsythe LP, Alfano CM, Leach CR, et al. Who provides psychosocial follow-up care for post-treatment cancer survivors? A survey of medical oncologists and primary care physicians. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(23):2897–905.
- Klabunde CN, Han PK, Earle CC, et al. Physician roles in the cancer-related follow-up care of cancer survivors. Fam Med. 2013;45(7):463–74.
- Potosky AL, Han PK, Rowland J, et al. Differences between primary care physicians' and oncologists' knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding the care of cancer survivors. J Gen Intern Med. 2011;26(12):1403–10.
- Elston Lafata J, Simpkins J, Schultz L, et al. Routine surveillance care after cancer treatment with curative intent. Med Care. 2005;43:592–9.
- Salloum RG, Hornbrook MC, Fishman PA, et al. Adherence to surveillance care guidelines after breast and colorectal cancer treatment with curative intent. Cancer. 2012;118:5644–51.
- 27. Keating NL, Landrum MB, Guadagnoli E, et al. Surveillance testing among survivors of early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:1074–81.
- Debono D. Coping with the oncology workforce shortage: transitioning oncology follow-up care to primary care providers. J Oncol Pract. 2010;6(4):203–5.
- Erikson C, Salsberg E, Forte G, et al. Future supply and demand for oncologists: challenges to assuring access to oncology services. J Oncol Pract. 2007;3(2):79–86.
- Heins M, Schellevies F, Rijken M, et al. Determinants of increased primary health care use in cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:4155–60.
- Joly F, Henry-Amar M, Arveux P, et al. Late psychosocial sequelae in Hodgkin's disease survivors: a French population-based case-control study. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14(9):2444–53.
- Skolarus TA, Wolf AM, Erb NL, et al. American Cancer Society prostate cancer survivorship care guidelines. CA Cancer J Clin. 2014;64:225–49.
- Runowicz CD, Leach CR, Henry NL, et al. American Cancer Society/American Society of Clinical Oncology breast cancer survivorship care guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:611–35.
- NCCN clinical practice guidelines: survivorship, version 2.2020-July 14, 2020, http://www. nccn.org
- Neuman HB, Steffens NM, Jacobson N, et al. Oncologists' perspectives of their roles and responsibilities during multi-disciplinary breast cancer follow-up. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(3):708–14.
- Wallner LP, Li Y, Furgal AKC, et al. Patient preferences for primary care provider roles in breast cancer survivorship care. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(25):2942–8.
- Lutkar-Flude M, Aiken A, McColl MA, et al. Are primary care providers implementing evidence-based care for breast cancer survivors? Can Fam Physician. 2015;61:978–84.
- Bober SL, Recklitis CJ, Campbell EG, et al. Caring for cancer survivors. Cancer. 2009;115(18 suppl):4409–18.
- Greenfield DM, Absolom K, Eiser C, et al. Follow-up care for cancer survivors: the views of clinicians. Br J Cancer. 2009;101(4):568–74.

- Cheung WY, Aziz N, Noone AM, et al. Physician preferences and attitudes regarding different models of cancer survivorship care: a comparison of primary care providers and oncologists. J Cancer Surviv. 2013;7(3):343–54.
- 41. Del Giudice ME, Grunfeld E, Harvey BJ, et al. Primary care physicians' views of routine follow-up care of cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(20):3338–45.
- 42. Nissen MJ, Beran MS, Lee MW, et al. Views of primary care providers on follow-up care of cancer patients. Fam Med. 2007;39(7):477–82.
- 43. Roorda C, Berendsen AJ, Haverkamp M, et al. Discharge of breast cancer patients to primary care at the end of hospital follow-up: a cross-sectional survey. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(8):1836–44.
- 44. Lawrence RA, McLoone JK, Wakefield CE, et al. Primary care physicians' perspectives of their role in cancer care: a systematic review. J Gen Intern Med. 2016;31(10):1222–36.
- 45. van der Stok EP, Spaander MCW, Grunhagen DJ, et al. Surveillance after curative treatment for colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017;14(5):297–315.
- Luctkar-Flude M, Aiken A, McColl MA, Trammer J. What do primary care providers think about implementing breast cancer survivorship care? Curr Oncol. 2018;25(3):196–205.
- 47. Risendal BC, Sedjo R, Giuliano AR, et al. Surveillance and beliefs about follow-up care among long-term breast cancer survivors: a comparison of primary care and oncology providers. J Cancer Surviv. 2016;10:96–102.
- Nekhlyudov L, Aziz NM, Lerro C, et al. Oncologists' and primary care physicians' awareness of late and long-term effects of chemotherapy: implications for care of the growing population of survivors. J Oncol Pract. 2013;10(2):e29–36.
- Nekhlyudov L, O'Malley DM, Hudson SV. Integrating primary care providers in the care of cancer survivors: gaps in evidence and future opportunities. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(1):e30–8.
- Donohue S, Sesto ME, Hahn DL, et al. Evaluating primary care providers' views on survivorship care plans generated by an electronic health record system. J Oncol Pract. 2015;11:e329–35.
- Brennan ME, Gormally JF, Butow P, et al. Survivorship care plans in cancer: a systematic review of care plan outcomes. Br J Cancer. 2014;111:1899–908.
- 52. Chaput G. The survivorship care plan: a valuable tool for primary care providers? Curr Oncol. 2018;25(3):194–5.
- Beaver K, Luker K. Follow-up in breast cancer clinics: reassuring for patients rather than detecting recurrence. Psychooncology. 2005;14(2):94–101.
- Bradley EJ, Pitts M, Redman CWE, Calvert E. The experience of long-term hospital followup for women who have suffered early stage gynecological cancer: a qualitative interview study. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 1999;9(6):491–6.
- Pennery E, Mallet J. A preliminary study of patients' perceptions of routine follow-up after treatment for breast cancer. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2000;4(3):138–45.
- Sahay TB, Gray RE, Fitch M. A qualitative study of patient perspectives on colorectal cancer. Cancer Pract. 2000;8(1):38–44.
- Lewis RA, Neal RD, Hendry M, et al. Patients' and healthcare professionals' views of cancer follow-up. Br J Gen Pract. 2009;59:e248–59.
- Adewuyi-Dalton R, Ziebland S, Grunfeld E, et al. Patients' views of routine hospital follow-up: a qualitative study of women with breast cancer in remission. Psychooncology. 1998;7(5):436–9.
- 59. Cox K, Wilson E, Heath W, et al. Preferences for follow-up after treatment for lung cancer. Cancer Nurs. 2006;29(3):176–87.
- 60. Jiwa M, Thompson J, Coleman R, Reed M. Breast cancer follow-up: could primary care be the right venue? Curr Med Res Opin. 2006;22(4):625–30.
- Berian JR, Cuddy AC, Francescati AB, et al. A systematic review of patient perspectives on surveillance after colorectal cancer treatment. J Cancer Surviv. 2017;11(5):542–52.
- Mayer EL, Gropper AB, Neville BA, et al. Breast cancer survivors' perception of survivorship care options. J Clin Oncol. 2011;30:158–63.

- 63. Arora NK, Reeve BB, Hays RD, et al. Assessment of quality of cancer-related follow-up care from the cancer survivor's perspective. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(10):1280–9.
- Mullens AB, McCaul KD, Erickson SC, Sandgren AK. Coping after cancer: risk perceptions, worry, and health behaviors among colorectal cancer survivors. Psychooncology. 2004;13(6):367–76.
- Wind J, Duineveld LA, van der Heijden, et al. Follow-up after colon cancer treatment in the Netherlands; a survey of patients, GPs, and colorectal surgeons. EJSO. 2013;39:837–43.
- 66. Jefford M, Gough K, Drosdowsky A, et al. A randomized controlled trial of nurse-led supportive care package (SuvivorCare) for survivors of colorectal cancer. Oncologist. 2016;21:1014–23.
- 67. Koinberg IL, Fridlund B, Engholm GB, et al. Nurse-led follow-up on demand or by physician after breast cancer surgery: a randomized study. Eur Oncol Nurs. 2004;8:109–17.
- Baravelli C, Krishnasamy M, Pezaro C, et al. The views of bowel cancer survivors and health care professionals regarding survivorship care plans and post treatment follow up. J Cancer Surviv. 2009;3(2):99–108.
- Beaver K, Latif S, Williamson S, et al. An exploratory study of the follow-up care needs of patients treated for colorectal cancer. J Clin Nurs. 2010;19(23–24):3291–300.
- Beaver K, Wilson C, Procter D, Sheridan J, Towers G, Heath J, et al. Colorectal cancer followup: patient satisfaction and amenability to telephone after care. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2011;15(1):23–30.
- Helgesen F, Andersson SO, Gustafsson O, et al. Follow-up of prostate cancer patients by on-demand contacts with a specialist nurse: a randomised study. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 2000;34:55–61.
- Browne S, Dowie A. Patients' needs following colorectal cancer diagnosis: where does primary care fit in? Br J Gen Pract. 2011;61(592):e692–9.
- Koinberg I, Holmberg L, Fridlund B. Satisfaction with routine follow-up visits to the physician—the needs of patients with breast cancer. Acta Oncol. 2001;40(4):454–9.
- Allen A. The meaning of the breast cancer follow-up experience for the women who attend. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2002;6(3):155–61.
- 75. Anvik T, Holtedahl KA, Mikalsen H. 'When patients have cancer, they stop seeing me'—the role of the general practitioner in early follow-up of patients with cancer—a qualitative study. BMC Fam Pract. 2006;7:19. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-7-19.
- Hall SJ, Samuel LM, Murchie P. Toward shared care for people with cancer: developing the model with patients and GPs. Fam Pract. 2011;28(5):554–64.
- 77. Nugteren IC, Duineveld LAM, Wieldraaijer T, et al. Need for general practitioner involvement and eHealth in colon cancer survivorship care: patients' perspectives. Fam Pract. 2017;34(4):473–8.
- Grunfeld E, Levine MN, Julian JA, et al. Randomized trial of long-term follow-up for earlystage breast cancer: a comparison of family physician versus specialist care. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(6):848–55.
- Wattchow DA, Weller DP, Esterman A, et al. General practice vs surgical-based follow-up for patients with colon cancer: randomised controlled trial. Br J Cancer. 2006;94(8):1116–21.
- Høeg BL, Bidstrup PE, Karlsen RV, et al. Follow-up strategies following completion of primary cancer treatment in adult cancer survivors. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019; Issue 11
- Augestad KM, Norum J, Dehof S, et al. Cost-effectiveness and quality of life in surgeon versus general practitioner-organised colon cancer surveillance: a randomized controlled trial. BMJ Open. 2013;3(4):e002391.
- Jeyarajah S, Adams KJ, Higgins L, et al. Prospective evaluation of a colorectal cancer nurse follow-up clinic. Color Dis. 2010;13(1):31–8.
- 83. Qaderi SM, Vromen H, Dekker HM, et al. Development and implementation of a remote follow-up plan for colorectal cancer patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2020;46(3):429–32.
- Batehup L, Porter K, Gage H, et al. Follow-up after curative treatment for colorectal cancer: longitudinal evaluation of patient initiated follow-up in the first 12 months. Support Care Cancer. 2017;25(7):2063–73.

- 85. Shulman LN, Jacobs LA, Greenfield S, et al. Cancer care and cancer survivorship care in the United States: will we be able to care for these patients in the future? J Oncol Pract. 2009;5(3):119–23.
- Petterson SM, Liaw WR, Phillips RL, et al. Projecting US primary care physician workforce needs: 2010–2025. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10(6):503–9.
- 87. Nekhlyudov L. Integrating primary care in cancer survivorship programs: models of care for a growing patient population. Oncologist. 2014;19(6):579–82.
- Quaderi SM, Swartjes H, Custersa JAE, et al. Health care provider and patient preparedness for alternative colorectal cancer follow-up; a review. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2020;46:1779–88.
- 89. Earle CC, Neville BA. Under use of necessary care among cancer survivors. Cancer. 2004;101(8):1712–9.
- Snyder CF, Frick KD, Peairs KS, et al. Comparing care for breast cancer survivors to noncancer controls: a five-year longitudinal study. J Gen Intern Med. 2009;24(4):469–74.
- Snyder CF, Earle CC, Herbert RJ, et al. Preventive care for colorectal cancer survivors: a 5-year longitudinal study. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(7):1073–779.
- Snyder CF, Frick KD, Herbert RJ, et al. Preventive care in prostate cancer patients: following diagnosis and for five-year survivors. J Cancer Surviv. 2011;5(3):283–91.
- Earle CC, Burstein HJ, Winer EP, et al. Quality of non-breast cancer health maintenance among elderly breast cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(8):1447–51.
- Khan NF, Carpenter L, Watson E, et al. Cancer screening and preventative care among longterm cancer survivors in the United Kingdom. Br J Cancer. 2010;102(7):1085–90.
- 95. Ciardullo AV, Daghio MM, Brunetti M, et al. Changes in long-term glycemic control and performance indicators in a cohort of type 2 diabetic patients cared for by general practitioners: findings from the Modena Diabetes Project. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2003;13:372–6.
- 96. Jones C, Roderick P, Harris S, et al. An evaluation of a shared primary and secondary care nephrology service for managing patients with moderate to advanced CKD. Am J Kidney Dis. 2006;47:103–14.
- Holm T, Lassen JF, Husted SE, et al. A randomized controlled trial of shared care versus routine care for patients receiving oral anticoagulant therapy. J Intern Med. 2002;252:322–31.
- Jefford M, Rowland J, Grunfeld E, et al. Implementing improved post-treatment care for cancer survivors in England, with reflections from Australia, Canada and the USA. Br J Cancer. 2013;108:14–20.
- 99. McCabe M, Patridge A, Grunfeld E, et al. Risk-based health care, the cancer survivor, the oncologist and the primary care physician. Semin Oncol. 2013;40(6):804–12.
- 100. McCabe M, Bhatia S, Oeffinger KC, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology statement: achieving high-quality cancer survivorship care. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(5):631–40.
- Dietrich AJ, Oxman TE, Williams JW Jr, et al. Re-engineering systems for the treatment of depression in primary care: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2004;329:602. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38219.481250.55.
- 102. Loftus LA, Weston V. The development of nurse-led clinics in cancer care. J Clin Nurs. 2002;10:215–20.
- 103. Moore S, Corner J, Haviland J, et al. Nurse led follow up and conventional medical follow up in management of patients with lung cancer: randomised trial. BMJ. 2002;325:1145. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bmj.325.7373.1145.
- Strand E, Nygren I, Bergkvist L, et al. Nurse or surgeon follow-up after rectal cancer: a randomized trial. Color Dis. 2011;13(9):999–1003.
- 105. Knowles G, Sherwood L, Dunlop MG, et al. Developing and piloting a nurse-led model of follow-up in the multidisciplinary management of colorectal cancer. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2007;11(3):212–23.
- Verschuur EML, Steyerberg EW, Tilanus HW, et al. Nurse-led follow-up of patients after oesophageal or gastric cardia cancer surgery: a randomized trial. Br J Cancer. 2009;100:70–6.
- Wilkinson S, Sloan K. Patient satisfaction with colorectal cancer follow-up system: an audit. Br J Nurs. 2009;18(1):40–4.

- Cox K, Wilson E. Follow-up for people with cancer: nurse-led services and telephone interventions. J Adv Nurs. 2003;43:51–61.
- 109. Williamson S, Chalmers K, Beaver K. Patient experiences of nurse-led telephone follow-up following treatment for colorectal cancer. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2015;19(3):237–43.
- 110. Gilmartin M, Leaver N, Hall G, et al. Patient perception of telephone follow-up after resection for colorectal cancer: is it time for an alternative to the out-patient clinic? Patient Exp J. 2019;6:81–6.
- Siddika A, Tolia-Shah D, Pearson TE, et al. Remote surveillance after colorectal cancer surgery: an effective alternative to standard clinic-based follow-up. Color Dis. 2015;17:870–5.
- 112. Williamson S, Patterson J, Crosby R, et al. Communication of cancer screening results by letter, telephone or in person: a mixed methods systematic review of the effect on attendee anxiety, understanding and preferences. Prev Med Rep. 2019;13:189–95.
- 113. Bouma G, de Hosson LD, van Essen H, et al. Use of video-consultation is feasible during follow-up care of patients with a neuroendocrine tumour. Clin Oncol. 2018;30:396. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.clon.2018.02.027.
- 114. Rush KL, Howlett L, Munro A, et al. Videoconference compared to telephone in healthcare delivery: a systematic review. Int J Med Inform. 2018;118:44–53.
- 115. Barsom EZ, Jansen M, Tanis PJ, et al. Video consultation during follow up care: effect on quality of care and patient- and provider attitude in patients with colorectal cancer. Surg Endosc. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-020-07499-3.
- 116. Barsom E, van Dalen ASHM, Blusse van Oud-Albas M, et al. Comparing video consultation and telephone consultation at the outpatient clinic of a tertiary referral Centre: patient and provider benefits. BMJ Innov. 2021;7:95–102.
- 117. Shaw SE, Seuren LM, Wherton J, et al. Video consultations between patients and clinicians in diabetes, cancer, and heart failure services: linguistic ethnographic study of video-mediated interaction. J Med Internet Res. 2020;22:e18378.
- 118. Read PL, Salmon C, Sinnarajah A, et al. Web-based videoconferencing for rural palliative care consultation with elderly patients at home. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27:3321–30.
- 119. Penedo FJ, Oswald LB, Kronenfeld JP, et al. The increasing value of eHealth in the delivery of patient-centred cancer care. Lancet Oncol. 2020;21:e240–51.
- Sirintrapun SJ, Lopez AM. Telemedicine in cancer care. Am Soc Clin Oncol, ASCO Educ Book. 2018;38:540–5.
- 121. Sisler J, McCormack-Speak P. Bridging the gap between primary care and the cancer system the UPCON Network of CancerCare Manitoba. Can Fam Physician. 2009;55:273–8.
- Basch E, Deal AM, Kris MG, et al. Symptom monitoring with patient-reported outcomes during routine cancer treatment: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:557–65.
- 123. Basch E, Deal AM, Dueck AC, et al. Overall survival results of a trial assessing patient-reported outcomes for symptom monitoring during routine cancer treatment. JAMA. 2017;318:197–8.
- 124. Denis F, Lethrosne C, Pourel N, et al. Randomized trial comparing a web-mediated follow-up with routine surveillance in lung cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2017;109:1. https://doi. org/10.1093/jnci/djx029.
- 125. Pham Q, Hearn J, Gao B, et al. Virtual care models for cancer survivorship. Digit Med. 2020;3:113. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-020-00321-3.
- 126. Frankland J, et al. Follow-up care after treatment for prostate cancer: protocol for an evaluation of a nurse-led supported self-management and remote surveillance programme. BMC Cancer. 2017;17:656.
- 127. Frankland J, et al. Follow-up care after treatment for prostate cancer: evaluation of a supported self-management and remote surveillance programme. BMC Cancer. 2019;19:368.
- 128. Lewis J, Ray P, Liaw ST. Recent worldwide developments in eHealth and mHealth to more effectively manage cancer and other chronic diseases—a systematic review. Yearb Med Inform. 2016;1:93–108.

- 129. Lopez MS, Baker ES, Milbourne AM, et al. Project ECHO: a telementoring program for cervical cancer prevention and treatment in low-resource settings. J Glob Oncol. 2016;3:658–65.
- Chu S, et al. Veterans affairs telemedicine: bringing urologic care to remote clinics. Urology. 2015;86:255–60.
- 131. Hollander JE, Carr BG. Virtually perfect? Telemedicine for Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:1679-81.
- 132. Nielsen K, Miraglia M. What works for whom in which circumstances? On the need to move beyond the 'what works?' Question in organizational intervention research. Hum Relat. 2017;70:40–62.
- 133. Hashmi S. "Coming of age" of artificial intelligence: evolution of survivorship care through information technology. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2016;51:41–2.
- 134. Potdar R, Thomas A, DiMeglio M, et al. Access to internet, smartphone usage, and acceptability of mobile health technology among cancer patients. Support Care Cancer. 2020;28(11):5455–61.
- 135. Van der Hout A, Holtmaat K, Jansen F, et al. The eHealth self-management application 'Oncokompas' that supports cancer survivors to improve health-related quality of life and reduce symptoms: which groups benefit most? Acta Oncol. 2020; https://doi.org/10.108 0/0284186X.2020.1851764.
- 136. Morris S, Corder AP, Taylor I. What are the benefits of routine breast cancer follow-up? Postgrad Med J. 1992;68:904–7.
- 137. Schapira D, Urban N. A minimalist policy for breast cancer surveillance. JAMA. 1991;16:380–2.
- 138. Dickinson R, Hall S, Sinclair JE, et al. Using technology to deliver cancer follow-up: a systematic review. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:311.
- Shaw J, et al. Virtual care policy recommendations for patient-centred primary care: findings of a consensus policy dialogue using a nominal group technique. J Telemed Telecare. 2018;24:608–15.
- 140. Pollack CE, Rastegar A, Keating NL, et al. Is self-referral associated with higher quality care? Health Serv Res. 2015;50(5):1472–90.
- 141. Hill RE, Wakefield CE, Cohn RJ, et al. Survivorship care plans in cancer: a meta-analysis and systematic review of cancer plan outcomes. Oncologist. 2020;25:e351–72.
- Brown L, Payne S, Royle G. Patient initiated follow up of breast cancer. Psycho-Oncology. 2002;11(4):346–55.
- 143. Sheppard C, Higgins B, Wise M, Yiangou C, Dubois D, Kilburn S. Breast cancer follow up: a randomised controlled trial comparing point of need access versus routine 6-monthly clinical review. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2009;13(1):2–8.
- 144. Chapman D, Cox E, Britton PD, Wishart GC. Patient-led breast cancer follow up. Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2009;18(2):100–2.
- 145. Batehup L, Porter K, Gage H, Williams P, Simmonds P, Lowson E, et al. Follow-up after curative treatment for colorectal cancer: longitudinal evaluation of patient initiated follow-up in the first 12 months. Support Care Cancer. 2017;25(7):2063–73.
- 146. McCorkle R, Ercolano E, Lazenby M, et al. Self-management: enabling and empowering patients living with cancer as a chronic illness. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61:50–62.
- 147. American College of Surgeons. Accreditation Committee Clarifications for Standard 3.3 Survivorship Care Plan. https://www.facs.org/publications/newsletters/coc-source/specialsource/standard 33. Accessed Feb 11, 2021.
- Lagergren P, Schandl A, Aaronson NK, et al. Cancer survivorship: an integral part of Europe's research agenda. Mol Oncol. 2019;13(3):624–35.
- 149. Lawler M, Le Chevalier T, Banks I, et al. European Cancer Concord. A bill of rights for patients with cancer in Europe. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:258–60.

- 150. Hjorth L, Haupt R, Skinner R, et al. Survivorship after childhood cancer: PanCare: a European network to promote optimal long-term care. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51(10):1203–11.
- 151. European Cancer Patient Coalition, http://www.ecpc.org
- 152. European Society of Medical Oncology, http://www.esmo.org
- 153. Nekhludyov L, Lacchetti C, Siu LL. Head and neck survivorship guideline: American Society of Clinical Oncology Practice Guideline Endorsement Summary. J Oncol Pract. 2018;14(3):167–71.
- 154. Walsh J, Young JM, Harrison JD, et al. What is important in cancer care coordination? A qualitative investigation. Eur J Cancer Care. 2010;20:220–7.
- 155. CanCon http://www.cancercontrol.eu, consulted Feb 12, 2021.



Identifying the Cancer Survivors' Needs in Daily Practice: Do we Have a (Survivorship) Plan?

Stefan Rauh

The Survivorship Plan

In 2006, the Institute of Medicine (IoM) identified essential items for cancer patients to be included in every cancer patient's follow-up care [1].

According to the IoM, the issues for cancer survivors to be covered are: [1]

- 1. Prevention of recurrent and subsequent primary cancers, and of other late effects.
- 2. Surveillance for cancer spread, recurrence, or secondary cancers.
- 3. Assessment of medical and psychosocial late effects.
- 4. Intervention for consequences of cancer and its treatment, for example, medical problems such as lymphedema and sexual dysfunction; symptoms, including pain and fatigue; and psychological distress experienced by cancer survivors and their caregivers.
- 5. Evaluation of concerns related to employment, insurance, and disability.
- 6. Coordination between specialists and primary care providers to ensure that all of the survivor's health needs are met.

As patients move from often busy treatment schedules to surveillance, they hope to return rapidly to a "normal" life. They may experience an abrupt loss of contact with their former caregiver, mostly an oncologist. Symptoms due to sequelae or treatment side effects may however prevail, new morbidities may emerge. Unprepared patients often lack tools to help them evaluate symptoms for seriousness and need for management. This leads to increased emergency department visits, a high level of uncertainty, anxiety, and a loss of quality of life [2–5].

Primary care physicians (PCP) may not provide adequate expert knowledge of recurrence risks and treatment-related late effects, whereas specialists may underrecognize and treat non-cancerous pathologies [2, 6, 7].

S. Rauh (ed.), *Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_7

S. Rauh (🖂)

Medical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Emile Mayrisch, Esch, Luxembourg

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

The IoM described the challenge of transition from active treatment to followup, with a need for sharing coordinated care between caregivers, defining endpoints, and empowering patients for self-management.

A main tool proposed to achieve these goals was a "**survivorship care plan**" (SCP) which was to be established for every patient at the end of active treatment and delivered to him as well as his PCP [1].

Its first intention was to present a framework for follow-up (FU) and allow a primary care practitioner (PCP) to receive the necessary information to take over the patient's care so as not to be "lost in transition." It also emphasized that patients' needs were far beyond surveillance [1]. In the meantime, SCP has become a standard recommendation in the United States, also as requisite for accreditation of comprehensive cancer centers [8], as well as for reimbursement by MedicAid and MediCare programs [9].

SCPs have also been proposed by expert groups in Europe. "Cancer Control Joint Action" (CanCon) stated the low added value of standard surveillance in current practice, the frequent disregard of multidisciplinary teams concerning rehabilitation and survivorship issues, and a lack of vision of both endpoints and distribution of responsibilities among caregivers. CanCon considers a specialist, part of the initial multidisciplinary team, as initiator to establish a survivorship plan to create a holistic and integrated approach to survivors' health. SCP in this definition means primarily to define needs, plan and organize a framework for FU with all involved caregivers and stakeholders. Distributing necessary information on past treatments and proposed follow-up to the patient and the PCP is a second aim (survivorship passport, see below). As health systems vary among Europe's member countries, CanCon proposes essential conditions in the establishment of a SCP:

- a relevant role for the PCP/team,
- rapid reentry to specialist care, when necessary,
- the provision of a designated health professional taking the lead as coordinator, referent, and contact person for both patient and multidisciplinary team,
- patients should be provided relevant information on late effects of the cancer treatments received, and have them readily available for all (future) caregivers, possibly in form of a "survivorship passport."

There is no uniform approach to the organization of survivorship care in Europe [10]. In a study, only a subset of 36 European countries provided guidelines for major tumor types, with survivor care in even less (mainly for breast cancer). Overall, "after-care guidelines" focused mainly on screening interventions for recurrence, while (apart from breast cancer) there was little emphasis on preventive measures, late effects symptom control, or psychological issues. SCPs seemed to be absent [11].

When Should a SCP Be Made?

A survivorship plan should be considered like a hospital discharge letter [7, 12]. Patients seem to have a clear preference for receiving a plan defining future steps in surveillance and prevention before or at the end of active treatment [12, 13].

What Should a SCP Include?

According to the NCCN guidelines, a cancer survivor follow-up plan should include the following elements [14]:

- Information on treatment received including all surgeries, radiation therapy, and systemic therapies
- 2. Information regarding follow-up care, surveillance, and screening recommendations
- 3. Information on posttreatment needs, including information regarding acute, late and long-term treatment-related effects, and health risks when possible
- 4. Delineation regarding roles of oncologists, PCPs, and subspecialty care physicians in long-term care and timing of transfer of care if appropriate
- 5. Healthy behavior recommendations
- 6. Periodic assessment of ongoing needs and identification of appropriate resources

Who Should Establish the SCP?

It will mostly be the oncologist or other specialist for the active treatment who will establish the survivorship care plan. Due to time constraints, this is however a barrier to its implementation. Other models have included nurses, research assistants, or PCPs as SCP editors with satisfactory results [15].

Who Should the SCP Be Addressed to?

Mainly intended to provide necessary information during transition from specialist to the PCP, SCPs have considerably evolved towards patient education and empowerment. Therefore, a SCP should provide information to both the patient himself as well as the caregiver who will take over—or share—the patient's follow-up [12].

What Would Be the "Ideal" SCP According to Patients?

According to a survey among patients and PCP concerning preferences of SCP, these were the results:

- Easy-to-read format and language.
- Important contact information of providers (whom to call for what problems and how) on the front page.

- Diagnosis and disease stage.
- Current disease status (remission, residual disease).
- A treatment plan with purpose (control, palliation, cure) in understandable language.
- Listing of complications or ongoing problems.
- Suggested questions to ask the care provider.
- Information on health promotion including nutrition and physical activity.
- Description of what recurrence looks like, knowledge on what to report, and what not to worry about.
- Listing of local resources (financial and social support, transportation, community resources).
- Area to write "I have concerns" [16]

Patients wished to receive their SCP at the end of treatment, but not the last day, as a (written/printed or electronic) document during a meeting with their principal care provider. They would use it as well as support for consultation with their future caregiver(s) as well as with family members or friends. Some would just use it as a back-up document [16]. Patients varied in their request for details and contents, with a tendency towards a more detailed document [17].

PCP had Similar Preferences, Detailing

- An easy-to-read format with no more than 2–3 pages.
- Frontpage with contact details of oncology providers.
- Diagnosis and disease stage.
- Treatment delivered in understandable language, not too detailed.
- List of complications and unsolved problems.
- Potential long term and late effects [16]
- Distribution of a document was however not sufficient for implementation and patient satisfaction, which varied among patients and required individual approaches as well as educational efforts. These findings concurred with other studies concerning SCP [16–20].

Existing Templates

SCP templates exist since a number of years in the United States, provided by Livestrong, Oncolink, Journey Forward, and the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) [21]. In Europe, the European Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO) and the European Cancer Patient Coalition (ECPC) have proposed a first general survivorship guide with SCP template in 2017 [22].

Are SCP Implemented?

SCP are highly welcomed by patients and PCP [16]. They are an integral part of current quality accreditation programs in the United States. It may thus be surprising that SCP are far less implemented than expected [17, 23, 24], and that their routine use is mainly restricted to breast and colon cancer patients also depending on caregivers, institution, patient education, and regional infrastructure [24, 25]. The least chance to benefit from a SCP seems to be in a community oncology setting [25].

Establishing a SCP is time and resources consuming (estimated at 90–120 min per patient), which is a major burden considering the available workforce and may block valuable resources. Further work and time may be necessary in the absence of an efficient electronic data collection system and the need to complete the SCP after searching and collecting missing documents. Lacking reimbursement is another barrier [25]. In principle, SCPs should be provided for each tumor type and possibly stage. Differences in patient education and their willingness for empowerment and management sharing lead to different needs of SCP contents and educational efforts to make them understandable and useful.

Evidence of Benefit of SCP

There is currently still (?) a lack of evidence of the benefit of SCP as compared to standard FU in cancer survivors, which is another barrier for their implementation. There is neither evidence of a survival benefit nor benefit in another stringent endpoint [26]. In a meta-analysis comparing eight studies with 1286 patients and a combined systematic review in 18,949 survivors, there was also no evidence on patient-related outcomes such as anxiety, depression, physical function nor with information provision or self-efficacy. According to the same study, SCP may however improve patients' adherence to medical recommendations and improve knowledge of health care providers in survivorship care and late effects [27]. These seemingly contradictory results may be due to the heterogeneity and lack of sufficient statistical power of the existing studies. It may also be due to poor compliance or lack of adherence. This might be a consequence of inadequate training and support to both patients and caregivers [27–29]. In the absence of clear evidence of stronger endpoints, there remains evidence of high patient satisfaction and evident "face value" [1, 15].

Conclusion: Plan your Life—Live your Plan?

It seems common sense to establish a clear plan of the needs of cancer survivors both in terms of surveillance and support, attribute responsibilities and provide a document with all indications to the patient and the PCP or other caregivers, either in print or electronically. In practice, several barriers have hampered this effort, which may further be questioned due to the lack of evidence of significant benefit in existing studies.

Patients' wish to receive guidance, references easy to contact, and a structured reassuring should not be underestimated. Neither should be the PCPs' need for clear information. Efforts should be made to provide more patients with guideline-based survivorship care plans which should reflect the patients' local conditions rather than a European uniform model.

What Should Follow-up Visits Include?

Follow-up visits are proposed in a regular fashion, ranging from trimestral to yearly intervals.

In addition to screening by history and physical examination, care providers should (re) assess the following at regular intervals [13]:

- 1. Current disease status.
- 2. Functional/performance status.
- 3. Medication use (including over-the-counter medications and supplements).
- 4. Comorbidities.
- 5. Prior cancer treatment history and modalities used.
- 6. Family history.
- 7. Psychosocial factors.
- 8. Weight and health behaviors that can modify cancer and comorbidity risk (including cigarette/tobacco, alcohol use).
- 9. Disease-specific recommendations for surveillance/follow-up.

Detecting Distress, Anxiety, and Depression

Distress has many definitions (see, for example, various dictionaries), and may be used synonymously with great pain, anxiety, or sorrow; acute physical or mental suffering [30].

Most definitions characterize distress as an aversive, negative state in which coping and adaptation processes fail to return an organism to physiological and/or psychological homeostasis [31].

The NCCN defines distress as follows:

"Distress is a multifactorial unpleasant experience of a psychological (i.e., cognitive, behavioral, emotional), social, spiritual, and/or physical nature that may interfere with one's ability to cope effectively with cancer, its physical symptoms, and its treatment. Distress extends along a continuum, ranging from common normal feelings of vulnerability, sadness, and fears to problems that can become disabling, such as depression, anxiety, panic, social isolation, and existential and spiritual crisis." [32]. Distress with anxiety and depression are present in a high number of cancer patients, mostly related to the fear of recurrence. Between 14% and 56% of patients will face these symptoms in various degrees after diagnosis [33, 34]. Understandably, these conditions negatively influence quality of life, and may even lead to suicide in some patients [35–37]. They may also negatively influence the patient's compliance with surveillance and treatment, and provide barriers for reintegration and rehabilitation efforts, as well as to the persistence of unhealthy lifestyle habits [35]. While anxiety and depression peak at cancer diagnosis, they do not necessarily cede at the end of active treatment but may stay on a plateau level or even slightly rise [38, 39]. This is amplified by the sudden drop in the frequency of consultation visits at the transition from the busy treatment schedule to infrequent FU visits [26]. Anxiety and depression may gradually decrease but prevail for over 10 years for many cancer survivors, and never cede in a minority of these [39].

Anxiety and depression are still highly underreported and remain unrecognized during busy FU visits. Referral for psychological and psychiatric support are especially low in oncologic community settings [40, 41]. This is all the more unacceptable as psycho-oncologic interventions have a proven benefit in clinical studies [42].

The use of tools to detect distress is highly encouraged. NCCN provides a "distress thermometer" as a simple visual tool, enabling patients to score levels of distress between 0 (cool, no distress) and 10 (boiling, extreme distress), with a cut-off score of 4 and higher triggering identification of the problem with a corresponding "problem list" for patients to check and forward to their caregiver during visits [32]. This tool has been validated in a series of studies in various languages and countries with high sensitivity and satisfying specificity [43–46]. It can be downloaded from NCCN's website [47].

Is Intensive FU Better than Non-intensive FU?

There is considerable debate over the usefulness of more or less intensive FU, both in terms of surveillance and detection of recurrence, as concerning patients' needs, anxiety, and distress. Comparisons in stage I–III colorectal cancer patients came to different results in terms of overall survival. Some studies show modest but significant overall survival gains (without cancer-specific overall survival) [48, 49], while others did not find any significant overall survival advantage [50, 51]. However, there seems to be converging evidence of better early detection of early recurrence with more "intensive" FU, as analyzed in a Cochrane review of follow-up strategies: Selected studies in breast, colon, lung, and other cancers showed overall survival advantages, the meta-analysis a trend in favor of intensive follow-up, with low-certainty evidence. Early detection of recurrence was significantly better with a hazard ratio of 0.85, a confidence interval of 0.79–0.92, and a *p*-value <0.0001 [26]. The lack of a meaningful survival advantage may be due to lack of statistical power of the studies, but also of the underlying disease and the available treatment options in case of relapse.

As an example, intensive FU has not provided a significant survival benefit in breast cancer. A detrimental effect has even been reported (maybe due to toxic treatments being deployed earlier than needed) [52]. In breast cancer, recurrence in terms of metastatic disease will nearly always remain incurable, independent of early or later detection. The main determinant for the patients' prognosis will therefore rather be his performance status and general shape (so as not to jeopardize the best available treatment), and the absence of vital complications arising from the metastatic spread [52–54].

More intensive FU also shows controversial results in potentially induced raised anxiety and distress, probably also reflecting that some cancer survivors will be reassured, while others distressed anticipating the upcoming visits, while still others will not be affected [5].

In conclusion, the author of this chapter believes that evidence and lack of evidence concerning the intensity of FU should be discussed between caregiver and the individual patient, as well as "side effects" such as anxiety or distress. Some patients may prefer more intensive FU, while others less often or an "on demand" model. A consensual schedule including frequency and tests should be "negotiated," documented and applied. A framework of currently suggested surveillance is delivered in another chapter of this book.

Multimodality: Leaving the Landscape of Regularly Scheduled FU Visits

eHealth, the use of electronic information and communication technologies in medicine to enhance patient-centered care has already been mentioned in the previous chapter. Recent years have seen an impressive proliferation and broadening of eHealth interventions [55], as both hardware and software evolve with ever higher speed, and as these technologies are continuously integrated into a higher and higher proportion of our daily lives.

eHealth has shown high potential in raising health-related quality of life and symptom burden in cancer patients. In survivorship care, eHealth enables easy and real-time collection of patient-related outcomes (PRO), which have been shown to enhance patient-physician communication, raise awareness of symptoms, and thus avoid the risk of under-reporting in physician-reported conditions. It also provides an easy connection of the patient with his caretakers, without the need to leave home, which is of particular interest for frail patients and patients living remotely from their care provider(s). Artificial intelligence allows more and more complex and multimodal approaches with minimal costs and time constraints [56, 57]. eHealth is however also a vast and heterogenous area with a broad range of different hardware and software, different measured points, methodologies, and—in studies—different settings and endpoints which make comparisons as difficult to settle on a standard approach.
The implementation of eHealth has been accelerated since the beginning of the COVID pandemic [58]. In terms of symptom control, there is data in favor of better self-management and a decrease of pain conditions [59, 60], decreased fatigue [61], and lesser distress [62] in some studies comparing eHealth interventions with standard care. A Cochrane review of home-based multimodality survivorship programs found a short-term significant benefit in quality of life and which was related to the reduction of anxiety, fatigue, and insomnia directly after the intervention [63].

The true value of electronic systems for patient reports and symptom control remains however unclear and controversial. Many studies and systems provided neither an interaction means between patients and caregivers, nor between patients; others did not enable patients to monitor their symptoms or did not provide means for self-management, even though these features have been identified as highly valued [55]. Even when these features were combined in a sophisticated eHealth application, main endpoints such as the amount of knowledge, skills, and confidence for self-management and health-related quality of life were not significantly improved [63].

eHealth interventions are generally well accepted by patients, without major differences on behalf of patients' education [64, 65]. Age is (still) an issue, as older patients may feel less comfortable with the use of Internet- or smartphone-based interactive resources [66]. Patient compliance is an issue, as patients need to keep motivated to use their device or program to keep it functional. Patients may abandon due to lack of motivation, or to the monotony of repeatedly asked questions [67]. Different personality profiles may play a role: patients with limited "self-efficacy," who need to be encouraged, motivated, and led may profit more than others from stimulating programs, while fully automated and self-managed applications may give highest satisfaction to patients with high medical literacy and a high level of personal autonomy [68]. On the caregiver's side, their implementation is hampered by the potentially higher caregivers' workload, overload of provided information, and lack of motivation [69].

In conclusion, eHealth should be integrated into SCP and FU models without further burdening the workload of caregivers, and adaptable to tailoring for different profiles of patients. Research efforts trying to detect means to obtain major benefits and adherence are ongoing.

References

- Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. National Academies Press; 2005.
- 2. Earle CC, Neville BA. Under use of necessary care among cancer survivors. Cancer. 2004;101(8):1712.
- Snyder CF, Frick KD, Peairs KS, et al. Comparing care for breast cancer survivors to noncancer controls: a five-year longitudinal study. J Gen Intern Med 2009;24(4):469–474. Epub 2009 Jan 21.

- Cheung WY, Aziz N, Noone AM, Rowland JH, Potosky AL, Ayanian JZ, et al. Physician preferences and attitudes regarding different models of cancer survivorship care: a comparison of primary care providers and oncologists. J Cancer Surviv. 2013;7(3):343e54.
- 5. Berian JR, Cuddy AC, Francescati AB, et al. A systematic review of patient perspectives on surveillance after colorectal cancer treatment. J Cancer Surviv. 2017;11(5):542–52.
- Nekhlyudov L, O'Malley DM, Hudson SV. Integrating primary care providers in the Care of Cancer Survivors: gaps in evidence and future opportunities. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(1):e30–8.
- 7. Earle CC, Burstein HJ, Winer EP, Weeks JC, et al. Quality of non-breast cancer health maintenance among elderly breast cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(8):1447.
- American College of Surgeons. Accreditation Committee Clarifications for Standard 3.3 Survivorship Care Plan. https://www.facs.org/publications/newsletters/coc-source/specialsource/standard33. Accessed Feb 11, 2021.
- Stricker CT, O'Brien M. Implementing the commission on cancer standards for survivorship care plans. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2014;18(Suppl):15.
- Lagergren P, Schandl A, Aaronson NK, et al. Cancer survivorship: an integral part of Europe's research agenda. Mol Oncol. 2019;13:624–35.
- 11. CanCon http://www.cancercontrol.eu, consulted Feb 12, 2021.
- 12. Mayer DK, Nasso FS, Earp JA. Defining cancer survivors, their needs, and perspectives on survivorship health care in the USA. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:e11–8.
- 13. Oeffinger KC. McCabe: models for delivering survivorship care. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:5117–24.
- 14. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines: Survivorship, version 2.2020-July 14, 2020, nccn.org.
- 15. Brennan ME, Gormally JF, Butow P, et al. Survivorship care plans in cancer: a systematic review of care plan outcomes. Br J Cancer. 2014;111:1899–908.
- Mayer DK, Gerstel A, Leak AN, Smith SK. Patient and provider preferences for survivorship care plans. J Oncol Pract. 2012;8:e80.
- Salz T, Oeffinger KC, McCabe MS, et al. Survivorship care plans in research and practice. CA Cancer J Clin. 2012;62:101–17.
- Schlairet M, Heddon MA, Griffis M. Piloting a needs assessment to guide development of a survivorship program for a community cancer center. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2010;37:501–8.
- 19. Smith SL, Singh-Carlson S, Downie L, et al. Survivors of breast cancer: patient perspectives on survivorship care planning. J Cancer Surviv. 2011;5:337–44.
- Marbach TJ, Griffie J. Patient preferences concerning treatment plans, Survivorship care plans, education, and support services. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2011;38:335–42.
- Journey Forward (http://journeyforward.org/); Livestrong (http://www.livestrongcareplan. org/); OncoLink (http://www.oncolink.org); ASCO http://asco.org).
- 22. Mitsopomas N, Rauh S. ESMO, ECPC. What does survivorship mean? Let us explain it to you. 2017. (http://www.esmo.org).
- Blanch-Hartigan D, Forsythe LP, Alfano CM, et al. Provision and discussion of survivorship care plans among cancer survivors: results of a nationally representative survey of oncologists and primary care physicians. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:1578–85.
- Birken SA, Deal AM, Mayer DK, Weiner BJ. Determinants of survivorship care plan use in US cancer programs. J Cancer Educ. 2014;29:720–7.
- Benci JL, Vachani CC, Hampshire MK, et al. Factors influencing delivery of cancer survivorship care plans: a national patterns of care study. Front Oncol. 2020;9:1577.
- Høeg BL, Bidstrup PE, Karlsen RV, et al. Follow-up strategies following completion of primary cancer treatment in adult cancer survivors. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;(Issue 11)
- 27. Hill RE, Wakefield CE, Cohn RJ, et al. Survivorship care plans in cancer: a meta-analysis and systematic review of care plan outcomes. Oncologist. 2020;25:e351–72.
- Mayer DK, Birken SA, Chen RC. Avoiding implementation errors in cancer survivorship care plan effectiveness studies. J Clin Oncol. 2016;33:3528–30.
- Klemanski DL, Browning KK, Kue J. Survivorship care plan preferences of cancer survivors and health care providers: a systematic review and quality appraisal of the evidence. J Cancer Surviv. 2016;10:71–86.
- 30. http://www.dictionary.com; site visited on Feb.28, 2021 for the word "distress".

- Carstens E, Moberg GP. Recognizing pain and distress in laboratory animals. ILAR J. 2000;41(2):62–71.
- NCCN Guidelines version 2.2021 Distress Management, consulted on Feb 28, 20201 on http:// www.nccn.org
- Massie MJ. Prevalence of depression in patients with cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2004;32:57.
- 34. Mitchell AJ, Ferguson DW, Gill J, et al. Depression and anxiety in long-term cancer survivors compared with spouses and healthy controls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14:721–32.
- Carmack CL, Basen-Engquist K, Gritz ER. Survivors at higher risk for adverse late outcomes due to psychosocial and behavioral risk factors. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2011;20:2068–77.
- Miller M, Mogun H, Azrael D, et al. Cancer and the risk of suicide in older Americans. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:4720–4.
- Walker J, Waters RA, Murray G, et al. Better off dead: suicidal thoughts in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:4725–30.
- 38. Watts S, Prescott P, Mason J, et al. Depression and anxiety in ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence rates. BMJ Open. 2015;5:e007618.
- Lu D, Andersson TM, Fall K, et al. Clinical diagnosis of mental disorders immediately before and after cancer diagnosis: a nationwide matched cohort study in Sweden. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2:1188–96.
- 40. Zimmermann-Schlegel V, Hartmann M, Sklenarova H, et al. Accessibility, availability and potential benefits of psycho-oncology servives: the perspective of community-based physicians providing cancer survivorship care. Oncologist. 2017;22:719–27.
- Zebrack B, Kayser K, Sundstrom L, et al. Psychosocial distress screening implementation in cancer care: an analysis of adherence, responsiveness, and acceptability. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:1165–70.
- 42. Faller H, Schuler M, Richard M, et al. Effects of psycho-oncologic interventions on emotional dis- tress and quality of life in adult patients with cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:782–93.
- Ma X, Zhang J, Zhong W, et al. The diagnostic role of a short screening tool-the distress thermometer: a meta-analysis. Support Care Cancer. 2014;22:1741–55.
- Ploos van Amstel FK, Tol J, Sessink KH, et al. A specific distress cutoff score shortly after breast cancer diagnosis. Cancer Nurs. 2017;40:E35–e40.
- Chambers SK, Zajdlewicz L, Youlden DR, et al. The validity of the distress thermometer in prostate cancer populations. Psychooncology. 2014;23:195–203.
- 46. Grassi L, Johansen C, Annunziata MA, et al. Screening for distress in cancer patients: a multicenter, nationwide study in Italy. Cancer. 2013;119:1714–21.
- 47. http://www.nccn.org/patients/resources/life_with_cancer/distress.aspx
- 48. Pita-Fernández S, Alhayek-Aí M, González-Martín C, et al. Intensive follow-up strategies improve outcomes in nonmetastatic colorectal cancer patients after curative surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Oncol. 2015;26:644–56.
- Jeffery M, Hickey BE, Hider PN. Follow-up strategies for patients treated for non-metastatic colorectal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007;
- 50. Wille-Jørgensen P, Syk I, Smedh K, et al. Effect of more vs less frequent follow-up testing on overall and colorectal cancer-specific mortality in patients with stage II or III colorectal cancer: the COLOFOL randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2018;319:2095–103.
- Rosati G, Ambrosini G, Barni S, et al. A randomized trial of intensive versus minimal surveillance of patients with resected Dukes B2-C colorectal carcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:274–80.
- 52. Cheun J-H, Jung J, Lee E-S, et al. Intensity of metastasis screening and survival outcomes in patients with breast cancer. Sci Rep. 2021;11:2851.
- DelTurco MR, Palli D, Cariddi A, et al. Intensive diagnostic follow-up after treatment of primary breast cancer. JAMA. 1994;27:1593–7.

- Palli D, Russo A, Saieva C, et al. Intensive vs clinical follow-up after treatment of primary breast cancer: 10-year update of a randomized trial. JAMA. 1999;281:1586.
- Warrington L, Absolom K, Conner M, et al. Electronic systems for patients to report and manage side effects of cancer treatment: systematic review. J Med Internet Res. 2019;21(1):e10875.
- Penedo FJ, Oswald LB, Kronenfeld JP, et al. The increasing value of eHealth in the delivery of patient-centred cancer care. Lancet Oncol. 2020;21:e240–51.
- 57. Kruse CS, Krowski N, Rodriguez B, et al. Telehealth and patient satisfaction: a systematic review and narrative analysis. BMJ Open. 2017;7:e016242.
- 58. Brørs G, Norman CD, Norekvål TM. Accelerated importance of eHealth literacy in the COVID-19 outbreak and beyond. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2020;19(6):458–61.
- 59. Somers TJ, Abernethy AP, Edmond SN, et al. A pilot study of a mobile health pain coping skills training protocol for patients with persistent cancer pain. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2015;50:553–8.
- 60. Somers TJ, Kelleher SA, Westbrook KW, et al. A small randomized controlled pilot trial comparing mobile and traditional pain coping skills training protocols for cancer patients with pain. Pain Res Treat. 2016;2016:2473629.
- Jim HSL, Hyland KA, Nelson AM, et al. Internet-assisted cognitive behavioral intervention for targeted therapy-related fatigue in chronic myeloid leukemia: results from a pilot randomized trial. Cancer. 2020;126:174–80.
- 62. Greer J, Jacobs JM, Pensak N, et al. Randomized trial of a cognitive-behavioral therapy mobile app for anxiety in patients with incurable cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(suppl 31):10022.
- Cheng KKF, Lim YTE, Koh ZM, et al. Home-based multidimensional survivorship programmes for breast cancer survivors. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;8:1465–858.
- Basch E, Deal AM, Kris MG, et al. Symptom monitoring with patient-reported outcomes during routine cancer treatment: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:557–65.
- 65. Drewes C, Kirkovits T, Schiltz D, et al. EHealth acceptance and new media preferences for therapy assistance among breast cancer patients. JMIR Cancer. 2016;2(2):e13.
- 66. Hoogland AI, Mansfield J, Lafranchise, et al. eHealth literacy in older adults with cancer. J Geriatr Oncol. 2020;11(6):1020–2.
- 67. Gamper EM, Nerich V, Sztankay M, et al. Evaluation of noncompletion bias and long-term adherence in a 10-year patient-reported-outcome monitoring program in clinical routine. Value Health. 2017;20(4):610–7.
- 68. van der Hout A, van Uden-Kraan CF, Holtmaat K, et al. Role of eHealth application Oncokompas in supporting self-management of symptoms and health-related quality of life in cancer survivors: a randomised, controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2020;21(1):80–94.
- 69. Birken SA, Raskin S, Zhang Y, et al. Survivorship care plan implementation in US cancer programs: a National Survey of Cancer Care Providers. J Cancer Educ. 2019;34(3):614.



8

Follow-Up after Cancer Treatment—Evidence Gaps and Trends in Survivorship Care

Beverley Lim Høeg, Pernille Envold Bidstrup, Susanne Oksbjerg Dalton, and Lena Saltbæk

Approximately 19 million people worldwide are diagnosed with cancer each year and this number is projected to rise in the coming decades due to longer lifespans and our modern lifestyles [1]. At the same time, survival rates have continually improved. Over the past 40 years, overall 5-year survival rates have increased from about 50% to almost 70%, meaning that two-thirds of all cancer patients today will become long-time survivors [2, 3]. The simultaneous increase in both cancer incidence and survival has led to a burgeoning population of cancer survivors, which has been dubbed the "survivorship tsunami" [4]. This makes issues of survivorship increasingly important to a larger and larger section of the world's population. Thus, one of the biggest challenges facing the practice of oncology today is how to

B. L. Høeg (🖂)

P. E. Bidstrup Psychological Aspects of Cancer, Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Copenhagen, Denmark

Department of Psychology, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark e-mail: pernille@cancer.dk

S. O. Dalton Survivorship and Inequality in Cancer, Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Copenhagen, Denmark

Department of Clinical Oncology and Palliative Care, Zealand University Hospital, Næstved, Denmark e-mail: sanne@cancer.dk

L. Saltbæk Department of Clinical Oncology and Palliative Care, Zealand University Hospital, Næstved, Denmark e-mail: lsal@regionsjaelland.dk

Psychological Aspects of Cancer, Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Copenhagen, Denmark e-mail: bevlim@cancer.dk

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. Rauh (ed.), *Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_8

provide safe, effective, and economically sustainable follow-up care to this growing group of survivors.

What is Cancer Follow-Up Care?

Traditionally, the main aim of follow-up has been to detect a possible recurrence (or new primary cancer) after the primary treatment has ended so that prompt treatment may be initiated to improve prognosis and survival [5]. While cancer follow-up is currently an important area of oncology research, the practice originated in large part *due* to research in the 1960s and 1970s, as surgeons and oncologists in the United States and Europe carried out many trials testing different treatment protocols across cancer sites [6]. After completion of treatment, patients were followed over time and each follow-up visit without a relapse in the patient provided evidence supporting the effectiveness of the protocol.

Thus, for decades, the traditional model of follow-up care has consisted of fixed appointments consisting of physical examinations and/or diagnostic tests with a physician [5, 7]. Follow-up visits are usually more frequent (e.g., every 3 months) during the first few years posttreatment, where the risk of recurrence is highest and becomes less frequent later (e.g., once a year) [8, 9]. This schedule is based on the assumption that early detection of recurrence is important for improving survival through the prompt initiation of treatment [10]. Follow-up visits are also important to many patients, as they provide reassurance that a potential relapse will be detected and help patients transition from the close medical care that they received during active treatment [11].

The Challenges of Traditional Follow-up Models

Efforts to rethink follow-up care began in the 1980s as survival rates improved and it became apparent that the constrained resources of national healthcare systems would not be able to sustain a follow-up model based on specialist-led visits and expensive diagnostic tests [12, 13]. A second driver was the emerging research that questioned the effectiveness of routine follow-up procedures and whether they provided any survival benefit compared to, for example, less intensive schedules [5, 12]. Finally, the traditional focus of cancer follow-up on early recurrence detection was becoming insufficient, as survivors began reporting many unmet needs stemming from the long-term physical and psychosocial sequelae of having cancer [14]. Cancer was becoming a chronic condition for more and more survivors and new ways of meeting their needs were needed [15]. Thus, researchers began developing and testing alternative follow-up models, whereby components of the traditional follow-up model were changed or new components were added. Subsequently, focus on late-effects and quality of life for the cancer survivor is increasingly recognized as an important element in current follow-up care [16, 17].

Alternative Follow-up Models

In order to study the different follow-up models, one framework that has been used to systematically distinguish between the various components in newer approaches is the why, who, what, where, when, and how framework [9]. In Table 8.1, we give examples of the different components of traditional and alternative follow-up care models according to this framework. From the table, it is clear that follow-up care has become very complex with multiple aims such as improving survival, recurrence detection and quality of life.

The Evidence for Different Follow-up Models

The earliest published randomized trials comparing different cancer follow-up models were carried out in Italy by the GIVIO group [18] and by Rosselli Del Turco et al. [19]. Results from these two trials were published in JAMA in 1994 and showed that follow-up after breast cancer with the addition of chest x-ray, bone scintigraphy, liver echography, and blood samples to regular appointments and mammography did not improve survival, although one of the studies found a

	Traditional follow-up model	Alternative follow-up models
Why cancer follow-up?	• Early detection of recurrence or new primary cancer to improve survival	 Early detection of recurrence or new primary cancer to improve survival Provide surveillance and management of side-effects and late-effects to improve quality of life
Who provides follow-up care?	• Specialists (e.g., oncologists or surgeons)	General practitionersNursesSpecialists when needed
What is delivered?	 Anamnestic history Physical examination Diagnostic tests 	 Anamnestic history Physical examination Less or more intensive diagnostic tests Patient education to improve self-management skills Survivorship care plans Navigation to rehabilitation services
Where is follow-up care delivered?	• Hospital	HospitalGP officePatient's own home
When is follow-up care delivered?	Fixed calendar-based appointments	Fixed calendar-based appointmentsNeeds-based (patient-initiated)
How is follow-up care delivered?	• Face-to-face appointments	Face-to-face appointmentsTelephone or web-based

Table 8.1	Examples	of	the	different	components	of	traditional	and	alternative	follow-up
care mode	ls									

reduced time to detection of recurrence with the additional diagnostic tests [19]. The GIVIO study also demonstrated no difference in the quality of life depending on the intensity of follow-up [18]. Results from the third trial by Grunfeld et al. were published in the BMJ in 1996 and showed that follow-up after breast cancer led by general practitioners (GP) in primary care might be just as effective as specialist-led hospital follow-up with regards to time between first presentation of symptoms to confirmation of recurrence and quality of life [20].

These pioneering studies were among the first to show that cancer follow-up could be delivered and organized in alternative ways that were potentially safe and cheaper than traditional follow-up. For patients, fewer or less invasive tests may mean less burden and some may find it easier to contact their GP or a nurse for advice compared to a specialist.

All three of the abovementioned trials were carried out in the breast cancer population. However, over the following decades, more and more trials were carried out testing a wider range of alternative follow-up models in multiple cancer sites. As the number of trials increased, systematic reviews were published to synthesize the evidence from these trials. Below, we give a brief overview of the evidence from the available systematic reviews regarding the effectiveness of follow-up models led by GPs and nurses and by follow-up models based on less intensive or fewer components such as diagnostic tests and visits.

Can GPs and Nurses Safely Take over Follow-Up Care?

GP-Led Follow-Up

Since the pioneering study published by Grunfeld and colleagues in 1996, very few randomized trials have been carried out comparing GP-led follow-up in primary care to conventional hospital-based follow-up. The latest systematic review examining cancer follow-up in primary care versus secondary care identified seven publications from only five randomized trials, while the remaining nine studies were observational [21].

Due to the heterogeneity of the studies, no meta-analysis was carried out, but based on all the included studies, this review concluded that no important differences were seen in the outcomes survival, number of detected recurrences or progression, overall quality of life, anxiety, and depression [21]. The results also showed that GP-led follow-up was associated with a lower cost to patients and society [21]. High levels of patient satisfaction and perception of care were reported for both GP and hospital-based follow-up, but a few studies found that patients preferred hospital-based follow-up, as they were reassured by access to specialist care and felt that GPs lacked specialist knowledge [21]. Thus, although GP-led follow-up appears feasible and potentially cost-saving, the evidence that it is just as safe and acceptable for patients compared to conventional follow-up is not strong due to the few studies available and the lack of power in these studies for assessing outcomes such as survival.

Nurse-Led Follow-Up

In order to diminish resource utilization and enhance continuity of care, it has been investigated whether nurse-led follow-up is equivalent or even superior and more cost-efficient compared to traditional follow-up. In a recent Cochrane review covering different follow-up strategies among cancer survivors across adult cancer types, six studies investigating nurse-led versus physician-led follow-up were identified [9]. Of these six studies, none were powered to identify differences in time to detection of recurrence or survival. Overall, these studies reported no significant differences in quality of life, anxiety, or depression in nurse-led versus specialist-led follow-up [22–27], whereas two studies reported improved patient satisfaction with nurse-led follow-up [22, 23], and two studies found no difference in satisfaction with care [24, 27]. The evidence on cost is inconclusive as three studies reported lower costs per patient followed in a nurse-led program, whereas two studies came to the opposite result [9].

Finally, a systematic review of nurse-delivered cancer survivorship care demonstrated benefits on cognitive and social functioning but not on other quality of life domains, which is in line with the findings from the Cochrane review above [28]. The interventions in the included studies frequently combined the nurse-delivery with additional patient assessment, clinical management of problems, patient education, individualized care, and supported self-management [28]. Thus, the lack of a significant positive effect on the patient's psychological well-being and quality of life is surprising and indicates that we still lack knowledge on how to improve and adequately assess these aspects of survivorship care. In conclusion, nurse-led follow-up appears feasible and it is probably equal to specialist-led follow-up in terms of supporting quality of life and reducing anxiety and depression in the patients, but whether it equals specialist-led follow-up in terms of survival and recurrence detection is yet to be established.

Can Patients Safely be Followed up with less Intensive Strategies?

The best-investigated aspect of cancer follow-up has been whether the intensity of diagnostic tests makes a difference in survival and recurrence detection [9]. Intensity may be defined by the type of test itself (e.g., x-rays are considered a less intensive test than a CT scan) or by the frequency of the test (e.g., an annual colonoscopy would be considered less intensive than having a colonoscopy every 3 months). Again, the evidence mostly comes from breast cancer and colorectal cancer.

For breast cancer, the results have been fairly consistent in showing that less intensive follow-up (physical examination and annual mammography) does not worsen overall survival compared to more intensive follow-up including frequent tests such as chest x-rays, bone scintigraphy, and blood tests [7, 29, 30], although newer studies with more modern imaging techniques are warranted [16]. However, for colorectal cancer, systematic reviews have differed in their conclusions

regarding the two types of follow-up, with some reporting no difference in survival and detection of recurrence [10, 31] and others reporting that more intensive follow-up improves survival and detection of recurrence [32–35]. This divergence may be due to the different included studies, and how the outcomes are measured and meta-analyzed.

However, a more important factor may be the fact that diagnostic tests and cancer treatments continue to change and improve, and the inclusion of new trials can change the evidence. Some of the current guidelines may be based on outdated evidence. Follow-up guidelines for breast cancer, for example, are still largely based on the two landmark trials in Italy, recruiting patients in the late 1980s [16, 36]. Diagnostic imaging has improved since then and newer treatment modalities have increased survival markedly, even for advanced-stage breast cancer. It is possible that more frequent and intensive tests today may identify breast cancer recurrence at a much earlier stage, where more effective treatment may lead to survival benefits. The ongoing KRONOS trial in Italy testing a more intensive follow-up program based on CEA and CA15-3 evaluations, as well as 18-FDG PET scans in breast cancer patients, may be expected to provide updated evidence for breast cancer follow-up [37, 38].

Until then, the largest meta-analyses across cancer sites indicate that less intensive follow-up may make no difference in overall survival, but may delay the detection of recurrence when compared to more intensive follow-up [9]. However, since the included studies did not analyze survival according to time to detection of recurrence, no conclusions can be made about the role of early detection of recurrence on overall survival [9]. Interestingly, very few of the available trials investigated outcomes such as quality of life, anxiety, and depression. Thus, we still know very little about how intensity of tests and appointments affects the well-being and quality of life of cancer survivors, which is an important knowledge gap.

Trends in Current and Future Survivorship Care

Besides research investigating the optimal provider of follow-up (specialist-led vs. nonspecialist-led) and intensity of follow-up, newer components of survivorship care are being developed that place the patient in the center of treatment planning [9]. This shift in healthcare is generally termed "patient-centered care," which translates into practice as the increased involvement of patients in their own care and treatment, for example, through the use of care plans and patient-reported outcome measures [39].

Below we look at three trends in current survivorship care and look at the emerging evidence for their effectiveness: the implementation of *survivorship care plans and patient education* to potentially improve self-management, the use of *patientreported outcomes* in follow-up, and, finally, the implementation of *risk-stratified follow-up* to apply resources as effectively as possible by focusing care on those who need it the most.

Survivorship Care Plans and Patient Education

In its seminal 2006 report, *From Cancer Patient to Cancer Survivor: Lost in Transition*, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) recommended that every cancer patient receive an individualized survivorship care plan (SCP) to prepare and help cancer survivors face the challenges of life after cancer treatment [40]. Many types of SCPs have since been developed by different groups but essentially, a SCP typically consists of a summary of the patient's cancer treatment and a follow-up care plan, including information about follow-up visits, symptoms of a possible recurrence, and guidance for maintaining the patient's health [41]. Trials that investigate the use of SCPs also often include some level of patient education, such as a nurse going through the plan with the patient and educating the patients on recommended health behaviors and how to identify worrying symptoms [e.g., 42, 43].

Generally, SCPs have not been shown to be effective in improving patient outcomes and despite the IOM's recommendation, SCPs have not been widely implemented in cancer follow-up [44–46]. None of the available randomized trials investigating the addition of a SCP to cancer follow-up assessed its effect on survival or detection of recurrence, and meta-analyses of SCPs generally reported a lack of effect on a range of outcomes including health-related quality of life, depression, anxiety, self-reported cancer and survivorship knowledge, satisfaction with care, and self-efficacy [9, 45]. However, SCPs may potentially improve survivors' adherence to medical recommendations and have even been shown to improve the health care provider's knowledge of survivorship care and late-effects [45].

The lack of evidence demonstrating positive effects of SCPs has been suggested to be due to incorrect implementation of SCPs and the assessment of the "wrong" outcomes in randomized trials [47, 48]. For example, SCPs were shown to improve "proximal outcomes" such as communication between patient and provider, but not the "distal" outcomes such as self-reported outcomes, e.g., quality of life [47]. A way forward that has been suggested is focusing on the delivery of SCP with an increased focus on survivor engagement and self-management [44]. Indeed, SCPs have been shown to be helpful for patients who cope by seeking information about their disease [49]. Future research may show that implementation of SCPs needs to be more targeted, with an increased focus on patient education, if it is to be an effective component in follow-up care.

Patient-Reported Outcomes in Clinical Care

The use of patient-reported outcomes (PRO) as a clinical tool in patient monitoring and treatment planning is rapidly gaining attention. PROs refer to a physical or psychological outcome that is reported directly by the patient experiencing it, in contrast to an outcome that is reported by a physician or nurse, for example, through a clinical examination [50]. PROs have long been used in oncology research to measure quality of life, physical functioning, and psychological well-being, but the use of PROs as a clinical tool for optimizing care according to the well-being of the individual patient is relatively new [51]. Since PROs provide a way of capturing the patient's direct experience of his/her symptoms, either through pen-and-paper or electronically, this information can be used to guide treatment such that it is more tailored to the patient's actual condition [52]. PRO information has also been shown to be more accurate than clinician assessment, as several studies have found that clinicians tend to underreport the severity of symptoms compared to the patient [52, 53]. Thus, the use of PROs as a clinical tool may provide a promising way to improve symptom surveillance and management both during and after treatment, potentially leading to better outcomes.

The evidence regarding the effectiveness of PROs in an oncologic setting is still in its infancy. Although three systematic reviews, each based on almost 30 studies, concluded that routine use of PROs improves patient-provider communication, detection of symptoms and patient satisfaction with care, effect sizes for improvements in physical symptoms, psychological symptoms, and quality of life were found to be either small or nonsignificant [50, 54, 55]. However, among patients with advanced cancer, two randomized trials have shown that active symptom monitoring with PROs may improve survival among patients receiving treatment [56, 57]. The results of these studies have yet to be replicated but suggest that PROs can be used to ensure prompt and effective treatment by centering care on the patient's own responses.

Currently, the evidence regarding the active use of PROs in cancer follow-up comes mainly from trials in patients receiving treatment, probably due to the lack of PRO measures that specifically assess survivorship outcomes. However, new trials are underway that are utilizing PRO measures developed for use in cancer survivors and investigating the efficacy of routine PROs in follow-up care [e.g., 58]. As PROs can be delivered electronically and the information can be assessed in real-time, the use of electronic PROs may be a cost-effective way of monitoring cancer survivors and identifying those who need—or do not need—close care [58]. This approach based on stratifying the provision of follow-up care is the topic of the final section of this chapter.

Risk-Stratified Follow-Up Care

The aim of risk-stratified care is to prevent resource waste by identifying and providing close clinical attention to the few patients that need it the most, while supporting the majority of patients in self-management of common survivorship issues [4]. In an environment of sparse healthcare resources, this strategy has been proposed as a way to ensure that follow-up care remains sustainable, while still providing care for the large population of cancer survivors [59]. This personalized approach to care has been adopted in certain countries, although not rigorously investigated. In Denmark, for example, follow-up guidelines for breast cancer survivors were changed in 2016, whereby patients should be offered a follow-up plan based on "needs and personal preference" [60]. Implementation of these broad guidelines differed around the country, but generally, breast cancer patients with a low risk of recurrence are no longer called in for fixed outpatient appointments (with the exception of scheduled mammograms). Instead, patients are usually provided with health-care information on how to self-manage common symptoms and a phone number to call in case of worrying symptoms.

The challenge in providing effective risk-stratified care lies in how patients at risk are assessed. Traditionally, personalized medicine has been based on biomarkers or genetic factors. In one of the few randomized trials of risk-stratified followup, risk-stratified care in colorectal cancer survivors (i.e., patients considered at high risk of recurrence received intensive surveillance, patients with low risk received low-intensity surveillance) resulted in better overall survival at the same cost compared to patients receiving minimal follow-up regardless of risk of recurrence [61]. However, other than the risk of a cancer recurrence, patients may also be at risk for other negative events, such as late effects and psychological morbidity. Some patients may be vulnerable physically (e.g., patients with severe comorbidity) and psychosocially (e.g., patients with low socioeconomic position and a lack of social support), while others may have low health literacy and are not able to monitor or manage symptoms on their own. These factors need to be remembered when stratifying survivors into long-term follow-up programs. Improving health literacy and involving informal caregivers in cancer follow-up care may be an important component in risk-stratified care [62]. Finally, we need more randomized trials investigating the effectiveness of risk-stratified cancer follow-up and the identification of potentially vulnerable groups.

Conclusion

Routine specialist-led follow-up is becoming unsustainable in light of the increasing number of cancer survivors with complex physical and psychosocial needs. In this chapter, we have seen that new models of care have become complex, with the introduction of new providers and components encompassing both clinical and supportive care. However, the evidence regarding the effectiveness of newer models of care is difficult to synthesize due to the limitations and heterogeneity of the available trials, especially with regard to the different outcomes that are investigated and how they are measured. Trials with adequate power and follow-up are needed to assess outcomes such as survival and detection of recurrence, while the use of standardized PRO measures will help advance the assessment of outcomes such as anxiety, depression, and quality of life.

Future follow-up care is likely to be determined by economic drivers and riskstratified care may be a solution, whereby resources are distributed based on the complexity of the patient's needs. An assessment of risk or need should not only be based on illness characteristics (e.g., tumor stage or treatments received), but also on whether the patient is socially or psychologically vulnerable. The clinical use of PROs may be an inexpensive way of monitoring identifying vulnerable patients in the follow-up clinic and the active use of care plans and patient symptom education may help support able patients in self-management and self-reporting of symptoms. However, evidence of the effectiveness of these new models of care is still lacking.

It is also likely that the current evidence on cancer follow-up will change, as ongoing improvements in cancer detection and treatment are expected to improve survival and decrease recurrence rates. Furthermore, new treatments will influence the profile of side and late-effects that we see today, potentially affecting quality of life. As evidence for the effectiveness of different follow-up models on outcomes like survival and recurrence detection take many years to collect, it is important to focus on supporting the physical and psychosocial well-being of cancer survivors in the meantime. New multidisciplinary and stratified ways of delivering follow-up care, such as through the engagement of different providers according to need (e.g., GP, nurse, etc.), as well as monitoring through different platforms (e.g., electronic PRO measure, etc.), may provide the way forward. Finally, it is important to evaluate the implementation of new models of care to strengthen the evidence base.

References

- 1. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Latest global cancer data: cancer burden rises to 19.3 million new cases and 10.0 million cancer deaths in 2020. World Health Organization. 2020.
- Cancer Research UK. Cancer survival statistics. 2019. https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/ health-professional/cancer-statistics/survival. Accessed 12 January 2020.
- Danckert B, Ferlay J, Engholm G, Hansen H, Johannesen T, Khan S, et al. NORDCAN: cancer incidence, mortality, prevalence and survival in the Nordic countries. Association of the Nordic Cancer Registries. Danish Cancer Society; 2019. http://www-dep.iarc.fr/NORDCAN/ english/frame.asp. Accessed 20 January 2020.
- Mayer D, Knafl G, Fitzpatrick B, Nevidjon BM. The survivorship tsunami: sustainability of current models of follow-up care. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(7_suppl):48. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2018.36.7_suppl.48.
- 5. MacBride SK, Whyte F. Survivorship and the cancer follow-up clinic. Eur J Cancer Care. 1998;7(1):47–55. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2354.1998.00065.x.
- 6. Mukherjee S. The emperor of all maladies: a biography of cancer. London: Harper Collins; 2011.
- Collins RF, Bekker HL, Dodwell DJ. Follow-up care of patients treated for breast cancer: a structured review. Cancer Treat Rev. 2004;30(1):19–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0305-7372(03)00141-5.
- Colleoni M, Sun Z, Price KN, Karlsson P, Forbes JF, Thürlimann B, et al. Annual hazard rates of recurrence for breast cancer during 24 years of follow-up: results from the international breast cancer study group trials I to V. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(9):927–35. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2015.62.3504.
- Høeg BL, Bidstrup PE, Karlsen RV, Friberg AS, Albieri V, Dalton SO, et al. Follow-up strategies following completion of primary cancer treatment in adult cancer survivors. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;11:CD012425.pub2. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD012425.pub2.
- Jeffery M, Hickey BE, Hider PN. Follow-up strategies for patients treated for non-metastatic colorectal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;9 https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD002200.pub4.
- Lewis RA, Neal RD, Hendry M, France B, Williams NH, Russell D, et al. Patients' and healthcare professionals' views of cancer follow-up: systematic review. Br J Gen Pract. 2009;59(564):e248–59. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp09X453576.

- Sperduti I, Vici P, Tinari N, Gamucci T, De Tursi M, Cortese G, et al. Breast cancer followup strategies in randomized phase III adjuvant clinical trials: a systematic review. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2013;32(1):89. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-9966-32-89.
- Lewis RA, Neal RD, Williams NH, France B, Hendry M, Russell D, et al. Follow-up of cancer in primary care versus secondary care: systematic review. Br J Gen Pract. 2009;59(564):e234. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp09X453567.
- Davies NJ, Batehup L. Towards a personalised approach to aftercare: a review of cancer followup in the UK. J Cancer Surviv. 2011;5(2):142–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-010-0165-3.
- Phillips JL, Currow DC. Cancer as a chronic disease. Collegian. 2010;17(2):47–50. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.colegn.2010.04.007.
- Cardoso F, Kyriakides S, Ohno S, Penault-Llorca F, Poortmans P, Rubio IT, et al. Early breast cancer: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up[†]. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(8):1194–220. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz173.
- Argilés G, Tabernero J, Labianca R, Hochhauser D, Salazar R, Iveson T, et al. Localised colon cancer: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(10):1291–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annonc.2020.06.022.
- GIVIO Investigators. Impact of follow-up testing on survival and health-related quality of life in breast cancer patients. A multicenter randomized controlled trial. The GIVIO investigators. JAMA. 1994;271(20):1587–92. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1994.03510440047031.
- Rosselli Del Turco M, Palli D, Cariddi A, Ciatto S, Pacini P, Distante V. Intensive diagnostic follow-up after treatment of primary breast cancer. A randomized trial. National Research Council Project on Breast Cancer follow-up. JAMA. 1994;271(20):1593–7. Pubmed 7848404.
- 20. Grunfeld E, Mant D, Yudkin P, Adewuyi-Dalton R, Cole D, Stewart J, et al. Routine follow up of breast cancer in primary care: randomised trial. BMJ. 1996;313(7058):665–9. Pubmed 8811760.
- Vos JAM, Wieldraaijer T, van Weert HCPM, van Asselt KM. Survivorship care for cancer patients in primary versus secondary care: a systematic review. J Cancer Surviv. 2021;15(1):66–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-020-00911-w.
- 22. Beaver K, Tysver-Robinson D, Campbell M, Twomey M, Williamson S, Hindley A, et al. Comparing hospital and telephone follow-up after treatment for breast cancer: randomised equivalence trial. BMJ. 2009;338:a3147. Pubmed 19147478.
- 23. Beaver K, Williamson S, Martin-Hirsch P, Keating P, Tomlinson A, Sutton C, et al. ENDCAT: endometrial cancer telephone follow-up trial. Psychooncology. 2013;22:19.
- Beaver K, Williamson S, Sutton C, Hollingworth W, Gardner A, Allton B, et al. Comparing hospital and telephone follow-up for patients treated for stage-I endometrial cancer (ENDCAT trial): a randomised, multicentre, non-inferiority trial. BJOG. 2017;124(1):150–60. https://doi. org/10.1111/1471-0528.14000.
- Kimman ML, Dirksen CD, Voogd AC, Falger P, Gijsen BC, Thuring M, et al. Nurse-led telephone follow-up and an educational group programme after breast cancer treatment: results of a 2 × 2 randomised controlled trial. Eur J Cancer (Oxford, England: 1990). 2011;47(7):1027–36. Pubmed 21237636.
- Morrison V, Spencer LH, Totton N, Pye K, Yeo ST, Butterworth C, et al. Trial of optimal personalised care after treatment-gynaecological cancer (TOPCAT-G): a randomized feasibility trial. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2018;28(2):401–11. https://doi.org/10.1097/igc.000000000001179.
- Verschuur EM, Steyerberg EW, Tilanus HW, Polinder S, Essink-Bot ML, Tran KT, et al. Nurseled follow-up of patients after oesophageal or gastric cardia cancer surgery: a randomised trial. Br J Cancer. 2009;100(1):70–6. Pubmed 19066612.
- Monterosso L, Platt V, Bulsara M, Berg M. Systematic review and meta-analysis of patient reported outcomes for nurse-led models of survivorship care for adult cancer patients. Cancer Treat Rev. 2019;73:62–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2018.12.007.
- Moschetti I, Cinquini M, Lambertini M, Levaggi A, Liberati A. Follow-up strategies for women treated for early breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;5:CD001768. https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD001768.pub3.

- Lafranconi A, Pylkkänen L, Deandrea S, Bramesfeld A, Lerda D, Neamţiu L, et al. Intensive follow-up for women with breast cancer: review of clinical, economic and patient's preference domains through evidence to decision framework. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2017;15(1):206. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-017-0779-5.
- Baca B, Beart RW Jr, Etzioni DA. Surveillance after colorectal cancer resection: a systematic review. Dis Colon Rectum. 2011;54(8):1036–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/ DCR.0b013e31820db364.
- 32. Zhao Y, Yi C, Zhang Y, Fang F, Faramand A. Intensive follow-up strategies after radical surgery for nonmetastatic colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2019;14(7):e0220533. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0220533.
- Tjandra JJ, Chan MK. Follow-up after curative resection of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007;50(11):1783–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10350-007-9030-5.
- Renehan AG, Egger M, Saunders MP, O'Dwyer ST. Impact on survival of intensive follow up after curative resection for colorectal cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials. BMJ. 2002;324(7341):813. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.324.7341.813.
- Pita-Fernandez S, Alhayek-Ai M, Gonzalez-Martin C, Lopez-Calvino B, Seoane-Pillado T, Pertega-Diaz S. Intensive follow-up strategies improve outcomes in nonmetastatic colorectal cancer patients after curative surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(4):644–56. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu543.
- Runowicz CD, Leach CR, Henry NL, Henry KS, Mackey HT, Cowens-Alvarado RL, et al. American Cancer Society/American Society of Clinical Oncology breast cancer survivorship care guideline. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66(1):43–73. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21319.
- 37. Zamagni C, Gion M, Mariani L, Stieber P, Rubino D, Fanti S, et al. CEA, CA15.3 and 18-FDG PET in the follow-up of early breast cancer (BC) patients (pts): a prospective, multicentric, randomized trial—KRONOS patient-oriented new surveillance study Italy. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(15 suppl):TPS11627. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2017.35.15_suppl.TPS11627.
- ClinicalTrials.gov. Follow-up of early breast cancer by dynamic evaluation of CEA and CA 15.3 followed by 18FDG-PET. 2014. https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT02261389.
- Tzelepis F, Sanson-Fisher RW, Zucca AC, Fradgley EA. Measuring the quality of patientcentered care: why patient-reported measures are critical to reliable assessment. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2015;9:831–5. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S81975.
- 40. Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2006.
- Salz T, Oeffinger KC, McCabe MS, Layne TM, Bach PB. Survivorship care plans in research and practice. CA Cancer J Clin. 2012;62(2):101–17. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.20142.
- 42. Grunfeld E, Julian JA, Pond G, Maunsell E, Coyle D, Folkes A, et al. Evaluating survivorship care plans: results of a randomized, clinical trial of patients with breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(36):4755–62. Pubmed 22042959.
- Jefford M, Gough K, Drosdowsky A, Russell L, Aranda S, Butow P, et al. A randomized controlled trial of a nurse-led supportive care package (SurvivorCare) for survivors of colorectal cancer. Oncologist. 2016;21(8):1014–23. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0533.
- 44. van de Poll-Franse LV, Nicolaije KAH, Ezendam NPM. The impact of cancer survivorship care plans on patient and health care provider outcomes: a current perspective. Acta Oncol. 2017;56(2):134–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/0284186X.2016.1266080.
- 45. Hill RE, Wakefield CE, Cohn RJ, Fardell JE, Brierley M-EE, Kothe E, et al. Survivorship care plans in cancer: a meta-analysis and systematic review of care plan outcomes. Oncologist. 2020;25:e351–e72. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2019-0184.
- Mayer DK, Birken SA, Check DK, Chen RC. Summing it up: an integrative review of studies of cancer survivorship care plans (2006-2013). Cancer. 2015;121(7):978–96. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.28884.
- Birken SA, Urquhart R, Munoz-Plaza C, Zizzi AR, Haines E, Stover A, et al. Survivorship care plans: are randomized controlled trials assessing outcomes that are relevant to stakeholders? J Cancer Surviv. 2018;12(4):495–508. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-018-0688-6.

- Mayer DK, Birken SA, Chen RC. Avoiding implementation errors in cancer survivorship care plan effectiveness studies. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(31):3528–30. https://doi.org/10.1200/ jco.2015.62.6937.
- 49. de Rooij BH, Ezendam NPM, Vos MC, Pijnenborg JMA, Boll D, Kruitwagen R, et al. Patients' information coping styles influence the benefit of a survivorship care plan in the ROGY care trial: new insights for tailored delivery. Cancer. 2019;125(5):788–97. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.31844.
- Howell D, Molloy S, Wilkinson K, Green E, Orchard K, Wang K, et al. Patient-reported outcomes in routine cancer clinical practice: a scoping review of use, impact on health outcomes, and implementation factors. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(9):1846–58. https://doi.org/10.1093/ annonc/mdv181.
- McKenna S. The limitations of patient-reported outcome measurement in oncology. J Clin Pathways. 2016;2(7):37–46.
- Basch E, Reeve BB, Mitchell SA, Clauser SB, Minasian LM, Dueck AC, et al. Development of the National Cancer Institute's patient-reported outcomes version of the common terminology criteria for adverse events (PRO-CTCAE). J Natl Cancer Inst. 2014;106(9) https://doi. org/10.1093/jnci/dju244.
- Atkinson TM, Ryan SJ, Bennett AV, Stover AM, Saracino RM, Rogak LJ, et al. The association between clinician-based common terminology criteria for adverse events (CTCAE) and patientreported outcomes (PRO): a systematic review. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(8):3669–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-016-3297-9.
- 54. Chen J, Ou L, Hollis SJ. A systematic review of the impact of routine collection of patient reported outcome measures on patients, providers and health organisations in an oncologic setting. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13:211. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-13-211.
- 55. Kotronoulas G, Kearney N, Maguire R, Harrow A, Di Domenico D, Croy S, et al. What is the value of the routine use of patient-reported outcome measures toward improvement of patient outcomes, processes of care, and health service outcomes in cancer care? A systematic review of controlled trials. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(14):1480–501. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2013.53.5948.
- 56. Basch EM, Deal AM, Dueck AC, Bennett AV, Atkinson TM, Scher HI, et al. Overall survival results of a randomized trial assessing patient-reported outcomes for symptom monitoring during routine cancer treatment. J Clin Oncol. 2017;318(2):197–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2017.35.18_suppl.LBA2.
- Denis F, Lethrosne C, Pourel N, Molinier O, Pointreau Y, Domont J, et al. Randomized trial comparing a web-mediated follow-up with routine surveillance in lung cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2017;109:9. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djx029.
- Saltbæk L, Karlsen RV, Bidstrup PE, Høeg BL, Zoffmann V, Horsbøl TA, et al. MyHealth: specialist nurse-led follow-up in breast cancer. A randomized controlled trial—development and feasibility. Acta Oncol. 2019;58:619–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/0284186X.2018.1563717.
- Mayer DK, Alfano CM. Personalized risk-stratified cancer follow-up care: its potential for healthier survivors, happier clinicians, and lower costs. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2019;111(5):442–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djy232.
- 60. Sundhedsstyrelsen [Danish Health Authority]. Pakkeforløb for brystkræft [Treatment framework for breast cancer]. Copenhagen: Sundhedsstyrelsen; 2018.
- 61. Secco GB, Fardelli R, Gianquinto D, Bonfante P, Baldi E, Ravera G, et al. Efficacy and cost of risk-adapted follow-up in patients after colorectal cancer surgery: a prospective, randomized and controlled trial. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2002;28(4):418–23. Pubmed 12099653.
- 62. Høeg BL, Frederiksen MH, Andersen EAW, Saltbæk L, Friberg AS, Karlsen RV, et al. Is the health literacy of informal caregivers associated with the psychological outcomes of breast cancer survivors? J Cancer Surviv. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-020-00964-x.



9

Rehabilitation: Definition, Goals, and Timing

Georgia Schilling

Introduction

Scientific progress resulted in amazing cancer survival due to advances in systemic treatment, targeted therapy and immunotherapy, complex multidisciplinary therapy approaches in metastatic settings and better screening. The amount of cancer survivors, who are cured or living with cancer as a chronic disease is rising fast: at the beginning of the 70s 5-years overall survival was less than 50% but increased significantly during the last decades. Today we can provide long-term survival to 61% of men and even 66% of female patients. For many of them, cancer diagnosis and its treatment with acute toxicities, side effects, physical and psychosocial sequelae result in sustainable problems or disabilities in activities of daily life (ADL) during and after successful treatment.

Cancer survivors are facing a wide range of individual impairments and must deal with various burdens and needs (shown in the former chapters of this handbook). Rehabilitation plays a main role in maintaining and improving their quality of life and mitigate the loss of function and disability. The group of cancer patients is very demanding and among other chronicle patient groups, the medically most complex to treat:

Oncology-directed treatments introduce a variety of side effects that can adversely impact multiple body systems during and after treatment and each treatment modality (e.g., surgery, radiation, chemotherapy, etc.) may individually or collectively introduce risk for further safety issues. Although a complex array of biosocial factors such as an individual's preexisting comorbidities, polypharmacy, and other lifestyle factors impact and amplify the risk of adverse side effects during treatment and rehabilitation.

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_9

G. Schilling (⊠)

Department Cancer Rehabilitation, Asklepios Nordseeklinik Westerland/Sylt, Asklepios Tumorzentrum, Hamburg, Germany e-mail: g.schilling@asklepios.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021



Fig. 9.1 Rehabilitation and additional facilities for after cancer care

During the last 25 years, the perception of rehabilitation in cancer patients fundamentally changed: previously recognized as a spa or wellness therapy after oncological treatment it is now well accepted as the third column of therapy next to in- and outpatient medicine. It defines the beginning of cancer survivorship.

In times of personalized medicine/oncology cancer rehabilitation is an essential component of individualized treatment and follow-up of specific problems after cancer.

Treatment and prevention of disability and its rehabilitation require a comprehensive and multidisciplinary approach, including physical and occupational therapists, speech and language therapists, lymphedema therapists, and further supportive services as nurses, recreational therapists, nutritionists, social workers, mental health professionals, orthotic and prosthetic specialists, vocational counselors, support groups and educational outreach programs. The multiprofessional and interdisciplinary facilities of the cancer survivorship network are shown in Fig. 9.1. Treatments aim to reduce physical disturbances, psychosocial sorrows, and seek to increase possibilities of work reintegration.

Salutogenesis as a Strategy of Rehabilitation

Rehabilitation is based on the principle of salutogenesis. Salutogenesis is the doctrine of convalescence. The term was coined in the 1980s by Aaron Antonovsky (1923–1994), a professor of medical sociology, complementary to "pathogenesis." He focused on the influencing factors comprehensibility, manageability, and meaningfulness as a sense of coherence for the development of health and defined the model of salutogenesis based on these factors [1]:

- *Comprehensibility*: a belief that things happen in an orderly and predictable fashion and a sense that you can understand events in your life and reasonably predict what will happen in the future.
- *Manageability*: a belief that you have the skills or ability, the support, the help, or the resources necessary to take care of things, and that things are manageable and within your control.
- Meaningfulness: a belief that things in life are interesting and a source of satisfaction, that things are really worthwhile, and that there is good reason or purpose to care about what happens.

The concept of salutogenesis enriched and supported the medical and rehabilitation science view on health and illness. Salutogenesis is a key element of biopsychosocial models, focusing on factors that support human health and well-being, rather than on factors that cause disease (pathogenesis). More specifically, the "salutogenic model" is concerned with the relationship between health, stress, and coping.

Definition of Rehabilitation

The WHO has defined rehabilitation as "the use of all means aimed at reducing the impact of disabling and handicapping conditions and at enabling people with disabilities to achieve optimal social integration" [2].

Rehabilitation is based upon the bio-psychosocial concept of the ICF (international classification of functioning disability and health) taking all individual contextual factors into account. The ICF comprehends health conditions, body functions and structures, activity, participation, personal and environmental factors and offers a foundation for the understanding of functioning, disability, and health. It complements the ICD (International Classification of Diseases) and provides a conclusive theoretical, and conceptual framework which incorporates biological, individual, and social aspects of health conditions [3, 4]. In terms of the ICF-model, rehabilitation can be defined as a coordinated process, which enhances activity and participation.

Based on the bio-psychosocial model of the WHO (Fig. 9.2) and a holistic approach, cancer rehabilitation comprises multidisciplinary efforts including, among others, medical, psychological, and physiotherapeutic treatment as well as occupational and functional therapy, depending on the patient's functional status. The aim of cancer rehabilitation is to regain maximal functioning according to the patient's individual resources and needs.

Cancer rehabilitation follows cancer treatment or takes place in between the various treatment modules, e.g., between surgery and adjuvant systemic treatment. The key of the rehabilitation process is to enable patients to include learnings into their daily life practice (at home, at work, in social activities) [5]. This significantly increases the possibilities for patients to integrate into society again.



Fig. 9.2 The bio-psychosocial model of the ICF

Cancer rehabilitation has been defined as a distinct field of medicine [5] that focuses on reducing or eliminating (long-term) side effects of cancer itself or its treatment and improving survivor's strength, ability to function, and quality of life. Using an interdisciplinary model of care, professionals identify patients' resources and goals to develop a patient-centered plan of care including medical, physical, psychological, and social components.

Comprehensive cancer rehabilitation is a concept that is defined by the patient. It implies helping a person with cancer to obtain a maximum physical, social, psychological, and vocational functioning within the limits imposed by the disease and its treatment [6]. The ultimate goal is to improve multiple dimensions of life satisfaction.

There are three forms of rehabilitation: Inpatient, outpatient, and self-managed rehabilitation.

At the first time, already in 1978, Lehmann and his coworkers described the need for cancer rehabilitation [7]. More than 50% of patients assessed in cancer referral centers had physical medicine and rehabilitation problems as a general weakness (35%), problems in ADL (30%), deficits in transfers (7%), and 52% had psychological problems. Twenty-five years later this has not changed yet. Cancer patients still show the following disorders: deconditioning in 76%, mobility impairment in 58%, needs for increased ROM in 42%, and deficits in ADL in 22% [8]. Main issues cover common functional impairments like fatigue, pain, polyneuropathy, cognitive impairment, or eating disorders, which can occur in different entities or focus on specific, e.g., dysfunctions after breast cancer surgery, digestive disorders due to gastrointestinal resections or incontinence.

Goals

The main objective of cancer rehabilitation should be the achievement of the highest functional status possible within the limits of the disease and the patient's choices. To make cancer rehabilitation humane and effective it should be dynamic, realistic, and clinically appropriate. The treatment must be developed together with the

	······· 8·····
General goals concern	Disease-specific goals concern
Fatigue	Urinary incontinence
Mobility	Fecal incontinence
Polyneuropathy, ataxia	Lymphedema
Pain	Speech and swallowing impediments
Gain/lose weight	Feeding problems
Smoking cessation	Arthralgias/musculoskeletal syndrome
Independency	Axillary web syndrome
Self-care activities	Postmastectomy syndrome
Workability	Dropped head syndrome
Participation in social life	Spinal accessory nerve palsy
Return to work	
Social isolation	
Psychosocial stability	
Fear of progression	
Deconditioning	
Cognitive dysfunction	
Balance and coordination deficits	

Table 9.1 Examples of general and disease-specific goals

patient to find the most suitable rehabilitation approaches. Many goals are common to most malignancies, e.g., reducing the functional impact of aerobic deconditioning and chemotherapeutic neuropathy. Others are highly disease-specific such as scapular stabilization following cranial nerve IX sacrifice. Expectations of patients and clinicians must evolve in response to the progression of the disease. Restorative, supportive, preventative, and palliative goals should be reevaluated at critical points along the disease course.

The goals of cancer rehabilitation remain broad and holistic: cancer patients are a heterogeneous group with respect to medical, sociodemographic factors, and rehabilitation needs.

In addition to physical problems that patients may face depending on the type of cancer and treatment, it has been estimated that some 25% of patients are emotionally distressed during and after treatment of cancer [9]. Fatigue is the most prevalent cancer-related symptom and has a significant adverse impact on patients' functional ability [10, 11].

We distinguish between general goals concerning all entities equally and specific goals, due to the different diseases and their impairments in functioning (Tabel 1).

Examples of general and disease-specific goals are shown in Table 9.1.

Timing

Cancer rehabilitation plays an important role throughout the continuum of cancer survivorship. Cancer patients might be in continuous need for rehabilitation during their entire life following the diagnosis of primary cancer, although requirements for rehabilitation efforts may vary over time. Rehabilitation can be applied in the entire phase of the disease, from the time of diagnosis until the terminal stage. According to the so-called Dietz classification based on patients' physical and individual needs [12], one can distinguish four different categories: preventive, restorative, supportive, and palliative.

Preventive Rehabilitation

Preventive rehabilitation is also referred to as prehabilitation or prospective surveillance. Its emphasis is to prevent or delay complications due to cancer or its therapies. The rationale is that earlier protection of impairments makes them easier to treat, which may prevent future impairments or may reduce their incidence or severity.

Restorative Rehabilitation

Restorative rehabilitation is for patients in whom a full recovery of functioning is expected. Maximum efforts should be exerted to achieve functional recovery.

Supportive Rehabilitation

Supportive rehabilitation focuses on the reestablishment of functional independence in patients with permanent deficits. This means to increase self-ability and mobility. It is used for patients, whose impairments of function and declining abilities have been progressive, due to growing cancer or because of further therapies needed.

Palliative Rehabilitation

Palliative rehabilitation enables patients in an end-of-life setting to maintain a high quality of life as much as possible. This includes symptom control and pain management, physical, social, and psychological issues. The goals are to maximize patient comfort and caregiver support.

Today prehabilitation seems to play a subordinate role in patients with cancer. First, even when a cancer diagnosis is not an emergency, therapy, e.g., surgery of malignant tumors or neoadjuvant treatments should not be delayed for a long time.

Second, the minority of cancer patients can psychologically withstand a postponement of their treatment. Last, we do not have enough data to prioritize prehabilitation over post-acute care, even not in fragile or elderly patients [13].

Post-acute care starts immediately after surgery, radiotherapy, or chemotherapy. The purpose is to prevent impairments or, e.g., enable early postoperative ambulation or improve physical functions [14]. In this phase, many patients become

psychologically depressed because of their cancer diagnosis or changes in their body image and psychological support becomes essential. It is vital to provide patients with information about further consultation possibilities if they suffer from fear of recurrence or long-term sequelae after being discharged [15].

Timings for post-acute treatment should be reviewed for patients with multimodal treatment approaches. Guidelines are open, to start restorative rehabilitation after the whole therapy or immediately after surgery, before adjuvant treatment, which means within the time gap between resection of a malignant tumor and further systemic treatment. Randomized clinical trials, investigating post-acute treatment after surgery vs. after adjuvant treatment are needed to answer open questions urgently.

Rehabilitation during systemic treatment aims to encourage ambulation consistent with the patient's condition to prevent disuse syndrome and maintain physical and muscle strength. An implementation of exercise and sedentary occupational therapy is key to rebuild physical strength, which diminishes during chemotherapy as a result of acute adverse side effects. The aim is to make movement a habit by incorporating physical activities that the patient enjoys in daily life.

Patients with recurrent or advanced cancer experience a variety of symptoms associated with cancer progression but also due to continuous systemic treatment. They suffer constantly from side effects such as myelosuppression, pain, nausea, or polyneuropathy. It is desirable to maintain as much self-care as possible in everyday life. According to shared decision-making, the patients should be encouraged and enabled to accept their resources and barriers and to identify their goals. The rehabilitation approach should acknowledge the surroundings of the patient, the remaining functional activities as well as the available human support like caregivers, caring organizations, or health care devices.

In the terminal stage, the needs of patients and their families should be the main focus of rehabilitation. Even if a patient's condition deteriorates it is possible to perform rehabilitation by palliative care interventions such as range of motion (ROM) exercises for the patients' limbs, massages or breathing assistance [14].

Table 9.2 summarizes the possible contribution of rehabilitation in different disease settings.

Disease setting	The possible contribution of rehabilitation
Treatment	 Preserving and restoring functioning through exercise and increased physical activity
Post-(acute) treatment	 Developing and supporting a program to help restore daily routines and activities of daily life (ADL) Fostering return to work Addressing psychosocial needs Educating in tertiary prevention Supervising a maintenance program of exercise and mobility management
Recurrence/advanced disease	 Restoring functioning/preventing its decline
End-of-life	 Maintaining independence and quality of life Symptom control Educating caregivers

 Table 9.2
 Contribution of rehabilitation in the course of cancer (adopted from [16])

Forms of Rehabilitation

In the following sections, three different forms of rehabilitation will be reviewed regarding their historical background and results, looking at available clinical studies.

Institutional Cancer Rehabilitation

In Germany rehabilitation is integrated into the comprehensive social security system financed by the statutory pension insurance agencies, driven by their interest to prevent early retirement. Based on this historical background, the German rehabilitation system evolved as a specific and independent system, which is unique and distinct from the system in many other European countries where rehabilitation is a part of primary health care [17, 18]. The rehabilitation usually lasts for 3-4 weeks and includes 2–3 h treatments per day. It occurs in specialized rehabilitation clinics, which are staffed with multidisciplinary rehabilitation teams. The individualized and multidimensional therapy includes a combination of physical training, psychooncological interventions, lessons on general health behavior, and coping with cancer. This also applies to Austria or Switzerland. Only 1% of all cancer rehabilitation measures in Germany are carried out in an outpatient setting [19]. The multimodal individualized program for each patient depends on his condition. Functioning needs are assessed at the beginning of the rehabilitation measure and partly at the end of the measure. The decisive advantage of this treatment setting might be the separation of the patient from his normal life. No bothersome influences, no onerous factors jeopardize the rehabilitation process and success. Otherwise, patients are also separated from their families which might be a stressor for some of them.

The results of a number of German evaluation studies indicate that cancer rehabilitation leads to improved physical and psychological quality of life and general well-being in cancer patients [20–23]. But many of the studies suffer from methodological flaws, mainly the lack of control groups and randomized designs.

Studies show so far that besides achieved effects, reached goals are not sustainable. Without any further treatment, the positive mental and physical outcomes drop to the initial level within a short interval [24].

Outpatient Cancer Rehabilitation

Outpatient cancer rehabilitation is suitable for cancer patients who are not in need of care anymore and do not require hospitalization or medical care 24/7. There is a need for interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary support, however. Outpatient cancer care can take place following inpatient rehabilitation for the purpose to shorten it and to make it sustainable. While cancer rehabilitation for example in Germany is offered almost exclusively as an inpatient program (3–4 weeks) for historical

reasons, notably in Scandinavian nations it is provided as an outpatient intervention program: Sweden, Norway, and the Netherlands carry out rehabilitation as primarily outpatient programs. In Finland, Denmark, Iceland, and Norway weekly courses are offered. Cancer rehabilitation takes place at specialized centers and is offered alongside daily living and work over several months or sometimes over 1–2 years [25–27].

In Denmark, the National Board of Health conducted a systematic review focusing on studies that investigated different intervention programs against depression, to increase physical activity or to treat long-term and late effects of cancer therapies. They stressed the need to gain more evidence about types of interventions, their timings, intensity, and duration [25].

Different data from a Danish rehabilitation center offering a short course of 1 week with dietary counseling, physiotherapy, and psychosocial support did not show long-lasting effects with regard to the quality of life or health behavior [9, 10].

A number of studies of multimodal rehabilitation programs published by the Swedish Cancer Society showed mixed results [28–30].

Norwegian research mostly addressed the effects of single interventions and not multidisciplinary programs.

In Finland, various studies investigated the effectiveness of cancer rehabilitation and demonstrated an immediate improvement of quality of life and physical wellbeing but have not looked into the long-term effects.

The Netherlands' rehabilitation program covering in- and outpatient settings showed positive short- and long-term results on quality of life, physical functioning, and fatigue [31, 32].

Evaluation studies across Europe cover a wide range of interventions and programs, ranging from specific treatments to multidimensional rehabilitation programs covering several interventions from physical exercise to recreation training and psycho-education.

Research in this field suffers from methodological limitations and a lack of data on the effects in both the short- and long-term. Currently, the main challenge in rehabilitation research is to evaluate the diversity of services in terms of contents and effects. Future research is needed urgently and should focus on multimodal programs in different settings in randomized trials [25].

Self-Managed Rehabilitation

The goal of self-management is to empower patients to achieve optimal health and well-being while living with a chronic disease. Self-management involves three fundamental tasks: medical management, role management, and emotional management [33]. Interventions to promote self-management should incorporate education to increase the patient's knowledge of the disease, of available support by health care systems, and training to acquire problem-solving and decision-making skills [34].

Self-management interventions are fundamentally behavior change interventions, designed to help the patient learn and adopt a set of health practices to daily life.

Effective self-management interventions in other chronic disease populations can be transferred into cancer rehabilitation easily. But the evidence for this assumption is still missing. Several recent reviews of self-management interventions in cancer survivors demonstrated mixed results on the effectiveness [35].

An evaluation and systematic review of intervention content and theories by the same group [36] revealed several deficiencies in the clinical trials conducted and published so far. These studies did not include the investigation of behavior change techniques, the participants were predominantly female breast cancer patients and outcomes were missing. Therefore, it is difficult whether to recommend this kind of rehabilitation should be integrated into standard cancer care and to draw definitive conclusions. To increase generalizability, it is needed to assess different tumor entity groups, and the impact of different types of self-management programs on cancer survivors as well as to measure short- and long-term outcomes. The sustainability of the interventions reviewed was poor, suggesting that cancer survivors require interventions that can be applied in their daily activities [37].

In summary, there is a pressing need for more research on different rehabilitation settings to provide more evidence about the most effective type.

The key to success, sustainability, and effectiveness of cancer rehabilitation might be the combination of different settings in- and outpatient intervention with self-management programs in the long-term run of cancer rehabilitation.

A Universal Rehab Plan for Cancer Patients: What Is Evidence-Based for Everyone?

Rehabilitation programs have been proven to be beneficial for a series of other chronic diseases already. In addition, previous reviews on single interventions such as exercise [38] or psychological therapies [39] have shown positive outcomes for patients with cancer.

This drives the assumption that combined physical and psychological interventions in a multimodal rehabilitation program add value and benefits to cancer patients.

The EUROCHIP-3 Working Group on Cancer Rehabilitation has developed specific indicators to evaluate rehabilitation success, including quality of life, return to work, and satisfaction of specific rehabilitation needs (e.g., physical, psychooncological, dietary, and speech and language therapy [40]). Hence, to meet the requirements of successful cancer rehabilitation, the programs should consist of multidisciplinary efforts including medical, psychological, and physiotherapeutic treatment as well as occupational therapy, dietetics, and social work [25].

Scott and coworkers [41] conducted a Cochrane Review on multidimensional rehabilitation programs (MDRPs) for adult cancer survivors. They wanted to evaluate the effectiveness and added value of MDRPs in order to facilitate the development of evidence-based cancer rehabilitation. The investigators identified 12 studies examining the effectiveness of MDRPs in terms of maintaining or improving the

physical and psychosocial well-being of cancer survivors to be suitable for the review. These involved participants with a range of cancer diagnoses who received a wide variety of interventions that were delivered using various methods, over different time periods and were assessed using numerous outcome measures. Despite this heterogeneity, the authors were able to pool data on the SF-36 in five of the studies: Participants who received a multidimensional rehabilitation intervention showed a consistent improvement in their physical functioning following the intervention compared to control participants. The reviewed articles suggest that MDRPs are more likely to help patients cope with their physical needs than their emotional needs. MDRPs which looked at one specific behavior area with a unidimensional focus, such as diet, physical activity, or stress, appeared to be more helpful for patients than programs that attempted to address several different behaviors. They seemed to be more successful in terms of generating a positive change in the aspect directly related to their focus or primary aim. Rehabilitation programs that involve participants with a variety of cancer diagnoses show at least similar positive improvements in physical to cancer site-specific programs. The positive effects of rehabilitation programs appear to plateau after approximately 6 months. The type of healthcare professional does not appear to influence the delivery outcome of rehabilitation programs. Successful MDRPs usually involved face-to-face contact between a patient and a health professional (usually a nurse or physical therapist) and included at least one follow-up phone call. Programs which took place over a longer time period (more than half a year), or which delivered by a specific type of health professional, or were delivered to a single cancer site were more successful than brief, focused MDRPs delivered to mixed groups of cancer patients [41].

In contrast, Austrian investigators recently found that MDPR including various aspects of physical and psychological treatment, but also dietary counseling, social work, and occupational therapy, improved scores in all domains as assessed by the EORTC QLQ-C30. The largest differences in that study were found for emotional functioning, social functioning, fatigue, and pain. Moreover, anxiety and depression scores significantly decreased. Type of cancer, age, and sex had no influence on the improvement [21].

In summary, a lot of theoretical studies suggest a substantial positive impact of MDRPs on health-related quality of life in cancer survivors. However, comparative evaluation of different rehabilitation programs did not result in the identification of a single superior type of rehabilitation. Controlled randomized studies are urgently needed to define standards in cancer rehabilitation (which setting in which situation, duration, etc.), to identify the most beneficial interventions, to evaluate the sustainability and long-term effectiveness.

Specific Rehabilitation Goals and Plans for Solid Tumors

According to the bio-psychosocial model of the ICF deficiencies in functioning, activity or social and vocational participation are relevant to determine rehabilitation goals together with the patient in a shared decision-making process.

On admission, a doctor will take a detailed medical history of the current complaint and will ask about other medical problems, that the patient might suffer from. Deficiencies are discussed and analyzed and rehabilitation goals are determined in accordance with the needs and resources of the patient. Depending on the rehabilitation goals, specific therapies and interventions are prescribed. Primary goals are maintaining the ability to work, participation in daily life's activities, or avoiding the need for nursing care.

As mentioned before there are general goals and entity-specific goals.

Therapeutic success is measured by objective investigations like body plethysmography or a 6-min-walk-test, bodyweight, distress assessment, brief fatigue inventory, HADS-score, bodyweight, EORTC QLQ-30, etc., at the beginning and at the end of the rehabilitation process.

Cancer of the Upper Gastrointestinal Tract (GIT)

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Learning skills to improve consumption of food and liquids.
- Avoiding malnutrition.
- Understanding the role of Vitamin B12 and why it has to be substituted.
- Understanding the role of digestive enzymes and calcium.
- Information about the normal and the altered digestive function post gastric resection.
- Interpretation of steatorrhea.
- Interpretation of symptoms after upper GIT surgery like cramps as a possible consequence of dumping syndromes, reflux, or incompatible bacteria in the small intestine.
- Improve fine motor skills.
- Reduce polyneuropathy.
- Demonstration and discussion of options for compatibility of work and changed digestive function.
- Preventing osteoporosis.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of upper GIT cancers:

- Dysphagia.
- Impairment of digestive function.

- Malnutrition.
- Symptoms of the digestive tract (meteorism, abdominal cramps, dumping, reflux).
- Impairment of muscle function.
- Impairment of tentative function and proprioception.
- Impairment of cognitive function.

Rehabilitation plan comprises

- Health education: nutrition, enzyme substitution, fatigue, polyneuropathy, and upper GIT cancer.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, smoking cessation.
- Nursing care: wound management, bodyweight controls.
- Occupational therapy: perception training, training of balance and coordination.
- Physical therapy: grain mobilization, individual mobilization.
- Nutritional counseling.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids as well as follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

Cancer of the Lower Gastrointestinal Tract (GIT)

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Learning skills to improve consumption of non-flatulent foods.
- Avoiding malnutrition.
- Information about the normal and the altered digestive function post large bowel resection (low anterior resection syndrome).
- Information on how to reduce stool frequency and handling stool urgency.
- Improve fine motor skills.
- Reduce polyneuropathy.
- Improve incontinence by pelvic floor training.
- Demonstration and discussion of options for compatibility of work and changed digestive function, increased stool frequency or stool urgency.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of lower GI cancers:

- Impairment of stool consistency, frequency, and continence.
- Impairment of digestive function.

- Symptoms of the digestive tract (meteorism, abdominal cramps, dumping).
- Impairment of muscle function.
- Impairment of tentative function and proprioception.
- Impairment of cognition.
- Therapy of erectile dysfunction.

Rehabilitation plan comprises:

- Health education: nutrition, fatigue, polyneuropathy, and lower GIT cancers.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, smoking cessation, sexual advice, and therapy.
- Nursing care: wound management, bodyweight controls, handling the stoma.
- Occupational therapy: perception training, training of balance and coordination, brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: grain mobilization, individual mobilization, Qi Gong, Thai Chi.
- Nutritional counseling.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

Thyroid Cancer

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Reduction of pain and restricted movement in the neck area due to (hemi-) thyroidectomy.
- Treatment of hoarseness and stridor due to injury of the vocal cord.
- Treatment of xerostomia after radiation.
- Avoiding respiratory infection.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of thyroid cancers:

- pain,
- voice functioning,
- functioning of endocrine glands,
- impairment of muscle strength and condition.

Rehabilitation plan comprises

- Health education: fatigue, thyroid cancers.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, smoking cessation, sexual advice, and therapy.
- Nursing care: wound management.
- Occupational therapy: brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: grain mobilization, individual mobilization, respiratory gymnastics, relaxation of tensions and muscles, lymph drainage, sport and physical activity interventions.
- Speech therapy: voice training.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

Lung Cancer

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Smoking cessation.
- Improvement of pulmonary function.
- Reduction of fear of suffocation.
- Learning skills how to deal with dyspnea and panic attacks.
- Pain reduction.
- Improve fine motor skills.
- Reduce polyneuropathy.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of thyroid cancers:

- Pain,
- Dyspnoea,
- Functioning of endocrine glands,
- Impairment of muscle strength and condition,
- Impairment of tentative function and proprioception,
- Impairment of cognition.

Rehabilitation plan comprises

Health education: smoking cessation, lung cancer, PnP, Fatigue, chronic lung diseases.

- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, smoking cessation.
- Nursing care: wound management.
- Occupational therapy: brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: grain mobilization, individual mobilization, respiratory gymnastics, relaxation of tensions and muscles, lymph drainage, sport and physical activity interventions.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

Prostate Cancer

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Continence training and pelvic floor gymnastics against urinary incontinence.
- Pain management.
- Managing impact of endocrine treatment.
- Managing/therapy of erectile dysfunction.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of prostate cancers:

- Impairment of urinary continence.
- Impairment sexual function.
- Impairment of muscle function.
- Impairment of physical fitness.
- Impairment of micturition.
- pain.

Rehabilitation plan comprises

- Health education: sexual dysfunction, urinary incontinence, endocrine therapy, prostate cancer.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, smoking cessation, sexual advice and therapy.
- Nursing care: wound management.
- Occupational therapy: brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: pelvic floor training, continence training.

- Nutritional counseling.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

Breast Cancer

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Pain management (postmastectomy pain, AI syndrome).
- Reduce polyneuropathy.
- Acquire decongestion stimulating procedures.
- Reduction of lymphedema.
- Support mobility especially in arm and shoulder.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of breast cancer:

- Impairment of lymphatic circulation.
- Impairment of perception.
- Sexual impairments.
- Impairment of muscle function.
- Impairment of tentative function and proprioception.
- Impairment of cognition.

Rehabilitation plan comprises:

- Health education: fatigue, polyneuropathy, and breast cancers, importance of sports and nutrition.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, smoking cessation.
- Nursing care: wound management, bodyweight controls, skincare.
- Occupational therapy: perception training, training of balance and coordination, brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: lymph drainage, decongestion gymnastics, individual mobilization, Qi Gong, Thai Chi.
- Nutritional counseling.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

Gynecological Cancers

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Pain management.
- Reduce polyneuropathy.
- Acquire decongestion stimulating procedures.
- Reduction of lymphedema.
- Continence training and pelvic floor gymnastics against urinary incontinence.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of gynecological cancers:

- Impairment of lymphatic circulation.
- Sexual impairments (dyspareunia, vaginal dryness, etc.)
- Impairment of muscle function.
- Impairment of tentative function and proprioception.
- Impairment of cognition.
- Impairment of lymphatic circulation.

Rehabilitation plan comprises:

- Health education: fatigue, polyneuropathy, gynecological cancers.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, smoking cessation, sexual therapy.
- Nursing care: wound management, bodyweight controls, skincare.
- Occupational therapy: perception training, training of balance and coordination, brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: lymph drainage, decongestion gymnastics, individual mobilization.
- Nutritional counseling.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

GU Cancer

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.

- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Pain management.
- Continence training and pelvic floor gymnastics against urinary incontinence.
- Learning skills in handling a nephrostomy or a neo-bladder.
- Learning skills in self catheterization.
- Alleviation of long-term side effects of systemic treatment, surgery, or radiation therapy.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of GU cancers:

- Impairment of micturition.
- Sexual impairments.
- Impairment of muscle function.
- Impairment of tentative function and proprioception.
- Impairment of cognition.
- Incontinence.

Rehabilitation plan comprises:

- Health education: fatigue, GU cancers.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, smoking cessation, sexual therapy.
- Nursing care: wound management, bodyweight controls, skincare.
- Occupational therapy: perception training, training of balance and coordination, brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: stoma therapy, individual mobilization, pelvic floor training.
- Nutritional counseling.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

Glioma

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.
Specific goals

- Avoiding deterioration.
- Maintaining autonomy.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of glioma:

- Impairment of muscle function.
- Impairment of tentative function and proprioception.
- Impairment of cognition.

Rehabilitation plan comprises:

- Health education: fatigue, glioma.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, neuro-psychological training.
- Nursing care: wound management, skincare.
- Occupational therapy: perception training, training of balance and coordination, brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: individual mobilization.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

Head and Neck Cancer

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Avoiding deterioration.
- Maintaining autonomy.
- Acquire skills in handling tracheostomy.
- Voice raining.
- Avoiding malnutrition.
- Promoting lifestyle changes.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of head and neck cancer:

- Impairment of voice.
- Impairment of muscle function.
- Impairment of tentative function and proprioception.
- Impairment of cognition.

Rehabilitation plan comprises:

- Health education: fatigue, head and neck cancers.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques, smoking and drinking cessation.
- Nursing care: wound management, skincare, handling the tracheostoma or PEG.
- Occupational therapy: perception training, training of balance and coordination, brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: individual mobilization.
- Nutritional counseling.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.

Pancreatic Cancer

General goals

- Improving physical abilities.
- Giving information/education with regard to the disease and its treatment.
- Alleviating fatigue.
- Giving coping strategies.
- Reducing psychosocial distress.
- Retrieve ability to work.
- Improving cognitive function.

Specific goals

- Avoiding deterioration.
- Maintaining autonomy.

The following ICF categories are relevant for rehabilitation of pancreatic cancer:

- Impairment of muscle function.
- Impairment of tentative function and proprioception.
- Impairment of cognition.
- Impairment of digestive function.
- Malnutrition.
- Symptoms of the digestive tract (meteorism, abdominal cramps, reflux fatty stools).

Rehabilitation plan comprises:

- Health education: fatigue, pancreatic cancer, fatty stools, diabetes mellitus IIIc.
- Psycho-oncological interventions: individual interviews, relaxation techniques.
- Nursing care: wound management.
- Occupational therapy: perception training, training of balance and coordination, brain-performance training.
- Physical therapy: individual mobilization.
- Social service: advice for return to work, medical aids and follow-up care, mediation of self-help groups.
- Nutritional counseling including the use of pancreatic enzymes and handling pakreakreoprive diabetes.

Figure 9.3 shows an exemplary treatment plan for a woman with papillary thyroid cancer and adipositas. Her impairments in functioning after thyroidectomy and radio-jod-therapy are fatigue, hoarseness, cognitive impairments, and a shoulder-arm-syndrome.

diagr	therapy plan beginning Thursday 08012019 end Monday 8062019 end Monday 8062019 rehabilitation clinic					
	patient: name, surename 12345678					
Zeit	Monday, 07.08.2020	Tuesday, 01.08.2019	Wednesday, 02.08.2019	Thursday, 03.08.2019	Friday, 04.08.2019	Saturday, 05.08.2019
08:00			08:30 house keeping	08:00 initial consultation occupational therapist	08:00 meditation phschologist	08:30 ergometer physiotherapist
09:00				09:00 information social service	09:30 physical therapy physiotherapist	09:00 MTT physiotherapist
10:00			10:00 admission interview physician	10:30 ergometer physiotherapist	10:15 wellcome meeting management	
11:00			11:30 MTT - introduction physiotherapist	11:30 attending consultation attending physician 15 min.	11:30 voice therapy speech therapist	11:30 physical therapy physiotherapist
12:00						
13:00			13:30 P distress psychologist	13:30 Qi Gong physiotherapist	13:00 education nutrition nutritionist	
14:00				14:30 pscho-onco module phschologist	14:30 outdoor sport physiotherapist	
15:00		arrival	15:00 aquajogging physiotherapist	15:40 hydrojet masseur	15:45 lymph drainage masseur	
16:00			16:30 P introduction rehab physician	16:30 P physical therapy physiotherapist	16:30 brain-performance training occupational therapist	
17:00						
	breakfast - 07:00 bis 07:45 h; lunch - 12:00 bis 12:45 h; dinner 17:30 - 18:15 h					

	Above a los					
diag	diagnosis thorase, shoulder-arm-syndrome, cognitive impairme rehabilitation: 07.08.2019 / 13.08.2019 / rehabilitation: 07.08.2019 / rehabilitation clinic					
	patient: name, surenam	e 12	345678			
time	Monday, 07.08.2020	Tuesday, 08.08.2019	Wednesday, 09.08.2019	Thursday, 10.08.2019	Friday, 11.08.2019	Saturday, 12.08.2019
	08:30 voice therapy speech therapist	08:00 brain-performance training occupational therapist	08:30 Qi Gong physiotherapist	08:30 E lymph edema physiotherapist	08:00 meditation psycologist	
	09:30 aquajogging physiotherapist	09:00 doctor's visit physician				09:00 Qi Gong physiotherapist
		12:00 body weight module 2 nutritionist	10:00 E thyroid cancer physician	10:00 outdoor sports physiotherapist	10:00 voice therapy speech therapist	
	11:00 body weight module 1 phschologist	11:30 ergometer physiotherapist		11:30 brain-performance training occupational therapist	11:30 physical therapy physiotherapist	11:00 ergometer physiotherapist
			12:00 body weight module 3 nutritionist			
	13:20 hydrojet masseur	13:30 meditation psychologist		13:30 lymph drainage masseur	13:30 body weight module 4 nutritionist	
	14:30 pscho-onco module 2 phschologist	14:30 lymph drainage masseur	14:30 aquajogging physiotherapist	14:30 psycho-onco module 3 psychologist		
		15:00 physical therapy physiotherapist			15:00 aquajogging physiotherapist	
	16:00 MTT physiotherapist	16:00 outdoor sports physiotherapist	16:00 Hydrojet Masseur (K642D01)	16:00 MTT physiotherapist		
	breakfast - 07:00 bis 07:45 h; lunch - 12:00 bis 12:45 h; dinner 17:30 - 18:15 h					

Fig. 9.3 examplary rehabilitation plan with a 21-days intervention schedule in an inpatient setting

diag	therapy plan diagnosis thyroid cancer, adipositas BMI 31, fatigue, hoarseness, shoulder-arm-syndrome, cognitive impairme					
	patient: name, surename 12345678 rehabilitation: 14.08.2019 - 20.08.2019					
time	10.00 1 11		Wednesday, 16.08.2019	Thursday, 17.08.2019	Friday, 18.08.2019	Saturday, 19.08.2019
08:00	10:00 voice therapy speech therapist	08:00 outdoor sports physiotherapist	08:30 Qi Gong physiotherapist	08:00 outdoor sports physiotherapist	physiotherapist	
09:00	09:30 outdoor sports physiotherapist	09:30 doctor's visit physician		09:30 social counselling social service	09:00 lymph drainage masseur	09:00 Qi Gong physiotherapist
10:00			10:00 E fatigue physician		10:00 voice therapy speech therapist	
11:00	11:00 body weight module 4 psychologist	11:00 brain-performance training occupational therapist	11:30 ergometer physiotherapist	11:00 brain-performance training occupational therapist	11:30 ergometer physiotherapist	11:00 brain-performance training occupational therapist
12:00						
13:00	13:20 hydrojet masseur	13:30 meditation psychologist	13:30 physical therapy physiotherapist	13:20 hydrojet masseur	13:30 meditation psychologist	
14:00	14:30 psyco-onco module 4 psychologist	14:00 lymph drainage masseur		14:30 pscho-onco module 5 phschologist		
15:00		15:00 MTT physiotherapist			15:00 aquajogging physiotherapist	
16:00	16:30 aquajogging physiotherapist		16:00 body weight module 5 physiotherapist	16:00 MTT physiotherapist		
17:00						
	b	reakfast - 07:00 bis	07:45 h; lunch - 12	2:00 bis 12:45 h; diı	nner 17:30 - 18:15	h
diagr	therapy NOSIS thyroid cancer, adip hoarseness, should	olan ositas BMI 31, fatigue, er-arm-syndrome, cognitive	beginning end M impairme rebabilitation	Thursday 08012019 Ionday 08222019		rehabilitation clinic
	patient: name, surenan	<u>1e 12</u>	345678	2110012010 2210012010		
time	Monday, 21.08.2020	Tuesday, 22.08.2019				
08:00	phschologist					
09:00	09:00 voice therapy speech therapist	departure				
10:00	10:00 lymph drainage masseur	departure				
11:00	11:00 hydrojet masseur					
12:00						
13:00	13:00 discharge visit physician					
14:00	14:30 pscho-onco module 6 phschologist					
15:00						
16:00	16:00 Qi Gong physiotherapist					
17:00						
	breakfast - 07:00 bis 07:45 h; lunch - 12:00 bis 12:45 h; dinner 17:30 - 18:15 h					



References

- 1. Antonovsky A. Salutogenese. Zur Entmystifizierung der Gesundheit. Deutsche Herausgabe von Alexa Franke. Tübingen: dgvt-Verlag; 1997. ISBN 978-3-87159-136-5
- 2. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/rehabilitation. Accessed 09.09.2020.

- Ewert T, Freudenstein R, Stucki G. ICF in social medicine. Gesundheitswesen. 2008;70(10):600–12. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2008-1067459. Epub 2008 Oct 17; quiz 613-6
- Stucki G, Kostanjsek N, Ustün B, Cieza A. ICF-based classification and measurement of functioning. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2008;44(3):315–28.
- 5. Silver JK. Cancer rehabilitation and prehabilitation may reduce disability and early retirement. Cancer. 2014;120(14):2072–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.28713. Epub 2014 Apr 18
- 6. Ganz PA. The status of cancer rehabilitation in the late 1990s. Mayo Clin Proc. 1999;74(9):939–40. https://doi.org/10.4065/74.9.939.
- Lehmann JF, DeLisa JA, Warren CG, de Lateur BJ, Bryant PL, Nicholson CG. Cancer rehabilitation: assessment of need, development, and evaluation of a model of care. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1978;59(9):410–9.
- Movsas SB, Chang VT, Tunkel RS, Shah VV, Ryan LS, Millis SR. Rehabilitation needs of an inpatient medical oncology unit. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2003;84(11):1642–6. https://doi. org/10.1053/s0003-9993(03)00345-9.
- Strong V, Waters R, Hibberd C, Rush R, Cargill A, Storey D, Walker J, Wall L, Fallon M, Sharpe M. Emotional distress in cancer patients: the Edinburgh Cancer Centre symptom study. Br J Cancer. 2007;96(6):868–74. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603626. Epub 2007 Feb 20
- Wagner LI, Cella D. Fatigue and cancer: causes, prevalence and treatment approaches. Br J Cancer. 2004;91(5):822–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6602012.
- Kuhnt S, Szalai C, Erdmann-Reusch B, Kubel C, Boehncke A, Hoffmann W, Mehnert A, Weis J. Cancer related fatigue in rehabilitation care. Rehabilitation (Stuttg). 2017;56(5):337–43. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0043-101142. Epub 2017 Apr 24
- 12. Dietz JH Jr. Rehabilitation of the cancer patient. Med Clin North Am. 1969;53(3):607-24.
- 13. Carli F, Bousquet-Dion G, Awasthi R, Elsherbini N, Liberman S, Boutros M, Stein B, Charlebois P, Ghitulescu G, Morin N, Jagoe T, Scheede-Bergdahl C, Minnella EM, Fiore JF Jr. Effect of multimodal prehabilitation vs postoperative rehabilitation on 30-day postoperative complications for frail patients undergoing resection of colorectal cancer: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Surg. 2020;155(3):233–42. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamasurg.2019.5474.
- Okamura H. Importance of rehabilitation in cancer treatment and palliative medicine. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2011;41(6):733–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyr061.
- Silver JK, Baima J, Mayer RS. Impairment-driven cancer rehabilitation: an essential component of quality care and survivorship. CA Cancer J Clin. 2013;63(5):295–317. https://doi. org/10.3322/caac.21186. Epub 2013 Jul 15
- 16. Gerber LH. Cancer rehabilitation into the future. Cancer. 2001;92(4 Suppl):975-9.
- 17. Hohmann J. Gesundheits-, Sozia-, und Rehabilitationssysteme in Europa. Bern: Hans Huber; 1998.
- Bengel J, Herwig JE, Koch U. In: Jäckel WH, Bengel J, Herdt J, editors. Research in rehabilitation. Results from a research network in Southwest Germany. Stuttgart: Schattauer; 2006. p. 20–7.
- 19. https://www.deutsche-rentenversicherung.de/DRV/LS/Reha/Reha_node.html. Accessed 09.09.2020.
- Heim ME, Länzlinger B, Wünnenberg E, Sigrist S, Frank B, Berthold I, Schröter T. Verbesserung der Lebensqualität durch integrative onkologische Rehabilitation. Complement Med Res. 2019;26(3):166–73. https://doi.org/10.1159/000495421. Epub 2019 Apr 3
- Riedl D, Giesinger JM, Wintner LM, Loth FL, Rumpold G, Greil R, Nickels A, Licht T, Holzner B. Improvement of quality of life and psychological distress after inpatient cancer rehabilitation: results of a longitudinal observational study. Wien Klin Wochenschr. 2017;129(19–20):692–701. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00508-017-1266-z. Epub 2017 Sep 15
- Ture M, Angst F, Aeschlimann A, Renner C, Schnyder U, Zerkiebel N, Perseus J, Barth J, Bredell M, Soelch CM, Walt H, Jenewein J. Short-term effectiveness of inpatient cancer rehabilitation: a longitudinal controlled cohort study. J Cancer. 2017;8(10):1717–25. https://doi. org/10.7150/jca.19564. eCollection 2017
- 23. Klocker J, Klocker-Kaiser UW, Geissler D. Long-term improvement of the bio-psycho-social state of cancer patients after 3 weeks of inpatient oncological rehabilitation: a long-term study

at the Humanomed Zentrum Althofen. Wien Med Wochenschr. 2018;168(13–14):350–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10354-018-0619-1. Epub 2018 May 8

- Mehnert A, Härter M, Koch U. Langzeitfolgen einer Krebserkrankung. Anforderungen an die Nachsorge und Rehabilitation. Bundesgesundheitsblatt. 2012;55:509–15.
- Hellbom M, Bergelt C, Bergenmar M, Gijsen B, Loge JH, Rautalahti M, Smaradottir A, Johansen C. Cancer rehabilitation: a Nordic and European perspective. Acta Oncol. 2011;50(2):179–86. https://doi.org/10.3109/0284186X.2010.533194.
- Høybye MT, Dalton SO, Christensen J, Larsen LR, Kuhn KG, Jensen JN, Carlsen K, Johansen C. Research in Danish cancer rehabilitation: social characteristics and late effects of cancer among participants in the FOCARE research project. Acta Oncol. 2008;47(1):47–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/02841860701418846.
- Salakari MRJ, Surakka T, Nurminen R, Pylkkänen L. Effects of rehabilitation among patients with advances cancer: a systematic review. Acta Oncol. 2015;54(5):618–28. https://doi.org/1 0.3109/0284186X.2014.996661.
- Berglund G, Bolund C, Gustavsson UL, Sjödén PO. Starting again—a comparison study of a group rehabilitation program for cancer patients. Acta Oncol. 1993;32(1):15–21. https://doi. org/10.3109/02841869309083879.
- Petersson LM, Nordin K, Glimelius B, Brekkan E, Sjödén PO, Berglund G. Differential effects of cancer rehabilitation depending on diagnosis and patients' cognitive coping style. Psychosom Med. 2002;64(6):971–80. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000028825.64279.f2.
- Johansson B, Brandberg Y, Hellbom M, Persson C, Petersson LM, Berglund G, Glimelius B. Health-related quality of life and distress in cancer patients: results from a large randomised study. Br J Cancer. 2008;99(12):1975–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6604789.
- 31. Korstjens I, May AM, van Weert E, Mesters I, Tan F, Ros WJ, Hoekstra-Weebers JE, van der Schans CP, van den Borne B. Quality of life after self-management cancer rehabilitation: a randomized controlled trial comparing physical and cognitive-behavioral training versus physical training. Psychosom Med. 2008a;70(4):422–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e31816e038f.
- Korstjens I, Mesters I, Gijsen B, van den Borne B. Cancer patients' view on rehabilitation and quality of life: a programme audit. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2008b;17(3):290–7. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2354.2007.00864.x.
- McCorkle R, Ercolano E, Lazenby M, Schulman-Green D, Schilling LS, Lorig K, Wagner EH. Self-management: enabling and empowering patients living with cancer as a chronic illness. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(1):50–62. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.20093. Epub 2011 Jan 4
- Lorig KR, Holman H. Self-management education: history, definition, outcomes, and mechanisms. Ann Behav Med. 2003;26(1):1–7. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15324796ABM2601_01.
- 35. Cuthbert CA, Samawi HH, Hemmelgarn BR, Cheung WY. Effectiveness and components of self-management interventions in adult cancer survivors: a protocol for a systematic review and planned meta-analysis. Syst Rev. 2018;7(1):238. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13643-018-0902-7.
- Cuthbert CA, Farragher JF, Hemmelgarn BR, Ding Q, McKinnon GP, Cheung WY. Selfmanagement interventions for cancer survivors: a systematic review and evaluation of intervention content and theories. Psychooncology. 2019;28(11):2119–40. https://doi.org/10.1002/ pon.5215. Epub 2019 Oct 15
- Boland L, Bennett K, Connolly D. Self-management interventions for cancer survivors: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer. 2018;26(5):1585–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00520-017-3999-7. Epub 2017 Dec 4
- Fong D, Ho JW, Hui BP, Lee AM, Macfarlane DJ, Leung SS, et al. Physical activity for cancer survivors: metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. BMJ. 2012;344 https://doi. org/10.1136/bmj.e.70.
- Edwards AGK, Hulbert-Williams N, Neal RD. Psychological interventions for women with metastatic breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008, Issue 3; https://doi. org/10.1002/146551858.CD004253.

- 40. Baili P, Hoekstra-Weebers J, Van Hoof E, Bartsch HH, Travado L, Garami M, Di Salvo F, Micheli A, Veerus P, EUROCHIP-3 Working group on Cancer Rehabilitation. Cancer rehabilitation indicators for Europe. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(6):1356–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2012.10.028. Epub 2012 Dec 10
- Scott DA, Mills M, Black A, Cantwell M, Campbell A, Cardwell CR, Porter S, Donnelly M. Multidimensional rehabilitation programmes for cancer survivors. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2023 mar 28. 2013;3:CD007730. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD0077730.pub2.



10

Symptoms and Symptom Management in Survivorship Patients

Gilles Klein and Daniel Jodocy

Fatigue

Here is just a brief summary of cancer-related fatigue. The topic will be discussed in detail elsewhere in this manuscript.

The NCCN guideline for cancer-related fatigue defines fatigue as a distressing, persistent, subjective sense of overwhelming physical, emotional, and/or cognitive tiredness or exhaustion related to cancer and/or cancer treatment that is not proportional to recent activity and interferes with usual functioning.

A majority of patients will experience some level of fatigue during their course of treatment; however, approximately 30% of patients will endure persistent fatigue for a number of months to years after treatment, which can be extremely frustrating for the survivor and their environment.

All health care providers should routinely screen for the presence of fatigue from the point of diagnosis throughout the therapy and after the completion of therapy. Diagnostic work-up should be done carefully and includes history of fatigue, careful physical examination, assessment of status/risk of recurrence of the initial cancer subtype and exclude treatable contributing factors such as comorbidities, medications (e.g., pain medication, sleep medication, or antiemetics), and substance abuse/alcohol. Consider performing laboratory evaluation based on presence of other symptoms, onset, and severity of fatigue (e.g., complete blood cell count, comprehensive metabolic panel: electrolytes; hepatic and renal function, endocrinologic evaluation: TSH [thyroid-stimulating hormone]).

Treatment consists of specific education about fatigue after treatment. Addressing all medical and treatable contributing factors first (e.g., pain, depression, anxiety, emotional distress, sleep disturbance, nutritional deficit, activity level, anemia, medication

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_10

G. Klein · D. Jodocy (⊠)

Department of Hemato-Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Emile Mayrisch, Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg e-mail: gilles.klein@chem.lu; daniel.jodocy@chem.lu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

adverse effects, and organ-related comorbidities). Initiating/maintaining adequate levels of physical activity can reduce cancer-related fatigue in posttreatment survivors. Active encouragement of all patients to engage in a moderate level of physical activity after cancer treatment (e.g., 150 min of moderate aerobic exercises such as fast walking, cycling, or swimming) per week with an additional 2–3 strength training (e.g., weight lifting) sessions per week. Cognitive-behavioral therapy/behavioral therapy and psychoeducational therapies can reduce cancer-related fatigue in posttreatment survivors. Some evidence exists that mindfulness-based approaches, yoga, or acupuncture can reduce fatigue symptoms. There is some data on biofield therapies (touch therapy), massage, music therapy, relaxation, reiki, and qigong improving fatigue. Evidence suggests that psychostimulants (e.g., methylphenidate) and other wakefulness agents (e.g., modafinil) can be used to manage fatigue in patients with advanced disease/active treatment. However, there is very limited evidence of the effectiveness in reducing fatigue in patients after curative treatment. No consistent evidence exists on the impact of supplements such as ginseng, vitamin D, and others [1].

Sleep Disorders

Sleep disturbances occur in about 10-15% of the general population and are often associated with situational stress, illness, aging, and drug treatment [2]. Sleep is vital to all human functioning and encompasses a complex set of physiological and behavioral processes; disruption in one or more of these processes can lead to many different types of symptoms of poor sleep that can occur singly or in combination. In cancer patients, disturbed sleep is rated the second most bothersome symptom based on cancer and treatment status. Consequences of acute and chronic untreated sleep-wake disturbances in individuals with and without cancer include daytime fatigue, irritable mood, and cognitive impairment. When these conditions persist, they may have a negative impact on a person's social life, daily function at work and at home, and quality of life. In the general population, persistent insomnia has been associated with work absences, life-threatening motor vehicle and work-site accidents, and psychiatric and cardiovascular disorders. Importantly, the economic burden of untreated insomnia is much higher than the costs associated with treating insomnia [3]. Since cancer survivors often depend on employment for economic survival and insurance benefits, access to effective treatments for sleep-wake disturbances, insomnia, and sleep disorders is an important factor [4].

Poor sleep is a known problem in cancer patients along the treatment trajectory from the point of diagnosis to the end of life. It is estimated that 30–60% of adults with cancer experience sleep-wake disturbances during diagnosis, treatment, and survivorship. Poor sleep in cancer patients and survivors could be attributed to the presence of one or more underlying sleep disorders [5]. Sleep disorders can be classified using two main classification systems, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV (DSM-IV) [6] or the International Classification of Sleep Disorders (ICSD) [3], and they can directly impact health-related quality of life. Five major categories of sleep disorders have been defined by the Sleep Disorders

Classification Committee of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine: (1) Disorders of initiating and maintaining sleep (insomnias). (2) Sleep-related breathing disorders (sleep apnea). (3) Disorders of excessive somnolence (hypersomnias). (4) Disorders of the sleep-wake cycle (circadian rhythm sleep disorders). (5) Dysfunctions associated with sleep, sleep stages, or partial arousals [3]. Diagnosing specific sleep disorders usually requires a detailed and specialized evaluation. sometimes requiring overnight evaluation of objective measures of sleep. However, it has been reported that cancer patients often do not get referrals to sleep specialists when presenting with chronic sleep complaints [7]. Insomnia is defined as a persistent difficulty with sleep initiation, maintenance, duration, or quality accompanied by some form of daytime impairment, which occurs despite adequate opportunity for sleep. Insomnia is considered chronic if the problems persist for three or more nights per week for at least 3 months; acute if they have been occurring for less than 3 months [3]. The term sleep-wake disturbances is broader, encompassing perceived or actual alterations in nighttime sleep (quality and duration), with subsequent daytime impairment, without a diagnosis by a specialist. Although sleep-wake disturbances often present with the usual features of insomnia, such as difficulty falling asleep (sleep initiation/latency), difficulty staying asleep (sleep maintenance), not feeling restored or refreshed on awakening, and daytime dysfunction, they also include circadian changes, sleep fragmentation, and other sleep alterations. In clinical practice, distinguishing between sleep-wake disturbances and insomnia is less important than identifying the actual sleep disorder and treating it appropriately [8].

Physical illness, pain, hospitalization, drugs, and other treatments for cancer and the psychological impact of a malignant disease may dysregulate sleeping patterns of patients with malignancy. In contrast, poor sleep adversely affects global mood and physical/mental performances. In the healthy population, persistent insomnia has been associated with a higher risk of developing anxiety and/or depression [9, 10].

Basically, physiologic sleep consists of two phases: (1) Rapid eye movement (REM) sleep: REM sleep, also known as dream sleep, is the active or paradoxic phase of sleep in which the brain is active. (2) Non-REM (NREM) sleep: NREM sleep is the quiet or restful phase of sleep. NREM, also referred to as slow-wave sleep, is divided into four stages of progressively deepening sleep based on electro-encephalogram findings.

The stages of sleep occur in a repeated pattern or cycles of NREM phases followed by REM phases, with each cycle lasting approximately 90 min. The sleep cycle is repeated 4–6 times during a 7–8-h sleep period. This sleep-wake cycle is controlled by an inherent biological clock or circadian rhythm. Disruptions in individual sleep patterns can disrupt the circadian rhythm and impair the sleep cycle [11].

Cancer patients are known to be at great risk of developing insomnia and other disorders of the sleep-wake cycle. Insomnia is the most common sleep disturbance in this population and is mostly secondary to physical and psychological factors related to cancer and cancer treatment. Anxiety and depression are often related to insomnia. The etiology and risk factors for sleep-wake disturbances comorbid with cancer are numerous, and these conditions often exacerbate prior sleep issues. Sleep disturbances may be exacerbated by paraneoplastic syndromes and by symptoms associated with tumor invasion [3, 9, 10]. It is not clear if specific types of cancer are associated with a higher risk for sleep-wake disturbances. Some studies showed that the prevalence of sleep-wake disturbances is more frequent in breast cancer, compared to other cancer types [12]. Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) has been associated with head and neck cancer [13]. Prostate cancer survivors treated with radiotherapy may experience sleep-wake disturbances resulting from urinary frequency and urgency [14]. Side effects of treatment that may affect the sleep-wake cycle include pain, anxiety, night sweats or hot flashes, gastrointestinal (e.g., constipation, diarrhea, nausea, stool incontinence), genitourinary (e.g., urine incontinence, dysuria, pollakisuria), and chronic respiratory dysfunction or fatigue [15-17]. Medications (e.g., chemotherapy, radiotherapy, antihormonal treatment, corticosteroids, vitamin supplementation, neuroleptics, antiemetics, etc.) [7] or sustained use of sedatives and hypnotics (e.g., benzodiazepines, pentobarbital, Z-substances, etc.) or alcohol abuse may cause insomnia. Withdrawal from some substances may cause insomnia such as antidepressants, opioids, benzodiazepines, and corticosteroids [3]. Hypnotics may interfere with rapid eye movement (REM) sleep, resulting in increased irritability, apathy, and diminished mental alertness. Abrupt withdrawal of hypnotics and sedatives may lead to symptoms of nervousness, seizures, or REM rebound which is defined as an increase of REM sleep phases resulting in higher frequency and intensity of dream phases, including nightmares. During hospitalizations, sleep might be interrupted by treatment schedules, hospital routines, and roommates.

Consequences of sleep disturbances can influence outcomes of therapeutic and supportive care measures. A patient with sleep disturbances may experience irritability and inability to concentrate, which may in turn affect the patient's compliance with treatment protocols, medication, decision-making, and relationships with others [7].

It is important that clinicians and health care providers adopt routine screening and interventions to reduce chronic insomnia and improve the quality of life in cancer survivors. Although sleep disturbances are very common in cancer patients, they continue to be underdiagnosed and undertreated [18–20]. Sleep-wake disturbances are recognized through patients' subjective complaints of insufficient quality or duration of sleep.

Diagnostic work-up: The first step in diagnosing sleep-wake disturbances in patients with cancer is using standardized screening questions such as "Are you having problems falling asleep or staying asleep?" "Are you experiencing excessive daily sleepiness?" "Have you ever been told to be frequently snoring or stop breathing during sleep?"; these questions should be asked at regular intervals and when changes occur in the patient's clinical status. The next step is to detect sleep disorders (e.g., OSA, restless legs syndrome, hypersomnia) and using self-report instruments (such as the Insomnia Severity Index) to determine the severity of sleep-wake disturbances. The most important is the identification of potentially treatable risk factors such as comorbidities, medications, symptoms possibly responsible for the stated sleep disorder. Controlling comorbidities or reducing doses of medications that might have stimulating or sedating side effects (e.g., corticosteroids, opioids, antidepressants, antiemetics, antihistamines) may improve sleep patterns. Health care providers should monitor and treat reversible symptoms such as pain, fatigue, and depression [4].

Treatment of sleep-wake disturbances that are comorbid with cancer has advanced steadily in the last two decades. Sleep hygiene and education is most fundamental for all patients [21-23]. Cancer patients suffering from sleep-wake disturbances may benefit from treatments originally developed for adults without cancer. Nonpharmacological [4, 24, 25] and pharmacological interventions [26] can improve poor sleep occurring simultaneously with cancer. Cognitive-behavioral interventions (CBI) consist of a multicomponent therapy aimed at changing negative sleep-related thoughts and behaviors. It can lead to sustained improvements in sleep duration and sleep quality [27]. Components of CBI include sleep restriction, stimulus control, sleep hygiene education, and cognitive therapy, with or without relaxation [27, 28]. These components reduce the hyperarousal and other factors that perpetuate sleepwake disturbances by modifying sleep schedules, habits, and dysfunctional misconceptions. Combining CBI with medications can further improve outcomes, but there is only scarce evidence to this approach [27]. Furthermore regular exercise and mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) are useful tools [22]. Aerobic exercise improves mental and emotional health in stressful times and can strengthen daily circadian activity rhythms [29]. MBSR is a flexible and customizable approach to stress reduction. It is composed of two main components: mindfulness meditation and yoga and might improve cancer-related sleep-wake disturbances, particularly helpful in patients with anxiety, although evidence is scarce [22]. Sedatives and hypnotics may be beneficial as short-term interventions to treat sleep-wake disturbances and are mostly used in conjunction with sleep hygiene and other non-pharmacologic strategies that take longer to show benefits (Table 10.1). Short-acting agents should be preferred for sleep initiation and long-acting agents for sleep maintenance.

Drug	Dosing	Main characteristics	Side effects			
Nonbenzodiazepine receptor agonists						
Zolpidem tartrate	5–10 mg PO	Short-acting, sleep Initiation only	Headache, dizziness, CNS depression, and cognitive/motor impairment CYP3A4 substrate (interactions!)			
Zaleplon	5–20 mg PO	Short-acting, sleep initiation only	Headache, dizziness, nausea, abdominal pain			
CNS depressi	on and cogniti	ve/motor impairment				
Zopiclone	3.75–7.5 mg PO	Long-acting, sleep initiation and maintenance	Metallic taste, headache, dizziness, hang-over, CNS depression, and cognitive/ motor impairment CYP3A4 substrate (interactions!)			
Benzodiazepi	ne					
Temazepam	7.5–30 mg PO	Prolongs total sleep time, anxiolytic, muscle relaxant	CNS depression; cognitive/motor impairment Tolerance, dependence, and withdrawal			
Tricyclic anti	depressant		1			
Doxepin	3–6 mg PO	Sleep maintenance, Antidepressant effects	Anticholinergic effects (e.g., constipation and urinary retention), weight gain, CNS depression			
Melatonin ag	onist					
Melatonin	3–5 mg PO	Sleep initiation only, barely affects cognitive/ motor function	Somnolence, dizziness, nausea, fatigue, and headache CYP1A2 substrate (interactions!)			

Table 10.1 Pharmacological treatment of cancer-related sleep disturbances [4]

Anxiety/depression should be treated with adequate medications [4]. The preferred classes of drugs for short-term use (7–14 days) should be benzodiazepines and nonbenzodiazepine receptor agonists ("z-substances"). Potential serious adverse effects of sedative/hypnotic medications should be discussed with patients including sleeprelated behaviors (e.g., sleep-driving, worsening of depression, or psychological/ physical dependence). Medications should be started at low doses, monitor patients closely for side effects, and tapering slowly to prevent withdrawal symptoms and rebound insomnia. Hypnotics and sedatives can lead to a hangover effect which may result in reduced memory, physical/psychological performance, leading to impaired daytime functioning. Herbal medications should not be prescribed because of a higher risk for drug–drug interactions [20, 21].

Depression and Anxiety

Mental health issues such as cancer-related distress along with anxiety and depression are very prominent among cancer survivors. With the rising numbers of cancer survivors due to the improvement in curative cancer treatments, increasing prevalence of anxiety and depression in this population will result. Health care providers need to address these problems, because of their potential consequences on qualitiy of life, return to normal daily activities, adherence to treatment/follow-up visits, and a higher risk of suicide among cancer survivors [30].

During cancer treatment patients experience intensive support from health care providers (e.g., oncology nurse, physiotherapist, oncologist) and family environment. Their focus and daily routines are mostly packed with medical visits, treatment schedules, dealing with treatment side effects, and expectation in a curative ending of the disease. After curative treatment, many cancer survivors experience loneliness or feel abandoned because cancer-related distress is suddenly lacking. Fear of recurrence (FOR) and hypervigilant status on physical sensations can aggravate these feelings [31].

The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) distress guideline describes distress as a continuum, ranging from common feelings of vulnerability, sadness and fears of recurrence to disabling depression, anxiety, trauma, panic, and existential crisis [32].

According to the DSM-V catalog depression is defined as:

- Feeling sad or having a depressed mood
- · Loss of interest or pleasure in activities once enjoyed
- · Changes in appetite—weight loss or gain unrelated to dieting
- · Trouble sleeping or sleeping too much
- · Loss of energy or increased fatigue
- Increase in purposeless physical activity (e.g., inability to sit still, pacing, handwringing) or slowed movements or speech (these actions must be severe enough to be observable by others)
- · Feeling worthless or guilty

- · Difficulty thinking, concentrating, or making decisions
- · Thoughts of death or suicide

Symptoms must last at least 2 weeks and must represent a change in the previous level of functioning for a diagnosis of depression. A major depression is diagnosed with at least five symptoms present [33].

According to the DSM-V catalog generalized anxiety disorder is defined as:

Excessive anxiety and worry (apprehensive expectation), occurring more days than not for at least 6 months. The individual finds it difficult to control the worry. The anxiety, worry, or physical symptoms cause clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. The disturbance is not attributable to the physiological effects of a substance (e.g., a drug of abuse, a medication) or another medical condition (e.g., hyperthyroidism).

- · Restlessness, feeling keyed up or on edge
- Being easily fatigued
- Difficulty concentrating or mind going blank
- Irritability
- Muscle tension
- Sleep disturbance (difficulty falling or staying asleep, or restless, unsatisfying sleep) [33]

Risk factors for cancer-related depression and anxiety according to the Pan Canadian Practice Guideline Screening, Assessment and Care of Psychosocial Distress (Depression, Anxiety) In Adults with Cancer are:

- Living/Family condition: living alone, dependent, financial problems (poor socioeconomic status), change in family status
- · Marital status: single, separated, divorced, or widowed
- Withdrawal statutes: alcohol, substance use
- Vulnerable points: disease recurrence, advanced or progressive disease (metastases), moving toward palliative or hospice care, cumulative stressful life events, change in functioning or roles
- Past Medical and Psychological History: panic attacks, Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), history of depression, history of mood disorder, history of other psychiatric disorder
- Medical conditions: comorbidity (severe illnesses), prolonged treatment phase, cognitive impairment, surgical interventions, treatment side effects, current medication associated with anxiety or depression, or seeing a specialist
- Other factors: younger age, female, lack of social support, poor marital or family functioning, poor communication with the health care team, lack of supportive network, poor control of pain or other symptoms, family/caregiver conflicts, communication barriers, catastrophizing coping or anxious coping style (language, literacy, physical) [34]

Diagnostic work-up: A firm clinical interview should be the first step in screening for anxiety and depression. Numerous standardized questionnaires for screening and diagnosing mental health problems exist for the general population. In cancer patients some of them have been validated. The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) recommends the distress thermometer (DT) to measure cancerrelated distress [35]. It is a numerical rating scale (NRS) ranging from 0 (no distress) to 10 (extreme distress) with a cutoff of five points. It should be used as a brief and fast screening tool, although it has a low sensitivity and specificity in cancer patients [36]. Alternatively the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ)-4 consists of two key depression and anxiety symptoms required according to the DSM-V. For the PHQ-4, a cutoff of three or more shows good sensitivity and specificity. Both tests, DT and PHQ-4 should be used for fast screening, but do not constitute sufficient tools in diagnosing anxiety and depression [37].

More complex questionnaires such as the PHQ-9 [38] or Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) [39] have been studied in cancer survivors. The PHQ-9 for instance was studied in hematopoietic cell transplant survivors and showed promising results. Screening for anxiety and depression can stimulate discussions between survivors and health care providers about experienced concerns [38].

Differential diagnosis can be difficult in cancer survivors because some of the symptoms of anxiety and depression overlap with other problems reported (e.g., cognitive difficulties, cancer-related fatigue, sleep disturbances, treatment side effects, substance abuse, etc.). Other medical conditions (e.g., hyperthyroidism, VitB12 deficiency, chronic infections, anemia, etc.) should be ruled out [31].

Treatment of anxiety and depression in cancer survivors are based on nonpharmacological and pharmacological options. Most studies have been conducted in women with breast cancer patients [31].

Non-pharmacological treatment (Table 10.2): Physical activity may reduce depressive and anxiety symptoms in breast cancer survivors [40], although a study in cancer survivors with prostate cancer had no effect on mood improvement by physical activity intervention [41]. Mindfulness-based approaches have shown efficacy in reducing anxiety and depressive symptoms in breast cancer and colorectal

Type of intervention	Cancer populations with evidence	Indication
Cognitive-behavioral therapy	Breast cancer, hematopoietic cell transplant	Depressive symptoms, anxiety, post-traumatic stress
Mindfulness-based stress reduction	Breast cancer	Depressive symptoms, anxiety
Hypnosis	Breast cancer	Depressive symptoms
Self-management	Breast cancer, mixed cancer sites	Distress
Physical activity	Breast cancer	Depressive symptoms, anxiety
Gabapentin	Breast cancer	Anxiety

 Table 10.2
 Non-pharmacological and pharmacological interventions for depression and anxiety in cancer survivors [31]

[42–45]. Cognitive-behavioral therapy is also an effective option in reducing depression symptoms in cancer survivors [46, 47]. Hypnosis has shown to reduce anxiety symptoms in a cohort of breast cancer survivors [48]. Nowadays web-based interventions and education may be attractive for psychosocial interventions because patients already use Internet resources for cancer information [49].

Pharmacological treatment: medications used in depressive and anxious noncancer patients have also shown efficacy in cancer survivors. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) and serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRI) used for reducing hot flashes in breast cancer survivors on antihormonal therapy can reduce depressive symptoms [50]. No increased recurrence rates in women taking tamoxifen in combination with antidepressants which are metabolized by cytochrome P450 enzymes (fluoxetine, sertraline, bupropion, paroxetine) are being observed [51]. Gabapentin is an effective drug for anxiety in non-cancer patients and has shown promising results (300 mg dose is most effective) in a controlled trial with breast cancer survivors [52].

Cognitive Disorders (Cancer-Related Cognitive Impairment)

Cognitive functioning refers to mental processes such as attention, perception, thinking, reasoning, and remembering. Intact cognitive functioning is important, as it enables a person to function autonomously within society. Cognitive symptoms or cancer-related cognitive impairment (CRCI) have been mainly studied in patients with non-CNS cancers after systemic treatment (chemotherapy). In patients with brain tumor/brain metastases, the presence of the malignancy itself, treatment (e.g., surgery, radiotherapy, systemic treatment), and recurrence threaten cognitive functioning. Over 90% of brain tumor patients show cognitive impairment during their disease course [53].

Symptoms consist of attentional deficits, reduction of short-term and working memory, executive functions and/or processing speed [54–57]. Breast cancer survivors report cognitive symptoms in \sim 50%, while only 15–25% have measurable cognitive impairment [55, 58]. Psychological comorbidities may additionally play a crucial role between subjective and objective experience of cognitive symptoms [59]. Besides cognitive impairment by chemotherapy, hormone therapies in breast cancer (e.g., aromatase inhibitors, selective estrogen receptor modulators, ovarian function suppression) and androgen deprivation therapy in prostate cancer (e.g., luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone, enzalutamide) may influence cognitive functioning. Targeted therapies, such as antiangiogenics in renal cell cancer (e.g., Sunitinib, Pazopanib, etc.), can induce cognitive deficits. Studies on cognitive impairment with immunotherapy such as anti-CTLA-4-inhibitors (e.g., Ipilimumab) or checkpoint-inhibitors (e.g., Nivolumab, Pembrolizumab, Atezolizumab, etc.) are lacking so far, but animal models have found interactions between brain function and immunotherapy. As these specific agents have a major impact on survival, longterm toxic effects on cognitive function are crucial in terms of quality of life (QoL). To date it is unclear whether CRCI results from cancer itself, treatment and/or

Main measures	Domains assessed
Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised (HVLT-R)	Verbal memory, delayed recall
Controlled Oral Word Association Test (COWA)	Speeded lexical fluency, executive function
Trail Making Test (TMT)	Psychomotor speed, executive function
Additional measures	Domains assessed
Auditory Consonant Trigrams	Working memory, executive function, complex attention
Letter-Number Sequencing (WAIS)	
Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT)	
Brief test of attention	

 Table 10.3
 Neuropsychological measures recommended by the international cancer and cognition task force (ICCTF) [61]

psychological comorbidities. Some studies suggest that other factors, e.g., age, psychosocial status, and genetic susceptibility can predispose to a higher risk of CRCI [60].

The negative impact of CRCI on QoL (social relationships, self-confidence, autonomy, return to work) is an important issue in cancer survivors and has led to a "CRCI: state of the art, detection, and management strategies in cancer survivors"— consensus paper from the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) in 2019 [61].

Diagnostic work-up (Table 10.3): The International Cancer and Cognition Task Force (ICCTF) recommends neuropsychological testing to assess various domains of cognition. Definition of cognitive impairment according to ICCTF consists of ≥ 2 test scores ≤ -1.5 standard deviations from the normative mean (or an appropriate control group) or 1 test score ≤ -2.0 standard deviations [56]. Assessment of cognitive difficulties should be done with validated tests such as the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Cognitive Function (FACT-Cog). The FACT-Cog is a subjective neuropsychological instrument especially designed for cancer patients and can be used as a screening tool to assess the necessity for further neuropsychological testing [56].

Subjective cognitive complaints and objective performance on neuropsychological tests rarely correlate very highly [62]. Psychological influences such as depression, anxiety [62, 63] fatigue, or insomnia [64] often influence subjective cognitive difficulties [65]. Consequently, psychological comorbidities (see sections above) should also be assessed [63].

ICTTF recommends using cognitive tests with adequate sensitivity to assess the different cognitive domains mostly impaired in cancer survivors such as the Trail Making Test (psychomotor speed and executive function), Hopkins Verbal Learning Test (verbal memory and delayed recall), Controlled Oral Word Association Test (speeded lexical fluency and executive function). Additional tests are the Auditory Consonant Trigrams, Letter-Number Sequencing, Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test, and Brief test of attention [56].

Imaging studies with cMRI/functional MRI, conducted mainly after conventional systemic chemotherapy, reported reductions in grey matter volume/density, reductions in white matter microstructure, changes in brain activation and neuronal connectivity [66]. Functional hyperactivation/hyperconnectivity of brain regions involved in cognition pattern are thought to be compensatory processes for treatment-induced brain injury [67, 68]. Brain imaging should not be used to diagnose CRCI, but can be useful to exclude the differential diagnosis (e.g., brain metastases, cerebral bleeding, or infection).

Differential diagnosis in patients with cognitive impairment can be difficult in cancer survivors because some of the symptoms overlap with other problems reported (e.g., depression and anxiety, cancer-related fatigue, sleep disturbances, treatment side effects, substance abuse, etc.). Other medical conditions such as hypothyroidism and vitamin B12 deficiency should be ruled out. A complete blood count with differential and metabolic panel to screen for anemia, kidney or liver failure, electrolyte disturbances, infection, and vitamin D deficiency should be conducted [61].

Treatment of CRCI consists of non-pharmacological and pharmacological treatment. Of course, underlying medical conditions (e.g., hypothyroidism, anemia, etc.) should be treated specifically [61].

A non-pharmacological treatment option is a physical activity. In breast cancer patients a 12 week exercise program improved cognitive outcomes. Other studies showed comparable results (physical exercises or yoga), but without objective assessment of cognitive functioning. Behavioral interventions such as education, cognitive behavior therapy, or cognitive training/rehabilitation are helpful. Cognitive behavior interventions in cancer survivors report improvement in CRCI with variable results in objective cognitive tests [69].

Pharmacological treatment options are scarce. No evidence exists to support the use of agents, such as erythropoietin or methylphenidate in CRCI [54]. Clinical trials with diverse neurostimulation, neuroprotectants, or antineuroinflammatory agents are currently ongoing. The main objective of these trials is the prevention of CRCI during cancer treatment. Efficacy of other neurostimulants (e.g., caffeine or modafinil) and anti-dementia drugs (e.g., donepezil, memantine) is very limited [70].

Pain and Peripheral Neuropathy

Pain is a common symptom in cancer survivors. The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) defines pain as an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage [71]. Cancer-related pain can be categorized as tumor-related, treatment-related, or pain unrelated to cancer itself (e.g., chronic back pain, osteoarthritis, chronic headache, etc.). We will mainly focus on treatment-related cancer pain [72] (Table 10.4).

Table 10.4 Chronic pain syndromes related to cancer treatment [72]

Surgery

Surgery
Post-thoracotomy pain, Intercostal neuralgia
Lymphedema, Neuroma pain
Pain related to breast implants/reconstruction
Phantom pain, Postmastectomy pain
Postsurgical neck dissection pain
Radiation
Chest pain/tightness, Cystitis
Enteritis/proctitis, Fibrosis of skin or myofascia
Fistula formation, Myelopathy
Osteoradionecrosis, Pelvic insufficiency fractures
Peripheral nerve entrapment, Plexopathies
Gl, abdominal, other adhesions in the radiation field
Hormonal therapy
Arthralgia/myalgia, Muscle cramps/spasms
Carpal tunnel syndrome
Chemotherapy
Arthralgia/myalgia, Osteoporosis
Osteonecrosis, Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy
Muscle cramps
Steroids
Osteoporosis, Osteonecrosis (avascular necrosis, typically femoral head, knee, humeral head)
Antiresorptive treatment
Osteonecrosis of jaw
Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (chronic graft-versus-host disease)
Abdominal, GI adhesions, pain
Arthralgia/myalgia
Contractures with pain and decreased range of motion
Corneal ulcerations with pain, dryness, and burning eyes
Cystitis, Erythema
Esophageal strictures and ulcers leading to retrosternal pain
Fibrosis/scleroderma with contractures, pain, and decreased range of motion
Infection, Inflammation/edema
Mucous membrane inflammation, thinning, strictures, ulcers (mouth, GI tract, vagina)
Muscle cramps, Peripheral neuropathy, Osteonecrosis of joints

Prevalence of chronic pain in cancer survivors is estimated up to 40%, but importantly the timing of pain assessment needs to be considered, as treatment-related pain reduces over time (tissue regeneration and healing). Factors that influence pain are type and stage of underlying cancer, anticancer treatment modalities (e.g., surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, etc.), time since completing specific therapy and comorbidities. Additionally, sex/racial disparities and psychosocial background have impacts on chronic pain in cancer survivors [73].

Surgery is often responsible for persistent pain (e.g., postmastectomy pain or phantom limb syndrome) in cancer survivors. Additional risk factors are linked to inadequate postoperative pain management, postoperative (adjuvant) radiotherapy, neurotoxic systemic therapy, and psychological comorbidities such as anxiety, depression, and fear of recurrence [74–76]. Although less invasive surgical procedures are being applied nowadays, postsurgical pain is still frequent. Lumpectomy and axillary dissection can result in more pain than standard modified radical mastectomy. Chronic postoperative pain can result as common surgical complications from fistulae, abdominal collections, adhesions, lymphoedema, etc. [77, 78].

Radiotherapy (RT) can mainly induce osteoradionecrosis, plexopathies, or skin fibrosis resulting in chronic pain [79]. They are time-dependent and mostly occur late after radiation therapy. With new RT techniques (e.g., Image-guided RT, Intensity-modulated RT, stereotactic RT), incidence of radiation-induced pain may be reduced in future [80].

Hormonal therapy like aromatase inhibitors used in breast cancer can induce arthralgias with joint pain or/and stiffness in almost 40% of cases, mostly occuring within the first 3 months [81, 82]. Other symptoms related to hormonal therapy (estrogen deprivation) is vaginal dryness leading to dyspareunia (painful intercourse) [80]. The prevalence of osteoporotic fractures under hormonal therapy (estrogen deprivation, androgen deprivation) and prolonged use of corticosteroids (with additional risk of osteonecrosis) is significantly elevated and can lead to acute and chronic pain in cancer survivors.

Chronic graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) and GvHD treatment after hematopoietic cell transplantation may induce chronic pain [83].

Treatment of chronic pain in cancer survivors consists of a multidisciplinary approach and a combination of analgesics, physical therapy, physical activity, and psychosocial interventions. Complementary and alternative treatment modalities may be useful [80, 84] (Table 10.5).

Pharmacological options are mainly classical analgesics (nonopioid agents) such as nonsteroidal antirheumatic drugs (NSAIDs), metamizole (when available), paracetamol (acetaminophen), and low or high potency opioids as in chronic non-cancer patients [84, 85]. Co-analgesics like antidepressants and anticonvulsants act mainly on persistent neuropathic pain (e.g., CIPN, postherpetic neuropathy). Opioids are indicated in patients with moderate to severe pain, unresponsive to non-opioids. Although most oncologists should be familiar in treating patients with opioids in the advanced stage (palliative setting), there are two main differences. First, breakthrough pain (sudden and brief flare-up of pain) does seldom occur in cancer survivors therefore rescue doses of immediate-release opioids are not indicated. Second, fast dose escalations and high doses of opioids are seldom needed because of the chronic characteristics of pain. Extended-release opioids with oral administration when possible in a time-scheduled manner are preferred. Whenever possible, combination with nonopioids and/or co-analgesics if indicated is reasonable [86].

Non-pharmacological approaches are based on physical medicine and rehabilitation. Physical therapy (PT) and related approaches such as progressive resistance training, myofascial release, visceral therapy, neuromuscular reeducation, or craniosacral manipulation are the most common treatment modalities [80]. E.g., PT **Table 10.5** Chronic pain management in cancer survivors [72]
 1. Definition of health care provider responsible for pain management and prescribing e.g., Medical or radiation oncologist, primary care provider, chronic pain specialist Opioids should be prescribed by only ONE provider! 2. Evaluation Comprehensive history and physical examination with attention to functional and psychosocial issues related to pain If opioids considered, standard opioid risk assessment tool may be useful (e.g., Screener and Opioid Assessment for Patients with Pain or Opioid Risk Tool) New/changing pain syndromes: exclude recurrence or second primary, development of late effects of treatment - consider imaging or further investigations as needed 3. Management Pharmacologic Co-analgesics: antidepressants, anticonvulsants, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, acetaminophen/paracetamol, metamizole (if available) Morphine or other opioids, e.g., Tramadol, Tilidin, Hydromorphone, Oxycodone, Fentanyl, Buprenorphine, etc. - Establishment of functional goals to guide dose titration - Maintenance of ongoing monitoring for opioid misuse, abuse, or diversion Management of emerging problems consistent with medical best practices and existing laws and regulations Non-pharmacologic Exercise program Physical medicine and rehabilitation, physical therapy, transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, scrambler therapy Cognitive-behavioral therapy Integrative medicine approaches (acupuncture, massage) Interventional approaches

may reduce pain and improve shoulder function and secondary QoL after axillary dissection in breast cancer patients [87].

Increasing blood flow, relieving muscle spasms, and reducing inflammation are probably the key effects of PT. Superficial heat with heating pads, deep heat with ultrasound, or cryotherapy can be used. Kinesio-taping (K-taping) is a valuable option in neuromuscular dysfunction and lymphedema [88, 89].

Orthotics are helpful in the management of skeletal or neurologic disabilities leading to chronic pain syndromes [80].

Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy

Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN) is defined as a progressive, enduring, and often partial reversible or irreversible condition featuring pain, numbness, tingling, and sensitivity to cold in the hands and feet (sometimes progressing to the arms and legs). CIPN after curative systemic treatment is very common in cancer survivors. Cytotoxic drugs leading to CIPN are mainly taxanes, platinum salts, vinca alkaloids, eribulin, and proteasome inhibitors [80] (Table 10.6).

Chemotherapy	Example	Incidence (%)	Comments
Vin estation	ulugs		
vincaloids	Vincristine	30-37	Typically sensorimotor neuropathy,
	Vinblastine	25-40	autonomic reatures in 20–30%. Dose-
	Vinorelbine	/40	dependent. Coasting (worsening symptoms
	Vindesine		weeks/months after the last dose of
			chemotherapy) possible. May resolve within
			3 months, often irreversible with vincristine
Platinum	Cisplatin	30-100	Sensory or sensorimotor neuropathy,
compounds	Carboplatin	6-42	autonomic features less common, risk of
	Oxaliplatin	7-20	ototoxicity. Dose-dependent. Coasting
			common
Taxanes	Paclitaxel	57-83	Painful symmetrical distal sensory
	Nab-	73 overall;	neuropathy. Motor effects less common.
	Paclitaxel	10-15 severe	Nab-Paclitaxel neuropathy often less severe.
	Docetaxel	11-64	Symptoms may alternate. May ascend limbs.
		overall; 3-14	Cumulative, dose-dependent. Coasting
		severe	common
Proteasome	Bortezomib	31-55	Small fiber sensory neuropathy. Motor and
inhibitors		overall; 9-22	autonomic features common. Dose-
		severe; less if	dependent. May resolve within 3-6 months
		given s.c.	but may persist
Other	Thalidomide	25-83	Sensory or sensorimotor neuropathy, with
		overall;	autonomic features in 56%
		15-28 severe	
	Lenalidomide	10-23	Dose-dependent. Persists for 1 year or longer.
		overall; 1-3	Similar to thalidomide
		severe	
	Etoposide	1-2	Sensorimotor polyneuropathy with
			autonomic dysfunction
	Cytarabine	Rare	Severe sensorimotor neuropathy, greater risk
	-		with high dose or in combination with
			daunorubicin or asparaginase. High dose:
			acute irreversible cerebellar syndrome
	Ifosfamide	8	Neuropathy

Table 10.6 Agents associated with chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN) [80]

Therapy-associated risk factors of developing CIPN depend on the individual antineoplastic drug, cumulative doses, duration of exposure, scheduling, and combined therapies [90]. Patient-associated risk factors are mainly older age (>75 years) and diabetes mellitus [91]. Preexisting neuropathy and concomitant diseases such as chronic alcohol abuse, renal insufficiency, hypothyroidism, VitB12 deficiency, chronic infections, or autoimmune diseases have a higher likelihood of developing/ worsening neuropathy [92–94]. Smoking habits and genetic susceptibility may be additional risk factors [95, 96].

The pathophysiology of CIPN consists of toxic effects from antineoplastic agents to large sensory nerves leading to sensory axonal neuropathy, sometimes involving motor and autonomic nerve fibers. Damage of dorsal root ganglions leading to ganglionopathy (often irreversible) or small fiber neuropathy with the affection of nerve terminals for pain and temperature perception may be found. Depending on the cytotoxic compound, these different nerve involvements in CIPN will eventually lead to diverse clinical symptoms (see Table 10.6) [80, 97].

Diagnostic work-up (Fig. 10.1): Early recognition of CIPN during systemic treatment with abovementioned agents is crucial for adequate management. Neurological evaluation at baseline to detect preexisting neuropathy and before every cycle is mandatory to avoid irreversible neuropathy [97, 98]. Biomarkers for early detection or monitoring of CIPN do not yet exist, although there are ongoing studies with the measurement of serum neurofilament light [99].

Neurophysiological examination with electromyography (EMG) and determination of nerve conduction velocity can provide additional information, both at baseline and during therapy. However, objective parameters often do not correlate with



Fig. 10.1 Practical work-up of CIPN adopted from [97]. *CIPN* chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy. (1) In asymmetric sensory/motor symptoms or normal clinical examination in symptomatic patients consider neurophysiology testing. Small fiber neuropathy may show normal neurophysiology. (2) If suspicion of autonomic neuropathy, neurophysiology testing of sympathetic skin response and heart rate variability should be considered

subjective symptoms of the patient; therefore, neurophysiological monitoring during/after treatment is not recommended. Sometimes somatosensory potentials can be useful to detect affection of proximal sensitive nerves or to exclude rare neurologic comorbidities. EMG rarely provides further information and is usually not needed in clinical routine. Small fiber neuropathy may show normal neurophysiological examination and can only be detected on skin biopsy [97].

Grading of CIPN with clinician-reported outcome measurements (CROMs) is standard. The most utilized assessment tool is the National Cancer Institute Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (NCI-CTCAE) ranging from asymptomatic (Grade 1), to moderate symptoms, limiting instrumental activity of daily living (ADL) (Grade 2), to severe symptoms, limiting self-care ADL (Grade 3), to lifethreatening consequences, with urgent interventions needed (Grade 4) [100].

Prevention of CIPN (Table 10.7): to date, there is no pharmacological agent having the potential to prevent CIPN. The ESMO-EONS-EANO Clinical Practice Guidelines on systemic therapy-induced peripheral and central neurotoxicity recommend against several agents [97].

Cryotherapy with frozen socks or gloves (most evident in taxane-based therapy) as a non-pharmacological prevention tool can be considered. However, study results are heterogenous [97, 101, 102]. Compression therapy with surgical gloves may lead to a subjective reduction of neuropathy (treatment with nab-Paclitaxel) [103]. A protective effect is seen with exercise and functional training (e.g., Exercise for

Intervention	Comment (study compound)			
Pharmacological prevention (not recommended)				
Acetylcysteine	Oxaliplatin-based ChT			
Alpha-lipoic acid	Platinum-based ChT			
Amifostine	Platinum- and taxane-based ChT			
Amitriptyline	Vinca alkaloids, platinum-based, or taxanes			
Calcium/magnesium	Exclusively oxaliplatin-based ChT			
Carbamazepine	Oxaliplatin-based ChT			
MR309, selective sigma-1	One positive randomized phase II study (potential			
Receptor antagonist	neuroprotective)			
Omega-3 fatty acids	Taxane-based, potentially positive outcome but not enough			
	evidence to support the use			
Vitamin B	Taxane-, oxaliplatin- or vincristine-based ChT			
Vitamin E	Platinum- and taxane-based ChT			
Multivitamin use				
Non-pharmacological intervent	tion (can be recommended)			
Acupuncture	Electroacupuncture worse than sham acupuncture			
Exercise	Possible protective effect of exercise on CIPN			
Compression therapy with	One study, additional drugs such as duloxetine were allowed			
surgical gloves				
Cryotherapy frozen socks and	With taxane therapy			
gloves				
ChT abamatharany				

 Table 10.7
 Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN) prevention measures [97]

ChT chemotherapy

Intervention	Comments	Recommended dose				
Selective Serotonin R	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRI)					
Duloxetine	Reduction of neuropathic pain (plus symptoms)	30 mg/day for 1 week, then 60 mg/day				
Venlafaxine	Reduction of acute and chronic neuropathic pain (oxaliplatin- treated patients)	50 mg initially, followed by 37.5 mg twice/day				
Anticonvulsants						
Gabapentin	Efficacy in non-CIPN neuropathic pain only	Targeted dose: 2700 mg/day; dosing in non-CIPN studies: 1200–3600 mg/day				
Pregabalin	Efficacy in non-CIPN neuropathic pain only	Targeted dose: 300 mg twice/day				
Tricyclic antidepressa	ants					
Amitriptyline	Small improvement of CIPN, trend for improvement of QoL	Starting dose: 10 or 25 mg/day Targeted dose: 50 mg/day				
Nortriptyline	Small improvement of CIPN	Targeted maximum dose: 100 mg/ day				
Opioids						
Tramadol	Efficacy in non-CIPN neuropathic pain only, additionally serotonin- noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor	Tramadol 200–400 mg in two (extended release) or three doses				
Strong opioids	Efficacy in non-CIPN neuropathic pain only	Smallest effective dose				
Topical local interven	tion					
Topical low- concentration menthol cream	improvement in pain scores after 4–6 weeks	1% menthol creme twice/day to affected area and corresponding dermatomal region of spine				
Topical baclofen, amitriptyline, ketamine gel	Effect after 4 weeks on CIPN 20, especially on motor subscale	10 mg baclofen, 40 mg amitriptyline, and 20 mg ketamine				
Capsaicin-containing patches, 8%	Efficacy in non-CIPN neuropathic pain mostly, small study in CIPN	Application 30 min on the affected region for 60 min, effect lasting 90 days				

Table 10.8 CIPN therapy: pharmacological interventions [97]

Cancer Patients, self-management exercise interventions) to improve sensorimotor functions and muscle strength [104].

Treatment options: Pharmacological treatment options (Table 10.8) mainly focus on the reduction of neuropathic pain (plus symptoms). Symptoms like numbness or clumsiness (minus symptoms) are not influenced by pharmacological interventions. Psychosocial comorbidities (depression, anxiety, sleep disturbances) can aggravate neuropathic pain and should be assessed [97].

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI): Duloxetine is recommended for the treatment of neuropathic pain starting with 30 mg in week 1 and increasing to 60 mg in week 2 [105]. Venlafaxine has shown efficacy in a small study and can be considered as a treatment option for neuropathic pain [106].

Intervention	Comments
Acupuncture	Several small studies positive
Neurofeedback	Potential benefit for EEG-based neurofeedback
Physical exercise	Several strategies are available: supervised medical exercise (sensorimotor function, endurance, strength of flexibility), self-management interventions
Scrambler therapy	Noninvasive cutaneous electrostimulation
Self-guided online cognitive behavioral strategies	
Spinal cord stimulation	Option refractory pain due to CIPN, invasive procedure: electrode insertion into dorsal reentry zone of spinal cord with pulse generator implantation under skin

Table 10.9 CIPN therapy: non-pharmacological interventions [97]

Anticonvulsants and tricylic antidepressants (TCAs): The efficacy of anticonvulsants and TCAs in CIPN is less clear. Since there is good evidence in treating general neuropathy with these agents, they may be beneficial in CIPN. Of note, the onset of action can take up to 2 weeks, but adverse effects may occur immediately; therefore inform the patient [97].

Tramadol (double mechanism of action: opioid and serotonin-noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor) or strong opioids can be used as adjunction or salvage treatment for neuropathic pain, although data are lacking in CIPN.

NSAIDs or glucocorticoids are not recommended in CIPN [107].

Topical treatment interventions such as menthol creme 1% [108] or capsaicin 8% patches [109] have shown reduction in CIPN mainly related to small fiber neuropathy. Topical treatment with a baclofen/amitriptyline and ketamine-containing gel could be used in some cases.

Non-pharmacological treatment options (Table 10.9) are physical exercise, including vibration therapy and training to improve coordination, sensorimotor and fine motor function, acupuncture, cognitive and behaviorally based pain management interventions (PROSPECT), and spinal cord stimulation (only in selected patients, with refractory neuropathic pain). Neurofeedback could be an option for some patients [97].

Aids and supply tools to support activities of daily living should be discussed with cancer survivors, depending on the degree of disability from CIPN [97].

Mucosal, Dental, and Soft Tissue Problems of the Head and Neck

Treatment modalities such as surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation therapy may directly or indirectly induce damage to the soft tissue of the head and neck. Especially in patients after head and neck cancer (HNC) oral complications are

relevant. Surgery can cause mutilation and result in physiologic changes. Radiation therapy is often complicated by mucositis, persistent dysphagia, hyposalivation, and dental issues and may lead to osteoradionecrosis. Persistent taste changes or mucositis can be seen after curative chemotherapy [110].

Dysphagia: The prevalence of dysphagia and dysphagia-related diagnoses (e.g., esophageal stricture, aspiration pneumonia) has a high prevalence in HNC cancer survivors, with the highest prevalence after multimodality therapy (e.g., chemoradiation, surgery, and adjuvant therapy) [110]. Fiberoptic endoscopic evaluation of swallowing is needed to exclude local problems (e.g., local recurrence) and gastroscopy might be indicated if esophageal dysphagia is suspected. Therapeutic options are swallowing exercises, use of semisolid food, or food supplementation. In cases of complete persistent dysphagia percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) or parenteral nutrition should be considered [111].

Voice and speech: The voice is a commonly affected domain notably in HNC cancer survivors, due to radiotherapy-induced fibrosis, cranial neuropathies, or scarring secondary to surgical intervention and can lead to lower QoL during survivorship. Voice therapy and rehabilitation are strategies for improving voice outcomes, and studies have shown improvements in voice quality and function leading to an increase of QoL after voice rehabilitation [112, 113].

Xerostomia and oral health: Xerostomia is the subjective complaint of dry mouth that usually reflects a decreased presence of saliva [114]. Diminished saliva results in dental demineralization and caries, and increases the risk of oral infections (e.g., oral candidiasis). Additionally, it can lead to tongue fissures, dysgeusia, voice problems, halitosis, oral soreness, inability to wear dentures, and dysphagia with the result of a decreased QoL [115, 116]. Radiation therapy to the head and neck involving salivary glands commonly leads to chronic salivary gland dysfunction. Furthermore, chronic GvHD after allogeneic stem cell transplant can cause xerostomia. Xerostomia may be exacerbated by concomitant medication (e.g., anxiolytic medication, antidepressants, antihypertensive, or opioids) [117].

Oral hygiene including brushing (twice a day) and flossing will prevent infection and support dental integrity. Early dental interventions are mandatory when indicated. Daily administration of fluoride gels may be useful.

Maintaining hydration with tap water is encouraged. Milk is thought to overcome xerostomia as it moisturizes, buffers acids, and can lead to dental remineralization through its calcium and phosphate content [118]. Caffeine and tobacco smoking can lead to a reduction in saliva production and should be reduced [119]. Stimulation of the salivary glands through mastication may be helpful (e.g., chewing xylitol gum or sugar-free candies) [118].

Salivary substitutes (application by rinses, swab sticks, gels, sprays, etc.) may provide temporary relief of discomfort. Systemic sialogogues such as pilocarpine hydrochloride, a nonspecific muscarinic agonist (5 mg three times a day) if supportive therapy is not sufficient can be used [120]. Cevimeline, a selective M3 muscarinic receptor acetylcholine analog (30 mg three times a day) increases non-stimulated salivary flow [121, 122]. Contraindications such as uncontrolled asthma or narrow angle glaucoma need to be considered for both agents. Bethanechol (25 mg three

times a day) a cholinergic stimulant is another option. Sialogogues usually have limited effects in patients with severe salivary dysfunction though. Hyperbaric oxygen to improve angiogenesis and fibroplasia in nonhealing tissue, acupuncture, and salivary gland tissue transplantation are additional options in refractory xerostomia. In chronic GvHD-related xerostomia additional treatment with immunosuppressive therapy such as steroids and cyclosporines is mostly needed [117].

Osteoradionecrosis (ORN) and osteonecrosis of the jaw (ONJ): ORN of the jaws is mostly a delayed bone reaction caused by the failure of bone healing following radiation therapy [123]. ONJ is induced by osteoprotective treatment with bisphosphonates or denosumab (RANKL-inhibitor) and the pathophysiology is complex. Complications such as pathologic fractures and oral fistula are feared complications in both entities with debilitating outcome and reduced QoL [124].

Managing ORN and ONJ constitutes of reducing comorbid factors such as optimizing oral hygiene, controlling oral infections, nutritional support, removal of devitalized tissue (sequestrectomy), and symptomatic treatment (e.g., pain management) [125, 126]. Hyperbaric oxygen combined with limited surgery has shown promising results in ORN [127–129]. Additionally, pentoxifylline in combination with vitamin E has been associated with positive results [130]. Surgical interventions consist of sequestrectomy and bone recontouring/smoothing. In refractory patients, microvascular surgical techniques and tissue transfer can be provided if feasible [129].

Taste disorders: Taste disorders are commonly encountered in cancer survivors, notably in patients with HNC following surgery, radiation therapy, or chemotherapy [131, 132]. Persisting taste loss may be caused by direct damage to taste receptors from chemotherapy or radiation therapy [133, 134] and secondary to xerostomia. Chronic GvHD has also been associated with taste reduction and taste change [135, 136]. Assessment of taste should begin with a past medical history including alcohol abuse and tobacco smoking. Association of the symptoms following the use of medication or nutritional supplements. A clinical examination of the oral cavity and head/neck is conducted, including assessment of salivary gland function plus olfactory and taste testing [137, 138].

Management should consist of treating reversible causes. Supportive measures applicable to all patients, independently of the underlying cause, such as chewing gum or candy to mask unpleasant taste can be offered [139]. Treatment of xerostomia or antibiotic use if indicated may improve taste complaints. Zinc supplements may be considered in patients with persistent taste impairment [140]. Dronabinol (tetrahydrocannabinol) has been reported to improve taste in some patients [141].

Recurrent or secondary cancer: Patients at highest risk of oral or head and neck cancers are those with prior HNC. Continuation of tobacco smoking and high alcohol consumption increases the risk. Additionally, cancer survivors following upper aerodigestive tract cancer or under chronic immunosuppression following HCT need to be followed carefully for HNC [142].

Systemic consequences of poor oral health: Poor oral conditions can lead to systemic health problems due to altered/reduced nutrient, caloric, vitamin, and mineral intake and may consequently contribute to persistent fatigue, depression, or cardiovascular events. Consequently, higher mortality rates are seen in these patients, initially cured of their tumors [143]. Radiation therapy to the head and neck may lead to hypothyroidism and regular follow-up of thyroid function (TSH measurement once a year) is necessary [144].

Cancer-Related Lymphedema

Lymphedema (LE) is defined as an incurable medical condition caused by lymphatic fluid retention resulting in tissue swelling. Cancer itself and cancer treatment modalities such as surgery (e.g., axillary lymph node dissection in breast cancer) and radiation therapy (e.g., radiation to pelvic lymph node stations in cervical cancer) can damage lymph drainage routes leading to accumulation of lymph fluid in the interstitial tissue of corresponding limbs or body areas or secondary LE [145]. Symptomatic LE can result in discomfort, heaviness, reduced mobility, and pain, affecting quality of life (QoL) in cancer survivors [146]. LE can increase distress, depression, and anxiety, especially in regard to body image [147]. Because of ongoing improvement in cancer treatment, the prevalence of LE in cancer survivors will increase in future years.

Cancer-related LE can occur in any type of cancer with involvement of lymph nodes (e.g., skin, urologic, gynecologic, gastrointestinal, head and neck, etc.) Incidence of LE in breast cancer survivors, for example, ranges from 13 to 65% depending on definition [148].

Known risk factors for LE, mostly studied in breast cancer patients, are overweight and obesity. Furthermore, postoperative infection, adjuvant radiation therapy, and complete lymph node dissection increase the risk. Other medical conditions such as diabetes, COPD, hypertension, or hypothyroidism might be related to an increased risk of LE. Data do not support that LE risk can be reduced by avoiding blood draws, injections, or blood pressure measurements on the affected limb [148].

Diagnostic work-up: There is no standardized definition of LE. The most common method to prove swelling of an affected limb is tape measurement. A difference of 2 cm between affected and non-affected limb is considered as cutoff [149]. This is not true for swelling of a body area (e.g., on the trunk) or for LE only causing heaviness or pain. Patient history and physical examination are mandatory to assess LE, followed by measuring limb volume, usually in comparison to the non-affected limb [148].

Instrumental measurement of limb volume can be done by water displacement (once considered as gold standard) [150], lymphoscintigraphy [151], perometry [152], or bioimpedance [153]. With lymphoscintigraphy, lymph transport capacity can be estimated accurately. Perometry uses infrared beams to measure limb volume [152]. The newest option of assessing limb volume is bioimpedance. With this method even subclinical swelling can be identified [153].

Most clinicians assess LE by self-reported (subjective) symptoms such as swelling, pain, or heaviness, but self-report and instrumental measurements have only moderate correlations [148]. Differential diagnosis: Local recurrence of underlying cancer and deep vein thrombosis should be ruled out, especially with acute onset or association with other clinical symptoms. History and clinical examination followed by ultrasound with duplex sonography or CT scan might be then indicated.

Treatment options: Lymphedema is not curable and management should focus on reducing limb volume, complications such as infection and maintaining/improving limb function and quality of life. Early detection and increased awareness are important to reduce LE risk and severity [154].

Complex physical therapy, low-level laser therapy (LLLT), pharmacological treatment, or surgery are options to consider. Complex physical therapy (with complete decongestive therapy) includes multilayer bandaging (MLB), exercise, nonelastic wrapping, use of compression garments, and topical skincare. Importantly, compression garments should be customized to fit properly and need to be replaced regularly (every 3–6 months).

LLLT is effective in reducing limb size, extracellular fluid, and tissue stiffness in patients with breast cancer. At least two cycles are required [148].

Pharmacological options are scarce. There is no indication for diuretics. The trace element selenium is a nontoxic anti-inflammatory agent with some effects on LE [155]. One study reported a significant reduction of swelling in patients with head and neck cancer after curative surgery and bilateral neck dissection [156].

Surgical options such as microsurgery with anastomosis of lymph vessels (reconstructive lymphatic microsurgery) or resection of lymphedematous tissue are mostly restricted to patients where other options have failed to improve LE [157]. In one study with cancer and non-cancer-related LE, reduction of limb size could be reduced in up to 83% of patients with surgical intervention [158].

Dermatologic Toxicity

Cutaneous toxicities are important to address, because of their high frequency and visibility in cancer survivors, leading to significant physical and psychosocial discomfort [159–161]. Notably, radiation therapy and novel anticancer agents (e.g., anti-EGFR-targeting, immunotherapy, BRAF-Inhibition), causing acute and chronic adverse reactions involving the skin [161]. The skin and its appendages are high-turnover tissues with epithelial, connective tissue, vascular, and neural components all of which explain the high frequency of toxic effects from systemic or local treatment [162].

Acneiform rash: papulopustular eruption (acneiform rash) is characterized by an eruption consisting of papules and pustules typically appearing in the face, scalp, and upper chest and back. The appearance of erythematous papules or pustules is a common presentation with many agents, most notably those targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), including small-molecule receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) used as adjuvant therapy in cancer such as osimertinib (lung cancer) or monoclonal antibodies such as pertuzumab (breast cancer). Inhibitors of the EGFR downstream kinase, mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibitors (MEKis),

such as cobimetinib (adjuvant treatment in melanoma), are also associated with the development of papulopustular eruption. An inflammatory mechanism underlies this reaction, likely a consequence of altered keratinocyte proliferation, differentiation, migration, and chemokine expression [160]. Preventive measures should include avoiding frequent washing with hot water, skin irritants, such as solvents or disinfectants, and avoiding excessive sun exposure. Skincare measures constitute of alcohol-free skin moisturizers at least twice daily, preferably with urea-containing (5-10%) moisturizers and sun protection products (sun protection factor >15). Pharmacologic prophylaxis with topical (topical Metronidazole) and oral antibiotics with anti-inflammatory activity like tetracyclines (e.g., doxycycline, minocycline) can reduce the incidence of acneiform rash. The use of concomitant topical steroids as prophylaxis can be done, but data are controversial. Treatment of acneiform rash consists of oral tetracyclines and higher potency topical steroids for 6 weeks in grade 1 and 2 rash. For grade 3 and 4 oral steroids (e.g., prednisone 0.5-1 mg/kg for 7 days and weaning over 4-6 weeks) and pausing the responsible agent until reduction to grade ≤ 1 . When bacterial superinfection is suspected bacterial culture should be obtained and antibiotic treatment for at least 14 days is indicated. In refractory cases, the use of oral retinoids or dapsone could be considered. Concomitant use of tetracyclines and oral retinoids are contraindicated, because of the risk of pseudotumor cerebri [163].

Immunotherapy-related skin changes: Since immunotherapy, especially immune checkpoint-inhibitors (CPI) such as PD-1/PD-L1-inhibitors (e.g., Pembrolizumab, Durvalumab) and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4)-inhibitors (e.g., Ipilimumab) are emerging therapies in the adjuvant setting (e.g., locally advanced melanoma or lung cancer), potential cutaneous side effects should be discussed here. Dermatologic adverse events are among the most common side effects related to immunotherapy [164, 165]. Rashes from CPI are mostly maculopapular or morbilliform and pruritic [166] Grades 1–2 rashes (skin involvement <30% of body surface area) with mild pruritus may be treated with topical steroids and oral antihistamines. Immunotherapy can be continued in these cases. Grade 3 (skin involvement >30% of body surface area) usually requires systemic steroids while temporary discontinuation of immunotherapy until improvement to < grade 2. Grade 4 reactions (life-threatening superinfection; Stevens-Johnson syndrome, toxic epidermal necrolysis, or bullous dermatitis covering >30% of body surface area, leading to admission to ICU) typically require high-dose systemic steroids and permanent discontinuation of immunotherapy [167].

Hyperpigmentation: Antimetabolites, especially 5-FU or bleomycin, are known to cause reticulate hyperpigmentation or melanonchia. This hyperpigmentation may persist for a certain time, even if the drug is discontinued and may increase in intensity after sun exposure [168, 169].

Connective Tissue Abnormalities: Scleroderma-like reactions (e.g., skin tightening, contractures of knees or fingers) were reported to occur in patients receiving taxanes. Docetaxel and paclitaxel are considered among the most potent chemotherapeutic agents to be used in neoadjuvant or adjuvant treatment, especially in breast cancer. These fibrotic changes are not always reversible after discontinuation of the drug [170].

Skin Atrophy: 5-FU and hydroxyurea may induce skin atrophy that can persist after discontinuation of the drugs. Collagen, hyaluronic acid, or other fillers can be used to manage such atrophy if it occurs in noticeable areas [171].

Alopecia: Chemotherapy-induced alopecia (CIA) is very frequent during chemotherapy. Severity depends on the chemotherapeutic agent, dosing, method of administration, and time intervals between infusions. Hair loss is seen 1–3 weeks after initiating treatment. Hair will start growing again 2–3 months after completion of chemotherapy. Most patients report changes in color and texture in newly grown hair. Alopecia is related to a significant psychosocial impact, especially in women [172]. Endocrine therapy-induced alopecia (EIA) is less known to clinicians. It usually involves the crown of the scalp and leads to recession of the frontal and bitemporal hairline. Aromatase inhibitors are more likely to induce alopecia, between 6 and 18 months after therapy initiation [173].

The administration of biotin or orthosilicic acid can be considered as an initial treatment. A therapeutic option is the use of topical minoxidil 5% to push hair growth after completion of chemotherapy. Spironolactone has shown some effects in EIA, but the risk-benefit ratio must be considered and its use is not generally recommended. In eyelash hair loss, bimatoprost ophthalmic solution can be considered.

Aids such as hats, scarves, or wigs are often needed and should be routinely prescribed [163].

Chronic Radiation Dermatitis: After radiation therapy, chronic dermatitis develops months to years later. These dermatologic changes include hyper- or hypopigmentation, scaling, xerosis and thickened or hyperkeratotic skin. Additionally, irradiated skin is lacking hair follicles or sebaceous glands and prominent blood vessels (telangiectasias) will develop [162]. Different treatment modalities such as pulsed dye laser for telangiectasia, hyperbaric oxygen therapy to alleviate the pain caused by edema or erythema exist. Keratolytic agents to treat scaling and xerosis can be considered [162, 174].

Secondary skin cancer: Basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma of the skin are currently seen in cancer survivors as therapy-related skin cancers. These cancers could be related to factors causing primary cancer, such as smoking, alcohol abuse, changes in hormonal or immunologic status (e.g., immunosuppressive therapy), and environmental factors. Direct carcinogenic effects of cytotoxic agents and radiation therapy must be considered. Dermatologic follow-up of cancer survivors with higher risk of developing secondary skin cancers should be monitored regularly [175]. Importantly, cutaneous metastases can occur as a sign of recurrence, especially when located on the chest or trunk. Sometimes their appearance is unimpressive and may be overlooked. Persistent nodules or firm papules occurring in cancer survivors should be evaluated carefully. In case of suspicious skin changes, a biopsy should be considered [176, 177].

Graft-vs-Host Disease (GvHD): In cancer survivors after stem cell transplant (SCT) chronic GvHD of the skin is defined as occurring 100 days after SCT. It is

usually associated with xerosis and adequate management with alcohol-free skin moisturizers and soft gentle soaps is essential. Other cutaneous manifestations of chronic GvHD include diffuse alopecia and sclerodermoid skin changes. Mucosal changes can lead to oral mucosa atrophy, erosions and ulceration, pyogenic granulomas, xerostomia, oral lichen planus–like changes, and submucosal fibrosis. Glucocorticoids and immunosuppressive therapy are therapeutic options [178, 179].

Nausea and Emesis

Nausea and emesis are symptoms that mostly belong to acute toxicity after systemic cancer treatment or radiation therapy. In cancer survivors, these symptoms are rarely related to a delayed systemic side effect. If nausea and emesis occur with acute onset during survivorship the underlying cause should be elucidated.

Work-up and treatment will not be discussed here.

Respiratory Symptoms

After complete or partial pneumonectomy patients may develop chronic pain, fatigue, shortness of breath, or even respiratory failure on exertion. Radiation or different chemotherapies with or without surgery may initiate or aggravate lung symptoms. Respiratory symptoms can be subdivided from their origins:

- Surgery side effects
- Radiation side effects
- Chemotherapy side effects

Different lung pathologies need to be thought about when seeing patients during or after cancer treatments. It is important to monitor pulmonary function when suspecting symptoms attributable to pulmonary toxicity. There is a prominent part of patients developing abnormal pulmonary function tests after cancer treatment [180] [181].

After childhood cancer, 44–65% develop an abnormal pulmonary function test, which is highest after lung radiotherapy, past bleomycin treatment, or thoracotomy. Restrictive lung diseases as well as decreased carbon monoxide diffusion capacity are the main issues although there is no direct correlation with clinical symptoms. About patients with diagnosed restrictive lung disease, only 9.5% reported dyspnea and 7.5% had noticeable asthma [182].

Among lung cancer survivors treated with pulmonary surgery, dyspnea appears in two-thirds of patients in the long course. Major risk factors are the presence of preoperative dyspnea, reduced diffusing capacity, clinically significant depression symptoms, and lack of physical activity [183]. A myriad of variables influences the presentation of respiratory symptoms among long-term survivors. Mainly aging by itself, active or stopped tobacco use and cardiovascular comorbidities influence respiratory symptoms and alter pulmonary function. About half of patients stop smoking with diagnosis of lung cancer, but tobacco-related effects due to long-term damage continue.

The degree of lung resection (pneumonectomy vs. lobectomy, sleeve resection, segmental wedge resection) has been associated with varying degrees of pulmonary and functional status compromise [184]. Pneumonectomy leads to a reduction of exercise capacity by one-fourth, whereas the resection of less lung volume as for lobectomy, wedge, and sleeve resections does not affect exercise capacity. Lung volume reduction is here at a maximum of 20% [185].

Pneumonitis

After Radiotherapy, pneumonitis can occur in the early posttreatment phase and include symptoms like dyspnea, nonproductive cough, fever, and hypoxia. The incidence and severity of radiation are correlating with the lung volume irradiated, total irradiation dose, and radiation fractions. It typically occurs after radiotherapy for lymphoma, after whole-body radiotherapy for leukemia or after cancer of the lung, breast, esophageal cancer, or bone metastasis. Radiation pneumonitis can transform into fibrosis [186].

After chemotherapy, or even during, the development of an interstitial pneumonitis can be a severe and fatal complication. Bleomycin is the most common drug inducing pneumonitis and is usually used in the treatment of testicular cancer and Hodgkin lymphoma. Other pneumonitis-inducing drugs are cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, melphalan, carmustine, and immunotherapy agents.

Bleomycin induced pneumonitis (BIP) occurs in up to 46% of patients having received bleomycin and can potentially progress into lung fibrosis which is again associated with a higher mortality. Early-onset pneumonitis occurs while on treatment and can be a life-threatening complication. Late-onset BIP usually develops more than 6 months after the end of treatment. Patients complain of dyspnea associated with a nonproductive cough, fever, tachypnea, and hypoxia [187]. As many as 1% die from pulmonary consequences of bleomycin therapy [188]. The incidence of bleomycin-related pulmonary disease is significantly greater in those who received a total dose of more than 450 mg, with a 10% death rate in those who received a cumulative dose of more than 550 mg. The absolute maximum cumulative bleomycin dose for an individual patient has therefore been suggested to be 300–400 mg maximum.

Risk factors for the development of BIP are beside the dose of bleomycin, age of patient, smoking, renal dysfunction, additional radiotherapy, and the administration of oxygen.

Typical radiographic findings are bilateral bibasilar infiltrates which appear earlier on CT scan than pain radiographic imaging. Small linear and subpleural nodular lesions are typical first CT findings. They can be followed by a diffuse interstitial and alveolar infiltrate. In these cases lobar consolidation ultimately develops. There are no proven effective treatments for BIP in humans, although corticosteroids are widely applied and should then be used in high dosages (prednisone 1 mg/ kg body weight) especially in early-onset BIP. There is no convincing data for lateonset BIP treatment.

Fibrosis

Fibrosis can develop in the course of pneumonitis and typically is a life-threatening complication with a bad prognosis. It potentially occurs among others mainly after bleomycin, busulfan, carmustine, and radiotherapy. Usually fibrosis develops at least 6–24 months after the completion of radiotherapy presenting with progressive dyspnea and cough.

Pulmonary Hypertension

There is a few data showing the possibility of developing pulmonary hypertension after chest radiotherapy or anthracycline chemotherapy. As heart echography shows increased tricuspid regurgitant jet velocity, an association with radiotherapy and pulmonary vascular damaging is discussed. One-fourth of patients having received chest radiotherapy showed increased tricuspid regurgitant jet velocity and appeared limited on a 6-min walk test [189].

Secondary Lung Cancer

Chest radiotherapy increases the risk of developing a secondary lung cancer. In a study of Hodgkin lymphoma survivors, the relative risk was 2.7–7.0 for developing lung cancer when treated with chest radiotherapy [190].

Among breast cancer survivors adjuvant radiotherapy leads to a higher relative risk of 1.49 to develop lung cancer more than 15 years after the end of treatment [191].

Bronchiolitis Obliterans Syndrome and Idiopathic Pneumonia Syndrome

These complications are a special issue after hematopoietic cell transplantation. They are a significant source of morbidity and mortality in these vulnerable patients.

One in ten will develop late noninfectious pulmonary complications more than 3 months after transplantation. Survival of those patients is significantly altered [192].

Bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS) is a graft-versus-host disease associated complication of allogeneic stem cell transplantation appearing mostly in the first 2 years after transplantation but can appear later. It causes airflow obstruction secondary to progressive circumferential fibrosis with consecutive scarring of terminal bronchioles [193].

At an initial phase, there are no obvious symptoms except unspecific mild dyspnea on exertion or nonproductive variable cough. Later on patients develop significant dyspnea on exertion and persistent cough. They may then suffer from persistent hypoxia and are oxygen-dependent which aggravates the risk of developing infectious pneumonia. It is then a life-threatening complication with bad long-term outcomes. Steroids are most often used although there are no trials proving their benefit. Five-year survival of patients with BOS was 10% when not responding to steroids, 79% in responders [194].

Therefore, routine lung function testing is recommended at 3, 6, 9, 12, 18, and 24 months after allogenic stem cell transplantation (ASCT) [195].

Idiopathic pneumonia syndrome (IPS) occurs in about 12% of patients after ASCT and was defined as idiopathic syndrome of pneumopathy after ASCT, with evidence of widespread alveolar injury and in which infectious etiologies and cardiac dysfunction, acute renal failure or iatrogenic fluid overload have been excluded. It can appear early in the posttransplantation course and the median onset is about 6–7 weeks [196].

IPS is associated with dyspnea, nonproductive cough, hypoxemia, non-lobar infiltrates, and rapid respiratory failure up to death. Etanercept, an anti-TNF-alpha antibody, is the only treatment that has shown some benefit [197].

Importance of early detection and treatment of respiratory problems needs to be stressed as there is a higher likelihood of dying from a pulmonary cause—8.8 times more as found by Armstrong GT—after chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy of the chest [189].

Cardiac Symptoms

A large number of adult patients who are long-term cancer survivors, present with a myriad of cardiovascular symptoms. Cancer survivors have besides their treatment-related long-term cardiovascular side effects an increased incidence of hypertension, dyslipidemia, diabetes, and obesity aggravating cardiovascular disease like coronary disease, cardiomyopathy, heart failure, valvular disease, and stroke [198, 199].

Common risk factors are more strongly associated with the risk of incident cardiovascular disease in cancer survivors as compared with non-cancer controls [200]. This significantly increases morbidity and mortality in this population.

Hypertension

The incidence of hypertension is higher in cancer survivors than in a comparative population and hypertension may already occur while on treatment. The regular use of corticosteroids in the prophylaxis of nausea, the use of vascular endothelial
growth factor receptor (VEGFR) inhibitors, and multikinase inhibitors increase the rate of hypertension.

At a median duration of follow-up of 11.2 years, the risk of hypertension in testicular cancer survivors was significantly higher and greatest in patients having received more than 850 mg of Cisplatine during their adjuvant treatment [201]. Another study confirms this finding by proving that at 19 years after chemotherapy treatment, patients needed significantly more antihypertensive medication than patients not having had a previous chemotherapy [202].

Arterial hypertension has an additional unfavorable effect on the development of coronary artery disease, heart failure, valvular disease, and arrhythmia. Moreover, the combined effect of chemotherapy and radiotherapy of the chest potentiates the risk of cardiovascular events [3].

Recommended treatment are those that are effective at preventing adverse cardiac remodeling such as angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, beta-blockers, or angiotensin receptor blockers. When using VEGF-inhibitors a vasodilator agent may be beneficial as they have a counter-effect on arterial stiffness, pulsative or resistive load.

Hyperlipidemia

Many drugs used in anticancer treatment, especially in the adjuvant situation, increase lipid levels. This should be taken into account while seeing cancer survivors.

Patients with breast cancer on aromatase inhibitors have a significant increase in hypercholesterolemia as compared to those on tamoxifen [203]. Anastrozole may induce slightly more hypertriglyceridemia and hypercholesterolemia as compared to exemestane [204].

More than half of patients after allogenic stem cell transplantation develop hypercholesterolemia and hypertriglyceridemia. Graft-versus-host disease (GVDH) is as well associated with both [205].

Testicular cancer survivors have a higher incidence of Hyperlipidemia and are more often on lipid-lowering treatments [5].

Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) in prostate cancer is correlated with an increased risk of developing metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease. ADT induces a change in body composition, decreasing lean body mass and increasing fat mass, and altering insulin sensitivity [206].

Valvular Heart Disease

Over a time of up to 50 years after cancer treatment with anthracyclines or radiotherapy of the chest [207], patients are at higher risk for developing valvular abnormalities, pericardial disease, and heart failure.

Mediastinal radiation is a great risk factor for developing stenosis of valvular regurgitation in a long-time course. 28% of 1800 adult survivors of childhood

cancer had proven valvular regurgitation or stenosis after at least 10 years later [10]. After mediastinal irradiation for Hodgkin Lymphoma, the diagnosis of valvular damage is dose-dependent, and the most common valvular abnormality is aortic stenosis followed by mitral regurgitation, mitral stenosis, tricuspid regurgitation, and aortic regurgitation [208].

Recommendations from the American Society of Clinical Oncology for preventing and managing cardiac dysfunction in adult cancer survivors were set up by an expert panel to give guidance about the screening and follow-up of patients receiving or having had potential cardiotoxic treatments [209].

Pericardial Disease

Pericardial effusion is very rare in the long-term course but can occur during cancer treatment as an acute side effect or complication of the disease. According to the extended and eventual cardiac tamponade, a percutaneous drainage is necessary. Incidence is very low in the long-term course. It manifests as pericardial effusion or pericardial constriction and can best be followed by echography.

Conduction Disease

Structural damage caused by mediastinal radiotherapy can be associated with conduction disease [210]. Symptomatic patients may present sick sinus syndrome, bradycardia, or heart block. If there is no indication for pace-maker they can be followed by ECG and eventual invasive electrophysiological assessment may be necessary according to the specific problem.

Cardiomyopathy

The development of heart failure is an important long-term side effect of cancer treatment which is associated with high mortality and morbidity [211]. It mostly occurs in survivors of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, breast cancer, or lung cancer.

At higher risk for developing cardiac dysfunction are patients that have been treated with high-dose cardiotoxic chemotherapy, radiotherapy including parts of the heart or chest radiotherapy in combination with cardiotoxic chemotherapy. Age over 60 at the time of treatment and having preexisting cardiac risk factors or disease are additional risk factors for cardiac dysfunction [12].

Anthracyclines are the chemotherapy agents that are especially linked to cardiotoxicity. Doxorubicin dose above 250 mg/m² is associated with an increased risk of heart failure [212]. Daunorubicin seems to be less cardiotoxic in comparison to doxorubicin. The other main anthracyclines are epirubicin, mitoxantrone, and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin. Frequency of anthracycline-related heart failure is about 5% with a cumulative dose of 400 mg/m² doxorubicin and is increasing to 48% at 700 mg/m² [213]. Data from Hodgkin lymphoma survivors show that the combination of doxorubicin administration and radiotherapy is associated with higher cardiotoxicity and should no more be applied concomitantly.

Another drug is trastuzumab which is generally well-tolerated with the potential for variable trastuzumab-induced cardiotoxicity as the morbidity of primary concern, ranging from asymptomatic decline in left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) to symptomatic heart failure. It is not related to either dose or duration of treatment. The mechanism by which trastuzumab causes cardiotoxicity is not completely understood, but it is thought to be related to blocking of the normal physiologic action of HER2 on cardiomyocytes as well as potential effects on the function of resident cardiac stem cells [214]. Early induced cardiotoxicity is generally reversible and can be treated with beta-blockers and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. Episodes of trastuzumab-induced cardiotoxicity may have long-lasting effects on cardiac health suggesting that even if left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) recovers, the damage may leave the patient susceptible to future insults [215].

For the follow-up of these patients, there are some data showing that cardiac biomarkers such as Troponin I or B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) may be helpful to early detection of cardiotoxicity. After anthracycline use, most heart failure appears during the first year after completion of therapy. Cardiotoxicity is defined by heart muscle damage leading to a decline of left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) which may induce cardiomyopathy.

It is important to detect a decrease of LVEF of more than 10% to less than 50% as early as possible as treatment can lead to substantial improvement in LVEF to even normal levels [216].

For patients undergoing cardiotoxic treatment appropriate regular cardiac checkup is needed to guarantee optimal outcomes. In order to prevent adverse cardiac remodeling the use of angiotensin convertase inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, and beta-blockers are recommended. Additional attention should be drawn to hyperlipidemia, weight control, and regular exercise.

Important recommendations were given through data of the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study cohort in 2015 and should be applied to any patient having had potentially cardiotoxic treatment [217]:

- Childhood cancer survivors treated with anthracyclines or chest radiation are at increased risk of cardiomyopathy.
- Surveillance using echocardiography should be lifelong and performed at a minimum of every 5 years.
- Given the increased cardiometabolic demand on the heart of the mother during pregnancy, closer monitoring of survivors during pregnancy is warranted.
- Survivors with documented asymptomatic cardiomyopathy should be referred to a cardiologist for further diagnostic work-up and possible treatment.
- At-risk cancer survivors should be regularly screened for traditional cardiovascular risk factors (i.e., hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, overweight/obesity) and should be counseled against smoking and physical inactivity.

Harmonized recommendations for cardiomyopathy surveillance for childhood cancer survivors [217]

General recommendation

Survivors treated with anthracyclines and/or chest radiation and their providers should be aware of the risk of cardiomyopathy.

Who needs cardiomyopathy surveillance? Anthracyclines

- Cardiomyopathy surveillance is recommended for survivors treated with high-dose (≥250 mg/m²) anthracyclines.
- Cardiomyopathy surveillance is reasonable for survivors treated with moderate dose (≥100 to <250 mg/m²) anthracyclines.
- Cardiomyopathy surveillance may be reasonable for survivors treated with low-dose (<100 mg/m²) anthracyclines.

Who needs cardiomyopathy surveillance? Chest radiation

- Cardiomyopathy surveillance is recommended for survivors treated with high-dose (≥35 Gy) chest radiation.
- Cardiomyopathy surveillance may be reasonable for survivors treated with moderate dose (≥15 to <35 Gy) chest radiation.
- No recommendation can be formulated for cardiomyopathy surveillance for survivors treated with low-dose (<15 Gy) chest radiation with conventional fractionation.

Who needs cardiomyopathy surveillance? Anthracyclines + Chest radiation

 Cardiomyopathy surveillance is recommended for survivors treated with moderate-high dose anthracyclines (≥100 mg/m²) and moderate-high dose chest radiation (≥15 Gy).

What surveillance modality should be used?

- Echocardiography is recommended as the primary cardiomyopathy surveillance modality for assessment of left ventricular systolic function in survivors treated with anthracyclines and/or chest radiation.
- Radionuclide angiography or cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) may be reasonable for cardiomyopathy surveillance in at-risk survivors for whom echocardiography is not technically feasible/optimal.
- Assessment of cardiac blood biomarkers (e.g., natriuretic peptides) in conjunction with imaging studies may be reasonable in instances where symptomatic cardiomyopathy is strongly suspected or in individuals who have borderline cardiac function during primary surveillance.
- Assessment of cardiac blood biomarkers is not recommended as the only strategy for cardiomyopathy surveillance in at-risk survivors.
- Cardiomyopathy surveillance is recommended for High-Risk survivors to begin no later than 2 years after completion of cardiotoxic therapy, repeated at 5 years after diagnosis, and continued every 5 years thereafter.
- More frequent cardiomyopathy surveillance is reasonable for High-Risk survivors.

- Lifelong cardiomyopathy surveillance may be reasonable for High-Risk survivors.

At what frequency should surveillance be performed for Moderate/Low-Risk survivors?

- Cardiomyopathy surveillance is reasonable for Moderate/Low-Risk survivors to begin no later than 2 years after completion of cardiotoxic therapy, repeated at 5 years after diagnosis, and continue every 5 years thereafter.
- More frequent cardiomyopathy surveillance may be reasonable for Moderate/Low-Risk survivors.
- Lifelong cardiomyopathy surveillance may be reasonable for Moderate/Low-Risk survivors.

At what frequency should surveillance be performed for survivors who are pregnant or planning to become pregnant?

- Cardiomyopathy surveillance is reasonable prior to pregnancy or in the first trimester for all female survivors treated with anthracyclines and/or chest radiation
- No recommendations can be formulated for the frequency of ongoing surveillance in pregnant survivors who have normal LV systolic function immediately prior to or during the first trimester of pregnancy.

What should be done when abnormalities are identified?

 Cardiology consultation is recommended for survivors with asymptomatic cardiomyopathy following treatment with anthracyclines and/or chest radiation.

What advice should be given regarding physical activity and other modifiable cardiovascular risk factors?

- Regular exercise, as recommended by the AHA and ESC, offers potential benefits to survivors treated with anthracyclines and/or chest radiation.
- Regular exercise is recommended for survivors treated with anthracyclines and/or chest radiation who have normal LV systolic function.
- Cardiology consultation is recommended for survivors with asymptomatic cardiomyopathy to define limits and precautions for exercise.
- Cardiology consultation may be reasonable for High-Risk survivors who plan to participate in high-intensity exercise to define limits and precautions for physical activity.
- Screening for modifiable cardiovascular risk factors (hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, obesity) is recommended for all survivors treated with anthracyclines and/ or chest radiation so that necessary interventions can be initiated to help avert the risk of symptomatic cardiomyopathy.

Deep Vein Thrombosis and Pulmonary Embolism

Venous thromboembolism (VTE) is a highly prevalent and potentially fatal disease. Cancer has been associated as the most relevant risk factor, before others like hormone use, immobility, or obesity. Annual incidence of VTE in patients with cancer is 0.5% versus 0.1% in patients without cancer.

Data from the Framingham Heart Study demonstrated that in a prospective cohort of 9754 patients, cancer-associated thrombosis (CAT) had worse survival among VTE patients [218]. In the same direction, data from the Global Anticoagulant Registry in the Field (GARFIELD)-VTE registry demonstrated that in a cohort of 10315 VTE patients, from 419 centers and 28 countries, overall mortality was 9.7% in 6 months and 54.3% of all deaths were cancer-related [219]. Concluding that cancer is a major cause of death in VTE patients and vice versa. VTE is the second most prevalent cause of death from cancer, second only to cancer itself [220].

Patients having had a cancer-associated deep vein thrombosis are at risk of developing a postthrombotic syndrome. There is no clear definition but it constitutes of various clinical signs and symptoms such as heaviness, swelling, edema, skin indurations, hyperpigmentation, venous ectasia, redness, and pain during calf compression, cramps, pruritus, and paresthesia. The incidence of postthrombotic syndrome is between 17% and 50% of patients 1 year after VTE. Although most appear during the first 2 years, some take up to 5–10 years to manifest [221].

Once the diagnosis is made, there is a lifelong need toward limiting progression and complications. For this, the only treatment is the use of elastic compression stockings to reduce venous hypertension and improve tissue microcirculation. In severe cases, the use of topical dressing and intermittent pump compression is needed. The risk for another deep vein thrombosis is higher. A single randomized trial showed that the use of elastic stockings for at least 2 years after proximal DVT reduced the rate of postthrombotic syndrome by 50% [222].

Around 2–4% of patients with pulmonary embolism will have chronic damage to the lungs known as pulmonary hypertension which is characterized by shortness of breath, tiredness, sometimes chest pain, and decreased exercise ability. Pulmonary hypertension can lead to heart failure if untreated. Pulmonary hypertension must be taken into account after large pulmonary embolism especially during the months after the acute event if the concerned patient does not get back to the previous condition. Some complaint of shortness of breath and chronic fatigue long after the pulmonary embolism has been treated and resolved. After pulmonary embolism, 47% of patients show a significant reduction in their physical well-being more than 1 year after the thromboembolic event [223].

Long-term consequences of pulmonary embolism often go far beyond the physical ones. Patients experience symptomatic embolism as a distressing severe event with existential fears which may lead to behavioral changes, depression, or to a post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Regular psychological interventions or even drug treatment may be necessary [224].

As referred to previously, the occurrence of deep vein thrombosis and/or pulmonary embolism after cancer can be the first sign of cancer recurrence.

Endocrine Disorders

Best available data about the broad range of endocrine disorders in cancer survivors exists for late effects of childhood cancers. There is an important number of treatment-related factors having an impact on several endocrine functions [225]. They affect problems with thyroid, gonadal and adrenal function as well as growth, weight, puberty, and bone health [226].

Hypothyroidism

Hypothyroidism leads to metabolic changes such as dyslipidemia, hyperglycaemia, and cardiovascular risk increase through altering coagulopathy and endothelial function. It is associated with a higher incidence of diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular diseases, lung diseases, and psychiatric morbidity as well as impaired quality of life.

Especially local radiotherapy to the neck, mediastinum, or the thyroid gland itself induces secondary hypothyroidism. This results in vascular damage in the epithelium of small vessels and transformation of fibrosis of capsular structures. Late irreversible changes consist of atrophy, chronic lymphocytic inflammation, vascular fibrosis, and focal and irregular follicular hyperplasia [227].

Most patients who develop radiation-induced hypothyroidism do so within the first 2–3 years after radiotherapy. A radiation dose-depending probability of the development of hypothyroidism is well known. The addition of chemotherapy to

radiotherapy as in head and neck cancer treatment does not increase the risk. Smaller thyroid glands, as in women compared to men, are at higher risk for developing hypothyroidism [228].

Hypogonadism

The development of hypogonadism and its side effects needs to be thought about after the use of alkylating agents, irradiation of the cranium, pelvic, or gonadal irradiation. The consequences of such treatments concern mainly males, treatment during puberty, or in the post-pubertal period in females.

The etiology of hypogonadism in male is either primary (testicular, hypergonadotropic, or with elevated LH and FSH) or secondary (central, hypogonadotropic, or with low or inadequately normal LH or FSH). Primary hypogonadism in cancer patients can result from inflammatory cytokines and chemotherapeutic agents. Secondary hypogonadism can result from opioid use, glucocorticoid treatments, low leptin levels, or high ghrelin concentrations [229].

Cancer is a proinflammatory state with elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines which have a direct effect on the hypothalamus-pituitary-gonadal axis and decreasing significantly testosterone levels [230].

High-dose chemotherapies, mainly alkylating agents, are having a direct doserelated toxic effect on Leydig cells function in the gonads leading to a permanent induction of hypogonadism in those patients [231]. Its incidence is proportional to the alkylating drug doses given.

In cancer patients or survivors still suffering from disease- or treatmentrelated cachexia, low leptin levels lower sex hormone concentration as leptin is secreted by adipocytes. Leptin is responsible for regulating energy homeostasis at the level of the hypothalamus and it is required for normal LH and FSH secretion centrally and production of testosterone in the gonads [232, 233]. Ghrelin is a hormone correlating inversely with leptin levels and its concentration increases with weight loss. High ghrelin levels lead to reduced LH and testosterone concentration [234].

Ongoing opioid use in cancer survivors is associated with a high risk of hypogonadism as opioids can reduce testosterone levels by disrupting the normal pulsatility of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH) secretion [235].

Decreased Bone Density

The important use of corticosteroids as a therapeutic agent or in association for antiemetic treatment on a regular basis for more than 2 months (starting at 5 mg prednisone per day or other equivalent corticoids) can induce secondary osteopenia and osteoporosis whereas the risk of osteopenia-related fractures in later life is not proven [236]. Hypothyroidism and/or hypogonadism are influencing bone health by impacting growth hormone stimulation and favor osteopenia on a long term. The

same is true for women with premature menopause after ovariectomy or who are taking antihormonal adjuvant treatments [237], for men under antiandrogenic treatment or secondary hypogonadism after testicular cancer. Other factors increasing the risk of bone-density loss: gastrectomy, several types of chemotherapy (platinum, ifosfamide, doxorubicin, and methotrexate), age over 50, alcohol abuse, and few physical activities.

Preventive measures are oral calcium and vitamin D supplementation, regular physical exercising, limiting caffeine and alcohol intake as well as smoking cessation. Regular bone density scans are recommended and eventual antiresorptive treatment might be indicated [238].

Cancer treatments in early life can as well result in short stature. The risk is higher with early life radiotherapy of the cerebral cortex or in unfractionated (dose of more than 10 Gy) total body radiotherapy. The risk of avascular bone necrosis increases with earlier use of corticosteroids and earlier bone radiotherapy [239].

Obesity and Metabolic Syndrome

Younger treatment age, females, and cranial irradiation of more than 20Gy are risk factors for developing obesity throughout life mainly through the influence of growth hormone deficiency. Metabolic syndrome is the combination of insulin resistance, overweight/obesity, hypertension, and dyslipidemia which is an issue mainly in patients treated with cardiotoxic systemic treatments of radiotherapy [240].

Fertility Disorders and Sexual Dysfunction

Fertility Preservation

Exposure to chemotherapeutic regimens and/or radiation in childhood and adolescent cancer patients severely affects the reproductive ability in the long-term as they are gonadotoxic and induce depletion of the unique follicular pool, leading to premature ovarian insufficiency [241]. About half of male cancer survivors of these age groups experience difficulties to conceive a child during adulthood which presents a significant quality of life and a medical challenge. The most frequent cancers in young boys and adolescents are leukemia, brain and other tumors of the central nervous system, and lymphomas. Testicular cancers are frequently seen in adolescents and young adults. Fortunately, modern treatment leads to a more than 80% 5-year survival rate for childhood cancer [242].

Those treatments often affect fertility as gonadotoxic treatment is mostly substantial and improvement needs to be done. Patients with advanced Hodgkin lymphoma being treated with BEACOPP regimen [243] or anthracycline- and taxane-based treatment in breast cancer [244] have a moderate to high risk of primary ovarian insufficiency. A variety of fertility preserving and preventing measures can be offered. These multidisciplinary strategies are regrouped under the term Oncofertility [245]. Preventive approaches aiming at the protection of germ cells and testicular function during exposure are preferable. Alternatively, cryopreserved oocyte or immature ovarian tissue can be acquired in women and sperm cryoconservation or testicular tissue collection can be saved before treatment of young men and be later on used for in vitro procreation. For female adolescents and adults of child-bearing age, a pharmacological protection with GnRH analogs can be offered.

The possibility of conceiving with their own gametes and building a family after being cured represents although a top priority for young cancer patients at diagnosis [246].

Sexual Dysfunction

Cancers that do not affect the sexual organs can also affect sexuality by changing the subjective body image. Patients feel less attractive, treatments and the diagnosis itself causes fatigue or depression and decreases interest in sex. Chemotherapy agents are associated in the short and long term with symptoms of the skin including mucosal tissue. This may lead to vaginal dryness, painful intercourse, reduced sexual desire, and the disability to achieve orgasm. Many of these issues are additionally caused by the sudden onset of menopause as a result of cancer treatment [247]. Personal issues related to sexual health can be emotionally draining and can interfere with relationships even though patients would need those most.

Sexual dysfunction in women concerns mainly patients who had pelvic or breast surgery, those with chemotherapy-induced premature ovarian failure or patients on adjuvant endocrine therapy [248]. Aromatase inhibitors induce a low estrogen status and are associated with lower libido, insufficient lubrication, and vaginal atrophy in comparison to tamoxifen [249]. Sexual dysfunction in women is additionally affected by fatigue, reactive depression and anxiety, distress, and changes in body image following surgery of the breasts or pelvic organs.

First-line treatment of sexual dysfunction symptoms in women consists of nonhormonal local treatments like lubricants and moisturizers. If treatment needs to be intensified one may consider the use of local low-dose vaginal estrogens or vaginal dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA, prasterone). In case of dyspareunia, a local treatment with a lidocaine formula applied to the introitus may be helpful.

Sexual side effects in men are most common after treatment for cancers of the pelvis: bladder, colon, prostate, and anorectal cancer. They very likely cause or accelerate erectile dysfunction which is the most frequent sexual dysfunction in men. Cancer treatments may add a negative evolution to eventual existing sexual dysfunction in older men. Despite the prevalence of erectile dysfunction in male cancer survivors, most are often reluctant to seek treatment. Other symptoms than erectile dysfunction include difficulty climaxing, weaker or dry orgasm, loss of interest in sex, pain during sex, less energy for sexual activity, and feeling less attractive of feeling ashamed because of an intestinal or urinal stoma needing to

wear an ostomy bag. Treatment-induced fatigue, anxiety, depression, and emotional changes can as well cause sexual difficulties and loss of libido.

Open communication with the patient and with their partner helps them address any sexuality issues and the patient may also be referred to a therapist experienced in working with cancer survivors. Sexual validated health questionnaires may be used to evaluate sexual dysfunction and focus on the main issues. The International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF) is a 15-item self-report measure that records erectile function, orgasm, desire, intercourse satisfaction, and overall satisfaction [250].

Therapeutic success often needs a multidisciplinary approach consisting first of medical and psychological support to the patient and maybe the partner. Phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE-5) inhibitors have shown to be effective for erectile dysfunction after surgery or radiotherapy for prostate cancer and may be a useful treatment for erectile dysfunction in cancer patients in general. There is no data that the available agents sildenafil, tadalafil, and vardenafil differ in efficacy, safety, or tolerability [251]. Alternatively, the use of locally applied intraurethral suppositories containing the prostaglandin E1 (PGE-1) analog alprostadil may be used. Intracavernosal injections (ICI) using a single drug alprostadil or papaverine or a combination of phentolamine papaverine and prostaglandin E1 (PGE1) have shown efficacy in patients with no effect on PGE-5 inhibitors [252]. Vacuum devices are an option for men who cannot tolerate or are resistant to systemic PGE-5 inhibitors or local drug treatment. Supplementation of testosterone in male cancer survivors, especially after prostate cancer, should be avoided. For men with other cancers, supplementation should be made on a very individual basis.

Gastrointestinal Disorders

Gastrointestinal symptoms are the most common of all chronic physical long-term side effects of cancer treatment and have a great impact on daily activity.

This is especially true for cancers of the pelvis like cervical, uterine, rectal, or anal cancer. Intestinal cancer needs to be treated with partial resection of bowel resulting in eventual short-bowel syndrome. In those who have undergone local radiotherapy, about 80% develop chronic bowel symptoms and most are affected in their daily life [253].

Gastrointestinal complications were reported in more than 40% of childhood cancer survivors by 20 years after cancer treatment [254]. Radiotherapy induces long-term changes in bowel function and can aggravate over time. There is irreversible induction of fibrosis via progressive endothelial dysfunction and ischemia. Physiological function of the gastrointestinal system is disturbed by most cancer treatments, new gastrointestinal disorders may come up in cancer survivors and other indirectly related factors play a frequent role: preexisting gastrointestinal disease, the psychosomatic effect, and anxieties around the diagnosis of cancer [255].

To aid adequate medical management it is important to follow a few concepts:

accurately identify troublesome symptoms

- · patients usually have multiple symptoms
- · symptoms are often multicausal
- simple investigations can identify the causes
- simple treatment approaches ameliorate or resolve the underlying causes [255]

Abdominal and pelvic surgeries often result in partial intestinal resection or induction of postsurgical adhesions. A higher rate of liver conditions like venoocclusive disease or graft-versus-host disease is seen in patients after bone marrow transplantation with total body irradiation.

Upper Gastrointestinal Tract

Long-term consequences of esophageal cancer might be associated with motility problems of the upper gastrointestinal tract. This begins with trouble swallowing which can lead to nausea, loss of appetite, and weight loss due to reduced caloric intake. Eating habits need to be adapted in frequency and consistency of foods. Some patients, mainly after chemo-/radiotherapy develop esophageal stricture which needs intervention like stent placement or dilatation.

The digestive function of the stomach can be altered after esophagectomy, full or partial gastrectomy leading to a reduced or no capacity of the stomach to hold food for digestion. This can lead to a dumping syndrome in about 20% of patients after gastrectomy and is defined by postprandial diarrhea, abdominal cramps, feeling bloated, sweating, and flushing [256].

An important number of symptoms of the upper gastrointestinal tract have been identified and can be managed by gastroenterologists, specialized nurses, and dieticians: heartburn, acid or bile reflux, burping/belching, dysphagia, dry mouth, early satiety, oral flatulence, halitosis, odynophagia, jaundice, gastric stasis, pain, regurgitation, vomiting, weight loss, and hypersalivation [257].

Partial or complete gastrectomy changes digestion and alters absorption of nutrients like vitamin B12, folates, or calcium. Special care needs to be taken to prevent deficiencies that result in postgastrectomy syndrome which includes anemia as a result of vitamin B12 or iron malabsorption and osteoporosis.

Following partial gastrectomy, the remnant stomach is susceptible to developing ulcer disease or cancer.

In postgastrectomy patients, retained gastric antrum and incomplete vagotomy are the two main surgical causes of recurrent peptic ulcer disease but they can be due to Helicobacter pylori infection, Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, gastric remnant cancer or medicines side effects like use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.

Chronic reflux of bile and pancreatic enzymes cause chronic inflammation and favorably influence the development of gastric remnant cancer. The risk of remnant cancer increases with time after initial surgical treatment. Endoscopic surveillance can be offered and is urgent in upcoming new symptoms.

Lower Gastrointestinal Tract

Best known long-term complications of gastrointestinal cancers are those associated with treatments of pelvic cancer.

There is a multitude of symptoms, occurring alone or simultaneously, being reported after pelvic radiotherapy: bloating, abdominal or anorectal pain, nausea, constipation, evacuation difficulties, tenesmus and bleeding, diarrhea and steator-rhoea, changes of bowel habits, irregular defectation, evacuation difficulty and variable incontinence [258].

Chronic diarrhea is a long-term complication in about half of survivors after the treatment of colorectal carcinoma and it has a profound impact on quality of life [259]. Often the problem is not spontaneoulsy stated by the patient who has accepted it as an inevitable consequence. Patients need to be asked about potential symptoms of radiation proctitis which appears mostly at least 1 year after the end of pelvic radiotherapy. The fibrotic transformation of anorectal mucosa induces new upcoming symptoms like diarrhea, rectal urgency, pain, obstruction, and bleeding. Symptoms can be similar in secondary bowel obstruction. The incidence of intestinal fibrosis is dose-dependent, 5% at 40 Gy and up to 40% at 60 Gy [260]. The risk is higher after the combination of abdominal radiation and surgery but can happen after partial colon resection for colon cancer.

Survivors are at risk for bowel obstruction, either as a result of strictures, following radiotherapy-induced fibrosis or due to altered motility after chemotherapy with a vinca-alkaloid.

Anorectal function declines the lower the surgical anastomoses are and whether they additionally received chemo-/radiotherapy or radiotherapy [261]. Patients complain of increased stool frequency, incontinence and perianal irritation, decreased stool and flatus discrimination, more incomplete evacuations, and decreased rectal compliance [262].

Management of diarrhea consists of antidiarrheal medications as needed and dietary adjustments. Reduction of raw vegetables, low-fat diets, probiotic complementation, and elemental diets may be beneficial. Pain, intermittent diarrhea in anastomosis stenosis, or radiation-induced strictures can be relieved by stool softeners.

Treatment of stool incontinence is multifactorial: avoidance of foods like incompletely digested sugars or caffeine, avoidance of activities that worsen symptoms, optimize perianal skin hygiene and eventual application of a barrier cream like zinc oxide, biofeedback therapy to improve control of the pelvic floor and abdominal wall musculature, and rarely surgery.

Follow-up endoscopic exams are important as the risk of developing a second colorectal cancer either after pelvic radiotherapy or after a first colorectal cancer is higher than in the general population [263]. The possibility of a genetic form of colorectal cancer needs to be kept in mind as those patients may need more frequent endoscopic exams. In patients with Lynch syndrome colonoscopy might be more often as tumors may develop quite rapidly.

Urologic Disorders

Bladder function of collection and excretion of urines may be altered following intravesical, locoregional, surgical, or systemic cancer treatments. Bladder dysfunction is a common concern in patients after treatment of different pelvic cancers like cervical, uterine, rectal, or anal cancer. Quality of life is impaired in up to 50% of patients over a 20-year period after radiotherapy of the pelvis. Particularly those having been treated with chemo-/radiotherapy for rectal cancer or cervical cancer seem to be concerned with urinary dysfunction in over 20% [264]. Typical symptoms of bladder dysfunction are urinary frequency, urgency, dysuria, and hematuria. Signs of radiogenic toxicity include detrusor instability, bladder ulceration, and vesicovaginal fistula [265]. In the short-course postoperative phase symptoms like urinary incontinence, urgency or urinary tract infections are mostly reversible until 2 years after treatment.

Hemorrhagic Cystitis

Hemorrhagic cystitis in the short-course after treatment with ifosfamide or cyclophosphamide chemotherapy is a sterile cystitis with macroscopic hematuria. It is less common as a late toxicity of pelvic radiation therapy when the bladder is within the radiation treatment field. Ifosfamide and cyclophosphamide are approved for use in a variety of malignancies, both in children and adults. Cyclophosphamide is also used as a component of conditioning regimens prior to hematopoietic cell transplantation.

Hemorrhagic cystitis is a complex inflammatory response that is induced by a toxic metabolite (acrolein), with subsequent activation of immunocompetent cells and release of many proinflammatory agents [266]. Accumulation of acrolein in the bladder causes local cell death and activation of proinflammatory cytokines in the urothelium which results in the cessation of protein production and damage to the integrity of the bladder urothelium with swelling, bleeding, and ulceration of the bladder mucosa.

Radiation Cystitis

Radiation cystitis is a late complication of pelvic radiation therapy that can occur months up to 20 years after administration. It occurs in 6.5–9% of patients after radiotherapy of the prostate for gynecologic cancer and is severe in less than 5% [267]. Involved bladder tissue becomes edematous and friable which later on turns into ischemia and fibrosis of the mucosa and submucosa. Dilated and fragile teleangiectatic vessels develop and are prone to bleed. Its development is dependant on the total radiation dose administered, the dose per fraction, and the volume of the bladder being in the radiation field. Focal radiation involvement with higher doses

can result in local ulceration and bleeding [268]. Highest risk is in patients with radiation of more than 75 Gy of the bladder neck. Besides dose and volume, antiandrogenic treatment and previous prostate transurethral resection are risk factors for hemorrhagic cystitis.

Management of hemorrhagic cystitis is mainly based on the severity of hemorrhagic cystitis. There are no evidence-based guidelines. Most cases are mild and can be managed by balanced hydration. In case of emergency presentation, standard measures include sufficient hydration, bladder washouts, clot evacuation, continuous bladder irrigation, and supportive treatment for pain and blood loss. Further on medical or surgical treatments are associated with higher difficulty and mortality [269]. Urinary diversion by nephrostomy and emergency cystectomy for end-stage hemorrhagic cystitis is associated with a 44% mortality rate [270]. Alternative less invasive management options for non-emergent hemorrhagic cystitis include systemic medical therapies (alkylating agents, formaline or album), hyperbaric oxygen, intravesical therapies, and laser ablation.

Bladder Fibrosis

Long-term bladder fibrosis and contracture have been reported in patients previously treated for hemorrhagic cystitis. It is a fibrotic irreversible transformation of the bladder urothelium and leads to functional impairment. Few data exist on childhood cancer survivors. In 23 patients with previous hemorrhagic cystitis after childhood cancer treatment with cyclophosphamide, three developed bladder contracture. Eighteen of those had also undergone radiation treatment [271]. These late changes are attributed to irreversible fibrosis as a consequence of collagen deposition in the bladder wall. Cumulative radiation dose >45 Gy to the whole bladder poses the highest risk for bladder toxicity [272]. Patients present abnormal bladder capacity and difficulty voiding normally. Urodynamic studies show a reduced bladder function.

Neurogenic Bladder

Systemic or local cancer treatment can potentially injure bladder innervation and can have negative effects on bladder storage, on voiding or continence. Injury can happen on several levels from brain to peripheral nerves by tumor growth, surgery, radiotherapy, or chemotherapy.

Causes in the central nervous system lead to bladder incontinence whereas spinal cord injury results in detrusor overactivity and poor storage whereas initially there may be impairment of bladder emptying. In the longer term, there is disturbed coordination between the bladder and external sphincter.

Impaired bladder contractility results from either pelvic surgery or radiotherapy to the lumbar or sacral spine [273].

Secondary Malignancy of the Bladder

Previous cancer treatment especially with cyclophosphamide may be associated with a higher risk of secondary bladder cancer which is most commonly symptomatic via macrohematuria. Most of these carcinomas are in a local stage, low grade, and associated with a favorable prognosis after local treatment. Cyclophosphamide has been associated with new bladder cancer [274] and leiomyosarcoma [275] of the bladder but still seems to be rare. A report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study found only five cases of secondary bladder cancer among 13,136 patients [276].

Ophthalmological Disorders

Neurosensory complications affecting the auditory, ocular, olfactory, or speech systems are commonly reported by survivors. A prospective study found that 22% of childhood cancer survivors reported auditory or ocular late effects during the first decade following treatment [277]. Ocular sequelae observed in childhood cancer survivors include cataracts, keratoconjunctivitis sicca, and vision loss. Treatment-related factors, specifically radiation and glucocorticoids, are established risk factors for the development of eye-related complications [278].

Late ocular conditions by their relative risk compared to siblings at least 5 years after treatment in childhood cancer survivors according to the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study [279]:

- Cataracts—relative risk 10.8 (6.2–18.9)
- Double vision—relative risk 4.1 (2.7–6.1)
- Legally blind—relative risk 2.6 (1.7–4.0)
- Dry eyes—relative risk 1.9 (1.6–2.4)
- Glaucoma—relative risk 1.5 (1.1–5.7)
- Retinal conditions—relative risk 1.3 (0.9–2.0)

Cataract

The lens is the most sensitive structure of the eye to the effects of ionizing radiation. Early studies in adults found that a single dose of 200 cGy or multiple, fractionated doses of radiation at a minimum total dose of 400 cGy could lead to cataract formation [280]. Steroid treatment for graft-versus-host disease is an additional factor for cataract development in patients after total body irradiation for hematological cancers [281] but the general use of corticosteroids and risk for cataract formation, while dexamethasone use was not. The greatest risk of cataracts is in patients after leukemia and primary CNS malignancy treatment [279].

Legal Blindness or Visual Function Deficit

Legal blindness is mostly defined as the inability to see at least 20/200 in either eye with the best possible optical correction. It is defined to either limit activities or to provide benefits to those who need assistance with daily activities. It can be due to multiple eye conditions like diabetic retinopathy, macular degeneration, rheumatic injuries, or glaucoma.

Radiation doses greater than 500 cGy to the eye are associated with an increased risk of legal blindness in that eye at a median of 1.0 years but the incidence increases up to 20 years post-diagnosis. Cerebral radiation to the posterior fossa with radiation doses >3000 cGy to the temporal lobe are associated with a statistically significant increased risk of reporting being legally blind in one or both eyes. Legal blindness at 20 years is more common in soft tissue sarcoma survivors and in patients with primary CNS malignancy [279].

Keratoconjunctivitis Sicca

A known complication of radiation to the orbit is severe dry eyes, with symptoms increasing when the dose to the eye is >500 cGy [282]. Radiation may damage the lacrimal apparatus through various mechanisms, including scarring of the canaliculi and failure of the lacrimal pump due to decreased eyelid mobility [2].

Diplopia

Double vision may be secondary to ocular and brain conditions. There is a modest correlation between diplopia and other reported ocular conditions like cataracts [279].

Late-onset blindness is reported in a very small percentage of survivors with cataracts and is as well reported in patients with recurrence of malignancy of the central nervous system or who developed a second malignant CNS tumor.

References

- Bower JE, Bak K, Berger A, Breitbart W, Escalante CP, Ganz PA, Schnipper HH, Lacchetti C, Ligibel JA, Lyman GH, Ogaily MS, Pirl WF, Jacobsen PB. Screening, assessment, and management of fatigue in adult survivors of cancer: an American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice guideline. Adapt J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(17):1840–50.
- 2. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66:7–30.
- American Academy of Sleep Medicine. International classification of sleep disorders. 3rd ed. American Academy of Sleep Medicine, Darien, IL; 2014.
- https://www.cancernetwork.com/view/management-sleep-wake-disturbances-comorbidcancer. Accessed 25 Jan 2021.

- Savard J, Ivers H, Savard MH, et al. Cancer treatments and their side effects are associated with aggravation of insomnia: results of a longitudinal study. Cancer. 2015;121:1703–11.
- 6. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- Bower JE, Ganz PA, Irwin MR, et al. Inflammation and behavioral symptoms after breast cancer treatment: do fatigue, depression, and sleep disturbance share a common underlying mechanism? J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:3517–22.
- Berger AM, Desaulniers G, Matthews EE, et al. Sleep wake disturbances. In: Irwin M, Johnson J, editors. Putting evidence into practice: a pocket guide to cancer symptom management. Pittsburgh, PA: Oncology Nursing Society; 2014. p. 255–67.
- Savard J, Morin C. Insomnia in the context of cancer: a review of a neglected problem. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:895–908.
- Savard J, Simard S, Blanchet J, et al. Prevalence, clinical characteristics, and risk factors for insomnia in the context of breast cancer. Sleep. 2001;24:583–90.
- Morgenthaler TI, Lee-Chiong T, Alessi C, et al. Practice parameters for the clinical evaluation and treatment of circadian rhythm sleep disorders. An American Academy of Sleep Medicine report. Sleep. 2007;30:1445–59.
- Palesh O, Roscoe J, Mustian KM, et al. Prevalence, demographics, and psychological associations of sleep disruption in patients with cancer: University of Rochester Cancer Center-Community Clinical Oncology Program. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:292–8.
- Zhou J, Jolly S. Obstructive sleep apnea and fatigue in head and neck cancer patients. Am J Clin Oncol. 2015;38:411–4.
- Garrett K, Dhruva A, Koetters T, et al. Differences in sleep disturbance and fatigue between patients with breast and prostate cancer at the initiation of radiation therapy. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2011;42:239–50.
- Matthews EE, Tanner JM, Dumont NA. Sleep disturbances in acutely ill patients with cancer. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am. 2016;28:253.
- 16. Galiano-Castillo N, Cantarero-Villanueva I, Fernandez-Lao C, et al. Telehealth system: a randomized controlled trial evaluating the impact of an internet-based exercise intervention on quality of life, pain, muscle strength, and fatigue in breast cancer survivors. Cancer. 2016;122:3166–74.
- Mercadante S, Adile C, Ferrera P, et al. Sleep disturbances in advanced cancer patients admitted to a supportive/palliative care unit. Support Care Cancer. 2017;25:1301–6.
- Siefert ML, Hong F, Valcarce B, et al. Patient and clinician communication of self-reported insomnia during ambulatory cancer care clinic visits. Cancer Nurs. 2014;37:E51–9.
- 19. Pachman DR, Barton DL, Swetz KM, et al. Troublesome symptoms in cancer survivors: fatigue, insomnia, neuropathy, and pain. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:3687–96.
- Morin CM. Cognitive behavioral therapy for chronic insomnia: state of the science versus current clinical practices. Ann Intern Med. 2015;163:236–7.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology Survivorship. Version 1; 2017. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/survivorship.pdf. Accessed 21 Jan 2021.
- Oncology Nursing Society Putting Evidence into Practice. Sleep-wake disturbances. https:// www.ons.org/practice-resources/pep/sleep-wake-disturbances. Accessed 21 Jan 2021.
- Howell D, Keller-Olaman S, Oliver TK, et al. A pan-Canadian practice guideline and algorithm: screening, assessment, and supportive care of adults with cancer-related fatigue. Curr Oncol. 2013;20:e233–46.
- 24. Garland SN, Johnson JA, Savard J, et al. Sleeping well with cancer: a systematic review of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in cancer patients. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2014;10:1113–24.
- Langford DJ, Lee K, Miaskowski C. Sleep disturbance interventions in oncology patients and family caregivers: a comprehensive review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev. 2012;16:397–414.

- Sateia MJ, Buysse D, Krystal AD, et al. Clinical practice guideline for the pharmacologic treatment of chronic insomnia in adults: an American Academy of Sleep Medicine clinical practice guideline. J Clin Sleep Med. 2016;12:307–9.
- 27. Morin CM, Benca R. Chronic insomnia. Lancet. 2012;379:1129-41.
- Edinger JD, Carney CE. Overcoming insomnia: a cognitive-behavioral therapy approach, therapist guide. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2014.
- Mormont MC, Waterhouse J, Bleuzen P, et al. Marked 24-h rest/activity rhythms are associated with better quality of life, better response, and longer survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer and good performance status. Clin Cancer Res. 2000;6:3038–45.
- Berg CJ, Stratton E, Esiashvili N, et al. Young adult cancer survivors' experience with cancer treatment and follow-up care and perceptions of barriers to engaging in recommended care. J Cancer Educ. 2016;31(3):430–42.
- Yi JC, Syrjala KL. Anxiety and depression in cancer survivors. Med Clin North Am. 2017;101(6):1099–113.
- Holland JC, Andersen B, Breitbart WS, et al. Distress management. J Nat Compr Canc Netw. 2013;11(2):190–209.
- Vahia VN. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- 34. A Pan-Canadian Practice Guideline: Screening, Assessment and Care of Psychosocial Distress (Depression, Anxiety) in Adults with Cancer: https://www.capo.ca/resources/ Documents/Guidelines/3APAN-~1.PDF; Accessed 21 Jan 2021.
- 35. Denlinger CS, Ligibel JA, Are M, et al. NCCN guidelines insights: survivorship, version 1.2016. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2016;14(6):715–24.
- 36. Mitchell AJ. Pooled results from 38 analyses of the accuracy of distress thermometer and other ultra-short methods of detecting cancer-related mood disorders. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(29):4670–81.
- 37. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, et al. An ultra-brief screening scale for anxiety and depression: the PHQ-4. Psychosomatics. 2009;50(6):613–21.
- Hoodin F, Zhao L, Carey J, et al. Impact of psychological screening on routine outpatient care of hematopoietic cell transplantation survivors. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2013;19(10):1493–7.
- Mitchell AJ, Meader N, Symonds P. Diagnostic validity of the hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS) in cancer and palliative settings: a meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2010;126(3):335–48.
- 40. Zhu G, Zhang X, Wang Y, et al. Effects of exercise intervention in breast cancer survivors: a meta-analysis of 33 randomized controlled trails. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;9:2153–68.
- 41. Gaskin CJ, Craike M, Mohebbi M, et al. A clinician referral and 12-week exercise training programme for men with prostate cancer: outcomes to 12 months of the ENGAGE cluster randomised controlled trial. J Phys Act Health. 2017;14(5):353–9.
- 42. Carlson LE, Tamagawa R, Stephen J, et al. Randomized-controlled trial of mindfulness-based cancer recovery versus supportive expressive group therapy among distressed breast cancer survivors (MINDSET): long-term followup results. Psychooncology. 2016;25(7):750–9.
- 43. Johns SA, Brown LF, Beck-Coon K, et al. Randomized controlled pilot trial of mindfulnessbased stress reduction compared to psychoeducational support for persistently fatigued breast and colorectal cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(10):4085–96.
- 44. Lengacher CA, Reich RR, Paterson CL, et al. Examination of broad symptom improvement resulting from mindfulness-based stress reduction in breast cancer survivors: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(24):2827–34.
- 45. Reich RR, Lengacher CA, Alinat CB, et al. Mindfulness-based stress reduction in posttreatment breast cancer patients: immediate and sustained effects across multiple symptom clusters. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2017;53(1):85–95.
- 46. Brothers BM, Yang HC, Strunk DR, et al. Cancer patients with major depressive disorder: testing a biobehavioral/cognitive behavior intervention. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2011;79(2):253–60.

- DuHamel KN, Mosher CE, Winkel G, et al. Randomized clinical trial of telephoneadministered cognitive-behavioral therapy to reduce post-traumatic stress disorder and distress symptoms after hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(23):3754–61.
- Johnson AJ, Marcus J, Hickman K, et al. Anxiety reduction among breast-cancer survivors receiving hypnotic relaxation therapy for hot flashes. Int J Clin Exp Hypn. 2016;64(4):377–90.
- 49. Post KE, Flanagan J. Web based survivorship interventions for women with breast cancer: an integrative review. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2016;25:90–9.
- Biglia N, Bounous VE, Susini T, Pecchio S, Sgro LG, Tuninetti V, Torta R. Duloxetine and escitalopram for hot flushes: efficacy and compliance in breast cancer survivors. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2018;27(1)
- Haque R, Shi J, Schottinger JE, et al. Tamoxifen and antidepressant drug interaction in a cohort of 16,887 breast cancer survivors. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2016;108(3)
- Lavigne JE, Heckler C, Mathews JL, et al. A randomized, controlled, double-blinded clinical trial of gabapentin 300 versus 900 mg versus placebo for anxiety symptoms in breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;136(2):479–86.
- Coomans MB, van der Linden SD, Gehring K, Taphoorn MJB. Treatment of cognitive deficits in brain tumour patients: current status and future directions. Curr Opin Oncol. 2019;31(6):540–7.
- 54. Joly F, Giffard B, Rigal O, et al. Impact of cancer and its treatments on cognitive function: advances in research from the Paris International Cognition and Cancer Task Force Symposium and update since 2012. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2015;50(6):830–41.
- 55. Ahles TA, Root JC, Ryan EL. Cancer- and cancer treatment-associated cognitive change: an update on the state of the science. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(30):3675–86.
- 56. Deprez S, Kesler SR, Saykin AJ, et al. International cognition and cancer task force recommendations for neuroimaging methods in the study of cognitive impairment in non-CNS cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2018;110(3):223–31.
- 57. Wefel JS, Vardy J, Ahles T, Schagen SB. International Cognition and Cancer Task Force recommendations to harmonise studies of cognitive function in patients with cancer. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(7):703–8.
- Lange M, Licaj I, Clarisse B, et al. Cognitive complaints in cancer survivors and expectations for support: results from a web-based survey. Cancer Med. 2019;8(5):2654–63.
- 59. Ganz PA, Kwan L, Castellon SA, et al. Cognitive complaints after breast cancer treatments: examining the relationship with neuropsychological test performance. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013;105(11):791–801.
- Winocur G, Johnston I, Castel H. Chemotherapy and cognition: international cognition and cancer task force recommendations for harmonising preclinical research. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;69:72–83.
- Lange M, Joly F, Vardy J, Ahles T, Dubois M, Tron L, Winocur G, De Ruiter MB, Castel H. Cancer-related cognitive impairment: an update on state of the art, detection, and management strategies in cancer survivors. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(12):1925–40.
- Dhillon HM, Tannock IF, Pond GR, et al. Perceived cognitive impairment in people with colorectal cancer who do and do not receive chemotherapy. J Cancer Surviv. 2018;12(2):178–85.
- 63. Pullens MJ, De VJ, Van Warmerdam LJ, et al. Chemotherapy and cognitive complaints in women with breast cancer. Psychooncology. 2013;22(8):1783–9.
- 64. Ng T, Dorajoo SR, Cheung YT, et al. Distinct and heterogeneous trajectories of selfperceived cognitive impairment among Asian Breast Cancer Survivors. Psychooncology. 2018;27(4):1185–92.
- Bray VJ, Dhillon HM, Vardy JL. Systematic review of self-reported cognitive function in cancer patients following chemotherapy treatment. J Cancer Surviv. 2018;12(4):537–59.
- 66. Li M, Caeyenberghs K. Longitudinal assessment of chemotherapy-induced changes in brain and cognitive functioning: a systematic review. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2018;92:304–17.

- 67. Apple AC, SchroederMP RAJ, et al. Hippocampal functional connectivity is related to self-reported cognitive concerns in breast cancer patients undergoing adjuvant therapy. Neuroimage Clin. 2018;20:110–8.
- Menning S, de Ruiter MB, Veltman DJ, et al. Changes in brain activation in breast cancer patients depend on cognitive domain and treatment type. PLoS One. 2017;12(3):e0171724.
- 69. King S, Green HJ. Psychological intervention for improving cognitive function in cancer survivors: a literature review and randomized controlled trial. Front Oncol. 2015;5:72.
- Karschnia P, Parsons MW, Dietrich J. Pharmacologic management of cognitive impairment induced by cancer therapy. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(2):e92–e102.
- 71. https://www.iasp-pain.org/PublicationsNews/NewsDetail.aspx?ItemNumber=10475. Accessed 1 Jan 2021.
- 72. Paice JA. Chronic treatment-related pain in cancer survivors. Pain. 2011;152:S84-9.
- Van den Beuken-van Everdingen MH, Hochstenbach LM, Joosten EA, et al. Update on prevalence of pain in patients with cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2016;51:1070–90.
- 74. Schreiber KL, Martel MO, Shnol H, et al. Persistent pain in postmastectomy patients: comparison of psychophysical, medical, surgical, and psychosocial characteristics between patients with and without pain. Pain. 2013;154:660–8.
- Katz J, Seltzer Z. Transition from acute to chronic postsurgical pain: risk factors and protective factors. Expert Rev Neurother. 2009;9:723–44.
- 76. Macrae WA. Chronic post-surgical pain: 10 years on. Br J Anaesth. 2008;101:77-86.
- 77. Wallace MS, Wallace AM, Lee J, et al. Pain after breast surgery: a survey of 282 women. Pain. 1996;66:195–205.
- Maunsell E, Brisson J, Deschenes L. Arm problems and psychological distress after surgery for breast cancer. Can J Surg. 1993;36:315–20.
- 79. Dropcho EJ. Neurotoxicity of radiation therapy. Neurol Clin. 2010;28:217-34.
- Glare P, Davies P, Finlay E, Gulati A, Lemanne D, Moryl N, Oeffinger K, Paice J, Stubblefield D, Syrjala K. Pain in cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(16):1739–47.
- 81. Niravath P. Aromatase inhibitor-induced arthralgia: a review. Ann Oncol. 2013;24:1443–9.
- 82. Mao JJ, Stricker C, Bruner D, et al. Patterns and risk factors associated with aromatase inhibitor-related arthralgia among breast cancer survivors. Cancer. 2009;115:3631–9.
- 83. Friedrichs B, Tichelli A, Bacigalupo A, et al. Long-term outcome and late effects in patients transplanted with mobilised blood or bone marrow: a randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11:331–8.
- 84. American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Chronic Pain Management, American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine. Practice guidelines for chronic pain management: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Chronic Pain Management and the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine. Anesthesiology. 2010;112:810–33.
- Noble M, Tregear SJ, Treadwell JR, Schoelles K. Long-term opioid therapy for chronic noncancer pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of efficacy and safety. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2008;35(2):214–28.
- Von Korff M, Merrill JO, Rutter CM, et al. Time-scheduled vs. pain-contingent opioid dosing in chronic opioid therapy. Pain. 2011;152:1256–62.
- Fernandez-Lao C, Cantarero-Villanueva I, Fernández-De-Las-Peñas C, et al. Effectiveness of a multidimensional physical therapy program on pain, pressure hypersensitivity, and trigger points in breast cancer survivors: a randomized controlled clinical trial. Clin J Pain. 2012;28:113–21.
- Allen RJ. Physical agents used in the management of chronic pain by physical therapists. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2006;17:315–45.
- Kalron A, Bar-Sela S. A systematic review of the effectiveness of Kinesio Taping(R)—fact or fashion? Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2013;49:699–709.

- Winters-Stone KM, Horak F, Jacobs PG, et al. Falls, functioning, and disability among women with persistent symptoms of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35:2604–12.
- 91. Hershman DL, Till C, Wright JD, et al. Comorbidities and risk of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy among participants 65 years or older in Southwest Oncology Group Clinical Trials. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:3014–22.
- 92. Jordan K, Feyer P, Holler U, et al. Supportive treatments for patients with cancer. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2017;114:481–7.
- Molassiotis A, Cheng HL, Leung KT, et al. Risk factors for chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy in patients receiving taxane- and platinum-based chemotherapy. Brain Behav. 2019;9:e01312.
- 94. Johnson C, Pankratz VS, Velazquez AI, et al. Candidate pathway-based genetic association study of platinum and platinum-taxane related toxicity in a cohort of primary lung cancer patients. J Neurol Sci. 2015;349:124–8.
- 95. Brydoy M, Oldenburg J, Klepp O, et al. Observational study of prevalence of long-term Raynaud-like phenomena and neurological side effects in testicular cancer survivors. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2009;101:1682–95.
- Argyriou AA, Bruna J, Genazzani AA, Cavaletti G. Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neurotoxicity: management informed by pharmacogenetics. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13:492–504.
- 97. Jordan B, Margulies A, Cardoso F, Cavaletti G, Haugnes HS, Jahn P, Le Rhun E, Preusser M, Scotté F, Taphoorn MJB, Jordan K. Systemic anticancer therapy-induced peripheral and central neurotoxicity: ESMO–EONS–EANO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, prevention, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(10):1306–19.
- 98. Tofthagen C, Visovsky CM, Hopgood R. Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: an algorithm to guide nursing management. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2013;17:138–44.
- Khalil M, Teunissen CE, Otto M, et al. Neurofilaments as biomarkers in neurological disorders. Nat Rev Neurol. 2018;14:577–89.
- 100. https://ctep.cancer.gov/protocoldevelopment/electronic_applications/docs/CTCAE_v5_ Quick_Reference_5x7.pdf. Accessed 25 Jan 2021.
- Griffiths C, Kwon N, Beaumont JL, Paice JA. Cold therapy to prevent paclitaxel-induced peripheral neuropathy. Support Care Cancer. 2018;26:3461–9.
- 102. Beijers AJM, Bonhof CS, Mols F, et al. Multicenter randomized controlled trial to evaluate the efficacy and tolerability of frozen gloves for the prevention of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy. Ann Oncol. 2020;31:131–6.
- 103. Tsuyuki S, Senda N, Kanng Y, et al. Evaluation of the effect of compression therapy using surgical gloves on nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel-induced peripheral neuropathy: a phase II multicenter study by the Kamigata Breast Cancer Study Group. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2016;160:61–7.
- 104. Kleckner IR, Kamen C, Gewandter JS, et al. Effects of exercise during chemotherapy on chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: a multicenter, randomized controlled trial. Support Care Cancer. 2018;26:1019–28.
- 105. Smith EM, Pang H, Cirrincione C, et al. Effect of duloxetine on pain, function, and quality of life among patients with chemotherapy-induced painful peripheral neuropathy: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2013;309:1359–67.
- 106. Durand JP, Deplanque G, Montheil V, et al. Efficacy of venlafaxine for the prevention and relief of oxaliplatin-induced acute neurotoxicity: results of EFFOX, a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled phase III trial. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:200–5.
- 107. Finnerup NB, Attal N, Haroutounian S, et al. Pharmacotherapy for neuropathic pain in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14:162–73.
- Fallon MT, Storey DJ, Krishan A, et al. Cancer treatment-related neuropathic pain: proof of concept study with menthol—a TRPM8 agonist. Support Care Cancer. 2015;23:2769–77.
- 109. Simpson DM, Robinson-Papp J, Van J, et al. Capsaicin 8% patch in painful diabetic peripheral neuropathy: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Pain. 2017;18:42–53.

- 110. Hutcheson KA, Nurgalieva Z, Zhao H, et al. Two-year prevalence of dysphagia and related outcomes in head and neck cancer survivors: an updated SEER-Medicare analysis. Head Neck. 2019;41(2):479–87.
- 111. Hutcheson KA, Bhayani MK, Beadle BM, Gold KA, Shinn EH, Lai SY, et al. Eat and exercise during radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy for pharyngeal cancers: use it or lose it. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2013;139(11):1127–34.
- 112. van Gogh CDL, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Langendijk JA, Kuik DJ, Mahieu HF. Long-term efficacy of voice therapy in patients with voice problems after treatment of early glottic cancer. J Voice. 2012;26(3):398–401.
- Jotic A, Stankovic P, Jesic S, Milovanovic J, Stojanovic M, Djukic V. Voice quality after treatment of early glottic carcinoma. J Voice. 2012;26(3):381–9.
- 114. Brosky ME. The role of saliva in oral health: strategies for prevention and management of xerostomia. J Support Oncol. 2007;5:215–25.
- 115. Duncan GG, Epstein JB, Tu D, et al. Quality of life, mucositis, and xerostomia from radiotherapy for head and neck cancers: a report from the NCIC CTG HN2 randomized trial of an antimicrobial lozenge to prevent mucositis. Head Neck. 2005;27:421–8.
- Hopcraft MS, Tan C. Xerostomia: an update for clinicians. Aust Dent J. 2010;55:238–44; quiz 353.
- 117. Epstein JB, Thariat J, Bensadoun RJ, Barasch A, Murphy BA, Kolnick L, Popplewell L, Maghami E. Oral complications of cancer and cancer therapy: from cancer treatment to survivorship. CA Cancer J Clin. 2012;62(6):400–22.
- 118. Cassolato SF, Turnbull RS. Xerostomia: clinical aspects and treatment. Gerodontology. 2003;20:64–77.
- 119. Friedman PK, Isfeld D. Xerostomia: the "invisible" oral health condition. J Mass Dent Soc. 2008;57:42–4.
- 120. Nagler RM, Nagler A. Pilocarpine hydrochloride relieves xerostomia in chronic graft-versushost disease: a sialometrical study. Bone Marrow Transplant. 1999;23:1007–11.
- 121. Chambers MS, Jones CU, Biel MA, et al. Open-label, long-term safety study of cevimeline in the treatment of postirradiation xerostomia. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;69:1369–76.
- 122. Chambers MS, Posner M, Jones CU, et al. Cevimeline for the treatment of postirradiation xerostomia in patients with head and neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68:1102–9.
- 123. Peterson DE, Doerr W, Hovan A, et al. Osteoradionecrosis in cancer patients: the evidence base for treatment-dependent frequency, current management strategies, and future studies. Support Care Cancer. 2010;18:1089–98.
- Migliorati CA, Woo SB, Hewson I, et al. A systematic review of bisphosphonate osteonecrosis (BON) in cancer. Support Care Cancer. 2010;18:1099–106.
- 125. Epstein JB, Rea G, Wong FL, Spinelli J, Stevenson-Moore P. Osteonecrosis: study of the relationship of dental extractions in patients receiving radiotherapy. Head Neck Surg. 1987;10:48–54.
- Epstein JB, Wong FL, Stevenson-Moore P. Osteoradionecrosis: clinical experience and a proposal for classification. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1987;45:104–10.
- 127. Delanian S, Chatel C, Porcher R, Depondt J, Lefaix JL. Complete restoration of refractory mandibular osteoradionecrosis by prolonged treatment with a pentoxifylline tocopherolclodronate combination (PENTOCLO): a phase II trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;80:832–9.
- Fritz GW, Gunsolley JC, Abubaker O, Laskin DM. Efficacy of pre- and postirradiation hyperbaric oxygen therapy in the prevention of postextraction osteoradionecrosis: a systematic review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;68:2653–60.
- 129. Epstein J, van der Meij E, McKenzie M, Wong F, Stevenson-Moore P. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1996;81:265–6.
- Teng MS, Futran ND. Osteoradionecrosis of the mandible. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2005;13:217–21.

- 131. Tomita H, Ohtuka K. Taste disturbance after tonsillectomy. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl. 2002;546:164–72.
- 132. Kveton JF, Bartoshuk LM. The effect of unilateral chorda tympani damage on taste. Laryngoscope. 1994;104(1 pt 1):25–9.
- 133. Ripamonti C, Fulfaro F. Taste alterations in cancer patients. J Pain Symptom Manag. 1998;16:349–51.
- 134. Nelson GM. Biology of taste buds and the clinical problem of taste loss. Anat Rec. 1998;253:70-8.
- 135. Comeau TB, Epstein JB, Migas C. Taste and smell dysfunction in patients receiving chemotherapy: a review of current knowledge. Support Care Cancer. 2001;9:575–80.
- 136. Imanguli MM, Pavletic SZ, Guadagnini JP, Brahim JS, Atkinson JC. Chronic graft versus host disease of oral mucosa: review of available therapies. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;101:175–83.
- 137. Yamashita H, Nakagawa K, Hosoi Y, et al. Umami taste dysfunction in patients receiving radiotherapy for head and neck cancer. Oral Oncol. 2009;45:e19–23.
- 138. Mott AE, Grushka M, Sessle BJ. Diagnosis and management of taste disorders and burning mouth syndrome. Dent Clin N Am. 1993;37:33–71.
- 139. Peregrin T. Improving taste sensation in patients who have undergone chemotherapy or radiation therapy. J Am Diet Assoc. 2006;106:1536–40.
- 140. Ruo Redda MG, Allis S. Radiotherapy-induced taste impairment. Cancer Treat Rev. 2006;32:541–7.
- 141. Brisbois TD, de Kock IH, Watanabe SM, et al. Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol may palliate altered chemosensory perception in cancer patients: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot trial. Ann Oncol. 2011;22:2086–93.
- 142. Jewett A, Head C, Cacalano NA. Emerging mechanisms of immunosuppression in oral cancers. J Dent Res. 2006;85:1061–73. 242.
- 143. Hall SF, Rochon PA, Streiner DL, Paszat LF, Groome PA, Rohland SL. Measuring comorbidity in patients with head and neck cancer. Laryngoscope. 2002;112:1988–96.
- 144. Feen Rønjom M. Radiation-induced hypothyroidism after treatment of head and neck cancer. Dan Med J. 2016;63(3):B5213.
- Mayo Clinic: Lymphedema definition. http://www.mayoclinic.com/health/lymphedema/ DS00609. Accessed 21 Jan 2021.
- 146. Honnor A. Classification, aetiology and nursing management of lymphoedema. Br J Nurs. 2008;17:576–86.
- 147. Passik SD, McDonald MV. Psychosocial aspects of upper extremity lymphedema in women treated for breast carcinoma. Cancer. 1998;83:2817–20.
- 148. Paskett ED, Dean JA, Oliveri JM, Harrop JP. Cancer-related lymphedema risk factors, diagnosis, treatment, and impact: a review. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(30):3726–33.
- Armer JM, Stewart BR. A comparison of four diagnostic criteria for lymphedema in a postbreast cancer population. Lymphat Res Biol. 2005;3:208–17.
- 150. Sagen A, Kåresen R, Skaane P, et al. Validity for the simplified water displacement instrument to measure arm lymphedema as a result of breast cancer surgery. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2009;90:803–9.
- 151. Ter SE, Alavi A, Kim CK, et al. Lymphoscintigraphy: a reliable test for the diagnosis of lymphedema. Clin Nucl Med. 1993;18:646–54.
- 152. Stanton AW, Northfield JW, Holroyd B, et al. Validation of an optoelectronic limb volumeter (perometer). Lymphology. 1997;30:77–97.
- 153. Shah C, Vicini FA. Breast cancer-related arm lymphedema: incidence rates, diagnostic techniques, optimal management and risk reduction strategies. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81:907–14.
- 154. Gary DE. Lymphedema diagnosis and management. J Am Acad Nurse Pract. 2007;19:72-8.
- 155. Bruns F, Micke O, Bremer M. Current status of selenium and other treatments for secondary lymphedema. J Support Oncol. 2003;1:121–30.

- 156. Zimmermann T, Leonhardt H, Kersting S, et al. Reduction of postoperative lymphedema after oral tumor surgery with sodium selenite. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2005;106:193–203.
- 157. Cormier JN, Askew RL, Mungovan KS, et al. Lymphedema beyond breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cancer-related secondary lymphedema. Cancer. 2010;116:5138–49.
- 158. Campisi C, Eretta C, Pertile D, et al. Microsurgery for treatment of peripheral lymphedema: long-term outcome and future perspectives. Microsurgery. 2007;27:333–8.
- 159. Pinter AB, Hock A, Kajtar P, et al. Long-term follow-up of cancer in neonates and infants: a national survey of 142 patients. Pediatr Surg Int. 2003;19:233–9.
- 160. Lacouture ME, Basti S, Patel J, et al. The SERIES clinic: an interdisciplinary approach to the management of toxicities of EGFR inhibitors. J Support Oncol. 2006;4:236–8.
- Robert C, Soria JC, Spatz A, et al. Cutaneous side-effects of kinase inhibitors and blocking antibodies. Lancet Oncol. 2005;6:491–500.
- 162. https://www.cancernetwork.com/view/dermatologic-challenges-cancer-patients-andsurvivors. Assessed 21 Jan 2021.
- 163. Lacouture ME, Sibaud V, Gerber PA, van den Hurk C, Fernández-Peñas P, Santini D, Jahn F, Jordan K. Prevention and management of dermatological toxicities related to anticancer agents: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines. Ann Oncol. 2021;32(2):157–70.
- 164. Minkis K, Garden BC, Wu S, et al. The risk of rash associated with ipilimumab in patients with cancer: a systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2013;69:e121–8.
- 165. Belum VR, Benhuri B, Postow MA, et al. Characterisation and management of dermatologic adverse events to agents targeting the PD-1 receptor. Eur J Cancer. 2016;60:12–25.
- Collins LK, Chapman MS, Carter JB, et al. Cutaneous adverse effects of the immune checkpoint inhibitors. Curr Probl Cancer. 2017;41:125–8.
- 167. Haanen JBAG, Carbonnel F, Robert C, Kerr KM, Peters S, Larkin J, Jordan K, ESMO Guidelines Committee. Management of toxicities from immunotherapy: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(suppl_4):iv119–42.
- Wyatt AJ, Leonard GD, Sachs DL. Cutaneous reactions to chemotherapy and their management. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2006;7:45–63.
- 169. Rajesh K, Vishaka P. Bleomycin induced flagellate pigmentation. Indian Pediatr. 2006;43:74–5.
- 170. Cleveland MG, Ajaikumar BS, Reganti R. Cutaneous fibrosis induced by docetaxel: a case report. Cancer. 2000;88:1078–81.
- 171. Kontochristopoulos G, Stefanaki C, Panagiotopoulos A, et al. Intralesional 5-fluorouracil in the treatment of keloids: an open clinical and histopathologic study. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2005;52:474–9.
- 172. Paus R, Haslam IS, Sharov AA, et al. Pathobiology of chemotherapy-induced hair loss. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14:50–9.
- 173. Freites-Martinez A, Shapiro J, Chan D, et al. Endocrine therapy-induced alopecia in patients with breast cancer. JAMA Dermatol. 2018;154:670–5.
- 174. Ruiz-Genao DP, Cardoba S, Garcia-F-Villalta MJ, et al. Post-radiotherapy telangiectasias. Treatment with pulsed-dye laser. Sequential histological studies. Actas Dermosifiliogr. 2006;97:345–7.
- 175. Fogarty GB, Bayne M, Bedford P, et al. Three cases of activation of cutaneous squamous-cell carcinoma during treatment with prolonged administration of rituximab. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2006;18:155–6.
- 176. Perng DW, Chen CH, Lee YC, et al. Cutaneous metastasis of lung cancer: an ominous prognostic sign. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi (Taipei). 1996;57:343–7.
- 177. Peterson JL, McMarlin SL. Metastatic renal cell carcinoma presenting as a cutaneous horn. J Dermatol Surg Oncol. 1983;9:815–8.
- 178. Sanli H, Ekmekasi P, Arat M, et al. Clinical manifestations of cutaneous graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic haematopoietic cell transplantation: long-term follow-up results in a single Turkish centre. Acta Derm Venereol. 2004;84:296–301.

- 179. Huang J, Pol-Rodriguez M, Silvers D, et al. Acquired ichthyosis as a manifestation of acute cutaneous graft-versus-host disease. Pediatr Dermatol. 2007;24:49–52.
- Hudson MM, Ness KK, Gurney JG, et al. Clinical ascertainment of health outcomes among adults treated for childhood cancer. JAMA. 2013;309:2371.
- 181. Mulder RL, Thönissen NM, van der Pal HJ, et al. Pulmonary function impairment measured by pulmonary function tests in long-term survivors of childhood cancer. Thorax. 2011;66:1065.
- Haugnes HS, Aass N, Fossa SD, et al. Pulmonary function in long-term survivors of testicular cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:2779.
- 183. Feinstein B, Krebs P, Park B, et al. Current dyspnea among long-term survivors of early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2010;5:1221.
- 184. Nugent AM, Steele IC, Carragher AM, et al. Effect of thoracotomy and lung resection on exercise capacity in patients with lung cancer. Thorax. 1999;54:34–8.
- Bolliger CT, Jordan P, Soler M, et al. Pulmonary function and exercise capacity after lung resection. Eur Respir J. 1996;9:415–21.
- Abid SH, Mahotra V, Perry MC. Radiation-induced and chemotherapy-induced pulmonary injury. Curr Opin Oncol. 2001;13:242.
- 187. Sleijfer D. Bleomycin-induced pneumonitis. Chest. 2001;120:617.
- 188. Limper AH. Clin Chest Med. 2004;25:53.
- Armstrong GT, Liu Q, Yasui Y, et al. Late mortality among 5-year survivors of childhood cancer: a summary from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:2328.
- Lorigan P, Radford J, Howell A, Thatcher N. Lung cancer after treatment for Hodgkin's lymphoma: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol. 2005;6:773.
- Roychoudhuri R, Evans H, Robinson D, Moller H. Radiation-induced malignancies following radiotherapy for breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2004;91:868.
- 192. Patriarca F, Skert C, Bonifazi F, et al. Effect on survival of the development of late-onset noninfectious pulmonary complications after stem cell transplantation. Hema. 2006;91:1268.
- Williams KM, Chien JW, Gladwin MT, Pavletic SZ. Bronchiolitis obliterans after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. JAMA. 2009;302:306.
- 194. Dudek AZ, Mahaseh H, DeFor TE, Weisdorf DJ. Bronchiolitis obliterans in chronic graftversus-host disease: analysis of risk factors and treatment outcomes. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2003;9:657.
- 195. Hidebrandt GC, Fazekas T, Lawitschka A, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary chronic GVHD: report from the consensus conference on clinical practice in chronic GVHD. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2011;46:1283.
- 196. Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Griese M, Madtes DK, et al. An official American Thoracic Society research statement: non-infectious lung injury after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: idiopathic pneumonia syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183:1262.
- 197. Tizon R, Frey N, Heitjan DF, et al. High-dose corticosteroids with or without etanercept for the treatment of idiopathic pneumonia syndrome after allo-SCT. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2012;47:332.
- 198. Armenian SH, Xu L, Ky B, et al. Cardiovascular disease among survivors of adult-onset cancer: a community-based retrospective cohort study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:1122.
- 199. Bates JE, Howell RM, Liu Q, et al. Therapy-related cardiac risk in childhood cancer survivors: an analysis of the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37:1090.
- Armstrong GT, Oeffinger KC, Chen Y, et al. Modifiable risk factors and major cardiac events among adult survivors of childhood cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:3673.
- Sagstuen H, Aass N, Fossa SD, et al. Blood pressure and body mass index in long-term survivors of testicular cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:4980.
- 202. Haugnes HS, Wethal T, Aass N, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors and morbidity in long-term survivors of testicular cancer: a 20-year follow-up study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:4649.
- 203. Amir E, Seruga B, Niraula S, et al. Toxicity of adjuvant endocrine therapy in postmenopausal breast cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2011;103:1299.

- 204. Goss PE, Ingle JN, Pritchard KI, et al. Exemestane versus anastrozole in postmenopausal women with breast cancer: NCIC CTG MA.27—a randomized controlled phase III trial. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:1398.
- 205. Blaser BW, Kim HT, Alyea EP 3rd, et al. Hyperlipidemia and statin use after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2012;18:575.
- 206. Kintzel PE, Chase SL, Schultz LM, O'Brourke T. Increased risk of metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease in men receiving androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. Pharmacotherapy. 2008;28:1511.
- 207. Mulrooney DA, Yeazel MW, Kawashima T, et al. Cardiac outcomes in a cohort of adult survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer: retrospective analysis of the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study cohort. BMJ. 2009;339:b4606.
- Hull MC, Morris CG, Pepine CJ, Mendenhall NP. Valvular dysfunction and carotid, subclavian, and coronary artery disease in survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma treated with radiation therapy. JAMA. 2003;290:2831.
- Armenian SH, Lacchetti C, Barac A, et al. Prevention and monitoring of cardiac dysfunction in survivors of adult cancer: American Society of clinical oncology clinical practise guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35:893.
- 210. Galper SL, Yu JB, Mauch PM, et al. Clinically significant cardiac disease in patients with Hodgkin lymphoma treated with mediastinal irradiation. Blood. 2011;117:412.
- 211. Strongman H, Gadd S, Matthews A, et al. Medium and long-term risks of specific cardiovascular diseases in survivors of 20 adult cancers: a population-based cohort study using multiple linked UK electronic health records databases. Lancet. 2019;394:1041.
- 212. Mulrooney DA, Armstrong GT, Huang S, et al. Outcomes in adult survivors of childhood cancer exposed to cardiotoxic therapy: a cross-sectional study. Ann Intern Med. 2016;164:93.
- 213. Swain SM, Whaley FS, Ewer MS. Congestive heart failure in patients treated with doxorubicin: a retrospective analysis of three trials. Cancer. 2003;97:2869.
- 214. Onitilo AA, Engel JM, Stankowski RV. Cardiovascular toxicity associated with adjuvant trastuzumab therapy: prevalance, patient characteristics, and risk factors. Ther Adv Drug Saf. 2014;5:154.
- Telli ML, Witteles RM. Review Trastuzumab-related cardiac dysfunction. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2011;9(2):243–9.
- 216. Cardinale D, Colombo A, Lamantia G, et al. Anthracycline-induced cardiomyopathy: clinical relevance and response to pharmacologic therapy. J Am Cardiol. 2010;55:213.
- 217. Armenian SH, Hudson MM, Mulder RL, et al. International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group. Recommendations for cardiomyopathy surveillance for survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:e123–36.
- 218. Puurunen MK, Gona PN, Larson MG, et al. Epidemiology of venous thromboembolism in the Framingham Heart Study. Thromb Res. 2016;145:27–33.
- 219. Turpie AGG, Haas S, Weitz JI, et al. GARFIELD-VTE: 6-month outcomes. Res Pract Thromb Haemost. 2017;1:1–15.
- 220. Khorana AA, Francis CW, Culakova E, et al. Thromboembolism is a leading cause of death in cancer patients receiving outpatient chemotherapy. J Thromb Haemost. 2007;5:632–4.
- 221. Kahn SR, Solymoss S, Lamping DL, Abenhaim L. Long-term outcomes after deep vein thrombosis: postphlebitic syndrome and quality of life. J Gen Intern Med. 2000;15(6):425–9.
- 222. Brandjes DPM, Buller HR, Heijboer H. Randomised trial of effect of compression stockings in patients with symptomatic proximal-vein thrombosis. Lancet. 1997;349:759–62.
- 223. Kahn SR, Hirsch AM, Akaberi A, et al. Functional and exercise limitations after a first episode of pulmonary embolism. Results of the ELOPE Prospective Cohort Study. Chest. 2018;151:1058.
- 224. Noble S, Lewis R, Whithers J, et al. Long-term psychological consequences of symptomatic pulmonary embolism: a qualitative study. BMJ Open. 2014;4:e004561.

- 225. Armenian SH, Robison LL. Childhood cancer survivorship: an update on evolving paradigms for understanding pathogenesis and screening for therapy-related late effects. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2013;25:16–22.
- Chemaitilly W, Sklar CA. Endocrine complications in long-term survivors of childhood cancers. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2010;17:R141–59.
- 227. Jereczek-Fossa BA, Alterio D, Jassem J, et al. Radiotherapy-induced thyroid disorders. Cancer Treat Rev. 2004;30:369–84.
- 228. Ronjom MF. Radiation-induced hypothyroidism after treatment of head and neck cancer. Dan Med J. 2016;63:B5215.
- 229. Burney BO, Garcia JM. Hypogonadism in male cancer patients. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2012;3(3):149–55.
- 230. Tisdale MJ. Cachexia in cancer patients. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2(11):862-71.
- 231. Howell SJ, Radford JA, Ryder WD, Shalet SM. Testicular function after cytotoxic chemotherapy: evidence of Leydig cell insufficiency. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:1493–8.
- 232. Smiechowska J, Utech A, Taffet G, et al. Adipokines in patients with cancer anorexia and cachexia. J Investig Med. 2010;58(3):554–9.
- 233. Chan JL, Heist K, DePaoli AM, et al. The role of falling leptin levels in the neuroendocrine and metabolic adaptation to short-term starvation in healthy men. J Clin Invest. 2003;111(9):1409–21.
- 234. Garcia JM, Li H, Mann D, et al. Hypogonadism in male patients with cancer. Cancer. 2006;106(12):2583–91.
- 235. Pimpinelli F, Parenti M, Guzzi F, et al. Presence of delta opioid receptors on a subset of hypothalamic gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons. Brain Res. 2006;1070:15–23.
- Wilson CL, Dilley K, Ness KK, et al. Fractures among long-term survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Cancer. 2012;118:5920–8.
- 237. Ramaswamy B, Shapiro CL. Osteopenia and osteoporosis in women with breast cancer. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(6):763–75.
- 238. Lee CE, Leslie WD, Czaykowski P, et al. A comprehensive bone-health management approach for men with prostate cancer receiving androgen deprivation therapy. Curr Oncol. 2011;18(4):e163–72.
- Chow EJ, Friedman DL, Yasui Y, et al. Decreased adult height in survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Pediatr. 2007;150(4):370–5.e1.
- Meacham LR, Chow EJ, Ness KK, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors in adult survivors of pediatric cancer—a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2010;19:170–81.
- Bedoschi G, Navarro PA, Oktay K. Chemotherapy-induced damage to ovary: mechanisms and clinical impact. Future Oncol. 2016;12(20):2333–44.
- 242. Diller L, Chow EJ, Gurney JG, et al. Chronic disease in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study cohort: a review of published findings. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(14):2339–55.
- 243. Behringer K, Mueller H, Goergen H, Thielen I, Eibl AD, Stumpf V, et al. Gonadal function and fertility in survivors after Hodgkin lymphoma treatment within the German Hodgkin Study Group HD13 to HD15 trials. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(2):231–9.
- 244. Lambertini M, Goldrat O, Clatot F, Demeestere I, Awada A. Controversies about fertility and pregnancy issues in young breast cancer patients: current state of the art. Curr Opin Oncol. 2017;29(4):243–52.
- 245. Ntemou E, Alexandri C, Lybaert P, et al. Oncofertility: pharmacological protection and Immature Testicular Tissue (ITT)-based strategies for prepubertal and adolescent male cancer patients. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20:5223.
- Letourneau JM, Melisko ME, Cedars MI, Rosen MP. A changing perspective: improving access to fertility preservation. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2012;8(1):56–60.
- 247. Schover LR. Premature ovarian failure and its consequences: vasomotor symptoms, sexuality, and fertility. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:753.
- 248. Falk SJ, Dizon DS. Sexual dysfunction in women with cancer. Fertil Steril. 2013;100:916.

- Baumgart J, Nilsson K, Evers AS, et al. Sexual dysfunction in women on adjuvant endocrine therapy after breast cancer. Menopause. 2013;20:162.
- 250. Cella D, Yount S, Rothrock N, et al. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS): progress of an NIH Roadmap cooperative group during its first two years. Med Care. 2007;45:S3.
- 251. Plym A, Folkvaljon Y, Garmo H, et al. Drug prescription for erectile dysfunction before and after diagnosis of localized prostate cancer. J Sex Med. 2014;11:2100.
- 252. McCullough AR, Hellstrom WG, Wang R, et al. Recovery of erectile function after nerve sparing radical prostatectomy and penile rehabilitation with nightly intraurethral alprostadil versus sildenafil citrate. J Urol. 2010;183:2451.
- 253. Abayomi J, Kirwan J, Hackett A. The prevalence of chronic radiation enteritis following radiotherapy for cervical or endometrial cancer and its impact on quality of life. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2009;13:262–7.
- 254. Goldsby R, Chen Y, Raber s, et al. Survivors of childhood cancer have increased risk for gastrointestinal complications later in life. Gastroenterology. 2011;140:1464–71.
- 255. Muls AC, Watson L, Shaw C, Andreyev HJN. Managing gastrointestinal symptoms after cancer treatment: a practical approach for gastroenterologists. Frontline Gastroenterol. 2013;4(1):57–68.
- 256. Berg P, McCallum R. Dumping syndrome: a review of the current concepts of pathophysiology, diagnosis, and treatment. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:11.
- 257. Andreyev HJ, Davidson SE, Gillespie C, et al. Practice guidance on the management of acute and chronic gastrointestinal problems arising as a result of treatment for cancer. Gut. 2012;61(2):179–92.
- 258. Benton B, Norton C, Lindsay J, et al. Can nurses manage gastrointestinal symptoms arising from pelvic radiation disease? Clin Oncol. 2011;23:538–51.
- Ramsey SD, Berry K, Moinpour C, et al. Quality of life in long term survivors of colorectal cancer. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002;97:1228.
- Coia LR, Myerson RJ, Tepper JE. Late effects of radiation therapy on the gastrointestinal tract. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;31:1213–36.
- 261. Peeters KC, van de Velde CJ, Leer JW, et al. Late side effects of short-course preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for rectal cancer: increased bowel dysfunction in irradiated patients—a Dutch colorectal cancer group study. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:6199.
- 262. Guren MG, Eriksen MT, Wiig JN, et al. Quality of life and functional outcome following anterior or abdominoperineal resection for rectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2005;31:735.
- 263. Rombouts AJM, Hugen N, Elferink MAG, et al. Increased risk for second primary rectal cancer after pelvic radiation therapy. Eur J Cancer. 2020;124:142.
- 264. Katepratoom C, Manchana T, Amornwichet N. Lower urinary tract dysfunction and quality of life in cervical cancer survivors after concurrent chemoradiation versus radical hysterectomy. Int Urogynecol J. 2014;25:91.
- 265. Denton AS, Clarke NW, Maher EJ. Non-surgical interventions for late radiation cystitis in patients who have received radical radiotherapy to the pelvis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2002;2002:CD001773.
- 266. Korkmaz A, Topal T, Oter S. Pathophysiological aspects of cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide induced hemorrhagic cystitis; implication of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species as well as PARP activation. Cell Biol Toxicol. 2007;23:303.
- Mendenhall WM, Henderson RH, Costa JA, et al. Hemorrhagic radiation cystitis. Am J Clin Oncol. 2015;38:331.
- 268. Inokuchi H, Mizowaki T, Norihisa Y, et al. Correlation between urinary dose and delayed radiation cystitis after 78 Gy intensity-modulated radiotherapy for high-risk prostate cancer: a 10-year follow-up study of genitourinary toxicity in clinical practice. Clin Transl Radiat Oncol. 2017;6:31.
- 269. Pascoe C, Duncan C, Lamb BW, et al. Current management of radiation cystitis: a review and practical guide to clinical management. BJU Int. 2019;123(4):585–94.

- Linder BJ, Tarrell RF, Boorjian SA. Cystectomy for refractory hemorrhagic cystitis: contemporary etiology, presentation and outcomes. J Urol. 2014;192:1687–92.
- Jerkins GR, Noe HN, Hill D. Treatment of complications of cyclophosphamide cystitis. J Urol. 1988;139(5):923–5.
- 272. Mangar SA, Foo K, Norman A, et al. Evaluating the effect of reducing the high-dose volume on the toxicity of radiotherapy in the treatment of bladder cancer. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2006;18(6):466–73.
- 273. Pieters RS, Niemierko A, Fullerton BC, Nunzenrider JE. Cauda equina tolerance to high-dose fractionated irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;64(1):251–7.
- 274. Kersun LS, Wimmer RS, Hoot AC, Meadows AT. Secondary malignant neoplasms of the bladder after cyclophosphamide treatment for childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2004;42(3):289–91.
- 275. Parekh DJ, Jung C, O'Conner J, Dutta S, Smith ER Jr. Leiomyosarcoma in urinary bladder after cyclophosphamide therapy for retinoblastoma and review of bladder sarcomas. Urology. 2002;60(1):164.
- 276. Bassal M, Mertens AC, Taylor L, et al. Risk of selected subsequent carcinomas in survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(3):476–83.
- 277. Lackner H, Benesch M, Schagerl S, et al. Prospective evaluation of late effects of childhood cancer therapy with a follow-up over 9 years. Eur J Pediatr. 2000;159:750–8.
- 278. Friedman DL, Constine LS. Late effects of cancer treatment. In: Halperin EC, Constine LS, Tarbell NJ, Kun LE, editors. Pediatric radiation oncology. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott William & Wilkins; 2005. p. 584–8.
- Whelan KF, Stratton K, Kawashima T, et al. Ocular late effects in childhood and adolescent cancer survivors: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2010;54(1):103–9.
- 280. Raney RB, Anderson JR, Kollath J, et al. Late effects of therapy in 94 patients with localized rhabdomyosarcoma of the orbit: report from the Intergroup Rhabdomyosarcoma Study (IRS)-III, 1984–1991. Med Pediatr Oncol. 2000;34:413–20.
- 281. Gurney JG, Ness KK, Rosenthal J, et al. Visual, auditory, sensory, and motor impairments in long-term survivors of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation performed in childhood. Cancer. 2006;106:1402–8.
- 282. Parsons JT. Response of the normal eye to high dose radiotherapy. Oncology. 1996;10:837-47.



11

Management of Cancer-Related Fatigue

Florian Strasser

Management of Cancer-Related Fatigue

Fatigue is one very frequent of, if not the leading, symptom humans confronted with cancer experience. It can be caused by cancer disease itself, by side-effects of anticancer treatments, and by a myriad of somatic, inflammatory, psychological, and cognitive comorbidities. One important feature of fatigue is, that patients dealing with the disability of fatigue often become "fatigued of being fatigued" and develop secondary fatigue-burnout or depressive symptoms. To contribute to excellent care of cancer survivors (people with cancer experience who (a) are cured after cancer therapy, (b) are undergoing adjuvant anticancer treatment in curative intent, or (c) live with advanced, incurable, but well-controlled cancer), it is important as a health care professional to (1) be aware of the silent burden people with fatigue experience, (2) proactively screen these people to give fatigue and its consequences "a voice or a number," (3) identify systematically reversible and nonreversible causes and cofactors contributing to fatigue, (4) categorize people affected by fatigue for those requiring (a) some self-management advice, (b) outpatient fatigue-tailored interventions, or (c) intensive multimodal fatigue management programs, (5) initiate and coordinate these interventions, (6) monitor outcomes and relapses in fatigueassociated burden, and (7) contribute to research related to fatigue in cancer.

History and Literature

Historically the term fatigue in the title of a paper in combination with cancer in the title was first mentioned in Pubmed 1987, interestingly in the first years the articles were mainly in journals from nursing societies. Until today, March 2021, 2130

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_11

F. Strasser (🖂)

Cancer Survivorship Fatigue Clinic, c/o location Onkologie-Schaffhausen and Cantonal Hospital, St. Gallen, Schaffhausen, Switzerland

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

papers are mentioned, including 153 reviews (cancer[title] AND fatigue[title] AND review[title]).

The first papers mentioning a guideline were 1998 [1]/1999 [2] followed by the NCCN guideline 2000 [3]. The first ESMO guideline on CRF was published in 2020 [4].

Definition, Classification, and Risk factors

Cancer-related fatigue (CRF) is an experience of a subjective, persistent, feeling of tiredness, weakness, or lack of energy, which is not proportional to recent physical activity (as normal human experience) and is not alleviated through sleep or rest (as normal human experience). Cancer survivors suffering from CRF are therefore very often confronted with lack-of-understanding from non-cancer experienced people, which contributes to distress and also financial and vocational injustices. Phenomenologically CRF is characterized by physical (muscular), emotional, and cognitive components of fatigue, in individually variable degree and combination. CRF can have a major impact on patients' functioning and Quality-of-Life. The first descriptive definition was published in 2000 [1–3] and is still in use.

The following symptoms have been present every day or nearly every day during the same 2-week period in the past month: Significant fatigue, diminished energy, or increased need to rest, disproportionate to any recent change in activity level Plus five (or more) of the following: Complaints of generalized weakness or limb heaviness Diminished concentration or attention Decreased motivation or interest in engaging in usual activities Insomnia or hypersomnia Experience of sleep as unrefreshing or nonrestorative Perceived need to struggle to overcome inactivity Marked emotional reactivity (e.g., sadness, frustration, or irritability) to feeling fatigued Difficulty completing daily tasks attributed to feeling fatigued Perceived problems with short-term memory Post-exertional malaise lasting several hours The symptoms cause clinically significant **distress** or **impairment** in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. There is evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings that the symptoms are a **consequence** of **cancer or cancer-related therapy**. The symptoms are **not** primarily a consequence of comorbid psychiatric disorders such as major depression, somatization disorder, somatoform disorder, or delirium. Table from Portenoy RK, Itri LM. Oncologist 1999;4:1–10

There is however no common definition for CRF, between 19 and 24 definitions of CRF utilized to measure CRF are reported [5, 6]. There are also differences in the definition regarding the impact of CRF on functioning [3, 7].

Classification: Cancer vs. Cancertherapy vs. Comorbidity

The term "cancer-related fatigue" (CRF) encompasses fatigue (a) caused by the cancer disease itself and (b) by anticancer treatments. Due to this very broad definition both a post-curative survivor years after being cured from cancer disease and living without active cancer and without anticancer treatment [8] and a patient with active, incurable cancer in a terminal stage days before death experience CRF [9, 10]. It is obvious, that these two situations of CRF, representing the whole spectrum of CRF, are quite different and require more tailored assessment and management. Unfortunately, the term CRF is often used for various situations and even some guideline authors may not differentiate the various CRF-subtypes, with the risk to formulate inappropriate, mostly then false negative, recommendations. In modern oncology sophisticated personalized, biomarker and genetic-testing based, interventions are rapidly developed, accepted, and pursued by the oncology community. Drugs working just for one mutation will not be given to a patient not having the mutation. In CRF, unfortunately, often CRF-patients are not appropriately classified to judge the effectiveness of an intervention in a specific population. It seems indispensable and vital to subclassify CRF into specific subtypes.

Cancer-Disease Related Fatigue: (Pre-) cachexia

Cancer cachexia and cancer-disease related fatigue can be interpreted as similar concepts [11]. The key feature of pre-cachexia is anorexia and fatigue [12] before weight loss occurs. Patients with cancer cachexia experience fatigue, most pronounced in the terminal stage. Typical for the mechanism of cachexia is inflammation, which is also understood as causing factor for fatigue [13]. The very frequent co-occurrence of fatigue and cachexia in patients with advanced cancer is conceptualized as a symptom cluster [14].

Cancer-Treatment Related Fatigue

Anticancer treatment, surgery, radiotherapy, systemic anticancer treatment can cause cancer-treatment related fatigue (CtrF).

- In surgery, a postoperative fatigue syndrome is described, but not well understood [15, 16], as also toe broad spectrum of not well understood interventions showcases [17]. It might be associated with symptoms, such as stress, anxiety, depression, pain, or changes in sleep patterns, maybe to anesthesia-related toxicity, but also to the muscle loss after bed rest (1.4 kg muscle per week [18]) and possibly malnutrition.
- Radiotherapy is associated with fatigue, by many clinicians seen as the leading side-effect stimulating clinical trials of toxicity-reducing radiotherapy techniques with the primary endpoint fatigue [19]. As causes for radiotherapyinduced fatigue mitochondrial dysfunction, inflammation, neuromuscular or endocrine factors are hypothesized [20], in addition, of course, of possible occurring toxicities such as anemia or malnutrition.
- Systemic anticancer treatment associated fatigue encompass chemotherapy (e.g., cell poisons), targeted agents, endocrine agents, and immunotherapy. The

mechanism associated with fatigue encompasses direct muscle toxicity possibly mediated by mitochondria depletion, endocrine alterations, immune alterations and other, only partially understood mechanisms including neuro-immunological, neuromuscular, autonomic dysfunction, complex endocrine mechanism, or others. Taxanes and platins are examples for muscle toxicity impacting mitochondria and disturbing myogenesis [21]. The leading side-effect of checkpoint inhibitors is fatigue [22], but compared to chemotherapy at a lower level [23]. The number of available targeted agents is rapidly increasing, for many of them fatigue is the leading toxicity [24, 25].

Comorbidities-Related Fatigue

Many comorbidities and complications are associated with fatigue. In the 2000 NCCN guideline [3] the authors cite (quote) "*five primary factors are known to be associated with fatigue: pain, emotional distress, sleep disturbance, anemia, and hypothyroidism.*" The list includes many other causes including organ dysfunction (kidney, heart, lung, etc.), electrolyte alterations (hypercalcemia, hypophosphatemia, etc.), endocrine disturbances (hypogonadism, hypocortisolism, etc.), or dehydration.

Classification: Phenomenological

Patients with advanced cancer present a CRF with substantial loss of muscle mass (sarcopenia) and muscle function, compatible with cancer cachexia. Cognitive fatigue is also present, but often less obvious than muscular weakness. In contrast, the CRF of cancer survivors without anticancer treatment and without known active cancer is an "invisible disability" with reduced availability of energy reserves, but with almost normal physical, cognitive and emotional performance for the time span the energy reserves are fully loaded. This time span however can be short up to minimal 15 min or longer up to 4–8 h.

Prevalence of CRF and Risk Factors: Three Important, Exemplary Recent Papers

According to a recent systematic review and meta-analysis involving 71,568 subjects drawn from 129 studies reporting pooled prevalence estimates for fatigue among patients with cancer the aggregate prevalence of fatigue in patients with cancer was 49%, ranging from 11 to 99% [26]. As possible explanation for this variation of the prevalence between the studies the authors hypothesize (quote): "This could be attributed to the diversity of the assessment scales (cutoff of scales) or unique features of certain types of cancer and cancer treatment strategies that increase the probability of experiencing fatigue. In addition, there is no universally agreed on definition of CRF or gold standard questionnaire to measure this troubling symptom."

- As possible risk factors **female gender** was mentioned in 12 studies, then described as an explanation for this observation (Quote): "This may be because, first, men report fatigue less than women, and second, women are less likely to receive social support."
- Interestingly an association between mean **age** and overall fatigue prevalence rate could not be shown.
- With regards to the relationship of CRF prevalence and anticancer treatment the authors report (quote): "fatigue prevalence was 62% during anticancer treatment; 50.1% less than three months after curative treatment completed; 43% among those with more than three months after curative treatment completed; and 50.8% in mixed cancer studies." This result supports the observation that anticancer treatment can cause CRF supported by mechanistic explanations. The authors further specify (quote): "The percentage of fatigue during anticancer treatments was expected, as fatigue typically increases during radiation therapy, chemotherapy, and biological therapy." and (Quote) "In addition, treatment introduces various toxicities to patients, which will likely increase the experience of fatigue."
- The data support the observation that active cancer disease is a contributor to fatigue. The authors report that (quote) "studies involving patients with advanced cancer were highest in reporting fatigue with 60.6%, followed by studies that included mixed stages of cancer at 51.5%."
- The prevalence of fatigue is different according to cancer type subgroups. The authors report (quote) "Patients diagnosed with gastrointestinal (50%), breast (49.7%), and lymphoma (43.3%) cancers reported highest fatigue compared with patients with gynecological (26.2%) and prostate (26.3%)."

Over the last decades, the prevalence of CRF decreased from 65.3% in 1996 to 44.4% in 2020. The authors hypothesize that (quote) "*This decrease may be due to the fact that several clinical guidelines were published on the assessment and management of CRF*." However, another explanation may be that (a) the toxicity of anticancer treatments decreased, immunotherapy is associated with less fatigue than chemotherapy and (b) that supportive and palliative management of cancer patients improved [27].

The **prevalence of fatigue** was explored in a prospective study (FiX study) of 2244 cancer patients approx. Two years after diagnosis using the EORTC QLQ-FA12 questionnaire [28]. Fifty-nine percent of participants never had chemotherapy, 72% never radiotherapy, 81% never targeted therapy, 84% never endocrine therapy, and 17% never surgery. Ten percent each had breast cancer and prostate cancer, respectively, all other tumor types were less frequent. The fatigue prevalence varied from 31% (prostate cancer) to 55% (pancreas cancer), for physical fatigue from 32% (prostate cancer) to 52% (each liver and stomach cancer), for emotional fatigue from 30% (prostate cancer) to 49% (pancreas cancer), for cognitive fatigue the data were nor reported in detail. The authors discuss that (quote) "*Differences between entities were not fully explained by sex, age, BMI, or type and timing of cancer therapy.*" With regard to the (quote) "*considerable observed physical fatigue*

prevalence of 40% among breast cancer patients about 2 years after diagnosis" the authors compared their data as consistent to other authors, and also that (quote) "an effective fatigue management and treatment is not yet established."

However, based on the concept of an "invisible disability" associated with anticancer treatment and possibly only partially reversible toxicities, the expectation that fatigue (in this study measured by the 12 item EORTC-QlQ-FA12 questionnaire lacking assessment of impact of fatigue, like the BFI) will disappear after 2 years with an effective fatigue management is probably not justifiable.

In this study, unfortunately, no data is reported, whether patients had after 2 years still active cancer disease or not. Overall, the majority of the population included had surgery (83%), but only minorities systemic anticancer treatment or radiotherapy. Nevertheless, this study reports clearly that cancer patients have significantly more fatigue compared to an age- and sex-matched "healthy" control, suggesting the suffering and the need to act as professionals.

To explore the question if distinct trajectories of fatigue can be identified in women with early-stage breast cancer from diagnosis into survivorship-with the option to identify risk factors for fatigue—a longitudinal study followed 270 women five times for 18 months [29] (at baseline [before the onset of adjuvant therapy]; posttreatment [post-tx; after the completion of radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy, if received]; and the 6-month, 12-month, and 18-month posttreatment follow-ups). Sixty-four percent of patients did not receive chemotherapy, whereas 69% received radiotherapy. Assessments included the MFSI-SF (Ouote) "Fatigue was assessed using the General Fatigue subscale of the Multidimensional Fatigue Symptom Inventory-Short Form (MFSI-SF), which assesses the degree to which respondents felt tired, worn out, sluggish, fatigued, run down, and "pooped" within the past week." Assessments for potential risk factors included pre-cancer medical comorbidities (Charlson Comorbidity Scale), history of childhood maltreatment (Childhood Trauma Questionnaire), major depressive disorder (interview-SCID), depressive symptoms (CES-D), sleep quality (Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index), and cancer-related distress (Impact of Event Scale). Growth mixture modeling (latent class mixed models) was applied. As main results (quote) "Five trajectory groups were identified, including "Stable Low" (the largest group; 66% of the sample), "Increasing" (9% of the sample), "Reactive" (8% of the sample), "Decreasing" (4% of the sample), and "Stable High" (13% of the sample)."

The Stable Low group women (quote) "*reported low levels of psychological distress, including depressive symptoms and cancer-related distress,*" but "55% *reported clinically significant sleep disturbance.*" The Stable High group was considered a high-risk group with high baseline fatigue levels (three times higher than Stable low and non-cancer controls), and high levels of psychological distress, interview-based history of major depressive disorder prior to their diagnosis of breast cancer (44%) and clinically significant sleep disturbance (97%). In this study, chemotherapy did not differentiate among the fatigue groups, but only one-third got chemotherapy. Women with high odds of not recovering from fatigue had elevated baseline fatigue (78%), and a preexisting history of depression as well as elevated symptoms of depression, distress, and sleep disturbance.

This study supports important risk factors for developing and maintaining CtrF.

Risk Factors for Developing or Maintaining CRF

- Depression
 - depressive symptoms (e.g., BDI-II scores suggesting mild, moderate, or severe depression), low optimism [30]
 - History of major depression (interview-based, SCID)
- Past and recent traumas
 - History of childhood adversity [31]
 - Cancer-related stress, nonacceptance of disease [32]
- Anxiety
 - Fear-of-recurrence
- History of lifetime stress exposure (e.g., divorce, losses, illness, literacy, precarity) [33]
- CINP (chemotherapy-induced neuropathy)
- Chronic pain syndrome
- Active tumor disease [34]
- Obesity and low physical activity [35]
- Preexisting malnutrition or cachexia [36]
- History of sleep disturbances [37]
- Intensity of causative factors for CRF
 - Major surgery
 - Radiotherapy [38]
 - Chemotherapy [39]
 - Targeted, endocrine and/or immunotherapy [23, 40]
- History of elevated fatigue levels before anticancer treatment [41]

For the management of patients, it matters to understand risk or contributing factors in order to tailor specific interventions.

Causes for CRF

The causes for CRF are multifactorial [42]. Evidence is increasing for associations of CRF [43] with

- **Mitochondrial** dysfunction (involving mitochondrial DNA, structure, oxidative pressure, and alterations of ATP metabolism) [21, 44, 45]
- Skeletal muscular dysfunction (mitochondria, myogenesis, muscle mass, etc.) [46–48]
- **Inflammatory system dysregulation** (pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines peripherally and in the CNS [49], inflammatory adipokines, etc.) [50–60]
- **CNS and endocrine function disorders** (neuropeptide, neurotransmitter, HPA axis dysfunction, 5-HT3 neurotransmitter deregulation, circadian rhythm dysfunction) [61, 62]
- History of psycho-neurological symptoms [63]
- Vagal afferent activation and autonomic dysfunction (e.g., advanced cancer [64])
- Alteration of the gut microbiome [65, 66]

Also **genetic alterations** and polymorphism were reported to be associated with the development of fatigue [67–72].

Currently, no cause of CRF is sufficiently understood to serve as a diagnostic measure accepted by health authorities to diagnose unequivocal CRF.

Diagnosis of CRF

For the diagnosis of CRF, a subjective experience of the patient, a fatigue assessment tool has to be given to the patient [73, 74].

- *First*, the **silent symptom fatigue** has to be assessed. For this **screening**, a single-item question on perceived severity of fatigue is sufficient, for example, as asked by the ESAS [75].
- Second, the **impact of fatigue** on patients' function and quality-of-life shall be assessed. The most frequently used and well-validated tool is the BFI (brief fatigue inventory), which is translated and validated in many languages [76].
- *Third*, to assess the **physical**, **emotional**, **and cognitive domain** of fatigue, an appropriate tool shall be used. A simple tool is the SIF (Single-Item-Fatigue), which also explores the impact of sleep on improvement of fatigue [77]. Other tools assessing the multidimensional components of CRF are the ReACT-F [78] or the EORTC QLQ-FA12 [79].
- <u>SIF (Single-Item-Fatigue)</u>
 - Severity "How much j

"How much fatigue (weariness, tiredness) did you feel during the past 24 hours?"

Cognitive Fatigue

"How fatigued do you feel because of 'fatigue in the head,' namely, because you have problems with concentration, thinking, or attention?"

- Emotional Fatigue
 "How fatigued do you feel because you feel no joy, no motivation or pleasure or because nothing makes sense to you?"
- Physical Fatigue
 "How fatigued do you feel because you feel no strength, because your body is weak, or your muscles feel weak?"
- Fourth, the diagnostic criteria of CRF shall be assessed. This can be done by the DICRFS (Diagnostic Interview for Cancer Related Fatigue), which is an interview based on the NCCN diagnostic criteria [80]. In several countries, translations of the DICRFS are in use, for example, in Switzerland.

Diagnostic Interview Guide for Cancer-Related Fatigue

- 1. "Over the past month, has there been at least a 2-week period when you had significant fatigue, a lack of energy, or an increased need to rest every day or nearly every day?"
 - \rightarrow if here the answer is NO, patient does not have CRF, otherwise continue
- 2. "Did you feel weak all over or heavy all over? (every day or nearly every day?)"
- 3. "Did you have trouble concentrating or paying attention? (every day or nearly every day?)"
- 4. "What about looting your interest or desire to the things you usually do? (every day or nearly every day?)"
- 5. "How were you sleeping? Did you have trouble falling asleep, staying asleep, or waking too early? Or did you find yourself sleeping too much compared to what you usually sleep? (every day or nearly every day?)"
- 6. "Have you found that you usually do not feel rested or refreshed after you have slept? (every day or nearly every day?)"
- 7. "Did you have struggle or push yourself to do anything? (every day or nearly every day?)"
- 8. "Did you find yourself feeling sad, frustrated, or irritable because you felt fatigued? (every day or nearly every day?)"
- 9. "Did you have difficulty finishing something you had started to do because of feeling fatigued? (every day or nearly every day?)"
- 10. "Did you have trouble remembering things? For example, did you have trouble remembering where your keys were or what someone had told you a little while ago? (every day or nearly every day?)"
- 11. "Did you find yourself feeling sick or unwell for several hours after you had done something that took some effort (every time or nearly every time?)"
- 12. "Has fatigue made it hard for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?"

A score of 6/12 or more is compatible with diagnosis of CRF, when doing the DIRFS repeatedly, many patients learn to cope with the fatigue-disability and answer the questions 4, 7, and 9, and maybe 8 with NO as sign of resilience and adaption.

• *Finally*, as a semi-objective assessment, **neuropsychological testing** can be phenomenons of cognitive fatigue [81].

Based on these assessments the diagnosis of CRF can be made including its impact on patients' function and the main domains (physical, emotional, cognitive).

Management of CRF

The first step in the management of CRF is to assess and treat all reversible causes (see above). This requires a systematic approach, a Phenotype approach grouping the causes according to \bigcirc Physical, \bigcirc Emotional, \bigcirc Cognitive, and \bigcirc Mixed fatigue is clinically helpful.

Approach to Fatigue in Cancer Patients:

- Malnutrition: assess nutritional intake and nutrition impact causes, weight loss
- Sarcopenia: age-related, bed rest, corticosteroids, muscle toxicity
- Cancer cachexia: weight loss, anorexia, CRP, tumor activity
- Depression: ESAS, Hospital AnxietyDepression Scale (scores <10, 10–12, >12)
- Uncertainty: illness- and prognosis-understanding
- Pharmacological: history and reality check, opiates, benzos., antidepress., etc.
- Delirium: DOS, other tools, fluctuation during the day
- Cancer-treatment related Fatigue: careful history, DICRFS
- Dehydration: history (urine, oral intake), skin, neck veins
- Electrolyte: Phosphate, Calcium, Na and ev Osmolality, Glucose, ev Mg
- Organ-Function: kidney, liver, heart, lung (RR, O2-Sat)
- Infection: history, dynamics of CRP (double in 2–3 days), ev. ProCalcitonin
- Endocrine: TSH, free Testosterone (male)
- Anemia (Hb < 10 g/dL)
- Sleep disturbances (e.g., symptoms)

After all reversible causes have been assessed and treated, in many patients a CtrF (Cancer-treatment related Fatigue) syndrome is likely and a history is needed to confirm.

Careful History Taking:

- did Fatigue if yes how occur during anticancer treatments?
- (typical G2/3 Fatigue d4-11, etc., worse later cycles)
- often association with Chemotherapy-Induced NeuroPathy
- has patient been active physically during anticancer treatment?
- how did fatigue further develop, namely when starting to work?
- evidence for cofactors (see also above)
 - Preexisting psychosocial distress or psychiatric disorder
 - Chronic pain syndrome
 - Lack of personal resources to cope with distress and life-changing events
 - Financial and social (over-) burden
 - Lack of physical activity resources
 - Unhealthy eating habits

Multimodal Management

Typically a multidimensional syndrome like CRF (or like cancer cachexia [82, 83]) requires a multimodal management delivered by a multiprofessional (or even transprofessionally working [84, 85]) team, still with the oncology professional as a key person [4, 86]. Several examples combine interventions, an example from Integrative Medicine is the combination of

- Psychoeducation (Focus: Activity and rest, sleep, opportunities, and limits)
- Exercise (Focus: Endurance, strength, fun)
- **Mind-body** medicine techniques (Focus: Mindfulness meditation, autogenic training, progressive muscle relaxation, yoga, qigong)
- Acupressure and acupuncture (Focus: self-care acupressure)
- Medication (Methylphenidate, ev. modafinil, corticosteroid, ginseng, guarana, [mistletoe]) [87].

In this study cancer patients suffering from CRF evaluated the multimodal approach and proposed to escalate components according to the fatigue severity. This concept of increasing the modules according to severity contrasts to a concept of multimodal treatment but with an increasing level of professional involvement and switching from outpatient to more intensive inpatient treatments (to assure interventions intensity and coordination).

An example of multimodal management for all patients is the *NCCN-guidelines* (*Version 2015*) [86], combining

- education and counseling of patient and family about fatigue and its natural history and the importance of self-monitoring of severity and impact
- **energy conservation** and **distraction** (set realistic expectations, prioritize and pace activities, labor-saving techniques and delegate less-essential activities) supported by a daily and weekly diary
- physical activity (3–5 h of moderate activity per week)
- physically based therapies acupuncture and massage therapy
- yoga, muscle relaxation, and stress reduction based on mindfulness
- **psychosocial interventions** (support in coping with fatigue and education about anxiety and depression by (a) CBTs/behavioral therapy, (b) psychoeducational therapies/educational therapies, and/or (c) supportive-expressive therapies
- **nutritional consultation** (no substrate deficits, sufficient protein, adequate hydration, and electrolyte balance)
- **cognitive-behavioral therapy** (CBT) for **sleep** (stimulus control, sleep restriction, and sleep hygiene)
- pharmacological treatment in selected patients (e.g., methylphenidate).

The ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline for CRF (2020) [4] does not specifically discuss multimodal management but mentions in step III Management a combination of

- Patient and family education
- Physical activity
- Psychosocial intervention
- Pharmacological intervention (corticosteroids)

Also, this guideline does only partially discusses different CRF populations in their recommendations. For example, the use of corticosteroids is recommended as

short-term use in metastatic patients however without discussing (as done in the ESPEN Guidelines on nutrition in cancer patients [88] and the ESMO Guideline on Cancer Cachexia¹) the difference of a cancer survivor with well-controlled incurable disease and advanced, symptomatic cancer patients close to end-of-life. The two clinical trials included symptomatic patients as follows (a) patients having three or more symptoms of 4/10 or higher during the previous 24 h (i.e., pain, fatigue, chronic nausea and anorexia, sleep problems, depression, or anorexia) to (quote) "ensure that patients were experiencing at least moderate to severe symptoms of the CRF clinical cluster" [89], and (b) "Patients with cancer with average pain 4 (numeric rating scale [NRS], 0 to 10) in the last 24 hours, with 4 weeks expected survival and receiving an opioid for moderate or severe cancer pain" [90]. Since corticosteroids decrease muscle mass (and strength) and can deteriorate physical fatigue, their use in cancer patients merits caution and application in patients comparable to those patients enrolled in the two studies.

Multimodal management is also applied in advanced cancer patients with fatigue associated with cancer cachexia.

The still enrolling MENAC trial [91] combines

- Pharmacological therapy with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and eicosapentaenoic acid to reduce inflammation
- Physical exercise program using resistance and aerobic training to increase anabolism
- **Dietary counseling and oral** nutritional supplements to promote energy and protein balance

The NEXTAC study [92] is an 8 week educational intervention with three exercise and three nutritional sessions

- Exercise interventions combined
 - home-based low-intensity resistance training
 - counseling to promote physical activity based on continuous pedometer use
- Nutritional interventions included
 - standard nutritional counseling
 - instruction on how to manage symptoms that interfere with patient's appetite and oral intake
- Nutriceutical intervention with supplements rich in branched-chain amino acids

These studies show the combination of exercise, nutrition, and pharmacological/ nutraceutical intervention, but lacking psychosocial interventions, even though eating-related distress a reality in patients with advanced cancer [93]. Specific interventions to alleviate ERD were developed and piloted [94] as well as novel multimodal interventions proposed combining supportive, palliative, and nutritional interventions [95].

¹ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline Cancer Cachexia: ESMO open, in press 2021.

In summary, the **multimodal management of CRF includes as main** interventions

- **Physical exercise**: endurance training, resistance (strength) training, regular physical activity habits
- **Nutrition:** protein-rich, anti-inflammatory, secondary preventive (low carbs, fasting, mediterran, probiotics, organic); individual counseling to change habits
- MBSR-based stress reduction and mind-body interventions: yoga, body scan, progressive muscle relaxation, QiGong, breathing techniques, mindfulness meditation
- **Psychosocial and creative-therapy interventions**: coping with and grief-work about the fatigue-disability, understanding own (unconscious) emotions. Existential threat and coping processes, dealing with anxiety and depression as well as traumata, supportive-expressive therapy, music and/or art therapy
- · Physically based interventions: massage, acupressure, compresses, bathing
- **Psychoeducation**, **self-management support**, and cognitive-behavioral therapy for **energy management** and sleep: energy conservation, balance expectations, goals and limits (so called double calman-gap: balance expectations [too high and too low] and reality), set priorities, delegate, sleep hygiene
- **Pharmacological interventions** in selected patients: methylphenidate, corticosteroids
- Social, vocational, and financial support: enable reliable return-to-work and return-to-home, utilize available insurance system for financial hardship and precarity

For the different types of cancer survivors the multimodal therapies may differ (Table 11.1): in advanced, incurable cancer patients resistance training and proteinrich nutrition prevails, whereas in cured survivors in the working-age with severe CtrF psychosocial and art therapy interventions prevail as well as endurance training.

The above table is based on clinical experience and by reviewing multimodal interventions and individual therapies by the authors of the guidelines and the author of this chapter. The evidence for multimodal management intervention for CRF and also for combination of single interventions is scarce, one reason is the still insufficient classification of CRF-patients, the variability in assessments, outcomes, and also individual therapies. A meta-analysis of 113 unique studies articles (11,525 unique participants) reported that three or four recommended interventions for CRF were effective during and after primary anticancer treatment: exercise (weighted effect size [WES], 0.30; 69 studies), psychological (WES, 0.27; 24 studies), combined exercise and psychological (WES, 0.26; 10 studies), but not pharmaceutical (WES, 0.09; 14 studies) [96].

	Cured survivor no anticancer treatment	Survivors with adjuvant anticancer therapy	Incurable survivor with well-controlled metastatic disease		
Physical exercise					
Endurance	+++	+++	+		
Strength	+	+	+++		
Physical activity	++	++	++		
Nutrition					
Protein-rich	+	++	+++		
Preventive	+++	+++	+		
Psychosocial and art therapy					
Disability coping	+++	++	++		
Deal wt emotions	+++	+++	++		
Existential threat	+	++	+++		
Physically based in	terventions				
Massage	++	++	+		
Acupressure	++	++	+		
Bathing, etc.	++	+	+		
MBSR-based interventions					
Yoga, QiGong, PMR	+++	+++	+		
Breathing, Body Scan	++	++	++		
Meditation	+++	++	++		
Self-management of energy levels					
Expectations/ limits	+++	++	+		
Energy conservation	++	++	+		
Social and financial support					
Return-to-work	+++	++	+		
Financial support	++	++	+		

Table 11.1 Multimodal management of CRF according to survivor characteristics

Physical Exercise

The evidence for physical exercise to improve CRF is robust [97]. A consensus statement from a multidisciplinary roundtable judged the evidence that physical exercise interventions show a clear benefit for survivors' fatigue as strong [98].

- Training programs that last at least 12 weeks, engaging in moderate-intensity aerobic training three times per week: **benefits in CRF both** *during and after* **anticancer treatment**
- **Intensity:** The strongest effect of exercise for moderate- to vigorous-intensity exercise, for low-intensity training effect is weak [99]

- **Duration:** exercise sessions longer than 30 min and programs longer than 12 weeks: likely more reductions in fatigue
- Amount: insufficient evidence for a linear dose-response, going beyond 150 min-week-1 of aerobic exercise no increase in benefit
- Combination aerobic and resistance training:
 - Moderate-intensity combined aerobic plus resistance training sessions performed two to three times per week may also be effective
 - Twice weekly moderate-intensity resistance training may also be effective particularly in prostate cancer
- **Supervision:** efficacy of exercise for fatigue seems independent of the level of supervision and/or setting. However, a recent meta-analysis of individual patient data reports, that supervised exercise was more beneficial for fatigue [100], patients report that supervision also influenced social, mental, and cognitive factors [101].

The question if all CRF-patients profit equal from physical exercise was examined in an individual patient data meta-analysis of 34 exercise RCT of total of 4519 patients [102]. Patients with worse baseline fatigue and lower physical function seem to have a greater profit. During anticancer treatment effects on aerobic fitness were greater for patients with better baseline aerobic fitness, but benefit for muscle strength was independent of baseline values. After anticancer treatment, only patients with low baseline values benefit from muscle strength.

Exercise is associated in cancer patients with improved cancer-specific mortality [103], improved chemotherapy completion rates and reduced toxicity [104], increased exercise capacity and quadriceps muscle force of people following lung resection for NSCLC [105], reduced hospitalization rates and a positive effect on thrombocytopenia [106] and on anemia [107], and on CINP, balance, and strength [108], among other beneficial effects. Exercise seems a "magic drug" to reverse cancer and chemotherapy disturbed molecular signaling cascades [109]. Exercise in chemotherapy-treated tumor-bearing mice counteracted the chemotherapy and cancer-induced loss of muscle mass and strength, partially rescuing autophagy and mitochondrial function [110].

The evidence for the beneficial effects of adequately dosed physical exercise in almost all life circumstances is increasing, as a recent example it was shown, that athletes have an (unexpected) longer survival [111].

Nutrition

Nutrition intervention in patients with advanced cancer and cachexia-related fatigue is likely to improve muscular weakness and physical fatigue. A systematic review and meta-analysis of 11 studies reported beneficial effects of nutritional interventions on body weight in patients with cancer undergoing chemo(radio)therapy [112]. However, the association of improved body weight and (physical) fatigue was not assessed. Given the importance of inflammation as a cause of CRF, interest is raising to tackle the immune system by tailored diets [113]. Also, an approach is to improve muscle anabolism by dietary interventions: Few studies showed the possibility of increasing muscle protein synthesis by specific nutriments and/or by increasing amino acids or protein administration [114].

In clinical practice for patients with CRF, an assessment to detect malnutrition and associated deficits (e.g., iron deficiency, low vitamin D or B12, low levels of zinc) shall be done and deficits adequately substituted.

Psychosocial Interventions

From the 34 studies with psychological interventions for CRF analyzed in the recent meta-analysis reporting beneficial effects for CRF [96] 19 studies tested a cognitive-behavioral method, 14 a psychoeducational method, and 1 an eclectic method (a unique combination of psychotherapeutic methods). In contrast, in patients with advanced cancer a Cochrane review of 14 studies involving 3077 patients reports (quote) "*little evidence around the benefits of psychosocial interventions provided to reduce fatigue in adult patients with incurable cancer receiving cancer treatment with palliative intent*" [115]. A recent meta-analysis of 22 RCTs of psychosocial interventional and social function improved significantly but with small effect sizes however the term fatigue was not mentioned. It can be hypothesized only that fatigue may improve when emotional function improves [116].

These data support that psychosocial interventions may benefit patients with CRF. However, the current data from clinical trials does only partially explain the clinical experience of the importance of supporting patients in their grief work when realizing that they acquired a CRF-related disability with reduced energy reserves, or when supporting patients to ease the weight from past traumas and often only partially understood emotions. These unexpressed and suppressed emotions may consume energy and deteriorate fatigue. In clinical care, supportive-expressive therapy, coordinated with creative therapies (see below) of writing therapy [117] can contribute to less energy consumption in the often unconscious suppression of emotions and traumas.

Creative Therapies: Art and Music

Creative interventions can support patients with CRF to identify, explore, and understand—often initially unconscious—emotions. A meta-analysis of 8 studies involving 467 patients with CRF reports improved fatigue levels compared to controls, regardless of the frequencies and whether patients consumed precrecorded music or participated in live music [118]. A cross-sectional mixed-methods study of 436 patients compared CRF before and after active (83%) or passive (17%) music therapy [119]. The authors report that (quote) "active music therapy was associated with a 0.88-point greater reduction in cancer-related fatigue (95% CI; P = 0.006;

Cohen's D, 0.52) at postsession as compared with passive music therapy when restricting the analysis to patients who rated their baseline cancer-related fatigue as moderate to severe (i.e., ≥ 4 ; n = 236 [54%])". Free-text responses confirmed higher frequencies of words describing positive affect/emotion among active music therapy participants. These results support clinical experience of the effects of music therapy in CRF: (a) passive music meditation is less effective than active group music therapy or individual, single patient music therapy and (b) music therapy can improve CRF through the release of burdensome and heavy (yet unconscious) emotions.

Art therapy is also an intervention to approach emotions and traumas. A systematic review and meta-analysis included 27 studies involving 1576 patients and reported reduced anxiety (17 studies, effect size 0.28), depression (9 studies, ES = 0.23), and pain (8 studies, ES 0.54) and increased QOL (6 studies, ES 0.50), but no significant effect for fatigue was found (7 studies, ES 0.16) [120]. The authors hypothesize that the effects of art therapy may also be mediated by exercise, which the patients also received in addition, blurring the effect of art therapy. With regard to mechanism is hypothesized that engaged participation with painting ("Inner-Correspondence") is a mediator (or mechanism) therefore recently an assessment tool for Inner-Correspondence was validated [121]. These results match only partially clinical experience of the beneficial effects of art therapy specifically in patients with substantial distress associated with traumatic, denial, and unconscious emotions, but also a poor interest in music therapy. Such patients often profit from art therapy.

Body-Based Therapies, Massage

The therapeutic approach in CRF to improve body awareness and body image is different to physical exercise or psychosocial, creative, or MBSR-based interventions. Old data support the possible beneficial effect of touch and massage on CRF [122, 123], as well as from acupressure reported from a small trial [124]. Recent data from non-cancer populations (e.g., after coronary angiography) suggest effects of massage on fatigue [125].

The mechanism of human touch is unclear, one hypothesized mechanism is brain-to-brain coupling, as researched in pain release through touch [126].

MBSR-Based and Mind-Body Interventions

Mindfulness-Based-Stress-Reduction based interventions and Mind-Body interventions encompass various therapies (e.g., yoga, QiGong, meditative breathing, mindfulness meditation, body scan, progressive muscle relaxation) aiming to center the patient to fully present in the present, abandoning distractions, stress, and overactive thinking and planning. The evidence that **MBSR**-based interventions can reduce CRF is growing with reports on the various techniques. A systematic review of mindfulness-based arts interventions analyzed 13 studies (8 RCTs and 5 quasiexperiments) with however significant heterogeneity of interventions. The results show improved QoL, psychological state, spiritual well-being, and mindfulness, but with equivocal results on CRF [127]. A Cochrane systematic review explored MBSR in breast cancer patients with 10 RCTs and 1571 participants, among them in 5 RCTs with 693 participants it was reported that MBSR probably reduces fatigue (SMD -0.50; moderate-certainty evidence) [128]. Another systematic review and meta-analysis of 10 studies including 1709 participants showed a significant positive effect on fatigue post-intervention, but not a 6 months follow-up [129]. Another systematic review and meta-analysis of 29 independent RCTs of MBIs with 3274 participants included 6 studies with 626 participants which assessed not only psychological distress but specifically fatigue. A significant effect of MBIs to improve fatigue was found (g = 0.51; p = 0.001) post-intervention but not anymore at followup (mean 6.6 months, range 3–24) [130].

A meta-analysis on the effects of **yoga** on pre- to post-intervention improvements in fatigue among cancer patients examined 29 studies representing 1828 patients and found a small, statistically significant (0.45, p = 0.013) decrease in fatigue [131]. The yoga type was reported to be a significant moderator of the effect on fatigue, but not session length (in contrast to yoga's moderate effect to improve depression). Another meta-analysis of 17 studies involving 2183 breast cancer patients reports a large effect of yoga on fatigue in posttreatment and a small effect on intra-treatment patients [132]. Supervised yoga class, longer sessions (90 min not 60 min), and a longer duration (8 weeks not 6 weeks) were associated with larger effects of yoga on CRF. The effect was more pronounced in physical fatigue than on cognitive or mental fatigue. These data are consistent with the reported effects of yoga on symptom management in cancer patients [133] and results of clinical trials published after the meta-analysis [134, 135].

Also for **Tai-Chi** a meta-analysis was performed including 3 studies with 234 participants exploring fatigue, where a significant improvement (SMD = -0.37; P = 0.03) was reported [136].

In summary, data are quite robust that MBSR and namely yoga improves CRF.

Self-management Including Energy Conservation

Educational interventions amended by support programs are reported to improve CRF. An early trial of 105 women with stage I or II breast cancer starting chemotherapy showed that individualized fatigue education and support programs delivered in the clinic and by phone over three 10- to 20-min sessions 1 week apart improved fatigue [137]. A RCT of 135 breast cancer survivors compared an educational group energy conservation intervention to waiting-list patients and could report that CRF (all domains) was reduced in the intervention group from pre- to post-intervention, and this persisted over the 8-weeks follow-up period (F = 69.8, p < 0.001) [138]. The energy conservation intervention was (quote) "a small group discussion consisting of five weekly sessions a 90.0 min for groups of 6–8 breast cancer survivors. The intervention guided the participant to have formation of an accurate representation of the symptom of fatigue, lead the development and implementation of a plan to conserve energy, and evaluate the effectiveness of the new efforts. Patients learned to have energy conservation skills, review their daily routines, structure their activities according to their energy levels and utilize a patient diary. Patients discuss the use of resources to overcome barriers that may occur when implementing new strategies into everyday life. Patients share their experiences with the program in everyday life. For homework between sessions, participants monitored their fatigue, sleep, rest, activity, and other symptoms. They assessed their activity patterns by making a list prioritizing their usual activities for one week."

A modern form of self-management is the application of a **mobile app** (Untire), which was examined in a RCT of 519 patients compared to 280 waiting-list controls [139]. The trial reports significantly larger improvements in fatigue severity (d = 0.40) and fatigue interference (d = 0.35) in app users, with larger effects seen on participants with medium or high app use, but without association to education and cancer stage. The untire app comprises four modules (i.e., My themes, My exercises, Physical activity, and Tips), which is probably effective by (quotes) "addressing dysfunctional thoughts via CBT and psycho-education (My themes), reducing stress and improves sleep via MBSR (My exercises), help to improve physical fitness through exercise instructions (Physical Activity), and empowering via positive psychology (Tips)."

The approach to empower patients to monitor energy levels, identify energyconsuming stressors and energy resources, being active in beating fatigue by exercise is a good intervention, but may be improved by adding individual prioritization of energy use, balancing (too high) expectations, and realistic initiatives to set goals to improve reality, and amend the other key interventions for CRF (e.g., nutrition, massage, etc.).

Pharmacological Interventions

Pharmaceutical agents play a minor role in management of CRF, as a recent narrative review focuses on incurable (palliative) patients [140] and also the ESMO CPG on fatigue [4] summarizes.

Corticosteroids are reported to improve CRF in advanced, incurable, and symptomatic cancer patients, but only when given 1–2 weeks [89, 90] or in the terminal stage.²

Methylphenidate, a psychostimulants is a "logical" drug to investigate in CRF, several trials have been conducted with mixed results. The most recent trial included 28 evaluable patients with advanced cancer who got methylphenidate or placebo as needed, a significant improvement of fatigue was reported after 2 and 5 h, respectively [141]. This contrasts to another recent double-blind placebo-controlled

²ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline Cancer Cachexia: ESMO open, in press 2021.

RCT of 77 patients with advanced cancer, where fatigue improved significantly after 3 days of treatment and was stabilized on day 6, both with placebo and methylphenidate [142]. It can be hypothesized that the intrapatient crossover design [141] is more sensitive to the drug effect. A prior systematic literature and metaanalysis (not including above trials) analyzed 5 RCT with 489 patients and found that the pooled data suggest a mild beneficial effect of methylphenidate on CRF, namely with a slightly longer treatment duration [143].

Ginseng is a phytotherapy with reported potential to improve CRF [144]. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis investigated seven clinical trials and one retrospective study using American ginseng (n = 3), Asian ginseng (n = 3), and Korean ginseng (n = 2) [145]. Unfortunately, the quality of the studies varied greatly therefore the authors conclude (quote) "Although our findings support the safety and effectiveness of ginseng in the treatment of CRF, the number of high-quality studies is not adequate to adopt ginseng as a standard treatment option for CRF."

In summary, pharmacological interventions still play a minor role in CRF, the multimodal management for CRF is key.

Conclusion

Management of CRF requires a proactive screening and structured assessment of all patients with cancer, followed by treatment of reversible causes of fatigue, as basis for multimodal, individualized, and transprofessionally guided intervention package.

References

- Cella D, Peterman A, Passik S, Jacobsen P, Breitbart W. Progress toward guidelines for the management of fatigue. Oncology (Williston Park). 1998;12(11A):369–77.
- Portenoy RK, Itri LM. Cancer-related fatigue: guidelines for evaluation and management. Oncologist. 1999;4(1):1–10.
- Mock V, Atkinson A, Barsevick A, Cella D, Cimprich B, Cleeland C, Donnelly J, Eisenberger MA, Escalante C, Hinds P, Jacobsen PB, Kaldor P, Knight SJ, Peterman A, Piper BF, Rugo H, Sabbatini P, Stahl C, National Comprehensive Cancer Network. NCCN practice guidelines for cancer-related fatigue. Oncology (Williston Park). 2000;14(11A):151–61.
- 4. Fabi A, Bhargava R, Fatigoni S, Guglielmo M, Horneber M, Roila F, Weis J, Jordan K, Ripamonti CI, ESMO Guidelines Committee. Cancer-related fatigue: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis and treatment. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(6):713–23.
- Al Maqbali M, Hughes C, Gracey J, et al. Quality assessment criteria: psychometric properties of measurement tools for cancer related fatigue. Acta Oncol. 2019;58:1286e1297.
- Barsevick AM, Cleeland CS, Manning DC, et al. ASCPRO recommendations for the assessment of fatigue as an outcome in clinical trials. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2010;39:1086e1099.
- 7. Radbruch L, Strasser F, Elsner F, et al. Fatigue in palliative care patientsdan EAPC approach. Palliat Med. 2008;22:13e32.
- Gilbert M. A survivor's journey: one woman's experience with cancer-related fatigue. Oncologist. 2003;8(Suppl 1):3–4.
- 9. Yennurajalingam S, Bruera E. Palliative management of fatigue at the close of life: "it feels like my body is just worn out". JAMA. 2007;297(3):295–304.

- Seow H, Barbera L, Sutradhar R, Howell D, Dudgeon D, Atzema C, Liu Y, Husain A, Sussman J, Earle C. Trajectory of performance status and symptom scores for patients with cancer during the last six months of life. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(9):1151–8.
- 11. Fearon K, Strasser F, Anker SD, Bosaeus I, Bruera E, Fainsinger RL, Jatoi A, Loprinzi C, MacDonald N, Mantovani G, Davis M, Muscaritoli M, Ottery F, Radbruch L, Ravasco P, Walsh D, Wilcock A, Kaasa S, Baracos VE. Definition and classification of cancer cachexia: an international consensus. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(5):489–95.
- Zhou T, Yang K, Thapa S, Liu H, Wang B, Yu S. Differences in symptom burden among cancer patients with different stages of cachexia. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2017;53(5):919–26.
- Jackson KM, Cole CL, Dunne RF. From bench to bedside: updates in basic science, translational and clinical research on muscle fatigue in cancer cachexia. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2021;24(3):216–22.
- Alesi ER, del Fabbro E. Opportunities for targeting the fatigue-anorexia-cachexia symptom cluster. Cancer J. 2014;20(5):325–9.
- 15. Zargar-Shoshtari K, Hill AG. Postoperative fatigue: a review. World J Surg. 2009;33(4):738-45.
- Oliveira M, Oliveira G, Souza-Talarico J, Mota D. Surgical oncology: evolution of postoperative fatigue and factors related to its severity. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2016;20(1):E3.
- Rubin GJ, Hotopf M. Systematic review and meta-analysis of interventions for postoperative fatigue. Br J Surg. 2002;89(8):971–84.
- Dirks ML, Wall BT, van de Valk B, Holloway TM, Holloway GP, Chabowski A, Goossens GH, van Loon LJ. One week of bed rest leads to substantial muscle atrophy and induces whole-body insulin resistance in the absence of skeletal muscle lipid accumulation. Diabetes. 2016;65(10):2862–75.
- 19. Forster T, Jäkel C, Akbaba S, Krug D, Krempien R, Uhl M, Häfner MF, König L, Koerber SA, Harrabi S, Bernhardt D, Behnisch R, Krisam J, Hennigs A, Sohn C, Heil J, Debus J, Hörner-Rieber J. Fatigue following radiotherapy of low-risk early breast cancer—a randomized controlled trial of intraoperative electron radiotherapy versus standard hypofractionated whole-breast radiotherapy: the COSMOPOLITAN trial (NCT03838419). Radiat Oncol. 2020;15(1):134.
- 20. Hsiao CP, Daly B, Saligan LN. The etiology and management of radiotherapy-induced fatigue. Expert Rev Qual Life Cancer Care. 2016;1(4):323–8.
- Barreto R, Waning DL, Gao H, Liu Y, Zimmers TA, Bonetto A. Chemotherapy-related cachexia is associated with mitochondrial depletion and the activation of ERK1/2 and p38 MAPKs. Oncotarget. 2016;7(28):43442–60.
- 22. Cortellini A, Vitale MG, De Galitiis F, Di Pietro FR, Berardi R, Torniai M, De Tursi M, Grassadonia A, Di Marino P, Santini D, Zeppola T, Anesi C, Gelibter A, Occhipinti MA, Botticelli A, Marchetti P, Rastelli F, Pergolesi F, Tudini M, Silva RR, Mallardo D, Vanella V, Ficorella C, Porzio G, Ascierto PA. Early fatigue in cancer patients receiving PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint inhibitors: an insight from clinical practice. J Transl Med. 2019;17(1):376.
- Santoni M, Conti A, Buti S, Bersanelli M, Foghini L, Piva F, Giulietti M, Lusuardi L, Battelli N. Risk of fatigue in cancer patients treated with anti programmed cell death-1/anti programmed cell death ligand-1 agents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Immunotherapy. 2018;10(15):1303–13.
- 24. Li J, Zhang Z. Risk of fatigue with PARP inhibitors in cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 29 phase II/III randomized controlled trials. J Chemother. 2021;15:1–10.
- Tong H, Zhu Y, Liu Y. Incidence and risk of fatigue in cancer patients treated with MET inhibitors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98(22):e15522.
- 26. Al Maqbali M, Al Sinani M, Al Naamani Z, Al Badi K, Tanash MI. Prevalence of fatigue in patients with cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2021;61(1):167–89.
- Jordan K, Aapro M, Kaasa S, Ripamonti CI, Scotté F, Strasser F, Young A, Bruera E, Herrstedt J, Keefe D, Laird B, Walsh D, Douillard JY, Cervantes A. European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) position paper on supportive and palliative care. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(1):36–43.

- Schmidt ME, Hermann S, Arndt V, Steindorf K. Prevalence and severity of long-term physical, emotional, and cognitive fatigue across 15 different cancer entities. Cancer Med. 2020;9(21):8053–61.
- 29. Bower JE, Ganz PA, Irwin MR, Cole SW, Garet D, Petersen L, Asher A, Hurvitz SA, Crespi CM. Do all patients with cancer experience fatigue? A longitudinal study of fatigue trajectories in women with breast cancer. 2021;127(8):1334–44.
- Person H, Guillemin F, Conroy T, Velten M, Rotonda C. Factors of the evolution of fatigue dimensions in patients with breast cancer during the 2 years after surgery. Int J Cancer. 2020;146(7):1827–35.
- Bower JE, Wiley J, Petersen L, Irwin MR, Cole SW, Ganz PA. Fatigue after breast cancer treatment: biobehavioral predictors of fatigue trajectories. Health Psychol. 2018;37(11):1025–34.
- Peters ME, Goedendorp MM, Verhagen CA, Bleijenberg G, van der Graaf WT. Fatigue and its associated psychosocial factors in cancer patients on active palliative treatment measured over time. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(3):1349–55.
- Wright F, Kober KM, Cooper BA, Paul SM, Conley YP, Hammer M, Levine JD, Miaskowski C. Higher levels of stress and different coping strategies are associated with greater morning and evening fatigue severity in oncology patients receiving chemotherapy. Support Care Cancer. 2020;28(10):4697–706.
- Norden DM, Bicer S, Clark Y, Jing R, Henry CJ, Wold LE, Reiser PJ, Godbout JP, McCarthy DO. Tumor growth increases neuroinflammation, fatigue and depressive-like behavior prior to alterations in muscle function. Brain Behav Immun. 2015;43:76–85.
- 35. Inglis JE, Janelsins MC, Culakova E, Mustian KM, Lin PJ, Kleckner IR, Peppone LJ. Longitudinal assessment of the impact of higher body mass index on cancer-related fatigue in patients with breast cancer receiving chemotherapy. Support Care Cancer. 2020;28(3):1411–141.
- Strasser F. Diagnostic criteria of cachexia and their assessment: decreased muscle strength and fatigue. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2008;11(4):417–21.
- 37. Fox RS, Ancoli-Israel S, Roesch SC, Merz EL, Mills SD, Wells KJ, Sadler GR, Malcarne VL. Sleep disturbance and cancer-related fatigue symptom cluster in breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. Support Care Cancer. 2020;28(2):845–55.
- Wan BA, Pidduck W, Zhang L, Nolen A, Drost L, Yee C, Chow S, Chan S, Soliman H, Leung E, Sousa P, Lewis D, DeAngelis C, Taylor P, Chow E. Patient-reported fatigue in breast cancer patients receiving radiation therapy. Breast. 2019;47:10–5.
- 39. Khan OF, Cusano E, Raissouni S, Pabia M, Haeseker J, Bosma N, Ko JJ, Li H, Kumar A, Vickers MM, Tang PA. Immediate-term cognitive impairment following intravenous (IV) chemotherapy: a prospective pre-post design study. BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):150.
- 40. Abdel-Rahman O, Helbling D, Schmidt J, Petrausch U, Giryes A, Mehrabi A, Schöb O, Mannhart M, Zidan A, Oweira H. treatment-associated fatigue in cancer patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors; a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2016;28(10):e127–38.
- Araújo JKL, Giglio AD, Munhoz BA, Fonseca FLA, Cruz FM, Giglio AD. Chemotherapyinduced fatigue correlates with higher fatigue scores before treatment. Am J Hosp Palliat Care. 2017;34(5):404–11.
- 42. Saligan LN, Olson K, Filler K, Larkin D, Cramp F, Yennurajalingam S, Escalante CP, del Giglio A, Kober KM, Kamath J, Palesh O, Mustian K, Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer Fatigue Study Group-Biomarker Working Group. The biology of cancer-related fatigue: a review of the literature. Support Care Cancer. 2015;23(8):2461–7.
- 43. Yang S, Chu S, Gao Y, Ai Q, Liu Y, Li X, Chen N. A narrative review of Cancer-Related Fatigue (CRF) and its possible pathogenesis. Cell. 2019;8(7):738.
- Argilés JM, López-Soriano FJ, Busquets S. Muscle wasting in cancer: the role of mitochondria. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2015;18(3):221–5.
- Vitorino R, Moreira-Gonçalves D, Ferreira R. Mitochondrial plasticity in cancer-related muscle wasting: potential approaches for its management. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2015;18(3):226–33.

- Aversa Z, Costelli P, Muscaritoli M. Cancer-induced muscle wasting: latest findings in prevention and treatment. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2017;9(5):369–82.
- Laviano A, Koverech A, Mari A. Cachexia: clinical features when inflammation drives malnutrition. Proc Nutr Soc. 2015;74(4):348–54.
- Bruggeman AR, Kamal AH, LeBlanc TW, Ma JD, Baracos VE, Roeland EJ. Cancer cachexia: beyond weight loss. J Oncol Pract. 2016;12(11):1163–71.
- 49. Bower JE. The role of neuro-immune interactions in cancer-related fatigue: biobehavioral risk factors and mechanisms. Cancer. 2019;125(3):353–64.
- 50. Wesselink E, van Baar H, van Zutphen M, Tibosch M, Kouwenhoven EA, Keulen ETP, Kok D, van Halteren HK, Breukink SO, De Wilt JHW, Weijenberg MP, Kenkhuis MF, Balvers MGJ, Witkamp RF, van Duijnhoven FJB, Kampman E, Beijer S, MJL B, Winkels RM. Inflammation is a mediating factor in the association between lifestyle and fatigue in colorectal cancer patients. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12(12):3701.
- Orre IJ, Murison R, Dahl AA, Ueland T, Aukrust P, Fosså SD. Levels of circulating interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and C-reactive protein in long-term survivors of testicular cancer with chronic cancer-related fatigue. Brain Behav Immun. 2009;23(6):868–74.
- 52. Xiao C, Beitler JJ, Higgins KA, Wommack EC, Saba NF, Shin DM, Bruner DW, Miller AH, Cole S. Differential regulation of NF-kB and IRF target genes as they relate to fatigue in patients with head and neck cancer. Brain Behav Immun. 2018;74:291–5.
- 53. Minton O, Coulton GR, Stone P. Multi-analyte profiling and pathway analysis of plasma for proteins associated with cancer-related fatigue syndrome in disease-free breast cancer patients after primary treatment. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2014;4(4):349–56.
- Feng LR, Fernández-Martínez JL, Zaal KJM, de Andrés-Galiana EJ, Wolff BS, Saligan LN. mGluR5 mediates post-radiotherapy fatigue development in cancer patients. Transl Psychiatry. 2018;8(1):110.
- 55. de Alcântara BBR, Cruz FM, Fonseca FLA, da Costa Aguiar Alves B, Perez MM, Varela P, Pesquero JB, de Iracema Gomes Cubero D, De Melo Sette CV, Del Giglio A. Chemotherapy-induced fatigue is associated with changes in gene expression in the peripheral blood mononuclear cell fraction of patients with locoregional breast cancer. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27(7):2479–86.
- Cohen RA, Gullett JM, Woods AJ, Porges EC, Starkweather A, Jackson-Cook CK, Lynch-Kelly DL, Lyon DE. Cytokine-associated fatigue prior to, during, and post-chemotherapy for breast cancer. J Neuroimmunol. 2019;334:577001.
- 57. Courtier N, Gambling T, Barrett-Lee P, Mason MD. Soluble interleukin-6 receptor mediated fatigue highlights immunological heterogeneity of patients with early breast cancer who undergo radiation therapy. Adv Radiat Oncol. 2018;3(4):552–8.
- 58. Toh YL, Tan CJ, Yeo AHL, Shwe M, Ho HK, Gan YX, Foo KM, Chu P, Olson K, Chan A. Association of plasma leptin, pro-inflammatory adipokines and cancer-related fatigue in early-stage breast cancer patients: a prospective cohort study. J Cell Mol Med. 2019;23(6):4281–9.
- 59. van der Willik KD, Koppelmans V, Hauptmann M, Compter A, Ikram MA, Schagen SB. Inflammation markers and cognitive performance in breast cancer survivors 20 years after completion of chemotherapy: a cohort study. Breast Cancer Res. 2018;20(1):135.
- 60. Pertl MM, Hevey D, Boyle NT, Hughes MM, Collier S, O'Dwyer AM, Harkin A, Kennedy MJ, Connor TJ. C-reactive protein predicts fatigue independently of depression in breast cancer patients prior to chemotherapy. Brain Behav Immun. 2013;34:108–19.
- Schmidt ME, Semik J, Habermann N, Wiskemann J, Ulrich CM, Steindorf K. Cancerrelated fatigue shows a stable association with diurnal cortisol dysregulation in breast cancer patients. Brain Behav Immun. 2016;52:98–105.
- Dantzer R, Heijnen CJ, Kavelaars A, Laye S, Capuron L. The neuroimmune basis of fatigue. Trends Neurosci. 2014;37(1):39–46.
- 63. Tometich DB, Small BJ, Carroll JE, Zhai W, Luta G, Zhou X, Kobayashi LC, Ahles T, Saykin AJ, Clapp JD, Jim HSL, Jacobsen PB, Hurria A, Graham D, McDonald BC, Denduluri N, Extermann M, Isaacs C, Dilawari A, Root J, Rini C, Mandelblatt JS, Thinking and Living

with Cancer (TLC) Study. Pretreatment psychoneurological symptoms and their association with longitudinal cognitive function and quality of life in older breast cancer survivors. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2019;57(3):596–606.

- 64. Strasser F, Palmer JL, Schover LR, Yusuf SW, Pisters K, Vassilopoulou-Sellin R, DeGracia B, Willey JS, Bruera E. The impact of hypogonadism and autonomic dysfunction on fatigue, emotional function, and sexual desire in male patients with advanced cancer: a pilot study. Cancer. 2006;107(12):2949–57.
- 65. Wang A, Ling Z, Yang Z, Kiela PR, Wang T, Wang C, Cao L, Geng F, Shen M, Ran X, Su Y, Cheng T, Wang J. Gut microbial dysbiosis may predict diarrhea and fatigue in patients undergoing pelvic cancer radiotherapy: a pilot study. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):e0126312.
- 66. Hajjar J, Mendoza T, Zhang L, Fu S, Piha-Paul SA, Hong DS, Janku F, Karp DD, Ballhausen A, Gong J, Zarifa A, Peterson CB, Meric-Bernstam F, Jenq R, Naing A. Associations between the gut microbiome and fatigue in cancer patients. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):5847.
- Tariman JD, Dhorajiwala S. Genomic variants associated with cancer-related fatigue: a systematic review. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2016;20(5):537–46.
- Black DS, Cole SW, Christodoulou G, Figueiredo JC. Genomic mechanisms of fatigue in survivors of colorectal cancer. 2018;124(12):2637–44.
- Wang T, Yin J, Miller AH, Xiao C. A systematic review of the association between fatigue and genetic polymorphisms. Brain Behav Immun. 2017;62:230–44.
- Reyes-Gibby CC, Swartz MD, Yu X, Wu X, Yennurajalingam S, Anderson KO, Spitz MR, Shete S. Symptom clusters of pain, depressed mood, and fatigue in lung cancer: assessing the role of cytokine genes. Support Care Cancer. 2013;21(11):3117–25.
- Yang GS, Kumar S, Dorsey SG, Starkweather AR, Kelly DL, Lyon DE. Systematic review of genetic polymorphisms associated with psychoneurological symptoms in breast cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27(2):351–71.
- 72. Kühl T, Behrens S, Jung AY, Obi N, Thöne K, Schmidt ME, Becher H, Chang-Claude J. Validation of inflammatory genetic variants associated with long-term cancer related fatigue in a large breast cancer cohort. Brain Behav Immun. 2018;73:252–60.
- Minton O, Stone P. A systematic review of the scales used for the measurement of cancerrelated fatigue (CRF). Ann Oncol. 2009;20(1):17–25.
- 74. Friedrich M, Hinz A, Kuhnt S, Schulte T, Rose M, Fischer F. Measuring fatigue in cancer patients: a common metric for six fatigue instruments. Qual Life Res. 2019;28(6):1615–26.
- Watanabe SM, Nekolaichuk C, Beaumont C, Johnson L, Myers J, Strasser F. A multicenter study comparing two numerical versions of the Edmonton Symptom Assessment System in palliative care patients. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2011;41(2):456–68.
- Paramita N, Nusdwinuringtyas N, Nuhonni SA, Atmakusuma TD, Ismail RI, Mendoza TR, Cleeland CS. Validity and reliability of the indonesian version of the brief fatigue inventory in cancer patients. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2016;52(5):744–51.
- 77. Strasser F, Müller-Käser I, Dietrich D. Evaluating cognitive, emotional, and physical fatigue domains in daily practice by single-item questions in patients with advanced cancer: a crosssectional pragmatic study. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2009;38(4):505–14.
- Dickinson KA, Kelly DL, Lai JS, Saligan LN. Development of the PROMIS-based Research Assessment and Clinical Tool-Fatigue (ReACT-F). Support Care Cancer. 2019;27(9):3375–83.
- 79. Weis J, Wirtz MA, Tomaszewski KA, Hammerlid E, Arraras JI, Conroy T, Lanceley A, Schmidt H, Singer S, Pinto M, Alm El-Din M, Compter I, Holzner B, Hofmeister D, Chie WC, Harle A, Flechtner HH, Bottomley A, EORTC Quality of Life Group. Sensitivity to change of the EORTC quality of life module measuring cancer-related fatigue (EORTC QlQ-Fa12): results from the international psychometric validation. Psychooncology. 2019;28(8):1753–61.
- Yeh ET, Lau SC, Su WJ, Tsai DJ, Tu YY, Lai YL. An examination of cancer-related fatigue through proposed diagnostic criteria in a sample of cancer patients in Taiwan. BMC Cancer. 2011;11:387.
- Goedendorp MM, Knoop H, Gielissen MF, Verhagen CA, Bleijenberg G. The effects of cognitive behavioral therapy for postcancer fatigue on perceived cognitive disabilities and neuropsychological test performance. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2014;47(1):35–44.

- 82. Solheim TS, Laird BJA, Balstad TR, Stene GB, Bye A, Johns N, Pettersen CH, Fallon M, Fayers P, Fearon K, Kaasa S. A randomized phase II feasibility trial of a multimodal intervention for the management of cachexia in lung and pancreatic cancer. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2017;8(5):778–88.
- Stubbins R, Bernicker EH, Quigley EMM. Cancer cachexia: a multifactoral disease that needs a multimodal approach. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2020;36(2):141–6.
- 84. Goto R, Haruta J. The process of transprofessional collaboration: how caregivers integrated the perspectives of rehabilitation through working with a physical therapist. Fam Med Commun Health. 2020;8(4):e00037.
- Kaltner M, Murtagh D, Bennetts M, Pighills A, James J, Scott A. Randomised controlled trial of a transprofessional healthcare role intervention in an acute medical setting. J Interprof Care. 2017;31(2):190–8.
- 86. Berger AM, Mooney K, Alvarez-Perez A, Breitbart WS, Carpenter KM, Cella D, Cleeland C, Dotan E, Eisenberger MA, Escalante CP, Jacobsen PB, Jankowski C, LeBlanc T, Ligibel JA, Loggers ET, Mandrell B, Murphy BA, Palesh O, Pirl WF, Plaxe SC, Riba MB, Rugo HS, Salvador C, Wagner LI, Wagner-Johnston ND, Zachariah FJ, Bergman MA, Smith C, National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Cancer-Related Fatigue, Version 2.2015. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2015;13(8):1012–39.
- 87. Canella C, Mikolasek M, Rostock M, Beyer J, Guckenberger M, Jenewein J, Linka E, Six C, Stoll S, Stupp R, Witt CM. Developing an integrative treatment program for cancer-related fatigue using stakeholder engagement—a qualitative study. Integr Cancer Ther. 2018;17(3):762–73.
- 88. Arends J, Bachmann P, Baracos V, Barthelemy N, Bertz H, Bozzetti F, Fearon K, Hütterer E, Isenring E, Kaasa S, Krznaric Z, Laird B, Larsson M, Laviano A, Mühlebach S, Muscaritoli M, Oldervoll L, Ravasco P, Solheim T, Strasser F, de van der Schueren M, Preiser JC. ESPEN guidelines on nutrition in cancer patients. Clin Nutr. 2017;36(1):11–48.
- 89. Yennurajalingam S, Frisbee-Hume S, Palmer JL, Delgado-Guay MO, Bull J, Phan AT, Tannir NM, Litton JK, Reddy A, Hui D, Dalal S, Massie L, Reddy SK, Bruera E. Reduction of cancer-related fatigue with dexamethasone: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial in patients with advanced cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(25):3076–82.
- 90. Paulsen O, Klepstad P, Rosland JH, Aass N, Albert E, Fayers P, Kaasa S. Efficacy of methylprednisolone on pain, fatigue, and appetite loss in patients with advanced cancer using opioids: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(29):3221–8.
- Solheim TS, Laird BJA, Balstad TR, Bye A, Stene G, Baracos V, Strasser F, Griffiths G, Maddocks M, Fallon M, Kaasa S, Fearon K. Cancer cachexia: rationale for the MENAC (Multimodal-Exercise, Nutrition and Anti-inflammatory medication for Cachexia) trial. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2018;8(3):258–65.
- 92. Naito T, Mitsunaga S, Miura S, Tatematsu N, Inano T, Mouri T, Tsuji T, Higashiguchi T, Inui A, Okayama T, Yamaguchi T, Morikawa A, Mori N, Takahashi T, Strasser F, Omae K, Mori K, Takayama K. Feasibility of early multimodal interventions for elderly patients with advanced pancreatic and non-small-cell lung cancer. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2019;10(1):73–83.
- Oberholzer R, Hopkinson JB, Baumann K, Omlin A, Kaasa S, Fearon KC, Strasser F. Psychosocial effects of cancer cachexia: a systematic literature search and qualitative analysis. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2013;46(1):77–95.
- 94. Molassiotis A, Brown T, Cheng HL, Byrnes A, Chan RJ, Wyld D, Eastgate M, Yates P, Marshall AP, Fichera R, Isenring L, To KF, Ko PS, Lam W, Lam YF, Au LF, Lo RS. The effects of a family-centered psychosocial-based nutrition intervention in patients with advanced cancer: the PiCNIC2 pilot randomised controlled trial. Nutr J. 2021;20(1):2.
- 95. Amano K, Baracos VE, Hopkinson JB. Integration of palliative, supportive, and nutritional care to alleviate eating-related distress among advanced cancer patients with cachexia and their family members. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2019;143:117–23.

- Mustian KM, Alfano CM, Heckler C, Kleckner AS, Kleckner IR, Leach CR, Mohr D, Palesh OG, Peppone LJ, Piper BF, Scarpato J, Smith T, Sprod LK, Miller SM. Comparison of pharmaceutical, psychological, and exercise treatments for cancer-related fatigue: a meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(7):961–8.
- Brown JC, Huedo-Medina TB, Pescatello LS, Pescatello SM, Ferrer RA, Johnson BT. Efficacy of exercise interventions in modulating cancer-related fatigue among adult cancer survivors: a meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2011;20(1):123–33.
- Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, May AM, Schwartz AL, Courneya KS, Zucker DS, Matthews CE, Ligibel JA, Gerber LH, Morris GS, Patel AV, Hue TF, Perna FM, Schmitz KH. Exercise guidelines for cancer survivors: consensus statement from international multidisciplinary roundtable. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2019;51(11):2375–90.
- 99. Jacot W, Arnaud A, Jarlier M, Lefeuvre-Plesse C, Dalivoust P, Senesse P, Azzedine A, Tredan O, Sadot-Lebouvier S, Mas S, Carayol M, Bleuse JP, Gourgou S, Janiszewski C, Launay S, D'Hondt V, Lauridant G, Grenier J, Romieu G, Ninot G, Vanlemmens L. Brief hospital supervision of exercise and diet during adjuvant breast cancer therapy is not enough to relieve fatigue: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. Nutrients. 2020;12(10):3081.
- 100. van Vulpen JK, Sweegers MG, Peeters PHM, Courneya KS, Newton RU, Aaronson NK, Jacobsen PB, GalvÃo DA, Chinapaw MJ, Steindorf K, Irwin ML, Stuiver MM, Hayes S, Griffith KA, Mesters I, Knoop H, Goedendorp MM, Mutrie N, Daley AJ, McConnachie A, Bohus M, Thorsen L, Schulz KH, Short CE, James EL, Plotnikoff RC, Schmidt ME, Ulrich CM, van Beurden M, Oldenburg HS, Sonke GS, van Harten WH, Schmitz KH, Winters-Stone KM, Velthuis MJ, Taaffe DR, van Mechelen W, Kersten MJ, Nollet F, Wenzel J, Wiskemann J, Verdonck DE, Leeuw IM, Brug J, May AM, Buffart LM. Moderators of exercise effects on cancer-related fatigue: a meta-analysis of individual patient data. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2020;52(2):303–14.
- 101. Sweegers MG, Buffart LM, van Veldhuizen WM, Geleijn E, Verheul HMW, Brug J, Chinapaw MJM, Altenburg TM. How does a supervised exercise program improve quality of life in patients with cancer? A concept mapping study examining patients' perspectives. Oncologist. 2019;24(6):e374–83.
- 102. Buffart LM, Sweegers MG, May AM, Chinapaw MJ, van Vulpen JK, Newton RU, Galvão DA, Aaronson NK, Stuiver MM, Jacobsen PB, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Steindorf K, Irwin ML, Hayes S, Griffith KA, Lucia A, Herrero-Roman F, Mesters I, van Weert E, Knoop H, Goedendorp MM, Mutrie N, Daley AJ, McConnachie A, Bohus M, Thorsen L, Schulz KH, Short CE, James EL, Plotnikoff RC, Arbane G, Schmidt ME, Potthoff K, van Beurden M, Oldenburg HS, Sonke GS, van Harten WH, Garrod R, Schmitz KH, Winters-Stone KM, Velthuis MJ, Taaffe DR, van Mechelen W, José Kersten M, Nollet F, Wenzel J, Wiskemann J, Brug J, Courneya KS. Targeting exercise interventions to patients with cancer in need: an individual patient data meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2018;110(11):1190–200.
- Friedenreich CM, Neilson HK, Farris MS, Courneya KS. Physical activity and cancer outcomes: a precision medicine approach. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(19):4766–75.
- 104. Cave J, Paschalis A, Huang CY, West M, Copson E, Jack S, Grocott MPW. A systematic review of the safety and efficacy of aerobic exercise during cytotoxic chemotherapy treatment. Support Care Cancer. 2018;26(10):3337–51.
- 105. Cavalheri V, Burtin C, Formico VR, Nonoyama ML, Jenkins S, Spruit MA, Hill K. Exercise training undertaken by people within 12 months of lung resection for non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;6(6):CD009955.
- 106. Mijwel S, Bolam KA, Gerrevall J, Foukakis T, Wengström Y, Rundqvist H. Effects of exercise on chemotherapy completion and hospitalization rates: the optiTrain breast cancer trial. Oncologist. 2020;25(1):23–32.
- 107. Mohamady HM, Elsisi HF, Aneis YM. Impact of moderate intensity aerobic exercise on chemotherapy-induced anemia in elderly women with breast cancer: a randomized controlled clinical trial. J Adv Res. 2017;8(1):7–12.
- 108. Zimmer P, Trebing S, Timmers-Trebing U, Schenk A, Paust R, Bloch W, Rudolph R, Streckmann F, Baumann FT. Eight-week, multimodal exercise counteracts a progress of

chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy and improves balance and strength in metastasized colorectal cancer patients: a randomized controlled trial. Support Care Cancer. 2018;26(2):615–24.

- 109. Møller AB, Lønbro S, Farup J, Voss TS, Rittig N, Wang J, Højris I, Mikkelsen UR, Jessen N. Molecular and cellular adaptations to exercise training in skeletal muscle from cancer patients treated with chemotherapy. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2019;145(6):1449–60.
- 110. Ballarò R, Beltrà M, De Lucia S, Pin F, Ranjbar K, Hulmi JJ, Costelli P, Penna F. Moderate exercise in mice improves cancer plus chemotherapy-induced muscle wasting and mitochondrial alterations. FASEB J. 2019;33(4):5482–94.
- 111. Runacres A, Mackintosh KA, McNarry MA. Health consequences of an elite sporting career: long-term detriment or long-term gain? A meta-analysis of 165,000 former athletes. Sports Med. 2021;51(2):289–301.
- 112. de van der Schueren MAE, Laviano A, Blanchard H, Jourdan M, Arends J, Baracos VE. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the evidence for oral nutritional intervention on nutritional and clinical outcomes during chemo(radio)therapy: current evidence and guidance for design of future trials. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(5):1141–53.
- Lévesque S, Pol JG, Ferrere G, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Trial watch: dietary interventions for cancer therapy. Onco Targets Ther. 2019;8(7):1591878.
- 114. Antoun S, Raynard B. Muscle protein anabolism in advanced cancer patients: response to protein and amino acids support, and to physical activity. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(suppl_2):ii10–7.
- 115. Poort H, Peters M, Bleijenberg G, Gielissen MF, Goedendorp MM, Jacobsen P, Verhagen S, Knoop H. Psychosocial interventions for fatigue during cancer treatment with palliative intent. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;7(7):CD012030.
- 116. Kalter J, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Sweegers MG, Aaronson NK, Jacobsen PB, Newton RU, Courneya KS, Aitken JF, Armes J, Arving C, Boersma LJ, Braamse AMJ, Brandberg Y, Chambers SK, Dekker J, Ell K, Ferguson RJ, Gielissen MFM, Glimelius B, Goedendorp MM, Graves KD, Heiney SP, Horne R, Hunter MS, Johansson B, Kimman ML, Knoop H, Meneses K, Northouse LL, Oldenburg HS, Prins JB, Savard J, van Beurden M, van den Berg SW, Brug J, Buffart LM. Effects and moderators of psychosocial interventions on quality of life, and emotional and social function in patients with cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis of 22 RCTs. Psychooncology. 2018;27(4):1150–61.
- 117. van Emmerik AA, Reijntjes A, Kamphuis JH. Writing therapy for posttraumatic stress: a meta-analysis. Psychother Psychosom. 2013;82(2):82–8.
- 118. Qi Y, Lin L, Dong B, Xu E, Bao Z, Qi J, Chen X, Tian L. Music interventions can alleviate cancer-related fatigue: a metaanalysis. Support Care Cancer. 2021;29(7):3461–70.
- 119. Atkinson TM, Liou KT, Borten MA, Li QS, Popkin K, Webb A, DeRito J, Lynch KA, Mao JJ. Association between music therapy techniques and patient-reported moderate to severe fatigue in hospitalized adults with cancer. JCO Oncol Pract. 2020;16(12):e1553–7.
- 120. Puetz TW, Morley CA, Herring MP. Effects of creative arts therapies on psychological symptoms and quality of life in patients with cancer. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173(11):960–9.
- 121. Kröz M, Mehl A, Didwiszus A, Gelin-Kröz B, Reif M, Berger B, Ten Brink F, Zerm R, Girke M, Gutenbrunner C, Büssing A. Reliability and first validity of the inner correspondence questionnaire for painting therapy (ICPTh) in a sample of breast cancer patients. Complement Ther Med. 2019;42:355–60.
- 122. Post-White J, Kinney ME, Savik K, Gau JB, Wilcox C, Lerner I. Therapeutic massage and healing touch improve symptoms in cancer. Integr Cancer Ther. 2003;2(4):332–44.
- 123. Cassileth BR, Vickers AJ. Massage therapy for symptom control: outcome study at a major cancer center. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2004;28(3):244–9.
- 124. Sand-Jecklin K, Reiser V. Use of seva stress release acupressure to reduce pain, stress, and fatigue in patients hospitalized for cancer treatment. J Hosp Palliat Nurs. 2018;20(6):521–8.
- 125. Rejeh N, Tadrisi SD, Yazdani S, Saatchi K, Vaismoradi M. The effect of hand reflexology massage on pain and fatigue in patients after coronary angiography: a randomized controlled clinical trial. Nurs Res Pract. 2020;2020:8386167.

- 126. Goldstein P, Weissman-Fogel I, Dumas G, Shamay-Tsoory SG. Brain-to-brain coupling during handholding is associated with pain reduction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018;115(11):E2528–E253.
- 127. Rieger KL, Lobchuk MM, Duff MA, Chernomas WM, Demczuk L, Campbell-Enns HJ, Zaborniak AR, Nweze S, West CH. Mindfulness-based arts interventions for cancer care: a systematic review of the effects on wellbeing and fatigue. Psychooncology. 2021;30(2):240–51.
- 128. Schell LK, Monsef I, Wöckel A, Skoetz N. Mindfulness-based stress reduction for women diagnosed with breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;3(3):CD011518.
- Haller H, Winkler MM, Klose P, Dobos G, Kümmel S, Cramer H. Mindfulness-based interventions for women with breast cancer: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Oncol. 2017;56(12):1665–76.
- 130. Cillessen L, Johannsen M, Speckens AEM, Zachariae R. Mindfulness-based interventions for psychological and physical health outcomes in cancer patients and survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Psychooncology. 2019;28(12):2257–69.
- Armer JS, Lutgendorf SK. The impact of yoga on fatigue in cancer survivorship: a metaanalysis. JNCI Cancer Spectr. 2019;4(2):pkz098.
- 132. Dong B, Xie C, Jing X, Lin L, Tian L. Yoga has a solid effect on cancer-related fatigue in patients with breast cancer: a meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2019;177(1):5–16.
- 133. Danhauer SC, Addington EL, Cohen L, Sohl SJ, Van Puymbroeck M, Albinati NK, Culos-Reed SN. Yoga for symptom management in oncology: a review of the evidence base and future directions for research. Cancer. 2019;125(12):1979–89.
- 134. Zetzl T, Renner A, Pittig A, Jentschke E, Roch C, van Oorschot B. Yoga effectively reduces fatigue and symptoms of depression in patients with different types of cancer. Support Care Cancer. 2021;29(6):2973–82.
- 135. Lin PJ, Kleckner IR, Loh KP, Inglis JE, Peppone LJ, Janelsins MC, Kamen CS, Heckler CE, Culakova E, Pigeon WR, Reddy PS, Messino MJ, Gaur R, Mustian KM. Influence of yoga on cancer-related fatigue and on mediational relationships between changes in sleep and cancer-related fatigue: a nationwide, multicenter randomized controlled trial of yoga in cancer survivors. Integr Cancer Ther. 2019;18:1534735419855134.
- 136. Ni X, Chan RJ, Yates P, Hu W, Huang X, Lou Y. The effects of Tai Chi on quality of life of cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27(10):3701–16.
- 137. Yates P, Aranda S, Hargraves M, Mirolo B, Clavarino A, McLachlan S, Skerman H. Randomized controlled trial of an educational intervention for managing fatigue in women receiving adjuvant chemotherapy for early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(25):6027–36.
- 138. Sadeghi E, Gozali N, Moghaddam Tabrizi F. Effects of energy conservation strategies on cancer related fatigue and health promotion lifestyle in breast cancersurvivors: a randomized control trial. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2016;17(10):4783–90.
- 139. Spahrkäs SS, Looijmans A, Sanderman R, Hagedoorn M. Beating cancer-related fatigue with the Untire mobile app: results from a waiting-list randomized controlled trial. Psychooncology. 2020;29(11):1823–34.
- 140. Klasson C, Helde Frankling M, Lundh Hagelin C, Björkhem-Bergman L. Fatigue in cancer patients in palliative care—a review on pharmacological interventions. Cancers (Basel). 2021;13(5):985.
- 141. With Advanced Cancer. A prospective, double-blind, and placebo-controlled study. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2020;60(5):992–1002.
- 142. Centeno C, Rojí R, Portela MA, De Santiago A, Cuervo MA, Ramos D, Gandara A, Salgado E, Gagnon B, Sanz A. Improved cancer-related fatigue in a randomised clinical trial: methyl-phenidate no better than placebo. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2020:bmjspcare-2020-002454.
- 143. Gong S, Sheng P, Jin H, He H, Qi E, Chen W, Dong Y, Hou L. Effect of methylphenidate in patients with cancer-related fatigue: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e84391.
- 144. Barton DL, Soori GS, Bauer BA, Sloan JA, Johnson PA, Figueras C, Duane S, Mattar B, Liu H, Atherton PJ, Christensen B, Loprinzi CL. Pilot study of Panax quinquefolius (American

ginseng) to improve cancer-related fatigue: a randomized, double-blind, dose-finding evaluation: NCCTG trial N03CA. Support Care Cancer. 2010;18(2):179–87.

145. Sadeghian M, Rahmani S, Zendehdel M, Hosseini SA, Zare Javid A. Ginseng and cancerrelated fatigue: a systematic review of clinical trials. Nutr Cancer. 2020;21:1–12.



12

Fertility and Sexuality in Cancer Survivors

Margherita Condorelli, Oranite Goldrat, and Isabelle Demeestere

Introduction

Cancer incidence is steadily increasing worldwide. In 2012, European countries accounted for 25% of worldwide cancer burden, with lung, prostate, breast, uterine corpus, and colorectal being the most frequently diagnosed malignancies in men and women [1]. In the pediatric (from birth to 14 years of age) and adolescent and young adult (AYA) populations (aged 15–39 years old), 10,000 and 70,000 new cases, respectively, are reported annually in North America [2]. These include mainly hematological, central nervous system (CNS), colorectal, testicular, and breast cancers [3].

In parallel, overall survival rates have improved over the last few decades, regardless of gender, age, geography, and socioeconomic conditions, thanks to early diagnosis and progress in treatment modalities such as surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy, and endocrine and targeted therapies [4]. An increasing number of young men and women worldwide are becoming cancer survivors. In 2019, around 17 million cancer survivors were reported to be living in the United States, with an estimated prevalence of more than 22 million survivors in 2030 [4].

Although multidrug approaches are often the best option, these may induce longterm side effects that severely diminish survivors' quality of life (QoL). Cancer survivors who are of reproductive age form a particular population, with specific

M. Condorelli · I. Demeestere (🖂)

Fertility Clinic, Gynecology and Obstetrics Department, CUB-Erasme Hospital, Brussels, Belgium

O. Goldrat Fertility Clinic, Gynecology and Obstetrics Department, CUB-Erasme Hospital, Brussels, Belgium e-mail: Oranite.goldrat@erasme.ulb.ac.be

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), *Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_12

Research Laboratory on Human Reproduction, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium e-mail: Margherita.Condorelli@erasme.ulb.ac.be; isabelle.demeestere@ulb.be

psychological, social, professional, sexual, and family needs and concerns related to their age at diagnosis [5]. This population copes differently with serious illness as compared to very young children or older adults [6, 7].

Sexual difficulties and/or infertility may occur after cancer therapy, regardless of whether the disease is related to reproductive or nonreproductive organs [8]. Although these issues have long been overlooked by health care providers, they are of critical importance for young cancer survivors and represent high priority and long-term priority concerns. These concerns should be systematically discussed during the acute phase of treatment but also during follow-up. However, healthcare professionals are often focused on patient survival, and discussing these contrasting topics is both difficult and can have a certain "taboo." Nevertheless, over the last few decades, awareness of patient QoL concerns has also increased, leading to the development of several fertility preservation (FP) strategies. International oncological and fertility guidelines strongly advise providing fertility counseling prior to oncological treatment [9-11]. Patients need to be informed of the potential negative impacts of cancer treatment on future fertility and of the existing options for fertility preservation before starting their treatment. Collaboration with fertility centers with specific expertise is required to offer patients access to an appropriate standard and/ or innovative strategies in order to safeguard their future reproductive potential.

Gonadotoxicity and Fertility Risk Assessment in Young Cancer Patients

Since the early 2000s, research on treatment gonadotoxicity and on FP has become a priority for a variety of reasons [12]. There has been increasing interest in cancer survivor care and QoL, including fertility in cases involving reproductive age patients. The development of novel therapeutic agents and innovative protocols in oncology, with unknown effects on gonadal function, challenges fertility counseling. Advances in therapeutic options stimulate new clinical and fundamental research that aims to provide additional evidence regarding the possible repercussions of new therapies on reproductive function.

Fertility in young cancer patients is influenced by multiple factors. First, a pelvic or gonadal cancer location can lead to direct damage, due to gonadal surgery and/or irradiation of the reproductive tract for therapeutic purposes. Moreover, indirect damage due to gonadotoxic oncological drugs occurs frequently in young patients with hematological diseases or solid tumors (e.g., breast cancer, sarcoma). Also, cancer itself can cause alterations in fertility parameters, and finally, chronic care with adjuvant therapy may not be compatible with pregnancy. Nevertheless, the occurrence of gonadal insufficiency during and after treatment remains difficult to predict for each individual patient, as it can be transitory. Therefore, it is also important to inform patients about the risk of unexpected pregnancy during and after treatment and discuss the need for contraception [9, 11].

Fertility counseling should take into account the patient's baseline characteristics such as age, ovarian reserve in women (based on antral follicular count (AFC) and



Fig. 12.1 Oncofertility counseling from cancer diagnosis to remission. * can be postponed to the remission period § multidisciplinary approach, involving the oncologist, the fertility specialist, and the obstetrician. Abbreviations: *OAT* oligoasthenospermia; *AMH* anti-Müllerian hormone; *AFC* antral follicular count; *CI* counterindication; *OS* ovarian stimulation; *TESE* testicular sperm extraction, *TT* testosterone treatment, *POF* premature ovarian failure; *HRT* Hormone Replacement Therapy

anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) value), sperm count in men, and, if necessary, endocrine and genetic parameters (Fig. 12.1). Tumor characteristics, site, prognosis, and treatment should also be taken into account when advising patients regarding an FP strategy. It is also important to recommend a follow-up to evaluate gonadal function recovery at cancer remission. Finally, the presence of predisposing genetic mutations that could potentially affect future fertility should be discussed when appropriate. The consequences of a predisposing genetic mutation for the offspring should be discussed with a medical geneticist as well as the availability of pre-implantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) for future embryos.

Gonadal Damage Induced by Oncological Treatment

As summarized in Table 12.1, oncological agents have different gonadotoxicities according to the type and cumulative dose administered [13–15]. In women, an overall negative effect on the chances of becoming pregnant after cancer diagnosis was shown by Anderson et al. in their population-matched registry study comparing 10,271 cancer survivors to 30,811 controls [16]. A drug's impact is commonly evaluated according to the age at exposure (Table 12.1). In men, sperm recovery can occur up to 5 years after the end of therapy, depending on the type of treatment administered [17]. The use of a wide range of therapeutic regimens, as well as multidrug strategies, increase the difficulty of fertility counseling. Moreover,

Treatment			
gonadotoxicity			
risk	Regimen type		
High (80%)	 Alkylating agents based regimens (cyclophosphamide equivalent dose CED >5–8 g/m²) (Melphalan, Carmustine, Lomustine, Chlorambucil, Procarbazine, Ifosfamide, Busulfan, Nitrogen mustard, Carmustine) 		
Intermediate	- CHOPP		
(40-60%)	- MOPP		
	- FEC		
	– Actinomycin D		
	- Cisplatin/carboplatin		
	- escalated BEACOPP (<30 years)		
	 Anthracycline-based regimen 		
Low (≤ 20%)	– Thiotepa		
	- Vinblastine/Vincristine		
	– Amsacrine		
	– Bleomycin		
	– Etoposide		
	- Fludarabine		
	- 6-mercaptopurine		
	– Mitoxantrone		
	- Thioguanine		
	– Interferon-α		
	– ABVD		
	– 4–6 CHOP cycles		
	– Bevacizumab		
	– Cytarabine		
	- Methotrexate		
	– Fluorouracil		
	– Taxane		
Unknown	– Monoclonal antibodies (trastuzumab, bevacizumab, cetuximab)		
	- Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (erlotinib, imatinib)		
	– Oxaliplatin		
	– Irinotecan		

Table 12.1 Treatment gonadotoxicity

Abbreviations: *TBI* total body irradiation; *CMF* cyclophosphamide methotrexate fluorouracil; *CEF* cyclophosphamide epirubicin fluorouracil; *CAF* cyclophosphamide doxorubicin fluorouracil; *TAC* docetaxel doxorubicin cyclophosphamide; *BEACOPP* doxorubicin bleomycin vincristine etoposide cyclophosphamide procarbazine; *ABVD* doxorubicin bleomycin vinblastine dacarbazine; *CHOP* cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone; *FEC* fluorouracil, epirubicin, cyclophosphamide

information is lacking on the gonadotoxicity of novel therapies, as trials on drug efficacy rarely include fertility parameters in their outcomes.

Radiotherapy has a gonadotoxic effect in both sexes (Table 12.2). In men, it can affect testicular germ cells, the Sertoli cells that support spermatogenesis, and Leydig cells that produce testosterone. Leydig cells are relatively resistant to

Radiation dose		Effect on the	
(Gy)	Effect on the testis	ovaries	Effect on the uterus
>0.15	Reversible oligozoospermia		
0.35-0.5	Reversible azoospermia ^a (in 10–18 months)	Very low risk	
≤1.5	Long-term azoospermia (recovery by 30 months)	Low risk if patient is <40 years	
2		Depletion of follicle pool by 50%	
<3		High risk of ovarian	
<5	Azoospermia (recovery >5 years)	insufficiency (60%)	
>6	Permanent azoospermia	Sterilizing dose in women >40 years	
Fractionated >2.5	Prolonged azoospermia		
>12	Leydig cell failure and testosterone deficiency		Increased risk of miscarriage, premature birth, and low birth weight
14.3		Sterilizing dose in women >30 years	
16–18		Sterilizing dose in women >20 years	
>18		Sterilizing dose in kids	
>20		Sterilizing dose at birth	
>25 Gy			During childhood, not compatible with future pregnancy
>45 Gy			Not compatible with pregnancy

 Table 12.2
 Radiation dose effects on fertility

^aRecovery does not always occur [13, 21]

radiation, ensuring testosterone production even in cases where azoospermia has occurred [18]. In women, pelvic radiation therapy is mainly applied for gynecological and colorectal cancers. Although colorectal cancer remains rarely diagnosed in patients younger than 40 years old, its incidence is increasing in the AYA population [19]. In women, radiation therapy depletes the ovarian reserve and can permanently damage the uterus. Ovarian exposure to a radiation dosage of 2.5–5 Gy can lead to premature ovarian failure (POF) in 60% of patients. A dose of \geq 12 Gy has a detrimental impact on the uterus and is associated with increased risk of miscarriage, premature birth, and low birth weight. It is generally not advisable for an AYA patient to become pregnant if the uterine dose received has been >25 Gy in childhood and >45 Gy in adulthood [13]. However, a case report described a term

pregnancy after multiple ovarian tissue transplantations and recovery of ovarian function in a patient who had received a uterine dose of 54 Gy [20].

Cancers Directly Affecting Gonadal Function

Cancer of the Reproductive Organs in Women

Worldwide, ovarian borderline and epithelial cancers were diagnosed in 30,000 women younger than 40 years old in 2012 [22]. In the last 30 years, fertility sparing surgery (FSS) for young patients of childbearing age has been implemented. This approach allows for the preservation of the uterus and the contralateral ovary (or part of it). It is considered the "gold standard" in patients with early stage malignant ovarian germ cell tumors [23] and has recently been proposed for more advanced stages of the disease [24]. The benefit of using an FSS approach has been debated since the late 1960s in newly diagnosed early stage epithelial ovarian tumors [25], with a multitude of studies showing no detrimental prognostic outcomes using FSS in selected cases. Recent guidelines have included FSS as a treatment strategy in young patients with early stage and low-grade epithelial ovarian cancers, after adequate surgical staging [26, 27]. Nevertheless, disease recurrence has been observed in 11% of cases [28], justifying fertility counseling if having a family is planned in the near future. For more advanced stage disease, the standard approach is recommended, with removal of the contralateral ovary and hysterectomy.

It is also important to mention that in 10–15% of cases, a diagnosis of ovarian cancer is associated with a BRCA1/2 mutation [29]. Even if the patient has undergone FSS, a contralateral risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy is advised at 35–40 years old.

Worldwide, cervical cancer accounted for 110,749 new cancer diagnoses in 2012, being the second most common type of cancer in women of reproductive age [22]. In young populations, FSS should be offered for FIGO stage IA1 to IB2, especially when the tumor is ≤ 2 cm and when it is an adenocarcinoma [30, 31]. FSS includes conization or radical trachelectomy, without brachytherapy, according to disease stage. This procedure is not suitable for small cell neuroendocrine tumors, gastric type adenocarcinomas, and for more advanced stages of the disease, which will need a more extensive surgery and/or chemoradiation. Even though trachelectomy is considered to be a FSS, patients have to be informed about possible obstetrical complications, related mainly to cervical factors, with a high risk of miscarriage and premature delivery that will eventually follow the procedure [32]. In the systematic review from Bentivegna et al., prematurity risk was assessed at between 39 and 57%, according to the surgical technique used [32].

Another cancer that should be mentioned because it can affect the uterus in the AYA population is endometrial cancer. Five percent of endometrial cancer patients are less than 40 years old and its incidence is increasing in parallel to endemic obesity [33]. Well-differentiated (grade1) endometrial cancer limited to the endometrium can be treated using an FSS approach (progestin-based therapy associated with control by hysteroscopy and curettage), but pregnancy should be attempted without delay once remission is confirmed after 6 months of follow-up [34].

Cancer of the Reproductive Organs in Men

Testicular cancer is the most common cancer in young men [22], with a rising incidence worldwide [35]. Five-year relative survival is of approximately 90% [36]. At diagnosis, sperm parameters may already be altered, as the tumor development is intertwined with testicular disorders and has a direct and indirect impact on spermatogenesis [37]. Surgical treatment, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy may further increase infertility risk.

Malignancies Indirectly Affecting Gonadal Function

As already mentioned, cancer itself may have an indirect effect on fertility parameters. Many studies have shown that pretreatment sperm counts can already be impaired by the disease. Recently, a multicenter, prospective, longitudinal study of 45 patients suffering from Hodgkin's lymphoma, 13 from non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, and 29 healthy controls, showed a significant decrease in sperm parameters and a significant increase in aneuploidy at diagnosis in lymphoma patients [38]. Alteration of sperm parameters has also been shown in leukemia patients and testicular cancer patients, and the integrity of sperm DNA was found to be altered in other types of cancer [39]. Conversely, studies on the female cancer population are not conclusive. A recent retrospective study on 992 oncologic patients aged 18–40 years who underwent oocyte cryopreservation from January 2007 to March 2016, showed no difference in age-adjusted oocyte yields according to the oncological disease [40]. In contrast, a retrospective monocentric study conducted between 2000 and 2014 on 306 oncologic patients who underwent ovarian stimulation (OS) for fertility preservation, showed that a significantly higher number of oocytes were retrieved from patients suffering from hematological malignancies and significantly fewer mature oocytes from the group with gynecological malignancies [41].

Fertility Preservation Strategies in Young Adults

Since the early 2000s, there has been an important development in fertility preservation procedures. Even though cryopreservation of gametes and/or embryos is the standard method to preserve fertility, research is also focusing on pharmacological gonadal protection with some promising results.

Oocyte and Embryo Freezing

Oocyte and/or embryo freezing is the first option to be proposed in young women when there is sufficient time before starting treatment and no contraindication to OS [3, 9, 11]. The time needed for OS is an average of 15 days [42], and the treatment can be started anytime during the patient's menstrual cycle using a random-start protocol [43]. At the end of the OS, mature oocytes are collected and can be either directly vitrified, or fertilized, and the embryos vitrified. Embryo vitrification is an effective technique in this setting [44]. The main disadvantage lies in the fact that embryos are shared between the patient and her partner, making it fruitless if the couple does not last. With the implementation of the vitrification technique, oocyte cryopreservation has been developing its potential, with results that are almost similar to embryo freezing [45]. In a retrospective multicenter study including all 1468 women who underwent oocyte cryopreservation for elective and medical indications between January 2007 and April 2015, 137 patients returned to the clinic to use their oocytes. The survival rate of cryopreserved oocytes to warming was 85.2% (95% confidence interval [CI] 83.2–87.2), and was higher in patients <35 years old (94.6%; 95% CI 91.9-97.3) than in patients >35 years old (82.4%; 95% CI 79.9-84.9). The live birth rate per patient was 50% (95% CI 32.7-67.3) in younger patients vs. 22.9% (95% CI 14.9-30.9) in older patients. Using Kaplan-Meier survival curves according to patient age group, the authors showed that a plateau of cumulative birth rate of 85.2% was achieved with 15 cryopreserved oocytes in the younger population, while for the older patients the plateau was achieved with 11 cryopreserved oocytes with a cumulative birth rate of 35.6% [45].

As shown by Cobo et al., oocyte cryopreservation before gonadotoxic therapy in cancer patients is as effective as in healthy women who preserve their oocytes in order to postpone motherhood (elective fertility preservation) [46]. This same group reported results from a recent multicentric retrospective study comparing 1073 women who underwent oocyte cryopreservation for oncological reasons to 5289 women who underwent elective fertility preservation. The study demonstrated significant differences between the two groups in terms of the number of collected oocytes per cycle (9.6 \pm 8.4 in the oncofertility group vs. 11.4 \pm 3.5 in the elective group), and patient age at the time of the procedure (32.3 ± 3.5) for the oncofertility group vs. 37.2 ± 4.9 years in the elective preservation group). Statistically more patients from the elective fertility preservation group have used their cryopreserved oocytes (12.1% vs. 7.4%). No statistical differences were found in oocyte survival rate (83.9% for elective preservation vs. 81.8% for oncofertility preservation) and in cumulative live births per embryo transfer (35.2% vs. 33.9%). When accounting for FP indication, there was no difference between the two groups in terms of live birth rate (odds ratio [OR] = 1.275 [95%CI = 0.711-2.284]; P = 0.414), whereas age ≤ 36 at the time of the procedure was associated with a better outcome (adj. OR = 3.106[95%CI = 2.039–4.733]; P < 0.0001) [46].

If enough time is available, it is possible to perform a double ovarian stimulation that allows more oocytes/embryos to be cryopreserved [47]. The combination of OS with an aromatase inhibitor (mainly letrozole) has been implemented in order to decrease serum estrogen levels in breast cancer patients. This strategy has been shown to be safe, although the number of studies is still limited [48]. In the largest prospective nonrandomized study on this topic, 120 breast cancer patients underwent OS with letrozole and were compared to 217 patients who did not undergo

fertility preservation. In a 5-year follow-up, no statistically significant difference was found in terms of relapse-free survival among the two groups (hazard ratio [HR] 0.77; 95% CI 0.28–2.13; P = 0.61) [49].

There have been concerns regarding whether letrozole has a negative impact on oocyte harvest [50]. A recent retrospective trial included 94 breast cancer patients undergoing OS with letrozole and 83 OS without letrozole, regardless of the tumor's endocrine receptor status. The two groups were comparable in terms of fertility baseline characteristics. Serum estradiol levels were statistically higher in the group treated without letrozole (1651 ± 1235 vs. 427 ± 332). Even though the number of oocytes retrieved was comparable in the two groups (13.1 ± 10.0 in the group without letrozole vs. 12.2 ± 8.3 in the group with letrozole), the number of mature oocytes that could be vitrified was statistically higher in the group that received OS without letrozole (10.3 ± 8.5 vs. 7.8 ± 5.3) [51].

Ovarian Tissue Cryopreservation

Ovarian tissue cryopreservation (OTC) has been recently updated from being an experimental procedure to an established medical practice by the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM) [11]. This procedure has several advantages: it can be performed immediately after the tumor diagnosis, in prepubertal patients, and in patients that already received first-line chemotherapy [52]. The technique requires ovarian biopsies or unilateral ovariectomy, usually by laparoscopy. The cortex containing the small primordial and primary follicles is separated from the medulla and cut into small fragments before being cryopreserved using a slowfreezing procedure. Vitrification is an emerging promising technique in this field that still must be proven to be as effective as slow freezing in terms of follicular survival, but currently this protocol is not yet standardized, and the number of live births remains very limited [53, 54]. After thawing, fragments are grafted onto orthotopic (residual ovary or in a pelvic peritoneal pocket) or heterotopic (subcutaneous) sites to restore ovarian function [55]. However, oocyte quality may be impaired, and only one pregnancy has been described, so far, at a heterotopic site [56]. In particular, in situations where the patient is a BRCA mutation carrier, the ovarian tissue has to be totally removed after achieving fertility restoration in order to prevent the occurrence of ovarian cancer. Orthotopic sites and, more specifically, the remaining ovaries, are probably most suitable in these cases [57].

Transplantation restores ovarian endocrine function in more than 90% of patients, allowing spontaneous conception and even multiple pregnancies [58, 59]. A recent multicentric study showed that among 1314 patients who underwent OTC before June 2018, 70 decided to attempt tissue grafting. Sixty patients could be included in the study [59]. Among these, 52 had no residual ovarian function before grafting. Menses recovered in 47 out of 50 patients (94%), as one patient could not recover her menses since she had previously been hysterectomized and another one had to undergo chemotherapy shortly after her grafting. Overall, among the 60 grafted patients, 30 had at least one pregnancy (50%) and 25 gave birth at least once

(41.6%). Thirty-three pregnancies were conceived spontaneously. Importantly, 24/60 patients had received part of their chemotherapy before OTC and there were no differences in pregnancy, live birth, and miscarriage rates compared to those who did not receive any treatment before the OTC. The mean age at OTC was 24.17 ± 4.62 years and young age has been identified as a positive success factor. Other previously published series have reported a lower success rate for this technique (~18%). This difference may be explained by the very young age of the studied population at OTC in the study from Shapira et al. [59]. Other studies have described comparable efficacy for this technique to oocyte vitrification in young patients but did not take into account the possibility of having more than one child [60]. The downside of this approach is the potential presence of malignant cells in the grafted ovarian tissue. Specific malignancies that can invade the ovaries like leukemia, Burkitt lymphoma, and ovarian carcinoma have the highest risk of neoplastic cell transmission after grafting [13]. Shapira et al. reported ovarian tissue transplantation in an acute myeloid leukemia survivor. The cryopreserved ovarian tissue underwent a complete evaluation in order to rule out the presence of malignant cells. Not all the evaluations were conclusive, but the couple decided to accept the risk. The patient became pregnant through IVF and delivered at term a healthy baby. Twenty-eight months after the grafting she was disease-free and 10 weeks pregnant by natural conception [61]. Even though this case report suggests the safety of the procedure when the tissue is collected after first-line chemotherapy and carefully analyzed for the presence of residual neoplastic cells, transplantation is still not recommended in this situation outside research protocols, and additional experimental data are urgently needed to guarantee its safety. Alternative approaches to using the cryopreserved ovarian tissue are also under development [59]. Other limitations of ovarian tissue cryopreservation techniques include the surgical and anesthesia-related risks that should be carefully evaluated. The age limit is usually set at 35 years, considering the poor risk/benefit balance in older patients [62]. Nevertheless, the age limit varies from one center to another [59].

Importantly, when there is enough time and no contraindication, these two FP approaches may be combined by starting ovarian stimulation directly after ovarian tissue cryopreservation to improve future chances of conception [62]. Finally, ovarian tissue cryopreservation can be combined with ex vivo immature oocyte collection [63]. These oocytes can be in vitro matured and cryopreserved. However, this technique is still experimental and poorly efficient, although a few pregnancies have been reported.

Sperm Freezing

In pubertal patients, the main option for fertility preservation is sperm freezing via masturbation [9–11]. Two or three samples are usually recommended according to the quality parameters and time available before starting oncological treatment to accumulate an optimal amount of sperm straws [11]. In this indication, it is not mandatory to respect the abstinence period of 48–72 h [64]. Moreover, even

when the sperm quality and quantity are not optimal, intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) can be performed, using the cryopreserved sperm, to fertilize eggs in the future [65]. Although the procedure is very easy and efficient, efforts should be pursued to discuss this option with all young patients and offer them access to it.

When patients suffer from an unpredictable erectile dysfunction (ED) on the day of sample collection, phosphodiesterase type-5 (PDE-5) inhibitors can be proposed [66]. Finally, in case of anejaculation or azoospermia, testicular sperm extraction (TESE) can be performed [11]. This technique can be combined with orchidectomy in cases of testicular cancer or with other surgery such as central venous access device placement [11].

Other Strategies: Surgical Ovarian Transposition and Ovarian Suppression

Few options are available to reduce the impact of gonadotoxic treatment in oncological patients. These options cannot replace any of the cryopreservation strategies listed above but can be combined afterward. When pelvic radiotherapy is planned, it is possible to perform a surgical ovarian transposition as advised by oncological and fertility scientific societies [10, 11]. This intervention can be combined with OTC and pelvic surgery [11]. There are multiple surgical protocols for performing surgical ovarian transposition, and the outcomes (protection of ovarian function vs chances of natural conception) vary widely among studies [67]. Another promising but highly debated strategy that can be proposed is pharmaco-protection during chemotherapy. The efficiency of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone agonists (GnRHa), such as goserelin 3.6 mg every 4 weeks during chemotherapy, has been evaluated for years with contradictory results [68]. However, the most recent randomized controlled trials (RCTs) in women affected by breast cancer suggest its efficacy in this indication [10, 11]. A pooled analysis of 873 patients randomly assigned to receive GnRHa during their chemotherapy showed a significantly higher number of pregnancies among patient who received GnRHa compared to controls (10.3% vs. 5.5%); incidence rate ratio, 1.83; 95% CI, 1.06–3.15; P = 0.030), without a detrimental impact on the disease [69]. However, other trials conducted on lymphoma patients did not show any benefit in terms of ovarian failure after treatment [70].

Reproductive and Endocrine Issues After Cancer Treatment

Following primary therapy, cancer patients may be advised to continue a long-term adjuvant treatment to reduce the risk of recurrences, such as hormonal therapy (e.g., tamoxifen in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer) or immunotherapy (trastuzumab or pertuzumab in HER2-positive breast cancer). These, and other long-term treatments, are usually not compatible with pregnancy, due to their teratogenic impacts and/or effects on ovarian function. Hence, information about contraception may be necessary to avoid unintended pregnancies [71]. For women, this means that family planning has to be postponed at the cost of further additional impact on fertility due to aging.

After gonadotoxic cancer therapy, acute or late gonadal dysfunction may be observed in both men and women. In women suffering from premature ovarian insufficiency (POI), hormonal replacement therapy (HRT) is strongly advised, as well as calcium and vitamin D supplementation to prevent osteoporosis. However, several situations could contraindicate HRT, including history of thromboembolic events, liver disease, and hormone-sensitive cancers [72]. Although guidelines generally do not recommend the use of HRT in hormonally mediated cancers, some authors have challenged this statement by using HRT in breast/endometrium and ovarian cancer survivors in specific situations [73].

Although less frequent than POI in women, male cancer survivors can suffer from testosterone deficiency [74]. Testosterone deficiency can increase the risk of developing multiple morbidities, such as hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, peripheral neuropathy, and ED [75]. Therefore, the American Urological Association recommends performing testosterone testing in all patients having undergone chemotherapy and radiation therapy [76]. The benefit of testosterone replacement therapy is not yet clearly confirmed [75, 77]. However, in young symptomatic patients, testosterone treatment could be proposed.

Once in remission, patients desiring to become pregnant should be informed about the potential risk of obstetrical complications and an appropriate follow-up should be offered accordingly. In a registry study published in 2017, 2598 births from AYA survivors were compared to 12,990 controls. The authors found that cancer survivors experienced a significantly increased prevalence of preterm birth (prevalence ratio [PR], 1.52; 95% CI, 1.34–1.71), low birth weight (PR, 1.59; 95% CI, 1.38–1.83), and cesarean delivery (PR, 1.08; 95% CI, 1.01–1.14) [78]. It is important to include in the oncofertility care team the elective collaboration with specialized maternal care obstetricians who are aware of the specific needs of cancer survivors and of their increased obstetric risks.

Cancer and Sexuality

Sexual dysfunctions are common in healthy people and include desire, arousal, and orgasmic difficulties, as well as pain, ED, and premature ejaculation. At least one complaint has been reported by 20–30% of men and 40–45% of women [79]. Several risk factors may induce or worsen symptoms, such as advanced age, cardio-vascular disease, diabetes, low socioeconomic status, mental disorders, and being an unpartnered woman [80, 81].

In the cancer patient population, estimations vary from 50–60% to 40–100% of patients experiencing sexual dysfunction(s) during and/or after treatment [82–84]. Sexual difficulties, in general, are complex and most probably multifactorial, even more so in the oncological setting.

Factors Influencing Sexuality

Although older age is commonly associated with a higher prevalence of sexual dysfunction and dissatisfaction, young cancer survivors reaching adulthood are disrupted by cancer and its treatments at crucial change-of-life stages. These events may hamper their maturation process and future long-term well-being. A recent review emphasized the negative impact cancer had on AYA survivors in relation to education level, employment challenges, financial burden, and relationship and intimacy difficulties [6]. In a study comparing 505 young breast cancer patients of 23-45 years to 622 older breast cancer patients that were 55-70 years old at diagnosis, women in the first group reported more depression, fatigue, and poorer body image than their older counterparts. They also feared disease recurrence more than postmenopausal women. When compared to healthy age-matched controls (n = 404), young breast cancer survivors experienced less sexual desire, arousal, lubrication, and orgasms. Sexual dysfunctions were often associated with hypoestrogenic symptoms, such as mood disorders, hot flashes, and vaginal dryness, that are usually due to treatment-induced ovarian damage caused by chemotherapy which, of course, was not observed in the healthy controls. Nonetheless, even in older women, these complaints were less frequent [7]. Moreover, endocrine therapy in breast cancer patients, and especially in young women, may worsen vaginal symptoms and discomfort [85].

Notwithstanding age differences, cancer can also impact sexuality even when organs associated with sexual response are not directly involved. In a recent study, 577 AYA cancer survivors, who were diagnosed in the last 4 years with reproductive or nonreproductive cancers (RC and NRC), were invited to respond to a question-naire regarding sexual changes and satisfaction as well as supportive-care needs. Of the 424 included women, cancer diagnoses were mainly breast cancer (35.5%), Hodgkin's lymphoma (15.6%), and gynecological cancers (12.1%). Of the 153 men who participated in the study, 32.9% had been treated for testicular cancer, 21.7% for Hodgkin's lymphoma, and 13.2% for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. One-third of all patients reported sexual dissatisfaction and the need for supportive care, with women displaying lower satisfaction scores than men. Women reported more sexual alterations in cases of RC compared to NRC. However, the satisfaction scores were similarly low, regardless of whether the cancer involved body parts directly related or non-related to sexual response, emphasizing the negative impact that any cancer type and therapy may have on patient sexuality.

In another study, young men diagnosed either with testicular or malignant lymphoma (RC and NRC), both reported sexual difficulties needing assistance, although in a significantly higher proportion in the testicular cancer group compared to the hematological cancer group [86].

One study compared the sexual practices and function of young sexually active male adults who were childhood and adolescence cancer survivors and their siblings. The majority of diagnosed cancers (59%) were NRC, including acute leukemia, malignant lymphoma (Hodgkin's and non-Hodgkin's), and CNS tumors. Ninety-two percent received either no or low-dose testicular radiation (<4 Gy) and

72% received either no chemotherapy (48%) or a maximum equivalent cyclophosphamide dose below 8000 mg/m² (24%) [87]. Erectile dysfunction (ED) was reported through the International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF) in 12% vs. 4% of cancer survivors and their healthy brothers, respectively.

Cancer-associated sexual difficulties may arise at any time point, whether at diagnosis, during treatment, or follow-up [88]. In hematopoietic malignancies, sexual difficulties are very common after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT). In a 5-year follow-up study following HSCT, 80% of women and 46% of men reported sexual dysfunction, compared to 61% and 21% in female and male age-matched controls. This study well illustrated the impact of cancer treatment but also of gender influence on perceived sexual difficulties [89].

Treatment Impact on Sexual Function

Treatments may impair several physiological systems such as endocrine, vascular, and nervous systems. All of these are necessary for an adequate sexual response, both in men and women. In general, all therapies that induce either hypogonado-tropic or hypergonadotropic hypogonadism, such as gonad-damaging surgery, che-motherapy, or brain or pelvic radiotherapy, will potentially lead to loss of sexual interest as well as arousal, pleasure, and orgasm difficulties. Women may experience vaginal dryness and pain, and men may suffer from ED [84].

Adequate pelvic blood circulation and peripheral nerves are necessary for arousal, erectile function, vaginal lubrication, and orgasm (including ejaculation in men). Pelvic surgeries for rectal, bladder, or reproductive-organ cancers often cause vessel and nerve damage and impact sexual function.

In cases of respiratory difficulties following lung cancer treatment, urinary or bowel incontinence induced by pelvic surgery or radiation, the presence of an ostomy, or less common situations, such as graft vs host disease (GvHD), the sexual experience may be considerably more complicated and challenging for patients and their partners. GvHD in men displays inflammatory or noninflammatory skin alterations leading to ED as well as painful intercourse and urinary symptoms. Women with GvHD may also experience urinary difficulties along with vaginal burning sensation and bleeding due to tissue atrophy [90].

Different treatment modalities may influence sexual function in various ways. In a large study on testicular cancer survivors, self-reported ED was compared between patients who had undergone orchiectomy and surveillance only (n = 1098), and either chemotherapy alone or with retroperitoneal surgery (n = 788), abdominal radiotherapy (n = 300), and multiple treatment lines (n = 74). Median follow-up was 17 years. Only partnered patients were invited to complete the IIEF questionnaire regarding sexual desire, erectile, and orgasmic function, as well as overall satisfaction. They also completed questionnaires regarding therapy-related neurotoxicity and anxiety or depression. Reassuringly, most men experienced normal erectile function (85% and 83% in the first 2
groups), and 76% and 70% in the latter 2 groups. The odds-ratio for ED was significantly increased in chemotherapy combined with retroperitoneal surgery (1.8 (95% CI 1.1–2.8)), abdominal radiotherapy (1.6 (95% CI 1.1–2.5)), and multiple treatments (2.4 (95% CI 1.2–5.1)) compared to orchiectomy followed by surveillance alone. Radiotherapy was constantly associated with less satisfaction as compared to other treatment modalities. The authors concluded that this was probably due to nerve and vascular damage caused by surgery and radiotherapy, and not only due to platin-related neurotoxicity that induced erectile or orgasmic, and ejaculatory dysfunctions [91]. Yet, anejaculation (either "dry orgasm" or retrograde ejaculation) is not necessarily associated with absence of pleasure and is accepted over time by many patients.

Similarly, some authors have observed that breast cancer patients who undergo breast reconstruction after mastectomy improve their sexual function, probably due to an improved body image. Unexpectedly, chemotherapy may actually have a higher impact on sexuality than local scarring, especially in young women experiencing chemotherapy-related acute ovarian dysfunction [92], leading, among others, to vaginal dryness and loss of libido.

Cancer diagnosis by itself may be a risk factor for sexual dysfunction. In a Scandinavian study on prostate cancer, patients with localized disease were randomly assigned to radical surgery or watchful follow-up. They were also compared to age-matched healthy controls. Eighty-four percent and 80% of prostate cancer patients in the surgery and surveillance groups, respectively, displayed ED as compared to 46% in the control group [93]. Hypogonadism or anti-androgen therapy given for prostate cancer also inevitably cause low testosterone levels, inducing low libido and ED. However, if most of a man's sexual worries are about erection and ejaculation alterations that may be initiated by treatment, it is important to keep in mind that stress, depression, and performance anxiety will worsen ED symptoms to a higher extent.

For young women who expect themselves to be healthy and desirable, cancer and its treatments disrupt their familiar self-image. They may feel less feminine and attractive, which may influence the way they will take pleasure from their body and interact with others. In the case of breast cancer surgery, modifications in self-perception may arise from the obviously visible alterations, but also from the inevitable loss of tactile and sensual sensations. Breast reconstruction following mastectomy can improve the acceptance of the modified body, but well-being and sexual satisfaction have actually been shown to be preserved in women who took an active part in the decision regarding the type of surgery [94–96], whether conservative or radical. Additionally, a positive body-image perception and sense of femininity or masculinity is complex, and depends on a person's self-confidence before cancer diagnosis.

Thus, several factors may cause sexual difficulties in young cancer survivors besides the disease and treatment themselves. Body-image alteration, chronic fatigue, anxiety, and depression also contribute to a negative self-image and increase conflicts and avoidance behaviors, leading to intimate relationship distress. It is therefore important to discuss with patients the negative impact psychological issues may have on their subsequent sexuality.

"Let us Talk About Sex, Doc"

Discussing sexuality issues with a healthcare provider in the oncology setting is a difficult matter for both patients and clinicians. Some patients may feel embarrassed to talk about what is felt to be "recreational activities" while facing a life-threatening disease. They may wait for their oncologist to raise the topic. On the other hand, clinicians are also uncomfortable talking about sexual issues for which they are not appropriately trained. Discussing sexuality is time-consuming during a clinical consultation, which is already overwhelmed by several other aspects of the treatment and its consequences [83, 97]. A study published in 2003 demonstrated that, although most of the interviewed practitioners (16 doctors and 27 nurses) thought ovarian cancer patients would experience some sexual difficulties and 98% believed sexual matters should be discussed, only 25% of doctors and 19% of nurses actually talked about these concerns with their patients. For some of the physicians, sex was a low priority subject to deal with as compared to survival [98].

A recently published meta-analysis of 29 studies conducted on patient-provider communication about sexual concerns showed that around 50% (60% men and 28% women) recalled a discussion on the negative impact of treatment on sexuality, and only 22% of patients reported receiving treatment options [99]. In a systematic review, barriers to discussing sexual dysfunction in gynecological and breast cancer patients were mainly the patient's own discomfort or their sense that their physician was embarrassed to talk about their sexual problems [100].

In the pediatric and AYA setting, there are also various barriers to discussing intimacy. A study of 22 physicians and nurses undergoing semi-structured qualitative interviews showed that sexual and reproductive health conversations mainly focused on fertility, contraception, and safe sex issues [101].

Patients may themselves somewhat put sexuality aside when diagnosed with cancer, whether they have early, recurrent, or advanced disease [102, 103]. In colorectal cancer, although intimacy remained essential, patients (n = 120 men and women) reported a current and persistent decrease in the importance of sexuality as compared to before cancer [99]. However, regardless of age, nonmetastatic partnered patients rated sexuality as more important than single or metastatic patients.

In a study carried out on 232 breast and gynecologic cancer patients, although 41.6% of women were interested in receiving care regarding sexual morbidity, only 7% actively sought help. Younger patients of 18–47 and 47–55 years were significantly more interested in getting information and advice than women of >65 years, regardless of cancer type, stage, and marital status. However, women treated at least 12 months earlier were more willing to seek counseling than women during active treatment, highlighting their loss of interest in sexuality in the acute phase. This study shows the importance of also raising these issues during follow-up [104].

Caregivers need to be appropriately trained in order to be open to discussing sexual concerns in a similar manner to other cancer-related issues. Patients then feel their difficulties are validated and are less embarrassed to talk about them. Adequate information improves patient knowledge that helps them to be more confident in coping with changes. A pilot study on multimodal intervention in 151 hematopoietic stem cell transplant survivors showed that one-third of patients (n = 50) experienced sexual dysfunction causing distress [105]. These men and women benefited from monthly visits (2–6 times) with a trained clinician who performed a thorough assessment of sexual dysfunction causes, as well as targeted interventions for each patient's needs. Participants reported significant improvement in all sexual domains, including libido, arousal, lubrication, erectile function, orgasm, and pain, as well as in overall quality of life, anxiety, and depression. Interestingly, the clinicians' education was actually quite brief, and entailed reviewing literature about assessment and treatment of sexual dysfunction in cancer survivors, receiving a 2-h training by a sexual health clinic specialist, and 2 days attendance in the sexual health clinic to gain experience regarding these issues. Finally, clinicians should also have the option of referring patients with more complex sexual issues to sexual health specialists for more appropriate follow-up.

A Few Strategies

Couple dynamics also change with a cancer diagnosis. Different intervention strategies have been studied and have been shown to be potentially beneficial for either patients and/or partners. These include, but are not limited to, family-based sessions to help deal with disease and uncertainties, sexual rehabilitation with pharmacological aid for ED, and intimacy-enhancing therapy sessions to improve couple communication [106]. However, as pointed out by the authors, in order to benefit from diverse interventions, a baseline assessment is mandatory to identify distress and/or relationship difficulties and the need for further assistance.

Each person is unique and faces sexuality and cancer differently, according to the disease, its therapies, and their known physio-pathological impact, but also due to personal preexisting factors and resilience. Indeed, the importance and previous personal satisfaction of sexuality, as well as "self-coping response" will influence the situation in a disease context [107]. Being confident in enhancing discussions of relationship and sexual concerns at any time, may actually dedramatize some of the patient's worries, and empower them to actively search for solutions and adapt to life after cancer.

Improvements can result from medical and/or psychosocial strategies (Table 12.3). All these approaches are commonly used in the general population displaying sexual dysfunctions and should be implemented in case of cancer or any other disease that may have a direct or indirect impact on sexuality. Potential complications related to surgery or radiation must be discussed beforehand, specifically arousal function (lubrication and erection) deterioration, along with offering nerve-sparing techniques whenever possible. For men, penile rehabilitation should be performed as early as possible, as tissue elasticity may decrease over time. This may involve medical procedures and regular sexual activity. Sexual satisfaction is dependent on physical as well as psychological responses to sexual activity, and counseling should always take both into consideration in order to improve our cancer survivors' sex life. Furthermore, relationship quality may be negatively impacted in

	•	e
Issues	Women	Men
Anxiety and/or depression	Psychosocial counseling	Psychosocial counseling
	Medication	Medication
Intimacy and relationship	Psychosocial counseling	Psychosocial counseling
difficulties	Couple-based interventions	Couple-based interventions
Vaginal atrophy/dryness/	Moisturizers (daily/periodic use)	
pain	Lubricants (use during	
	intercourse)	
	Estrogens (systemic ^a or local)	
	Perineal physiotherapy ^b	
	Dilators	
Erectile dysfunction		Testosterone, if indicated
		PDE5 inhibitors (daily/
		on-demand use) ^c
		Penile injections
		Vacuum erection device
		Penile implant
Body-image issues	Psychosocial counseling	Psychosocial counseling
	Regular physical exercise	Regular physical exercise
Sexual desire	Consider testosterone, if no	Testosterone, if indicated
	Contraindications	
Overall sexual function and satisfaction	Psychosocial counseling	Psychosocial counseling

Table 12.3 General recommendations for sexual and intimacy issues management

^aIf no contraindication

^bCan be used in case of vaginal atrophy and/or stenosis to regenerate vaginal tissue elasticity and help with intercourse as well as gynecological examinations [85, 108]

°Phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE5) inhibitors: are contraindicated in case of nitrate use

partnered patients, highlighting the importance of couple-based support, integrating potentially innovative sexual practices.

Conclusion

Although the prognosis for most diagnosed cancers has improved over the last few decades, cancer remains a major stressful life event at any age. Regardless of individual resilience capacities, young patients have specific concerns that include education, professional, social, and financial independence difficulties, as well as involvement in future relationships, with potential sexuality and fertility-related issues. Crucial guidelines regarding these issues have been published in the last 10 years. It is, nonetheless, once again, important to insist that health care providers should discuss these issues with their patients as soon as possible after cancer diagnosis. Fertility issues and fertility preservation options should be urgently discussed before starting gonadotoxic therapies. Nevertheless, the subject should be raised again after the acute phase, approaching patient perspectives and needs regarding their potential future parenthood.

Talking about sexuality may not be the first priority for many physicians, but this topic should also be considered, especially when cancer treatments are highly likely to have an impact on sexual function. However, specifying treatment side effects only beforehand is not sufficient, as sexual difficulties may occur long afterward. Additionally, in partnered patients, the companion should become an inherent part of the patient's follow-up, and couples' difficulties should be screened and addressed with appropriate specific management. Finally, sex and fertility represent normal and natural concerns for both men and women. They should be regular topics to raise, and oncological teams should be trained appropriately and improve multidisciplinary approaches to help their patients adapt to their new life after cancer.

References

- Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Dyba T, Randi G, Bettio M, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality patterns in Europe: estimates for 40 countries and 25 major cancers in 2018. Eur J Cancer. 2018;103:356–87.
- Close AG, Dreyzin A, Miller KD, Seynnaeve BKN, Rapkin LB. Adolescent and young adult oncology-past, present, and future. CA Cancer J Clin. 2019;69(6):485–96.
- Ward E, DeSantis C, Robbins A, Kohler B, Jemal A. Childhood and adolescent cancer statistics, 2014. CA Cancer J Clin. 2014;64(2):83–103.
- Miller KD, Nogueira L, Mariotto AB, Rowland JH, Yabroff KR, Alfano CM, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin. 2019;69(5):363–85.
- Mütsch J, Friedrich M, Leuteritz K, Sender A, Geue K, Hilbert A, et al. Sexuality and cancer in adolescents and young adults—a comparison between reproductive cancer patients and patients with non-reproductive cancer. BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):828.
- Warner EL, Kent EE, Trevino KM, Parsons HM, Zebrack BJ, Kirchhoff AC. Social wellbeing among adolescents and young adults with cancer: a systematic review. Cancer. 2016;122(7):1029–37.
- Champion VL, Wagner LI, Monahan PO, Daggy J, Smith L, Cohee A, et al. Comparison of younger and older breast cancer survivors and age-matched controls on specific and overall quality of life domains. Cancer. 2014;120(15):2237–46.
- Condorelli M, Lambertini M, Del Mastro L, Boccardo F, Demeestere I, Bober SL. Fertility, sexuality and cancer in young adult women. Curr Opin Oncol. 2019;31(4):259–67.
- Peccatori FA, Azim HA, Orecchia R, Hoekstra HJ, Pavlidis N, Kesic V, et al. Cancer, pregnancy and fertility: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and followup. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(Suppl 6):vi160–70.
- Oktay K, Harvey BE, Partridge AH, Quinn GP, Reinecke J, Taylor HS, et al. Fertility preservation in patients with cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline update. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(19):1994–2001.
- 11. Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Electronic address: asrm@asrm.org. Fertility preservation in patients undergoing gonadotoxic therapy or gonadectomy: a committee opinion. Fertil Steril. 2019;112(6):1022–33.
- Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Gemzell-Danielsson K. Twenty years of development in fertility preservation of women and girls and the challenges that remain. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2019;98(5):543–4.
- Schüring AN, Fehm T, Behringer K, Goeckenjan M, Wimberger P, Henes M, et al. Practical recommendations for fertility preservation in women by the FertiPROTEKT network. Part I: Indications for fertility preservation. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2018;297(1):241–55.

- Lambertini M, Del Mastro L, Pescio MC, Andersen CY, Azim HA, Peccatori FA, et al. Cancer and fertility preservation: international recommendations from an expert meeting. BMC Med. 2016;14:1.
- Chemaitilly W, Li Z, Krasin MJ, Brooke RJ, Wilson CL, Green DM, et al. Premature ovarian insufficiency in childhood cancer survivors: a report from the St. Jude Lifetime Cohort. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2017;102(7):2242–50.
- Anderson RA, Brewster DH, Wood R, Nowell S, Fischbacher C, Kelsey TW, et al. The impact of cancer on subsequent chance of pregnancy: a population-based analysis. Hum Reprod. 2018;33(7):1281–90.
- Okada K, Fujisawa M. Recovery of spermatogenesis following cancer treatment with cytotoxic chemotherapy and radiotherapy. World J Mens Health. 2019;37(2):166–74.
- 18. Kenney LB, Cohen LE, Shnorhavorian M, Metzger ML, Lockart B, Hijiya N, et al. Male reproductive health after childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancers: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(27):3408–16.
- Siegel RL, Fedewa SA, Anderson WF, Miller KD, Ma J, Rosenberg PS, et al. Colorectal cancer incidence patterns in the United States, 1974–2013. J Natl Cancer Inst 2017;109(8).
- Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Karlström P-O, Rezapour M, Castellanos E, Hreinsson J, Rasmussen C, et al. Full-term newborn after repeated ovarian tissue transplants in a patient treated for Ewing sarcoma by sterilizing pelvic irradiation and chemotherapy. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2015;94(3):324–8.
- Goossens E, Jahnukainen K, Mitchell RT, van Pelt A, Pennings G, Rives N, et al. Fertility preservation in boys: recent developments and new insights †. Hum Reprod Open. 2020;2020(3):hoaa016.
- Fidler MM, Gupta S, Soerjomataram I, Ferlay J, Steliarova-Foucher E, Bray F. Cancer incidence and mortality among young adults aged 20-39 years worldwide in 2012: a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(12):1579–89.
- Brown J, Friedlander M, Backes FJ, Harter P, O'Connor DM, de la Motte RT, et al. Gynecologic Cancer Intergroup (GCIG) consensus review for ovarian germ cell tumors. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2014;24(9 Suppl 3):S48–54.
- Nasioudis D, Mastroyannis SA, Haggerty AF, Giuntoli RL, Morgan MA, Ko EM, et al. Fertility preserving surgery for high-grade epithelial ovarian carcinoma confined to the ovary. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2020;248:63–70.
- Munnell EW. Is conservative therapy ever justified in stage I (IA) cancer of the ovary? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1969;103(5):641–53.
- 26. Ledermann JA, Raja FA, Fotopoulou C, Gonzalez-Martin A, Colombo N, Sessa C, et al. Newly diagnosed and relapsed epithelial ovarian carcinoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(Suppl 6):vi24–32.
- Morgan RJ, Armstrong DK, Alvarez RD, Bakkum-Gamez JN, Behbakht K, Chen L-M, et al. Ovarian cancer, version 1.2016, NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2016;14(9):1134–63.
- Bentivegna E, Gouy S, Maulard A, Pautier P, Leary A, Colombo N, et al. Fertility-sparing surgery in epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review of oncological issues. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(11):1994–2004.
- Stan DL, Shuster LT, Wick MJ, Swanson CL, Pruthi S, Bakkum-Gamez JN. Challenging and complex decisions in the management of the BRCA mutation carrier. J Women's Health (Larchmt). 2013;22(10):825–34.
- Marth C, Landoni F, Mahner S, McCormack M, Gonzalez-Martin A, Colombo N, et al. Cervical cancer: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(suppl_4):iv72–83.
- 31. National Comprehensive Cancer Network Cervical Cancer Guideline Version 1.21 [Internet]. [cited 2021 Apr 12]. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/cervical.pdf
- Bentivegna E, Maulard A, Pautier P, Chargari C, Gouy S, Morice P. Fertility results and pregnancy outcomes after conservative treatment of cervical cancer: a systematic review of the literature. Fertil Steril. 2016;106(5):1195–211.e5.

- Morice P, Leary A, Creutzberg C, Abu-Rustum N, Darai E. Endometrial cancer. Lancet. 2016;387(10023):1094–108.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network Uterine Cancer Guideline Version 1.21 [Internet]. [cited 2021 Apr 12]. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/uterine.pdf
- 35. Gurney JK, Florio AA, Znaor A, Ferlay J, Laversanne M, Sarfati D, et al. International trends in the incidence of testicular cancer: lessons from 35 years and 41 countries. Eur Urol. 2019;76(5):615–23.
- 36. Trama A, Botta L, Foschi R, Ferrari A, Stiller C, Desandes E, et al. Survival of European adolescents and young adults diagnosed with cancer in 2000-07: population-based data from EUROCARE-5. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(7):896–906.
- Moody JA, Ahmed K, Yap T, Minhas S, Shabbir M. Fertility managment in testicular cancer: the need to establish a standardized and evidence-based patient-centric pathway. BJU Int. 2019;123(1):160–72.
- Martinez G, Walschaerts M, Le Mitouard M, Borye R, Thomas C, Auger J, et al. Impact of Hodgkin or non-Hodgkin lymphoma and their treatments on sperm aneuploidy: a prospective study by the French CECOS network. Fertil Steril. 2017;107(2):341–50.e5.
- Beaud H, Tremblay AR, Chan PTK, Delbes G. Sperm DNA damage in cancer patients. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2019;1166:189–203.
- von Wolff M, Bruckner T, Strowitzki T, Germeyer A. Fertility preservation: ovarian response to freeze oocytes is not affected by different malignant diseases-an analysis of 992 stimulations. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2018;35(9):1713–9.
- Alvarez RM, Ramanathan P. Fertility preservation in female oncology patients: the influence of the type of cancer on ovarian stimulation response. Hum Reprod. 2018;33(11):2051–9.
- 42. Domingo J, Garcia-Velasco JA. Oocyte cryopreservation for fertility preservation in women with cancer. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2016;23(6):465–9.
- Cakmak H, Katz A, Cedars MI, Rosen MP. Effective method for emergency fertility preservation: random-start controlled ovarian stimulation. Fertil Steril. 2013;100(6):1673–80.
- Dolmans M-M, Manavella DD. Recent advances in fertility preservation. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2019;45(2):266–79.
- Cobo A, García-Velasco JA, Coello A, Domingo J, Pellicer A, Remohí J. Oocyte vitrification as an efficient option for elective fertility preservation. Fertil Steril. 2016;105(3):755–64.e8.
- 46. Cobo A, García-Velasco J, Domingo J, Pellicer A, Remohí J. Elective and Onco-fertility preservation: factors related to IVF outcomes. Hum Reprod. 2018;33(12):2222–31.
- Tsampras N, Gould D, Fitzgerald CT. Double ovarian stimulation (DuoStim) protocol for fertility preservation in female oncology patients. Hum Fertil (Camb). 2017;20(4):248–53.
- Lambertini M, Goldrat O, Clatot F, Demeestere I, Awada A. Controversies about fertility and pregnancy issues in young breast cancer patients: current state of the art. Curr Opin Oncol. 2017;29(4):243–52.
- Kim J, Turan V, Oktay K. Long-term safety of letrozole and gonadotropin stimulation for fertility preservation in women with breast cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;101(4):1364–71.
- 50. Goldrat O, Van Den Steen G, Gonzalez-Merino E, Dechène J, Gervy C, Delbaere A, et al. Letrozole-associated controlled ovarian hyperstimulation in breast cancer patients versus conventional controlled ovarian hyperstimulation in infertile patients: assessment of oocyte quality related biomarkers. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2019;17(1):3.
- Sonigo C, Sermondade N, Calvo J, Benard J, Sifer C, Grynberg M. Impact of letrozole supplementation during ovarian stimulation for fertility preservation in breast cancer patients. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol X. 2019;4:100049.
- Imbert R, Moffa F, Tsepelidis S, Simon P, Delbaere A, Devreker F, et al. Safety and usefulness of cryopreservation of ovarian tissue to preserve fertility: a 12-year retrospective analysis. Hum Reprod. 2014;29(9):1931–40.
- 53. Andersen ST, Pors SE, Poulsen L I C, Colmorn LB, Macklon KT, Ernst E, et al. Ovarian stimulation and assisted reproductive technology outcomes in women transplanted with cryopreserved ovarian tissue: a systematic review. Fertil Steril. 2019;112(5):908–21.

- 54. Shi Q, Xie Y, Wang Y, Li S. Vitrification versus slow freezing for human ovarian tissue cryopreservation: a systematic review and meta-anlaysis. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):8538.
- Oktay K, Taylan E, Kawahara T, Cillo GM. Robot-assisted orthotopic and heterotopic ovarian tissue transplantation techniques: surgical advances since our first success in 2000. Fertil Steril. 2019;111(3):604–6.
- 56. Tammiste T, Kask K, Padrik P, Idla K, Rosenstein K, Jatsenko T, et al. A case report and follow-up of the first live birth after heterotopic transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in Eastern Europe. BMC Women's Health. 2019;19(1):65.
- Lambertini M, Goldrat O, Toss A, Azim HA, Peccatori FA, Ignatiadis M, et al. Fertility and pregnancy issues in BRCA-mutated breast cancer patients. Cancer Treat Rev. 2017;59:61–70.
- Gellert SE, Pors SE, Kristensen SG, Bay-Bjørn AM, Ernst E, Yding AC. Transplantation of frozen-thawed ovarian tissue: an update on worldwide activity published in peer-reviewed papers and on the Danish cohort. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2018;35(4):561–70.
- 59. Shapira M, Dolmans M-M, Silber S, Meirow D. Evaluation of ovarian tissue transplantation: results from three clinical centers. Fertil Steril. 2020;114(2):388–97.
- 60. Diaz-Garcia C, Domingo J, Garcia-Velasco JA, Herraiz S, Mirabet V, Iniesta I, et al. Oocyte vitrification versus ovarian cortex transplantation in fertility preservation for adult women undergoing gonadotoxic treatments: a prospective cohort study. Fertil Steril. 2018;109(3):478–85.e2.
- 61. Shapira M, Raanani H, Barshack I, Amariglio N, Derech-Haim S, Marciano MN, et al. First delivery in a leukemia survivor after transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue, evaluated for leukemia cells contamination. Fertil Steril. 2018;109(1):48–53.
- 62. Donnez J, Dolmans M-M. Fertility preservation in women. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(17):1657–65.
- 63. Fasano G, Dechène J, Antonacci R, Biramane J, Vannin A-S, Van Langendonckt A, et al. Outcomes of immature oocytes collected from ovarian tissue for cryopreservation in adult and prepubertal patients. Reprod Biomed Online. 2017;34(6):575–82.
- 64. Nangia AK, Krieg SA, Kim SS. Clinical guidelines for sperm cryopreservation in cancer patients. Fertil Steril. 2013;100(5):1203–9.
- 65. Kathrins M, Abhyankar N, Shoshany O, Liebermann J, Uhler M, Prins G, et al. Post-thaw recovery of rare or very low concentrations of cryopreserved human sperm. Fertil Steril. 2017;107(6):1300–4.
- Halpern JA, Hill R, Brannigan RE. Guideline based approach to male fertility preservation. Urol Oncol. 2020;38(1):31–5.
- Moawad NS, Santamaria E, Rhoton-Vlasak A, Lightsey JL. Laparoscopic ovarian transposition before pelvic cancer treatment: ovarian function and fertility preservation. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2017;24(1):28–35.
- 68. Lambertini M, Horicks F, Del Mastro L, Partridge AH, Demeestere I. Ovarian protection with gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists during chemotherapy in cancer patients: from biological evidence to clinical application. Cancer Treat Rev. 2019;72:65–77.
- 69. Lambertini M, Moore HCF, Leonard RCF, Loibl S, Munster P, Bruzzone M, et al. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists during chemotherapy for preservation of ovarian function and fertility in premenopausal patients with early breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient-level data. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(19):1981–90.
- 70. Demeestere I, Brice P, Peccatori FA, Kentos A, Dupuis J, Zachee P, et al. No evidence for the benefit of gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist in preserving ovarian function and fertility in lymphoma survivors treated with chemotherapy: final long-term report of a prospective randomized trial. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(22):2568–74.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network Breast Cancer Guideline Version 1.21 [Internet]. [cited 2021 Apr 12]. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/breast.pdf
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network Survivorship Guideline Version 1.21 [Internet]. [cited 2021 Apr 12]. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/survivorship.pdf
- Angioli R, Luvero D, Armento G, Capriglione S, Plotti F, Scaletta G, et al. Hormone replacement therapy in cancer survivors: Utopia? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2018;124:51–60.

- 74. Greenfield DM, Walters SJ, Coleman RE, Hancock BW, Eastell R, Davies HA, et al. Prevalence and consequences of androgen deficiency in young male cancer survivors in a controlled cross-sectional study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(9):3476–82.
- 75. Abu Zaid M, Dinh PC, Monahan PO, Fung C, El-Charif O, Feldman DR, et al. Adverse health outcomes in relationship to hypogonadism after chemotherapy: a multicenter study of testicular cancer survivors. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2019;17(5):459–68.
- Mulhall JP, Trost LW, Brannigan RE, Kurtz EG, Redmon JB, Chiles KA, et al. Evaluation and management of testosterone deficiency: AUA guideline. J Urol. 2018;200(2):423–32.
- Xu P, Choi E, White K, Yafi FA. Low testosterone in male cancer patients and survivors. Sex Med Rev. 2021;9(1):133–42.
- Anderson C, Engel SM, Mersereau JE, Black KZ, Wood WA, Anders CK, et al. Birth outcomes among adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(8):1078–84.
- Lewis RW, Fugl-Meyer KS, Corona G, Hayes RD, Laumann EO, Moreira ED, et al. Definitions/epidemiology/risk factors for sexual dysfunction. J Sex Med. 2010;7(4 Pt 2):1598–607.
- Ponholzer A, Temml C, Mock K, Marszalek M, Obermayr R, Madersbacher S. Prevalence and risk factors for erectile dysfunction in 2869 men using a validated questionnaire. Eur Urol. 2005;47(1):80–5; discussion 85–86.
- Lee DM, Nazroo J, O'Connor DB, Blake M, Pendleton N. Sexual health and well-being among older men and women in England: findings from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Arch Sex Behav. 2016;45(1):133–44.
- Flynn KE, Jeffery DD, Keefe FJ, Porter LS, Shelby RA, Fawzy MR, et al. Sexual functioning along the cancer continuum: focus group results from the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS®). Psychooncology. 2011;20(4):378–86.
- Flynn KE, Reese JB, Jeffery DD, Abernethy AP, Lin L, Shelby RA, et al. Patient experiences with communication about sex during and after treatment for cancer. Psychooncology. 2012;21(6):594–601.
- Schover LR. Sexual quality of life in men and women after cancer. Climacteric. 2019;22(6):553–7.
- Stabile C, Goldfarb S, Baser RE, Goldfrank DJ, Abu-Rustum NR, Barakat RR, et al. Sexual health needs and educational intervention preferences for women with cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2017;165(1):77–84.
- Jonker-Pool G, Hoekstra HJ, van Imhoff GW, Sonneveld DJA, Sleijfer DT, van Driel MF, et al. Male sexuality after cancer treatment—needs for information and support: testicular cancer compared to malignant lymphoma. Patient Educ Couns. 2004;52(2):143–50.
- Ritenour CWM, Seidel KD, Leisenring W, Mertens AC, Wasilewski-Masker K, Shnorhavorian M, et al. Erectile dysfunction in male survivors of childhood cancer—a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. J Sex Med. 2016;13(6):945–54.
- Duimering A, Walker LM, Turner J, Andrews-Lepine E, Driga A, Ayume A, et al. Quality improvement in sexual health care for oncology patients: a Canadian multidisciplinary clinic experience. Support Care Cancer. 2020;28(5):2195–203.
- Syrjala KL, Kurland BF, Abrams JR, Sanders JE, Heiman JR. Sexual function changes during the 5 years after high-dose treatment and hematopoietic cell transplantation for malignancy, with case-matched controls at 5 years. Blood. 2008;111(3):989–96.
- Eeltink CM, Incrocci L, Leeuw IMV, Zweegman S. Recommended patient information sheet on the impact of haematopoietic cell transplantation on sexual functioning and sexuality. Ecancermedicalscience. 2019;13:987.
- Bandak M, Lauritsen J, Johansen C, Kreiberg M, Skøtt JW, Agerbaek M, et al. Sexual function in a nationwide cohort of 2,260 survivors of testicular cancer after 17 years of followup. J Urol. 2018;200(4):794–800.
- 92. Ochsenkühn R, Hermelink K, Clayton AH, von Schönfeldt V, Gallwas J, Ditsch N, et al. Menopausal status in breast cancer patients with past chemotherapy determines long-term hypoactive sexual desire disorder. J Sex Med. 2011;8(5):1486–94.

- 93. Johansson E, Steineck G, Holmberg L, Johansson J-E, Nyberg T, Ruutu M, et al. Long-term quality-of-life outcomes after radical prostatectomy or watchful waiting: the Scandinavian Prostate Cancer Group-4 randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(9):891–9.
- 94. Pinto AC. Sexuality and breast cancer: prime time for young patients. J Thorac Dis. 2013;5(Suppl 1):S81–6.
- Anderson C, Islam JY, Elizabeth Hodgson M, Sabatino SA, Rodriguez JL, Lee CN, et al. Long-term satisfaction and body image after contralateral prophylactic mastectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24(6):1499–506.
- 96. Hungr C, Sanchez-Varela V, Bober SL. Self-image and sexuality issues among young women with breast cancer: practical recommendations. Rev Investig Clin. 2017;69(2):114–22.
- Hordern AJ, Street AF. Communicating about patient sexuality and intimacy after cancer: mismatched expectations and unmet needs. Med J Aust. 2007;186(5):224–7.
- Stead ML, Brown JM, Fallowfield L, Selby P. Lack of communication between healthcare professionals and women with ovarian cancer about sexual issues. Br J Cancer. 2003;88(5):666–71.
- 99. Reese JB, Haythornthwaite JA. Importance of sexuality in colorectal cancer: predictors, changes, and response to an intimacy enhancement intervention. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(10):4309–17.
- 100. Dai Y, Cook OY, Yeganeh L, Huang C, Ding J, Johnson CE. Patient-reported barriers and facilitators to seeking and accessing support in gynecologic and breast cancer survivors with sexual problems: a systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. J Sex Med. 2020;17(7):1326–58.
- 101. Frederick NN, Campbell K, Kenney LB, Moss K, Speckhart A, Bober SL. Barriers and facilitators to sexual and reproductive health communication between pediatric oncology clinicians and adolescent and young adult patients: the clinician perspective. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2018;65(8):e27087.
- Andersen BL. In sickness and in health: maintaining intimacy after breast cancer recurrence. Cancer J. 2009;15(1):70–3.
- 103. Olsson C, Athlin E, Sandin-Bojö A-K, Larsson M. Sexuality is not a priority when disease and treatment side effects are severe: conceptions of patients with malignant blood diseases. J Clin Nurs. 2013;22(23–24):3503–12.
- 104. Hill EK, Sandbo S, Abramsohn E, Makelarski J, Wroblewski K, Wenrich ER, et al. Assessing gynecologic and breast cancer survivors' sexual health care needs. Cancer. 2011;117(12):2643–51.
- 105. El-Jawahri A, Fishman SR, Vanderklish J, Dizon DS, Pensak N, Traeger L, et al. Pilot study of a multimodal intervention to enhance sexual function in survivors of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Cancer. 2018;124(11):2438–46.
- Nelson CJ, Kenowitz J. Communication and intimacy-enhancing interventions for men diagnosed with prostate cancer and their partners. J Sex Med. 2013;10(Suppl 1):127–32.
- 107. Bitzer J, Platano G, Tschudin S, Alder J. Sexual counseling for women in the context of physical diseases: a teaching model for physicians. J Sex Med. 2007;4(1):29–37.
- 108. Tu FF, Holt J, Gonzales J, Fitzgerald CM. Physical therapy evaluation of patients with chronic pelvic pain: a controlled study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;198(3):272.e1–7.



13

Description and Management of Radiotherapy-Induced Long-Term Effects

Guillaume Vogin

Introduction, Epidemiology, and Grading

More than 19 million new cases of cancer are diagnosed worldwide each year [1]. Radiation therapy (RT) is involved in about 50% of cures in particular in breast, prostate, cervix, head and neck, lung, and brain cancers, as well as sarcomas [2]. Sixty percent of adults and 80% of children and adolescents treated for cancer heal so that oncologists have to follow more long survivors [3]. The majority of available RT facilities use photons to deliver the treatment plan on a target volume defined clinically or on imaging. Because of the physical properties of photon beams, as well as the infiltrating nature of tumors into the surrounding healthy tissues, uncertainties in the repositioning of the patient, the movement of organs or the tumor during a session or all of the treatment, the radiation oncologist must necessarily include a volume of healthy tissue around the target. This constraint, which cannot be totally reduced, is the cause of the potentially toxic nature of any RT.

The risk and the severity of the sequelae are directly proportional to the dose received for a given volume. Tumor and healthy tissues have their own radiation sensitivities. When prescribing the treatment, the radiation oncologist usually applies constraints on organs at risk (OAR) in the treated volume in order to inactivate the tumor cells with an "acceptable" risk of sequelae on OAR of the order of 5% at 5 years—assuming no particular individual over risk [4].

These recommended doses on OAR are mainly derived from clinical experience accumulated over more than a century of practice and were correlated to dosimetric data to get normal tissue complication probabilities (NTCP) models [5, 6]. In 2010, the QUANTEC group published a meta-analysis of quantitative clinical and

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_13

G. Vogin (🖂)

Centre Francois Baclesse, Centre National de Radiothérapie du Luxembourg, Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg e-mail: guillaume.vogin@baclesse.lu

biological data (often incomplete, including many animal data) from the literature on more than 30 organs and tissues and obtained by means of a dozen mathematical models [7]. We are awaiting more accurate guidelines from big data prospectively collected and pooled with standardized patient- or clinician-reported toxicities events correlated with remarkable values extracted from dose-volume histograms of treatment plans [8].

Overall, 3–5% of adults are estimated to suffer from late toxicity that can cause potentially serious sequelae—in absence of therapeutic deviation [9, 10]. In particular, the incidence of sequelae at least 30 years after diagnosis of cancer reaches a cumulative incidence of 73.4% in pediatric oncology [11]. A cohort of 20,227 5-year pediatric cancer survivors was followed retrospectively (Childhood Cancer Survivor Study). The diagnosis was made between 1970 and 1986. The overall excess mortality in this cohort was 10.8 times greater than in the general population (95% CI: 10.3–11.3). 21.3% of deaths were attributable to late toxicities including secondary cancers (12.7%) considered to be induced by treatment. These toxicities are essentially cardiovascular, renal, endocrine, and musculoskeletal. The incidence of late complications continued to increase with the duration of follow-up without reaching a plateau [12].

However, toxicity prevalence may be underestimated in the absence of systematic dose-outcome correlations collections during the follow-up at populational level, even if prospective clinical-dosimetric databases are emerging integrating patient-reported outcome in addition to the clinician one [13]. For instance, 1785 cancer survivors who had undergone RT reported late effects they were experiencing with an Internet-based tool. Their most common diagnoses were breast (53%), lymphoma/leukemia (10%), GI (8%), and GU (8%) cancers. Median time from diagnosis was 2.3 years. Of the whole cohort, the most common late effects reported were cognitive changes (58%), sexual changes (55%), changes in texture/color of skin (50%), and chronic pain/numbness/tingling (39%) [14].

Ultimately, RT-induced morbidity exposes patients to additional morbidity such as fatigue, pain, esthetic prejudice, depressive, and anxiety disorders as well as an additional financial cost linked to healthcare consumption, discrimination, unemployment, and poverty [15].

These late effects are characterized by a clinical latency during which intricated cellular and tissue events take place. These reactions appear more than 3 months even 6 months after the end of RT—especially in slowly renewing tissues [16]. Various clinicopathological aspects are described: occlusions, stenoses, fibrosis, necrosis, neurodegeneration, atrophy, microangiopathy, endocrine hyposecretion, etc., which can occur in all organs and tissues, and causing often irreversible loss of function in absence of therapeutic deviation [17, 18]. Sometimes consequential late effects may occur in continuation of severe early effects—which will not be detailed here [19].

Furthermore, the functional tolerance of organs to irradiation depends on their ability to continue to function as an entity, and therefore on their functional architecture [20]. Each organ is considered to be made up of subunits with a particular organization:

tissues with a series structure (spinal cord, digestive tract, nerves): the destruction of a subunit of the organ alters the entire function of this organ. A high dose

delivered on a small volume is toxic, the tolerable dose limit is represented by the (near) maximum dose.

tissues with parallel structure (lung, kidney, liver, parotid): the organ is made up
of independent subunits. The function of the organ is impaired when a number of
subunits are destroyed. The tolerance dose depends on the dose distribution
within the organ and therefore on the percentage of the organ volume irradiated.
In this case, the tolerance dose becomes a continuous function of the volume and
a high dose in a small volume is tolerable.

The overall tolerance to irradiation of an organ integrates that of the different tissues that compose it: for example, the esophagus has a mucous membrane (rapidly renewing tissue) responsible for early esophagitis during irradiation, and supporting connective tissue (slow-renewing tissue) which can lead to fibrosis and late radiation stenosis.

The National Cancer Institute (NCI) Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) is the most widely reported descriptive terminology that can be used to report adverse events. Overall, each adverse event—either patient- or clinician-reported—is classified into five levels of seriousness [21]:

- Grade 1: mild effect (temporary discomfort, malaise, discomfort)
- Grade 2: moderate effect (prolonged discomfort, reversible lesion or impairment, need for medical treatment, temporary disability)
- Grade 3: severe effect (delayed but heavy consequence for the patient, irreversible injury or impairment, permanent disability, risk of life not incurred)
- Grade 4: serious life-threatening effect (short-term fatal consequence for the patient, life-threatening risk)
- Grade 5: death

Pathophysiology of RT-Late Effects

The DNA Damage Response at a Glance [22]

After physical, physicochemical, and molecular reactions, ionizing radiations induce specific damages in the cell compartments—the most critical ones involving DNA. Among them, double-strand breaks (DSB) are complex lesions processed by a series of coordinated events within multi-protein complexes lead by the ATM protein [23]. When DSB occurs, the MRN complex (Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1) is recruited from the damaged DNA site and in turn recruits the ATM protein. Physiologically present in the cell as an inactive dimer, ATM self-phosphorylates at the 1981 serine site, resulting in de-dimerization and activation. pATM then phosphorylates H2AX which recruits several proteins to the damaged DNA site that are subsequently phosphorylated by ATM, including 53BP1, BRCA1, Chk1, and Chk2.

These substrates will then induce cell cycle arrest and the activation of checkpoints prior to DNA repair. *A contrario*, an ATM-dependent apoptosis may occur to prevent the cell from surviving. Along with other proteins, such as GADD45 and p21, the

phosphorylation of p53 disrupts cyclin-Cdk complexes causing the G1/S passage to stop or slow down. Ionizing radiation also causes G2 arrest and the accumulation of cells in the G2-M phase, the magnitude of which is generally proportional to the dose.

Homologous recombination uses DNA from the homologous chromosome as a template to faithfully repair the break. This first specific repair pathway takes place preferentially in the S and G2 phase and depends on RAD51 and BRCA proteins [24]; Nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) aims to join the flanking DNA strands without filling in the missing genetic information therefore producing a loss of genetic information. Ku80 and Ku70 proteins associate, slide on the DNA to the level of the DSB. DNA-PKcs is then recruited and the trimeric complex plays as a serine-threonine kinase activating ligase IV. NHEJ is the main DSB repair mechanism in humans [25].

Finally, the irradiated cell may either survive with accurate genetic information, or survive with unrepaired lesions in more or less critical genes, or die in the first generation, or even die after several mitoses. Radiation-induced death is the end result of various contributions that can be described as different histological and eventually coexist—such as mitotic death, senescence, and apoptosis [26].

Inflammation and Tissue Reactions [27]

RT-induced fibrosis follows a complex, long latent, and self-sustaining pathophysiology [28]. Tissue remodeling following cell death in critical substructures lead to mesenchymal, inflammatory, and epithelial cells of the microenvironment secrete pro-fibrosing factors such as TGF β 1 causing their (trans) differentiation into myofibroblasts [29]. The latter produces a particular extra cellular matrix in excess [30]. The general mechanisms of inflammation play an important role in these manifestations. In fact, during the first stages, an overproduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF α , IL1, IL6) occurs [31]. Chemokines are then released, attracting the inflammatory cells into the volume irradiated at high dose.

A disturbance in the management of oxidative stress in the irradiated volume is described [32]. Interestingly, the repair signaling pathways and those of fibrogenesis are interconnected [33].

Cofactors of Toxicity

Individual Radiosensitivity and Radiosensitive Syndromes

The distribution of the individual propensity to develop tissue reactions after exposure to a standardized dose of ionizing radiation in the general population (i.e., individual radiosensitivity—IRS) follows a Gaussian curve [34]. At the left of this curve, the patient may experience unusual severe tissue reactions although their phenotype appears grossly normal.

However, a few very rare hereditary diseases are associated with IRS (Table 13.1). These pathologies most often have an autosomal recessive mode of transmission

		Involved				
Disease	OMIM	protein(s)	Role	SF2 (%) ^a	Cancer predisposition	Associated phenotype
Ataxia telangiectasia	208,900	ATM	Recognition,	1-5	Lymphomas, leukemias,	Ataxia, telangiectasia,
			signaling, and repair		breast cancer	immunodeficiency, mental
			of DSB			retardation, premature aging,
						café au lait spots
Nijmegen breakage	251,260	NBS1	MRN complex	2-6	Lymphomas, gliomas	Microcephaly, mental
syndrome						retardation, short stature,
						immunodeficiency, infertility
NBS-like syndrome	613,078	RAD50	MRN complex	5-9	Lymphomas	Microcephaly, mental
						retardation, short stature,
						immunodeficiency
ATLD syndrome	604,391	MRE11	MRN complex,	15-40	Lymphomas	AT phenotype without
			endonuclease			telangiectasia or
			activity			immunodeficiency
ligase IV deficiency	606,593	LIG4	NHEJ, VDJ	5-9	Lymphomas	Severe Combined Immune
			recombination			Deficiency (SCID),
						Pancytopenia, Growth
						Retardation, Facial
						Dysmorphia
DNA-PKcs deficiency		DNA-PKcs	NHEJ, VDJ	8–20		SCID
			recombination			
Artémis syndrome	602,450	Artemis	NHEJ, VDJ	20-40		SCID, erythroderma,
			recombination			hepato-splenomegaly,
						lymphadenopathy, alopecia
Cernunnos syndrome	611,291	XLF/Cernunnos	NHEJ, VDJ	20-40		SCID, microcephaly, growth
			recombination			retardation, facial dysmorphia

Table 13.1 hereditary diseases associated with IRS (individual radiosensitivity)

(continued)

3.1 (continued)	-	-	-	-	-	
	OMIM	Involved protein(s)	Role	SF2 (%) ^a	Cancer predisposition	Associated phenotype
rome	603,554	RAGI, RAG2	NHEJ, VDJ recombination	30–50		SCID, erythroderma, hepato-splenomegaly, lymphadenopathy, chronic inflammation
ulinemia Irome)	300,755	BTK tyrosine kinase	NHEJ, VDJ recombination	30-50		SCID
ome	611,943	RNF168	Ubiquitine-ligase targeting H2A	10-20	Hemopathies	Microcephaly, mental retardation, short stature, immunodeficiency
ange	122,470	NIPBL, SMC1A, SMC3, RAD21	Cohesin complex	20-70	Hemangioendothelioma, nephroblastoma	Facial dysmorphia, intellectual deficit, growth retardation malformations of the extremities and visceral (cardiac, renal, etc.), gastroesophageal reflux
nia	227,650	FANC proteins incl. BRCA2	Homologous recombination, cell cycle	20-40	Hemopathies, breast cancer, squamous cell carcinomas (H&N, esophagus, vulva)	Chemosensitivity, bone marrow failure, microcephaly, visceral malformations, growth retardation, deafness, sterility, café au lait spots
lrome	113,705	BRCA1	Homologous recombination, cell cycle	20-40	Cancers of the breast, ovary, colon, pancreas, prostate	
tchinson- rome)	176,670	Lamin A	Organization of the nuclear lamina	8-19		Premature aging, growth retardation, alopecia, lipodystrophy, scleroderma

Neurodegeneration: chorea, dystonia, coordination disorders, cognitive decline, behavioral disorders	Neurodegeneration: deafness- mutism, retinitis pigmentosa	rcinoma, Photosensitivity, ccinoma, genodermatosis, deafness, microcephaly, keratitis, cataracts	Photosensitivity, genodermatosis, growth retardation, retinitis pigmentosa, deafness, premature aging	Genodermatosis, photosensitivity, growth retardation, mental retardation	, thyroid, Genodermatosis kull, fibroids,	sis, brain Café au lait spots blastomas, gnancies, embryonic
_	~	Skin basal cell ca squamous cell ca melanoma	~	~	Intestinal cancers osteomas of the s epidermoid cysts desmoid tumors	Intestinal polypo tumors—medullc hematologic mali colorectal cancer.
18-30	15-20	15-30	15-30	15-30	20-30	20-30
Vesicular transport	morphogenesis of the stereocilia bundle in hair cells and in the calycal processes of photoreceptor cells	Helicases, nucleases involved in NER	Helicases, nucleases involved in NER	Helicases, nucleases involved in NER	MMR	MMR
Huntingtin	USH proteins	XP proteins	CS proteins	TTD	APC	hMSH2
143,100	276,900	278,700	216,400	601,675	175,100	276,300
Huntington's disease	Usher syndrome	Xeroderma pigmentosum	Cockayne syndrome	Trichothiodystrophy	Gardner syndrome (Familial adenomatous polyposis)	Turcot syndrome

(continued)

	Associated phenotype	 Genodermatosis, premature aging, telangiectasias, hyper- and hypopigmentation, congenital skeletal abnormalities, growth retardation 	 Genodermatosis, premature cer aging, bilateral cataract, growth retardation, chemosensitivity 	 Genodermatosis, chemosensitivity, photosensitivity, telangiectasia, dwarfism, infertility, café au lait spots 	Marked microcephaly, mental retardation, primordial dwarfism, facial dysmorphia	, Cafe au lait spots, genodermatosis, Lish nodules	cell Genodermatosis, t, macrocephaly, skeletal ic abnormalities	Genodermatosis
	Cancer predisposition	Sarcomas, osteosarcoma	Sarcomas, osteosarcoma melanomas, thyroid can	Sarcomas, all carcinoma leukemias, lymphomas	1	Neurofibromas, MPNST gliomas	Medulloblastoma, basal carcinoma, breast cance colon cancer, odontogen keratocystic tumors	Melanoma, pancreatic cancer, breast cancer,
	SF2 (%) ^a	30–50	30-50	30-50	60-80	30-60	80-100	80-100
	Role	RecQ Helicase	RecQ Helicase	RecQ Helicase	Cell cycle, SSB, and replication forks repair	Ras inhibitor	Sonic Hedgehog receptor (development)	Cell cycle regulation
	Involved protein(s)	RecQ4	WRN	BLM	ATR	Neurofibromin	PTCH1	p16 and p14ARF
	OMIM	268,400	277,700	210,900	210,600	162,200	109,400	155,600
Table 13.1 (continued)	Disease	Rothmund-Thomson syndrome	Werner syndrome	Bloom syndrome	Seckel syndrome	Type 1 Neurofibromatosis	Basocellular naevomatosis (Gorlin syndrome)	Dysplastic nevus syndrome (FAMM)

264

Genodermatosis	 as Genodermatosis, premature aging, tear atresia, infertility, growth retardation, microcephaly, immunodeficiency, bone marrow failure, cerebellar hypoplasia 	Premature aging, mental retardation, heart and digestive malformations, growth retardation, microcephaly, hypotonia	Premature aging, infertility, delayed puberty, gynecomastia, tall stature	nas,	cute a	radiosensitive the individual (norma
Skin cancers	Squamous cell carcinom (H&N, esophagus, vagin or cervix)	Myeloproliferative syndromes, leukemias	Masculine breast cancer	Retinomas, retinoblastor sarcomas	Breast cancer, glioma, at leukemia, soft tissue sarcoma, osteosarcoma, adrenal cortex carcinoma	ower the value the more
80–100	80-100	80-100	80–100	80-100	80-100	tivity. the 1
Membrane proteins involved in zinc homeostasis (HPV barrier)	Helicase 1 regulating telomeric elongation	Inhibit the nucleoshuttling of NFATc transcription factors, which regulate development		Negative cell cycle regulator (E2F)	Apoptosis, cell cycle, DNA repair	of individual radiosensi
EVER1, EVER2	RTELI	DSCR1 and DYRK1A		RB1	P53, CHK2	er 2 Gv. marker
226,400	615,190	190,685	400,045	180,200	151,623	fraction aft
Lewandowsky and Lutz dysplasia or epidermodysplasia verruciformis	Dyskeratosis congenita	Down syndrome	Klinefelter syndrome	Hereditary retinoblastoma	Li Fraumeni syndrome	^a SF2 stands for surviving

7 E ιy, Ś 1 Ξ. = IVING HACE mc "SF2 stands for value >80%) [35]. Various phenotypes are described—sharing a poor tolerance to RT reflected by a poor SF2.¹ They are associated with abnormal DNA damage recognition or repair, induced either by chemotherapy—or RT. NHEJ defects would rather be associated with a strong immunodeficiency and a moderate to strong IRS while homologous recombination defects would rather be associated with a strong predisposition to cancer and a moderate to weak IRS. The human syndrome associated with the strongest IRS is homozygous ataxia telangiectasia [36]. One percent of the world's population carries heterozygous ATM mutations leading to a weaker but still significant IRS [37, 38].

Comorbidities

Some acquired conditions such as HIV infection [39], *diabetes mellitus* [40], obesity (bolus effect) [41], anemia, tobacco misuse, or systemic inflammatory diseases including connective tissue and inflammatory bowel diseases [42] may confer a slightly increased sensitivity to ionizing radiation due respectively to immunodeficiency, microangiopathy, or the development of autoantibodies directed against DNA repair proteins [43]. Systemic scleroderma and fibrosing diseases in general, such as idiopathic retroperitoneal fibrosis, on the other hand, are very high-risk clinical situations with cases of lethal complications post-RT repeatedly described in the literature [44].

Age

Individual sensitivity to radiation toxicity is a function of the developmental dynamics of the organ, its renewing potential, and ultimately the extent to which it has senesced [45]. Growing organs and tissue in children may suffer from particular reactions compared to adults [46, 47]. At the other end, the susceptibility to late effects in the elderly seems to involve not only a decline in wound healing but also a shift in the mechanisms of radiation-induced cell death toward senescence, interconnected with effects of comorbidities frequent in this age group.

Therapeutic Parameters

Several therapeutic parameters are related to an increased risk of radiation sequels. Due to the deterministic nature of non-carcinologic normal tissue effects, the total dose delivered is a major determinant of outcome. The variations in dose per session have a major impact on late effects—hypofractionation being much more toxic than

 $^{^{1}}$ SF2 stands for surviving fraction after 2 Gy; marker of individual radiosensitivity; the lower the value, the more radiosensitive the individual (normal value >80%).

the conventional fractionation for the same endpoint and the same volume of irradiated tissue [48]. In the same order of ideas, high dose rate and low interval between fractions (inferior to 6 h) may lead to an increased late toxicity by saturating DNA repair mechanisms in healthy tissue [49].

Severity of Early Toxicity

In mixed organs in which a barrier protecting two components with different renewing patterns is disrupted following RT, early toxicity may directly progress into late effects in the underlying tissue without healing (e.g., epithelia) [19].

Previous/Concurrent Treatments

Associated treatments may alter the cell and tissue response to IR. Several examples can be given with concurrent chemotherapy in lung, breast, or cervix cancer [50, 51]. Concurrent endocrine therapy may also be associated with an increased late radiation toxicity, e.g., lung fibrosis and subcutaneous fibrosis with tamoxifen or late gastrointestinal and genitourinary toxicity with androgen deprivation in men [52]. While often the combination was tolerated well, increased toxicities have repeatedly been reported with some targeted therapies [53] (e.g., erlotinib, bevacizumab and erlotinib, bevacizumab and oxaliplatin, BRAF inhibitors). Finally, checkpoint inhibitors may lead to a higher incidence of immune-related pneumonitis in lung cancer patients who previously received RT [54].

A recent surgery including reconstructive can also affect the late tolerance of RT.

Clinical Description of "Deterministic" Late Effects

A variety of late reactions can occur months to years after initial RT in the irradiation field. All of these reactions generally share the same pathophysiology [17, 27]. Their probability of occurrence as well as their severity are proportional to the dose received by the OAR. As these effects are predictable, they are named "deterministic"; these rules define the prescription constraints commonly applied routinely to OAR (organ at risk). We review them in Table 13.2 [55].

Ubiquitous Late Effects

Skin and Esthetic Sequelae

Three stages of increasing severity but decreasing probability are described:

• Radiodystrophy associates depilation, pigmentation disorders, telangiectasia, atrophy, and skin dryness.

OAR	Main late effects
Radiosensitive (DAR (endpoint occurring with probability >5% for dose usually <20 Gy)
Ovary	Infertility, temporary or permanent castration
Testis	Temporary or permanent infertility
Lens	Cataract
Breast	Breast atrophy
Growth plates	Growth retardation or arrest
Kidney	Nephritis
Liver	Hepatitis
Salivary glands	Temporary or permanent xerostomia
Bone marrow	± deep/prolonged aplasia
Mild sensitive O	AR (endpoint occurring with probability >5% for dose usually
20-60 Gy)	
Lung	Lung fibrosis—respiratory failure
Larynx	Dysphonia
Heart	Constrictive pericarditis, coronary artery stenosis, myocardial fibrosis, valvular damage
Small bowel	Radiation enteritis, occlusive syndrome, perforations, fistulas, malabsorption
Stomach	Late gastritis, ulceration, antral stenosis
Spinal cord	Late radiation myelitis
Hair	Depilation
Rectum	Late proctitis, ulceration, perforation, fistula
Bladder	Radiation cystitis, micro bladder, ulceration, perforation, fistula
Brain—nerves	Brain radionecrosis, leukoencephalopathy, Radiation dementia,
	Neurocognitive disorders, radiation plexitis, neuropathy
Retina	Radiation retinopathy
Thyroid	Hypothyroidism
Inner ear	Sensorineural deafness
Middle ear	Conductive deafness, chronic otitis media, eustachian tube pathology
Esophagus	Late esophagitis, ulcerations, fistulas
Mucosae	Mucositis, ulcerations, perforation
Skin	Radiodystrophy, Sclero-atrophic radiodermatitis, ulcerations
Radioresistant (DAR (endpoint occurring with probability >5% for dose usually >60 Gy)
Uterus—	Endo-cervical canal stenosis, uterine corpus fibrosis-infertility, vaginal
vagina	synechiae, ulcerations
Bone	Osteoporosis, fracture complications, osteonecrosis
Muscles	Muscle fibrosis
Joints	Ankylosis
Main arteries	Postradic arterial disease, moya-moya vasculopathy
Connective tissues	Fibrosis

 Table 13.2
 dose tolerance of the main OAR (organ at risk) in relation with late effects

• Sclero-atrophic radiodermatitis with intense tissue sclerosis; retraction and adhesions on the deep planes are responsible for deformation of the area, sometimes associated with pain, which can be intense. Neuropathic pain in the irradiated territory described as burning sensations are fleeting, intense, and favored by the slightest skin stimulation, they are often difficult to control. Late radio necrosis corresponds to deep and painful ulcerations occurring on minor trauma.

Late Radio-Mucitis

Late radio-mucitis associates discoloration, thinning, and decreased flexibility of the mucosa and induration of soft submucosal tissues associated with telangiectasias.

It can also be complicated by ulcerations or even necrosis, exposing the soft tissues and underlying bone parts.

Soft Tissue Fibrosis

Fibrosis manifests itself as a decrease in the elasticity of soft tissues. Aspecific, it can develop in all regions of the body.

Muscle Fibrosis

Loss of muscle flexibility with contractures linked to myositis may develop. When it affects the masticatory muscles trismus which can then progress to a permanent constriction of the jaws with an inter-incisor space of less than 35 mm. Ankylosis of the temporomandibular joints can reinforce this trismus. This condition can interfere with the patient's diet, oral hygiene, and communication.

Osteo-articular Effects

Exposure of large bony volumes to high dose RT may lead to osteoporosis, fracture complications, and osteonecrosis (femoral head). Medullary aplasia appears for milder dose over 40 Gy.

Osteoradionecrosis is a particular effect that deserves a deeper description provided further.

Organ/System-Specific Late Effects

Cardiac Toxicity [56, 57]

Cardiac toxicities can take several aspects in order of frequency:

- chronic pericarditis with pericardial effusions or even simple thickening detected by ultrasound. The specific prevalence is 5% if the pericardium received more than 40 Gy, with a correlated mortality of 1% for this dose.
- coronary ischemia resulting from injury to the intima of the coronary arteries (incidence of clinical involvement: 5–10%, death rate from infarction = 5% if risk factors). The distribution of arteries affected by RT reflects the dose distribution. The left anterior descending and the right coronary arteries are most often affected in patients receiving RT for Hodgkin lymphoma, and the left anterior descending artery during treatment for left-sided breast cancer.
- Myocardial fibrosis can alter cardiac compliance, leading to diastolic heart failure if dose >50 Gy

- after mediastinal irradiation fairly frequent valvular damage if >30 Gy (incidence of mitral or aortic insufficiency: up to 15–30%, mortality rate = 0.3%)
- Fibrosis in the conduction system can predispose to conduction disorders (5%)

Cardiac toxicity is potentiated by other cardiotoxic drugs such as 5FU, taxanes, or anti-HER2.

However, the meta-analysis, covering the American registry of 300,000 women treated for breast cancer between 1970 and 2001, shows a gradual decrease in the incidence of cardiotoxicity with new technologies (1990–2000) [58]. Uncertainty remains in specific toxicity induced by the internal mammary chain irradiation.

Pulmonary Fibrosis [59]

Often asymptomatic, late radiation pneumonitis promotes secondary infections. They are quite obvious at the radiological level leading to an interstitial syndrome instead of radiotherapy fields. More rarely (especially if the acute pneumonitis has been severe), chronic respiratory failure and right heart failure by chronic *cor pulmonale* can threaten the ventilatory function of patients.

Upper Limb Edema

After axillary radiotherapy, its definition was a difference of more than 2 cm in the diameter of the arm or forearm between the treated side and the contralateral arm. Its classic incidence is 8% in the event of a combination of extensive axillary dissection and radiotherapy of the axillary cavity. But in case of dissection alone or axillary radiotherapy alone, its incidence is 2%. As the dissection has reduced in height and the lymph node radiotherapy no longer includes the top of the axillary hollow, the incidence should further decrease with little or no symptomatic forms.

Without true lymphedema of the upper limb, pain in the upper limb often persists (especially after lymph node dissection), which may be accentuated by sustained muscular effort.

CNS Late Toxicity [60, 61]

Neurocognitive Disorders

RT causes frequent cognitive impairment. The most frequently encountered problems relate to disorders of attention, memorization, and overall intellectual development. The evaluation of neurocognitive sequelae is difficult since the educational and socioeconomic level intervenes.

These manifestations appear 6–12 months after the end of radiotherapy. The signs are variable and may result in

- Disturbances in attention, comprehension, or cognitive disorders,
- Learning difficulties,
- A decrease in intellectual capacities,
- Disorders, especially, of memory.

The most vulnerable patients are children under seven and the elderly.

Development is gradual, with no return to the previous cognitive state. There is not always a parallel between lesions on MRI and clinical involvement. Treatment can be implemented by the medical team.

Brain Radionecrosis

Cerebral radionecrosis is a vascular lesion of the white matter, developing in the irradiation field, secondary to chronic inflammation of the brain parenchyma, with a tendency for spontaneous extension. Its pathophysiology is not yet clear. Several hypotheses have been put forward: initially vascular or glial damage, chronic inflammation, and role of the immune system. The symptoms of radionecrosis are those of a nonspecific intracerebral expansive process. A seizure is inaugural in half of the cases, signs of intracranial hypertension and a progressive deficit syndrome (sensory, motor, or aphasia) are frequently present. The semiology often reproduces the initial signs of the primary tumor. In pituitary tumors, lesions preferentially affect the chiasma and the optic nerves causing severe visual disturbances; damage to the temporal, frontal, and hypothalamus lobes is often associated, causing cognitive impairment. The clinical and radiological characteristics of radionecrosis are finally very similar to that of tumor progression, making the discrimination of these two entities very difficult. The gold standard for the diagnosis with certainty is pathological analysis. On histological analysis, 50% of lesions are pure radionecrosis, the remaining 50% associated with radionecrosis and tumor cells without predicting their viability. The MRI shows a persistent central hypointense and an enlargement of a preexisting enhancement in T1 gadolinium associated with a hypersignal in T2 with an appearance of "Swiss cheese" or "soap bubble." Perfusion MRI, spectro-MRI, and PET amino acid imaging may provide additional arguments. Other avenues are showing interest in the differential diagnostic strategy-notably radiomics.

Cognitive Impairment Without Dementia: Leukoencephalopathy

After panencephalic irradiation, nearly half of patients present with intellectual disorders 2 years after radiotherapy, mainly relating to attentional functions and shortterm memory. The MRI sometimes shows white matter abnormalities in the form of T2 hypersignals and atrophy. The periventricular areas and the deep hemispherical white matter are most often affected. The risk is increased if treatment with Methotrexate is combined with radiotherapy.

Radiation Dementia

The clinical picture is stereotypical although not specific. The first symptoms are insidious. At the initial stage, it is an intellectual slowdown, impaired concentration, and memory impairment predominant in recent events. At a more advanced stage, cognitive disorders are more severe, characterized by apragmatism, diffuse memory disturbances, impaired judgment and reasoning, and mood disturbances. The instrumental functions (praxic, phasic) are however preserved for a long time. The neuro-psychological picture thus produces a picture of "subcortical dementia." Other manifestations may be encountered at this stage: gait disturbances with instability

and retropulsion, extrapyramidal syndrome with akinesia and rigidity, resting and/ or attitude tremor, pseudobulbar syndrome, epilepsy, incontinence. Brain imaging shows cortical atrophy that is rarely isolated, as it is most often associated with white matter abnormalities as well as ventricular dilation. T2-weighted hypersignals can spread throughout the hemispherical white matter (leucoaraiosis). The evolution is pejorative after grabatisation.

Radiation Cystitis [62]

The clinical signs of late manifestations of bladder lesions vary according to the dominant clinical form: cystalgia, pollakiuria, urgency, and isolated voiding disorders. However, the classic picture that dominates is that of recurrent hematuria, in abundance and variable frequencies up to bladder clotting with retention of urine.

In its more severe form, it may be called "small bladder" syndrome. It results clinically in intense pollakiuria, incontinence, and pelvic pain, which may require a comfort cystectomy.

Urinary incontinence secondary to irradiation of the prostatic urethra and the base of the bladder may also occur.

Late Esophagitis [59]

For a dose >45 Gy over a significant height of esophagus, patients may present with chronic reflux, retrosternal pain, and alterations in peristalsis which may precede stenosis. Dysphagia secondary to stricture or altered motility is caused by fibrosis/ muscular damage or nerve injury or odynophagia due to chronic ulceration. Rarely patients may develop a tracheoesophageal fistula and present with dyspnea secondary to aspiration pneumonia. More rarely, perforations and pseudo-diverticula may appear.

Late Gastritis

Patients may present with epigastric pain. These symptoms may be due to nonulcer dyspepsia, late gastric ulceration, or antral stenosis.

Radiation Enteritis [63]

When large volumes of bowel have been irradiated, radiation enteritis can cause wall thickening due to tissue fibrosis and restriction of the lumen of the gut. As a consequence, transit disrupts, and stenosis may result in total occlusive syndrome. Severe tissue ulcerations and necrosis can cause digestive bleeding, perforate the intestinal wall, and create enterocutaneous, enteroenteric, or entero-urinary fistulas. The most common symptoms are intestinal obstruction, malabsorption (marked by acute or chronic diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, weight loss), and, more rarely, abscesses, fistulas, melena. Patients may have bloating, excessive gas, and borborygmi due to small intestinal bacterial overgrowth. Laboratory findings include vitamin B12 deficiency due to small intestinal bacterial overgrowth, and hypoalbuminemia and anemia due to malnutrition or bleeding.

Chronic enteritis accounts for about 10% of the causes of prolonged home parenteral nutrition in adults. Treatment is based on nutritional care, with the correction of malnutrition and deficiencies. Late effects include malabsorption and diarrhea.

Surgery is required in about half of all cases. But surgery is reserved for severe injuries resistant to medical treatment, as mortality is around 15%, and morbidity can go up to 50%.

Late Proctitis [64, 65]

Late proctitis is mainly manifested by red bloodshed from the anus which may be repeated and profuse, sometimes leading to iron deficiency and anemia which may require blood transfusions. The other symptoms are diarrhea, urgent need, tenesmus, or rectal pain. Diagnosis is easily made by examining the rectum during a proctoscopy or colonoscopy which will further rule out another cause of bleeding. The endoscopic appearance of the rectal wall is variable. The mucous membrane may be frosted, whitish, and strewn with telangiectasias taking on the appearance of more or less regular, dilated, and fragile new vessels. It can also be congestive, friable, and hemorrhagic at the slightest touch. In most cases, this endoscopic appearance is sufficiently suggestive that biopsies are unnecessary.

Late Anitis [64]

The most common late complication is anorectal ulceration. Anal strictures (stenosis) or anorectal fistulas may also occur. Patients usually present with anal pain and anal incontinence.

Radiation Hepatitis [66]

A radiation-induced liver disease may occur when the whole liver receives more than 20 Gy or one-third of the liver received more than 40 Gy. The morphologic appearance is that of veno-occlusive disease. The clinical signs typically appear 4–8 weeks after the end of treatment: asthenia with rapid weight gain, ascites, hepatomegaly (jaundice rare during consultation), and hepatic cytolysis.

Nephritis [67]

Clinical nephritis is indistinguishable from renal failure from any other cause, with hypertension, albuminuria, anemia, azotemia, and small atrophic kidneys on imaging. Late nephritis has 5% prevalence 5 years after RT when a dose over 23 Gy was delivered on a single kidney—20 Gy in case of bilateral irradiation.

Ureteral strictures are rare but occur in 1-3% of cases after gynecological treatment involving brachytherapy.

Late Vulvitis/Vaginitis [68]

A late mucositis may occur in the female genital tract leading potentially painful ulcerations, thinning, atrophy, dryness, pruritus, telangiectasias, and dyspareunia. The fibrosis of the subcutaneous tissues drives a loss of elasticity or vaginal synechiae.

Uterine Late Effects

Endo-cervical canal stenosis after endo-uterine brachytherapy, pelvic heaviness and distension with uterine fibrosis and infertility.

Late Radiation Myelitis [69]

The first symptoms appear insidiously in the form of Lhermitte's sign, dysesthesia of the lower limbs with an ascending course. After several weeks, the disorders will worsen and associate with disorders of thermoalgic sensitivity, which are often asymmetric, and with motor, tetra-, or paraparetic disorders. Rarely, the symptoms set in acutely, within hours. The clinical examination finds Brown-Sequard syndrome in half of the cases. Most often, the picture is completed within a few months with the onset of quadriplegia or paraplegia and the onset of sphincter disorders. Sometimes the symptoms stabilize, allowing the patient to remain ambulatory. MRI is not specific: in the acute stage, it may be normal during the first weeks, then show a lesion with T1 hypointense, T2 hypersignal taking up a contrast in a heterogeneous manner, sometimes in a ring and accompanied by perilesional edema; at a later stage, the marrow is atrophic.

Peripheral Neuropathy and Plexitis [70]

Radiation toxicity is related to dose and affects both axons directly and the vasa nervorum, resulting in fibrosis and microinfarction of nerve tissue. Various clinical presentations may occur according to the anatomic territory and corresponding to different damage to nerve roots, nerve plexus, or nerve trunks. Cranial nerve injury predominantly involves the optic nerve. When RT-induced optic neuropathy affects the anterior part of the optic nerve, ophthalmological findings are those of acute ischaemic anterior optic neuropathy with acute loss in visual acuity. However, chronic damage to the posterior portion of the optic nerve or chiasma is the most frequent (posterior radiation-induced optic neuropathy), with gradual impairment of visual acuity. The most serious complication is involvement of the brachial plexus, resulting in disorders of varying intensity, sensory and motor disorders, and even gross brachial plexitis. Clinically, brachial plexopathy starts with subjective paresthesia or dysesthesia which usually decreases with the development of hypoesthesia then anesthesia. Neuropathic pain is generally rare and moderate. Motor weakness is progressive, often delayed by several months, and then associated with fasciculations and amyotrophy. On the other end, delayed progressive lumbosacral radiculoplexopathy is characterized by the absence of sensory signs and paresthesia in contrast to signs of peripheral neurogenic motor involvement, such as amyotrophy and fasciculations. Central signs are lacking, apart from possible associated medullar damage, and the handicap progresses in severity after a few years. Finally, peripheral nerve trunks can be damaged following a RT-induced fibrotic compression—with an aspecific semiology.

Postradic Arterial Disease [71]

Postradic arterial disease of large and medium caliber vessels usually manifests several years after cervical or cerebral irradiation with extremes ranging from

4 months to 24 years and mainly affects patients who were irradiated in childhood. Anatomically, the most common vascular lesions are arterial stenoses or occlusions similar to those of atherosclerosis. Other lesions can be observed: adventitial or periadventitial sclerosis; the primary lesion of the vasa vasorum leading to a modification of elastic fibers and muscle cells, telangiectasias, aneurysm. They are the cause of transient or established ischemic attacks. In the event of cervical irradiation, the lesions involve the primary, internal and external carotid arteries, the subclavian arteries, and more rarely the vertebral arteries. The arteriographic appearance of radiation arterial disease shows several types of abnormalities: stenosis or occlusion of the large extra- or intracranial vessels, Moya-Moya-type collateralization network, more rarely the appearance of diffuse cerebral arteritis, pseudodysplastic segmental dilations, and aneurysms. Located to the Willis polygon, Moya-Moya disease is a vasculopathy with a particular semiology. Patients gradually develop ischemic attacks, epilepsy, motor paralysis, and dementia.

Late Endocrine Effects [72]

Hypothalamohypophyseal insufficiency may be seen after radiation therapy for brain tumor or nasopharyngeal cancer (the hypothalamus is likely to be more radiosensitive than the pituitary). In children, it mainly involves a decrease in the secretion of growth hormone and is clinically manifested as growth retardation. In adults, it is most commonly expressed as hypogonadism and hypothyroidism. Hyperprolactinemia is frequently associated and indicates predominant involvement of the hypothalamus. The disorders are in principle reversible with substitutive hormone therapy.

Peripheral Deficits

Hypothyroidism can occur as soon as the dose exceeds 10 Gy on the gland.

Osteoradionecrosis [73]

Osteoradionecrosis is an exogenous osteitis characterized by a RT-induced bone necrosis which can lead to bone denudation, fistula, or fracture, accompanied by more or less intense pain. Osteoradionecrosis occurs following a mechanical or infectious trauma that offends an already weakened irradiated bone. It mainly affects the mandible, and more particularly the internal cortex of the premolo-molar region and the retromolar trigone. It seems that the risk is greater the closer the tumor is to the bone. A tumor invading the bone would multiply the risk by 4. It is also two to three times higher in patients with dentures.

The initial phase of osteoradionecrosis is very often asymptomatic, causing little pain and reduced functional discomfort.

In more advanced stages, the pain is comparable to that generated by dry socket. Other associated symptoms include dysesthesia, halitosis, dysgeusia, and retention of food in exposed areas.

In the most severe cases, patients will present with epidermal and oral mucositis that will fistulize, with complete denudation of the bone, orostoma, and pathological fractures.

Tooth Decay and Abnormalities [74]

In children, irradiation of the oral cavity causes dental agenesis, arrest of root formation, microdontia, and enamel dysplasia.

Such consequences are not observed in adults, in whom the effects are mainly due to xerostomia, and not to a direct action of ionizing radiation on the teeth.

Clinically, in the irradiated subject, caries begins with an alteration in the color of the teeth, which take on a more or less dark color, generally orange. Deep black "ebony teeth" are quite rare. The process which is responsible for it is poorly explained, different from decay since the resistance of these elements to decay is certain. These "ebony teeth" are characterized by black or dark coloration, the result of oxidation-reduction phenomena resulting from changes in the ecology of the oral environment, but not corresponding to caries damage. Post-radiation caries is localized, initially, on the smooth surfaces of the tooth, whereas in traditional caries, these are respected for a long time because of the salivary protection in a healthy patient. The decay begins electively at the level of the collar and the free edge of the teeth and it causes dentin softening which will result in the partial destruction of the dental crown, giving it the appearance of a tooth constricted at the collar.

Xerostomia

Xerostomia is one of the most debilitating sequelae of head and neck radiotherapy. It makes speech difficult, and food is often only possible without taking fluids. Xerostomia promotes the development of oral yeast infection and dental caries. Dysgeusia is associated with hyposialia. Most often transient but sometimes lasting, it is expressed in two ways: either with the disappearance of the perception of taste or by alteration of the mainly salty or bitter taste.

Otologic Consequences [75]

Late otologic sequels can lead to conductive, sensorineural, or mixed hearing loss depending on the structure involved. When middle ear is concerned, post-RT chronic otitis media and the eustachian tube pathology may lead to conductive deafness. Irradiation alone causes little auditory sequelae up to doses of 54 Gy. On the other hand, the potentiation with Cisplatinum is important and it is preferable not to exceed 45–50 Gy on the hearing organs in case of association.

Gonadal Consequences [76]

In the girl:

Pelvic, craniospinal, and a fortiori total body irradiation can have gonadal and uterine consequences. Ovarian risks start from 2 Gy in total body irradiation and ovarian failure is almost constant after 30 Gy on the pelvis. Irradiation of the flank (e.g., Wilms tumor) at 20–30 Gy does not a priori have any consequences for the ovaries. The uterus is a very radiosensitive organ in young girls. Pregnancies are rare after 10–15 Gy, spontaneous abortions are frequent and low birth weight is the rule.

In the boy:

The germinal epithelium is the most sensitive: doses of the order of 3 Gy cause transient azoospermia. After 12 Gy, azoospermia is often permanent.

Endocrine testicular function is retained up to 20 Gy before puberty and up to 30 Gy thereafter.

Specific Considerations in Pediatrics [77]

Particular clinical entities need to be prevented and watched by the pediatric radiation oncologist:

- the slowing down—or even arrest—of growth linked to (1) the irradiation of the growth plate of the long bones causing a shortening of the limb, responsible for a functional handicap (2) the heterogeneous irradiation of the vertebrae leading to disorders of the vertebral statics. After irradiation of the hip: epiphysiolysis of the femoral head or aseptic osteonecrosis of the femoral head may occur.
- the higher incidence of intellectual sequelae after brain irradiation. The publications of late effects after RT for medulloblastoma showed a delayed, progressive, age- and dose-dependent IQ damage.
- insidious endocrine sequelae after brain or topic irradiations: pituitary, thyroid, and gonadal insufficiency with their specific complications. GH deficiency is the most common complication of irradiation of the hypothalamic-pituitary axis. Pituitary GH insufficiency can occur as early as 20 Gy. Disorders of TSH and ACTH secretion require higher doses of the order of 36–40 Gy.

Clinical Description of "Stochastic" Late Effects

Stochastic effects appear on average much later than the deterministic effects, usually several years after exposure to radiation. The existence of a threshold dose remains debated, that is, a low dose can lead to complication and the severity remains the same regardless of the dose. On the other hand, the probability of occurrence increases with the dose received. A typical example of stochastic effects is second malignancies in the irradiated area. The carcinogenic property of radiation has been well documented through historic studies of exposed pediatric populations for treatment of *Tinea capitis*, hemangiomas of the skin, or atomic bomb explosion.

Even if RT appears justified in terms of cure benefit, 1-2% of the survivors suffer from a secondary radiation-induced malignancy 5-50 years later.

This risk appears to be increased when a large volume of healthy tissue is irradiated and in case of associated chemotherapy (alkylating agents or topoisomerase II inhibitors)—especially in children.

 Girls are twice as likely as boys. The risk is also greater the younger the child is. Some associations between primary and secondary entities have been described, e.g., hereditary retinoblastoma, Hodgkin's disease, and soft tissue sarcomas. Genetic predispositions are reported: Li Fraumeni syndrome, Von Lippel-Lindau disease, and neurofibromatosis are associated with an increased risk of second cancers.

	Dose-dependence
Second cancer whose risk appears increased	relationship
Breast, lung, ENT, esophagus, stomach, colorectal, kidney, thyroid, brain, sarcomas, female genitals	Breast, lung, stomach
Lung, esophagus, stomach, pancreas, colorectal, kidney, bladder, sarcomas	Stomach
Contralateral breast, lung, esophagus, sarcomas	Contralateral breast
Bladder, kidney, rectum, endometrium, ovary	Rectum, bladder, genitals
Colorectal, bladder, sarcomas	
	Second cancer whose risk appears increased Breast, lung, ENT, esophagus, stomach, colorectal, kidney, thyroid, brain, sarcomas, female genitals Lung, esophagus, stomach, pancreas, colorectal, kidney, bladder, sarcomas Contralateral breast, lung, esophagus, sarcomas Bladder, kidney, rectum, endometrium, ovary Colorectal, bladder, sarcomas

 Table 13.3
 Second cancers depending on the radiotherapy applied to the first primary

2. There is a correlation between RT dose and secondary malignancy probability.

Some clinical associations are well-known from the radiation oncologists who watch survivors from childhood cancer (Table 13.3):

- Hodgkin and breast cancer: the risk of breast cancer is multiplied by 4 after 10 years of follow-up and the rate of breast cancer reaches 30% in women 30 years after treatment. It would appear that the risk is also higher if the irradiation occurs during puberty. Screening is essential in this population.
- Secondary brain tumors after prophylactic or curative whole brain RT for lymphoblastic leukemia and primary brain tumors.
- Osteosarcoma after retinoblastoma, Ewing tumors, and soft tissue sarcoma. The relative risk is respectively 30.5 and 2.4 after these pathologies. Classically, radiation-induced osteosarcomas are more serious than the primary ones.
- In addition to hormonal insufficiency, there is a significant risk of cancerization in the case of the thyroid. The risk is linear between 1 and 10 Gy then increases more slowly after 20 Gy but remains high up to 40 Gy.

Current Management of Late Effects

Primary Prevention

The screening of constitutionally radiosensitive patients by means of IRS diagnostic tests could allow an a priori adaptation of their cancer treatment. It would thus be possible to recommend therapeutic alternatives, or to adapt the dose or volumes treated to the individual status, provided these modifications are validated in non-inferiority clinical trials. Several approaches are proposed [78]: radiation-induced lymphocyte apoptosis [79], quantification of radiation-induced pATM [80], TGFβ1

genetic variation [81], spontaneous transcriptomic signature targeting RNA involved in RT-induced fibrosis. However, there is currently no standard technique recommended for daily practice. Recommendations were recently published by the *American Society for Radiation Oncology* [82].

In order to improve the tolerance profile of RT, we can also raise various physical, technological, and biological approaches.

Hyperfractionation consists of delivering a dose per session lower than 1.8 Gy eventually more than one session a day. The total dose is higher, but the total duration of treatment does not vary. This hyperfractionation has a protective effect on slowly renewing tissues affected by late toxicities, provided that a period of 4–6 h is observed between the fractions [83].

Reducing the tissue volume irradiated at high doses also reduces the incidence of toxicities. Advanced techniques of external beam RT, brachytherapy, and hadrontherapy meet this objective [84]. Controlling patient and organ movements during or between RT sessions is also moving in this direction through the development of image-guided RT and adaptive RT. Protocols for partial irradiation of organs are being evaluated in order to reduce the tissue volume irradiated at high doses in selected indications, in particular, in breast and bladder cancer [85].

The protective power of selective thiol-containing agents against radiation damage to normal tissues has been known for more than 40 years [86]. Multiple randomized clinical trials have evaluated amifostine for the prevention of xerostomia in patients receiving RT or chemoradiotherapy for head and neck cancer. These trials have given conflicting results, and the role of amifostine in this setting remains uncertain. The routine use of amifostine has been abandoned in most institutions due to severe adverse reactions leading to contra-productive RT protraction.

Secondary Prevention: Treatment of Subclinical Chronic Reactions and Early Diagnosis of Sequels

Early diagnosis of toxicities is possible when subclinical biological or radiological signs appear in relation to unusual early or late toxicity events. Imaging methods are developing in that intent—such as radiomics and functional MRI [87, 88].

Biological biomarkers are also being studied; e.g., TGF- β 1 and IL-6 in prediction of radiation lung disease [89].

When an unusual early toxicity occurs, specific supportive care may prevent the onset of generic or even Consequential Late Effects. Corticosteroids, in particular topicals, occupy a prominent place. RT can then be continued, interrupted momentarily or even definitively depending on the severity of the reactions. In the second situation, the total dose can be increased to counter the effects of tumor repopulation.

Tertiary Prevention: Treatment of Symptomatic Sequels

Radiation-induced late complications are generally considered irreversible with a complex pathophysiology involving chronic inflammation, micro vasculopathy, fibrosis, and necrosis. When identified during the long-term follow-up, countermeasures may be proposed to mitigate these reactions. Depending on their severity and impact on survival quality, the current strategies include:

- 1. anti-inflammatory treatments (steroids or nonsteroids) and angiotensin II receptor antagonists [90]; Steroids at a minimal dose of 1 mg/kg/day for a minimum of 4–6 weeks are recommended.
- 2. antioxidant treatments such as superoxide dismutase, tocopherol (vitamin E) preferably combined with pentoxifylline [91]. Randomized trials evidenced the benefit of the combination on the prevention or reversion of radiation-induced fibrosis. However, the prophylactic use of pentoxifylline is currently not established as a routine management approach. In therapeutic intent, the recommended posology is pentoxifylline (800 mg/day) plus tocopherol (1000 units/ day) for at least 6 months.
- 3. Bevacizumab has been proposed as a treatment for RN by its anti-edematous action via the reduction in vascular permeability. It helps prevent angiogenesis by inhibiting VEGF and therefore slows the progression of radionecrosis in brain, in particular [92, 93].
- 4. Invasive conservative surgeries such as dilatation and stent implantation for stenoses (e.g., esophagus, ureter), and surgical treatment of adhesions and strictures—keeping in mind that interventions potentially can worsen the underlying fibrosis, and thereby exacerbating symptoms. Targeting telangiectasia, Argon plasma electrocoagulation consists of monopolar electrocoagulation without contact with the treated mucosa using an inert, colorless, nonflammable, and nontoxic gas [94]. The coagulation obtained is homogeneous on the surface and, in principle, limited in depth (2–3 mm). Several sessions are often necessary with a correlation between the number of sessions required and the extent of the lesions to be treated. Many open studies have reported effectiveness rates of over 80% on bleeding after 1-3 sessions on average. Some complications have been described, in particular, fever with bacteremia, urinary disorders, mucosal ulcerations, hemorrhages from pressure ulcers, rectal strictures, and some colonic perforations attributed to an endoluminal accumulation of colonic gas. In addition, argon plasma electrocoagulation may be ineffective, especially with heavy bleeding that "absorbs" and renders the electric current inoperative. Similarly, certain radiation lesions of the lower rectum, as well as very extensive diffuse congestive proctitis, are other limitations of the technique. Formalin treatment may be an alternative in proctitis. Another therapeutic option, MRI-guided laser thermal ablation was evaluated in a prospective multicenter study including 42 patients with brain radionecrosis or histologically confirmed progression. This treatment carries little risk and seems effective for radionecrosis with 100% local control and more than 80% survival at 6 months.

- 5. Hypoxia reversion with hyperbaric oxygen (HBO) [95]; The benefit of HBO has been assessed in RT-induced lymphedema in breast cancer and jaw osteoradio-necrosis and proctitis. In practice, daily 45–120 min sessions are carried out on an outpatient basis in a hyperbaric chamber. Compression ranges from 2 to 2.5 atmospheres. The total number of sessions is variable because the response time to treatment is random and because there is no consensus on a maximum number of compressions beyond which treatment would be in vain. Clinical cases and open studies with at least 100 patients have reported efficacy rates of over 75% on bleeding after an average of 24–67 sessions.
- 6. In addition to the difficulties of its implementation in practice, complications have been reported, especially, such as barotraumatic otitis, chest pain, or visual disturbances, most often transient. In fact, a preliminary examination of the ear-drums is necessary and certain contraindications (claustrophobia, cardiac conduction disorders, poorly controlled epilepsy, bronchopathy, pneumothorax, etc.) must be observed.
- 7. Cell therapy has recently been shown to be effective in the context of severe accidental irradiation, consisting of injecting autologous mesenchymal stem cells in situ [96].

References

- IARC. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020.
- Miller KD, Nogueira L, Mariotto AB, Rowland JH, Yabroff KR, Alfano CM, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin. 2019;69(5):363–85.
- Ward E, DeSantis C, Robbins A, Kohler B, Jemal A. Childhood and adolescent cancer statistics, 2014. CA Cancer J Clin. 2014;64(2):83–103.
- 4. Rubin P, Casarett GW. Clinical radiation pathology as applied to curative radiotherapy. Cancer. 1968;22(4):767–78.
- Burman C, Kutcher GJ, Emami B, Goitein M. Fitting of normal tissue tolerance data to an analytic function. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1991;21(1):123–35.
- Authors on behalf of I, Stewart FA, Akleyev AV, Hauer-Jensen M, Hendry JH, Kleiman NJ, et al. ICRP publication 118: ICRP statement on tissue reactions and early and late effects of radiation in normal tissues and organs—threshold doses for tissue reactions in a radiation protection context. Ann ICRP. 2012;41(1–2):1–322.
- Marks LB, Yorke ED, Jackson A, Ten Haken RK, Constine LS, Eisbruch A, et al. Use of normal tissue complication probability models in the clinic. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76(3 Suppl):S10–9.
- Constine LS, Ronckers CM, Hua CH, Olch A, Kremer LCM, Jackson A, et al. Pediatric Normal Tissue Effects in the Clinic (PENTEC): an international collaboration to analyse normal tissue radiation dose-volume response relationships for paediatric cancer patients. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2019;31(3):199–207.
- 9. Mohanti BK, Bansal M. Late sequelae of radiotherapy in adults. Support Care Cancer. 2005;13(10):775–80.
- UNSCEAR. UNSCEAR 2008 report vol. II: effects of ionizing radiation. Vienna: United Nations; 2008. 320 p.
- Oeffinger KC, Mertens AC, Sklar CA, Kawashima T, Hudson MM, Meadows AT, et al. Chronic health conditions in adult survivors of childhood cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(15):1572–82.

- Hudson MM, Mertens AC, Yasui Y, Hobbie W, Chen H, Gurney JG, et al. Health status of adult long-term survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. JAMA. 2003;290(12):1583–92.
- Dueck AC, Mendoza TR, Mitchell SA, Reeve BB, Castro KM, Rogak LJ, et al. Validity and reliability of the US National Cancer Institute's Patient-Reported Outcomes Version of the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (PRO-CTCAE). JAMA Oncol. 2015;1(8):1051–9.
- Hill-Kayser CE, Vachani C, Hampshire MK, Jacobs LA, Metz JM. An internet tool for creation of cancer survivorship care plans for survivors and health care providers: design, implementation, use and user satisfaction. J Med Internet Res. 2009;11(3):e39.
- 15. Liu L, O'Donnell P, Sullivan R, Katalinic A, Moser L, de Boer A, et al. Cancer in Europe: death sentence or life sentence? Eur J Cancer. 2016;65:150–5.
- Baumann M, Holscher T, Begg AC. Towards genetic prediction of radiation responses: ESTRO's GENEPI project. Radiother Oncol. 2003;69(2):121–5.
- 17. Dorr W. Radiobiology of tissue reactions. Ann ICRP. 2015;44(1 Suppl):58-68.
- Rodemann HP, Blaese MA. Responses of normal cells to ionizing radiation. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2007;17(2):81–8.
- 19. Dorr W, Hendry JH. Consequential late effects in normal tissues. Radiother Oncol. 2001;61(3):223–31.
- Withers HR, Taylor JM, Maciejewski B. Treatment volume and tissue tolerance. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1988;14(4):751–9.
- Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) v5.0: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2017. https://ctep.cancer.gov/protocoldevelopment/electronic_applications/docs/CTCAE_v5_Quick_Reference_5x7.pdf.
- 22. Vogin G. [Radiosensitivity, radiocurability and DNA repair]. Cancer Radiother 2011;15(4):294–306.
- Matsuoka S, Ballif BA, Smogorzewska A, McDonald ER 3rd, Hurov KE, Luo J, et al. ATM and ATR substrate analysis reveals extensive protein networks responsive to DNA damage. Science (New York, NY). 2007;316(5828):1160–6.
- San Filippo J, Sung P, Klein H. Mechanism of eukaryotic homologous recombination. Annu Rev Biochem. 2008;77:229–57.
- 25. Lieber MR. The mechanism of human nonhomologous DNA end joining. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(1):1–5.
- Mirzayans R, Andrais B, Scott A, Wang YW, Murray D. Ionizing radiation-induced responses in human cells with differing TP53 status. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14(11):22409–35.
- 27. Bentzen SM. Preventing or reducing late side effects of radiation therapy: radiobiology meets molecular pathology. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006;6(9):702–13.
- Yarnold J, Brotons MC. Pathogenetic mechanisms in radiation fibrosis. Radiother Oncol. 2010;97(1):149–61.
- 29. Wynn TA. Fibrotic disease and the T(H)1/T(H)2 paradigm. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(8):583–94.
- Martin M, Lefaix J, Delanian S. TGF-beta1 and radiation fibrosis: a master switch and a specific therapeutic target? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;47(2):277–90.
- Rubin P, Johnston CJ, Williams JP, McDonald S, Finkelstein JN. A perpetual cascade of cytokines postirradiation leads to pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;33(1):99–109.
- 32. Mikkelsen RB, Wardman P. Biological chemistry of reactive oxygen and nitrogen and radiation-induced signal transduction mechanisms. Oncogene. 2003;22(37):5734–54.
- Wang M, Saha J, Hada M, Anderson JA, Pluth JM, O'Neill P, et al. Novel Smad proteins localize to IR-induced double-strand breaks: interplay between TGFbeta and ATM pathways. Nucleic Acids Res. 2013;41(2):933–42.
- 34. Burnet NG, Johansen J, Turesson I, Nyman J, Peacock JH. Describing patients' normal tissue reactions: concerning the possibility of individualising radiotherapy dose prescriptions based on potential predictive assays of normal tissue radiosensitivity. Steering Committee of the
BioMed2 European Union Concerted Action Programme on the Development of Predictive Tests of Normal Tissue Response to Radiation Therapy. Int J Cancer. 1998;79(6):606–13.

- Andreassen CN, Alsner J. Genetic variants and normal tissue toxicity after radiotherapy: a systematic review. Radiother Oncol. 2009;92(3):299–309.
- 36. Taylor AM, Harnden DG, Arlett CF, Harcourt SA, Lehmann AR, Stevens S, et al. Ataxia telangiectasia: a human mutation with abnormal radiation sensitivity. Nature. 1975;258(5534):427–9.
- 37. Khanna KK. Cancer risk and the ATM gene: a continuing debate. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92(10):795–802.
- 38. Ho AY, Fan G, Atencio DP, Green S, Formenti SC, Haffty BG, et al. Possession of ATM sequence variants as predictor for late normal tissue responses in breast cancer patients treated with radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;69(3):677–84.
- Chak LY, Gill PS, Levine AM, Meyer PR, Anselmo JA, Petrovich Z. Radiation therapy for acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-related Kaposi's sarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 1988;6(5):863–7.
- Amoaku WM, Archer DB. Cephalic radiation and retinal vasculopathy. Eye (Lond). 1990;4(Pt 1):195–203.
- Mukesh M, Harris E, Jena R, Evans P, Coles C. Relationship between irradiated breast volume and late normal tissue complications: a systematic review. Radiother Oncol. 2012;104(1):1–10.
- 42. Giaj-Levra N, Sciascia S, Fiorentino A, Fersino S, Mazzola R, Ricchetti F, et al. Radiotherapy in patients with connective tissue diseases. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(3):e109–e17.
- Takeda Y, Dynan WS. Autoantibodies against DNA double-strand break repair proteins. Front Biosci. 2001;6:D1412–22.
- 44. Gold DG, Miller RC, Pinn ME, Osborn TG, Petersen IA, Brown PD. Chronic toxicity risk after radiotherapy for patients with systemic sclerosis (systemic scleroderma) or systemic lupus erythematosus: association with connective tissue disorder severity. Radiother Oncol. 2008;87(1):127–31.
- 45. Paulino AC, Constine LS, Rubin P, Williams JP. Normal tissue development, homeostasis, senescence, and the sensitivity to radiation injury across the age spectrum. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2010;20(1):12–20.
- 46. Bernier-Chastagner V, Hettal L, Gillon V, Fernandes L, Huin-Schohn C, Vazel M, et al. Validation of a high performance functional assay for individual radiosensitivity in pediatric oncology: a prospective cohort study (ARPEGE). BMC Cancer. 2018;18(1):719.
- 47. Rube CE, Fricke A, Schneider R, Simon K, Kuhne M, Fleckenstein J, et al. DNA repair alterations in children with pediatric malignancies: novel opportunities to identify patients at risk for high-grade toxicities. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(2):359–69.
- 48. Nahum AE. The radiobiology of hypofractionation. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2015;27(5):260–9.
- 49. Hall EJ. Radiobiology for the radiologist. 8th ed. Wolters Kluwer; 2018.
- 50. Toledano A, Garaud P, Serin D, Fourquet A, Bosset JF, Breteau N, et al. Concurrent administration of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery enhances late toxicities: long-term results of the ARCOSEIN multicenter randomized study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;65(2):324–32.
- Girinsky T, Cosset JM. [Pulmonary and cardiac late effects of ionizing radiations alone or combined with chemotherapy]. Cancer Radiother 1997;1(6):735–743.
- Bentzen SM, Skoczylas JZ, Overgaard M, Overgaard J. Radiotherapy-related lung fibrosis enhanced by tamoxifen. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1996;88(13):918–22.
- Niyazi M, Maihoefer C, Krause M, Rodel C, Budach W, Belka C. Radiotherapy and "new" drugs-new side effects? Radiat Oncol (Lond). 2011;6:177.
- Voong KR, Hazell SZ, Fu W, Hu C, Lin CT, Ding K, et al. Relationship between prior radiotherapy and checkpoint-inhibitor pneumonitis in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer. 2019;20(4):e470–e9.
- 55. Bentzen SM, Constine LS, Deasy JO, Eisbruch A, Jackson A, Marks LB, et al. Quantitative Analyses of Normal Tissue Effects in the Clinic (QUANTEC): an introduction to the scientific issues. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;76(3 Suppl):S3–9.

- 56. Sardaro A, Petruzzelli MF, D'Errico MP, Grimaldi L, Pili G, Portaluri M. Radiation-induced cardiac damage in early left breast cancer patients: risk factors, biological mechanisms, radio-biology, and dosimetric constraints. Radiother Oncol. 2012;103(2):133–42.
- Kammerer E, Le Guevelou J, Jacob S, Geffrelot J, Danhier S, Saloux E, et al. [Cardiac complications of breast radiation therapy]. Bull Cancer 2019;106(4):379–388.
- 58. Darby SC, McGale P, Taylor CW, Peto R. Long-term mortality from heart disease and lung cancer after radiotherapy for early breast cancer: prospective cohort study of about 300,000 women in US SEER cancer registries. Lancet Oncol. 2005;6(8):557–65.
- 59. Simone CB 2nd. Thoracic radiation normal tissue injury. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2017;27(4):370-7.
- Ricard D, De Greslan T, Soussain C, Bounolleau P, Sallansonnet-Froment M, Delmas JM, et al. [Neurological damage of brain tumor therapy]. Rev Neurol (Paris) 2008;164(6–7):575–87.
- Smart D. Radiation toxicity in the central nervous system: mechanisms and strategies for injury reduction. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2017;27(4):332–9.
- Elliott SP, Malaeb BS. Long-term urinary adverse effects of pelvic radiotherapy. World J Urol. 2011;29(1):35–41.
- 63. Yeoh E. Radiotherapy: long-term effects on gastrointestinal function. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care. 2008;2(1):40–4.
- 64. Reis ED, Vine AJ, Heimann T. Radiation damage to the rectum and anus: pathophysiology, clinical features and surgical implications. Color Dis. 2002;4(1):2–12.
- 65. Nicholas S, Chen L, Choflet A, Fader A, Guss Z, Hazell S, et al. Pelvic radiation and normal tissue toxicity. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2017;27(4):358–69.
- Munoz-Schuffenegger P, Ng S, Dawson LA. Radiation-induced liver toxicity. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2017;27(4):350–7.
- 67. Cassady JR. Clinical radiation nephropathy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;31(5):1249-56.
- Grigsby PW, Russell A, Bruner D, Eifel P, Koh WJ, Spanos W, et al. Late injury of cancer therapy on the female reproductive tract. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1995;31(5):1281–99.
- 69. Wong CS, Fehlings MG, Sahgal A. Pathobiology of radiation myelopathy and strategies to mitigate injury. Spinal Cord. 2015;53(8):574–80.
- Delanian S, Lefaix JL, Pradat PF. Radiation-induced neuropathy in cancer survivors. Radiother Oncol. 2012;105(3):273–82.
- Murphy ES, Xie H, Merchant TE, Yu JS, Chao ST, Suh JH. Review of cranial radiotherapyinduced vasculopathy. J Neuro-Oncol. 2015;122(3):421–9.
- 72. Rose SR, Horne VE, Howell J, Lawson SA, Rutter MM, Trotman GE, et al. Late endocrine effects of childhood cancer. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2016;12(6):319–36.
- Siddiqui F, Movsas B. Management of radiation toxicity in head and neck cancers. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2017;27(4):340–9.
- Moore C, McLister C, Cardwell C, O'Neill C, Donnelly M, McKenna G. Dental caries following radiotherapy for head and neck cancer: a systematic review. Oral Oncol. 2020;100:104484.
- Jereczek-Fossa BA, Zarowski A, Milani F, Orecchia R. Radiotherapy-induced ear toxicity. Cancer Treat Rev. 2003;29(5):417–30.
- 76. van Santen HM, van de Wetering MD, Bos AME, Vd Heuvel-Eibrink MM, van der Pal HJ, Wallace WH. Reproductive complications in childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2020;67(6):1187–202.
- Armstrong GT, Stovall M, Robison LL. Long-term effects of radiation exposure among adult survivors of childhood cancer: results from the childhood cancer survivor study. Radiat Res. 2010;174(6):840–50.
- Ferlazzo ML, Bourguignon M, Foray N. Functional assays for individual radiosensitivity: a critical review. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2017;27(4):310–5.
- Ozsahin M, Crompton NE, Gourgou S, Kramar A, Li L, Shi Y, et al. CD4 and CD8 T-lymphocyte apoptosis can predict radiation-induced late toxicity: a prospective study in 399 patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(20):7426–33.
- 80. Granzotto A, Benadjaoud MA, Vogin G, Devic C, Ferlazzo ML, Bodgi L, et al. Influence of nucleoshuttling of the ATM protein in the healthy tissues response to radiation therapy:

toward a molecular classification of human radiosensitivity. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;94(3):450-60.

- 81. Grossberg AJ, Lei X, Xu T, Shaitelman SF, Hoffman KE, Bloom ES, et al. Association of transforming growth factor beta polymorphism C-509T with radiation-induced fibrosis among patients with early-stage breast cancer: a secondary analysis of a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(12):1751–7.
- Bergom C, West CM, Higginson DS, Abazeed ME, Arun B, Bentzen SM, et al. The implications of genetic testing on radiation therapy decisions: a guide for radiation oncologists. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2019;105(4):698–712.
- 83. Fu KK, Pajak TF, Trotti A, Jones CU, Spencer SA, Phillips TL, et al. A Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) phase III randomized study to compare hyperfractionation and two variants of accelerated fractionation to standard fractionation radiotherapy for head and neck squamous cell carcinomas: first report of RTOG 9003. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;48(1):7–16.
- Thariat J, Hannoun-Levi JM, Sun Myint A, Vuong T, Gerard JP. Past, present, and future of radiotherapy for the benefit of patients. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2013;10(1):52–60.
- 85. Cowan RA, McBain CA, Ryder WD, Wylie JP, Logue JP, Turner SL, et al. Radiotherapy for muscle-invasive carcinoma of the bladder: results of a randomized trial comparing conventional whole bladder with dose-escalated partial bladder radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;59(1):197–207.
- Patt HM, Tyree EB, Straube RL, Smith DE. Cysteine protection against X irradiation. Science (New York, NY). 1949;110(2852):213–4.
- Fried DV, Das SK, Marks LB. Imaging radiation-induced normal tissue injury to quantify regional dose response. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2017;27(4):325–31.
- Evans ES, Hahn CA, Kocak Z, Zhou SM, Marks LB. The role of functional imaging in the diagnosis and management of late normal tissue injury. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2007;17(2):72–80.
- Anscher MS, Kong FM, Andrews K, Clough R, Marks LB, Bentel G, et al. Plasma transforming growth factor beta1 as a predictor of radiation pneumonitis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1998;41(5):1029–35.
- Moulder JE, Fish BL, Cohen EP. ACE inhibitors and AII receptor antagonists in the treatment and prevention of bone marrow transplant nephropathy. Curr Pharm Des. 2003;9(9):737–49.
- Delanian S, Porcher R, Balla-Mekias S, Lefaix JL. Randomized, placebo-controlled trial of combined pentoxifylline and tocopherol for regression of superficial radiation-induced fibrosis. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(13):2545–50.
- Le Rhun E, Dhermain F, Vogin G, Reyns N, Metellus P. Radionecrosis after stereotactic radiotherapy for brain metastases. Expert Rev Neurother. 2016;16(8):903–14.
- Levin VA, Bidaut L, Hou P, Kumar AJ, Wefel JS, Bekele BN, et al. Randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial of bevacizumab therapy for radiation necrosis of the central nervous system. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;79(5):1487–95.
- Sebastian S, O'Connor H, O'Morain C, Buckley M. Argon plasma coagulation as first-line treatment for chronic radiation proctopathy. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;19(10):1169–73.
- 95. Clarke RE, Tenorio LM, Hussey JR, Toklu AS, Cone DL, Hinojosa JG, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment of chronic refractory radiation proctitis: a randomized and controlled double-blind crossover trial with long-term follow-up. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(1):134–43.
- 96. Bey E, Prat M, Duhamel P, Benderitter M, Brachet M, Trompier F, et al. Emerging therapy for improving wound repair of severe radiation burns using local bone marrow-derived stem cell administrations. Wound Repair Regen. 2010;18(1):50–8.



14

Evidence-Based Screening for Recurrence

Leonidas Mavroeidis and George Pentheroudakis

Abbreviations

- CT Computed tomography LVI Lymphovascular invasion MRI Magnetic resonance imaging
- NED No evidence of disease
- US Ultrasound

Breast Cancer

In this chapter, the surveillance for breast cancer recurrence will refer to the followup of breast cancer patients with No Evidence of Disease (NED) after completion of primary therapy including surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy.

No randomized trial so far can confirm a specific protocol of follow-up [1]. Based on ESMO, ASCO, and NCCN recommendations, the elements of surveillance include regular history and physical examination as well as mammography [2–4]. The purpose of history and physical examination is to reveal possible symptoms and signs of local and systematic recurrence but the evidence on the optimal frequency is inconclusive [1]. Mammographic surveillance is intended to detect both local recurrence and contralateral breast cancer. Annual mammography is the standard of care but the evidence on the optimal scheduling is also insufficient [5]. MRI has not been proven superior so far as compared to mammography [6] but it may be considered in patients with genetic predisposition.

L. Mavroeidis (🖂) · G. Pentheroudakis

Department of Medical Oncology, University Hospital of Ioannina, Ioannina, Greece e-mail: gpentheroudakis@cosmotemail.gr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_14

	×
Recommended	Assessment
Patient education (symptoms and signs)	Lumps, nipple discharge, changes of breast skin and surgical incision, weight loss, anorexia, fatigue, bone pain, cough, chest pain, dyspnea, abdominal pain, headache, vomiting, jaundice, abdominal distention, muscular strength, sensory and gait abnormalities, speech, vision and memory disturbances, and confusion
History and physical examination	Every 3–4 months in the first 2 years (every 6 months for low risk and DCIS), every 6–8 months for years 3–5, and then annually
Mammography	Annually
Not routinely recomm	ended
CBC, LFTs, ALP, tumor markers	As clinically indicated
(CA-15.3), CT scan	

Table 14.1 Breast cancer surveillance strategy

In the absence of symptoms, there is no survival advantage to incorporate laboratory and imaging studies compared with simple clinical follow-up, as revealed by two randomized trials [7, 8] and a meta-analysis [9]. However, these are studies conducted in an era of outdated diagnostic and therapeutic modalities that may confound this evidence [10]. New trials are needed to evaluate subsets of patients with specific recurrence patterns and molecular subtypes.

An indicative follow-up strategy is in Table 14.1.

Colorectal Cancer

Posttreatment surveillance in colorectal cancer is intended to identify potentially resectable disease recurrence with the aim to improve survival. Although it remains debatable, intensive surveillance seems to favor survival as compared to less intensive follow-up. The evidence has been obtained from patients with stage II and III disease, whereas there are only limited data from patients with stage I and resected stage IV disease with no evidence of disease (NED).

Results from randomized controlled trials are conflicting. Several meta-analyses have shown improved survival in patients who underwent intensive surveillance [11–14]. However, the most recent update of a Cochrane meta-analysis failed to demonstrate survival benefit in the intensive follow-up group despite having received more salvage operations with curative intent [15]. This discordance could be attributed to the large heterogeneity regarding the surveillance strategies applied in different trials [16], with differences in the elements, duration, frequency, and population of the follow-up.

In line with the ESMO [17], ASCO [18], and NCCN [19] guidelines, an intensive protocol of surveillance is recommended. History and physical examination, periodic CT scanning, CEA measurement, and colonoscopy are the approved elements of surveillance. The optimal surveillance strategy is debatable and the suggested protocols are based on expert panel consensus. Complete blood count, liver function

Recommended	Assessment
History and physical examination and CEA	Every 3–6 months the first 3 years and every 6–12 months at years 4 and 5
CT abdomen, pelvis, chest	Every 6–12 months the first 3 years for patients with higher risk of relapse (e.g., stage III, high-risk stage II) and then as clinically indicated until year 5
Endoscopy	One year after surgery and every 3–5 years thereafter
Not recommended	
CBC, LFTs PET/CT, Ro chest, FOB	As clinically indicated

 Table 14.2
 Colorectal cancer surveillance strategy

tests, fecal occult blood testing, chest radiography, and PET/CT are not endorsed elements by any expert panel.

An indicative follow-up strategy is in Table 14.2.

Gastric Cancer

Gastric cancer recurrence after curative resection can be categorized as locoregional (either at the resection site or within the lymph nodes), peritoneal, or hematogenous.

Recurrent gastric cancer is not usually amenable to surgical resection due to the aggressive nature of the disease. Palliative chemotherapy offers survival benefit as compared to best supportive care [20] but there are no randomized trials assessing whether an intensive surveillance with endoscopy, imaging, and laboratory studies performs better compared to a clinical follow-up.

Data derived from retrospective studies indicate that intensive strategies may result in earlier detection of recurrence but without improving overall survival [21–23]. Considering the lack of strong evidence, the components, frequency, and duration of follow-up are currently based on experts' consensus [24].

The ESMO guidelines suggest that the follow-up should be adapted to the individual patient and stage of the disease [25]. The NCCN suggests a specific protocol which stratifies patients according to the risk of recurrence [26].

Considering the most recent recommendations, we propose the following surveillance protocol in Table 14.3 in line with the NCCN.

Lung Cancer

Surveillance after lung cancer therapy with curative intent may lead to the early detection of an asymptomatic relapse and of a second primary.

In NSCLC, data from retrospective studies suggest a surveillance strategy which includes regular clinical examination and CT scans [27, 28]. The randomized NLST trial demonstrated a decrease in mortality when high-risk patients without a

Recommended			
investigation	Tis (ER)	Stage I	Stages II and III
History and	Every 3-6 months the	Every 3–6 months the	Every 3–6 months the
physical	first 2 years, every	first 2 years, every	first 2 years, every
examination	6-12 months for years	6–12 months for years	6-12 months for years
	3–5, and annually	3–5, and annually	3–5, and annually
	thereafter	thereafter	thereafter
CT abdomen,	As clinically indicated	As clinically indicated	Every 6-12 months the
pelvis, chest			first 2 years and then
			annually until year 5
Endoscopy	Every 6 months the	T1a (ER): Every	As clinically indicated
	first year and then	6 months the first year	if treated with partial or
	annually for 3 years	and then annually for	subtotal gastrectomy
		5 years	No role in total
		T1a and T1b	gastrectomy (unless
		(surgery): as clinically	symptomatic)
		indicated	
CBC and	As clinically indicated	As clinically indicated	As clinically indicated
biochemistry			

 Table 14.3
 Gastric cancer surveillance strategy

ER endoscopically resected; Tis T in situ

previous history of lung cancer were screened with low-dose CT compared to simple X-ray. However, that was a study examining a screening method instead of a surveillance strategy [29]. A meta-analysis of heterogeneous trials has shown that intensive follow-up with regular imaging was associated with a nonsignificant trend towards improved survival [30]. However, preliminary results from the IFCT-0302 trial did not find any difference in the OS between a surveillance strategy consisting of clinical examination and CT compared to clinical examination and chest X-ray. Considering a trend towards better survival in the CT arm, the authors commented that longer follow-up may reveal a benefit [31]. Regarding FDG-PET/CT, it did not perform better at detecting disease recurrence compared to standard radiologic examinations in a prospective study [32].

The ESMO, ASCO, and NCCN guidelines recommend a follow-up with history and physical examination plus CT chest every 6 months for the first 2 years with the aim to detect disease recurrence and annually thereafter with a focus to reveal a second primary [33–35].

There is a lack of evidence on surveillance after definitive treatment for SCLC. The experts' panels suggest a frequent follow-up due to the high risk of recurrence [35]. Although most relapses are incurable, an intensive follow-up may detect asymptomatic recurrences while patients are in good PS [36, 37]. Furthermore, patients having been treated for SCLC are also at high risk for developing a second primary [38].

Regarding the use of brain MRI as part of the surveillance strategy, there is a lack of evidence from randomized trials for both NSCLC and SCLC [35]. Indirect evidence suggests that brain MRI is of value for the follow-up of SCLC patients [35]. Given the high incidence of brain metastases in SCLC and considering that

Recommended	NSCLC (stages I, II, III)	SCLC (stages I, II, III)
History and	Every 6 months for the first	Every 3 months for the first year. Every
Physical examination	2 years and annually thereafter	3–6 months for the second year with lengthening of the interval thereafter
Imaging	CT chest including adrenals every 6 months for the first 2 years and low-dose CT chest annually thereafter	CT scan every 3–6 months for the first 2 years with lengthening of the interval thereafter. Annual low-dose CT chest after 5 years. MRI brain every 3 months for the first year, every 6 months for the second year. As clinically indicated thereafter
Not recommended		
Circulating		
biomarkers,		
FDG-PET/CT		

 Table 14.4
 Lung cancer surveillance strategy

prophylactic cranial irradiation (PCI) increases the OS in patients with SCLC in complete remission [39], brain MRI may lead to early detection of asymptomatic brain lesions and treatment before the development of debilitating neurological symptoms with potential benefit in the quality of life. There is currently no recommendation for brain MRI in the follow-up of NSCLC patients [35].

In line with the most recent ASCO guidelines and considering the ESMO and NCCN recommendations on lung cancer surveillance [35], we recommend the following protocol in Table 14.4.

Testicular Germ Cell Cancer

Although the cure rates of testicular cancer are high, there is always a risk of relapse [40]. Recurrent testicular cancer can be curable thus justifying the need for surveillance.

Surveillance after treatment with curative intent is tailored to the histology, stage, type of therapy, and treatment success [41]. There is a lack of evidence from randomized studies on the optimal follow-up. The elements of follow-up include history and physical examination, tumor markers, and radiologic examinations [41–44]. Currently, there is a tendency to reduce the frequency of CT scans due to concerns about potential radiation-induced malignancy [45].

With reference to the ESMO guidelines, patients can be stratified in the three following surveillance plans [41].

Patients with seminoma stage I (on active surveillance or after adjuvant carboplatin or radiotherapy). Most relapses occur within the first 2 years and mainly concern the para-aortic nodes [46]. Abdominal CT or MRI are the recommended radiologic studies. The rate of thoracic recurrence is low and there is no role for chest X-ray or CT chest unless clinically indicated [47]. Although the tumor markers only rarely increase in seminoma relapse without radiologic evidence [48],

at the moment they are recommended by ESMO [41], considered optional by NCCN [43], whereas the ASCO panel has recommended against its use in the surveillance of patients with stage I seminoma [49].

Patients with non-seminoma stage I on active surveillance. The majority of relapses also occur within the first 2 years and most of them within a year post orchiectomy [40, 50]. Patients with high-risk non-seminoma with lymphovascular invasion (LVI) have a risk of relapse of around 50% without adjuvant chemotherapy, while patients without LVI have a risk of relapse of around 15% [40, 51]. In retrospective studies, 50% of patients had only retroperitoneal relapse [44] and 19% had thoracic recurrence with evidence of disease on the chest x-ray [52]. The latter allows elimination of the CT chest from the surveillance plan [52]. The recommended components of the surveillance plan by the ESMO and NCCN are history and physical examination, tumor markers, and abdominal CT or MRI [41, 43]. The frequency of the CT scans can be safely reduced to two scans in the first year post orchiectomy, based on the results of the MRC TE08 randomized trial [53].

Patients after adjuvant treatment or complete remission for advanced disease. In this category, the ESMO includes all patients who have either received adjuvant treatment or curative chemotherapy for good and intermediate prognosis metastatic testicular cancer according to the classification of International Germ Cell Cancer Collaborative Group (IGCCCG) and have achieved complete remission [41]. There is no high-quality evidence and the recommendations stem from expert consensus.

Patients who had not a complete remission or had a disease of poor prognosis should be provided with an individualized surveillance plan [41].

The follow-up beyond 5 years mainly aims to the detection of therapy-related toxicities, as a very late relapse is a rare occurrence [54].

In accordance with the ESMO guidelines, we suggest the following surveillance plan in Table 14.5 [43].

As stated by the most recent ESMO guidelines, follow-up beyond 5 years is according to the survivorship care plan.

An individualized follow-up is recommended for poor prognosis patients.

Epithelial Ovarian Carcinoma

The majority of patients with epithelial ovarian carcinoma post primary treatment will eventually relapse. However, the evidence on whether early asymptomatic relapse can lead to improved clinical outcome is inconclusive [55, 56].

The only available randomized controlled trial published, the MRC OV05/ EORTC 55955 collaborative trial demonstrated that the early administration of chemotherapy on the basis of a rising CA125 did not increase survival as compared to patients that received chemotherapy on symptomatic recurrence [57]. However, this trial did not examine the potential added benefit of a secondary cytoreduction in surgically amenable relapses [58]. Moreover, this trial was conducted before the emergence of maintenance treatment with parp inhibitors [59]. New randomized controlled trials are needed [55].

Recommended investigation	Seminoma stage I on active surveillance or after adjuvant carboplatin or radiotherapy	Non-seminoma stage I on active surveillance	Advanced disease after adjuvant treatment or complete remission (good and intermediate prognosis)
History and physical examination and tumor markers	Twice on years 1, 2, and 3, once on years 4 and 5	4 times on years 1 and 2, twice on year 3, 1–2 times on years 4 and 5	4 times on years 1 and 2, twice on years 3, 4, and 5
Chest X-ray	Not recommended	Twice on years 1 and 2, once on year 3 if LVI+, at 60 months if LVI+	1–2 times on year 1, once on years 2, 3, 4, and 5
CT/MRI abdomen and pelvis and retroperitoneum	Twice on years 1 and 2, at 36 and 60 months	Twice on year 1, at 24 months and optionally at 36 and 60 months	1–2 times on year 1, at 24 months and optionally at 36 and 60 months
CT chest	Not recommended	Not recommended	As per CT abdomen in case of pulmonary metastasis at diagnosis

 Table 14.5
 Testicular germ cell cancer surveillance strategy

LVI lymphovascular invasion

 Table 14.6
 Epithelial ovarian carcinoma surveillance strategy

Recommended	Assessment	
Patient education	Alarming symptoms	
	Weight loss, bloating, pain (mainly abdominal or pelvic), abdominal	
	distention, leg swelling, appetite loss, nausea, vomiting, constipation,	
	not passing gas, urinary retention, dyspnea, cough	
History and physical	Every 3–4 months the first 2 years, every 6 months during years $3-5^{a}$.	
examination and	Beyond 5 years should be individually discussed	
CA125		
Not recommended		
US, CT scan, PET/CT,	As clinically indicated	
MRI, chest X-ray		

^aAs stated in the recent ESMO-ESGO guidelines, the plan should be individualized according to prognostic factors and treatment modalities

For the moment, the CA125 is considered an important element in monitoring ovarian cancer recurrence as suggested by the ESMO-ESGO and NCCN committees [59, 60]. Other important components include the patient education for alarming symptoms as well as the history and physical examination [59]. Routine imaging is not recommended unless indicated by a rising CA125 or clinical criteria [59–61].

In line with the ESMO-ESGO consensus conference recommendations on ovarian cancer [59], we suggest the following surveillance plan in Table 14.6.

Endometrial Cancer

The majority of recurrences occur within 3 years posttreatment. The recurrence rate spans from 2 to 15% for early stages and can extend to 50% for advanced stages [62]. Around 70% of the relapses are symptomatic [63]. There are no prospective studies to assess different surveillance strategies. The evidence stems from retrospective studies.

It is controversial whether patients with asymptomatic relapse detected on follow-up visits have better outcome compared to symptomatic patients [64–67]. A review of symptoms combined with clinical examination can detect the majority of recurrences [68, 69]. Patient education for the alarming symptom is thus a critical element of the surveillance strategy [62, 70].

Although commonly used, the test-pap may not provide additional benefit to detect local recurrence on the vaginal cuff as compared to a thorough clinical examination combined with symptomatology [71, 72]. CA125 investigation should be individualized in cases with advanced disease, serous histology, or increased pre-treatment levels as suggested by the Society of Gynecologic Oncology (SGO) [62]. Furthermore, radiologic imaging with CT scans, pelvic ultrasound, and PET/CT should be reserved in cases with clinically suspected relapse [62, 63, 73].

Considering the SGO recommendations on posttreatment surveillance on gynecologic malignancies [62] and in line with the ESMO guidelines on endometrial cancer [73], we suggest the following surveillance plan in Table 14.7.

Prostate Cancer

In this chapter, posttreatment surveillance will refer to the follow-up of patients with prostate cancer after local treatment with curative intent that include either radical prostatectomy or external beam radiation therapy or

Recommended	Assessment	
Patient education	Alarming symptoms	
	Vaginal or rectal bleeding, hematuria, weight loss, bloating, pain (abdominal, pelvic, hip, back), abdominal distention, leg swelling, appetite loss, nausea, vomiting, constipation, not passing gas, urinary retention, dyspnea, cough	
History and physical	Low risk. Every 6 months the first year, every 6–12 months	
examination (including	the second year, once a year thereafter.	
speculum, pelvic and	High risk ^a . Every 3 months the first 2 years, every 6 months	
rectovaginal examination)	during years 3-5, and once a year thereafter	
Not recommended		
Pelvic US, CT scan, PET/CT,	As clinically indicated	
chest x-ray, MRI, CA125,		
pap-test		

 Table 14.7
 Endometrial cancer surveillance strategy

^aAs stated by SGO, high risk is defined as an advanced stage or high-risk histology

Recommended	Assessment
PSA measurement and Disease-specific	At 3, 6, and 12 months the first year, then every
history and DRE (if considered)	6 months for 3 years, and annually thereafter
Not recommended	
TRUS, Bone scintigraphy, CT, PET/CT,	As clinically indicated
MRI	

 Table 14.8
 Prostate cancer surveillance strategy

brachytherapy. The majority of recurrences occur within 5 years and the estimated risk is around 30% [74].

Prostate-Specific Antigen (PSA) monitoring is considered the cornerstone of the follow-up [75]. The definition of PSA recurrence is determined by the prior definitive treatment. In reference to post-radical prostatectomy, the relapse is defined by a constitutively rising PSA [75, 76], whereas post-radiotherapy is defined as an increase of 2 ng/ml above the posttreatment PSA nadir [75, 77].

The role of history, physical examination, and Digital Rectal Examination (DRE) is debatable, since the majority of recurrences are asymptomatic and abnormal DREs are almost always associated with a PSA rise [78, 79]. However, patients may progress without a simultaneous increase of PSA in a small percentage of cases with undifferentiated histology [80]. According to the recommendations of the European Association of Urology (EAU), PSA monitoring combined with disease-specific history are the recommended elements of follow-up and DRE can also be considered [75]. The ESMO panel does not recommend routine DRE for asymptomatic patients when the PSA is controlled [81], whereas the NCCN suggests annual DRE for the rare cases of local recurrence without elevation of PSA and for potential detection of colorectal cancer [82].

Since PSA elevation almost always precedes clinical recurrence, imaging studies with transrectal ultrasound (TRUS), bone scintigraphy, CT scans, MRI, PET/CT are not indicated for routine use unless in the presence of symptoms or in cases where the radiologic findings affect the treatment decision [75].

In line with the recommendations of the EAU [75], we suggest the following surveillance plan in Table 14.8.

Renal Cell Carcinoma

In this section, posttreatment surveillance will refer to the follow-up of patients after primary treatment for localized disease either surgical (radical or partial nephrectomy) or ablative.

The majority of recurrences occur within 3 years post nephrectomy [83] and around 30% of patients will eventually develop relapse [84, 85]. Late recurrence is rare but certain patients, especially the low-risk, can experience relapse beyond 5 years [84, 86]. The site of recurrence can either be locoregional or distant. The most common metastatic site is the lungs, followed by the bones, the liver, and the brain [87].

Recommended	Low risk	High risk
History and physical	Every 3–6 months the first 3 years	Every 3–6 months the first 3 years
examination	and then annually until year 5	and then annually until year 5
CT abdomen and	Annually until year 5	Every 3–6 months the first 3 years
chest		and then annually until year 5

 Table 14.9
 Renal cell carcinoma surveillance strategy

Follow-up beyond 5 years as clinically indicated

Patients who have relapse detected on follow-up may have a better prognosis as compared to those who have symptomatic recurrence [88, 89]. However, it is uncertain whether a particular follow-up strategy is associated with better clinical outcome.

Since the risk of recurrence and death is dependent on patient and tumor characteristics [86, 90], the experts' panels recommend risk-stratified surveillance plans. The NCCN [84] and the American Urologic Association (AUA) [91] stratify patients based on the stage after surgical treatment, whereas the ESMO [92] and the European Association of Urology (EAU) [89] distinguish patients in low-and highrisk groups based on scoring models such as the stage, size, grade, and necrosis (SSIGN) or the University of California Los Angeles Integrated Staging System (UISS).

An indicative follow-up plan after nephrectomy is in Table 14.9.

Bladder Cancer

At diagnosis, 75% of patients have non-muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer (NMIBC), while the rest present with muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer (MIBC).

According to the European Association of Urology (EAU), NMIBC patients are stratified into three groups depending on the risk of recurrence [93]. These are the low-risk [primary, solitary, TaG1,¹ < 3 cm, no carcinoma in situ (cis) tumors], the intermediate [not defined in the low- and high-risk category tumors], and the high-risk groups [either T1 or G3* or CIS or multiple, recurrent, and large (>3 cm) TaG1G2 tumors (all features present)].

Regarding MIBC, the site of recurrence can be either local (pelvic), distant, or urothelial [94]. Most local recurrences occur during the first 2 years after radical cystectomy (RC) affecting the surgical site or the Lymph Nodes (LNs) of 5–15% of patients. Risk factors are advanced pathologic stage, LN involvement, positive surgical margins, the extent of LN dissection, and peri-operative chemotherapy [95]. Distant recurrences are manifested in approximately 50% of patients during the first 3 years post RC affecting the LNs, the lung, the liver, and bones. Predictors of distant recurrence are the pathologic stage and the LN involvement [95]. Urothelial recurrence can develop either in the urethra or the upper urinary tract (UTUC). The latter is the most frequent site of late relapse. Predictors of urethral recurrence are

¹G1, G2, G3: Grade 1, Grade 2, Grade 3 tumors respectively.

Recommended			
investigation	NMIBC	MIBC post RC	MIBC post TMT ^a
Imaging	Annual CTU ^b for high-risk tumors	CT abdomen and chest every 6 months the first 3 years and then annually until year 5. CTU ^b is considered when risk factors of UTUC are present	CT abdomen and chest every 6 months the first 3 years and then annually until year 5
Urinary cytology and cytoscopy	At 3 months after TURB ^c Low-risk: Then at 12 months and annually thereafter. Discontinuation can be considered after 5 years High-risk: Every 3 months for 2 years, then every 6 months until year 5, and annually thereafter Intermediate risk: individualization between low-/high-risk	In cases of multifocality, CIS and tumor in prostatic urethra	Every 3–6 months the first 3 years. Then every 6 months

 Table 14.10
 Bladder cancer surveillance strategy

 ^{a}TMT = trimodality treatment

 $^{\rm b}CTU = {
m CT}$ urography

 $^{\circ}TURB$ = transurethral resection of bladder

cystectomy for NMIBC, history of recurrent NMIBC, type of bladder substitution, and prostate involvement, while multifocal disease, NMIBC with CIS or positive ureteral margins after RC are risk factors for UTUC [95].

Although the evidence on posttreatment follow-up is of low-level as it stems only from retrospective studies, reasonable suggestions can be proposed on surveillance for both NMIBC and MIBC based on the risk and the site of recurrence [96].

In line with the EAU-ESMO consensus statements, we recommend the following surveillance plan in Table 14.10 [93, 94].

Head and Neck Cancers

Patients with head and neck cancers after definitive treatment should be followed with the aim to detect either recurrence or a second primary as well as posttreatment complications.

Although early detection of local recurrence can lead to salvage treatment, it is uncertain whether posttreatment surveillance offers survival benefit [97–100].

The length of follow-up is generally 5 years, but in certain high-risk patients may last for longer [101]. Most recurrences occur during the first 2 years hence the frequency is higher during this period [101].

Recommended	Assessment	
Patient education	Alarming symptoms and signs	
	Pain, weight loss, dysphagia, hoarseness, dyspnea, bleeding, lumps, cranial nerve deficits	
History and physical and	Every 1–3 months the first year, every 2–6 months the second year,	
mirror examination and	every 4–8 months the years 3–5, and annually thereafter	
fiberoptic endoscopy		
Imaging	CT or MRI within 3-4 months or FDG-PET/CT (after RT or chemo/	
	RT) within 3–6 months. Then as clinically indicated or tailored to	
	specific patient and tumor characteristics. Consider annual low-dose	
	CT chest for screening for second primary in the lung	

Table 14.11 Head and Neck cancers surveillance strategy

Regarding the elements of follow-up, patient education is of great importance since most recurrences can manifest with symptoms and signs that can be monitored by the patient [101, 102]. A complete and thorough physical examination of the head and neck combined with fiberoptic nasopharyngolaryngoscopy is recommended [101, 102]. CT, MRI, and FDG-PET/CT are the indicated imaging modalities for surveillance [103]. The intensity of imaging is not well defined [100]. In a retrospective analysis, patients with a negative PET/CT imaging at 3 months post-therapy had similar survival with patients that received additional scans at 12 and 24 months [104]. An individualized approach tailored to patients' and tumors' characteristics may be reasonable [105].

There are no prospective studies to assess different follow-up protocols. Recommendations are provided by the scientific societies of the NCCN [106] and ESMO [107]. However, the ESMO does not specify a time schedule.

We suggest the following surveillance protocol in Table 14.11.

Sarcoma

Sarcomas are rare neoplasms; therefore, high-quality evidence lacks due to scarcity of studies.

The recurrence after primary treatment can be either local or metastatic. The most common metastatic site is the lungs. Depending on the location and histology of the primary tumor, other sites such as the liver (e.g., retroperitoneal sarcoma, GIST), skeleton (e.g., myxoid liposarcoma), peritoneum, or retroperitoneum may be involved. The histology, grade, size, depth, completeness of resection, and age are risk factors for soft tissue sarcoma (STS) recurrence [108].

Posttreatment surveillance is reasonable. Salvage treatment of local relapse is feasible in certain cases [109] and metastasectomy in patients with limited number of lung lesions may be curative [110]. In a prospective randomized trial, a follow-up strategy of higher frequency and more intensive imaging did not demonstrate additional benefit [111]. Furthermore, an intensive follow-up is not cost-effective [112]. Local recurrences are often reported by patients; hence, patient education should be encouraged [113]. Elements of the follow-up are the history and physical examination, imaging of the primary site, and chest X-ray or CT chest [113, 114].

Recommended		
investigation	Soft tissue sarcoma	Bone sarcoma
History and	Intermediate /high-risk	High-grade tumors
physical	patients	Every 3 months the first 2 years, every
examination	Every 3–4 months the first	6 months for years 3–5, every
	2–3 years, then twice a year up	6–12 months for years 5–10, and every
	to year 5 and once a year	0.5–2 years thereafter
	thereafter	Low-grade tumors
	Low-risk	Every 6 months the first 2 years and
	Every 4–6 months the first	then annually
	3–5 years, then annually	
Imaging	US or MRI in case of clinical	Local imaging with X-ray, CT, or MRI
	suspicion or clinically	and chest X-ray or low-dose CT chest,
	inaccessible primary site.	as clinically indicated
	Chest X-ray during the same	
	intervals (or CT chest on	
	clinical suspicion)	

Table 14.12 Sarcoma surveillance strategy

Recommendations suitable for all circumstances would be an unreliable endeavor due to the large heterogeneity of sarcomas. The ESMO stratifies patients on the basis of the risk of recurrence for soft tissue sarcomas (STS) [115] and the tumor grade for bone sarcomas (BS) [116], whereas the NCCN provides separate surveillance plans depending on the location and histology for STS [117] and BS [118].

In line with the ESMO guidelines, we suggest the following surveillance protocol in Table 14.12.

Cutaneous Melanoma

Surveillance for patients with cutaneous melanoma who have NED after primary treatment, aims to detection of either a relapse (locoregional or distant) or a new primary skin tumor.

It is assumed that early detection of relapse can lead to curative treatment and systemic recurrence with low-disease burden may be associated with better response to immunotherapy or targeted therapies. However, there are no studies to prove this assumption.

As the stage increases, the risk of recurrence and the likelihood of distant metastasis increases. Patients with advanced stages tend to manifest relapse earlier but the risk decreases over time [119–121].

Recurrences are frequently reported by patients [122], therefore patient education for symptoms and signs and targeted clinical examination are valuable practices of the follow-up. Several analyses from prospective databases have shown that only a minority of relapses were detected by imaging modalities [123, 124]. There is a lack of evidence on whether imaging improves survival [125]. However, the advances in melanoma management mandate new prospective studies to evaluate the role of imaging-intensified follow-up. In a meta-analysis, ultrasound, CT, PET, and PET/CT were assessed for their utility on staging and surveillance in melanoma patients. Ultrasound and PET/CT were found to be superior for detecting lymph node and distant metastases, respectively [126].

The NCCN panel provides stage-specific recommendations and acknowledges that incorporation of imaging can be considered at physician's discretion [127]. The ESMO acknowledges the lack of consensus. According to the panel, the follow-up interval can vary and imaging can be performed in high-risk patients [128].

We suggest the following surveillance protocol in Table 14.13.

Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma

Surveillance after curative treatment for pancreatic carcinoma is intended to facilitate supportive care and detection of recurrence.

In a retrospective analysis, half of the recurrences were detected prior to symptom presentation in patients who went through a regular clinical and radiological follow-up. Furthermore, patients that had symptomatic recurrence had shorter survival [129]. In another retrospective analysis from Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER)-Medicare database, there was no survival benefit in patients who underwent annual routine CT scans. Furthermore, it was found that increased frequency and intensity of follow-up protocols were associated with increased cost without survival benefit in cost-effectiveness analysis [130].

The ESMO panel states that there is no evidence that surveillance after primary treatment offers survival benefit and the follow-up should be concentrated on supportive care [131]. The NCCN states that earlier detection of recurrence may facilitate participation in investigational studies and proposes a specific follow-up protocol [132]. The ASCO suggests that patients should be monitored for treatment-related toxicities and relapse but acknowledges that the frequency, duration, and elements of follow-up are not defined [133].

We propose a surveillance plan that considers supportive issues, psychosocial factors, and patient expectations in Table 14.14.

Recommended investigation	Assessment
History and physical	Every 3 months the first 3 years and every 6–12 months
examination	thereafter
	(When the risk of recurrence is low, the frequency can decrease)
Imaging	US, CT, PET/CT as clinically indicated (e.g., risk of relapse,
	clinical suspicion)

 Table 14.13
 Cutaneous melanoma surveillance strategy

Table 14.14 Pancreatic adenocarcinoma surveillance strategy

Recommended investigation	Assessment
History and physical examination	Every 3–6 months the first 2 years and every 6–12 months thereafter
CT scans (abdomen and chest)	As clinically indicated
CA 19–9	As clinically indicated

References

- Montgomery DA, Krupa K, Cooke TG. Alternative methods of follow up in breast cancer: a systematic review of the literature. Br J Cancer. 2007;96(11):1625–32. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603771.
- Cardoso F, Kyriakides S, Ohno S, Penault-Llorca F, Poortmans P, Rubio IT, et al. Early breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up[†]. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(8):1194–220. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz173.
- 3. NCCN Breast Cancer. guidelines on breast cancer. 2020.
- Runowicz CD, Leach CR, Henry NL, Henry KS, Mackey HT, Cowens-Alvarado RL, et al. American Cancer Society/American Society of Clinical Oncology Breast Cancer Survivorship Care Guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(6):611–35. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2015.64.3809.
- Grunfeld E, Noorani H, McGahan L, Paszat L, Coyle D, van Walraven C, et al. Surveillance mammography after treatment of primary breast cancer: a systematic review. Breast. 2002;11(3):228–35. https://doi.org/10.1054/brst.2001.0404.
- Quinn EM, Coveney AP, Redmond HP. Use of magnetic resonance imaging in detection of breast cancer recurrence: a systematic review. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(9):3035–41. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-012-2341-3.
- Impact of follow-up testing on survival and health-related quality of life in breast cancer patients. A multicenter randomized controlled trial. The GIVIO Investigators. JAMA. 1994;271(20):1587–1592. doi:https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1994.03510440047031.
- Rosselli Del Turco M, Palli D, Cariddi A, Ciatto S, Pacini P, Distante V. Intensive diagnostic follow-up after treatment of primary breast cancer. A randomized trial. National Research Council Project on Breast Cancer follow-up. JAMA. 1994;271(20):1593–7. https://doi. org/10.1001/jama.271.20.1593.
- Moschetti I, Cinquini M, Lambertini M, Levaggi A, Liberati A. Follow-up strategies for women treated for early breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;5:CD001768. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD001768.pub3.
- Henry NL, Hayes DF, Ramsey SD, Hortobagyi GN, Barlow WE, Gralow JR. Promoting quality and evidence-based care in early-stage breast cancer follow-up. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2014;106(4):dju034. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju034.
- Bruinvels DJ, Stiggelbout AM, Kievit J, van Houwelingen HC, Habbema JD, van de Velde CJ. Follow-up of patients with colorectal cancer. A meta-analysis. Ann Surgery. 1994;219(2):174–82. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000658-199402000-00009.
- Renehan AG, Egger M, Saunders MP, O'Dwyer ST. Impact on survival of intensive follow up after curative resection for colorectal cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials. BMJ. 2002;324(7341):813. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.324.7341.813.
- Rosen M, Chan L, Beart RW Jr, Vukasin P, Anthone G. Follow-up of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. Dis Colon Rectum. 1998;41(9):1116–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02239433.
- Tjandra JJ, Chan MK. Follow-up after curative resection of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007;50(11):1783–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10350-007-9030-5.
- Jeffery M, Hickey BE, Hider PN. Follow-up strategies for patients treated for nonmetastatic colorectal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;9:CD002200. https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD002200.pub4.
- Baca B, Beart RW Jr, Etzioni DA. Surveillance after colorectal cancer resection: a systematic review. Dis Colon Rectum. 2011;54(8):1036–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/ DCR.0b013e31820db364.
- Argiles G, Tabernero J, Labianca R, Hochhauser D, Salazar R, Iveson T, et al. Localised colon cancer: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annonc.2020.06.022.
- Meyerhardt JA, Mangu PB, Flynn PJ, Korde L, Loprinzi CL, Minsky BD, et al. Follow-up care, surveillance protocol, and secondary prevention measures for survivors of colorectal cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical practice guideline endorsement. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(35):4465–70. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2013.50.7442.
- 19. NCCN Colon Cancer. guidelines on Colon Cancer. 2020.

- 20. Neoptolemos JP, Palmer DH, Ghaneh P, Psarelli EE, Valle JW, Halloran CM, et al. Comparison of adjuvant gemcitabine and capecitabine with gemcitabine monotherapy in patients with resected pancreatic cancer (ESPAC-4): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10073):1011–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32409-6.
- Eom BW, Ryu KW, Lee JH, Choi IJ, Kook MC, Cho SJ, et al. Oncologic effectiveness of regular follow-up to detect recurrence after curative resection of gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(2):358–64. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-010-1395-3.
- Park CH, Park JC, Chung H, Shin SK, Lee SK, Cheong JH, et al. Impact of the surveillance interval on the survival of patients who undergo curative surgery for gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(2):539–45. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-4866-8.
- Peixoto RD, Lim HJ, Kim H, Abdullah A, Cheung WY. Patterns of surveillance following curative intent therapy for gastroesophageal cancer. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2014;45(3):325–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-014-9601-3.
- Baiocchi GL, D'Ugo D, Coit D, Hardwick R, Kassab P, Nashimoto A, et al. Follow-up after gastrectomy for cancer: the Charter Scaligero Consensus Conference. Gastric Cancer. 2016;19(1):15–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-015-0513-0.
- Smyth EC, Verheij M, Allum W, Cunningham D, Cervantes A, Arnold D, et al. Gastric cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(suppl 5):v38–49. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdw350.
- 26. NCCN Gastric Cancer. guidelines on gastric cancer. 2020.
- Lou F, Huang J, Sima CS, Dycoco J, Rusch V, Bach PB. Patterns of recurrence and second primary lung cancer in early-stage lung cancer survivors followed with routine computed tomography surveillance. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;145(1):75–81; discussion-2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.09.030.
- Subramanian M, Liu J, Greenberg C, Schumacher J, Chang GJ, McMurry TL, et al. Imaging surveillance for surgically resected stage I non-small cell lung cancer: is more always better? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2019;157(3):1205–17. e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jtcvs.2018.09.119.
- Reduced lung-cancer mortality with low-dose computed tomographic screening. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(5):395–409. doi:https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1102873.
- Calman L, Beaver K, Hind D, Lorigan P, Roberts C, Lloyd-Jones M. Survival benefits from follow-up of patients with lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Thorac Oncol. 2011;6(12):1993–2004. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTO.0b013e31822b01a1.
- Westeel FB, P. Foucher, J.-J. Lafitte, J. Domas, P. Girard, J. Tredaniel, M. Wislez, P. Dumont, E. Quoix, O. Raffy, D. Braun, M. Derollez, F. Goupil, J. Hermann, E. Devin, E. Pichon, J.-P. Gury, F. Morin, P.-J. Souquet. Results of the phase III IFCT-0302 trial assessing minimal versus CT-scan-based follow-up for completely resected non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). ESMO 2017 Congress. n.d.
- 32. Takenaka D, Ohno Y, Koyama H, Nogami M, Onishi Y, Matsumoto K, et al. Integrated FDG-PET/CT vs. standard radiological examinations: comparison of capability for assessment of postoperative recurrence in non-small cell lung cancer patients. Eur J Radiol. 2010;74(3):458–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2009.03.007.
- 33. NCCN NSCLC. guidelines on NSCLC. 2020.
- 34. Postmus PE, Kerr KM, Oudkerk M, Senan S, Waller DA, Vansteenkiste J, et al. Early and locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(suppl_4):iv1–iv21. https://doi. org/10.1093/annonc/mdx222.
- Schneider BJ, Ismaila N, Aerts J, Chiles C, Daly ME, Detterbeck FC, et al. Lung cancer surveillance after definitive curative-intent therapy: ASCO Guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(7):753–66. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.19.02748.
- Fruh M, De Ruysscher D, Popat S, Crino L, Peters S, Felip E, et al. Small-cell lung cancer (SCLC): ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(Suppl 6):vi99–105. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdt178.

- 37. Sugiyama T, Hirose T, Hosaka T, Kusumoto S, Nakashima M, Yamaoka T, et al. Effectiveness of intensive follow-up after response in patients with small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer. 2008;59(2):255–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2007.08.016.
- 38. NCCN SCLC. guidelines on SCLC. 2020.
- Meert AP, Paesmans M, Berghmans T, Martin B, Mascaux C, Vallot F, et al. Prophylactic cranial irradiation in small cell lung cancer: a systematic review of the literature with metaanalysis. BMC Cancer. 2001;1:5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-1-5.
- 40. Daugaard G, Petersen PM, Rorth M. Surveillance in stage I testicular cancer. APMIS. 2003;111(1):76–83; discussion-5. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0463.2003.11101 111.x.
- 41. Honecker F, Aparicio J, Berney D, Beyer J, Bokemeyer C, Cathomas R, et al. ESMO Consensus Conference on testicular germ cell cancer: diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(8):1658–86. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdy217.
- 42. EAU Testicular Cancer. EAU Guidelines on Testicular Cancer. 2019.
- 43. NCCN Testicular Cancer. guidelines on testicular cancer. 2019.
- 44. van As NJ, Gilbert DC, Money-Kyrle J, Bloomfield D, Beesley S, Dearnaley DP, et al. Evidence-based pragmatic guidelines for the follow-up of testicular cancer: optimising the detection of relapse. Br J Cancer. 2008;98(12):1894–902. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.bjc.6604280.
- Brenner DJ, Hall EJ. Computed tomography—an increasing source of radiation exposure. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(22):2277–84. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra072149.
- Oldenburg J, Martin JM, Fossa SD. Late relapses of germ cell malignancies: incidence, management, and prognosis. J Clin Oncol. 2006b;24(35):5503–11. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2006.08.1836.
- Tolan S, Vesprini D, Jewett MA, Warde PR, O'Malley M, Panzarella T, et al. No role for routine chest radiography in stage I seminoma surveillance. Eur Urol. 2010;57(3):474–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2009.06.029.
- Vesprini D, Chung P, Tolan S, Gospodarowicz M, Jewett M, O'Malley M, et al. Utility of serum tumor markers during surveillance for stage I seminoma. Cancer. 2012;118(21):5245–50. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.27539.
- Gilligan TD, Hayes DF, Seidenfeld J, Temin S. ASCO Clinical Practice guideline on uses of serum tumor markers in adult males with germ cell tumors. J Oncol Pract. 2010;6(4):199–202. https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.777010.
- Read G, Stenning SP, Cullen MH, Parkinson MC, Horwich A, Kaye SB, et al. Medical Research Council prospective study of surveillance for stage I testicular teratoma. Medical Research Council Testicular Tumors Working Party. J Clin Oncol. 1992;10(11):1762–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.1992.10.11.1762.
- Tandstad T, Dahl O, Cohn-Cedermark G, Cavallin-Stahl E, Stierner U, Solberg A, et al. Risk-adapted treatment in clinical stage I nonseminomatous germ cell testicular cancer: the SWENOTECA management program. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(13):2122–8. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2008.18.8953.
- Harvey ML, Geldart TR, Duell R, Mead GM, Tung K. Routine computerised tomographic scans of the thorax in surveillance of stage I testicular non-seminomatous germ-cell cancer—a necessary risk? Ann Oncol. 2002;13(2):237–42. https://doi.org/10.1093/ annonc/mdf032.
- 53. Rustin GJ, Mead GM, Stenning SP, Vasey PA, Aass N, Huddart RA, et al. Randomized trial of two or five computed tomography scans in the surveillance of patients with stage I nonseminomatous germ cell tumors of the testis: Medical Research Council Trial TE08, ISRCTN56475197—the National Cancer Research Institute Testis Cancer Clinical Studies Group. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(11):1310–5. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2006.08.4889.
- Oldenburg J, Alfsen GC, Waehre H, Fossa SD. Late recurrences of germ cell malignancies: a population-based experience over three decades. Br J Cancer. 2006a;94(6):820–7. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603014.

- 55. Clarke T, Galaal K, Bryant A, Naik R. Evaluation of follow-up strategies for patients with epithelial ovarian cancer following completion of primary treatment. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;9:CD006119. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006119.pub3.
- 56. Geurts SM, van Altena AM, de Vegt F, Tjan-Heijnen VC, Massuger LF, van Dijck JA, et al. No supportive evidence for clinical benefit of routine follow-up in ovarian cancer: a Dutch multicenter study. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2011;21(4):647–53. https://doi.org/10.1097/IGC.0b013e318212b87d.
- Rustin GJ, van der Burg ME, Griffin CL, Guthrie D, Lamont A, Jayson GC, et al. Early versus delayed treatment of relapsed ovarian cancer (MRC OV05/EORTC 55955): a randomised trial. Lancet. 2010;376(9747):1155–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61268-8.
- Bois AD, Vergote I, Ferron G, Reuss A, Meier W, Greggi S, et al. Randomized controlled phase III study evaluating the impact of secondary cytoreductive surgery in recurrent ovarian cancer: AGO DESKTOP III/ENGOT ov20. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(15_suppl):5501. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2017.35.15_suppl.5501.
- Colombo N, Sessa C, du Bois A, Ledermann J, McCluggage WG, McNeish I, et al. ESMO-ESGO consensus conference recommendations on ovarian cancer: pathology and molecular biology, early and advanced stages, borderline tumours and recurrent diseasedagger. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(5):672–705. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz062.
- 60. NCCN Ovarian Cancer. guidelines on Ovarian Cancer. 2020.
- Gu P, Pan LL, Wu SQ, Sun L, Huang G. CA 125, PET alone, PET-CT, CT and MRI in diagnosing recurrent ovarian carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Radiol. 2009;71(1):164–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2008.02.019.
- 62. Salani R, Khanna N, Frimer M, Bristow RE, Chen LM. An update on post-treatment surveillance and diagnosis of recurrence in women with gynecologic malignancies: Society of Gynecologic Oncology (SGO) recommendations. Gynecol Oncol. 2017;146(1):3–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.03.022.
- 63. Fung-Kee-Fung M, Dodge J, Elit L, Lukka H, Chambers A, Oliver T, et al. Follow-up after primary therapy for endometrial cancer: a systematic review. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;101(3):520–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2006.02.011.
- Agboola OO, Grunfeld E, Coyle D, Perry GA. Costs and benefits of routine follow-up after curative treatment for endometrial cancer. CMAJ. 1997;157(7):879–86.
- 65. Gadducci A, Cosio S, Fanucchi A, Cristofani R, Genazzani AR. An intensive follow-up does not change survival of patients with clinical stage I endometrial cancer. Anticancer Res. 2000;20(3B):1977–84.
- 66. Sartori E, Laface B, Gadducci A, Maggino T, Zola P, Landoni F, et al. Factors influencing survival in endometrial cancer relapsing patients: a Cooperation Task Force (CTF) study. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2003;13(4):458–65. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1438.2003.13328.x.
- Sartori E, Pasinetti B, Carrara L, Gambino A, Odicino F, Pecorelli S. Pattern of failure and value of follow-up procedures in endometrial and cervical cancer patients. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;107(1 Suppl 1):S241–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.07.025.
- Hunn J, Tenney ME, Tergas AI, Bishop EA, Moore K, Watkin W, et al. Patterns and utility of routine surveillance in high grade endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;137(3):485–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.03.047.
- 69. Tjalma WA, van Dam PA, Makar AP, Cruickshank DJ. The clinical value and the cost-effectiveness of follow-up in endometrial cancer patients. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2004;14(5):931–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1048-891X.2004.014532.x.
- 70. NCCN Uterine Neoplasms. guidelines on Uterine Neoplasms. 2020.
- Novetsky AP, Kuroki LM, Massad LS, Hagemann AR, Thaker PH, Powell MA, et al. The utility and management of vaginal cytology after treatment for endometrial cancer. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;121(1):129–35. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e31827499a9.
- Salani R, Nagel CI, Drennen E, Bristow RE. Recurrence patterns and surveillance for patients with early stage endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;123(2):205–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2011.07.014.

- Colombo N, Preti E, Landoni F, Carinelli S, Colombo A, Marini C, et al. Endometrial cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(Suppl 6):vi33–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdt353.
- 74. Caire AA, Sun L, Ode O, Stackhouse DA, Maloney K, Donatucci C, et al. Delayed prostatespecific antigen recurrence after radical prostatectomy: how to identify and what are their clinical outcomes? Urology. 2009;74(3):643–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2009.02.049.
- 75. EAU Prostate Cancer. EAU guidelines on prostate cancer. 2020.
- Boccon-Gibod L, Djavan WB, Hammerer P, Hoeltl W, Kattan MW, Prayer-Galetti T, et al. Management of prostate-specific antigen relapse in prostate cancer: a European Consensus. Int J Clin Pract. 2004;58(4):382–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1368-5031.2004.00184.x.
- 77. Roach M 3rd, Hanks G, Thames H Jr, Schellhammer P, Shipley WU, Sokol GH, et al. Defining biochemical failure following radiotherapy with or without hormonal therapy in men with clinically localized prostate cancer: recommendations of the RTOG-ASTRO Phoenix Consensus Conference. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;65(4):965–74. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2006.04.029.
- Doneux A, Parker CC, Norman A, Eeles R, Howich A, Huddart R, et al. The utility of digital rectal examination after radical radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Clin Oncol. 2005;17(3):172–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clon.2004.10.009.
- Obek C, Neulander E, Sadek S, Soloway MS. Is there a role for digital rectal examination in the followup of patients after radical prostatectomy? J Urol. 1999;162(3 Pt 1):762–4. https:// doi.org/10.1097/00005392-199909010-00037.
- Oefelein MG, Smith N, Carter M, Dalton D, Schaeffer A. The incidence of prostate cancer progression with undetectable serum prostate specific antigen in a series of 394 radical prostatectomies. J Urol. 1995;154(6):2128–31.
- Parker C, Gillessen S, Heidenreich A, Horwich A, Committee EG. Cancer of the prostate: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(Suppl 5):v69–77. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdv222.
- 82. NCCN Prostate Cancer. guidelines on prostate cancer. 2020.
- Eggener SE, Yossepowitch O, Pettus JA, Snyder ME, Motzer RJ, Russo P. Renal cell carcinoma recurrence after nephrectomy for localized disease: predicting survival from time of recurrence. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(19):3101–6. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2005.04.8280.
- 84. NCCN Kidney Cancer. guidelines on Kidney Cancer. 2020.
- Stewart SB, Thompson RH, Psutka SP, Cheville JC, Lohse CM, Boorjian SA, et al. Evaluation of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network and American Urological Association renal cell carcinoma surveillance guidelines. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(36):4059–65. https://doi. org/10.1200/jco.2014.56.5416.
- Dabestani S, Beisland C, Stewart GD, Bensalah K, Gudmundsson E, Lam TB, et al. Long-term outcomes of follow-up for initially localised clear cell renal cell carcinoma: RECUR database analysis. Eur Urol Focus. 2019;5(5):857–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euf.2018.02.010.
- Ljungberg B, Alamdari FI, Rasmuson T, Roos G. Follow-up guidelines for nonmetastatic renal cell carcinoma based on the occurrence of metastases after radical nephrectomy. BJU Int. 1999;84(4):405–11. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1464-410x.1999.00202.x.
- Beisland C, Guðbrandsdottir G, Reisæter LA, Bostad L, Hjelle KM. A prospective riskstratified follow-up programme for radically treated renal cell carcinoma patients: evaluation after eight years of clinical use. World J Urol. 2016;34(8):1087–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00345-016-1796-4.
- Ljungberg B, Albiges L, Abu-Ghanem Y, Bensalah K, Dabestani S, Fernández-Pello S, et al. European Association of Urology guidelines on renal cell carcinoma: the 2019 update. Eur Urol. 2019;75(5):799–810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2019.02.011.
- Stewart-Merrill SB, Thompson RH, Boorjian SA, Psutka SP, Lohse CM, Cheville JC, et al. Oncologic surveillance after surgical resection for renal cell carcinoma: a novel risk-based approach. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(35):4151–7. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2015.61.8009.

- Donat SM, Diaz M, Bishoff JT, Coleman JA, Dahm P, Derweesh IH, et al. Follow-up for clinically localized renal neoplasms: AUA guideline. J Urol. 2013;190(2):407–16. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.juro.2013.04.121.
- Escudier B, Porta C, Schmidinger M, Rioux-Leclercq N, Bex A, Khoo V, et al. Renal cell carcinoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-updagger. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(5):706–20. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz056.
- 93. EAU NMIBC. EAU guidelines on Non-muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer 2020.
- 94. EAU MIBC. EAU guidelines on muscle-invasive and metastatic Bladder Cancer. 2020.
- 95. Zuiverloon TCM, van Kessel KEM, Bivalacqua TJ, Boormans JL, Ecke TH, Grivas PD, et al. Recommendations for follow-up of muscle-invasive bladder cancer patients: a consensus by the international bladder cancer network. Urol Oncol. 2018;36(9):423–31. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.urolonc.2018.01.014.
- 96. Soukup V, Babjuk M, Bellmunt J, Dalbagni G, Giannarini G, Hakenberg OW, et al. Follow-up after surgical treatment of bladder cancer: a critical analysis of the literature. Eur Urol. 2012;62(2):290–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2012.05.008.
- 97. de Visscher AV, Manni JJ. Routine long-term follow-up in patients treated with curative intent for squamous cell carcinoma of the larynx, pharynx, and oral cavity. Does it make sense? Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surgery. 1994;120(9):934–9. https://doi.org/10.1001/archo tol.1994.01880330022005.
- Flynn CJ, Khaouam N, Gardner S, Higgins K, Enepekides D, Balogh J, et al. The value of periodic follow-up in the detection of recurrences after radical treatment in locally advanced head and neck cancer. Clin Oncol. 2010;22(10):868–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clon.2010.05.016.
- Ritoe SC, Krabbe PF, Kaanders JH, van den Hoogen FJ, Verbeek AL, Marres HA. Value of routine follow-up for patients cured of laryngeal carcinoma. Cancer. 2004;101(6):1382–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.20536.
- Szturz P, Van Laer C, Simon C, Van Gestel D, Bourhis J, Vermorken JB. Follow-up of head and neck cancer survivors: tipping the balance of intensity. Front Oncol. 2020;10(688) https:// doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.00688.
- 101. Simo R, Homer J, Clarke P, Mackenzie K, Paleri V, Pracy P, et al. Follow-up after treatment for head and neck cancer: United Kingdom National Multidisciplinary Guidelines. J Laryngol Otol. 2016;130(S2):S208–S11. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022215116000645.
- 102. De Felice F, Musio D, Tombolini V. Follow-up in head and neck cancer: a management dilemma. Adv Otolaryngol. 2015;2015:703450. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/703450.
- Hermans R. Post-treatment imaging of head and neck cancer. Cancer Imaging. 2004;4:S6– S15. https://doi.org/10.1102/1470-7330.2004.0007.
- 104. Ho AS, Tsao GJ, Chen FW, Shen T, Kaplan MJ, Colevas AD, et al. Impact of positron emission tomography/computed tomography surveillance at 12 and 24 months for detecting head and neck cancer recurrence. Cancer. 2013;119(7):1349–56. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.27892.
- 105. Denaro N, Merlano MC, Russi EG. Follow-up in head and neck cancer: do more does it mean do better? A systematic review and our proposal based on our experience. Clin Exp Otorhinolaryngol. 2016;9(4):287–97. https://doi.org/10.21053/ceo.2015.00976.
- 106. NCCN Head and Neck Cancers. Guidelines on Head and Neck cancers. 2020.
- 107. Grégoire V, Lefebvre JL, Licitra L, Felip E. Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: EHNS-ESMO-ESTRO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(Suppl 5):v184–6. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdq185.
- Pisters PW, Leung DH, Woodruff J, Shi W, Brennan MF. Analysis of prognostic factors in 1,041 patients with localized soft tissue sarcomas of the extremities. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14(5):1679–89. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.1996.14.5.1679.
- Singer S, Antman K, Corson JM, Eberlein TJ. Long-term salvageability for patients with locally recurrent soft-tissue sarcomas. Arch Surgery (Chicago, IL: 1960). 1992;127(5):548–53; discussion 53-4. https://doi.org/10.1001/archsurg.1992.01420050068009.

- Chen F, Miyahara R, Bando T, Okubo K, Watanabe K, Nakayama T, et al. Prognostic factors of pulmonary metastasectomy for osteosarcomas of the extremities. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2008;34(6):1235–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2008.07.032.
- 111. Puri A, Gulia A, Hawaldar R, Ranganathan P, Badwe RA. Does intensity of surveillance affect survival after surgery for sarcomas? Results of a randomized noninferiority trial. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2014;472(5):1568–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11999-013-3385-9.
- 112. Kane JM 3rd. Surveillance strategies for patients following surgical resection of soft tissue sarcomas. Curr Opin Oncol. 2004;16(4):328–32. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. cco.0000127879.62254.d3.
- 113. Gerrand C, Athanasou N, Brennan B, Grimer R, Judson I, Morland B, et al. UK guidelines for the management of bone sarcomas. Clin Sarcoma Res. 2016;6:7. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13569-016-0047-1.
- 114. Dangoor A, Seddon B, Gerrand C, Grimer R, Whelan J, Judson I. UK guidelines for the management of soft tissue sarcomas. Clin Sarcoma Res. 2016;6:20. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13569-016-0060-4.
- 115. Casali PG, Abecassis N, Aro HT, Bauer S, Biagini R, Bielack S, et al. Soft tissue and visceral sarcomas: ESMO-EURACAN Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2018a;29(Suppl 4):iv51–67. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdy096.
- 116. Casali PG, Bielack S, Abecassis N, Aro HT, Bauer S, Biagini R, et al. Bone sarcomas: ESMO-PaedCan-EURACAN Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2018b;29(Suppl 4):iv79–95. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdy310.
- 117. NCCN Soft Tissue Sarcoma. guidelines on Soft Tissue Sarcoma. 2020.
- 118. NCCN Bone Cancer. guidelines on Bone Cancer. 2020.
- 119. Romano E, Scordo M, Dusza SW, Coit DG, Chapman PB. Site and timing of first relapse in stage III melanoma patients: implications for follow-up guidelines. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(18):3042–7. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2009.26.2063.
- 120. Salama AK, de Rosa N, Scheri RP, Pruitt SK, Herndon JE 2nd, Marcello J, et al. Hazard-rate analysis and patterns of recurrence in early stage melanoma: moving towards a rationally designed surveillance strategy. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e57665. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057665.
- 121. Soong SJ, Harrison RA, McCarthy WH, Urist MM, Balch CM. Factors affecting survival following local, regional, or distant recurrence from localized melanoma. J Surg Oncol. 1998;67(4):228–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1096-9098(199804)67:4<228:: aid-jso4>3.0.co;2-a.
- 122. Francken AB, Shaw HM, Accortt NA, Soong SJ, Hoekstra HJ, Thompson JF. Detection of first relapse in cutaneous melanoma patients: implications for the formulation of evidencebased follow-up guidelines. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(6):1924–33. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-007-9347-2.
- 123. Meyers MO, Yeh JJ, Frank J, Long P, Deal AM, Amos KD, et al. Method of detection of initial recurrence of stage II/III cutaneous melanoma: analysis of the utility of follow-up staging. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16(4):941–7. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-008-0238-y.
- 124. Moore Dalal K, Zhou Q, Panageas KS, Brady MS, Jaques DP, Coit DG. Methods of detection of first recurrence in patients with stage I/II primary cutaneous melanoma after sentinel lymph node biopsy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(8):2206–14. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-008-9985-z.
- 125. Nieweg OE, Kroon BB. The conundrum of follow-up: should it be abandoned? Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2006;15(2):319–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soc.2005.12.005.
- 126. Xing Y, Bronstein Y, Ross MI, Askew RL, Lee JE, Gershenwald JE, et al. Contemporary diagnostic imaging modalities for the staging and surveillance of melanoma patients: a metaanalysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2011;103(2):129–42. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djq455.
- 127. NCCN Cutaneous Melanoma. guidelines on Cutaneous Melanoma. 2020.
- 128. Michielin O, van Akkooi ACJ, Ascierto PA, Dummer R, Keilholz U. Cutaneous melanoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up[†]. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(12):1884–901. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz411.

- 129. Tzeng CW, Fleming JB, Lee JE, Wang X, Pisters PW, Vauthey JN, et al. Yield of clinical and radiographic surveillance in patients with resected pancreatic adenocarcinoma following multimodal therapy. HPB. 2012;14(6):365–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-2574.2012 .00445.x.
- Tzeng CW, Abbott DE, Cantor SB, Fleming JB, Lee JE, Pisters PW, et al. Frequency and intensity of postoperative surveillance after curative treatment of pancreatic cancer: a costeffectiveness analysis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(7):2197–203. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-013-2889-6.
- 131. Ducreux M, Cuhna AS, Caramella C, Hollebecque A, Burtin P, Goéré D, et al. Cancer of the pancreas: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(Suppl 5):v56–68. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdv295.
- 132. NCCN Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. guidelines on Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. 2020.
- 133. Khorana AA, Mangu PB, Berlin J, Engebretson A, Hong TS, Maitra A, et al. Potentially curable pancreatic cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice guideline update. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(20):2324–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2017.72.4948.



15

Survivorship Follow-Up: Update About Evidence-Based Screening for Secondary Cancers

Charlotte Demoor-Goldschmidt and Florent de Vathaire

Rationale

Cancer societies have reported a decline in the death rate from cancer over the past two decades due to progress in prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. Nevertheless, cancer remains a deadly disease that justifies aggressive therapeutics. This has led to a greater concern about potential long-term sequelae, of which, in particular, secondary cancers occurring within a few years to more than 40 years after diagnosis of first cancer. The mortality associated with second primary cancers is important, as more than one-half of patients with two incident cancers died of their secondary malignancy [1-3]. Nevertheless, the benefits of therapy outweighed any risks of second neoplasms. The situation of patients with multiple metachronous primaries is of increasing relevance and importance, as second cancers constitute 15-20% of all cancer diagnoses in the cancer registries and concern about 1 in 6-10patients diagnosed with cancer [2, 4-6]. Several definitions exist to define these cancers occurring over time. The Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database recommends to use an interval of 2 months between the two cancers to qualify the second one as "metachronous" [7], while the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) suggests an interval of more than 6 months [8]. Moreover, it is usual to distinguish "second cancers" from the "secondary

Pediatric Immuno-Hemato-Oncology Unit, Angers University Hospital, Angers, France

F. de Vathaire

C. Demoor-Goldschmidt (🖂)

Cancer and Radiation Group, Center for Research in Epidemiology and Population Health, INSERM U1018, Paris Sud-Paris Saclay University, Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

Department of Radiation Oncology, Centre François Baclesse, Caen, France e-mail: Charlotte.Demoor@inserm.fr

Cancer and Radiation Group, Center for Research in Epidemiology and Population Health, INSERM U1018, Paris Sud-Paris Saclay University, Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France e-mail: Florent.devathaire@gustaveroussy.fr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), *Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_15

cancers" with a share of iatrogenicity because of being related to the treatments received [9, 10]. These secondary cancers seem to be a small part of second cancers in registries but just one study analyzed precisely the proportion of radiotherapy (RT)-related cancers [2]. With a median follow-up of 12 years, just 8% of second cancers were classified as probably secondary to radiotherapy. This proportion can increase with a longer follow-up, when adding other factors, such as chemotherapy/ hormonotherapy, or in a specific population, such as children and young adult cancer survivors, among which about 90% of the second cancers occurring in the 40 years following treatment are attributable to radiotherapy (e.g., the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (CCSS), British Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (BCCSS), collaborative cohort from the Nordic countries cancer registries, Dutch Childhood Oncology Group-Long-Term Effects After Childhood Cancer (DCOG-LATER), and French Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (FCCSS)) or Hodgkin lymphoma survivors, among which it is about 50-60%, and testicular cancer survivors, among which it is about 25% [2, 11–19]. These groups have shown that an increase in second cancer risk persists with advancing attained age. Several factors can explain the bigger impact of treatments among children compared to that for adults-a higher sensitivity to ionizing treatments, a higher rate of genetic susceptibility, a longer life expectancy, and just simply because of the higher impact of a radiation field due to a difference in body size. Second cancers are increasingly relevant considerations for both patients and clinicians and have been often studied in childhood cancer survivors but caution must be taken, as most of them did not take into account the environmental exposures and lifestyle during their adulthood. Cancer survivors initially treated with RT as an adult have a second cancer risk of 1.1-3 times higher than the general population [2]. This risk rises to 5–10 times after childhood cancers [20–23]. Chemotherapy is also known as a risk factor not only for therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia (t-AML) and therapy-related myelodysplastic syndrome (t-MDS) but also for solid tumors, particularly alkylating agents, platinum agents, and anthracyclines [24-30]. The term "treatment-related AML" is often used interchangeably with "secondary AML" when previous chemotherapy is considered to have contributed to its etiology. Moreover, the risk factors from treatment and unknown host factors may confound the calculated risk estimates.

In this chapter, we focus on secondary cancers and review current knowledge about the risk factors and existing recommendations for screening.

Chemotherapy

An analysis of second cancers was done in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (CCSS) cohort of survivors diagnosed with cancer before the age of 21 years old between 1970 and 1999 (with a median age at diagnosis of 7.0 years) treated with chemotherapy only (n = 7448), chemotherapy plus radiation (n = 10,485), radiation only (n = 2063), or neither (n = 2158) [24]. With a median age at last follow-up of 31.8 years, 1498 cancers (excluding cutaneous cancer) were diagnosed among 1344 survivors, of which 229 occurred among 206 survivors treated with chemotherapy

only. The cumulative incidence at 30 years was 3.9% after chemotherapy versus 9.0% after chemotherapy plus radiotherapy, 10.8% after radiotherapy, and 3.4% in neither treatment groups. This led to a 2.8-fold (95% CI [2.5–3.2] increase in the risk of developing second cancer compared with that in the general population. The standardized incidence ratios (SIRs) were for leukemia/lymphoma 1.9 (95% CI [1.3–2.7]), breast cancer 4.6 (95% CI [3.5–6.0]), soft-tissue sarcoma 3.4 (95% CI [1.9–5.7], thyroid cancer 3.8 (95% CI [2.7–5.1], and melanoma 2.3 (95% CI [1.5–3.5]).

After chemotherapy, the most well-established association between alkylating agents, topoisomerase inhibitors, and platinum agents and second neoplasms concern t-AML and t-MDS, with a dose-dependent risk particularly for alkylating agents. This concerns both childhood and adult cancer survivors (except those with colon cancer) [3, 31, 32]. In the SEER records linked with Medicare in the US including 1619 patients with t-MDS/t-AML, with a mean age of 64.3 years and a standard deviation of 12.2, 1270 patients (78.4%) died, and the median overall survival was 7 months [3]. The poor prognosis can be partly explained by a predominance of unfavorable karyotypes in t-AML, a lower performance status, and a high level of comorbidity [32–35]. The risk is mainly during the first years after exposition and typically declines after 10 years, and the prognosis is often poor compared to that of de novo leukemia [3, 36]. We often distinguish t-AML arising [37]:

- after alkylating agent exposition, which is frequently preceded by t-MDS, with frequently a M1 or M2 type from the French-American-British (FAB) classification, arising typically after a latency of 5–8 years, and often has a complex karyotype with monosomy or partial deletion of chromosome 5/7 [38]. Melphalan or mechlorethamine has been found to impart greater risk than cyclophosphamide [39]. The risk increases with the cumulative dose but not with the schedule of administration. Host characteristics are important and may change the risk, as it has been reported in patients with neurofibromatosis 1 (NF1) or Fanconi syndrome [38].
- after topoisomerase II inhibitor exposition (mainly epipodophyllotoxins and after anthracyclines) [40], concerning mainly AML4 and AML5 of the FAB classification, and rarely preceded by t-MDS, arising typically after a latency under 3 years, and frequently characterized by 11q23 rearrangements involving the MLL gene [11]. The risk increases with the cumulative dose of anthracyclines but data are inconsistent with epipodophyllotoxins. The risk seems to vary with the schedule of administration and prolonged administration of low doses seems to be at lower risk than a weekly or twice-weekly schedule [37].

More rarely, other treatments have been linked with t-AML, such as platinum compounds [3, 41–43], dexrazoxane, azathioprine, G-CSF, radiotherapy [40], and temozolomide [44–49].

Chemotherapy can also increase the risk of a new solid tumor but generally after a latency of more than 10 years, including lung, gastrointestinal, bladder, thyroid, melanoma, and breast cancers, as well as sarcomas. In the CCSS, an association between solid cancers and chemotherapy was found for dose >750 mg/m² of platinum, a dose-response risk for alkylating agents and between anthracyclines and breast cancer [24]. Several cohorts found that there was a dose-response risk of breast cancer with an exposition to anthracyclines (cumulative dose >250 mg/m² [50, 51]) without radiotherapy, with a SIR = 3.8 (1.7–8.3) and hazard ratio = 3.1 (1.4–6.5), particularly in patients with Li-Fraumeni syndrome or after a sarcoma or a leukemia [51, 52], but the impact of anthracyclines was not found in all the cohorts and new research is ongoing [53].

Alkylating agents are also a risk factor for lung cancer after Hodgkin lymphoma [54]. Within a population-based cohort of 19,046 patients with Hodgkin lymphoma (diagnosed from 1965 to 1994), a case-control study of lung cancer was conducted among 222 patients who developed lung cancer and for 444 matched control patients. The risk of lung cancer was similar for patients who received alkylating agents without radiotherapy and radiotherapy <5 Gy (RR: 4.2; 95% CI [2.1–8.8] and RR: 5.9; 95% CI [2.7–13.5], respectively). In this same study, the risk increased with the dose of alkylating agents and dose of irradiation. In comparison with t-AML and secondary cancer following radiotherapy, the risk was significant within 1–4 years after alkylating agents and after a longer delay (\geq 5 years) after irradiation.

Alkylating agents are also considered a risk factor for thyroid cancer after childhood cancer, with this risk interacting negatively with irradiation, by decreasing from RR: 10 in those with childhood cancer who did not receive radiotherapy to RR: 0.9 (i.e., no risk) in those who received more than 20 Gy to the thyroid [55].

Procarbazine has been pointed out in several studies to significantly increase the risk of colorectal cancer among both childhood and adult cancer survivors [56, 57]. In the CCSS, in a multivariate analysis, procarbazine with a cumulative dose >7036 mg/m² and platinum were found as significant risk factors [57]. The same results have been published in the St. Jude cohort, including a significant impact of alkylating agents [58].

In conclusion, the association between chemotherapy and second cancers is well known for t-AML (principally, alkylating agents, and topoisomerase II inhibitors), and several studies have described an increased risk for solid cancers in both childhood and adult cancer survivors. The concerned molecules were often platinum compounds, alkylating agents, and inconsistently, anthracyclines (particularly for some specific patients, such as patients with Li-Fraumeni syndrome).

Radiotherapy

Radiation-induced cancers have been known since the beginning of radiation therapy. Progress in radiotherapy, particularly since the end of the twentieth century, has led to the possibility of providing escalating radiation doses to the tumor while sparing the healthy surrounding tissues. But, secondary cancers remain a problem. In a registry study involving 647,672 cancer patients (oral and pharyngeal/salivary gland/rectal/anal/laryngeal/lung/soft tissue/female breast/cervical/endometrial/ prostate/testicular/eye and orbital/brain and CNS/thyroid cancers) with an average follow-up of 12 years and treated from 1973 to 2002, 60,271 (9%) developed a second solid cancer. The relative risk was calculated with Poisson regression adjusted for age at diagnosis, attained age, stage, gender, and year of diagnosis, and only a small part of these second cancers (8%) (95% CI [7-9]%) could be related to radiotherapy, meaning 5 excess cancers per, 1000 patients treated with radiotherapy by 15 years after diagnosis [2]. Radiotherapy during childhood/young adulthood is an established risk factor for second breast/thyroid/digestive/cutaneous cancers [59]. Among survivors receiving radiation treatment, the relative risk of developing a subsequent neoplasm is 2.7; 95% CI [2.2-3.3]. These neoplasms most frequently occur within the radiation field. Several factors related directly to the radiation treatment can modify the risk, in addition to host factors and concomitant or adjuvant medications. In the future, host factors will become more and more important and will probably change our recommendations to better screen the patients at higher risk [60, 61]. Recent data coming from a discovery study done in the CCSS suggest associations between secondary cancer linked with radiotherapy and potentially protein-damaging rare variants in genes involved in DNA double-strand break repair, particularly homologous recombination repair gene variants (with an odds ratio of 2.6; 95% CI [1.7-3.9]) [61].

Age

Radiotherapy during childhood leads to a tenfold risk of secondary cancer compared to that during adulthood [62, 63]. In the study published by Berrington et al., the relative risk of secondary cancer increased with younger age at treatment, larger treatment fields, and time since diagnosis and decreased with increasing age at diagnosis [2]. Regarding patients treated during childhood or young adulthood, young age at the time of treatment remained a risk factor [5, 19, 20, 51, 64, 65]. Added to this young age, for breast cancer, the risk is also increased when radiotherapy is delivered during puberty or around pregnancy [66, 67].

Dose

In most of the organs, the risk of secondary cancer increased with the dose received, with two exceptions—the thyroid and kidney [53, 63, 64, 68, 69]. Nevertheless, small doses of irradiation are known to increase the risk of cancer, for example, from radiological exams. Modern radiotherapy techniques, including intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), can deliver highly conformal dose distributions, allowing a higher dose with better homogeneity in the target volume while reducing doses to normal tissues within the irradiated volume, but it leads to a larger volume of distant tissues receiving low-to-moderate doses (<1 Gy). Currently, in a recent review of the literature, there was neither proof from clinical nor epidemiological studies about a possible role of high-dose gradients in surrounding organs or an increased risk because of increasing volumes of distant tissues exposed to low

doses [13]. Concerning the risk of thyroid cancer after radiotherapy, with a specific dose-response risk (plateau between 10 and 30 Gy and a decreasing risk at higher doses but remaining significantly higher), the hypothesis is that it could be due to killing cells. These observations from several studies were confirmed in an international pooled analysis of 12 studies about thyroid cancer in survivors of childhood cancer [69]. In this same analysis, the strongest dose responses were seen for those who were youngest at the time of the treatment, and the chemotherapy had an additive effect. At very low doses (<0.2 Gy), the risk remains significant for thyroid cancer survivors, radiotherapy seems to not be a risk for thyroid cancer [17, 71].

Increased dose by session has also been found to increase the risk, but few data have converted an equivalent dose to compare this characteristic [72].

Cohort studies concluded that the lifetime cumulative risk of breast cancer was 10-33%, depending on the dose received by the breast, compared with 11-12% in the general population. In the CCSS cohort, among the 1230 female survivors exposed to chest radiotherapy, the cumulative incidence of breast cancer was 30% by age 50 and increased at 35% among survivors of HL, which is comparable to that of BRCA mutation carriers in the general population [63]. This is consistent with other studies done in childhood cancer survivors or in Hodgkin lymphoma survivors [64–68].

Skin cancers, mainly basal cell carcinomas, are the second most common cancers in cancer survivors (430 non-melanoma skin cancers out of 1160 s cancers in the CCSS cohort, at a median age of 31 years (range 11–46 years) and 83% of subjects were first diagnosed with basal cell carcinoma between 20 and 39 years of age, with a median delay with the first cancer of 18.2 years (range 5.2–29.6 years)) [23, 73]. Melanoma, less frequent but more serious, represents, according to the series, about 4% of second cancers. The incidence is low (incidence: 0.55% (0.37–0.73) at age 35) but the relative risk is very high. In a CCSS study of 14,358 patients, 57 melanomas in 51 patients were diagnosed within a median time of 21.0 (5.6–35.4) years after the initial diagnosis and at a median age of 32.3 (10.9–49.0) years [74].

Adult cancer survivors treated before 30–35 years of age with radiation therapy have a 40-fold increased risk of developing squamous cell skin cancer and more than 2.5-fold increased risk of developing melanoma compared to the general population [23, 59, 73–76]. In multivariate analysis including the type of primary cancer, gender, ethnicity, and year of diagnosis of primary cancer, radiation doses equal \geq 1 Gy were associated with an increased risk of BCC, with an increased odds ratio of 1.09; 95% CI [0.49–2.64] per Gy [73]. The odds ratio for subjects who received \geq 35 Gy at the skin site compared to those who received no radiation therapy was 39.8; 95% CI [8.6–185]. With respect to the proximity of the BCC to the radiotherapy field, the highest risks were associated with sites within or immediately surrounding the treatment field (<3 cm; OR: 3.1; 95% CI [1.1–9.2]) compared with those who received no radiotherapy. In a case-control study including 57 cases of skin melanoma having occurred after cancer in adulthood and 171 controls matched on gender, age, type of first cancer, and follow-up, no excess risk of melanoma was associated with radiotherapy (OR for 1 Gy: 1.01; 95% CI [0.96–1.07]) or hormonotherapy, whereas chemotherapy (OR: 2.3; 95% CI [0.93–5.6]) and having a history of familial cancer (OR: 2.8; 95% CI [1.3–5.9]) exhibited a nearly significant risk [77].

In a CCSS case-control study, survivors who received \geq 35 Gy to the skin were at a significantly increased risk, with an OR of 39.8, 95% CI [8.6–185]. The risk was also significantly increased with small dose exposure, from 1 Gy, and increased with the dose [1–4.9 Gy, RR: 3.6; 95% CI [1.4–9.1]; 5–14.9 Gy, RR: 11.7; 95% CI [4.9–27.9]; 15–24.9 Gy, RR: 14.9; 95% CI [6.0–37.3]; 25–34.9 Gy, RR: 22.2; 95% CI [7.5–65.8]; and 35–63.3 Gy, RR: 39.8; 95% CI [8.6–185]. Other risk factors for skin cancer include full body irradiation and allografts, particularly if there was acute or chronic graft versus host disease.

Without listing all the secondary cancers, radiotherapy has been found to significantly increase the risks for digestive cancer, sarcoma, lung cancer, and meningioma and has already been described as having a dose relation risk and an inverse link with age at exposure. For example, the relative risk of colorectal cancer in survivors treated with abdominal/pelvic radiation therapy has been found to be 4.5–25 times higher than that of the general population. The range of risk is very large and depends on the follow-up duration and prior cancer treatment. Moreover, as we expect a low rate among a young population, small changes in the observed number of colorectal cancers lead to a significant variation in estimated relative risks [57, 58, 78–80]. Not only childhood cancer survivors are concerned by this risk. In a recent article by van Eggermond et al. [56], in a cohort of 3121 5-year Hodgkin lymphoma survivors treated between 1965 and 1995, with 41.2% under the age of 25 at first cancer, after a median follow-up of 22.9 years, 55 patients developed CRC, and the SIR was 2.4 (1.8-3.2). The highest risk was seen for inverted-Y field radiotherapy in the area of the transverse colon. A cumulative procarbazine dose >4.2 g/m² was associated with a 3.3-fold higher CRC risk; 95% CI [1.8-6.1] compared to treatment without procarbazine, and procarbazine associated with infradiaphragmatic radiotherapy had a hazard ratio of 6.8; 95% CI [3.0-15.6] compared with patients receiving neither treatment. More recently, data from the FCCSS, after estimation of the dose received at the site of the digestive anthracyclines for patients treated with <30 Gy, after controlling for radiotherapy and MOPP regimen [78]. Secondary digestive cancer during the first 40 years after childhood radiotherapy is rare, but the morbidity is important; when taking at a small stage, the survival rate is high, justifying screening strategies among high-risk persons. Concerning the risk of meningioma, the risk increased with the dose and was particularly significant for a dose ≥ 20 Gy [81–83]. The cumulative incidence of a second cerebral tumor is estimated to be 3.6% at 40 years of follow-up since a diagnosis of childhood or adolescent cancer, but the risk is increased 50-100-fold after cranial radiotherapy versus without, with a median latency of 10-25 years [81]. In the CCSS, 199 meningiomas in 169 former patients were identified among 4221 survivors exposed to cranial radiotherapy (>1.5 Gy), with a median delay from exposure of 22 years (5–37 years) [82]. The cumulative incidence at the age of 40 years was 5.6%; 95% CI [4.7–6.7]% and the risk was significant for a dose \geq 20 Gy (HR (20–29 Gy): 1.6; 95% CI [1.0–2.6] and HR (≥30 Gy): 2.6; 95% CI [1.6–4.2]). The

morbidity and mortality are significant with neurologic sequelae, such as seizures, auditory-vestibular-visual deficits, focal neurologic dysfunction, and severe headaches. In the CCSS, 13% of patients were deceased, with a median follow-up of 72 months after meningioma diagnosis.

Concerning the risk of developing secondary sarcoma, a higher dose is usually necessary with a 30-fold higher risk after 44 Gy compared to that with 14 Gy [24, 63, 80, 84, 85]. In the CCSS case-control study, radiotherapy was a risk factor for secondary sarcoma, with an OR of 15.6; 95% CI [4.5–53.9] for 10–29.9 Gy, which increases to 114.1; 95% CI [13.5–964.8] for doses >50 Gy [86].

Size of the Field

The risk of secondary cancers increased with increasing radiation field size [87]. The impact of the field has been well studied for Hodgkin lymphoma, leading to a reduced field in the modern treatment area. For example, for patients treated for Hodgkin lymphoma compared with the age/sex-matched general population, the relative risk for patients treated with mantle radiation alone was 2.1 versus 4.2 and 5.1, respectively, for the ones treated with subtotal and total lymph node irradiation [88]. Again, among Hodgkin lymphoma survivors, in a cohort of 1112 women treated before the age of 41 years, full mantle irradiation increased the risk of breast cancer by 2.7-fold compared with that of mediastinal irradiation alone (hazard ratio, 2.7 (1.1–6.9)) [89]. This was confirmed in a meta-analysis with a threefold decrease of breast cancer with a smaller field (involved field versus extended field) [90] and after in a review of the literature made by an Inserm unit [91]. Another study done by Journy et al. highlighted the importance of the field for breast cancer survivors and the risk of second oesophageal cancer [13].

When Adding Several Risk Factors

In several studies, the effects of radio- and chemotherapy were additive, whereas the effects of radiation and smoking seem to be multiplicative. This additive effect was, for example, found in the international pooled analysis of thyroid cancer among childhood cancer survivors [69]. Several studies analyzed the risk of lung cancer in Hodgkin lymphoma survivors (adult and pediatric). Authors found an additive risk when patients were exposed to radiation and alkylating agents but found a multiplicative relationship between radiation and smoking (increased risk >20-fold) [54, 92]. In other cases, the impact of chemotherapy was inferior to that of radiotherapy most of the time and was emphasized with small or medium doses of irradiation, principally alkylating agents and anthracyclines. For example, in the CCSS, including 12,756 patients to study second thyroid cancer for patients who received <20 Gy to the thyroid, both alkylating agents and anthracyclines increased thyroid cancer risk (with a RR of 2.4; 95% CI [1.3–4.5] and a RR of 1.8; 95% CI [1.1–3.1], respectively), and these molecules were not significant for patients not treated with

radiotherapy or for whom the dose was >20 Gy [93]. In another study done on 4438 patients of the French Childhood Cancer Survivor Study, de Vathaire et al. showed that nitrosoureas (BCNU or CCNU), classified as alkylating agents, increased the risk of second thyroid cancer with a RR of 6.6; 95% CI [2.5–15.7] [94].

Concerning skin cancer, common characteristics that indicate sun sensitivity, such as hair and skin color, increase the risk of basal cell carcinoma in cancer survivors [73, 95].

Hormonal status influences the risk of second cancers. Premature menopause decreases the risk of breast cancer [89, 96]. Tamoxifen increases the risk of endometrial cancer (OR: 1.52; 95% CI [1.07–2.17]), with this risk increasing with the duration of the treatment (particularly when used more than 5 years, OR: 4.06; 95% CI [1.74–9.47]) compared to that in non-users [97]. The impact of irradiation to the pineal gland should be more deeply investigated, as the results are inconsistent. For example, in the FCCSS, pituitary irradiation decreased the risk of thyroid cancer [94].

In conclusion, radiation exposure is an established risk factor for secondary neoplasms with a strong relationship with the dose (even if not always in a linear way) and size of the field, as well as an inverse relationship with the age at the time of treatment.

Screening

All these studies describing late complications linked to specific therapeutic exposures enable the characterization of groups at high risk. Health screening is an effective way to detect a particular condition or disease early, before any signs or symptoms, and is of clinical interest when early detection leads to gain of survival or decreased risk of morbidity. To be relevant, the disease targeted by the screening should be an important health problem, and the existence of an easy, acceptable, reliable, sensitive, cost-effective, and (if possible) quite specific test should be necessary. Concerning secondary cancers, several studies have described the risk factors, but data concerning the optimization of screening strategies are limited, mainly due to ethical concerns (difficult to propose a randomized strategy of screening versus none). As mentioned before, because of the rarity of some second cancers or of the absence of an adequate exam, even if the RR is significant and sometimes very high (>10), recommendations for cancer screening do not exist for all localizations.

Most of the recommendations extrapolate data about screening strategies from the general population or already known group of high-risk cancers (for example, BRCA mutation and breast cancer screening programs or APC mutation or polyposis and colorectal cancer screening programs), but clinicians must consider the eventual harms of a screening strategy, including psychological distress and overdiagnosis, particularly for thyroid cancer.

Several scientific societies have developed survivorship guidelines particularly for childhood cancer survivors, including the Children's Oncology Group (COG)

[98-100]: European societies, such as the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) [101], the Late Effects Group of the United Kingdom Children's Cancer and Leukaemia Group (UKCCLG) [102], the Dutch Childhood Oncology Group [51], the French society SFCE [103, 104], or the Swedish one [105], as well as in adulthood cancer survivors where screening guidelines are emerging [12, 39, 106-108]. An overview of several of them is presented by Landier et al. [99]. An international Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group with the Pan-European Network for Care (PanCare) [109] has an objective to harmonize these recommendations internationally using systematic literature searches, leading to rigorous evidence-based summaries [110-112]. Due to the limited trials on screening strategies, the guidelines define survivors at high risk from data in the literature and then try to define a consensus to formulate the screening strategies in collaboration with different experts (epidemiologists, radiation oncologists, pediatricians, and pediatric medical subspecialties) and patient advocates [113]. As presented before, many scientific societies recommend personalized screening for cancer survivors; however, in the absence of a program, these recommendations are not followed [65, 108, 114-119].

In general terms, all former patients should be advised to inform their health care provider if they detect a mass in an organ, a prolonged pain, a wound that does not heal, or symptoms that linger (>1 month) without explanation (fever, dyspnoea, altered general condition, digestive disorders, and bleeding).

Concerning therapy-related leukemia, there is no real strategy of screening because of the absence of a recognizable or early symptomatic stage. Nevertheless, clinicians counsel survivors to promptly report any unusual fatigue, pallor, petechiae, or bone pain [120].

Concerning the risk of breast cancer, a recent update has been published [53]. Breast cancer screening is recommended annually for women treated with ≥ 10 Gy chest radiation (strong recommendation), also including upper abdominal radiation at a young age, which may expose breast tissue to a significant dose (moderate recommendation). The screening strategy is based on mammography and breast magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) annually up to at least the age of 60 years. Because of a lack of evidence and inconsistent data, breast cancer screening is not recommended for women treated with anthracyclines without radiotherapy [53]. Nevertheless, authors suggest testing for genetic cancer predisposition syndromes, such as Li-Fraumeni syndrome, and for survivors of leukemia, CNS tumors, and non-Ewing sarcoma who have been treated with high-dose anthracyclines. Although breast cancer risk is increased in men after radiotherapy, screening is not recommended for them because of its rarity, even if they received radiotherapy exposing the breast tissue [121]. Premature ovarian insufficiency reduces the risk of secondary breast cancer (level A evidence), but data are insufficient to calculate the exact level of reduced risk. For the moment, it cannot be taken into account whether or not to recommend breast cancer screening, as most of these women receive hormonal treatment. In the harmonization guidelines, while taking into account the potential harms (risk of false-positive results leading to emotional distress and additional imaging and biopsies, risk of overdiagnosis, burden of regular surveillance, and the

risk of potential radiation exposure from radiological exams (mammography)), experts concluded that, for women who received ≥ 10 Gy to the breast tissue, the benefits of screening an attained age of 25 years or 8 years after radiation, whichever occurs last, at least up to age 60 years with annual mammography and MRI are expected to outweigh the harms. The authors added that, in some circumstances, just one exam could be realized. Therefore, for example, in France, experts recommend to avoid mammography before the age of 30 and to limit the irradiation by doing a single external oblique incidence mammogram using digital technology [108, 122, 123].

Concerning the risk of thyroid cancer, the impact of radiotherapy among childhood cancer survivors is consistent but in larger epidemiological studies, even if the risk is elevated after a range of first primary adult cancers. The link with the first treatment is not obvious, and screening may contribute to its elevation [17]. Balancing the benefits and harms of cancer screening is important. This is a major concern with thyroid cancer, as there are not any randomized trials evaluating if earlier detection of thyroid cancer by screening impacts morbidity and mortality, because the risk of overdiagnosis is greater than for other cancers (indolent cancer which might never cause clinical problems), and because of the risk of the detection of benign nodule(s), which can lead to repeated exams, fine-needle aspiration biopsies, or thyroid surgery. Nevertheless, evidence from studies of adults indicates that an advanced stage is a risk factor for recurrence and mortality [124]. Additionally, an early stage usually leads to a less extensive surgery and no or lower doses of radioactive iodine therapy. Indirectly, many scientific societies recommend screening for former patients at high risk. In this aim, the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group in collaboration with the PanCareSurFup Consortium did an exhaustive review of the literature recently, and their conclusions highlight the need for shared decision-making with the former patient whether or not to undergo thyroid screening and in the choice of the modality, as of the two available (thyroid ultrasound and neck palpation), none was shown to be superior [124]. Insufficient data exists concerning thyroid cancer risk after chemotherapy. Also, experts recommend that former patients treated with radiation therapy, including the thyroid gland or just nearby or probably those with therapeutic 131I-MIBG, should be counseled regarding their increased risk for developing thyroid cancer.

Concerning skin cancer after radiotherapy, there is not a specific strategy. Patient education is important to avoid supplementary risk factors. As in the general population, basal cell carcinomas are the most frequent and the least serious due to their development, which remains local. Their complete removal ensures the patient's recovery. The interest in early detection facilitates the removal and reduces the esthetic risk because these cancers can spread on the surface. Recent evidence indicates that early diagnosis of basal cell carcinomas can lead to smaller tumors, potentially less extensive treatment, better outcomes, and lower treatment costs [125]. Squamous cell carcinomas are rarer and more aggressive because they can invade lymph nodes and metastasize. The value of screening is to allow early detection at a local stage. For cutaneous melanomas, as in the general population, any delay in
diagnosis can lead to unnecessary morbidity and even mortality [126]. Indeed, melanoma has a good prognosis if detected early enough (Breslow index <2 mm and no metastases), and treatment consists of surgical excision (relative 5-year survival is 98% at the localized stage). When lymph node involvement is present, survival decreases to 62% and drops to 15% at the metastatic stage. Approximately 20 years after radiotherapy, when most of these patients are in their 30s, this population faces the possibility of skin cancers-multiple and recurrent and at rates much higher than those of the general population of the same age. The COG, National Cancer Institute and some other expert groups, such as the National Cancer Institute and long-term follow-up committee of the SFCE, recommend an annual dermatological examination to detect skin cancer at an early stage in pediatric and young adulthood cancer survivors who have received radiation therapy. But, no study has evaluated the best frequency of this screening, the optimum period to start, or other strategy based on empowerment, as comparison between self-examination and patient education and an early access to a specialist if needed versus a regular exam by a professional. However, the literature reports that less than one-third of survivors of pediatric cancer have ever had a clinical skin examination by a physician [127–129].

The increase in the risk of colorectal cancer is high after abdominal radiotherapy or after procarbazine exposure, but it is still a rare complication. On the other hand, the survival of patients with colorectal cancer depends on various prognostic factors, including the stage of cancer, lymph node involvement, presence of metastases, early treatment, depth of parietal invasion, and existence of an invasion by neighboring bodies. Clinical guidelines are inconsistent regarding the early initiation of surveillance in these patients due to the lack of supporting evidence of the oncogenesis of colorectal cancer after radiotherapy. The COG recommends screening based on colonoscopy every 5 years after delivery of abdominal radiotherapy \geq 30 Gy when the survivor has reached 35 years of age and/or after high-dose procarbazine (2.8 g/m²), which is based on the recommendations of CRC screening in high-risk populations because this exam can detect and remove early precursor lesions. Probably because of the exam, which is invasive, digestive screening is not a current practice in all countries [78, 129]. Nevertheless, even in the CCSS, adherence is not optimal (29.5%) [130]. Recent data from the FCCSS suggest some modifications to define the target population, as 42 out of 5015 patients treated with radiotherapy during childhood who developed colon cancer, 28.6% were <35 years old [78]. Moreover, the estimated dose received by 50% of the abdomen was >30 Gy for only one patient, and the estimated dose received by 20% of the abdomen was >20 Gy for 43% of patients and >30 Gy for 7% of patients. Other studies are consistent with these results and suggest to perform screening for patients at the age of 30 years or after a delay of 5 years after exposure, whichever occurs later, and who received ≥ 20 Gy by colonoscopy or multitarget stool DNA test every 3 years [131, 132]. Although the COG and some other expert groups recommend early CRC screening for patients with prior abdominal radiotherapy, the effectiveness of early screening is unknown. Despite recognizing the increased colorectal cancer risk, other relevant guideline resources do not explicitly recommend the early initiation of colorectal cancer screening in childhood cancer survivors. It is also unknown if

the oncogenesis is the same as in primary colorectal cancer, meaning if the radiationinduced colorectal cancers pass through precancerous polyps, which are detectable and treatable, prior to becoming invasive cancers. In a recent study of cancer survivors, with 72 enrolled patients, 24 patients (44.4%; 95% CI [32-57.6%]) were found to have 49 polyps, of which 8 patients had >1 adenomatous polyp and 15 patients had precancerous neoplastic polyps (tubular adenoma, tubulovillous adenoma or serrated adenoma) [132]. This polyp prevalence is at least as high as that previously reported for the average-risk population aged \geq 50 years and very similar to the 24% rate reported in a study of patients at risk for hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer undergoing their first colonoscopy screening [133]. These studies give evidence that the prevalence of screening detectable polyps in young cancer survivors treated with abdominal/pelvic radiotherapy is comparable to that in other groups for whom screening is recommended. The other strategy could be based on fecal occult blood testing and may be potentially more acceptable among these survivors [134, 135]. The risk of a false-positive test does not seem to be increased, even after infradiaphragmatic radiotherapy, because few people suffer from anemia due to potential intestinal mucosal alterations [136]. In a study analyzing 871 patients with Hodgkin lymphoma in remission treated with chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or both (36%, 40%, and 24%, respectively) and after a median follow-up of 12 years, authors calculated an average excess of 22.8 cases of colorectal cancer per year among 10,000 patients and recommended a fecal occult blood test once a year and colonoscopy whenever any suspicion arises [137]. Actually, the international Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group is working on an exhaustive review of the literature with the aim to write international recommendations on colorectal cancer. Acceptability is a major variable that must be included in the reflection of the screening strategy.

Concerning the risk of second cerebral neoplasms, the COG does not recommend regular screening, except for patients with neurofibromatosis beginning 2 years after radiotherapy. The SFCE recommends an MRI every 5 years.

Conclusion

Data from the literature among childhood and adult cancer survivors clearly supports the role of oncologic treatment in the development of secondary neoplasms. The impact of the treatment is higher among childhood cancer survivors for all types of secondary neoplasms. Nevertheless, interindividual variability exists, suggesting the impact of environmental exposure and genetic susceptibility combined with specific high-risk polymorphisms or gene-environment interactions. All cancer survivors should be counseled to decrease the risk of second neoplasms and for some to follow screening recommendations that take into account the different treatments, such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and hormone therapy. Additional research is needed to better understand the role of specific chemotherapeutic agents, including the new classes of anticancer agents, individually and in combination with other anticancer agents, with radiotherapy or with environmental exposure. In the future, clinicians will also have to consider genetic susceptibility with the aim to personalize the different screening strategies. In most of the screening recommendations, targeting former patients is mainly based on irradiation data because of the lack of informative data about molecules. Moreover, large datasets, probably through international collaborations, are needed to provide robust analyses, answer persistent questions, and understand inconsistent results.

To increase the adherence of several screening protocols for the same patient, acceptability must be taken into account, and the notion of "empowerment" seems to be suitable and effective [115, 138, 139]. Empowering patients means strengthening the ability of patients to act effectively on the determinants of their health while promoting their independence and quality of life.

In conclusion, because of great advances in treatment options, cancer survival rates are improving and long-term follow-up strategies are becoming more and more important. The goal and grail in research into cancer aim to better understand, prevent, and treat late-occurring effects while preserving and still increasing longterm survival. A summary of treatments with detailed recommendations for screening and advice for lifestyle is necessary for each cancer survivor. Second cancers are multifactorial, with key roles played by primary cancer treatments and genetic susceptibility without forgetting lifestyle factors and environmental exposures.

References

- Brown AL, et al. Survival disparities for second primary malignancies diagnosed among childhood cancer survivors: a population-based assessment. Cancer. 2019;125(20):3623–30.
- de Gonzalez B. A., et al., Proportion of second cancers attributable to radiotherapy treatment in adults: a cohort study in the US SEER cancer registries. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(4):353–60.
- Morton LM, et al. Association of chemotherapy for solid tumors with development of therapy-related myelodysplastic syndrome or acute myeloid leukemia in the modern era. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5(3):318–25.
- 4. Donin N, et al. Risk of second primary malignancies among cancer survivors in the United States, 1992 through 2008. Cancer. 2016;122(19):3075–86.
- 5. Hawkins M, et al. Subsequent primary neoplasms: risks, risk factors, surveillance, and future research. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2020;67(6):1135–54.
- 6. Vogt A, et al. Multiple primary tumours: challenges and approaches, a review. ESMO Open. 2017;2(2):e000172.
- 7. Amer MH. Multiple neoplasms, single primaries, and patient survival. Cancer Manag Res. 2014;6:119–34.
- 8. Sea, F., Airtum cancer registration handbook. 2009.
- 9. Cosset JM, et al. Second malignancies after permanent implant prostate cancer brachytherapy: a single-institution study of 675 patients treated between 1999 and 2003. Cancer Radiother. 2017;21(3):210–5.
- 10. Morton LM, Chanock SJ. A step toward slaying the hydra of second cancers. Nat Med. 2011;17(8):924–5.
- Allodji RS, et al. Role of radiotherapy and chemotherapy in the risk of leukemia after childhood cancer: an international pooled analysis. Int J Cancer. 2020;
- 12. Chao C, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and mortality associated with second malignant neoplasms among survivors of adolescent and young adult cancer. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(6):e195536.

- 13. Journy N, et al. Dose-volume effects of breast cancer radiation therapy on the risk of second oesophageal cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2020;151:33–9.
- 14. Keegan THM, et al. Second primary malignant neoplasms and survival in adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(11):1554–7.
- 15. Hellesnes R, et al. Continuing increased risk of second cancer in long-term testicular cancer survivors after treatment in the cisplatin era. Int J Cancer. 2020;147(1):21–32.
- Schaffar R, et al. Testicular cancer in Geneva, Switzerland, 1970-2012: incidence trends, survival and risk of second cancer. BMC Urol. 2019;19(1):64.
- 17. Schonfeld SJ, et al. Risk of second primary papillary thyroid cancer among adult cancer survivors in the United States, 2000-2015. Cancer Epidemiol. 2020;64:101664.
- Sud A, Hemminki K, Houlston RS. Second cancer risk following Hodgkin lymphoma. Oncotarget. 2017;8(45):78261–2.
- Jiang S, et al. Risk of second primary malignancies of adolescent and young adult patients with germ cell cancer: a US population-based analysis. Curr Probl Cancer. 2020;2020:100641.
- Youlden DR, et al. Second primary cancers in people who had cancer as children: an Australian Childhood Cancer Registry population-based study. Med J Aust. 2020;212(3):121–5.
- Koh KN, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of second malignant neoplasms after childhood cancer treatment: multi-center retrospective survey. J Korean Med Sci. 2016;31(8):1254–61.
- Morton LM, et al. The rising incidence of second cancers: patterns of occurrence and identification of risk factors for children and adults. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. 2014:e57–67.
- 23. Meadows AT, et al. Second neoplasms in survivors of childhood cancer: findings from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study cohort. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(14):2356–62.
- Turcotte LM, et al. Chemotherapy and risk of subsequent malignant neoplasms in the childhood cancer survivor study cohort. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(34):3310–9.
- Brower V. Tracking chemotherapy's effects on secondary cancers. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013;105(19):1421–2.
- 26. Vega-Stromberg T. Chemotherapy-induced secondary malignancies. J Infus Nurs. 2003;26(6):353–61.
- 27. Bernard-Marty C, et al. Second malignancies following adjuvant chemotherapy: 6-year results from a Belgian randomized study comparing cyclophosphamide, methotrexate and 5-fluorouracil (CMF) with an anthracycline-based regimen in adjuvant treatment of node-positive breast cancer patients. Ann Oncol. 2003;14(5):693–8.
- 28. Le Deley MC, et al. Risk of secondary leukemia after a solid tumor in childhood according to the dose of epipodophyllotoxins and anthracyclines: a case-control study by the Societe Francaise d'Oncologie Pediatrique. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(6):1074–81.
- 29. Koduru P, et al. Cytogenomic characterization of double minute heterogeneity in therapy related acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Genet. 2019;238:69–75.
- 30. Linassier C, et al. Early secondary acute myelogenous leukemia in breast cancer patients after treatment with mitoxantrone, cyclophosphamide, fluorouracil and radiation therapy. Ann Oncol. 2000;11(10):1289–94.
- 31. Shenolikar R, et al. Incidence of secondary myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in patients with ovarian or breast cancer in a real-world setting in the United States. Gynecol Oncol. 2018;151(2):190–5.
- 32. Kern W, et al. Prognosis in therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia and impact of karyotype. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(12):2510–1.
- 33. Schoch C, et al. Karyotype is an independent prognostic parameter in therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia (t-AML): an analysis of 93 patients with t-AML in comparison to 1091 patients with de novo AML. Leukemia. 2004;18(1):120–5.
- Schoch C, et al. The influence of age on prognosis of de novo acute myeloid leukemia differs according to cytogenetic subgroups. Haematologica. 2004;89(9):1082–90.
- Pulsoni A, Pagano L. Treatment of secondary acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(4):926–7.
- Giri S, et al. Secondary acute lymphoblastic leukemia is an independent predictor of poor prognosis. Leuk Res. 2015;39(12):1342–6.

- Salas C, Perez-Vera P, Frias S. Genetic abnormalities in leukemia secondary to treatment in patients with Hodgkin's disease. Rev Investig Clin. 2011;63(1):53–63.
- Davies SM. Therapy-related leukemia associated with alkylating agents. Med Pediatr Oncol. 2001;36(5):536–40.
- 39. Poh C, Keegan T, Rosenberg AS. Second primary malignancies in multiple myeloma: a review. Blood Rev. 2020;2020:100757.
- Hijiya N, et al. Acute leukemia as a secondary malignancy in children and adolescents: current findings and issues. Cancer. 2009;115(1):23–35.
- Shimada T, et al. Secondary leukemia after chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy for gynecologic neoplasia. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2014;24(2):178–83.
- 42. Nasioudis D, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia following gynecologic cancer in the era of platinum-based chemotherapy. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2018;28(8):1639–42.
- Vay A, et al. Therapy-related myeloid leukemia after treatment for epithelial ovarian carcinoma: an epidemiological analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;123(3):456–60.
- 44. Liu P, et al. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia following temozolomide treatment in a patient with glioblastoma: a case report and review of the literature. Oncol Lett. 2018;15(6):8663–8.
- 45. Kosugi K, et al. A case of therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia associated with adjuvant temozolomide chemotherapy for anaplastic astrocytoma. World Neurosurg. 2017;101:816. e11-816 e16.
- Dixit S, et al. Temozolomide-related idiosyncratic and other uncommon toxicities: a systematic review. Anti-Cancer Drugs. 2012;23(10):1099–106.
- Baehring JM, Marks PW. Treatment-related myelodysplasia in patients with primary brain tumors. Neuro-Oncology. 2012;14(5):529–40.
- Ogura M, et al. Temozolomide may induce therapy-related acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2011;154(5):663–5.
- 49. Momota H, et al. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia after temozolomide treatment for anaplastic astrocytoma in a child with a germline TP53 mutation. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2010;55(3):577–9.
- Ehrhardt MJ, et al. Subsequent breast cancer in female childhood cancer survivors in the St Jude Lifetime Cohort Study (SJLIFE). J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(19):1647–56.
- Teepen JC, et al. Long-term risk of subsequent malignant neoplasms after treatment of childhood cancer in the DCOG LATER study cohort: role of chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(20):2288–98.
- 52. Henderson TO, et al. Breast cancer risk in childhood cancer survivors without a history of chest radiotherapy: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(9):910–8.
- 53. Mulder RL, et al. Updated breast cancer surveillance recommendations for female survivors of childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer from the International Guideline Harmonization Group. J Clin Oncol. 2020;JCO2000562.
- Travis LB, Gilbert E. Lung cancer after Hodgkin lymphoma: the roles of chemotherapy, radiotherapy and tobacco use. Radiat Res. 2005;163(6):695–6.
- Veiga LH, et al. A pooled analysis of thyroid cancer incidence following radiotherapy for childhood cancer. Radiat Res. 2012;178(4):365–76.
- van Eggermond AM, et al. Infradiaphragmatic irradiation and high procarbazine doses increase colorectal cancer risk in Hodgkin lymphoma survivors. Br J Cancer. 2017;117(3):306–14.
- Henderson TO, et al. Secondary gastrointestinal cancer in childhood cancer survivors: a cohort study. Ann Intern Med. 2012;156(11):757–66, W-260.
- Nottage K, et al. Secondary colorectal carcinoma after childhood cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(20):2552–8.
- Friedman DL, et al. Subsequent neoplasms in 5-year survivors of childhood cancer: the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(14):1083–95.
- 60. Morton LM, et al. Genome-Wide Association study to identify susceptibility loci that modify radiation-related risk for breast cancer after childhood cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2017:109(11).

- Morton LM, et al. Subsequent neoplasm risk associated with rare variants in DNA damage response and clinical radiation sensitivity syndrome genes in the childhood cancer survivor study. JCO Precis Oncol. 2020;4
- 62. Berrington de Gonzalez A, et al. Risk of second cancers according to radiation therapy technique and modality in prostate cancer survivors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91(2):295–302.
- 63. Inskip PD, et al. Radiation-related new primary solid cancers in the childhood cancer survivor study: comparative radiation dose response and modification of treatment effects. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;94(4):800–7.
- 64. Turcotte LM, et al. Risk, risk factors, and surveillance of subsequent malignant neoplasms in survivors of childhood cancer: a review. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(21):2145–52.
- 65. Demoor-Goldschmidt C, et al. Clinical and diagnosis characteristics of breast cancers in women with a history of radiotherapy in the first 30years of life: a French multicentre cohort study. Radiother Oncol. 2017;124(2):200–3.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt C., et al. [Secondary cancers: incidence, risk factors and recommendations]. Bull Cancer. 2015;102(7–8):656–664.
- 67. Bhatia S, et al. Breast cancer and other second neoplasms after childhood Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med. 1996;334(12):745–51.
- 68. de Vathaire F, et al. Risk of a second kidney carcinoma following childhood cancer: role of chemotherapy and radiation dose to kidneys. J Urol. 2015;194(5):1390–5.
- 69. Veiga LH, et al. Thyroid cancer after childhood exposure to external radiation: an updated pooled analysis of 12 studies. Radiat Res. 2016;185(5):473–84.
- 70. Lubin JH, et al. Thyroid cancer following childhood low-dose radiation exposure: a pooled analysis of nine cohorts. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(7):2575–83.
- 71. Adjadj E, et al. The risk of multiple primary breast and thyroid carcinomas. Cancer. 2003;98(6):1309–17.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt C., Supiot S., Mahe, M.A. [Breast cancer after radiotherapy: risk factors and suggestion for breast delineation as an organ at risk in the prepuberal girl]. Cancer Radiother. 2012;16(2):140–151.
- 73. Watt TC, et al. Radiation-related risk of basal cell carcinoma: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;104(16):1240–50.
- 74. Pappo AS, et al. Melanoma as a subsequent neoplasm in adult survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(3):461–6.
- 75. Perkins JL, et al. Nonmelanoma skin cancer in survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(16):3733–41.
- Mertens AC, et al. Cause-specific late mortality among 5-year survivors of childhood cancer: the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008;100(19):1368–79.
- Dupuy A, et al. Risk of melanoma following adulthood cancer: a case-control study. Eur J Cancer. 2005;41(18):2904–10.
- Allodji RS, et al. Risk of subsequent colorectal cancers after a solid tumor in childhood: effects of radiation therapy and chemotherapy. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2019;66(2):e27495.
- Schaapveld M, et al. Second cancer risk up to 40 years after treatment for Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(26):2499–511.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt C, de Vathaire F. Review of risk factors of secondary cancers among cancer survivors. Br J Radiol. 2019;92(1093):20180390.
- Journy NMY, et al. Risk factors of subsequent central nervous system tumors after childhood and adolescent cancers: findings from the french childhood cancer survivor study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2020.
- Bowers DC, et al. Morbidity and mortality associated with meningioma after cranial radiotherapy: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(14):1570–6.
- 83. Bowers DC, et al. Subsequent neoplasms of the CNS among survivors of childhood cancer: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(8):e321–8.
- Schonfeld SJ, et al. Risk of second primary bone and soft-tissue sarcomas among young adulthood cancer survivors. JNCI Cancer Spectr. 2019;3(3):pkz043.

- 85. Ishida Y, et al. Secondary bone/soft tissue sarcoma in childhood cancer survivors: a nationwide hospital-based case-series study in Japan. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2018;48(9):806–14.
- Henderson TO, et al. Risk factors associated with secondary sarcomas in childhood cancer survivors: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84(1):224–30.
- Maraldo MV, et al. The impact of involved node, involved field and mantle field radiotherapy on estimated radiation doses and risk of late effects for pediatric patients with Hodgkin lymphoma. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(4):717–22.
- Ng AK, et al. Second malignancy after Hodgkin disease treated with radiation therapy with or without chemotherapy: long-term risks and risk factors. Blood. 2002;100(6):1989–96.
- De Bruin ML, et al. Breast cancer risk in female survivors of Hodgkin's lymphoma: lower risk after smaller radiation volumes. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(26):4239–46.
- 90. Franklin J, et al. Second malignancy risk associated with treatment of Hodgkin's lymphoma: meta-analysis of the randomised trials. Ann Oncol. 2006;17(12):1749–60.
- Journy N, et al. Volume effects of radiotherapy on the risk of second primary cancers: a systematic review of clinical and epidemiological studies. Radiother Oncol. 2019;131:150–9.
- 92. Gilbert ES, et al. Lung cancer after treatment for Hodgkin's disease: focus on radiation effects. Radiat Res. 2003;159(2):161–73.
- Metayer C, et al. Second cancers among long-term survivors of Hodgkin's disease diagnosed in childhood and adolescence. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(12):2435–43.
- de Vathaire F, et al. Thyroid radiation dose and other risk factors of thyroid carcinoma following childhood cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(11):4282–90.
- 95. Shore RE. Radiation-induced skin cancer in humans. Med Pediatr Oncol. 2001;36(5):549-54.
- Inskip PD, et al. Radiation dose and breast cancer risk in the childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(24):3901–7.
- 97. Bernstein L, et al. Tamoxifen therapy for breast cancer and endometrial cancer risk. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1999;91(19):1654–62.
- Oeffinger KC, Nathan PC, Kremer LC. Challenges after curative treatment for childhood cancer and long-term follow up of survivors. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2010;24(1):129–49.
- Landier W, et al. Surveillance for late effects in childhood cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(21):2216–22.
- 100. Landier W, et al. Yield of screening for long-term complications using the children's oncology group long-term follow-up guidelines. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(35):4401–8.
- 101. Wallace WH, et al. Long term follow-up of survivors of childhood cancer: summary of updated SIGN guidance. BMJ. 2013;346:f1190.
- 102. Wallace WH, et al. Developing strategies for long term follow up of survivors of childhood cancer. BMJ. 2001;323(7307):271–4.
- 103. Berger C., et al. [Objectives and organization for the long-term follow-up after childhood cancer]. Bull Cancer. 2015;102(7–8):579–585.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt C., Bernier V. [Towards an improvement of the quality of life after radiotherapy in children]. Bull Cancer. 2015;102(7–8):674–683.
- Jarfelt, M. [Swedish National Guidelines for long-term follow-up of childhood cancer survivors]. Lakartidningen. 2016;113.
- 106. Geller AC, et al. Skin cancer early detection practices among adult survivors of childhood cancer treated with radiation. J Invest Dermatol. 2019;139(9):1898–905. e2
- 107. Okubo R, et al. Expectations of and recommendations for a cancer survivorship guideline in Japan: a literature review of guidelines for cancer survivorship. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2019;49(9):812–22.
- 108. Demoor-Goldschmidt C, et al. A French national breast and thyroid cancer screening programme for survivors of childhood, adolescent and young adult (CAYA) cancers— DeNaCaPST programme. BMC Cancer. 2017;17(1):326.
- Hjorth L, et al. Survivorship after childhood cancer: PanCare: a European Network to promote optimal long-term care. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51(10):1203–11.

- 110. Brown MC, et al. The views of European clinicians on guidelines for long-term follow-up of childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2015;62(2):322–8.
- 111. Skinner R, Oeffinger KC. Developing international consensus for late effects screening and guidance. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care. 2013;7(3):303–8.
- 112. Kremer LC, et al. A worldwide collaboration to harmonize guidelines for the long-term follow-up of childhood and young adult cancer survivors: a report from the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(4):543–9.
- 113. Mulder RL, et al. Health problems in survivors of childhood cancer: the need for international collaboration in long-term follow-up care. Future Oncol. 2013;9(11):1667–70.
- 114. Demoor-Goldschmidt C., et al. [French organization of paediatric radiation treatment: results of a survey conducted by the radiotherapy Committee of the French Society of Paediatric Cancers (SFCE)]. Cancer Radiother. 2016;20(5):395–9.
- Oeffinger KC, et al. Promoting breast cancer surveillance: the EMPOWER study, a randomized clinical trial in the childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(24):2131–40.
- 116. Smith SM, et al. Inconsistent mammography perceptions and practices among women at risk of breast cancer following a pediatric malignancy: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Cancer Causes Control. 2010;21(10):1585–95.
- 117. Nathan PC, et al. Screening and surveillance for second malignant neoplasms in adult survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. Ann Intern Med. 2010;153(7):442–51.
- 118. Oeffinger KC, et al. Breast cancer surveillance practices among women previously treated with chest radiation for a childhood cancer. JAMA. 2009;301(4):404–14.
- 119. Cox CL, et al. Medical screening participation in the childhood cancer survivor study. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(5):454–62.
- 120. Eshelman D, et al. Facilitating care for childhood cancer survivors: integrating children's oncology group long-term follow-up guidelines and health links in clinical practice. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs. 2004;21(5):271–80.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt C, et al. Breast cancer, secondary breast cancers in childhood cancer male survivors-characteristics and risks. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2018;102(3):578–83.
- 122. Julian-Reynier C, et al. Physicians' attitudes towards mammography and prophylactic surgery for hereditary breast/ovarian cancer risk and subsequently published guidelines. Eur J Hum Genet. 2000;8(3):204–8.
- 123. Colin C, et al. Updated relevance of mammographic screening modalities in women previously treated with chest irradiation for Hodgkin disease. Radiology. 2012;265(3):669–76.
- 124. Clement SC, et al. Balancing the benefits and harms of thyroid cancer surveillance in survivors of Childhood, adolescent and young adult cancer: recommendations from the international Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group in collaboration with the PanCareSurFup Consortium. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;63:28–39.
- 125. Kricker A, et al. Basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma growth rates and determinants of size in community patients. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;70(3):456–64.
- 126. Alam M, et al. Delayed treatment and continued growth of nonmelanoma skin cancer. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2011;64(5):839–48.
- 127. Sharma D, et al. Need For improved skin cancer surveillance in pediatric cancer survivors. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2017;18(2):165–8.
- 128. Stapleton JL, et al. Skin cancer surveillance behaviors among childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2016;63(3):554–7.
- 129. Demoor-Goldschmidt C, et al. Long-term follow-up after childhood cancer in France supported by the SFCE-force and weakness-current state, results of a questionnaire and perspectives. Br J Radiol. 2018;91(1084):20170819.
- Daniel CL, et al. Predictors of colorectal cancer surveillance among survivors of childhood cancer treated with radiation: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Cancer. 2015;121(11):1856–63.

- 131. Au S, et al. Colorectal polyps in childhood cancer survivors treated with radiation therapy. Dig Dis Sci. 2018;63(9):2451–5.
- 132. Daly PE, et al. High prevalence of adenomatous colorectal polyps in young cancer survivors treated with abdominal radiation therapy: results of a prospective trial. Gut. 2017;66(10):1797–801.
- 133. Stoffel EM, et al. Missed adenomas during colonoscopic surveillance in individuals with Lynch Syndrome (hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer). Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2008;1(6):470–5.
- 134. Benton S, et al. NICE referral guidelines for suspected cancer: colorectal cancer and faecal occult blood testing. Ann Clin Biochem. 2016;53(Pt 1):7–9.
- 135. Benton SC, Seaman HE, Halloran SP. Faecal occult blood testing for colorectal cancer screening: the past or the future. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2015;17(2):428.
- 136. Moreno Chulilla JA. M.S. Romero Colas, and M. Gutierrez Martin, classification of anemia for gastroenterologists. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15(37):4627–37.
- 137. Petrakova K, et al. Second cancers in Hodgkin's lymphoma long-term survivals: a 60-year single institutional experience with real-life cohort of 871 patients. Int J Clin Pract. 2018:e13235.
- 138. Yan AP, et al. Adherence to surveillance for second malignant neoplasms and cardiac dysfunction in childhood cancer survivors: a childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(15):1711–22.
- 139. Zabih V, et al. Interventions to improve adherence to surveillance guidelines in survivors of childhood cancer: a systematic review. J Cancer Surviv. 2019;13(5):713–29.



Specific Issues of Children and Young Adults in Survivorship Care

16

Pierre Contant and Charlotte Demoor-Goldschmidt

Introduction

Pediatric and young adult oncology is a multimodal medical discipline justified by the age of the patients, specificity of the pathologies, and particularities of the pediatric approach, integrating the post-cancer issue with the diagnosis. These disciplines face two major challenges: to heal more, due to the contribution of new therapeutic approaches (i.e., targeted therapies, immunotherapy); and also to heal better, in order to preserve the quality of life of the treated patient, by reducing the side effects of the treatments used as much as possible. For a long time, the unique goals of treatment were healing. These objectives have been maintained, and in addition, doctors taking care of these children also work on de-escalation of treatments and the after-effects that should be avoided.

Currently, approximately 50,000 new cases of cancer in people under 25 years of age are diagnosed in the European Union each year [1, 2]. The progress made in recent years in the global management of pediatric cancers (diagnosis, extension assessment, anticancer treatments) has considerably improved the survival of these patients. Outcomes of childhood cancer have shown significant improvement due to the progress in multimodal therapy (including new chemotherapy regimens, modern radiotherapy techniques, optimized supportive care) and 5-year survival rates are currently above 80% in western European countries and the United States (US)

P. Contant

Pediatric Immuno-Hemato-Oncology Unit, Angers University Hospital, Angers, France

C. Demoor-Goldschmidt (⊠)

Pediatric Immuno-Hemato-Oncology Unit, Angers University Hospital, Angers, France

Cancer and Radiation Group, Center for Research in Epidemiology and Population Health, INSERM U1018, Paris Sud-Paris Saclay University, Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

Department of Radiation Oncology, Centre François Baclesse, Caen, France e-mail: Charlotte.Demoor@inserm.fr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), *Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_16

[3–13]. Nevertheless, cancer remains the main cause of disease-related mortality in children justifying aggressive treatment. It is estimated that in 2020, 500,000 persons are childhood cancer survivors (CCS) in the US, meaning that 1 of 750 individuals is a CCS, whereas in France, for example, it affects 1 of 440 individuals [14, 15]. As a result of this successful outcome, it has become essential to consider the morbidity and mortality associated with cancer treatments. Survivors are indeed at risk of developing a series of adverse effects. Also, recent publications show that the number of deaths in the population of patients cured of childhood cancer is 11 times higher than that of the general population. The increasing number of patients cured of cancer in childhood and adolescence, and highlighting the risks of complications and after-effects, have focused the need to establish a personalized post-cancer program and to organize the prevention and long-term management of these patients.

In this article, we will describe the increased risk of young mortality and health complications which can affect the quality of life of adult childhood and young adulthood cancer survivors (YACS) [14, 16, 17].

Morbidity

Abundant research studies describe long-term adverse outcomes involving physical health, including growth and development, organ function, reproductive capacity, and risk of subsequent carcinogenesis but also metabolic dysfunction, psychological issues, and neurocognitive deficits.

An increase in survival rate is not without cost to the cured child/young adult. Several publications described cumulative prevalence rates between 40–84% of long-term sequelae due to their cancer and its treatment, which can be disabling and/or life-threatening [18–23].

The most prominent causes of late mortality are the development of subsequent primary cancers and cardiovascular problems [24].

The risk of second cancer depends on several factors, mainly extrinsic (chemotherapy, radiotherapy) and intrinsic (age at diagnosis of first cancer, sex, genetic predisposition). In the US, approximately 89,500 new cancer cases among people aged 15–39 years were diagnosed in 2020, and the probability of developing invasive cancers before the age of 40 is 1:70 among males and 1:48 among females [1, 2]. As an example, Oeffinger et al. found the cumulative incidence of breast cancer at age 50 to be 30% with an incidence of 35% in Hodgkin's lymphoma survivors, similar to patients carrying the BRCA1 gene [25]. Reulen et al. evaluated the cumulative incidence of development of a second colorectal cancer in survivors treated by abdominopelvic irradiation in pediatric oncology [26, 27]. This risk was comparable (1.2%) in individuals with at least two first-degree relatives with colorectal cancer (population at high risk of developing colorectal cancer).

After secondary cancers, heart disease is the second most common and severe long-term complication of treatment. The prevalence of cardiotoxicity attributable to treatment varies from 0 to 16% when only heart failure criterion is considered but reaches 57% when subclinical cardiac dysfunction criterion is considered. Moreover,

cardiac pathologies after childhood cancer are the second leading cause of organ transplantation (0.49% cumulative incidence 35 years after cancer) [28]. The median time to onset of heart disease is 19.5 years with a cumulative incidence, at 30 years of diagnosis, of severe to lethal cardiac pathology of 4-5%, but 11% for all grades. At the age of 45 years, coronary pathology or heart failure is detected in 5% of patients, and a valve anomaly or arrhythmia in 1-2% (with a relative risk around 10) [29-38]. After Hodgkin's disease, a cumulative incidence of grade III-V cardiac pathologies of 45.5% was described at the age of 50 years, while in the general population, incidences of heart failure of 0.35% and cardiac pathologies of 3-6% were found [39]. Anthracyclines (including different molecules) [40] and mediastinal radiotherapy are the two main cardiotoxic treatments that contribute to this morbidity and significant long-term mortality, with a dose-effect relationship [41, 42]. If specific treatments are considered, after radiotherapy, an increase of cumulative incidence at 25 years to 21% of decreased ejection fraction for a dose of 36 Gy and 5% for a dose of 20 Gy; and after anthracyclines, a cumulative incidence at 20 years increases to 25–50%, according to multiple studies [30, 43–51]. Irradiation leads to fibrosis lesions of the myocardium, pericardium, and valves. It also alters the vessel walls and leads to atherosclerotic lesions responsible for coronary artery disease. Patients can remain asymptomatic for years and the damage can be insidious [27].

Endocrine complications are very common in adults cured of pediatric cancer, and less among YACS [52-54]. They have been subjected to treatments of chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and/or surgery, generating endocrine deficits in 30-60% of cases (50-60% after brain radiotherapy in childhood), including hypothalamicpituitary hormone deficits, deficits in hypothalamic appetite regulation, and gonadal deficits [55–62]. These treatments also impact nutritional balance and the skeleton, affecting growth, pubertal development, bone mass, maintenance of body weight, reproductive capacity, and general hormonal equilibrium. The medical follow-up and care of these children must allow satisfactory growth, maturation, and psychosocial adaptation. The most frequent pathologies are growth hormone deficiency, thyroid pathology (between 13.8 and 20% of survivors), and menopause/early andropause, followed by diabetes and metabolic syndrome (31.8% of survivors, 46–52% post-leukemia) [41, 63–67]. Metabolic syndrome is significantly more frequent among adult cancer survivors than in the general population, and has been particularly described after breast or prostate cancer, but also other cancers, such as colorectal cancers [68-72]. At the pituitary level, all axes can be involved. Nevertheless, central diabetes insipidus is not a long-term complication, but a direct consequence of the tumor and/or surgical resection, and manifests itself in the first weeks after surgery. The most affected axis is the somatotropic axis (10-13%; up to 45-50% after brain radiotherapy).

Pulmonary sequelae include asthma, chronic cough, pulmonary emphysema, oxygen dependence, pulmonary fibrosis, and recurrent pneumonia. The cumulative incidence of any respiratory disorder at 35 years varies depending on published studies: 20–40%, and 30–50% at 45 years. The main actors of these toxicities are thoracic radiotherapy and chemotherapy, including platinum salts, bleomycin, busulfan, methotrexate, and thoracic surgery [73–76].

Renal sequelae secondary to treatment are manifested by impaired tubular and glomerular function, proteinuria, and secondary hypertension. The causes of such chronic kidney damage are varied. Sometimes the malignant disease itself can cause chronic kidney failure, for example, by damaging normal kidney tissue through tumor infiltration or obstruction of the urinary tract. Treatment-related chronic kidney damage is related to chemotherapy (i.e., methotrexate, ifosfamide, cisplatin, and carboplatin), radiation therapy, surgery, and supportive treatment (aminoglycoside antibiotics, amphotericin antifungals) [77-83]. Prevalence is highly variable between studies (0-84%), depending on the population studied, main criterion, and regression. Chronic renal failure has been documented as 2.4-32%, a decrease in the onset of glomerular filtration between 0 and 73.7%, and proteinuria between 3.5 and 84%. The cumulative risk of hospitalization for urinary pathology at age 60 is 22% in survivors versus 10% in the general population [77-83]. After ifosfamide treatment, a tubular pathology occurred in approximately one out of four persons [78, 80]. Renal sequelae are the first cause of organ transplantation after cancer in childhood. In the CCSS study, of 13,318 survivors, 100 underwent 103 transplants, including 50 renal transplants [28]. The cumulative incidence of transplantation or being on the list at 35 years of diagnosis was 0.54% (95% CI, 0.40-0.67).

The central and peripheral nervous systems can be significantly affected, not only by the malignancy but also by the interventions used for treatment. Treatment is often multimodal and may include cranial irradiation, chemotherapy, transplantation, and immunotherapy, each of which carries distinct neurological risks (infection, neurovascular, central, and peripheral nervous system disease) [84-87]. Surgery is associated with a range of potential neurological complications, with damage to the posterior fossa being a common cause of morbidity in patients with cerebellar tumors following neurosurgical resection [88-90]. Cranial irradiation can cause neurological sequelae such as encephalopathy, cerebral vasculopathy, secondary brain tumors, and cognitive dysfunction [91–96]. The central neurological toxicity of cytotoxic drugs depends on their ability to cross the blood-brain barrier. Readily available drugs are those with the greatest neurological toxicity, including alkylating agents (metabolites of cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide, thiotepa and melphalan in high doses), busulfan, platinum derivatives, aracytin, and methotrexate [97]. Peripheral neurological damage is an extremely common side effect of chemotherapy and is usually a dose-dependent effect. Each class of drugs has a different mechanism of damage; for example, platinum salts more often involve large fibers while taxanes affect large and small fibers.

Neurosensory sequelae can decrease quality of life and affect taste, smell, vision, and hearing. These neurosensory impairments may be related to the toxicity of chemotherapy or direct action of radiotherapy or surgery in the treatment of craniofacial lesions. Due to the effect on taste or smell, these treatments expose the body to risks of altered nutrition, general condition, and quality of life. Hyposialy, a consequence of irradiation of the salivary glands, increases the alterations of taste and risk of dental caries. An increased risk for cataracts is present in patients who received cerebral or orbital irradiation. High doses of corticosteroids have also been described as a risk factor, especially among patients treated for acute lymphoblastic leukemia [98, 99]. As an example, in the French cohort of post-childhood leukemia, L.E.A., after transplant conditioned by total body irradiation, 30% of cataracts were found in patients at 5 years old and 78% at 20 years old [98], among other ocular complications. In the american cohort, CCSS, other ocular sequelae were described: glaucoma with a relative risk (RR) when compared to siblings of 2.5 (95% CI, 1.1–5.7); as well as legal blindness, RR: 2.6 (95% CI, 1.7–4.0), double vision, RR: 4.1 (95% CI, 2.7–6.1), and dry eyes, RR: 1.9 (95% CI, 1.6–2.4) [99]. When the lesions affected hearing, risks for impaired school or intellectual performance and decreased social interactions existed [100, 101]. Therefore, the survivors' quality of life was impacted if left untreated. The chemotoxic agents mainly involved in hearing impairment are platinum salts [102–108], radiotherapy [109, 110], or both [111]. Hearing complications mainly occur in the first 5 years, but the incidence remains significantly higher than in the control population, regardless of time frame.

Fatigue and chronic pain are among the most common and distressing side effects of cancer treatment, more frequently after cancer during adulthood. In a study published in June 2018 by the French National Cancer Institute examining a survival 5 years after cancer, two out of three people believed they suffer from aftereffects, including fatigue and chronic pain. Some interventions as physical activity, psychosocial interventions, or mind-body interventions showed some results to reduce fatigue.

Premature Mortality

Childhood Cancer Survivors

Premature mortality remains a real problem. In 2006, the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (CCSS), a study on the largest American cohort of patients treated for pediatric cancer, highlighted these facts: overall (cumulative) mortality increases significantly over time: 6.5% at 10 years (95% CI, 6.2–6.9), 11.9% at 20 years (95% CI, 11.5–12.4), then 18.1% at 30 years (95% CI, 17.3–18.9) [24].

Premature mortality was essentially due to recurrence of original cancer (>50%), a subsequent neoplasm (10–20%) [112–116], and cardiovascular diseases (5–10%) [49, 114, 117, 118]. The order of cause mortality was consistent among the cohort (recurrence/progression of first cancer, second tumor, and cardiac disease); however, the percentage affected differed. Mortality from recurrence increased in the early years, whereas mortality from other causes continued to increase during 30–40 years of follow-up. For example, in the CCSS, in the population between 15–30 years of age, cumulative mortality due to primary disease only increased from 6.3 to 7.8%, while cumulative mortality due to late effects of treatment increased from 2.0 to 7.0% over the same period [24]. These results were supported by an English cohort study published in 2016, that was based on a population of 34,489 pediatric cancer survivors from 1940 to 2006. A total of 4475 deaths were observed, which was 9.1 (95% CI, 8.9–9.4) times more than in the general population. Among survivors aged 50–59 years, 41% and 22% of deaths were attributed to secondary malignancies and circulatory problems, respectively, while the corresponding percentages for those aged 60 and older were 31% and 37%, respectively [19].

Recently, one comparison was conducted between the US and Europe (Great Britain). The late causes of mortality were compared between the North American CCSS and British Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (BCCSS), which are two of the largest childhood cancer survivorship cohort studies in the world [18]. The causes of death were retrieved from the data of the relevant death registries. Of the 49.822 5-year CCS (63.4% from the CCSS and 36.6% from the BCCSS), 6375 deaths were registered (n = 3924 [12.4%]) from the CCSS and n = 2451 [13.4%] from the BCCSS). The cumulative mortality probabilities at 10 years from diagnosis was statistically significantly lower in the CCSS (4.7%; 95% CI, 4.5–5.0%), compared to the BCCSS (6.9%; 95% CI 6.5–7.2%), due to the lower probability of death from recurrence/progression of primary cancer. However, at 40 years from diagnosis, the CCSS had a greater cumulative mortality probability in comparison to British survivors (22.3% vs. 19.3%), attributable to a twofold higher risk of mortality from SMNs (ratio of standardized mortality ratios [RSMR], 2.1; 95% CI, 1.8-2.3), cardiac (RSMR, 1.7; 95% CI, 1.4-2.2) and respiratory (RSMR, 1.9; 95% CI, 1.5-2.6) diseases, external causes (RSMR, 1.5; 95% CI, 1.2-1.9), and other causes (RSMR, 2.5; 95% CI, 2.1–2.9). The authors suggested the differences observed may be related to treatment practices, but detailed treatment data were not available in the BCCSS.

Due to several reasons, including best management and lowering therapeutic exposure (drugs and radiotherapy), and best long-term follow-up (LTFU), we observed a decline in late mortality among 5-year CCS [119]. These reductions were attributable to decreases in the rates of death from subsequent neoplasm (p < 0.001), cardiac causes (p < 0.001), and pulmonary causes (p = 0.04). A decrease in the risk for subsequent malignancies was not a universal observation [120].

Adolescent and Young Adult Cancer Survivors

Few studies have focused on survivors treated for their cancer as adolescents and early young adults. A comparison was performed in the North American study, CCSS, of 5804 survivors diagnosed with cancer between the ages of 15–20 years who reached a median age of 42 years [34–50], and 5804 CCS diagnosed with cancer before the age of 15 years who reached a median age of 34 years [17, 27–42]. The standardized mortality ratios (SMR), compared to the general population for all-cause mortality, among early adolescent and young adult survivors was 5.9 (95% CI, 5.5–6.2) and among CCS, 6.2 (95% CI, 5.8–6.6). Adolescent and young adult survivors had lower SMR for death related to late effects of cancer therapy; 4.8 (95% CI, 4.4–5.1) versus 6.8 (95% CI, 6.2–7.4), respectively. Survivors had an increased risk of developing grade 3–5 cardiac (YACS: SMR, 4.3; 95% CI, 3.5–5.4 and CCS: SMR, 5.6; 95% CI, 4.5–7.1), endocrine (YACS: SMR, 3.9; 95% CI, 2.9–5.1 and CCS: SMR, 6.4; 95% CI, 5.1–8.0), and musculoskeletal conditions

(YACS: SMR, 6.5; 95% CI, 3.9–11.1 and CCS: SMR, 8.0; 95% CI, 4.6–14.0) when compared with siblings of the same age.

Decreased radiosensibility of the hypophysis among older patients has also been described in previous clinical studies. For example, in a recent evaluation comparing long-term survival outcomes and sequelae between child (n = 159) and adult (n = 477) nasopharyngeal carcinoma after intensity-modulated radiation therapy, CCS were more likely to develop grade 3–4 growth retardation and endocrine insufficiency (3.0% vs. 0.3%, respectively; p = 0.014) [52].

The results showed that the patterns of late mortality change over time and death by sequelae of the various treatments received 20–30 years earlier is a significant threat to this population.

Social and Psychological Effects

The consequences of cancer regardless of the age of diagnosis can affect all longterm medical health involving growth and development, organ function, fertility, and risk of subsequent tumor. Cancer experience has also been associated with an increased risk of detrimental psychosocial effects impacting mental health, socialization, educational and professional achievement, and sexuality [121–126].

Several studies suggested that 20–30% of survivors reported moderate to severe psychological distress [127]. In some studies, this value reached more than 50%. For example, in a French study, 247 of the 288 CCS who attended LTFU consultations and accepted to answer a short questionnaire. Of the respondents, 55% suffered from psychiatric issues after their cancer versus 31.9% in the general population (p < 0.0001): anxiety (40.5%), mood disorders (28.7%), and substance dependency (10.5%; p < 0.0001) [128]. Nevertheless, the risk of suicide was less for the CCS group vs. BCCS (8.9% vs. 13.6%, p = 0.03). This observation was also found in another study performed in North America, in which the standardized incidence ratio was 0.17 (95% CI, 0.07–0.27] of the prevalence of suicidal behaviors [129].

Oerlemans et al. showed that patients with Hodgkin's lymphoma were more anxious and depressed compared to the general population, which has a long-term impact on cancer survivors. Indeed, over a 4-year period, approximately 10% of Hodgkin's lymphoma patients reported that they were always anxious or depressed. As a result, clinicians should be aware that patients with former Hodgkin's lymphoma suffering from anxiety and depression require special follow-up [130].

Psychological distress was associated with female gender, long-term side effects, and perceived low parental support [131].

Quality of life is influenced by socio-professional integration, which refers to the notions of social relations, level of education, and employment. In the CCSS cohort, the proportion of subjects who were married at least once was slightly lower among former patients, all diagnoses combined, than in the general population [132]. In the US, there was little difference between former patients over 30 years of age and control subjects in the areas of education, employment, and access to insurance,

with the exception of patients followed for brain tumors. However, initial difficulties were reported in hiring in certain occupations and obtaining life insurance [133]. For these patients, the same observation was made in Great Britain; patients who received encephalic radiotherapy for leukemia or followed up for a central nervous system tumor had a lower level of education than others [134]. In Sweden or France, after cancer treatment before the age of 16 years, the level of education was significantly lower only for patients who had a brain tumor, and the income of this group was lower, even after excluding those receiving disability allowances [135, 136]. As an example, in France, among a total of 2406 survivors aged below 25 years who responded to the study questionnaire, when compared with national statistics adjusted on age and sex, health-related unemployment was higher for survivors of cerebral tumor vs. other cancers (28.1% vs. 4.3%; p < 0.001). Another finding was that other survivors had a similar or a higher occupational class than expected. Regarding occupation, a meta-analysis showed that cancer survivors treated in childhood are almost twice as likely to be unemployed as the control population. This excess risk is only significant for those who had a central nervous system tumor, and it is greater in the US than in Europe [137].

Conclusion

Survivors are vulnerable to medical and psychosocial "late effects" that are often associated with aging. Two to three in every four survivors experience a late effect of their cancer treatment, of which 37% may be life-threatening. It is therefore recommended that survivors attend LTFU care for the prevention, early detection, and treatment of late effects. Follow-up care is ideally approached globally and comprehensively, and usually interdisciplinary, and focuses on preventing or managing late effects through screening, education (survivors and general practitioners) on treatment-related complications, and should encourage preventative lifestyle behaviors. Despite developments of several strategies and utilization of follow-up organizations, young adult CCS often become disengaged from follow-up, particularly at the time of transition from pediatric to adult healthcare [138–140]. Accordingly, interventions are needed to reengage CCS into LTFU. Afterward, we have to keep in mind that the loss of follow-up is also a major challenge in the delivery of long-term care.

Treatment protocols, diagnosis, and patient initial characteristics help identify general risk factors for late side effects. Not all CCSs are at risk for late side effects and monitoring; therefore, recommendations should be risk-based. Numerous guidelines recommend lifelong care for CCS and adult cancer survivors, including International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonisation, a worldwide collaboration initiated to harmonize guidelines for the LTFU of childhood and young adult cancer survivors [139, 141–160]. In the future, this risk should be adapted to genetic polymorphism, which could make an individual more susceptible to late sequelae.

References

- 1. Jemal A, et al. Cancer statistics, 2010. CA Cancer J Clin. 2010;60(5):277-300.
- Miller KD, et al. Cancer statistics for adolescents and young adults, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin. 2020;70(6):443–59.
- Brenner H, Gondos A, Pulte D. Ongoing improvement in long-term survival of patients with Hodgkin disease at all ages and recent catch-up of older patients. Blood. 2008;111(6):2977–83.
- 4. Lacour B, et al. Childhood cancer survival in France, 2000-2008. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2014;23(5):449–57.
- 5. Berger C, et al. [Childhood cancer incidence and survival rates in the Rhone-Alpes regional paediatric registry 1987–1999]. Arch Pediatr. 2006;13(2):121–129.
- Norsker FN, et al. Late effects in childhood cancer survivors: early studies, survivor cohorts, and significant contributions to the field of late effects. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2020;67(6):1033–49.
- Steliarova-Foucher E, et al. Geographical patterns and time trends of cancer incidence and survival among children and adolescents in Europe since the 1970s (the ACCISproject): an epidemiological study. Lancet. 2004;364(9451):2097–105.
- Gatta G, et al. Childhood cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007: results of EUROCARE-5—a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(1):35–47.
- 9. Pritchard-Jones K, Hargrave D. Declining childhood and adolescent cancer mortality: great progress but still much to be done. Cancer. 2014;120(16):2388–91.
- O'Leary M, et al. Progress in childhood cancer: 50 years of research collaboration, a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Semin Oncol. 2008;35(5):484–93.
- 11. Garolla A, et al. Progress in the development of childhood cancer therapy. Reprod Toxicol. 2006;22(2):126–32.
- 12. Smith M, Hare ML. An overview of progress in childhood cancer survival. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs. 2004;21(3):160–4.
- 13. Bleyer A. Latest estimates of survival rates of the 24 most common cancers in adolescent and young adult Americans. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2011;1(1):37–42.
- 14. Robison LL, Hudson MM. Survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer: life-long risks and responsibilities. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14(1):61–70.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt C, et al. Long-term follow-up after childhood cancer in France supported by the SFCE-force and weakness-current state, results of a questionnaire and perspectives. Br J Radiol. 2018;91(1084):20170819.
- Oeffinger KC, Hudson MM. Long-term complications following childhood and adolescent cancer: foundations for providing risk-based health care for survivors. CA Cancer J Clin. 2004;54(4):208–36.
- 17. Suh E, et al. Late mortality and chronic health conditions in long-term survivors of earlyadolescent and young adult cancers: a retrospective cohort analysis from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Lancet Oncol. 2020;21(3):421–35.
- Fidler-Benaoudia MM, et al. A comparison of late mortality among survivors of childhood cancer in the United States and United Kingdom. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2021;113(5):562–71.
- Fidler MM, et al. Long term cause specific mortality among 34 489 five year survivors of childhood cancer in Great Britain: population based cohort study. BMJ. 2016;354:i4351.
- Dama E, et al. Late deaths among five-year survivors of childhood cancer. A populationbased study in Piedmont Region, Italy. Haematologica. 2006;91(8):1084–91.
- 21. Armstrong GT, et al. Aging and risk of severe, disabling, life-threatening, and fatal events in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(12):1218–27.
- Mertens AC. Cause of mortality in 5-year survivors of childhood cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2007;48(7):723–6.
- Mertens AC, et al. Cause-specific late mortality among 5-year survivors of childhood cancer: the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008;100(19):1368–79.

- 24. Gibson TM, Robison LL. Impact of cancer therapy-related exposures on late mortality in childhood cancer survivors. Chem Res Toxicol. 2015;28(1):31–7.
- Moskowitz CS, et al. Breast cancer after chest radiation therapy for childhood cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(21):2217–23.
- Reulen, RC, et al., Risk of digestive cancers in a cohort of 69 460 five-year survivors of childhood cancer in Europe: the PanCareSurFup study. Gut. 2020.
- Reulen RC, et al. Long-term risks of subsequent primary neoplasms among survivors of childhood cancer. JAMA. 2011;305(22):2311–9.
- Dietz AC, et al. Solid organ transplantation after treatment for childhood cancer: a retrospective cohort analysis from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(10):1420–31.
- Khanna A, et al. Increased risk of all cardiovascular disease subtypes among childhood cancer survivors: population-based matched cohort study. Circulation. 2019;140(12):1041–3.
- Haddy N, et al. Cardiac diseases following childhood cancer treatment: cohort study. Circulation. 2016;133(1):31–8.
- Barlogis V, et al. Late cardiomyopathy in childhood acute myeloid leukemia survivors: a study from the L.E.A. program. Haematologica. 2015;100(5):e186–9.
- 32. Bates JE, et al. Therapy-related cardiac risk in childhood cancer survivors: an analysis of the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(13):1090–101.
- van der Pal HJ, et al. Cardiac function in 5-year survivors of childhood cancer: a long-term follow-up study. Arch Intern Med. 2010;170(14):1247–55.
- 34. van der Pal HJ, et al. High risk of symptomatic cardiac events in childhood cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(13):1429–37.
- 35. van der Pal HJ, et al. Valvular abnormalities detected by echocardiography in 5-year survivors of childhood cancer: a long-term follow-up study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91(1):213–22.
- 36. Henson KE, et al. Cardiac mortality after radiotherapy, chemotherapy and endocrine therapy for breast cancer: cohort study of 2 million women from 57 cancer registries in 22 countries. Int J Cancer. 2020;147(5):1437–49.
- 37. Henson KE, et al. Radiation-related mortality from heart disease and lung cancer more than 20 years after radiotherapy for breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2013;108(1):179–82.
- 38. Henson KE, et al. Cardiac mortality among 200 000 five-year survivors of cancer diagnosed at 15 to 39 years of age: the teenage and young adult cancer survivor study. Circulation. 2016;134(20):1519–31.
- 39. Bhakta N, et al. Cumulative burden of cardiovascular morbidity in paediatric, adolescent, and young adult survivors of Hodgkin's lymphoma: an analysis from the St Jude Lifetime Cohort Study. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(9):1325–34.
- Feijen E, et al. Risk and temporal changes of heart failure among 5-year childhood cancer survivors: a DCOG-LATER study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2019;8(1):e009122.
- Arem H, Loftfield E. Cancer epidemiology: a survey of modifiable risk factors for prevention and survivorship. Am J Lifestyle Med. 2018;12(3):200–10.
- de Fine Licht S, et al. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease in 5-year survivors of adolescent and young adult cancer: a Danish population-based cohort study. Cancer. 2020;126(3):659–69.
- 43. Pein F, et al. [Cardiac toxicity of cancer treatment regimes in children and adolescents: physiopathology, clinical data and the paediatric oncologist's point of view]. Bull Cancer. 2004;91(Suppl 3):185–91.
- Bouillon K, et al. Long-term cardiovascular mortality after radiotherapy for breast cancer. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57(4):445–52.
- 45. Feijen EA, et al. Late cardiac events after childhood cancer: methodological aspects of the Pan-European Study PanCareSurFup. PLoS One. 2016;11(9):e0162778.
- 46. Feijen EAM, et al. Increased risk of cardiac ischaemia in a pan-European cohort of 36 205 childhood cancer survivors: a PanCareSurFup study. Heart. 2021;107(1):33–40.
- Guldner L, et al. Radiation dose and long term risk of cardiac pathology following radiotherapy and anthracyclin for a childhood cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2006;81(1):47–56.

- 48. Mansouri I, et al. The role of irradiated heart and left ventricular volumes in heart failure occurrence after childhood cancer. Eur J Heart Fail. 2019;21(4):509–18.
- 49. Tukenova M, et al. Role of cancer treatment in long-term overall and cardiovascular mortality after childhood cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(8):1308–15.
- Lipshultz SE. Exposure to anthracyclines during childhood causes cardiac injury. Semin Oncol. 2006;33(3 Suppl 8):S8–14.
- Lipshultz SE, Cochran TR, Wilkinson JD. Screening for long-term cardiac status during cancer treatment. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012;5(5):555–8.
- 52. Chen BB, et al. Comparison of long-term outcomes and sequelae between children and adult nasopharyngeal carcinoma treated with intensity modulated radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2020;106(4):848–56.
- Brignardello E, et al. Endocrine health conditions in adult survivors of childhood cancer: the need for specialized adult-focused follow-up clinics. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;168(3):465–72.
- Brignardello E, et al. Gonadal status in long-term male survivors of childhood cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2016;142(5):1127–32.
- 55. Thomas-Teinturier C, Salenave S. [Endocrine sequelae after treatment of pediatric cancer: from childhood to adulthood]. Bull Cancer. 2015;102(7–8):612–21.
- Hudson MM, et al. Clinical ascertainment of health outcomes among adults treated for childhood cancer. JAMA. 2013;309(22):2371–81.
- Chemaitilly W, Cohen LE. DIAGNOSIS OF ENDOCRINE DISEASE: endocrine late-effects of childhood cancer and its treatments. Eur J Endocrinol. 2017;176(4):R183–203.
- Chemaitilly W, et al. Endocrine late effects in childhood cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(21):2153–9.
- 59. Chemaitilly W, et al. Premature ovarian insufficiency in childhood cancer survivors: a report from the st. Jude Lifetime Cohort. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(7):2242–50.
- Chemaitilly W, Meacham LR. Epidemiology. Endocrine disorders in adult survivors of childhood cancer. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10(6):320–1.
- 61. Chemaitilly W, Sklar CA. Childhood cancer treatments and associated endocrine late effects: a concise guide for the pediatric endocrinologist. Horm Res Paediatr. 2019;91(2):74–82.
- Lehmann V, et al. Gonadal functioning and perceptions of infertility risk among adult survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the St Jude Lifetime Cohort Study. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(11):893–902.
- 63. Bedatsova L, Drake MT. The skeletal impact of cancer therapies. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2019;85(6):1161–8.
- 64. Chemaitilly W, Hudson MM. Update on endocrine and metabolic therapy-related late effects observed in survivors of childhood neoplasia. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2014;21(1):71–6.
- 65. Plotnikoff GA. Interventional nutrition in cancer survivorship. A case study. Minn Med. 2010;93(10):53–8.
- 66. Vijayvergia N, Denlinger CS. Lifestyle factors in cancer survivorship: where we are and where we are headed. J Pers Med. 2015;5(3):243–63.
- 67. de Vathaire F, et al. Radiation dose to the pancreas and risk of diabetes mellitus in childhood cancer survivors: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(10):1002–10.
- Hawkins ML, et al. Endocrine and metabolic diseases among colorectal cancer survivors in a population-based cohort. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2020;112(1):78–86.
- Lustberg MB, Reinbolt RE, Shapiro CL. Bone health in adult cancer survivorship. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(30):3665–74.
- 70. Sagarra-Romero L. Effects of breast cancer treatment on metabolic health. Breast J. 2020;26(10):2137–8.
- Saylor PJ, Keating NL, Smith MR. Prostate cancer survivorship: prevention and treatment of the adverse effects of androgen deprivation therapy. J Gen Intern Med. 2009;24(Suppl 2):S389–94.
- Simon MS, et al. Cardiometabolic risk factors and survival after cancer in the Women's Health Initiative. Cancer. 2021;127(4):598–608.

- Dietz AC, et al. Risk and impact of pulmonary complications in survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Cancer. 2016;122(23):3687–96.
- 74. Ginsberg JP, et al. Long-term survivors of childhood Ewing sarcoma: report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(16):1272–83.
- 75. Huang TT, et al. Pulmonary outcomes in survivors of childhood central nervous system malignancies: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(2):319–25.
- 76. Liles A, et al. Monitoring pulmonary complications in long-term childhood cancer survivors: guidelines for the primary care physician. Cleve Clin J Med. 2008;75(7):531–9.
- 77. Mansouri I, et al. Trends and outcomes with kidney failure from antineoplastic treatments and urinary tract cancer in France. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2020;15(4):484–92.
- Oberlin O, et al. Long-term evaluation of Ifosfamide-related nephrotoxicity in children. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(32):5350–5.
- Ehrhardt MJ, Skinner R, Castellino SM. Renal and hepatic health after childhood cancer. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2020;67(6):1203–17.
- Skinner R. Late renal toxicity of treatment for childhood malignancy: risk factors, long-term outcomes, and surveillance. Pediatr Nephrol. 2018;33(2):215–25.
- Skinner R, Kaplan R, Nathan PC. Renal and pulmonary late effects of cancer therapy. Semin Oncol. 2013;40(6):757–73.
- Dekkers IA, et al. Long-term nephrotoxicity in adult survivors of childhood cancer. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013;8(6):922–9.
- Jones DP, et al. Renal late effects in patients treated for cancer in childhood: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2008;51(6):724–31.
- Armstrong GT, et al. Long-term outcomes among adult survivors of childhood central nervous system malignancies in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2009;101(13):946–58.
- Balsamo LM, et al. Monitoring neurocognitive functioning in childhood cancer survivors: evaluation of CogState computerized assessment and the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF). BMC Psychol. 2019;7(1):26.
- Partanen M, et al. Longitudinal trajectories of neurocognitive functioning in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Pediatr Psychol. 2021;46(2):168–78.
- 87. Peng L, et al. Neurocognitive impairment in Asian childhood cancer survivors: a systematic review. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2020;39(1):27–41.
- 88. Korah MP, et al. Incidence, risks, and sequelae of posterior fossa syndrome in pediatric medulloblastoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;77(1):106–12.
- 89. Lanier JC, Abrams AN. Posterior fossa syndrome: review of the behavioral and emotional aspects in pediatric cancer patients. Cancer. 2017;123(4):551–9.
- Ross SG, et al. Cerebellar mutism after posterior fossa tumor resection: case discussion and recommendations for psychoeducational intervention. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs. 2014;31(2):78–83.
- Sun LR, Cooper S. Neurological complications of the treatment of pediatric neoplastic disorders. Pediatr Neurol. 2018;85:33–42.
- Reulen RC, et al. Risk of cerebrovascular disease among 13 457 five-year survivors of childhood cancer: a population-based cohort study. Int J Cancer. 2021;148(3):572–83.
- El-Fayech C, et al. Cerebrovascular diseases in childhood cancer survivors: role of the radiation dose to willis circle arteries. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2017;97(2):278–86.
- Haddy N, et al. Relationship between the brain radiation dose for the treatment of childhood cancer and the risk of long-term cerebrovascular mortality. Brain. 2011;134(Pt 5):1362–72.
- Oyharcabal-Bourden V, et al. Standard-risk medulloblastoma treated by adjuvant chemotherapy followed by reduced-dose craniospinal radiation therapy: a French Society of Pediatric Oncology Study. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(21):4726–34.
- 96. Carrie C, et al. Exclusive hyperfractionated radiation therapy and reduced boost volume for standard-risk medulloblastoma: pooled analysis of the 2 French Multicentric Studies

MSFOP98 and MSFOP 2007 and Correlation With Molecular Subgroups. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2020;108(5):1204–17.

- 97. Orbach, D, Brisse H, Doz F. [Central neurological manifestations during chemotherapy in children]. Arch Pediatr. 2003;10(6):533–9.
- Alloin AL, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of cataract after chemotherapy with or without central nervous system irradiation for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: an LEA study. Br J Haematol. 2014;164(1):94–100.
- 99. Whelan KF, et al. Ocular late effects in childhood and adolescent cancer survivors: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2010;54(1):103–9.
- Olivier TW, et al. Cognitive implications of ototoxicity in pediatric patients with embryonal brain tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(18):1566–75.
- 101. Bass JK, et al. Evaluation and management of hearing loss in survivors of childhood and adolescent cancers: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2016;63(7):1152–62.
- 102. Whelan K, et al. Auditory complications in childhood cancer survivors: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2011;57(1):126–34.
- 103. Khan A, et al. The experience of hearing loss in adult survivors of childhood and young adult cancer: a qualitative study. Cancer. 2020;126(8):1776–83.
- 104. Pearson SE, et al. Cancer survivors treated with platinum-based chemotherapy affected by ototoxicity and the impact on quality of life: a narrative synthesis systematic review. Int J Audiol. 2019;58(11):685–95.
- 105. Brock PR, et al. Platinum-induced ototoxicity in children: a consensus review on mechanisms, predisposition, and protection, including a new International Society of Pediatric Oncology Boston ototoxicity scale. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(19):2408–17.
- 106. Landier W, et al. Ototoxicity in children with high-risk neuroblastoma: prevalence, risk factors, and concordance of grading scales—a report from the Children's Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(6):527–34.
- Bertolini P, et al. Platinum compound-related ototoxicity in children: long-term follow-up reveals continuous worsening of hearing loss. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2004;26(10):649–55.
- Qaddoumi I, et al. Carboplatin-associated ototoxicity in children with retinoblastoma. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(10):1034–41.
- Bass JK, et al. Hearing Loss in patients who received cranial radiation therapy for childhood cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(11):1248–55.
- 110. Hua C, et al. Hearing loss after radiotherapy for pediatric brain tumors: effect of cochlear dose. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(3):892–9.
- 111. Paulino AC, et al. Ototoxicity after intensity-modulated radiation therapy and cisplatinbased chemotherapy in children with medulloblastoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010;78(5):1445–50.
- 112. Friedman DL, et al. Subsequent neoplasms in 5-year survivors of childhood cancer: the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(14):1083–95.
- 113. Turcotte LM, et al. Temporal trends in treatment and subsequent neoplasm risk among 5-year survivors of childhood cancer, 1970-2015. JAMA. 2017;317(8):814–24.
- 114. Bagnasco F, et al. Late mortality and causes of death among 5-year survivors of childhood cancer diagnosed in the period 1960-1999 and registered in the Italian Off-Therapy Registry. Eur J Cancer. 2019;110:86–97.
- 115. Berger C, et al. Second malignant neoplasms following childhood cancer: a study of a recent cohort (1987-2004) from the childhood cancer registry of the Rhone-Alpes region (ARCERRA) in France. Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2011;28(5):364–79.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt C, de Vathaire F. Review of risk factors of secondary cancers among cancer survivors. Br J Radiol. 2019;92(1093):20180390.
- Bansal N, et al. Cardiovascular diseases in survivors of childhood cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2020;39(1):55–68.
- MacArthur AC, et al. Mortality among 5-year survivors of cancer diagnosed during childhood or adolescence in British Columbia, Canada. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2007;48(4):460–7.

- Armstrong GT, et al. Reduction in late mortality among 5-year survivors of childhood cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(9):833–42.
- 120. Teepen JC, et al. Long-Term risk of subsequent malignant neoplasms after treatment of childhood cancer in the DCOG LATER study cohort: role of chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(20):2288–98.
- 121. Jacobson LA, Pare-Blagoev EJ, Ruble K. Barriers to schooling in survivorship: the role of neuropsychological assessment. JCO Oncol Pract. 2020;16(12):e1516–23.
- 122. van de Poll-Franse LV, et al. Perceived care and well-being of patients with cancer and matched norm participants in the COVID-19 crisis: results of a survey of participants in the dutch PROFILES registry. JAMA Oncol. 2021;7(2):279–84.
- 123. Fitch, MI, et al. Adolescent and young adult perspectives on challenges and improvements to cancer survivorship care: how are we doing? J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2020.
- 124. Bjornard KL, et al. Psychosexual functioning of female childhood cancer survivors: a report from the St. Jude Lifetime Cohort Study. J Sex Med. 2020;17(10):1981–94.
- 125. Thouvenin-Doulet S, et al. Fecundity and quality of life of women treated for solid childhood tumors between 1948 and 1992 in France. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2018;7(4):415–23.
- 126. Lund LW, et al. A systematic review of studies on psychosocial late effects of childhood cancer: structures of society and methodological pitfalls may challenge the conclusions. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2011;56(4):532–43.
- 127. Michel G, Vetsch J. Screening for psychological late effects in childhood, adolescent and young adult cancer survivors: a systematic review. Curr Opin Oncol. 2015;27(4):297–305.
- Abadie A, et al. Prevalence of psychiatric complications in young adults after childhood cancer treatment: results of the long-term follow-up studies in oncology. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2020;9(2):247–55.
- Lubas MM, et al. Suicidality among adult survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the St. Jude Lifetime Cohort Study. Cancer. 2020;126(24):5347–55.
- 130. Oerlemans S, et al. The course of anxiety and depression for patients with Hodgkin's lymphoma or diffuse large B cell lymphoma: a longitudinal study of the PROFILES registry. J Cancer Surviv. 2014;8(4):555–64.
- 131. Michel G, et al. Psychological distress in adult survivors of childhood cancer: the Swiss Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(10):1740–8.
- Gurney JG, et al. Social outcomes in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study cohort. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(14):2390–5.
- 133. Hays DM, et al. Educational, occupational, and insurance status of childhood cancer survivors in their fourth and fifth decades of life. J Clin Oncol. 1992;10(9):1397–406.
- 134. Lancashire ER, et al. Educational attainment among adult survivors of childhood cancer in Great Britain: a population-based cohort study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(4):254–70.
- 135. Boman KK, Lindblad F, Hjern A. Long-term outcomes of childhood cancer survivors in Sweden: a population-based study of education, employment, and income. Cancer. 2010;116(5):1385–91.
- 136. Dumas A, et al. Educational and occupational outcomes of childhood cancer survivors 30 years after diagnosis: a French cohort study. Br J Cancer. 2016;114(9):1060–8.
- de Boer AG, et al. Cancer survivors and unemployment: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. JAMA. 2009;301(7):753–62.
- 138. Jones JM, et al. The needs and experiences of post-treatment adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. J Clin Med. 2020;9(5):1444.
- Mulder RL, et al. Transition guidelines: an important step in the future care for childhood cancer survivors. A comprehensive definition as groundwork. Eur J Cancer. 2016;54:64–8.
- Henderson TO, Friedman DL, Meadows AT. Childhood cancer survivors: transition to adultfocused risk-based care. Pediatrics. 2010;126(1):129–36.
- 141. Denlinger CS, et al. NCCN guidelines insights: survivorship, version 2.2020. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2020;18(8):1016–23.
- 142. Fung C, et al. Testicular cancer survivorship. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2019;17(12):1557-68.
- 143. Lokich E. Gynecologic cancer survivorship. Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am. 2019;46(1):165-78.

- 144. Signorelli C, et al. Models of childhood cancer survivorship care in Australia and New Zealand: strengths and challenges. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 2017;13(6):407–15.
- 145. Nekhlyudov L, et al. Head and neck cancer survivorship care guideline: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Endorsement of the American Cancer Society Guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(14):1606–21.
- 146. Kinahan KE, et al. Models of cancer survivorship care for adolescents and young adults. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2015;31(3):251–9.
- 147. Tonorezos ES, Henderson TO. Clinical guidelines for the care of childhood cancer survivors. Children (Basel). 2014;1(2):227–40.
- 148. Gilbert SM, et al. Cancer survivorship: challenges and changing paradigms. J Urol. 2008;179(2):431–8.
- 149. Berger C, et al. Objectives and organization for the long-term follow-up after childhood cancer. Bull Cancer. 2015;102(7–8):579–85.
- 150. Demoor-Goldschmidt C, Bernier V. [Towards an improvement of the quality of life after radiotherapy in children]. Bull Cancer. 2015;102(7–8):674–83.
- 151. Kremer LC, et al. A worldwide collaboration to harmonize guidelines for the long-term follow-up of childhood and young adult cancer survivors: a report from the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(4):543–9.
- 152. Landier W, et al. Development of risk-based guidelines for pediatric cancer survivors: the Children's Oncology Group Long-Term Follow-Up Guidelines from the Children's Oncology Group Late Effects Committee and Nursing Discipline. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(24):4979–90.
- Deffinger KC, Hudson MM, Landier W. Survivorship: childhood cancer survivors. Prim Care. 2009;36(4):743–80.
- 154. Poplack DG, et al. Childhood cancer survivor care: development of the Passport for Care. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2014;11(12):740–50.
- 155. Brown MC, et al. The views of European clinicians on guidelines for long-term follow-up of childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2015;62(2):322–8.
- 156. Byrne J, et al. The PanCareSurFup consortium: research and guidelines to improve lives for survivors of childhood cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2018;103:238–48.
- 157. Gatta G, et al. Patterns of care for European colorectal cancer patients diagnosed 1996-1998: a EUROCARE high resolution study. Acta Oncol. 2010;49(6):776–83.
- 158. Haupt R, et al. The 'Survivorship Passport' for childhood cancer survivors. Eur J Cancer. 2018;102:69–81.
- 159. Michel G, et al. Evidence-based recommendations for the organization of long-term followup care for childhood and adolescent cancer survivors: a report from the PanCareSurFup Guidelines Working Group. J Cancer Surviv. 2019;13(5):759–72.
- Skinner R, Oeffinger KC. Developing international consensus for late effects screening and guidance. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care. 2013;7(3):303–8.



Psychological Issues and Care of Cancer Survivors

17

Nienke Zomerdijk 💿 and Jane Turner 💿

Introduction

Improvements in early detection, success in treating cancers, and aging of the population have led to an increasing number of cancer survivors. While some cancer survivors recover with a renewed sense of life and purpose, others experience ongoing adverse impacts on their health, functioning, sense of security, well-being, and relationships. As many as one in two cancer survivors experience significant levels of psychosocial distress [1] and may develop more serious psychological problems such as anxiety and depression. Financial hardship may also be experienced as a consequence of cancer treatment [2]. Attention to these problems is of paramount importance since they are associated with reduction in quality of life, increased healthcare service use (and potential increased associated costs), poor adherence to follow-up recommendations, and, as a result, shorter survival [3].

After completion of treatment, the intensive support and observation provided by the oncology team suddenly evaporates and can lead to survivors feeling alone or even abandoned. Patients may try to resume important social roles and activities that were put on hold during treatment including returning to work but often the survivor finds this challenging. Friends and family may feel that the person should be getting "back to normal" and fail to recognize that although the person has

N. Zomerdijk (🖂)

School of Psychological Sciences, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

J. Turner

Faculty of Medicine, University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

Victorian Comprehensive Cancer Centre Alliance, Melbourne, VIC, Australia e-mail: nienke.zomerdijk@unimelb.edu.au

Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital, Herston, QLD, Australia e-mail: jane.turner@uq.edu.au

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), *Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_17

survived, they are not "good as new." Their lives are altered by a legacy of physical, psychosocial, vocational, spiritual, and economic consequences.

The problems presented by cancer and its treatment do not necessarily disappear over time, and this mandates an active approach to intervening to assist patients and ideally prevent or at least reduce the burdensome impact of these problems. The specialty of psycho-oncology is concerned with the psychological, emotional, and social needs of people with cancer and their families or carers. A primary goal of psycho-oncology is to ensure that all cancer patients and their families receive optimal psychosocial care across all phases of the cancer experience from diagnosis, through treatment, and survivorship [4]. To attain optimal outcomes for cancer survivors, it is recommended that their psychosocial needs be regularly assessed with an emphasis on living well using the best possible evidence and coordinated and integrated care [5, 6].

In this chapter, we focus on the common psychosocial issues faced by cancer survivors and their families and describe ways clinicians can respond and help them to achieve the best outcomes after cancer. The following topics are discussed in this chapter:

- the developing focus on the psychological issues faced by people with cancer;
- the key psychological issues confronting cancer survivors;
- foundation strategies to enhance psychosocial adjustment of cancer survivors;
- issues which merit more detailed focus and specialized care;
- models of survivorship care;
- the emotional impact of responding to complex issues for clinicians.

How Did We Get Here? The Developing Focus on the Psychological Issues Faced by People with Cancer

For centuries a cancer diagnosis was viewed as the equivalent of a death sentence as there was no treatment for the disease until surgical removal became possible after the introduction of anesthesia in the last half of the nineteenth century [4]. Shame and guilt were dominant emotions, combined with the fear that it was contagious [7]. Revealing the diagnosis to the patient was considered cruel and inhumane, so only the family was given the facts and the prognosis. This was viewed as an acceptable "white lie" but it left the patient feeling isolated and alone. In some countries, the practice of withholding the diagnosis of cancer continues, but the tendency toward open disclosure increases as patients become more informed about health and illness.

Several historical factors have led to a greater emphasis on psychosocial issues in cancer. The American Cancer Society, formed in 1913, established educational programs encouraging people to seek consultation for symptoms suggestive of cancer. This was an important first step in educating the public about the warning signs of cancer and the importance of not delaying presentation because of fear and fatalistic attitudes. By the twentieth century, radiation and chemotherapy joined surgery to successfully treat previously fatal cancers. Attitudes evolved as cancer became more treatable, and therefore opened the door for more open discussion about the psychological issues.

In 1984, the International Psycho-Oncology Society (IPOS) was founded with the aim of fostering international multidisciplinary communication about clinical, education, and research issues that relate to the subspecialty of psycho-oncology. The Society sought to provide leadership and development of standards for education and research on the psychological, social, and spiritual factors that affect the quality of life of cancer patients and their loved ones during the continuum of the cancer illness, including survivorship. The aims of IPOS are to foster training, encourage psychosocial principles and a humanistic approach in cancer care, and to stimulate research and development training, so psychosocial care may be integrated with all clinical oncologic specialties for optimal patient care.

In 2014 the "Lisbon Declaration: Psychosocial Cancer Care as a Universal Human Right" was endorsed by IPOS. Subsequently, the IPOS Standard on Quality Cancer Care, endorsed by 75 cancer organizations worldwide, has been updated and now includes three core principles [8]:

- 1. Psychosocial cancer care should be recognized as a universal human right;
- 2. Quality cancer care must integrate the psychosocial domain into routine care; and
- 3. Distress should be measured as the sixth vital sign.

Despite the tremendous activities around the world that have contributed to the growing recognition of psychological issues facing cancer patients and expanding education and research efforts, attitudinal barriers have not entirely disappeared. There is still a pervasive fear that attends a diagnosis of cancer: fear of death, pain, loss of independence or attractiveness, and the suffering associated with progressive illness [4]. Patients with cancer today may fear being labeled not only as a person with cancer but as a person who needs psychological help. Stigmatization from being labeled as having a psychological problem or as being unable to cope with the disease continue to pose barriers to the integration of psychosocial oncology into oncological care.

Importantly, psychosocial cancer care is not available regularly to all patients around the world, with significant disparities evident in low- to middle-income countries [9]. The World Health Organisation predicts that in 2020 as many as 70% of the 16 million annually diagnosed cancer patients will be in developing countries [10]. These startling prevalence rates are likely related to under-developed health systems, poor health-seeking behaviors, poverty, low health literacy rates, and cultural practices. These factors make cancer care a significant challenge in low- to middle-income countries, resulting in a greater need for psychosocial care. Unfortunately, because of fewer resources, those patients with greatest need may not be able to access psychosocial oncology care.

Living Beyond Cancer: The Shifting Focus from Cancer Patient to Cancer Survivor

The transformation of cancer from a largely fatal disease to one in which a large proportion of those diagnosed are effectively treated has led to increased survival. In parallel with this improvement has been a shifting focus from the cancer patient to the cancer survivor, leading to increased recognition of the hidden disabilities that may follow the treatment of cancer [11]. Subsequently, there has been growing awareness of the physical and psychosocial late effects, which led to the recognition of cancer survivorship as an important aspect of care.

The definition of cancer survivorship has been widely debated [12]. In recent years, a variety of definitions have been proposed. Generally speaking, "cancer survivor" is used to describe individuals throughout the cancer trajectory: "An individual is considered a cancer survivor from the time of diagnosis, through the balance of his or her life. Family members, friends and caregivers are also impacted by the survivorship experience" [11]. People with advanced disease which is likely to be life-limiting also consider themselves to be survivors, and indeed there is increasing conceptualization of cancer as a chronic disease. The term "cancer survivorship" is commonly used to refer to a distinct phase in the cancer trajectory between primary treatment and cancer recurrence or end of life.

Many alternatives have been suggested. According to Leigh [13], "survivorship" is not just about the mere existence of life, but also about how well people survive, and hopefully thrive. Some advocates have therefore suggested terms such as "thrivers" and "someone who has had cancer." Currently, there is no consensus beyond the term cancer survivor. Nonetheless, it is important to recognize that not everyone wishes to be called a cancer survivor, and some reject the notion that they are different from anyone else.

Advances in cancer care have meant that the completion of treatment and beginning of survivorship has also become less defined for some patients. Surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy may extend over many months. Emerging treatments such as immunotherapy can extend treatment even further. Consequently, the concept of survivorship has also shifted over time.

Cancer is actually a collection of more than 100 distinct diseases with radically different effects, treatments, and outcomes, so it is important to bear in mind that each experience will be different. Some experience few late effects of their cancer and its treatment, while others experience permanent and disabling symptoms that impair their ability to go about daily life. Although it may not be possible to predict the psychological sequelae for each patient, it is important to be aware of the common patterns of psychological issues facing this population so that appropriate care can be offered.

The Importance of Attention to Psychosocial Care in Cancer Survivorship

The psychological issues faced by cancer survivors do not just disappear over time and can be long-lasting without intervention, leading to adverse impacts on healthrelated quality of life, and low adherence to follow-up guidelines. The National Cancer Control Network Survivorship Guidelines [5] clearly state that care of the cancer survivor should include assessment of late psychosocial and physical effects and interventions for consequences of cancer and treatment (including medical problems, symptoms, psychological distress, financial, and social concerns).

Despite these recommendations, there is evidence that over half of cancer survivors do not have a discussion with their treating clinician about the psychosocial effects of cancer [14]. This may be because attention to psychosocial issues is not seen as central to the scope of practice for busy clinicians whose primary focus is typically biomedical. Lack of confidence about addressing psychosocial concerns can be another barrier, and this is compounded because of the complexity of psychosocial needs of many cancer survivors which leads to uncertainty about how to respond, especially if there are not clearly defined referral paths for specialized psychosocial care [15].

In general, it is appropriate to adopt a stepped-care approach to psychosocial care for cancer survivors [16]. In such a model all patients are seen as potentially benefitting from information and relatively few patients will require more specialized care. Stepped care is self-correcting in that the outcomes of interventions are monitored routinely, and care is "stepped up" to the next level if current interventions are not achieving significant health gain. The stepped-care model involves regular assessment of psychological distress at clinically significant timepoints for each patient, with triage to one of five steps:

- Step 1: provision of information and self-management advice for all patients;
- Step 2: delivery of supportive care and psychoeducation for those with mildmoderate levels of psychological distress;
- Step 3: counseling with psychoeducation for those with moderate levels of psychological distress;
- Step 4: care delivered by psychosocial specialists for those with moderate-severe levels of psychological distress;
- Step 5: rapid review for those with severe distress (such as suicidal ideation) typically with a psychiatrist.

All cancer clinicians are well-placed to inform patients about potential medical and psychosocial late effects, including sexual dysfunction, pain and fatigue, psychological distress, and concerns related to employment and insurance. Although these discussions should take place once a treatment plan is formulated and be repeated along the cancer trajectory [11, 17], they assume particular salience for patients once active treatment is completed. A better understanding can help patients feel confident about their ability to deal with survivorship-related issues and to take charge of their own follow-up.

Many patients report acting "on autopilot" in order to survive during their cancer treatment and it is only after completion of treatment that they reflect more broadly about the impact of cancer on their health overall, and social and occupational roles. As a first step empathic acknowledgment of the cancer experience and the need to adjust to different circumstances is important. Clinician empathy is associated with higher patient satisfaction, better psychosocial adjustment, and less psychological distress [18]. In addition, provision of high-quality information is of central

importance and prospective studies have found a positive relationship between clinicians' provision of survivorship information and mental and global health-related quality of life, and a negative relationship between information provision and depression and anxiety [19]. This is an opportune time to reinforce recommendations about high-quality sources of information. There is also an opportunity to identify misperceptions. Clinicians can assure patients that discussing their feelings will not adversely influence their prognosis and that they do not have to adopt the "brave warrior" stance so commonly advocated in the media as there is no consistent evidence that stress or "negative thoughts" cause cancer or affect prognosis [20]. Having access to peer networks for emotional and social support is a priority for many cancer survivors and clinicians can provide information about support services available and how these can be accessed.

The impact of cancer extends beyond the patient to their family members and the needs of partners, spouses, children, and other loved ones all need to be considered [11], particularly those who take on the role of caregiver. Clinicians should include the family or caregiver during consultations when possible and acceptable to the patient, inquire about how they are coping and feeling, and address the needs presented during consultations [17]. Unique concerns can arise for some patient groups and their carers. For example, immunotherapy for advanced melanoma has resulted in dramatic clinical responses; however, the treatment is ongoing, and carers may face increased distress and burden not only because of uncertainty about the future but also because of side effects experienced by the patient. Fatigue may be prominent and affect the ability of the patient to engage in paid employment and social relationships meaning that carers must "step-up" to provide increased support which in turn affects their stamina. Apprehension and vigilance about identifying and reporting side effects can place carers in the role of an "unofficial health system" [21] meaning that identification of their psychosocial concerns is an important part of care. Another potential stressor for carers and family members is consideration of predictive genetic testing. As the availability of genetic testing becomes more widely known, it will be increasingly important for oncology clinicians to be familiar with the psychosocial costs and benefits of such testing, ensuring family members considering predictive genetic testing are referred so that they are sufficiently informed, prepared, and supported [22].

Foundation Strategies to Enhance the Psychosocial Well-being of Cancer Survivors

Effective communication and responsiveness to patients' emotional cues is essential to survivorship care in a patient-centered approach. In fact, the importance of communication in oncology practice is so critical that many guidelines list effective communication as part of the curricula and continued professional development of all clinicians in the delivery of patient-centered care [17]. Patients reporting good communication with their clinician are more likely to be satisfied with their care, adhere to prescribed treatment, and follow preventative health advice [23].

Lack of time is a commonly cited barrier to communication especially about psychosocial issues. However, the medical literature provides evidence that the use of patient-centered communication does not take more time. In fact, studies have found no differences in consultation time, even when clinicians asked and responded to more questions [24]. Therefore, it is not the actual time spent with the patient that helps their psychosocial adjustment, but rather what happens during that time. The following key elements of good communication are some basic communication techniques that can enhance the detection of patients' emotional concerns, and these can be applied even in the briefest of clinical encounters.

Key Elements of Good Communication

Good Eye Contact

Nonverbal communication may convey more information than verbal behavior in a clinical encounter and patients are often highly sensitive to the nonverbal behaviors of clinicians [25]. Eye contact is an important nonverbal behavior and essential for fostering confidence in the clinician. Good eye contact conveys a message of genuine care and interest and instills a feeling of comfort in the patient. Absence of eye contact on the other hand can be interpreted as lack of interest. Rather than feeling reassured and encouraged to talk about their concerns, this can leave the patient feeling unsupported or even abandoned. However, it is important to be aware of cultural considerations regarding eye contact.

Acknowledgment and Clarification

Not all patients find it easy to reveal their emotional concerns during consultations. In fact, less than one-quarter of patients actually do so [26]. Patients may keep emotional difficulties to themselves because they regard them as an inevitable consequence of cancer or worry they will be perceived as "ungrateful" by their clinician. Patients often believe that clinicians have too little time so do not want to complain or burden them further. This can especially be the case in survivorship care when the patient has come to like and respect their clinician over a long period of time. Another common reason that patients do not discuss their concerns is the perception that clinicians are not interested in their personal experiences [27].

The following techniques are likely to be helpful in acknowledging and clarifying a patient's concerns:

- *Making empathic statements*: there is evidence that simple empathic statements can help people cope with their distress [28]. For example, when responding to emotional cues of anxiety or distress, comments such as "You've had a challenging time" or "I can imagine this has been very distressing for you" indicate interest and recognition of the patient's concerns.
- Use of open questions: Open questions allow patients to express themselves, while closed questions permit only a "yes" or "no" response and can inhibit effective communication. For example, in talking with patients in a follow-up

consultation asking "How would you say the treatment has affected you?" or "How have you been feeling since finishing treatment?" are likely to elicit a detailed and meaningful response, compared with a closed question such as "Are you coping OK?"

• *Clarifying psychological aspects*: Questions with a psychological focus can help elicit patients' emotional concerns. This includes asking patients direct questions about how they are adjusting psychologically: "It sounds like you have been worrying a lot about what this cancer will mean for your future. Can you tell me more about that?" Or: "You've told me the pain is still there. How has this been affecting you emotionally?" This can be followed by some questions about the situation at home. This signals to the patient that attending to his or her concerns is an important and usual part of cancer care.

Summarizing

Summarizing is an often under-acknowledged skill. Summarizing does not mean to merely "summarize" what the patient has said. Rather, it is a key strategy that conveys to the patient that the clinician has fully understood their current social situation, their worries, and thoughts about the future. Summarizing the patient's priorities and main concerns therefore require active listening to what the patient is communicating. It also allows them to express another important piece of information that may have been missed or identify anything which may have been misinterpreted. For example, after meeting to discuss a survivorship care plan the clinician could say: "Let me check that I've understood everything you've told me. It's been just over a year since finishing treatment. You've had to spend a lot of time in isolation which made it difficult to connect with other people and this really knocked your confidence. Returning to work full-time was initially impossible to consider but just recently you have gone back to working part-time. This has been a big milestone for you and has allowed you to build up your confidence again. However, the transition back to work hasn't been without difficulty. Concentration and tiredness are two main factors that you struggle with." The patient might say, "Yes, that's right," or bring up another important piece of information such as "Yes, that's right, and I worry about what would happen if the cancer came back and whether I'd be able to work at all."

Provision of Information

There are evidence-based recommendations for giving information and checking understanding [17, 29]. Overarching principles include:

- Providing information in clear, specific, and simple terms, without the use of medical jargon
- · Giving the most important information first
- Actively checking for understanding and encouraging questions (e.g., "I just want to check that I have given all of the relevant information. Can you please explain to me what you understand about what we've just discussed? Then I can fill in any gaps")

Although the clinician may see the provision of information as a discrete event, it is likely that information will need to be repeated over time, as the amount and type of information desired may change over time depending on changes in disease status, emergence of new symptoms, and changes in social circumstances.

Specific Issues Which Merit Detailed Attention and More Specialized Care

The foundation strategies described above are important for all consultations. There may be particular issues which require more focused exploration and in some instances, it may be necessary to offer referral for specialized psychosocial care. The following is not exclusive but covers commonly encountered issues.

Recognition of Social and Cultural Sensitivities

Sensitivity to the particular needs of each individual is important, with an awareness of social and cultural factors that influence patient attitudes and beliefs. Social and cultural sensitivity involves more than a mere assessment of whether a person speaks English or not; it requires a willingness to understand differences in attitudes and beliefs that are sometimes based on family background and experiences and sometimes based on culture and language. In this context, the question "Where do you come from?" is unhelpful, inappropriate, and insensitive. Assumptions should not be made about a person's language based on visible appearance. A better question to ask a patient would be "What do I need to know about your culture and beliefs in order for me to take the best possible care of you?" The ability of clinicians to sensitively ask patients about any social or cultural influences in their survivorship journey lies at the core of effective communication and optimal psychosocial care.

In many services, clinicians are treating patients whose English proficiency is low. Many services will provide access to interpreters who should be used in the first instance as untrained interpreters are more likely to make errors, violate confidentiality, and increase the risk of poor outcomes. "Untrained" health professionals may contribute to communication challenges too as few have received formal training in ways to maximize the benefit of working with an interpreter. Specific recommendations are:

- 1. Meet with the interpreter before the interview to give some background, build rapport, and set goals. A trained interpreter can assist clinicians to understand cultural beliefs about illness
- 2. Speak directly to the patient, not the interpreter
- 3. Use first person statements rather than "tell her"
- 4. Insist on sentence by sentence interpretation
- 5. Use "teach-back" to check for comprehension rather than asking "do you understand?" which will likely attract an affirmative response even if that is not the

case. In the teach-back technique, the patient is asked to repeat what they have been told "So I can check if I've been clear" [30]

Even if language proficiency appears to be adequate, the person may still struggle to fully understand the information provided. Health literacy has been defined as "the degree to which individuals can obtain, process, and understand the basic health information and services they need to make appropriate health decisions" [31]. In Europe, it is suggested that 47% of the population have insufficient or problematic literacy, although this varies across countries [32]. Subgroups with higher proportions of limited health literacy are those with financial deprivation, low social status, low education, and old age. Medical education typically pays little attention to health literacy. The Plain Language Thesaurus for Health Communication is a valuable resource to assist clinicians in their communication with patients [33].

Depression and Anxiety

The prevalence of mood disorders in cancer survivors is estimated to be 20% although this varies depending on the population and cancer type [34]. Identification and treatment of depression and anxiety are critical as these conditions undermine the ability of the individual to cope with residual symptoms [35], reduce adherence to treatment recommendations [36], and are associated with more than doubling of readmission rates [37]. The development of depression and anxiety may be considered as a "final common pathway." However, many patients do not come to the diagnosis with a "clean slate" and background social concerns and a past history of psychological issues are risk factors for the development of depression and anxiety in the context of cancer. Further factors which may contribute are the circumstances of the diagnosis (for example, a perception of delay), the nature and prognosis of cancer, and toxicities and side effects related to treatment (such as lymphoedema) [38].

It is recommended that patients treated for cancer be routinely screened for depression and anxiety using a validated measure across a range of time points including when there are changes in disease status and transitions such as completion of a defined treatment protocol [39]. Many such measures pose a respondent burden, there may be costs associated with their use, and stigma may limit the willingness of patients to complete them. The Distress Thermometer devised by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) may be a useful initial screening tool, as the word "distress" is seen as non-stigmatizing. Patients rate their distress on a linear scale of 0–10 and complete an accompanying problem list. A score of 5 or greater should trigger further questions and assessment [5]. For this purpose the PHQ-9 is recommended, which is free to download, poses a low respondent burden, and is quick and easy to score. A score of 10 on the PHQ-9 represents the cut-off for moderate depression [40]. Determining that the person may be depressed should trigger further discussion. Many of those offered referral for psychological treatment will decline because of stigma (including apprehension about medication)

and the perceived burden of travel and parking to attend a clinic [41]. However, there is compelling evidence of the effectiveness of individual interventions [42] and antidepressant medication when required [43].

It is recommended that health professionals broach discussion about psychosocial concerns as mainstream and attest to the potential benefit of interventions: "We need to care for you as a person, not just focus on the cancer. Your emotional wellbeing matters just as much as your physical well-being" and "Depression and anxiety are very common after a cancer diagnosis. The good news is that treatments are usually very effective—and they do not necessarily mean you would need to take medication."

Treatment of Depression

Treatment of depression and anxiety should be tailored to the individual and incorporate attention to specific factors which may have contributed (for example, pain, fatigue, and social isolation). For mild cases, basic strategies focus on restoration of pleasurable activities, attention to sleep and exercise, correction of misinformation, and maximizing social support (which may include referral to a support group). Relaxation training and meditation can assist. Individual therapy has demonstrated benefit [42] and may include treatments such as Cognitive Behavior Therapy (CBT). In CBT the person works on the identification of unhelpful thoughts (for example, "My friend didn't call when she said she would. I know everyone is fed up with me") and is assisted to challenge these thoughts (for example, "What other explanation is possible? What else is going on in your friend's life that might have distracted them? Have you always had your phone charged?"). More severe depression may require antidepressant medication, typically a Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor (SSRI), taking into account the potential for drug interactions [5]. Of note, paroxetine use in women treated with tamoxifen is associated with an increased risk of death, postulated to be due to the reduction of the benefit of tamoxifen by paroxetine [44]. Clinicians have a powerful role in informing patients of the robust evidence of potential benefits of antidepressant medication [43], taking into account specific contraindications.

Managing Anxiety

While some degree of anxiety when faced with a cancer diagnosis is normal, high anxiety can lead to diminished ability to make decisions and plan for the future. Cancer survivors with high anxiety can feel powerless to make changes and adapt. Anxiety disorders typically have their onset in adolescence or early adulthood, and anxiety in cancer survivors may represent an exacerbation of a preexisting condition hence the person may have long-standing attitudes and concerns about their health and the future.

Treatment of anxiety should be tailored to the individual after exclusion of a medical cause for symptoms (for example, hyperthyroidism). The cornerstone is education and attention to lifestyle issues and comorbidities (such as alcohol use). Initial treatment should be CBT which has a long-established evidence-base. There is emerging evidence of the effectiveness of digital CBT [44]. Medication can be

used if symptoms are severe or there is an insufficient response to CBT. First-line treatment is Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors, but they should be commenced at a lower dose than normal as people with anxiety are more sensitive to initial side effects which can include sleep disturbance, gastrointestinal upset, and exacerbation of anxiety. Benzodiazepines have no role as a primary treatment for anxiety because of the risk of tolerance and dependence [45].

Fear of Cancer Recurrence

Arguably one of the most common but insufficiently addressed survivorship issues is fear of cancer recurrence. Fear of cancer recurrence (FCR) has been defined as "Fear, worry or concern relating to the possibility that cancer will come back or progress" [46]. Almost half of the cancer survivors report moderate to high levels of FCR and this figure approaches 70% in some groups (such as young breast cancer survivors), and for 7% this fear is severe and disabling [47–49].

FCR is an important issue to address in cancer survivors as it is associated with depression and reduced quality of life [50]. FCR does not necessarily equate with actual risk, and of particular concern, it does not appear to abate over time [47]. FCR may be identified when patients express concerns in consultations but may also be indirectly inferred in patients who ask repeatedly for reassurance or seek frequent unscheduled appointments or request nonstandard tests.

Given its prevalence, it is appropriate to routinely ask patients about FCR. Acknowledgment that some degree of anxiety is normal after cancer treatment, followed by exploratory questions can initiate discussion, for example, "Most people who have been treated for cancer say it is life-changing. Some tell me that it has a big impact on how they feel about themselves and their future." "How would you say things are going for you?" Clarification can include questions about worry relating to cancer coming back, how often this happens (e.g., from time to time or every day and most of the day) and how they respond (e.g., checking their breasts multiple times per day, scanning the Internet for information, or conversely avoiding follow-up appointments "in case I get bad news"). Asking about the impact on work and relationships can be helpful. Those with high FCR may report that they feel "stuck" and that they are finding it hard to make plans—"I know it will come back so what's the point?"

Clinicians can assist in several ways:

- 1. listening and validating that some degree of anxiety is normal
- 2. providing information about prognosis and evidence-based guidelines for follow-up
- recommending credible information sources which are aligned with the patient's literacy level
- advising on ways to reduce risks such as achieving a healthy weight and active lifestyle
- avoiding conducting investigations unless clinically indicated (that is, not conducting extra tests "to be sure").
The desire to reassure someone who is worried is powerful however in those with high FCR it is more helpful to first listen and acknowledge their concerns. Determining the severity of FCR and the need for specialist treatment is more complex. Recently a single-item screen has been developed for this purpose. The researchers suggest that a score of 45 on the question: "On a scale from 0 to 100, what is your subjective level of fear of cancer recurrence at this time?" would identify the majority of those with high FCR [51]. A variety of interventions based on a range of theoretical underpinnings have demonstrated effectiveness in reducing FCR with improvement largely maintained at follow-up [52]. Referral to a psychooncology professional can be considered or if this is not available, referral to a support group or online intervention may be appropriate [53].

Sexuality and Body Image

Sexuality is an important part of well-being and is of particular importance in oncology, as virtually all cancer treatments have some impact on it. Although prevalence rates for sexual difficulties associated with cancer and its treatment vary depending on the diagnosis studied, treatment type, and how and when sexual function is defined, estimates are reported to range from 40 to 100% [54]. People with cancer often report body image disturbances that impact self-esteem and sexuality, including pain (largely in women), erectile dysfunction (in men), fatigue, and visible changes such as disfigurement, scarring, weight changes, and hair loss [55, 56]. Many women experience life-changing but unseen effects of systematic treatments, including treatment-induced menopause and permanent infertility. Patients may also experience changed priorities within or external to their relationship, or psychological distress including fear, anxiety, and depression that may lead to changes in sexual interest and strain on relationships. If left unaddressed, these issues can lead to long-term psychological concerns among cancer survivors.

Normalizing these issues may help patients reach a new comfort level with body image and sexual functioning following their cancer treatment and facilitate the expression of concerns. However, sexuality is considered a sensitive topic and patients may feel uncomfortable or embarrassed to raise the topic. Finding ways to ask about sexual health concerns during routine follow-up care is important. The conversation could include the patient's partner, only if the patient so wishes and should take into account cultural/religious beliefs, and sexual orientation [54]. Cancer Australia has a practical resource to assist clinicians to initiate discussion [57]. Although developed to address issues for women treated for breast cancer, many of the questions can be readily adapted to other patient populations:

- "Many people find that treatment for cancer affects their self-esteem or changes their interest in sex—this is common, and it can have a big impact on your life. Is this something you would like to talk about?"
- 2. "Many people experience side effects as a result of their treatment that impact relationships or sexual activities, such as pain, worry or fatigue. Do you feel like these or any other symptoms are affecting your sex life or relationship? What do you (and your partner) find most concerning?"

Clinicians can guide patients to high-quality evidence-based resources. The American Cancer Society (www.cancer.org) and the National Cancer Institute (www.cancer.gov) both have comprehensive patient informational booklets about sexuality after cancer. There are few psychological interventions specifically designed to address body image concerns and sexual communication. Among interventions evaluated, most have been tested in breast cancer survivors and incorporate psychoeducation, cognitive behavioral therapy, or mindfulness and are directed at the individual or couple, or delivered in a group [58]. For those with persistent concerns and/or distress, psychological counseling can be considered and can be provided by a specialized therapist (e.g., sex therapist) or a psycho-oncology professional.

Cognitive Changes

Post-chemotherapy cognitive Impairment, often termed "chemobrain" is recognized as a problem in a subgroup of patients treated for cancer, although the precise mechanism is still not fully elucidated [59]. Typical problems are memory, concentration, information processing, and executive function. Executive function includes self-awareness and self-regulation, mental flexibility, planning, and problemsolving. Impairment in executive function may be largely invisible to others but can exert a profound impact on daily functioning as the person finds it difficult to "multi-task" and process information quickly. Self-perception of cognitive problems does not always neatly align with neuropsychological testing results, highlighting the need for research into standardized self-report measures [60].

There is emerging research suggesting the effectiveness of cognitive rehabilitation programs. One such program "Insight" from Posit Science is a computerized neurocognitive learning program based on the neuroplasticity model. It includes tailored exercise in the domains of visual precision, divided attention, working memory, and visual processing field [61]. In a RCT of 242 participants, the intervention group demonstrated significantly less perceived cognitive impairment than the control group [60].

Key practice points are acknowledgment of subjective concern about "chemobrain" and exclusion of contributory problems such as depression or endocrine disorders such as hypothyroidism. Attention to lifestyle factors such as diet and exercise and limiting use of alcohol will not improve cognitive function per se but may improve adjustment. Clinicians can advise on practical strategies to enhance adjustment:

- 1. encouraging the use of a notebook (for example, to record phone discussion)
- 2. keeping a structured diary
- 3. undertaking challenging tasks earlier in the day when less fatigued
- 4. reducing external distractions such as music when undertaking complex tasks
- 5. repeating a person's name when introduced to someone
- 6. keeping objects (such as car keys) in the same place

7. encouraging the person to increase their focus on a particular task through verbal reminders (for example, the person saying out loud: "Mary, this is important. You need to focus")

Financial Toxicity

The financial burden of cancer can be substantial for patients and their families, even for those who have access to universal healthcare systems or health insurance [62]. More recently, experts have asserted that the financial "pain" of undergoing cancer treatment should be considered analogous to physical treatment toxicities such as neutropenia, vomiting, insomnia, or depression that lead to poorer patient outcomes, or delayed/discontinued cancer care [2]. Increasingly, this has led to the use of the term "financial toxicity" to describe the financial hardship or distress that may be a side effect of cancer treatment. Financial toxicity is not simply a feature of the acute treatment phase but has been shown to continue up to 10 years after diagnosis [63]. Financial toxicity may be particularly severe for (1) families of children with cancer who give up work to care for a child with cancer, (2) patients from rural and regional areas who must travel to access care, and (3) younger cancer patients with few financial reserves [2, 64].

Financial toxicity is an important issue to address in cancer survivorship care as psychosocial well-being and financial health are intimately related. Nearly half of cancer survivors report financial toxicity [2], and this is associated with at least a threefold increased risk of anxiety and depression [64]. The American Society for Clinical Oncology states that "communication with patients about the costs of care is a key component of high quality care" [65]. In the first instance, preparing patients and their families for the potential financial effects that could have an ongoing impact at the completion of treatment is vital. This allows patients and their families to make fully informed decisions about their care. Secondly, given the significant financial risk many patients face, an opportunity to raise concerns should be offered to all patients. Acknowledging the financial burden of cancer and actively inviting patients to talk about any financial concerns they may have is likely to be of benefit. For example, "Some patients tell me they have trouble paying for their prescriptions or paying gaps for medical treatments or visits, has this been an issue for you?" This conveys acceptance and encourages the expression of financial concerns. Furthermore, validated screening tools such as the 11-item COST-FACIT [66] may assist with identifying those patients at high risk who may benefit from referral to support services.

Returning to Work

A large proportion of patients will be part of the workforce at the time of diagnosis. For this group, return-to-work is an important aspect of social reintegration and a positive step toward an improved quality of life. Unfortunately, the journey back to work is rarely simple for those who are dealing with the impact of cancer and cancer treatment. Besides physical and functional disabilities, increasing psychological distress and mental disorders can adversely affect a patient's work ability, work conditions, and work satisfaction. These effects can make it challenging for patients not only to return but also remain at work. Between 26 and 53% of cancer survivors lose their job, or quit working over a 6-year period following their diagnosis [67]. Survivors of cancer have reported obstacles in the workplace including dismissal, failure to hire, demotion, denial of expected promotion, and hostility [68]. Consequently, the identification of work-related problems should be an important treatment goal for every clinician.

Most survivors want to discuss the impact of their cancer on their participation in working life with their clinician [68]. Clinicians are usually a survivor's first and most influential source of information. Thus, although clinicians cannot be expected to be experts in this area, they should be aware of survivor's needs and rights and guide them to credible resources that provide more information and assistance. A small, but effective number of psycho-educational interventions have led to higher return-to-work rates than care as usual and can be utilized by clinicians in combination with physical training and vocational elements [69]. Clinicians can assist by:

- 1. having an open discussion with patients about their expectations and concerns about returning to work.
- 2. drawing up a specific and gradual return-to-work plan in collaboration with the patient, occupational health professional, and the employer.
- 3. evaluating if the demands of work align with the patient's capabilities, taking into account their psychological well-being, cognitive functioning, and attitudes about work. Discrepancies could mean that the demands are too high, leading to heightened distress. These issues can subsequently be addressed by referring patients to a support service according to their needs, such as physical, occupational, or psychological support services.
- 4. asking patients if they have experienced any challenges in returning to work. Providing a written letter to employers explaining a patient's abilities and limitations at work in a way that may dispel myths about their current and future capabilities [68].

Existential Issues

The diagnosis of cancer poses a challenge to the sense of self of the individual, their optimism and certainty about life. It is common for the individual to state that cancer has made them rethink their attitude toward relationships, work, and their purpose in the world. Some see the diagnosis as an opportunity for personal growth which gives the impetus to initiate positive change in their life. Conversely, others may experience distress as they reflect more critically on their life and achievements to date, leading to feelings of demoralization in which they lose focus and optimism. Although perhaps understandable in those facing advanced disease, these

feelings can also occur in those with good prognosis and lead to the person feeling "stuck" and unable to move forward.

These existential concerns do not constitute disorder but still affect the person's life and relationships. There is a body of evidence suggesting that psychosocial interventions can be of benefit [70]. Even apparently simple discussions can help the person who is struggling with existential issues. Examples include asking about who are their sources of support, how they make sense of their situation, and reflecting on past strengths in dealing with adversity [71]. As new therapies emerge with the promise of extended survival, it is important to recognize that these can also pose an existential challenge. Particularly for patients with metastatic melanoma there may be uncertainty about sustained benefits of treatment and disease trajectory, the risk of emergence of toxicity and strain about future treatment decision-making [72]. Providing an opportunity for individuals to discuss these concerns is likely to be of benefit. Health professionals may be tempted to offer reassurance however in the first instance listening and validation of distress are vital.

Emerging Concepts in Survivorship Care

As the population of cancer survivors continues to grow in volume, oncology specialists are placed under increasing pressure and workload. Care models that are oncology-led and focused on surveillance for cancer recurrence can leave survivors with significant unmet needs. At the same time, these models are not sustainable, and they may not represent the best use of oncology specialist expertise.

Strengthening Collaboration Between Oncology Specialists and Primary Care Providers

Most people meet the oncologist for the first time with a cancer diagnosis. In many instances, patients will have preexisting relationships with primary care providers which extend over many years. Returning to them for follow-up is viewed as an acceptable alternative by patients and research suggests that disease and quality of life outcomes are similar to follow-up care conducted by oncology specialists [73, 74]. An Australian survey found that oncology specialists felt that too much of their time was spent on follow-up care, taking away their time from newly diagnosed patients requiring their expertise [75]. Hence, survivorship care models must be designed to be both acceptable to patients and feasible for oncologists. The seminal Institute of Medicine report "From cancer patient to cancer survivor, Lost in Transition" [11] suggests that ideal survivorship care should comprise shared follow-up responsibility between oncology specialists and primary care providers.

Primary care providers are well-placed to provide comprehensive care oversight. They can safely and effectively monitor symptoms and treatments, support the management of psychosocial care, promote and motivate health-behavior change, and facilitate timely and appropriate access to specialist oncology care. Primary care providers favor a shared-care model, in which they share follow-up responsibility with the oncologist and feel that they can deliver this care with appropriate support and referral pathways [73]. Delegating and sharing follow-up responsibility can free oncology specialists to see new and more serious cases that can most benefit from oncology expert face-to-face contact. This model of survivorship care has been successfully implemented in the follow-up of women with breast cancer, with findings showing strong support for greater primary care provider involvement in follow-up cancer care [76]. Through close communication and collaboration with primary care physicians, oncologists can have an important effect on the long-term health of cancer survivors and ensure patients receive care that is coordinated, with a clear and seamless journey between specialist and primary care settings.

Recognizing and Responding to the Needs of Carers

Good, reliable caregiver support is crucial to the physical and emotional well-being of patients throughout the trajectory of their cancer experience. Although there is evidence that family members find personal satisfaction and accomplishment in providing a quality of life to a loved one, it can also be a frustrating or even overwhelming experience for family members [77]. Giving care and support can be hard to maintain during the survivorship phase, and can take a toll on the health and wellbeing of family members. Caregivers continue to spend a substantial amount of time providing medical, emotional, instrumental, and other tangible support during the survivorship phase, with an average of 8.3 h per day spent providing care in the 2 years after diagnosis [78]. This can lead to increasing stress over time, and deplete family caregivers physically, psychologically, socially, and even financially. Family caregivers of long-term cancer survivors can often have mood disorders that hamper their quality of life. A meta-analysis of 43 studies investigating mood disorders in spouses of long-term cancer survivors reported that the prevalence of anxiety was 40% and that of depression was 26%, even though the mean time since diagnosis was approximately 7 years [79]. In some cases, the psychological burden for the caregiver may exceed that of the patient. Positive associations have been reported between patient and carer psychological distress [80], which suggests that a caregiver's distress directly impacts a patient's well-being and vice versa.

Along with an awareness of patients' emotional needs, it is important to recognize the impact of caregiving on family members and incorporate questions about their adjustment. Given the prevalence of mood disorders among caregivers, it is appropriate to ask caregivers about the impact on their own emotional well-being. For example, "Some caregivers tell me that they find it difficult to juggle caregiving responsibilities with their other day-to-day responsibilities and that this can put them under a lot of strain. How are things going for you?" These simple questions express support and can encourage caregivers to voice their worries. A variety of interventions delivered jointly to patients and caregivers or caregivers alone have demonstrated effectiveness in reducing caregiver burden and improving self-efficacy and can be incorporated into routine follow-up care [81]. For caregivers displaying high levels of psychological distress, referral to a specialist in psycho-oncology can be considered. There are also many resources and community-based support services available to caregivers of patients at no charge. The American Cancer Society (www.cancer.org) and the Australian Cancer Survivorship Centre (www.petermac. org) both have comprehensive online information booklets and videos about caring for someone with cancer. In addition, including caregivers in survivorship care planning is likely to be helpful in preparing caregivers for the care tasks that will be needed during the survivorship phase.

It is important to consider those other than spouses of the patient who may take on carer responsibilities, such as children, parents, siblings, or friends. As the population continues to age, a growing number of adult children will find themselves in the position of having to provide care to older adults. Timely attention to this subgroup of caregivers is important as they juggle other social roles while providing care to a family member with cancer.

Survivorship Care Plans

Survivorship care plans (SCPs) are increasingly being advocated as a tool to improve outcomes for cancer survivors. SCPs are formal, written documents which document the person's diagnosis, treatment, and potential long-term and late effects, along with recommendations for follow-up and strategies to remain well including lifestyle changes [82]. Internationally, SCPs are promoted as a means of assisting clinicians to be actively engaged in attending to survivorship issues and engaging primary care providers in their enactment [83].

While survivorship care plans have intuitive appeal, a recent review of survivorship care plans for a range of cancers found insufficient evidence of benefit on longterm health outcomes [84]. The reasons for lack of long-term impact may relate to the SCP itself. Although there may be variation in their development and health professionals involved, commonly they are based on a single consultation. The person who receives the SCP may fail to enact aspects of the plan—in a study of a SCP for patients treated for head and neck cancer most participants failed to review the plan or act on recommendations, and none collaborated with their primary care physician to actualize the plan for lifestyle changes despite this being a clear recommendation of the SCP [85]. This is consistent with the work of Birken et al. [86] which demonstrated the critical role of local champions and systems to enact SCPs. Another critical issue is clarity about the precise components of the survivorship care plan. For example, in the ROGY trial, patients with gynecological cancer who received a survivorship care plan experienced greater concerns and worse social functioning than controls [87]. This care plan comprised information on the most common and long-term effects of treatment, signs of recurrence and secondary tumors as well as information on rehabilitation. The authors contend that details about recurrence and progression may have heightened illness perception.

Overall it is reasonable to consider that a survivorship care plan is one component of survivorship care, rather than a "stand-alone" intervention. Enhanced benefits are likely to be seen when they are seen as a dynamic document to facilitate ongoing discussion and focused action which incorporates the role of community-based health professionals [83].

The Emotional Impact for Clinicians Working with Cancer Survivors

Stress and burnout are commonly used terms and medical practitioners are considered to demonstrate higher rates of burnout than workers in other fields [88]. The obvious contributors to work-related stress for oncologists include workload, frequency of giving bad news, and the deaths of patients. "Compassion fatigue" is also cited as a contributor—when the practitioner fails to take steps to replenish their personal needs despite the demands for compassionate caring for patients [89].

Caring for cancer survivors may at first glance seem a role less likely to cause emotional distress as these patients are by definition surviving. However, responding to complex residual symptoms and side effects of treatment can be challenging, especially as this is underpinned by vigilance about detecting recurrent disease and late effects. Oncologists may find it challenging when caring for patients with whom they identify, for example, because of age, cultural or social background [90]. In addition, responding to patients with anxiety or depression can be challenging particularly if the oncologist does not feel confident about responding to these issues. Strategies which are likely to help include being part of a multidisciplinary team in which challenging cases can be discussed and having defined pathways for referral of patients whose psychosocial needs mean that they require specialized care. Challenging prevailing attitudes about working to the point of exhaustion requires a shift in health systems which can advocate for "attraction to wellness" rather than a solution for burnout [91].

Key Messages

- One in two cancer survivors experiences significant levels of psychosocial distress.
- High levels of distress can lead to more serious psychological problems and are associated with a reduction in quality of life, increased healthcare service use, poor adherence to follow-up recommendations, and shorter survival.
- It is recommended that psychosocial needs be regularly assessed using the best possible evidence and coordinated, integrated care.
- Good communication is important in helping patients live well after cancer. Key strategies include good eye contact, acknowledging and clarifying the patient's concerns by making simple empathic statements, use of open questions with a psychological focus, and summarizing the patient's priorities and main concerns.
- Sensitivity to the social and cultural factors that influence patient attitudes and beliefs is required.
- It is recommended that cancer survivors be routinely screened for depression and anxiety using a validated measure across a range of time points including when

there are changes in disease status and transitions such as completion of a defined treatment protocol.

- Fear, worry, or concern about the possibility that cancer will come back or progress is one of the most common concerns for patients and effective interventions are available.
- Although an estimated 40–100% of cancer survivors report sexual difficulties and body image concerns, they are unlikely to raise the topic. Clinicians can help by initiating discussion about sexual health.
- Many patients experience cognitive changes after cancer treatment. Clinicians can advise on practical strategies to enhance adjustment, including aerobic exercise and cognitive training.
- Nearly half of cancer survivors report financial toxicity and this is associated with at least a threefold increased risk of anxiety and depression.
- Psychological distress can adversely affect a patient's work ability and satisfaction. Cancer survivors also experience obstacles in remaining at work, including dismissal, demotion, and hostility.
- The completion of treatment can make patients rethink their purpose in the world. For some, this can initiate positive change, while for others this may lead to feelings of demoralization in which they lose optimism about the future.
- To ensure survivors' needs are met, oncology specialists should consider sharedcare models in which they work collaboratively with primary care providers.
- Along with an awareness of patients' emotional needs, it is important to recognize the impact of caregiving on family members and incorporate questions about their adjustment.
- Survivorship care plans are one component of survivorship care, rather than a "stand-alone" intervention.
- Being part of a multidisciplinary team in which challenging patient cases can be discussed and having defined pathways for referral of patients whose psychosocial needs require specialized care are strategies that are likely to be helpful for clinicians caring for cancer survivors.

References

- Mehnert A, Hartung TJ, Friedrich M, Vehling S, Brähler E, Härter M, et al. One in two cancer patients is significantly distressed: prevalence and indicators of distress. Psycho-Oncology. 2018;27(1):75–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4464.
- Gordon LG, Merollini KM, Lowe A, Chan R. A systematic review of financial toxicity among cancer survivors: we can't pay the co-pay. Patient Patient Centered Outcomes Res. 2017;10(3):295–309. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40271-016-0204-x.
- Zhu J, Fang F, Sjölander A, Fall K, Adami HO, Valdimarsdóttir U. First-onset mental disorders after cancer diagnosis and cancer-specific mortality: a nationwide cohort study. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(8):1964–9.
- 4. Holland JC. History of psycho-oncology: overcoming attitudinal and conceptual barriers. Psychosom Med. 2002;64(2):206–21.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology Survivorship (Version 1.2019). 2019. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/. Accessed 8 June 2020.

- Cancer Australia. Principles of cancer survivorship. Sydney, Australia. 2017. https://canceraustralia.gov.au/sites/default/files/publications/principles-cancer-survivorship/pdf/pocs__ _principles_of_cancer_survivorship.pdf. Accessed 19 July 2020.
- 7. Dolbeault S, Szporn A, Holland J. Psycho-oncology: where have we been? Where are we going? Eur J Cancer. 1999;35(11):1554–8.
- Travado L, Breitbart W, Grassi L, Fujisawa D, Patenaude A, Baider L, et al. 2015 President's Plenary International Psycho-oncology Society: psychosocial care as a human rights issue challenges and opportunities. Psycho-Oncology. 2017;26(4):563–9.
- Travado L, Bultz B, Ullrich A, Asuzu C, Turner J, Grassi L, et al. 2016 President's Plenary International Psycho-Oncology Society: challenges and opportunities for growing and developing psychosocial oncology programmes worldwide. Psycho-Oncology. 2017;26(9):1231–8.
- World Health Organization. Cancer key facts. 2018. https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/cancer. Accessed 11 June 2020.
- 11. Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2005.
- 12. Bell K, Ristovski-Slijepcevic S. Cancer survivorship: why labels matter. Clin Oncol. 2013;31(4):409–11.
- Leigh S. A nursing perspective. In: Ganz P, editor. Cancer survivorship: today and tomorrow. New York: Springer; 2007.
- Forsythe LP, Kent EE, Weaver KE, Buchanan N, Hawkins NA, Rodriguez JL, et al. Receipt of psychosocial care among cancer survivors in the United States. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(16):1961.
- 15. Recklitis CJ, Syrjala KL. Provision of integrated psychosocial services for cancer survivors post-treatment. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(1):e39–50.
- Butow P, Price MA, Shaw JM, Turner J, Clayton JM, Grimison P, et al. Clinical pathway for the screening, assessment and management of anxiety and depression in adult cancer patients: Australian guidelines. Psycho-Oncology. 2015;24(9):987–1001.
- 17. Gilligan T, Bohlke K, Baile WF. Patient-clinician communication: American Society of Clinical Oncology consensus guideline summary. J Oncol Pract. 2017;
- Lelorain S, Brédart A, Dolbeault S, Sultan S. A systematic review of the associations between empathy measures and patient outcomes in cancer care. Psycho-Oncology. 2012;21(12):1255–64.
- 19. Husson O, Mols F, Van de Poll-Franse L. The relation between information provision and health-related quality of life, anxiety and depression among cancer survivors: a systematic review. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(4):761–72.
- Cancer Research UK. Can stress cause cancer? 2019. https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/ about-cancer/causes-of-cancer/cancer-controversies/can-stress-cause-cancer. Accessed 16 July 2020.
- Milne D, Hyatt A, Billett A, Gough K, Krishnasamy M. Exploring the experiences of people treated with immunotherapies for advanced melanoma and those caring for them: "real-world" data. Cancer Nurs. 2020;43(2):E97–E104.
- 22. Meiser B, Butow P, Friedlander M, Barratt A, Schnieden V, Watson M, et al. Psychological impact of genetic testing in women from high-risk breast cancer families. Eur J Cancer. 2002;38(15):2025–31.
- 23. Zolnierek KBH, DiMatteo MR. Physician communication and patient adherence to treatment: a meta-analysis. Med Care. 2009;47(8):826.
- Dugdale DC, Epstein R, Pantilat S. Time and the patient–physician relationship. J Gen Intern Med. 1999;14(Suppl 1):S34.
- 25. Ryan H, Schofield P, Cockburn J, Butow P, Tattersall M, Turner J, et al. How to recognize and manage psychological distress in cancer patients. Eur J Cancer Care. 2005;14(1):7–15.
- Maguire P. Improving the detection of psychiatric problems in cancer patients. Social Sci Med. 1985;20(8):819–23.
- 27. Maguire P. Improving communication with cancer patients. Eur J Cancer. 1999;35(14):2058–65.

- 28. Devine EC, Westlake SK. The effects of psychoeducational care provided to adults with cancer: meta-analysis of 116 studies. Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE): quality-assessed reviews [Internet]. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (UK); 1995.
- National Breast Cancer Centre and National Cancer Control Initiative. Clinical practice guidelines for the psychosocial care of adults with cancer. Camperdown, NSW, Australia: National Breast Cancer Centre; 2003.
- Juckett G, Unger K. Appropriate use of medical interpreters. Am Fam Physician. 2014;90(7):476–80.
- Institute of Medicine. Health literacy: a prescription to end confusion. National Academies Press. 2004. https://books.google.com.au/books?id=vWp0AAAAQBAJ. Accessed 11 June 2020.
- 32. Sørensen K, Pelikan JM, Röthlin F, Ganahl K, Slonska Z, Doyle G, et al. Health literacy in Europe: comparative results of the European health literacy survey (HLS-EU). Eur J Pub Health. 2015;25(6):1053–8.
- 33. Centre for Disease Control and Prevention National Center for Health Marking. Plain Language Thesaurus for Health Communications. 2007. https://www.orau.gov/hsc/HealthCommWorks/ MessageMappingGuide/resources/CDC%20Plain%20Language%20Thesaurus%20for%20 Health%20Communication.pdf. Accessed 11 June 2020.
- Mehnert A, Brähler E, Faller H, Härter M, Keller M, Schulz H, et al. Four-week prevalence of mental disorders in patients with cancer across major tumor entities. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(31):3540–6.
- 35. Burki TK. Unmet needs of cancer survivors. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(3):e106.
- 36. Grenard JL, Munjas BA, Adams JL, Suttorp M, Maglione M, McGlynn EA, et al. Depression and medication adherence in the treatment of chronic diseases in the United States: a metaanalysis. J Gen Intern Med. 2011;26(10):1175–82.
- 37. Hanrahan NP, Bressi S, Marcus SC, Solomon P. Examining the impact of comorbid serious mental illness on rehospitalization among medical and surgical inpatients. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2016;42:36–40.
- Niedzwiedz CL, Knifton L, Robb KA, Katikireddi SV, Smith D. Depression and anxiety among people living with and beyond cancer: a growing clinical and research priority. BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):1–8.
- 39. Andersen BL, DeRubeis RJ, Berman BS, Gruman J, Champion VL, Massie MJ, et al. Screening, assessment, and care of anxiety and depressive symptoms in adults with cancer: an American Society of Clinical Oncology guideline adaptation. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15):1605.
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. 2001;16(9):606–13.
- Dilworth S, Higgins I, Parker V, Kelly B, Turner J. Patient and health professional's perceived barriers to the delivery of psychosocial care to adults with cancer: a systematic review. Psycho-Oncology. 2014;23(6):601–12.
- 42. Faller H, Schuler M, Richard M, Heckl U, Weis J, Küffner R. Effects of psycho-oncologic interventions on emotional distress and quality of life in adult patients with cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(6):782–93.
- 43. Cipriani A, Furukawa TA, Salanti G, Chaimani A, Atkinson LZ, Ogawa Y, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of 21 antidepressant drugs for the acute treatment of adults with major depressive disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Focus. 2018;16(4):420–9.
- 44. Kelly CM, Juurlink DN, Gomes T, Duong-Hua M, Pritchard KI, Austin PC, et al. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and breast cancer mortality in women receiving tamoxifen: a population based cohort study. BMJ. 2010;340:c693.
- 45. Andrews G, Bell C, Boyce P, Gale C, Lampe L, Marwat O, et al. Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of panic disorder, social anxiety disorder and generalised anxiety disorder. Aust NZ J Psychiat. 2018;52(12):1109–72.

- 46. Lebel S, Ozakinci G, Humphris G, Mutsaers B, Thewes B, Prins J, et al. From normal response to clinical problem: definition and clinical features of fear of cancer recurrence. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(8):3265–8.
- 47. Simard S, Thewes B, Humphris G, Dixon M, Hayden C, Mireskandari S, et al. Fear of cancer recurrence in adult cancer survivors: a systematic review of quantitative studies. J Cancer Surviv. 2013;7(3):300–22.
- 48. Thewes B, Butow P, Bell ML, Beith J, Stuart-Harris R, Grossi M, et al. Fear of cancer recurrence in young women with a history of early-stage breast cancer: a cross-sectional study of prevalence and association with health behaviours. Support Care Cancer. 2012;20(11):2651–9.
- 49. Koch L, Bertram H, Eberle A, Holleczek B, Schmid-Höpfner S, Waldmann A, et al. Fear of recurrence in long-term breast cancer survivors—still an issue. Results on prevalence, determinants, and the association with quality of life and depression from the Cancer Survivorship—a multi-regional population-based study. Psycho-Oncology. 2014;23(5):547–54.
- 50. Mutsaers B, Jones G, Rutkowski N, Tomei C, Leclair CS, Petricone-Westwood D, et al. When fear of cancer recurrence becomes a clinical issue: a qualitative analysis of features associated with clinical fear of cancer recurrence. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(10):4207–18.
- Rudy L, Maheu C, Körner A, Lebel S, Gélinas C. The FCR-1: initial validation of a single-item measure of fear of cancer recurrence. Psycho-Oncology. 2020;29(4):788–95.
- Tauber NM, O'Toole MS, Dinkel A, Galica J, Humphris G, Lebel S, et al. Effect of psychological intervention on fear of cancer recurrence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2019;
- Butow P, Sharpe L, Thewes B, Turner J, Gilchrist J, Beith J. Fear of cancer recurrence: a practical guide for clinicians. Oncology 2018;32(1).
- 54. Carter J, Lacchetti C, Andersen BL, Barton DL, Bolte S, Damast S, et al. Interventions to address sexual problems in people with cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical practice guideline adaptation of Cancer Care Ontario guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(5):492–511.
- 55. Galbraith ME, Archiga A, Ramirez J, Pedro LW. Prostate cancer survivors' and partners' self-reports of health-related quality of life, treatment symptoms, and marital satisfaction 2.5–5.5 years after treatment. Oncol Nurs Forum 2005;32.
- 56. Ganz PA, Rowland JH, Desmond K, Meyerowitz BE, Wyatt GE. Life after breast cancer: understanding women's health-related quality of life and sexual functioning. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(2):501–14.
- Cancer Australia. Starting the conversation: supporting sexual wellbeing for women with breast cancer. 2013. https://canceraustralia.gov.au/sites/default/files/publications/2013_sexual_wellbeing_online_resource.pdf. Accessed 8 July 2020.
- Esplen MJ, Warner E, Boquiren V, Wong J, Toner B. Restoring body image after cancer (ReBIC): a group therapy intervention. Psycho-Oncology. 2020;29(4):671–80.
- 59. Ahles TA, Root JC, Ryan EL. Cancer-and cancer treatment–associated cognitive change: an update on the state of the science. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(30):3675.
- Bray VJ, Dhillon HM, Bell ML, Kabourakis M, Fiero MH, Yip D, et al. Evaluation of a webbased cognitive rehabilitation program in cancer survivors reporting cognitive symptoms after chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol, 35. 2017;(2):217–25.
- Posit Science. Brain training that works. 2020. https://www.brainhq.com. Accessed 16 June 2020.
- 62. de Souza JA, Wong Y-N. Financial distress in cancer patients. J Med Person. 2013;11(2):73-7.
- 63. Paalman C, Van Leeuwen F, Aaronson N, De Boer A, Van De Poll-franse L, Oldenburg H, et al. Employment and social benefits up to 10 years after breast cancer diagnosis: a populationbased study. Br J Cancer. 2016;114(1):81–7.
- 64. Sharp L, Carsin AE, Timmons A. Associations between cancer-related financial stress and strain and psychological well-being among individuals living with cancer. Psycho-Oncology. 2013;22(4):745–55.

- Meropol NJ, Schrag D, Smith TJ, Mulvey TM, Langdon RM Jr, Blum D, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology guidance statement: the cost of cancer care. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(23):3868–74.
- 66. De Souza JA, Yap BJ, Hlubocky FJ, Wroblewski K, Ratain MJ, Cella D, et al. The development of a financial toxicity patient-reported outcome in cancer: the COST measure. Cancer. 2014;120(20):3245–53.
- Mehnert A. Employment and work-related issues in cancer survivors. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2011;77(2):109–30.
- Hoffman B. The employment and insurance concerns of cancer survivors. Cancer Survivorship. Springer; 2007. p. 272–82.
- 69. de Boer AG, Taskila TK, Tamminga SJ, Feuerstein M, Frings-Dresen MH, Verbeek JH. Interventions to enhance return-to-work for cancer patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;9
- Bauereiß N, Obermaier S, Özünal SE, Baumeister H. Effects of existential interventions on spiritual, psychological, and physical well-being in adult patients with cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Psycho-Oncology. 2018;27(11):2531–45.
- Griffith JL, Gaby L. Brief psychotherapy at the bedside: countering demoralization from medical illness. Psychosomatics. 2005;46(2):109–16.
- Levy D, Dhillon HM, Lomax A, Marthick M, McNeil C, Kao S, et al. Certainty within uncertainty: a qualitative study of the experience of metastatic melanoma patients undergoing pembrolizumab immunotherapy. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27(5):1845–52.
- Lewis RA, Neal RD, Williams NH, France B, Hendry M, Russell D, et al. Follow-up of cancer in primary care versus secondary care: systematic review. Br J Gen Pract. 2009;59(564):e234–e47.
- Meiklejohn JA, Mimery A, Martin JH, Bailie R, Garvey G, Walpole ET, et al. The role of the GP in follow-up cancer care: a systematic literature review. J Cancer Surviv. 2016;10(6):990–1011.
- Brennan ME, Butow P, Spillane AJ, Boyle FM. Survivorship care after breast cancer: followup practices of Australian health professionals and attitudes to a survivorship care plan. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 2010;6(2):116–25.
- 76. Earle CC, Neville BA. Under use of necessary care among cancer survivors. Cancer. 2004;101(8):1712–9.
- Northouse L, Williams A-L, Given B, McCorkle R. Psychosocial care for family caregivers of patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(11):1227–34.
- Yabroff KR, Kim Y. Time costs associated with informal caregiving for cancer survivors. Cancer. 2009;115(S18):4362–73.
- Mitchell AJ, Ferguson DW, Gill J, Paul J, Symonds P. Depression and anxiety in long-term cancer survivors compared with spouses and healthy controls: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(8):721–32.
- Hodges L, Humphris G, Macfarlane G. A meta-analytic investigation of the relationship between the psychological distress of cancer patients and their carers. Social Sci Med. 2005;60(1):1–12.
- Northouse L, Katapodi MC, Song L, Zhang L, Mood DW. Interventions with family caregivers of cancer patients: meta-analysis of randomized trials. CA Cancer J Clin. 2010;60(5):317–39.
- Australian Cancer Survivorship Centre. www.petermac.org/cancersurvivorship. Accessed 29 June 2020.
- Mayer DK, Nekhlyudov L, Snyder CF, Merrill JK, Wollins DS, Shulman LN. American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical expert statement on cancer survivorship care planning. J Oncol Pract. 2014;10(6):345–51.
- 84. Jacobsen PB, DeRosa AP, Henderson TO, Mayer DK, Moskowitz CS, Paskett ED, et al. Systematic review of the impact of cancer survivorship care plans on health outcomes and health care delivery. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(20):2088.
- 85. Turner J, Yates P, Kenny L, Gordon L, Burmeister B, Hughes BG, et al. The ENHANCES study: a randomised controlled trial of a nurse-led survivorship intervention for patients treated for head and neck cancer. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27(12):4627–37.

- Birken SA, Clary AS, Bernstein S, Bolton J, Tardif-Douglin M, Mayer DK, et al. Strategies for successful survivorship care plan implementation: results from a qualitative study. J Oncol Pract. 2018;14(8):e462–e83.
- 87. de Rooij BH, Ezendam NP, Nicolaije KA, Lodder P, Vos MC, Pijnenborg JM, et al. Survivorship care plans have a negative impact on long-term quality of life and anxiety through more threatening illness perceptions in gynecological cancer patients: the ROGY care trial. Qual Life Res. 2018;27(6):1533–44.
- Shanafelt TD, West CP, Sinsky C, Trockel M, Tutty M, Satele DV, et al. Changes in burnout and satisfaction with work-life integration in physicians and the general US working population between 2011 and 2017. Mayo Clin Proc. 2019;94(9):1681–94.
- 89. Back AL, Deignan PF, Potter PA. Compassion, compassion fatigue, and burnout: key insights for oncology professionals. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. 2014;34(1):e454–e9.
- Turner J, Kelly B, Girgis A. Supporting oncology health professionals: a review. Psycho-Oncology. 2011;5(2):77–82.
- Armato CS, Jenike TE. Physician resiliency and wellness for transforming a health system. NEJM Catalyst 2018;4(3).



Nutrition in Survivorship Care

18

Federica Lobascio, Paolo Pedrazzoli, Simona Secondino, and Riccardo Caccialanza

Research on nutrition and cancer risk has been having a significant development in recent decades, supported by epidemiological studies showing differences in the incidence of tumors according to different dietary patterns and food habits [1].

In the last years, also the attention on the role of diet and physical activity in the health of cancer survivors has increased.

Cancer survivors usually face several long-term health and psychosocial consequences of their treatment, including cardiovascular complications, endocrine disorders, osteoporosis, cognitive deficits, complications as well as weight changes [2]. These consequences, combined with the morbidity and mortality associated with the disease itself and its potential for recurrence, make it obvious that there is a growing need for recommendations on lifestyle choices for this population.

However, few observational studies have reported associations between diet and cancer survival, which have been different in design and results, leading to a lack of definitive evidence.

Several guidelines have been published for cancer survivors to achieve a better prognosis and quality of life (QoL).

In 2007, the World Cancer Research Fund (WCRF)/American Institute for Cancer Research (AICR) updated its previous extensive systematic review of the evidence linking food, nutrition, and related factors to cancer incidence. It also addressed cancer survivors and concluded that due to the lack of sufficient research evidence, they should be encouraged to follow the recommendations for primary cancer prevention [3].

F. Lobascio · R. Caccialanza (🖂)

Clinical Nutrition and Dietetics Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, Pavia, Italy e-mail: f.lobascio@smatteo.pv.it; r.caccialanza@smatteo.pv.it

P. Pedrazzoli · S. Secondino

Medical Oncology Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, and Department of Internal Medicine and Medical Therapy, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy e-mail: p.pedrazzoli@smatteo.pv.it; s.secondino@smatteo.pv.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_18

The WCRF/AICR has continuously updated scientific research and recommendations on cancer prevention and survivorship regarding nutrition and physical activity, and presented the last results in 2018 [4]. The conclusions of this report were based on the available meta-analysis and systematic reviews. All different types of epidemiological studies (from descriptive to prospective) were considered, giving importance to results confirmed by studies conducted with different methodologies and replicated in different settings. Precise criteria have been assessed for the allocation of the level of evidence: the type of study (the most relevant are prospective studies), the lack of heterogeneity between studies, good quality, presence of a dose-response relationship, and, finally, the biological plausibility of the association.

The criteria for grading evidence lead to five possible levels: "convincing," "probable," "limited/suggestive," "limited/no conclusion," and "unlikely." Only convincing and probable evidence was used to draw up the recommendations.

From the above report, it appeared that obesity is the main risk factor for the development of cancer and control body weight is the major recommendation for cancer prevention.

Body weight results from the "energy balance" between caloric intake and expenditure.

Excess adiposity can contribute to a procarcinogenic environment through several pathways involved in inflammation, oxidative stress, cell proliferation and angiogenesis, inhibition of apoptosis/cell death, and metastases [5].

Several clinical studies have shown that caloric restriction can inhibit the carcinogenic process through various mechanisms mainly linked to metabolic alterations [6, 7]. Based on the WCRF and International Agency for Cancer Research in Lyon (IARC) reports, there is strong evidence that overweight and obesity are associated with an increased risk of developing colorectal, endometrium, kidney, esophagus (adenocarcinoma), menopausal breast, liver, gallbladder, stomach (cardias), pancreas, ovary, thyroid, mouth, pharynx and larynx, meningioma, multiple myeloma, and prostate (advanced) cancer [4, 8, 9].

Also the American Cancer Society (ACS) released guidelines on nutrition and physical activity for cancer prevention and highlighted the importance of weight management, physical activity, and diet [10, 11].

In USA, approximately 10.9% of diagnosed cancer cases during 2014 among women and 4.8% of those among men were attributed to overweight or obesity [12].

In Europe, it has been estimated that around 3.2% of cancers in men and 8.6% in women are attributable to excess weight [13]. The WCRF has confirmed a convincing and likely level of evidence for overweight as a risk factor for cancer incidence [14].

In the UK, it has been estimated that 17% (but with an interval from 4 to 38%) of tumors would be preventable through the control of body weight. Taking into account all cancer types and not only those associated with overweight, the risk attributable falls to 5.5% (4.1% in men and 6.9% in women) [15].

In summary, the WCRF recommendations stress the following dietary advice:

- Eat a diet rich in vegetable foods (whole grains, vegetables, fruit, and beans); eat at least 400 g of vegetables and fruit and at least 30 g of fiber each day.
- Limit consumption of (1) processed foods high in fat, starches, or sugars ("fast foods"); (2) red meat to no more than 350–500 g cooked weight per week. Red meat refers to beef, veal, pork, lamb, mutton, horse, and goat. Consume very little processed meat refers to meat that has been transformed through salting, curing, fermentation, smoking, or other processes to enhance flavor or improve preservation (cold cuts, sausages,); (3) alcoholic drinks (it is best not to drink alcohol); and (4) sugar-sweetened drinks.
- Do not use nutritional supplements for cancer prevention, including micronutrients at high doses, as they are not recommended and in some cases may be harmful. Nutritional needs should be satisfied just by dietary intake.

A recent French prospective study involving over 100,000 subjects showed that the consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks and fruit juice was associated with an increased risk of developing cancer, particularly breast cancer, while the association between artificially sweetened drinks and cancer risk has not been demonstrated [16].

As reported by the WCRF, there is sufficient scientific evidence to claim that the consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks is associated with weight gain. In particular, the increase in visceral adiposity could favor tumorigenesis [17].

In recent decades, the progress in early diagnosis and treatment of cancer has led to a continually increasing number of cancer survivors, which is associated with a corresponding growth in the need for effective posttreatment management programs. In 2018, 43.8 million people worldwide were living with a diagnosis of cancer [18].

Currently, there is still insufficient research evidence regarding the effects of diet, weight, and nutrition on the risk of cancer recurrence. The research in this area, unlike for primary prevention, is often inconclusive and the WCRF report remains the most authoritative source of evidence [19].

Prospective research and randomized clinical studies on the role of diet, nutrition, and physical activity in cancer survivors have typically a short duration and small sample sizes. Moreover, they focus on specific dietary aspects and do not reflect "real life" food habits. The evidence on adverse effects or benefits for specific nutrients is also limited for this reason.

Among solid tumors, breast cancer is the most commonly occurring cancer in women and the second most common cancer type overall (24.2% of the total cases in 2018) [18].

Several studies regarding cancer survivors with breast cancer are available, but there are no definitive conclusions on nutrition and cancer risk due to the heterogeneity of the disease and the different treatments carried out. Some studies have reported improved overall survival, but the evidence is still currently limited [20]. Other data suggest that obesity is a predictor of poor outcomes in breast cancer survivors [20]. The exact cause is unclear, but chronic inflammation associated with obesity could be involved, as it may enhance disease progression [5].

Notably, the impact of overweight and obesity on the risk of developing chronic diseases such as diabetes or cardiovascular disease could contribute to reduce overall survival in cancer patients. There is also evidence that overweight or obese women present some tumor characteristics (larger size, advanced stage) that can affect the outcome.

Finally, it has been suggested that overweight women can have a reduced treatment efficacy due to underdosing of chemotherapy [20].

On the other hand, overweight patients may have sufficient lean body mass to achieve effective resilience against the metabolic effects of cancer and its treatment. However, it should be considered that it is not always possible to distinguish between voluntary or involuntary weight loss. Sarcopenia and cachexia are late complications associated with negative clinical outcomes, so an apparent beneficial effect of overweight could simply reflect a lack of "hidden" pathology [21].

More than 90% of head and neck cancer survivors who underwent chemoradiotherapy experience one or more nutrition impact symptoms (NIS) in the months or years thereafter [22].

In a recent publication, the authors systematically reviewed existing scientific evidence related to NIS and their impact on nutritional and quality of life outcomes in posttreatment head and neck cancer survivors [23]. These patients experienced severe eating difficulties and distress caused by NIS, while clinical outcomes are still largely underexplored. Large-scale prospective cohort studies are needed to investigate the associations between QoL and survival in head and neck cancer survivors. It is imperative to identify as soon as possible the risk factors associated with QoL in this nutritionally vulnerable patient population and to provide supportive care services to minimize their negative consequences [23].

Colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer type worldwide. After colorectal cancer diagnosis, a healthy lifestyle consisting of regular physical activity and an appropriate diet may improve prognosis and clinical outcomes [24].

Physical activity, including aerobic exercise such as walking, has been proposed to cancer survivors during or straight after treatment, to achieve several beneficial effects, probably also through weight reduction, such as the attenuation of "fatigue" and symptoms severity, leading to improved QoL. However, the effect on "tumor-specific" survival is still not documented. Therefore, currently, it is not possible to conclude that dietary interventions can necessarily improve survival in long-term cancer survivors.

Some associations between overweight/obesity at diagnosis and longer survival in patients with other types of cancer (colon and lung) have been detected [4].

After active treatment or during chronic therapy (e.g., hormonal therapy for breast cancer), the WCRF suggests the recommendations for primary prevention: body weight control, an adequate diet possibly according to personalized nutritional counseling, and regular physical activity [4, 20].

In specific clinical situations, such as metabolic diseases, total gastrectomy and in pregnancy, the WCRF stresses that nutritional support is needed by specialized healthcare professionals. It should be noted that nutritional recommendations for cancer patients warn about low-calorie diets (e.g., macrobiotics or fasting) in subjects undergoing active treatment because they can compromise protein intake and lead to a critical lean body mass loss, which is associated with increased morbidity and mortality [25]. In addition, systematic nutritional assessment by skilled healthcare professionals is recommended for all cancer patients since diagnosis and during treatment and follow-up [26, 27].

Cancer survivors are an ideal population to promote interventions aimed at adopting healthy lifestyles, especially through a multi-behavioral approach including dietary modifications. Indeed, knowledge on nutrition and weight control should be based on scientific evidence and provided in a timely manner. However, as explained above, there are limitations due to the heterogeneity of the population and the presence of numerous confounding factors (cancer types, disease stages, and associated treatments).

Research in this area is still in its early stages. In the future, intervention studies are warranted, in order to identify the best nutritional strategies based on adequate molecular and metabolic predictors, which would allow the customization of weight loss regimes in terms of doses and optimal distribution of macronutrients. This would allow cancer survivors with different types of cancer to recover or maintain an adequate nutritional status and body composition and to achieve the best possible QoL. A well-designed nutritional intervention trial requires a broad representation by cancer type, age, gender, and ethnicity, as well as sufficient sample sizes to conduct reliable subgroup analyses. Ideally, intervention studies should be designed with the contribution of oncologists, clinical nutritionists, rehabilitation experts, psycho-oncologists, statisticians, and patients [28].

Adolescent and young adults represent a peculiar population of cancer survivors, who deserves specific considerations. They are defined as individuals diagnosed with cancer between 15 and 39 years [29]. The most common cancer types between individuals 15–24 years of age are leukemia, lymphoma, testicular, and thyroid cancers, while melanoma, breast, colorectal, and uterine/cervical cancers are the most common among 25 and 39 years old [30].

Adolescent and young adult cancer survivors express different needs compared to adults and older adults. They are at high risk for adverse metabolic treatment side effects resulting in the early onset of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and secondary cancer diagnoses [31]. All these comorbidities are associated with increased healthcare costs, but especially with worse QoL and prognosis.

Lifestyle change, in particular, dietary habits, can improve metabolic conditions and prevent the development of comorbidities.

Unfortunately, for this specific population as for other cancer patients' populations, the evidence regarding dietary interventions' efficacy remains largely undescribed and limited. In a recent systematic review including young adults and adolescents cancer survivors, the only four available studies were heterogeneous for age, cancer type, duration, and kind of dietary advice provided [32]. However, the results of this systematic review suggest the high potential to change dietary behaviors in adolescent and young adult cancer survivors and clearly indicates the need to address the existing nutrition care gaps for a growing and yet understudied population by well-designed clinical trials.

References

- 1. Armstrong B, Doll R. Environmental factors and cancer incidence and mortality in different countries, with special reference to dietary practices. Int J Cancer. 1975;15:617–31.
- Mourouti N, et al. Optimizing diet and nutrition for cancer survivors: a review. Maturitas. 2017 Nov;105:33–6.
- World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Food, nutrition, physical activity, and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. Washington, DC: AICR; 2007.
- 4. World Cancer Research Fund (WCRF)—Diet, nutrition and physical activity and cancer: a global perspective. Continuous Update Project, Third Expert Report https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer/resources-and-toolkit. Cancer-Prevention-Recommendations-2018.pdf; https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer/recommendations/during-after-cancer
- Perez-Hernandez AI, et al. Mechanisms linking excess adiposity and carcinogenesis promotion. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2014;5:65.
- 6. Hursting SD, et al. Calorie restriction, aging, and cancer prevention: mechanisms of action and applicability to humans. Annu Rev Med. 2003;54:131–52.
- 7. Anderson AS, et al. European Code against Cancer 4th Edition: obesity, body fatness and cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. 2015;39(Suppl 1):S34–45.
- 8. Vainio H, et al. Weight control and physical activity in cancer prevention: international evaluation of the evidence. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2002;11(Suppl 2):S94–100.
- 9. Lauby-Secretan B, et al. Body fatness and cancer—viewpoint of the IARC Working Group. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:794–8.
- Kushi L.H et al. American Cancer Society Guidelines on nutrition and physical activity for cancer prevention: reducing the risk of cancer with healthy food choices and physical activity. CA Cancer J Clin 2012, 62, 30–67.
- 11. Rock CL et al. American Cancer Society guideline for diet and physical activity for cancer prevention. CA Cancer J Clin 2020;0:1–27.
- 12. Islami F, et al. Proportion and number of cancer cases and deaths attributable to potentially modifiable risk factors in the United States. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:31–54.
- 13. Renehan AG, et al. Interpreting the epidemiological evidence linking obesity and cancer: a framework for population-attributable risk estimations in Europe. Eur J Cancer. 2010;46:2581–92.
- 14. https://www.wcrf.org/int/cancer-facts-figures/link-between-lifestyle-cancer-risk/ cancers-linked-being-overweight-or.
- 15. Parkin DM, et al. The fraction of cancer attributable to lifestyle and environmental factors in the UK in 2010. Br J Cancer. 2011;105(Suppl 2):S77–81.
- Chazelas E, et al. Sugary drink consumption and risk of cancer: results from NutriNet-Santé prospective cohort. BMJ. 2019;366:12408.
- Doyle SL, et al. Visceral obesity, metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance and cancer. Proc Nutr Soc. 2012;71:181–9.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global Cancer Statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(3):209–49
- 19. https://www.wcrf.org/sites/default/files/Cancer-Survivors.pdf
- 20. https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer/breast-cancer.

- Peixoto da Silva S, et al. Cancer cachexia and its pathophysiology: links with sarcopenia, anorexia and asthenia. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2020;11(3):619–35.
- 22. Gellrich NC, et al. Oral cancer malnutrition impacts weight and QoL. Nutrients. 2015;7(4):2145–60.
- Crowder SL, et al. Nutrition impact symptoms and associated outcomes in postchemoradiotherapy head and neck cancer survivors: a systematic review. J Cancer Surviv. 2018;12(4):479–94.
- Balhareth A, et al. Impact of physical activity and diet on colorectal cancer survivors' QoL: a systematic review. World J Surg Oncol. 2019;17(1):153.
- 25. Caccialanza R, et al. To fast, or not to fast before chemotherapy, that is the question. BMC Cancer. 2018;18:337.
- 26. Caccialanza R, et al. Nutritional support in cancer patients: a position paper from the Italian Society of Medical Oncology (AIOM) and the Italian Society of Artificial Nutrition and Metabolism (SINPE). J Cancer. 2016;7:131–5.
- 27. Arends J, et al. ESPEN guidelines on nutrition in cancer patients. Clin Nutr. 2017;36(1):11–48.
- Demark-Wahnefried, et al. Weight management and physical activity throughout the cancer care continuum. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:64–89.
- 29. What Should the Age Range Be for AYA Oncology? J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2011;1(1):3–10.
- 30. Siegel RL, et al. Cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin. 2019;69(1):7-34.
- Gunn HM, et al. Metabolic health in childhood cancer survivors: a longitudinal study in a longterm follow-up clinic. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2016;5(1):24–30.
- 32. Skiba MB, et al. Dietary interventions for adult survivors of adolescent and young adult cancers: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2020;9(3):315–27.



19

Survivorship and Palliative Care: First the One, Then the Other?

Stefan Rauh

Cancer patients may undergo a series of different phases throughout their life, including active treatment as well as supportive care, survivorship care, and palliative care. Should we have to choose? Are these still different categories?

Historically, in a seminal partly autobiographic paper by Fitzhugh Mullan, the onset of survivorship has been set at diagnosis, with three distinct consecutive phases of "acute" survival (during treatment), "extended" survival (after active treatment, described as a period of "watchful waiting" or "intermittent consolidative treatment) and a final possible phase of "permanent survival" which is synonymous of "cure" without the state prior to diagnosis ever to be completely restored [1]. Still in recent years, our understanding of the pathway of a patient after diagnosis of cancer either led to "curative" or "palliative" treatment, the former potentially leading to cancer-free survival with cure or more or less long treatment-free intervals (Fig. 19.1). The latter would lead to death. The survivorship interval was considered in patients either cured or in chronic conditions with intermitted or continuous treatment [2]. This definition was pragmatic, recognizing the already much described transitional gap between active treatment and follow-up [3]. Patients also rather considered themselves as cancer survivors after a significant disease-free interval [4].

An essential part of survivorship care in the United States is the establishment of a survivorship care plan (SCP). In the American Commission on Cancer 3.3 Accreditation edition, the SCP is centered on patients with curable stages I–III disease, after active treatment. Even though participating institutions are free to include patients with metastatic disease into their local survivorship programs, "patients with Stage ... IV or metastatic disease, though survivors by varying definitions are not required to receive a SCP under Standard 3.3" [5].

Ever since the beginnings of the concept of survivorship care, a holistic approach to the cancer patient has been considered paramount [3]. This approach has

S. Rauh (ed.), Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9_19

S. Rauh (🖂)

Medical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Emile Mayrisch, Esch, Luxembourg

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021



broadened over time as more patient needs have been identified and progressively integrated into survivorship care.

Even in advanced, incurable tumor stages, overall survival has greatly improved in many tumor types during the last decades. More patients may now experience long and possibly repeated periods of treatment-free intervals. Treatment themselves have become less toxic and may provide a far longer response. As an example, immunotherapy with checkpoint inhibitors has led to survival expectancies for formally dismal metastatic melanoma patients to years, while allowing reasonable quality of life [6]. Are these patients not to be considered as survivors—or are they "palliative"? Should they not benefit from a Survivorship Care Plan?

The World Health Organization (WHO) currently defines palliative care as follows: "Palliative care improves the quality of life of patients and that of their families who are facing challenges associated with life-threatening illness, whether physical, psychological, social or spiritual. The quality of life of caregivers improves as well" [7].

This has greatly evolved from its definition in 1990: "Palliative care is the active, total care of patients with progressive, far advanced disease and limited life expectancy whose treatment is not responsive to curative treatment. It refers to the control of pain, and of other symptoms as well as the treatment of social, psychological and spiritual problems" [8].

Palliative care has gradually evolved from end-of-life care to early phases of cancer treatment—with improvements of survival when integrated into a standard approach including active treatment [9], and the assessment of patient-related outcomes [10]. This has led to a general understanding to integrate palliative care early in the treatment setting.

Supportive care is yet another overlapping category of care. The Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer (MASCC) has proposed the following definition of supportive care: "Supportive care in cancer is the prevention and management of the adverse effects of cancer and its treatment. This includes management of physical and psychological symptoms and side effects across the continuum of the cancer experience from diagnosis through treatment to posttreatment care.

Enhancing rehabilitation, secondary cancer prevention, survivorship, and end-oflife care are integral to supportive care" [11].

These overlapping definitions come from different historic positions, but all express the need for holistic cancer care. This has led to the concept and term of "patient-centered care," which was postulated as a European Society of Medical Oncology position paper in 2018. "Patient-centred care should be offered during the continuum of illness, from the time of cancer diagnosis through to survivorship or end-of-life. Needs will evolve together with the disease and anticancer treatment, so ongoing and careful holistic evaluation of requirements should be part of every consultation." The position paper also states that "patient-centred care cannot be standardised, even though it is provided through a standard framework. To ensure that patients can voice their needs, oncologists should incorporate detailed and routine physical and psychological assessments allowing for supportive and palliative interventions to be personalised and integrated in the continuum of care. Patient-reported outcomes (PROs) should be highly encouraged as requesting them has shown to be associated with better QoL, fewer hospitalisations and even increased survival compared with usual care" [12]. In terms of survivorship, the paper strongly encourages oncologists and multidisciplinary teams to provide rehabilitation. The establishment of survivorship care plans is also encouraged, even though the current lack of scientific evidence of its best application into clinical practice [12].

In conclusion, a holistic patient-centered approach should accompany every patient throughout his cancer journey, from diagnosis on (Fig. 19.2). This also fully applies to the survivorship phase which has been broadly discussed in this handbook. Individualizing patient follow-up, detecting his needs over time and provide assistance in a context of varying and limited resources with ever new technologies, is a major challenge on every level, for every individual caregiver as well as for stake-holders on an institutional, national, and global level. Integrative patient care is to begin with the cancer diagnosis, continue throughout survivorship until end-of-life care as a continuum. In oncology, we have made incredible progress over the last



Fig. 19.2 Integrating patient-centered care

decades. We will continue to do so. We will have to make further major efforts to provide this progress within a holistic management: our patients deserve it.

References

- 1. Mullan F. Seasons of survival: reflections of a physician with cancer. N Engl J Med. 1985;313:270–3.
- Mayer D, Nasso SF, Earp JA. Defining cancer survivors, their needs, and perspectives on survivorship health care in the USA. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:e11–8.
- 3. Hewitt M, Greenfield S, Stovall E. From cancer patient to cancer survivor: lost in transition. National Academies Press; 2005.
- Deimling GT, Bowman KF, Wagner LJ. Cancer survivorship and identity among long-term survivors. Cancer Investig. 2007;25:758–65.
- Commission on Cancer: Cancer Program Standards: ensuring Patient-Centered Care 2016 edition. https://www.facs.org/-/media/files/quality-programs/cancer/coc/2016-coc-standardsmanual_interactive-pdf.ashx. Accessed 4 Mar 2021.
- 6. Michielin O, Atkins MB, Koon HB, et al. Evolving impact of long-term survival results on metastatic melanoma treatment. J Immunother Cancer. 2020;8:e000948.
- 7. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/palliative-care. Accessed 4 Mar 2021.
- 8. https://pallipedia.org/palliative-care-1990-and-2002-who-definitions/. Accessed 4 Mar 2021.
- Temel J, Greer JA, Muzikansky A, et al. Early palliative care for patients with metastatic nonsmall cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:733–42.
- Basch E, Deal AM, Dueck AC, et al. Overall survival results of a trial assessing patient-reported outcomes for symptom monitoring during routine cancer treatment. JAMA. 2017;318(2):197–8.
- 11. https://www.mascc.org/about-mascc. Accessed 4 Mar 2021.
- Jordan K, Aapro M, Kaasa S, et al. Europen Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO) position paper on supportive and palliative care. Ann Oncol. 2018;29:36–43.

Index

A

Abdominopelvic irradiation in pediatric oncology, 330 Acneiform rash, 167, 168 Acupressure, 213 Acupuncture, 213 Acute survival, 4, 6 Adult cancer survivors, 62 Aerobic exercise, 149 Alkylating agents, 312 Alternative follow-up model, 107 American Cancer Society/American Cancer Association (ACS), 8, 372 American Institute for Cancer Research (AICR), 371 Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT), 174 Anejaculation, 243 Anthracyclines, 331 Anxiety, 147 diagnostic work-up, 152 differential diagnosis, 152 DSM-V. 151 management, 355 medication, 355 non-pharmacological treatment, 152 pharmacological treatment, 152, 153 risk factors, 151 treatment, 355 Apprehension, 350 Art therapy, 219 Arterial hypertension, 174 Artificial intelligence, 82 ATM mutations, 266 Auditory Consonant Trigrams test, 154 Azoospermia, 243

B

Bio-psychosocial model, 121, 122, 129 Bladder Cancer surveillance strategy, 296, 297

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. Rauh (ed.), *Survivorship Care for Cancer Patients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78648-9

Bladder fibrosis, 187 Bleomycin induced pneumonitis (BIP), 171 Body-based therapies, massage, 219 Bone density, decreased, 180 Brain radionecrosis, 271 Breast cancer, 135 screening, 318 surveillance strategy, 287, 288 British Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (BCCSS), 310 Bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS), 172

С

CA125 investigation, 294 Cancer-associated sexual difficulties, 246 "Cancer Control Joint Action" (CanCon), 94 Cancer-disease related fatigue-(pre-) cachexia, 205 Cancer of the reproductive organs in men, 239 Cancer of the reproductive organs in women. 238–239 Cancer patient category, 9 Cancer rehabilitation, 43 Cancer-related cognitive impairment (CRCI), 153, 154 Cancer-related fatigue (CRF), 45 aerobic and resistance training, 217 anticancer treatment, 207 cancer type subgroups, 207 causes for. 209 classification, 205-206 corticosteroids, 221 creative interventions, 218, 219 definition, 204 diagnosis of, 210 Diagnostic Interview Guide, 211 educational interventions, 220 emotional and cognitive components of fatigue, 204

Cancer-related fatigue (CRF) (cont.) energy conservation, 220-221 EORTC QLQ-FA12 questionnaire, 207 EORTC-OIO-FA12 questionnaire, 208 exercise, 217 management of, 211 by mechanistic explanations, 207 medication, 213 methylphenidate, 221 multimodal approach, 213 multimodal management, 212, 214-216 neuropsychological testing, 211 nutrition intervention, 217 patients' functioning, 204 pharmacological interventions, 221-222 physical, emotional, and cognitive domain, 210 physical exercise, 216, 217 physical (muscular), 204 prevalence, 206-209 psychological interventions, 218 psychosocial interventions, 218 quality-of-life, 204 reversible causes, 212 risk factors, 208, 209 self-management, 220-221 silent symptom fatigue, 210 supervision, 217 therapeutic approach in, 219 trajectories of, 208 transprofessionally guided intervention, 222 Cancer survivor populations, 8 Cancer survivorship care care plan, 29, 31, 32 cure fraction, 24, 25 family caregivers, 33 former caregivers, 33 healthcare provision, 26 national disparities, impact of, 34, 35 outcomes research, 37 primary care-based model, 27 psychological aspects, 33 rehabilitation targets, 29-31 risk-stratified care, 27 shared care model, 27 specialty care-based model, 27 stigma, 35 supportive network, 33 treatment summary, 31, 32 Cancer-treatment related fatigue (CtrF), 205-206, 209, 212, 215 Cardiac symptoms cardiomyopathy, 175, 176, 178

hyperlipidemia, 174 hypertension, 173, 174 pericardial disease, 175 valvular heart disease, 174, 175 Cardiac toxicities, RT, 269, 270 Cardiomyopathy, 175, 176, 178 Care models, 361 Cell therapy, 281 Central venous access device placement, 243 Central nervous system (CNS) and endocrine function disorders, 209 late toxicity, 270-272 Cerebral radionecrosis, 271 Chemobrain, 358 Chemoradiotherapy, 374 Chemotherapy, 311 Chemotherapy-induced alopecia (CIA), 169 Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN) agents, 159 definition, 158 grading of, 161 nerve conduction velocity, 160 neurophysiological examination with electromyography, 160 non-pharmacological interventions, 163 pathophysiology of, 159 pharmacological interventions, 162 practical work-up, 160 prevention measures, 161 therapy-associated risk factors, 159 Chemotherapy plus radiation, 310 Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (CCSS), 310, 320, 333 Childhood cancer survivors (CCS), 61 impact of radiotherapy, 319 in US, 330 Children's Oncology Group (COG), 317 Chronic enteritis, 273 Circadian rhythm sleep disorders, 147 Clinical care and survivorship research, 10 Cognitive-behavioral interventions (CBI), 149 Cognitive behavior therapy (CBT), 153, 355.358 Cognitive disorders, 153, 154 diagnostic work-up, 154 differential diagnosis, 155 imaging studies, 155 non-pharmacological and pharmacological treatment, 155 subjective cognitive complaints and objective performance, 154 symptoms, 153 targeted therapies, 153

Cognitive fatigue, 206 Cognitive functioning, 153 Cognitive impairment without dementia, leukoencephalopathy, 271 Colonoscopy screening, 321 Colorectal cancer surveillance strategy, 288, 289 Comorbidities-related fatigue, 206 Comprehensive Cancer Centers (CCCs), 30 Comprehensive cancer rehabilitation, 122 Controlled Oral Word Association Test, 154 Council of the European Union, 42 Couple dynamics, 249 Cure fraction, 24, 25 Cutaneous melanoma surveillance strategy, 299, 300

D

Definition of, survivorship care, 1 Depression, 147 and anxiety, 354, 355 diagnosis, 151 diagnostic work-up, 152 differential diagnosis, 152 DSM-V, 150 non-pharmacological treatment, 152 pharmacological treatment, 152, 153 risk factors, 151 Dermatologic toxicity acneiform rash, 167, 168 alopecia, 169 chronic dermatitis, 169 connective tissue abnormalities, 168 GvHD, 169 hyperpigmentation, 168 immunotherapy, 168 secondary skin cancer, 169 skin atrophy, 169 Diagnostic Interview for Cancer Related Fatigue (DICRFS), 210 Diet, 373 Dietary counseling and oral nutritional supplements, 214 Dietz classification, 124 Digital rectal examination (DRE), 295 Digital technology, 319 Diplopia, 189 Disorders of excessive somnolence, 147 Disorders of sleep-wake cycle, 147 Distress thermometer, 99 Distress thermometer (DT), 99, 152 DNA damage recognition/repair, induced either by chemotherapy, 266 DNA damage response, 259-260

DNA double-strand break repair, 313 DNA repair mechanisms, 267 Double-strand breaks (DSB), 259 repair mechanism in humans, 260 Dutch Childhood Oncology Group, 318 Dutch Childhood Oncology Group-Long-Term Effects After Childhood Cancer (DCOG-LATER), 310 Dysphagia, 164

E

Early integrated cancer palliative care, 11 Educational dimension, 62 eHealth, 81, 82, 100, 101 Electronic systems, 101 Embryo freezing, 239-241 Emotional functioning, 43 Endo-cervical canal stenosis after endo-uterine brachytherapy, 274 Endocrine complications, 331 Endocrine disorders decreased bone density, 180 hypogonadism, 180 hypothyroidism, 179 obesity and metabolic syndrome, 181 Endometrial cancer, recurrences, 294 Endometrial cancer surveillance strategy, 294 Energy balance, 372 Epithelial ovarian carcinoma post primary treatment, 292, 293 Epithelial ovarian carcinoma surveillance strategy, 292, 293 Erectile dysfunction (ED), 246 Essential components of survivorship care, 6 EU Cancer Plan, 36 EUROCARE-5 dataset, 24 European Association of Urology (EAU), 296 European Cancer Patient Coalition (ECPC), 2 European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC), 43 European Society Medical Oncology (ESMO), 2, 288 Clinical Practice Guideline for CRF (2020), 213definition, 12 ESMO designated centers of integrated oncology and palliative care, 11 ESMO-ESGO consensus conference recommendations on ovarian cancer. 293 Guideline on Cancer Cachexia, 214 guidelines, 289 patient guide, 11

Europe Beating Cancer Plan, 27 Evidence-based recommendations, 352 Evidence-based resources, 358 Evidence-based screening for recurrence history and physical examination, 287 indicative follow-up strategy, 288 laboratory and imaging studies, 288 posttreatment surveillance in colorectal cancer, 288 surveillance for, 287 Evidence-based screening for secondary cancers, 309 Evidence-based survivorship care interventions, 12 Evidence gaps and research priorities care coordination, 19 cross-cutting needs, 19 financial hardship, 19 health promotion, 19 long-term and late physical effects, 18 long-term and late psychosocial effects, 19 recurrence and new cancers, 18 Excess adiposity, 372 Exercise, 213, 214 Extended survival, 4, 6

F

Fatigue, 145, 350 Fatigue, cancer-related CRF (see also Cancer-related fatigue (CRF)) fatigued of being fatigued, 203 history, 203-204 side-effects of anticancer treatments, 203 Fear of cancer recurrence (FCR), 356, 357 Fertility counseling, 234 dimension, 62 and sexuality cancer incidence, 233 long-term side effects, 233 quality of life, 233 Fertility preservation (FP) strategies, 181, 182, 234 in young adults, 239-243 Fertility sparing surgery (FSS), 238-239 Fibrosis, 172, 269 in conduction system, 270 Financial toxicity of cancer, 359 Follow-up (FU), 57 alternative follow-up model, 107 cost effectiveness, 77 current/existing models of, 78

definition, 57, 106 different forms, 79 distal outcomes, 111 early detection of recurrence, 77 eHealth. 81. 82 Europe and survivorship care, 83 GP-led follow-up, 108 intensity, 109, 110 late-effects, 106 medical oncologists' perception, 72, 73 mHealth, 82 nurse-led follow-up, 109 oncologist, 78 overall survival, 76 patient education, 111 patient-reported outcomes, 111, 112 patient self-management, 83 patients' perception, 72, 75, 76 PCP's perception, 73, 74, 78 progression-free survival, 77 proximal outcomes, 111 recurrence, 106 risk-stratified care, 112, 113 shared-care models, 79 shared models with risk-stratification, 80 specialized nurses/nurse practitioners, 80, 81 survivorship care plan, 111 traditional follow-up model, 106 wrong outcomes, 111 Former caregivers, 33 Foundation strategies, psychosocial wellbeing, 350-352 French Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (FCCSS), 310 French National Cancer Institute, 333 French society SFCE, 318

G

Gastric cancer recurrence after curative resection, 289 Gastric cancer surveillance strategy, 289, 290 Gastrointestinal tract (GIT) lower gastrointestinal tract, 131, 132, 185 medical management, 130, 131, 183 upper gastrointestinal tract, 184 General practitioner (GP), 63, 64, 108 Generalized anxiety disorder, 151 Genetic alterations and polymorphism, 210 Ginseng, 222 GIVIO study, 108 Glioma, 137–138 Gonadal consequences, 276–277 Gonadal damage induced by oncological treatment, 235–238 Gonadal insufficiency, 234 Gonadotoxicity and fertility risk assessment, 234–239 Graft-versus-host disease (GVDH), 169, 174 Growth hormone deficiency, 331 Gynecological cancer, 136

H

Head and neck cancer (HNC), 138-139 dysphagia, 164 evidence-based screening for recurrence, 297, 298 oral health, 164 osteonecrosis of jaw, 165 osteoradionecrosis, 165 poor oral health, 165 recurrent/secondary cancer, 165 surveillance strategy, 298 taste disorders, 165 voice and speech, 164 xerostomia, 164 Health care delivery care coordination, 18 clinical structure, 17 communication/decision-making, 17, 18 Health care professionals, 17, 33 Healthcare provision, components of, 26 Health information systems, 17 Health-related quality of life (HRQL), 43 Hearing complications, 333 Hemorrhagic cystitis, 186, 187 Hereditary diseases associated with IRS, 261-265 History, cancer survivorship, 2, 3 Hodgkin lymphoma survivors, 310 Hopkins verbal learning test, 154 Hormonal insufficiency, 278 Hormonal replacement therapy (HRT), 244 Hormonal status, 317 Human resources, 71 Hyperfractionation, 279 Hyperlipidemia, 174 Hypersonnias, 147 Hypertension, 173, 174 Hypnosis, 153 Hypogonadism, 180 Hyposialy, 332 Hypothalamohypophyseal insufficiency, 275 Hypothyroidism, 179, 275 Hypoxia reversion with hyperbaric oxygen (HBO), 281

I

Idiopathic pneumonia syndrome (IPS), 173 Immune checkpoint-inhibitors (CPI), 168 Immunotherapy for advanced melanoma, 350 Individual radiosensitivity (IRS), 260-266 Inflammation and tissue reactions, 260 Inflammatory system dysregulation, 209 Insomnia, 146, 147 International classification of functioning disability and health (ICF)model, 121 Institute of Medicine (IOM), 5, 93, 94 Institutional cancer rehabilitation, 126 Integrative medicine, 212 Intensity, 109, 110 International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), 309 International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF), 246 International Psycho-Oncology Society (IPOS), 2, 347 Interstitial pneumonitis, 171 Intracavernosal injections (ICI), 183 Intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI), 243 IOM-Report Lost-in-Transition, 2

J

Joint Action on Cancer Control (CanCon), 35, 36

K

Keratoconjunctivitis sicca, 189

L

Landmark Committee on Cancer Survivorship report, 5 Late anitis, 273 Late Effects Group of the United Kingdom Children's Cancer and Leukaemia Group (UKCCLG), 318 Late esophagitis, 272 Late gastritis, 272 Late proctitis, 273 Late radiation myelitis, 274 Late radio-mucitis, 269 Late vulvitis/vaginitis, 273 Legal blindness/visual function deficit, 189 Letter-number sequencing test, 154 Leukoencephalopathy, 271 Lifestyle change, 375

Lisbon Declaration: Psychosocial Cancer Care as a Universal Human Right, 347 Long-term follow-up (LTFU), 57 "at risk" population, 62 advanced practice nurse and telephone counselling, 64 CCS. 63 childhood vs. adolescence and young adulthood, 61 complications, 62, 63 definition of, 57 early counseling and screening, 62 early mortality, chronic morbidity and secondary cancers vs. general population, 61 general practitioner, 63, 64 grade 3 and 4 sequelae, 62 in childhood cancers, 56 in research context, 58 intermediate-term late effects, 63 joint consultation, 64 late-effect clinics, 63 late-onset effects, 61 model of care, 63 multidisciplinary approach, 65 non-medical determining factors, 66 patient empowerment and awareness, 66 by patients, 63 patient's general health condition, 56 physical dimension, 62 risk stratification, 64 severe/multiple sequelae, 65 shared post-cancer medical record, 64 social, educational, sexual and fertility dimensions, 62 sort of organization, 63 survival rate, 62 survivors and professionals, 66 teleconsultations, 64 traditional approaches, 65 Long-term sequelae of cancer, 7 Lost in transition, 71 Lower gastrointestinal tract, 131, 132, 185 Lung cancer, 133, 134 Lung cancer surveillance strategy, 289-291 Lymphedema (LE), 166, 167

Μ

Malignancies indirectly affecting gonadal function, 239 Mediastinal radiotherapy, 331 MedicAid and MediCare programs, 94 Medical and/or psychosocial strategies, 249 Medical dimension, 44, 45 Medical oncologists' perception, 72, 73 Medicare, 311 MENAC trial, 214 Metastatic survivors, 11 Metasurvivorship, 3 mHealth, 82 Mind-body interventions, 219, 333 Mind-body medicine techniques, 213 Mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR), 149 Mindfulness-based-stress-reduction based interventions, 219 Mitochondrial dysfunction, 209 Mobile app, 221 Models of cancer survivorship health care, 13, 14 Mood disorders, 354, 355 MRN complex (Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1), 259 Multi-behavioral approach, dietary modifications, 375 Multidimensional Fatigue Symptom Inventory-Short Form (MFSI-SF), 208 Multidimensional rehabilitation programs (MDRPs), 128, 129 Multimodality, 100, 101 Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer (MASCC), 2, 380 Muscle fibrosis, 269 Muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer (MIBC), 296, 297 Music therapy, 219 Myocardial fibrosis, 269

Ν

National Cancer Institute (NCI), 5, 259.320 National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship (NCCS), 2, 4 National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), 213, 288 Negative psychological reactions in survivors, 7 Nephritis, 273 Nerve-sparing techniques, 249 Neurogenic bladder, 187 Neurological sequelae, 332 Neurosensory sequelae, 332 NEXTAC study, 214 No Evidence of Disease (NED) after completion of primary therapy, 287 Nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ), 260

Non-muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer (NMIBC), 296, 297 Non-REM (NREM) sleep, 147 Normal tissue complication probabilities (NTCP) models, 257 Nurse practitioners (NPs), 80, 81 Nurse-led follow-up, 109 Nutriceutical intervention with supplements rich in branched-chain amino acids, 214 Nutrition, 373 in survivorship care, 371–376 Nutritional interventions, 214 Nutrition impact symptoms (NIS), 374

0

Obesity, 374 and metabolic syndrome, 181 Oncofertility counseling from cancer diagnosis, 235 Oncologist vs. primary care provider, 13 Oocyte and/or embryo freezing, 239-241 Oocyte cryopreservation before gonadotoxic therapy, 240 Ophtalmological disorders cataract, 188 diplopia, 189 keratoconjunctivitis sicca, 189 legal blindness/visual function deficit, 189 Oral hygiene, 164 Osteo-articular effects, 269 Osteonecrosis of jaw (ONJ), 165 Osteoradionecrosis (ORN), 165, 275 Osteosarcoma after retinoblastoma, 278 Otologic consequences, 276 Outpatient cancer rehabilitation, 126, 127 Ovarian borderline and epithelial cancers, 238 Ovarian stimulation (OS) for fertility preservation, 239 Ovarian suppression, 243 Ovarian tissue cryopreservation (OTC), 241, 242 Overall survival (OS), 76 Overweight, 374 Oxidation-reduction phenomena, 276

P

Paced auditory serial addition test, 154 Pain, 155–158 Palliative care, 3, 379–381 Palliative rehabilitation, 124, 125 PanCareFollowUp, 45 Pancreatic adenocarcinoma surveillance strategy, 300 Pancreatic cancer, 139-141 Paraneoplastic syndromes, 147 Patient-centered approach, 2, 381 Patient-centered care, 2 Patient education, 319 Patient health questionnaire (PHO)-4, 152 Patient-reported outcomes (PRO), 100, 111, 112.381 Patients needs, 10 Pediatric and young adult oncology, 329 cardiotoxicity, 330 central and peripheral nervous systems, 332 chemotoxic agents, 333 prevalence rates, 330 quality of life, 333 survival rate, 330 thyroid pathology, 331 Pelvic radiation therapy, women, 237 Pericardial effusion, 175 Peripheral deficits, 275 Peripheral neuropathy and plexitis, 274 Permanent survival, 4, 6 Pharmacological therapy with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and eicosapentaenoic acid, 214 Phentolamine papaverine and prostaglandin E1 (PGE1), 183 Physical activity, 373 Physical exercise program using resistance and aerobic training, 214 Physical functioning, 43 Physiologic sleep, 147 Pneumonitis, 171 Positive emotional and psychosocial reactions, 7 Post-chemotherapy cognitive Impairment, 358 Postoperative fatigue syndrome, 205 Postradic arterial disease of large and medium caliber vessels, 274, 275 Posttreatment surveillance in colorectal cancer, 288, 289 prostate cancer, 294, 295 Potential cancer survival trajectories, 4 Predisposing genetic mutation for the offspring, 235 Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) for future embryos, 235 Premature menopause, 317 Premature mortality adolescent and young adult cancer survivors, 334-335 childhood cancer survivors, 333, 334

Premature ovarian insufficiency (POI), 244 Prematurity risk, 238 Preventive rehabilitation, 124 Primary care-based model, 27 Primary care providers, 73, 74, 361 Procarbazine, 312 Prostate cancer, 134-135 Prostate cancer surveillance strategy, 294, 295 Prostate-specific antigen (PSA) monitoring, 295 Provision of information, 352–353 Psychoeducation, 213, 358 Psychological counseling, 358 Psychological dimension, 45-46 Psychological issues and care aging of population, 345 attention to psychosocial issues, 349, 350 caregivers, 362 carer responsibilities, 363 clarifying psychological aspects, 352 collaboration between oncology specialists and primary care providers, 361-362 communication and responsiveness to patients' emotional cues, 350 communication challenges, 353 depression and anxiety, 354, 355 emotional impact for clinicians, 364-365 emotional needs, 362 emotional well-being, 355 empathic statements, 351 eye contact, 351 historical factors, 346 lack of time, 351 language proficiency, 354 model of survivorship care, 362 mood disorders, 354 open questions, 351 optimism and certainty about life, 360 predictive genetic testing, 350 provision of high-quality information, 349 psycho-educational interventions, 360 shame and guilt, 346 social and cultural sensitivities, 353-354 social roles and activities, 345 specialized psychosocial care, 353 treatment and disease trajectory, 361 work-related problems, 360 Psycho-oncology, 346 Psychosocial cancer care, 347 Psychosocial interventions, 333 Psychosocial support, 46 Pubmed, 1 Pulmonary embolism, 179

Pulmonary fibrosis, 270 Pulmonary hypertension, 172 Pulmonary sequelae, 331

Q

Ouality cancer care, 347 Ouality comprehensive cancer care, 46 Quality of cancer survivorship care framework health care delivery care coordination, 18 clinical structure, 17 communication/decisionmaking, 17, 18 health promotion and disease prevention, 17 recurrence and new cancers, 14 surveillance and management physical effects, 15, 16 psychosocial effects, 16 Quality of life (QoL), 42, 43, 153

R

Radiation cystitis, 186, 272 Radiation dementia, 271-272 Radiation dose effects on fertility, 237 Radiation enteritis, 272-273 Radiation exposure, 317 Radiation hepatitis, 273 Radiation-induced cancers, 312, 313 Radiation-induced lymphocyte apoptosis, 278 Radiation therapy (RT) in children. 277 clinical latency, 258 clinicopathological aspects, 258 functional tolerance of organs to irradiation, 258 late effects anti-inflammatory treatments, 280 antioxidant treatments, 280 Bevacizumab, 280 cofactors of toxicity, 260-267 in elderly, 266 invasive conservative surgeries, 280 ionizing radiations, 259 OAR, 267, 268 pathophysiology, 260 primary prevention, 278-279 secondary prevention, 279 selective thiol-containing agents against radiation damage, 279

severity of early toxicity, 267 subclinical biological/radiological signs, 279 supportive care, 279 tertiary prevention, 280-281 therapeutic parameters, 266 organ/system-specific late effects, 269-277 pathophysiology, 259–260 stochastic effects, 277, 278 toxicity prevalence, 258 Radiosensitive syndromes, 260-266 Radiotherapy during childhood, 313 dose, 313, 314, 316 dose relation risk, 315 gonadotoxic effect in both sexes, 236 Radiotherapy-induced fatigue, 205 Radiotherapy (RT)-induced fibrosis, 260 Radiotherapy (RT)-induced fibrotic compression, 274 Radiotherapy (RT)-induced morbidity, 258 Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) in women, 243 Rapid eye movement (REM) sleep, 147 Re assurance, 79 Recreational activities, 248 Recurrent gastric cancer, 289 Regular exercise, 149 Rehabilitation programs, 30, 31 bio-psychosocial model, 121, 122 breast cancer, 135 definition, 121 disease settings, 125 examplary rehabilitation plan, 140 forms of institutional cancer rehabilitation, 126 outpatient cancer rehabilitation, 126, 127 self-management, 127, 128 general and disease-specific goals, 123 glioma, 137-138 GU cancer, 136, 137 gynecological cancer, 136 head and neck cancer, 138-139 ICF-model, 121 inpatient, 122 lower gastrointestinal tract, 131, 132 lung cancer, 133, 134 multidimensional rehabilitation programs, 128, 129 multiprofessional and interdisciplinary facilities, 120 outpatient, 122 pancreatic cancer, 139-141

prostate cancer, 134-135 reducing/eliminating (long-term) side effects, 122 salutogenesis, 120, 121 self-management, 122 thyroid cancer, 132, 133 timing palliative rehabilitation, 124, 125 preventive rehabilitation, 124 restorative rehabilitation, 124 supportive rehabilitation, 124 upper gastrointestinal tract, 130, 131 Renal cell carcinoma posttreatment surveillance, 295, 296 surveillance strategy, 295, 296 Renal sequelae, 332 Repair signaling pathways, 260 Reproductive and endocrine issues after cancer treatment, 243-244 Research participation, 17 Respiratory symptoms bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome, 172 fibrosis, 172 idiopathic pneumonia syndrome, 173 pneumonitis, 171 pulmonary hypertension, 172 secondary lung cancer, 172 Restorative rehabilitation, 124 Restrictive lung diseases, 170 Right to Be Forgotten, 50 Risk-based surveillance, 45 Risk-stratified care, 27, 112, 113 Role functioning, 43

S

Salpingo-oophorectomy, 238 Salutogenesis, 120, 121 Sarcomas, recurrence after primary treatment, 298, 299 Sarcoma surveillance strategy, 299 Sclero-atrophic radiodermatitis, 268 Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN), 318 Seasons of survival, 3, 6 Secondary bladder cancer, 188 Secondary brain tumors, 278 Secondary cancers field for breast cancer survivors, 316 radiation field size, 316 screening strategies, 317 Secondary digestive cancer, 315 Secondary lung cancer, 172 Second neoplasms, 309, 311, 321

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI), 153 Self-managed rehabilitation, 127, 128 Semi-structured qualitative interviews, sexual and reproductive health conversations, 248 Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRI), 153 Sexual and intimacy issues management, 250 Sexual difficulties and/or infertility may occur after cancer therapy, 234 Sexual dimension, 62 Sexual dysfunctions, 182, 244 in gynecological and breast cancer patients, 248 Sexuality and body image, 357-358 clinicians' education, 249 factors influencing, 245-246 pelvic blood circulation and peripheral nerves, 246 positive body-image perception, 247 treatment impact on, 246-247 Shades of survivorship, 9-11 Shared-care models, 27, 79 Single-item-fatigue (SIF), 210 Skeletal muscular dysfunction, 209 Skin and esthetic sequelae, 267-269 Skin atrophy, 169 Sleep apnea, 147 Sleep disorders, 146 acute and chronic untreated sleep-wake disturbances, 146 classification systems, 146 diagnostic work-up, 148 excessive somnolence, 147 initiating and maintaining sleep, 147 medications, 148 occurence, 146 physiologic sleep, 147 side effects, 148 sleep-related breathing disorders, 147 sleep-wake cycle, 147 stages of sleep, 147 therapeutic and supportive care measures, 148 treatment, 149, 150 withdrawal, 148 Sleep-related breathing disorders, 147 Sleep-wake cycle, 147 Sleep-wake disturbances, 147 Slow-wave sleep, see Non-REM (NREM) sleep Social and psychological effects, 335-336 Social dimension, 62

Social functioning, 43 Socio-economic lives financial instrument, 49, 50 return to work, 47-49 Right to Be Forgotten, 50 Specialized nurses, 81 Specialty care-based model, 17, 27 Sperm freezing, 242–243 Stigma, 35 Subclinical cardiac dysfunction criterion, 330 Subcortical dementia, 271 Summarizing, 352 Supportive care in cancer, 380 Supportive rehabilitation, 124 Surgical ovarian transposition, 243 Surveillance, 57 after curative treatment for pancreatic carcinoma, 300 definition of, 57 after lung cancer therapy with curative intent, 289-291 Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database, 72, 309 Survivorship and Palliative Care, 379-381 Survivorship care, 2, 58 Survivorship care plan (SCP), 12, 13, 363, 379, 381 after-care guidelines, 94 anxiety, 99 before or end of active treatment, 95 benefit of, 97 CanCon, 94 depression, 99 distress, 98, 99 implementation, 97 Institute of Medicine, 93, 94 intensive vs. non-intensive, 99, 100 MedicAid and MediCare programs, 94 multimodality, 100, 101 NCCN guidelines, 95 oncologist or other specialist, 95 PCP, 95, 96 at regular intervals, 98 templates, 96 (written/printed or electronic) document, 96 Survivorship guideline, 3 Systemic anticancer treatment associated fatigue, 205

Т

Tai-Chi, 220 Taste disorders, 165 Teleconsultations, 64 Telemedicine, 83 Testicular cancer, 239 Testicular germ cell cancer recurrence, 291, 292 surveillance strategy, 291-293 Testicular sperm extraction (TESE), 243 Testosterone replacement therapy, 244 Testosterone treatment, 244 Therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia (t-AML), 310 Therapy-related leukemia, 318 Therapy-related myelodysplastic syndrome (t-MDS), 310 Thyroid cancer, 132, 133 Tissue elasticity, 249 Tissue remodeling following cell death, 260 Tooth decay and abnormalities, 276 Traditional follow-up model, 106 Trail making test, 154 Transitional survival, 6 Transplantation, ovarian endocrine function, 241 Treatment-related chronic kidney damage, 332 Tumor characteristics, 235

U

University of California Los Angeles Integrated Staging System (UISS), 296 Unpredictable erectile dysfunction, 243 Upper gastrointestinal tract, 130, 131, 184 Upper limb edema, 270 Ureteral strictures, 273 Urethra/upper urinary tract (UTUC), 296 Urinary/bowel incontinence induced by pelvic surgery or radiation, 246 Urinary incontinence secondary to irradiation of the prostatic urethra, 272 Urologic disorders hemorrhagic cystitis, 186 long-term bladder fibrosis and contracture, 187 neurogenic bladder, 187 radiation cystitis, 186 secondary bladder cancer, 188

V

Valvular heart disease, 174, 175 Venous thromboembolism (VTE), 178 Vigilance, 350 Voice therapy, 164

W

World Cancer Research Fund (WCRF), 371 World Health Organization (WHO), 42, 380

X

Xerostomia, 164, 276

Y

Yoga, 220